

4th International Conference on Mathematics* "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"

ICOM 2020 Conference Proceedings Book ISBN: 978-605-67964-6-3 Editor Kenan Yıldırım *Online conference due to pandemic





Dear Colleagues ans Dear Guests,

On behalf of the organizing committee, welcome to 4. International Online Conference on Mathematics: An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians, 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey. The conference aims to bring together leading academic scientists, researchers and research scholars to exchange and share their experiences and research results about mathematical sciences. Thank you very much for your interest in International Conference on Mathematics: An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians. Conference Chair

Kenan YILDIRIM, Ph. D.

Organizing Committee

Aida Tagiyeva(IMM ANAS, Azerbaijan), Dilek Demirkuş(Beykent Univ., Turkey), Ebru Cavlak(Fırat Univ., Turkey), Gül Karadeniz Gözeri(İstanbul Univ., Turkey), Gümrah Uysal(Karabük Univ., Turkey), Mehmet Fatih Karaaslan(Yıldız Technical Univ., Turkey), Monireh Nosrati Sahlan(University of Bonab, Iran), Reza Abazari(University of Tabriz, Iran), Yunus Saçlı(Yıldız Technical Univ., Turkey)

Scientific Committee

Alexander Kushpel(Cankaya Univ., Turkey), Ali Başhan(Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit Univ., Turkey), Ayman Badawi(American Univ. of Sharjah, UAE), Brahim Tellab(Ouargla Univ., Algeria), Cemil Tunç(Van Yüzüncü Yıl Univ., Turkey), Ebru Cavlak(Fırat Univ., Turkey), Erhan Pişkin(Dicle University, Turkey), Fateh Mebarek-Oudina(Skikda Univ., Algeria), Gül Karadeniz Gözeri(İstanbul Univ., Turkey), Gümrah Uysal(Karabük Univ., Turkey), Hamid Seridi (Guelma Univ., Algeria), Hari M. Srivastava(Univ. of Victoria, Canada), M. Mursaleen(Aligarh Muslim Univ., India) Majid Erfanian(Univ. of Zabol, Iran), Maia Kratsashvili(Sokhumi State Univ., Georgia), Mehmet Özen(Sakarya Univ., Turkey), Mehmet Fatih Karaaslan(Yıldız Technical Univ., Turkey), Nabil Mlaiki(Prince Sultan Univ., Saudi Arabia) Oudina Fateh(Skikda Univ., Algeria), Özcan Bektaş(Rize RTE Univ., Turkey), Reza Abazari(Univ. of Tabriz, Iran), Sadulla Jafarov(Muş Alparslan Univ., Turkey), Samuel Segun Okoya(Univ. of Lagos, Nigeria), Thabet Abdeljawad(Prince Sultan Univ., Saudi Arabia), Temur Jangveladze (Ivane Javakhishvili State Univ., Georgia), Zurab Kiguradze(Missouri Univ. of Science and Technology, USA)

Contents

A Class of Multivalent Harmonic Convex Functions Defined by Subordination by Sibel Yalçın, Hasan Bayram
A General Theorem Involving Quasi Power Increasing Sequences by <i>Hikmet Seyhan</i> Özarslan, Bağdagül Kartal, Mehmet Öner Şakar
A Mathematical Modelling of Tuberculosis infection Dynamics with Effects of Case Detection and Drug Resistance by <i>Yusuf Zubair, Gbolahan Bolarin, and Abdulhakeem</i> <i>Yusuf.</i>
A New Characterization of Dual General Helices by <i>Ahmet Yücesan, Gözde Özkan</i> <i>Tükel</i>
A Note On Euler Totient Paranormed Sequence Spaces by <i>Hacer Bilgin</i> <i>Ellidokuzoğlu</i>
A P-adic Analytic Proof of Reectivity of Twisted Finite Sums of Continous Functions by <i>Altan Erdoğan</i>
A Study Of Statistical Reasoning Abilities Using Cooperative Learning For Mathayomsuksa IV Students by <i>Chanika Chawong, Khwan Paisai, Sukanya</i> <i>Hayeesala</i>
Açık B-Spline Eğrileri Üzerine by Muhsin Incesu, Sara Yılmaz Evren
An investigation of exact traveling wave solutions of the nonlinear partial differential equation arising in plasma physics using two different methods by <i>Yeşim Sağlam Özkan</i>
Applications of a Pascal distribution series on the certain subclasses of analytic functions by <i>Hasan Bayram, Sibel Yalçın</i> 105
Applications of Almost Increasing Sequences to Infinite Series by <i>Hikmet Seyhan Özarslan,</i> <i>Mehmet Öner Şakar, Bağdagül Kartal</i>
Arithmetic Development in Problem-Solving Among Primary and Secondary School Age Children by <i>Birgul Damla Baber Elbistan</i>
Asymptotic Formula Of Eigenvalues And Eigenfunctions Of A Boundary Value Problem by <i>Khanlar R. Mamedov, Gülseren Eroğlu, Ulviye Demirbilek</i> 124

Blow up of Solution for a Viscoelastic Wave Equation with m-Laplacian and Delay Terms by

Erhan Pişkin, Hazal Yüksekkaya......142

 (\mathcal{F}, h) cone upper class on Fixed Point Results in Quasi–Cone Metric Space for Generalized

Determining the Relation Between Reasoning Skills and Critical Thinking Disposition of Pre-Service Science Teachers by *Seda Okumuş, Oylum Çavdar, Yasemin Koç.....*222

Evaluation on the parameters of PSO algorithm using analytic tools by <i>Besiana Çobani,</i> <i>Aurora Simoni, Rigena Sema</i>
Exact and Numerical Solution for Pseudo- Parabolic Differential Equation Defined by Atangana-Baleanu Fractional Derivative by <i>Mahmut Modanli</i>
Extended q-Daehee Polynomials and Its Applications via Mahler Expansion by <i>Ugur Duran,</i> <i>Mehmet Acikgoz</i>
Extension of Leap Condition in Approximate Stochastic Simulation Algorithms of Biological Networks by <i>Saliha Demirbüken, Vilda Purutçuoğlu</i>
Fault-TolerantMetricDimensionof4-thPowerofPathsbyLaxmanSaha
Global existence of the wave equation with polynomial source and damping terms by <i>Boulmerka Imane, Hamchi Ilhem</i>
Inextensible Flow of Non-Null Curve with Type-3 Bishop Frame in Lorentz 3-space by <i>Tunahan Turhan</i>
Integration of TAM model in Students Acceptance of Google Classroom context Using Partial Least Squares-Structural Equation Model by <i>Evgjeni Xhafaj, Daniela Halidini</i> <i>Qendraj</i>
Iterated Binomial Transforms of the Balancing and Lucas-Balancing Polynomials by <i>Nazmiye</i> <i>Yılmaz</i>
Lacunary Statistical Convergence of Sequences in Neutrosophic Normed Spaces by Ömer Kişi, Erhan Güler
Laplace Transform Collocation Method for Pseudo-hyperbolic Partial Differential Equation by <i>Mahmut Modanli</i>
Local Existence of Solutions for a p-Laplacian Type Equation with Delay Term and Logarithmic Nonlinearity by <i>Erhan Pişkin, Hazal Yüksekkaya</i>
Mathematical description and approximation for the water wave equation by <i>Sh. Hajrulla, L. Bezati, Merita Bajrami, F. Hoxha</i> 358
Miscellaneous Properties of the Gamma Distribution Polynomials by Ugur Duran, Mehmet Acikgoz
New Exact Solutions For Conformable Fractional Equation Via IBSEFM by <i>Ulviye Demirbilek, Khanlar R. Mamedov</i>

New Fixed Point Theorems on Vector Metric Spaces with w-distance by Hakan Sahin
New results on the asymptotic stability, boundedness and square integrability of third order neutral differential equations by <i>Djamila Beldjerd</i>
On Fixed Point Theorems of Some Multivalued Mappings by Seher Sultan Yeşilkaya
On Fourth Fundamental Form of the Translation Hypersurface by Erhan Güler, Ömer Kişi
On Non-null Rational Bézier Curves on 2-dimensional de Sitter Space S by <i>Ayşe Yılmaz Ceylan, Tunahan Turhan and Gözde Özkan Tükel</i> 409
On Oscillation of Nonlinear Impulsive Differential Equations System with Piecewise Constant Mixed Arguments by <i>Mehtap Lafci Büyükkahraman</i>
Optimal Control of Higher Order Differential Inequality by Sevilay Demir Sağlam, Elimhan N. Mahmudov
P-adic Apostol-Bernoulli Measures by Altan Erdoğan
Periodic Solutions and Stability of a Fifth Order Difference Equation by Erkan Taşdemir, Yüksel Soykan
Quantum Batteries Driven via Feedback Algorithms by Sergey Borisenok
Ranking the dimensions and attributes of SERVQUAL model for hotel satisfactory customers in Albania : A fuzzy AHP method by <i>Daniela Halidini Qendraj, Evgjeni</i> <i>Xhafaj</i> 454
Relaxed Elastic Lie Quadratics by Gözde Özkan Tükel, Ahmet Yücesan
Rough Statistical Convergence of Double Sequences of Fuzzy Numbers by Ömer Kişi, Erhan Güler
Γ-semigroups are concrete by Fabiana Muharremi, Anjeza Krakulli
R ³ ₁ Semi-Riemannian Manifoldların Birasyonel Kobordizm İnvaryantları Üzerine by <i>Muhsin</i> İncesu, Sara Işık
Structures of Timelike Canal Surfaces using Quasi Frame by Gul Ugur Kaymanli

Some Properties of The Pre-Orders Obtained By Some Topological Closure Operators by <i>Funda Karaçal, Ümit Ertuğrul, M. Nesibe Kesicioğlu</i> 605
The Normalizer of H_0^5 (I) in H^5 by Zeynep Şanlı
Equivalence Classes of Implications on Bounded Lattices by <i>Funda Karaçal, Ümit Ertuğrul,</i> <i>M. Nesibe Kesicioğlu</i> 621
Commutativity Associated with Confluent Hypergeometric Differential Equation by <i>Mehmet</i> <i>Emir Koksal</i>
Rate of Convergence of Some Positive Linear Operators by Faruk Özger
Some λ Bernstein type Operators by <i>Faruk Özger</i>
Fractional-Order PID speed controller based on the conformable derivative for the DC motor by <i>Sertan Alkan, Kerim Melih Cimrin</i> 644
A Study On The Trigonometric Approximation in Morrey Spaces Using Matrix Methods by
Ahmet Hamdi Avsar, Yunus Emre Yildirir651
A Study On The Trigonometric Approximation In Weighted Orlicz Spaces Using Sub-Matrix
Methods by Ahmet Hamdi Avsar, Yunus Emre Yildirir
A Numerical Approach to Solution of Nonlinear Riccati Differential Equation by <i>Burcu</i> <i>Gürbüz</i>
A Numerical Investigation on a Neural Field Model by <i>Burcu Gürbüz</i>

A Class of Multivalent Harmonic Convex Functions Defined by Subordination

Sibel Yalçın¹, Hasan Bayram¹

¹Mathematics, Bursa Uludag University, Turkey,

E-mail(s): syalcin@uludag.edu.tr, hbayram@uludag.edu.tr

Abstract

We have introduced a generalized class of complex-valued multivalent harmonic convex functions defined by subordination. We study some properties of our class. The results obtained here include a number of known and new results as their special cases.

Keywords: Harmonic multivalent functions, convex functions, subordination.

1. Introduction

A continuous complex-valued function f = u + iv defined in a simply connected complex domain $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ is said to be harmonic in *D* if both *u* and *v* are real harmonic in *D*. Consider the function *U* and *V* analytic in *D* so that u = ReU and v = ImV. Then the harmonic function *f* can be expresses by

$$f(z) = h(z) + \overline{g(z)}, \qquad z \in D,$$

where h = (U + V)/2 and g = (U - V)/2. We call *h* the analytic part and *g* co-analytic part of *f*. If *g* is identically zero then *f* reduces to the analytic case.

For a fixed positive integer $p \ge 1$, let H(p) denote the class of all multivalent harmonic functions $f = h + \bar{g}$ which are sense-preserving in the open unit dist $\mathbb{D} = \{z : z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } |z| < 1\}$ and are of the form

$$f(z) = z^p + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} a_n z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \overline{b_n z^n}, \qquad |b_p| < 1.$$
 (1)

Recent interest in the study of multivalent harmonic function prompted the publication of several articles such as [1], [2], [7], [8], [9], [10].

It is known, (see Clunie and Sheil-Small [3]), that harmonic function is sense-preserving in \mathbb{D} is that $|g'(z)| < |h'(z)|, z \in \mathbb{D}$. Note that the class H(p) for p = 1 was defined and studied by Clunie and Sheil-Small [3]. We say that $f \in H(p)$ ia a multivalent harmonic convex of order α , $0 \le \alpha < p$ if f satisfies the condition

$$Re\left\{\frac{z^2f_{zz}(z)+zf_z(z)+\bar{z}f_{\bar{z}}(z)+\bar{z}^2f_{\overline{z}\overline{z}}(z)}{zf_z(z)-\bar{z}f_{\bar{z}}(z)}\right\} > p\alpha,$$

for each $z \in \mathbb{D}$. Denote this class of multivalent harmonic convex functions of order α by $C_H(p, \alpha)$. The classes $C_H(p, \alpha)$ and $C_H(1, \alpha)$ were studied in [1] and [6].

We say that $f \in H(p)$ is subordinate to a function $F \in H(p)$, and write $f(z) \prec F(z)$ if there exists a complex-valued function w which maps \mathbb{D} into oneself with w(0) = 0, such that $f(z) = F(w(z)), (z \in \mathbb{D})$.

Denote by $C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ the subclass of H(p) consisting of functions f of the form (1) that satisfy the condition

$$\frac{z^{2}h''(z) + zh'(z) + \overline{z^{2}g''(z) + zg'(z)}}{zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)}} < \alpha + (p - \alpha)\frac{1 + Az}{1 + Bz},$$
(2)

Where $-1 \le B \le -B < A \le 1$ and $0 \le \alpha < p$.

By suitably specializing the parameters, the classes $C_H(p,\alpha,A,B)$ reduces to the various subclasses of harmonic univalent functions. Such as,

- (*i*) $C_H(1,0,A,B) = C_H(A,B), ([4]),$
- (*ii*) $C_H(p, \alpha, 1, -1) = C_H(p, \alpha), ([1]),$
- (*iii*) $C_H(1, \alpha, 1, -1) = C_H(\alpha), ([6]),$
- (*iv*) $C_H(1,0,1,-1) = C_H,$ ([6]).

Finally, we define the family $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B) \equiv C_H(p, \alpha, A, B) \cap TH(p)$, where TH(p), $p \ge 1$ denote the class of functions $f = h + \overline{g}$ in H(p) so that h and g are the form

$$h(z) = z^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} |a_n| z^n$$
 and $g(z) = -\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} |b_n| z^n$, $|b_p| < 1$. (3)

Making use of the techniques and methodology used by Dziok (see [4], [5]), in this paper, we find necessary and sufficient conditions, distortion bounds, compactness and extreme points for the above defined class $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

2. Main Results

For functions f_1 and $f_2 \in H(p)$ of the form

$$f_k(z) = z^p + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} a_{k,n} z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \overline{b_{k,n} z^n}, \quad (k = 1,2),$$

we define the Hadamard product of f_1 and f_2 by

$$(f_1 * f_2)(z) = z^p + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} a_{1,n} a_{2,n} z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \overline{b_{1,n} b_{2,n} z^n}.$$

First we state and prove the necessary and sufficient conditions for harmonic functions in $C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$. **Theorem 1.** Let $f \in H(p)$. Then $f \in C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if and only if

$$f(z) * \varphi(z; \zeta) \neq 0, \quad (\zeta \in \mathbb{C}, |\zeta| = 1, z \in \mathbb{D} \setminus \{1\}),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \varphi(z;\zeta) &= z^p \left\{ \frac{p(p-\alpha)(B-A)\zeta + [(1+B\zeta)(1+p) + (1-2p)(p-\alpha)(B-A)\zeta]z}{(1-z)^3} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(1-p)[1+B\zeta + (p-\alpha)(A-B)\zeta]}{(1-z)^3} z^2 \right\} + \overline{z^p} \left\{ \frac{p^2(2+(A+B)\zeta) + \alpha(B-A)p\zeta}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(3p-4p^2+1)(1+B\zeta) + (p-\alpha)(1-2p)(A-B)\zeta}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \overline{z} \right. \\ &+ \frac{(p-1)[(2p-1)(1+B\zeta) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)\zeta]}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \overline{z}^2 \Big\} \end{split}$$

Proof. Let $f \in H(p)$ be of the form (1). Then $f \in C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if and only if it satisfies (2) or equivalently

$$\frac{z^{2}h''(z) + zh'(z) + \overline{z^{2}g''(z) + zg'(z)}}{zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)}} \neq \frac{p + [pB + (p - \alpha)(A - B)\zeta]}{1 + B\zeta},$$
 (4)

where $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}, |\zeta| = 1, z \in \mathbb{D} \setminus \{1\}$. Since

$$zh'(z) = h(z) * \frac{z^p[p + (1-p)z]}{(1-z)^2}, \qquad zg'(z) = g(z) * \frac{z^p[p + (1-p)z]}{(1-z)^2}$$

and

$$z^{2}h''(z) = h(z) * \frac{z^{p}[p(p-1) + 2p(2-p)z + (2-3p+p^{2})z^{2}]}{(1-z)^{3}},$$

$$z^{2}g^{\prime\prime}(z) = g(z) * \frac{z^{p}[p(p-1) + 2p(2-p)z + (2-3p+p^{2})z^{2}]}{(1-z)^{3}},$$

the inequality (4) yields

$$\begin{split} (1+B\zeta) \Big[z^2 h''(z) + zh'(z) + \overline{z^2 g''(z) + zg'(z)} \Big] &- \Big[p + [pB + (p-a)(A-B)\zeta] \Big] \Big(zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)} \Big) \\ &= h(z) * \left\{ (1+B\zeta) \frac{z^p [p^2 + (2p-2p^2+1)z + (p-1)^2 z^2]}{(1-z)^3} \\ &- (p + [pB + (p-a)(A-B)]\zeta) \frac{z^p [p + (1-p)z]}{(1-z)^2} \right\} + \overline{g(z)} \\ &+ \left\{ (1+B\zeta) \frac{\overline{z^p} [p^2 + (2p-2p^2+1)\overline{z} + (p-1)^2 \overline{z^2}]}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \\ &+ (p + [pB + (p-a)(A-B)]\zeta) \frac{\overline{z^p} [p + (1-p)\overline{z}]}{(1-\overline{z})^2} \right\} \\ &= h(z) * z^p \left\{ \frac{p(p-a)(B-A)\zeta}{(1-z)^3} + \frac{(1+B\zeta)(1+p) + (1-2p)(p-a)(B-A)\zeta}{(1-z)^3} z^2 \\ &+ \frac{(1-p)[1+B\zeta + (p-a)(A-B)\zeta]}{(1-z)^3} z^2 \right\} + \overline{g(z)} \\ &+ \frac{z^p}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \Big\{ \frac{p^2(2 + (A+B)\zeta) + a(B-A)p\zeta}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \\ &+ \frac{(3p-4p^2+1)(1+B\zeta) + (p-a)(1-2p)(A-B)\zeta}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \overline{z} \\ &+ \frac{(p-1)[(2p-1)(1+B\zeta) + (p-a)(A-B)\zeta]}{(1-\overline{z})^3} \overline{z}^2 \Big\} \\ &= f(z) * \varphi(z; \zeta) \neq 0. \end{split}$$

Next we give the sufficient coefficient bound for functions in $C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

Theorem 2. Let *f* be of the form (1). If $-1 \le B \le -B < A \le 1$, $0 \le \alpha < p$, $p \ge 1$ and

$$\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (\theta(p,\alpha,A,B)|a_n| + \Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B)|b_n|) \le 2p(p-\alpha)(A-B)$$
(5)

where

$$\theta(p,\alpha,A,B) = n[(1-B)(n-p) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)]$$
(6)

and

$$\Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B) = n[(1 - B)(n - p) + (p - \alpha)(A - B)]$$
(7)

then $f \in C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

Proof. We need to show that if (2) holds then $f \in C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$. By definition of subordination, $f \in C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if and only if there exists a complex valued function w; w(0) = 0, $|w(z)| < 1(z \in \mathbb{D})$ such that

$$\frac{z^2h''(z) + zh'(z) + \overline{z^2g''(z) + zg'(z)}}{zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)}} = \frac{p + [pB + (p - \alpha)(A - B)]w(z)}{1 + Bw(z)}$$

or equivalently

$$\left| \frac{z^2 h''(z) + \overline{z^2 g''(z)} + (1-p)zh'(z) + (1+p)\overline{zg'(z)}}{B(z^2 h''(z) + \overline{z^2 g''(z)}) + [(1-\alpha)B - (p-\alpha)A]zh'(z) + [(1+\alpha)B + (p-\alpha)A]\overline{zg'(z)}} \right| < 1.$$
(8)

Substituting for $z^2h''(z)$, $z^2g''(z)$, zh'(z) and zg'(z) in (8), we obtain

$$\left| B\left(z^2h^{\prime\prime}(z) + \overline{z^2g^{\prime\prime}(z)}\right) + \left[(1-\alpha)B - (p-\alpha)A\right]zh^\prime(z) + \left[(1+\alpha)B + (p-\alpha)A\right]\overline{zg^\prime(z)}\right| \\ - \left|z^2h^{\prime\prime}(z) + \overline{z^2g^{\prime\prime}(z)} + (1-p)zh^\prime(z) + (1+p)\overline{zg^\prime(z)}\right|$$

$$= \left| p(p-\alpha)(A-B)z^{p} + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n[-B(n-\alpha) + A(p-\alpha)]a_{n}z^{n} + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n[-B(n+\alpha) - A(p-\alpha)]\overline{b_{n}z^{n}} \right| - \left| \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n(n-p)a_{n}z^{n} - \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n(n+p)\overline{b_{n}z^{n}} \right|$$

$$\geq p(p-\alpha)(A-B)|z^{p}| - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n[(1-B)(n-p) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|a_{n}||z|^{n} - \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n[(1-B)(n+p) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_{n}||z|^{n}$$

$$> |z|^{p} \left\{ p(p-\alpha)(A-B) - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n[(1-B)(n-p) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|a_{n}| - \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n[(1-B)(n+p) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_{n}| \right\} \geq 0,$$

by (5).

The hormonic functions

$$f(z) = z + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\theta(p,\alpha,A,B)} x_n z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B)} y_n \overline{z^n}, \qquad (9)$$

where $\sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} |x_n| + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} |y_n| = 1$, show that the coefficient bound given by in Theorem 2 is sharp.

Since

$$\sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \theta(p, \alpha, A, B) |a_n| + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B) |b_n|$$
$$= p(p-\alpha)(A-B) \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} |x_n| + p(p-\alpha)(A-B) \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} |y_n|$$
$$= p(p-\alpha)(A-B),$$

the functions of the form (9) are in $C_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

Next we show that the bound (5) is also necessary for $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

Theorem 3. Let $f = h + \overline{g}$ with *h* and *g* of the form (2). Then $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if and only if the condition (5) holds.

Proof. In view of Theorem 2, we only need to show that $f \notin TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if condition (5) does not hold. We note that a necessary and sufficient condition for $f = h + \bar{g}$ given by (2) to be in $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ is that the coefficient condition (5) to be satisfied. Equivalently, we must have

$$\left|\frac{H(z)}{G(z)}\right| < 1$$

where

$$H(z) = \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n(n-p) |a_n| \overline{z^n} + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n(n+p) |b_n| \overline{z^n}$$

and

$$G(z) = p(p-\alpha)(A-B)z^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n[-B(n-\alpha) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|a_n|z^n$$
$$-\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n[-B(n+\alpha) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_n|\overline{z^n}.$$

For z = r < 1 we obtain

$$\left[\sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n(n-p)|a_{n}|r^{n-1} + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n(n+p)|b_{n}|r^{n-1}\right] \times \left[p(p-\alpha)(A-B) - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} n[-B(n-\alpha) + (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|a_{n}|r^{n-1} - \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} n[-B(n+\alpha) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_{n}|r^{n-1}\right]^{-1} < 1.$$
(10)

If condition (5) does not hold then condition (10) does not hold for *r* sufficiently close to 1. Thus there exists $z_0 = r_0$ in (0,1) for which the quotient (10) is greater than 1. This contradicts the required condition for $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ and so the proof is complete.

Theorem 4. Let $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$. Then for |z| = r < 1, we have

$$|f(z)| \le \left(1 + |b_p|\right)r^p + \left(\frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B) - p[2p(1-B) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_p|}{(p+1)[1-B + (p+\alpha)(A-B)]}\right)r^{p+1},$$

and

$$|f(z)| \ge (1 - |b_p|)r^p - \left(\frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B) - p[2p(1-B) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_p|}{(p+1)[1-B + (p+\alpha)(A-B)]}\right)r^{p+1}.$$

Proof. We only prove the left hand inequality. The proof for the right hand inequality is similar and will be omitted. Let $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$. Taking the absolute value of f we have

$$|f(z)| \ge (1 - |b_p|)r^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} (|a_n| + |b_n|)r^n$$
$$\ge (1 - |b_p|)r^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \frac{\theta(p, \alpha, A, B)|a_n| + \Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B)|b_n|}{(p+1)[1 - B + (p+\alpha)(A - B)]}r^{p+1}$$

~~

$$\geq (1 - |b_p|)r^p - \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B) - p[2p(1-B) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_p|}{(p+1)[1-B + (p+\alpha)(A-B)]}r^{p+1}$$

The following covering result follows from the left hand inequality in Theorem 4.

Corollary 5. Let $f = h + \overline{g}$ with *h* and *g* of the form (3). If $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ then

$$\left\{w: |w| < \frac{(p+1)(1-B) + (p-\alpha)(A-B) + (2p+1)[(p-1)(1-B) - (p-\alpha)(A-B)]|b_p|}{(p+1)[1-B + (p+\alpha)(A-B)]}\right\} \subset f(\mathbb{D}).$$

Theorem 6. Set

$$h_p(z) = z^p, h_p(z) = z^p - \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\theta(p,\alpha,A,B)} z^n, \qquad (n = p + 1, p + 2, ...),$$

and

$$g_n(z) = z^p + \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B)}\overline{z^n}, \qquad (n = p, p+1, \dots).$$

Then $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ if and only if it can be expressed as

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (x_n h_n(z) + y_n g_n(z))$$

where $x_n \ge 0$, $y_n \ge 0$ and $\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (x_n + y_n) = 1$. In particular, the extreme points of $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ are $\{h_n\}$ and $\{g_n\}$.

Proof. Suppose

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (x_n h_n(z) + y_n g_n(z))$$
$$= \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (x_n + y_n) z^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\theta(p,\alpha,A,B)} x_n z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B)} y_n \overline{z^n}.$$

Then

$$\sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \theta(p, \alpha, A, B) |a_n| + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B) |b_n|$$

$$= p(p-\alpha)(A-B)\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} x_n + p(p-\alpha)(A-B)\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} y_n$$
$$= p(p-\alpha)(A-B)(1-x_p) \le p(p-\alpha)(A-B)$$

and so $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$. Conversely, if $f \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$, then

$$|a_n| \le \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\theta(p,\alpha,A,B)}$$
 and $|b_n| \le \frac{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)}{\Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B)}$.

Set

$$x_n = \frac{\theta(p, \alpha, A, B)}{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)} |a_n| \qquad (n = p+1, p+2, \dots)$$

and

$$y_n = \frac{\Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B)}{p(p-\alpha)(A-B)} |b_n| \qquad (n = p, p+1, ...).$$

Then note by Theorem 3,

$$0 \le x_n \le 1$$
 $(n = p + 1, p + 2, ...)$ and $0 \le y_n \le 1$ $(n = p, p + 1, ...)$.

We define

$$x_p = 1 - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} x_n - \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} y_n$$

and note that by Theorem3, $x_p \ge 0$. Consequently, we obtain

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} (x_n h_n(z) + y_n g_n(z))$$

as required.

Now we show that $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ is closed under convex combinations of its members.

Theorem 7. The class $TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$ is closed under convex combination.

Proof. For $k = 1,2,3, \dots$ let $f_k \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$, where f_k is given by

$$f_k(z) = z^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \left| a_{k,n} \right| z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \left| b_{k,n} \right| \overline{z^n}.$$

Then by (6),

$$\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \left(\theta(p,\alpha,A,B) \left| a_{k,n} \right| + \Upsilon(p,\alpha,A,B) \left| b_{k,n} \right| \right) \le 2p(p-\alpha)(A-B).$$
(11)

For $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k = 1, 0 \le t_k \le 1$, the convex combination of f_k may be written as

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k f_k(z) = z^p - \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k |a_{k,n}| \right) z^n + \sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k |b_{k,n}| \right) \overline{z^n}.$$

Then by (11),

$$\sum_{n=p}^{\infty} \left(\theta(p, \alpha, A, B) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k \left| a_{k,n} \right| + \Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k \left| b_{k,n} \right| \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[\theta(p, \alpha, A, B) \left| a_{k,n} \right| + \Upsilon(p, \alpha, A, B) \left| b_{k,n} \right| \right] \right)$$
$$\leq 2p(p-\alpha)(A-B) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k = 2p(p-\alpha)(A-B).$$

This is the condition required by (6) and so $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k f_k(z) \in TC_H(p, \alpha, A, B)$.

3. References

[1] Ahuja O. P. and Jahangiri J. M., Multivalent harmonic starlike functions, Ann. Univ. Mariae Cruie Sklod. Sec. A 55(1), 1-13 (2001).

[2] Ahuja O. P., and Jahangiri J. M., On a linear combination of classes of multivalently harmonic functions, Kyungpook Math. J., 42(1), 61-70 (2002).

[3] Clunie J., and Sheil-Small T., Harmonic univalent functions, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A I Math. 9, 3-25 (1984).

[4] Dziok J., Jahangiri J. M., and Silverman H., Harmonic functions with varying coefficients, Journal of Inequalities and Applications, 139, (2016).

[5] Dziok J., Yalçın S., and Altınkaya Ş., Subclasses of harmonic univalent functions associated with generalized Ruscheweyh operator, Publications de l'Institut Mathematique, 106(120), 19-28, (2019).

[6] Jahangiri J. M., Harmonic functions starlike in the unit disk, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 235, 470-477 (1999).

[7] Jahangiri J. M., Şeker B., and Sümer Eker S., Salagean-type harmonic multivalent functions, Acta Univ. Apulensis, 18, 233-244 (2016).

[8] Yaşar E., and Yalçın S., On a new subclass of Ruscheweyh-type harmonic multivalent functions, Journal of Inequalities and Applications, 271, (2013).

[9] Yaşar E., and Yalçın S., Partial sums of starlike harmonic multivalent functions, Afrika Mathematica, 26(1-2), 53-63 (2015).

[10] Yaşar E., and Yalçın S., Neighborhoods of a new class of harmonic multivalent functions, Comput. Math. Appl., 62(1), 462-473 (2011).

A General Theorem Involving Quasi Power Increasing Sequences

Hikmet Seyhan Özarslan¹, Bağdagül Kartal², Mehmet Öner Şakar³

^{1,2,3}Mathematics, Erciyes University, Turkey, E-mail(s): seyhan@erciyes.edu.tr, bagdagulkartal@erciyes.edu.tr, mehmethaydaroner@hotmail.com

Abstract

In this paper, a known theorem dealing with absolute Cesàro summability of an infinite series is generalized for $\varphi - |C, \alpha; \beta|_k$ summability by using a quasi-*f*-power increasing sequence instead of an almost increasing sequence.

Keywords: δ -quasi-monotone sequences, Cesàro summability, almost increasing sequences, quasi power increasing sequences, summability factors, infinite series, Hölder's inequality, Minkowski's inequality.

1. Introduction

A sequence (A_n) is said to be δ -quasi-monotone if $A_n \to 0$, $A_n > 0$ ultimately and $\Delta A_n \ge -\delta_n$, where $\Delta A_n = A_n - A_{n+1}$ and $\delta = (\delta_n)$ is a sequence of positive numbers (see [2]). A positive sequence (b_n) is said to be almost increasing if there exist a positive increasing sequence (c_n) and two positive constants K and M such that $Kc_n \le b_n \le Mc_n$ (see [1]). Obviously, every increasing sequence is almost increasing, but the converse need not be true as can be seen from the example $b_n = ne^{(-1)^n}$. Let t_n^{α} be the *n*th Cesàro mean of order α , with $\alpha > -1$, of the sequence (na_n) , that is (see [12])

$$t_n^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{A_n^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^n A_{n-\nu}^{\alpha-1} \nu a_{\nu}$$

where

$$A_n^{\alpha} = O(n^{\alpha})$$
, $A_0^{\alpha} = 1$ and $A_{-n}^{\alpha} = 0$ for $n > 0$.

Let (w_n^{α}) be a sequence defined by (see [22])

$$w_n^{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \left| t_n^{\alpha} \right|, & \alpha = 1 \\ \max_{1 \le \nu \le n} \left| t_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right|, & 0 < \alpha < 1. \end{cases}$$
(1)

Let (φ_n) be a sequence of positive numbers. The series $\sum a_n$ is said to be summable $\varphi - |C, \alpha; \beta|_k$, $k \ge 1$, $\alpha > -1, \beta \ge 0$, if (see [24])

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| t_n^{\alpha} \right|^k < \infty.$$

If we take $\varphi_n = n$ and $\beta = 0$, then $\varphi - |C, \alpha; \beta|_k$ summability reduces to $|C, \alpha|_k$ summability (see [13]).

2. Known Result

The following theorem dealing with $|C,\alpha|_k$ summability has been proved via δ -quasi-monotone and almost increasing sequences.

Theorem 2.1 ([3]). Let (X_n) be an almost increasing sequence such that $|\Delta X_n| = O(X_n / n)$ and (λ_n) is a sequence such that

$$\left|\lambda_{n}\right|X_{n} = O(1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$
⁽²⁾

Suppose also that there exists a sequence of numbers (A_n) such that it is δ -quasi-monotone with $\sum nX_n\delta_n < \infty$, $\sum A_nX_n$ is convergent, and $|\Delta\lambda_n| \le |A_n|$ for all *n*. If the sequence (w_n^{α}) defined by (1) satisfies the condition

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{\left(w_n^{\alpha}\right)^k}{nX_n^{k-1}} = O(X_m) \quad as \quad m \to \infty,$$
(3)

then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $|C, \alpha|_k$, $0 < \alpha \le 1$ and $k \ge 1$.

3. Main Result

A positive sequence $X = (X_n)$ is said to be a quasi-*f*-power increasing sequence, if there exists a constant $K = K(X, f) \ge 1$ such that $Kf_n X_n \ge f_m X_m$ for all $n \ge m \ge 1$, where

$$f = \left\{ f_n(\sigma, \gamma) \right\} = \left\{ n^{\sigma} \left(\log n \right)^{\gamma}, \gamma \ge 0, 0 < \sigma < 1 \right\}$$

(see [25]). If we take $\gamma = 0$, then we get a quasi σ -power increasing sequence. It should be noted that, every almost increasing sequence is a quasi σ -power increasing sequence for any nonnegative σ , but the converse is not true if $\sigma > 0$ (see [14]). Absolute Cesàro summability methods have some applications on different sequences. For further details, see [5-10, 15-21, 23].

The object of this paper is to generalize Theorem 2.1 for $\varphi - |C, \alpha; \beta|_k$ summability method by using a quasi-*f*-power increasing sequence as in the following form.

Theorem 3.1. Let (X_n) be a quasi-*f*-power increasing sequence and (λ_n) be a sequence as in (2). Suppose that there exists a sequence of numbers (A_n) such that it is δ -quasi-monotone with $\Delta A_n \leq \delta_n$, $\sum nX_n \delta_n < \infty$, $\sum A_n X_n$ is convergent, and $|\Delta \lambda_n| \leq |A_n|$ for all *n*. Suppose also that there is an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that the sequence $(n^{\varepsilon-k} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1})$ is non-increasing. If the sequence (w_n^{α}) defined by (1) satisfies the condition

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \frac{\left(w_n^{\alpha}\right)^k}{X_n^{k-1}} = O(X_m) \quad as \quad m \to \infty,$$
(4)

then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $\varphi - |C, \alpha; \beta|_k$, $\beta \ge 0$, $0 < \alpha \le 1$, $\varepsilon + (\alpha - 1)k > 0$ and $k \ge 1$.

To prove Theorem 3.1, we need the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.2 ([11]). If $0 < \alpha \le 1$ and $1 \le v \le n$, then

$$\left|\sum_{p=0}^{\nu} A_{n-p}^{\alpha-1} a_{p}\right| \leq \max_{1 \leq m \leq \nu} \left|\sum_{p=0}^{m} A_{m-p}^{\alpha-1} a_{p}\right|.$$
(5)

Lemma 3.3 ([4]). Let (X_n) be a quasi-*f*-power increasing sequence. If (A_n) is a δ -quasi-monotone with $\Delta A_n \leq \delta_n$ and $\sum n X_n \delta_n < \infty$, then

$$nX_n A_n = O(1) \text{ as } n \to \infty, \tag{6}$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n X_n \left| \Delta A_n \right| < \infty.$$
⁽⁷⁾

4. Proof of Theorem 3.1

Let $0 < \alpha \le 1$. Let (I_n^{α}) be the *n*th (C, α) mean of the sequence $(na_n\lambda_n)$. By Abel's transformation, we get

$$I_{n}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} A_{n-\nu}^{\alpha-1} \nu a_{\nu} \lambda_{\nu} = \frac{1}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \Delta \lambda_{\nu} \sum_{p=1}^{\nu} A_{n-p}^{\alpha-1} p a_{p} + \frac{\lambda_{n}}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} A_{n-\nu}^{\alpha-1} \nu a_{\nu}.$$

Then, using Lemma 3.2, we have

$$\left|I_{n}^{\alpha}\right| \leq \frac{1}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \left|\Delta\lambda_{\nu}\right| \left|\sum_{p=1}^{\nu} A_{n-p}^{\alpha-1} p a_{p}\right| + \frac{\left|\lambda_{n}\right|}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \left|\sum_{\nu=1}^{n} A_{n-\nu}^{\alpha-1} \nu a_{\nu}\right| \leq \frac{1}{A_{n}^{\alpha}} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} A_{\nu}^{\alpha} w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \left|\Delta\lambda_{\nu}\right| + \left|\lambda_{n}\right| w_{n}^{\alpha} = I_{n,1}^{\alpha} + I_{n,2}^{\alpha}$$

First, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,1}^{\alpha} \right|^k &\leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left(A_n^{\alpha} \right)^{-k} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} A_\nu^{\alpha} w_\nu^{\alpha} \left| \Delta \lambda_\nu \right| \right)^k \\ &\leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left(A_n^{\alpha} \right)^{-k} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} A_\nu^{\alpha} w_\nu^{\alpha} \left| A_\nu \right| \right)^k. \end{split}$$

Using Hölder's inequality with indices k and k', where k > 1 and $\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{k} = 1$, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,1}^{\alpha} \right|^k &\leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left(A_n^{\alpha} \right)^{-k} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \left(A_\nu^{\alpha} \right)^k \left(w_\nu^{\alpha} \right)^k \left| A_\nu \right|^k \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} 1 \right)^{k-1} \\ &= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m v^{\alpha k} \left(w_\nu^{\alpha} \right)^k \left| A_\nu \right| \left| A_\nu \right|^{k-1} \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \frac{\varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{\varepsilon-k}}{n^{1+\varepsilon+(\alpha-1)k}}. \end{split}$$

Now, we get $|A_v| = O\left(\frac{1}{vX_x}\right)$ by (6), therefore

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,1}^{\alpha} \right|^k &= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \nu^{\alpha k} \left(w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right)^k \left| A_{\nu} \right| \frac{1}{\left(\nu X_{\nu} \right)^{k-1}} \varphi_{\nu}^{\beta k+k-1} \nu^{\varepsilon-k} \int_{\nu}^{\infty} \frac{dx}{x^{1+\varepsilon+(\alpha-1)k}} \\ &= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \nu \left| A_{\nu} \right| \varphi_{\nu}^{\beta k+k-1} \nu^{-k} \frac{\left(w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right)^k}{X_{\nu}^{k-1}}. \end{split}$$

By applying Abel's transformation, and by using the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1 and Lemma 3.3, we have

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,1}^{\alpha} \right|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \Delta \left(\nu \left| A_{\nu} \right| \right) \sum_{r=1}^{\nu} \varphi_r^{\beta k+k-1} r^{-k} \frac{\left(w_r^{\alpha} \right)^k}{X_r^{k-1}} + O(1) m \left| A_m \right| \sum_{\nu=1}^m \varphi_{\nu}^{\beta k+k-1} \nu^{-k} \frac{\left(w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right)^k}{X_{\nu}^{k-1}} = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \nu \left| \Delta A_{\nu} \right| X_{\nu} + O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \left| A_{\nu} \right| X_{\nu} + O(1) m \left| A_m \right| X_m = O(1) \quad as \quad m \to \infty.$$

By (2), we get $|\lambda_n| = O\left(\frac{1}{X_n}\right)$. Therefore, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \varphi_{n}^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,2}^{\alpha} \right|^{k} = \sum_{n=1}^{m} \varphi_{n}^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| \lambda_{n} \right| \left| \lambda_{n} \right|^{k-1} \left(w_{n}^{\alpha} \right)^{k} = O(1) \sum_{n=1}^{m} \varphi_{n}^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| \lambda_{n} \right| \frac{1}{X_{n}^{k-1}} \left(w_{n}^{\alpha} \right)^{k}$$

Now, using Abel's transformation, and by using the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1, we get

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \varphi_{n}^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,2}^{\alpha} \right|^{k} = O(1) \sum_{n=1}^{m-1} \Delta \left| \lambda_{n} \right| \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \varphi_{\nu}^{\beta k+k-1} \nu^{-k} \frac{\left(w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right)^{\kappa}}{X_{\nu}^{k-1}} + O(1) \left| \lambda_{m} \right| \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \varphi_{\nu}^{\beta k+k-1} \nu^{-k} \frac{\left(w_{\nu}^{\alpha} \right)^{\kappa}}{X_{\nu}^{k-1}} = O(1) \sum_{n=1}^{m-1} \left| A_{n} \right| X_{n} + O(1) \left| \lambda_{m} \right| X_{m} = O(1) \quad as \quad m \to \infty.$$

Hence, we obtain $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi_n^{\beta k+k-1} n^{-k} \left| I_{n,r}^{\alpha} \right|^k < \infty$ for r = 1 and r = 2, which complete the proof of Theorem 3.1.

If we take (X_n) as an almost increasing sequence such that $|\Delta X_n| = O(X_n / n)$, $\varphi_n = n$, $\beta = 0$, and $\varepsilon = 1$ in Theorem 3.1, the condition (4) reduces to the condition (3), then we obtain Theorem 2.1. In this case, the condition " $\Delta A_n \le \delta_n$ " is not needed.

References

[1] N. K. Bari and S. B. Stečkin, Best approximations and differential properties of two conjugate functions, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč. 5 (1956), 483-522.

[2] R. P. Boas (Jr.), Quasi-positive sequences and trigonometric series, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 14a (1965), 38-46.

[3] H. Bor, Quasimonotone and almost increasing sequences and their new applications, Abstr. Appl. Anal. Article ID 793548 (2012), 6 pp.

[4] H. Bor, On the quasi monotone and generalized power increasing sequences and their new applications, J. Class. Anal. 2(2) (2013), 139-144.

[5] H. Bor and H. S. Özarslan, A note on absolute summability factors, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. 6(1) (2003), 1-11.

[6] H. Bor and H. S. Özarslan, On the quasi-monotone and almost increasing sequences, J. Math. Inequal. 1(4) (2007), 529-534.

[7] H. Bor and H. S. Özarslan, A study on quasi power increasing sequences, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 38(3) (2008), 801-807.

[8] H. Bor and H. S. Özarslan, A new application of quasi-monotone and almost increasing sequences, J. Comp. Anal. Appl. 13(5) (2011), 886-891.

[9] H. Bor and H. Seyhan, A note on almost increasing sequences, Comment. Math. Prace Mat. 39 (1999), 37-42.

[10] H. Bor and H. M. Srivastava, Almost increasing sequences and their applications, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 3(1) (2002), 29-35.

[11] L. S. Bosanquet, A mean value theorem, J. London Math. Soc. 16 (1941), 146-148.

[12] E. Cesàro, Sur la multiplication des séries, Bull. Sci. Math. 14 (1890), 114-120.

[13] T. M. Flett, On an extension of absolute summability and some theorems of Littlewood and Paley, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 7 (1957), 113-141.

[14] L. Leindler, A new application of quasi power increasing sequences, Publ. Math. Debrecen 58(4) (2001), 791-796.

[15] H. S. Özarslan, On the generalized Cesàro summability factors, Acta Math. Acad. Paedagog. Nyházi. 17(1) (2001), 3-7.

[16] H. S. Özarslan, Factors for the $\varphi - |C, \alpha|_k$ summability, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. 5(1) (2002), 25-31.

[17] H. S. Özarslan, A note on absolute summability factors, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 113(2) (2003), 165-169.

[18] H. S. Özarslan, Absolute Cesàro summability factors, J. Concr. Appl. Math. 5(3) (2007), 231-236.

[19] H. S. Özarslan, On absolute Cesàro summability factors of infinite series, Commun. Math. Anal. 3(1) (2007), 53-56.

[20] H. S. Özarslan, A note on generalized absolute Cesàro summability, J. Comp. Anal. Appl. 12(3) (2010), 581-585.

[21] H. S. Özarslan, A note on generalized absolute Cesàro summability, Adv. Pure Appl. Math. 5(1) (2014), 1-3.

[22] T. Pati, The summability factors of infinite series, Duke Math. J. 21 (1954), 271-283.

[23] H. Seyhan, A note on summability methods, Math. Slovaca 49(2) (1999), 201-208.

[24] H. Seyhan, On the generalized Cesàro summability factors, Acta Comment. Univ. Tartu. Math. 3 (1999), 3-6.

[25] W. T. Sulaiman, Extension on absolute summability factors of infinite series, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 322(2) (2006), 1224-1230.

A Mathematical Modelling of Tuberculosis infection Dynamics with Effects of Case Detection and Drug Resistance

Yusuf Zubair¹, Gbolahan Bolarin², and Abdulhakeem Yusuf³

^{1,2,3}Mathematics Department, Federal University of Technology, Minna, Nigeria, E-mail(s): ²g..bolarin@futminna.edu.ng, ¹zubairoyereyi@gmail.com ³a.yusuf@futminna.edu.ng

Abstract

A deterministic mathematical model of tuberculosis incorporating case detection and drug resistance with constant recruitment rate was developed. The population was subdivided into six compartments according to their disease status. The basic reproduction number of the model was obtained using the next generation matrix. The existence of disease free and endemics equilibrium points were shown and the conditions for their stability was also esterblished. The results show that the disease free equilibrium points are locally asymptotically stable if $R_0 < 1$ and globally stable if $R_0 > 1$ and globally stable if $R_0 > 1$ and globally stable if $R_0 \geq 1$. We obtain the approximate solution of the model using Homotopy Perturbation Methods. The graphical summaries of the solution were carried out and the result show that increase in case detection and sustained treatment can help to reduce transmission of tuberculosis disease.

Key words: Tuberculosis, Reproduction Number, Homotopy Perturbation Method, Next Generation Matrix

1. Introduction

Tuberculosis is a bacterial disease which attacks some part of the human body such as lungs, bones, lymph nodes and brain. This disease is caused by a known mycobacterium tuberculosis that looks like rod-shape bacterium. Some of the symptoms are in the form of cough, chest pains, shortness of breath, loss of appetite, weight loss, fever, chills and fatigue.

Tuberculosis is the second leading cause of death from infectious disease worldwide after those caused by Human Immune Deficiency Virus (HIV) [4]. This disease affect over 2 billion of the world population. Approximately over nine million people develop active tuberculosis and up to 2 million death cases is recorded from tuberculosis every year. Also over 480 thousand people developed drug resistance to tuberculosis with 210 thousand of those who developed multi drug resistance tuberculosis result to death [6].

Tuberculosis (TB) infection is of two type, namely, latent infection and active infection. The latent infection in the body system is a condition in which a patient holds dormant (sleeping) Tuberculosis bacteria in the

body and they do not cause TB disease to the patient's body. However, in a certain period, the sleeping bacteria would be awake and become active. People infected latently are called latent TB patients and are unable to infect those vulnerable to TB disease. Actively infected is a state in which the bacteria causing tuberculosis in the patient's body are actively multiplying and the disease symptoms becomes very visible in the body system. Those patients that are infected actively are called active tuberculosis and they can transmit the disease to vulnerable people [17].

Patients of latent and active TB can be treated but they are not totally protected from the disease. Within a certain time, those who recovered can be re-infected again in case contact with TB infectious patient. Based upon the chain of actions of TB bacteria infection, the associated population can be grouped into several different sub-populations which are susceptible to the TB disease. The sub-population groups are latent infectious, active infectious and recovered infectious groups.

About one-third of the world population has latent TB, which means people have been infected by TB bacteria but are not (yet) ill with the disease and cannot transmit the disease. People infected with TB bacteria have a 10 % lifetime risk of falling ill with Tuberculosis disease. Latent Tuberculosis infection can progress to active tuberculosis when the immunity of the host decreases due to aging, stress, over use of immunosuppressant or co-infection with HIV [16].

The spread of tuberculosis diseases can be analysed through mathematical models. The models can help to predict and control the spread of tuberculosis outbreak in the future. The spread of tuberculosis disease can be modelled with some types of epidemics models which can come in different variance of SIR models; see [1,2,5,11,12,13,14]. Also, some author studied the effects of vaccination or otherwise on the overall dynamics of tuberculosis in the population,[7, 9,10].

In this current study, we are going to develop and analyze a model with six compartements and solve the model with a semi-analytuc method known as homotopy perturbation method.

2. Material and Methods

In this section, we are going to formulate the proposed model and conduct standard epidemiological analysis on it.

2.1 Model formulation

We first divide the human population at time $t \ge 0$, into six classes they are Susceptible S(t), Expossed E(t), Infected I(t), Resistance to first line of treatment $R_1(t)$, Resistance to second line of treatmet $R_2(t)$, and the recorvered humans R(t). The size of the human population is given by

$$N(t) = S(t) + E(t) + I(t) + R_1(t) + R_2(t) + R.$$



Figure 1 Schematic Diagram Showing the Flow of Tuberculosis Transmission Model

Parameter/Variables	Description
Λ	Recruitment rate
S(t)	Susceptible humans at time t
E(t)	Exposed human at time t
I(t)	Infected humans at time t
$R_1(t)$	Resistance class of individual to first line of treatment
$R_2(t)$	Resistance class of individual to second line of treatment
R(t)	Recovered humans at time t
η	Case detection rate
$\lambda_{_{1}}$	Rate of transmission (detection)
λ_2	Rate of transmission (undetected)
μ	Natural death rate
γ	The rate at which the infected becomes infectious
ho	Rate at which recovered individual loss their immunity
I_1	Resistance rate to first line of treatment
r_2	Resistance rate to second line of treatment

Table 1: Description of Parameters/Variables of the model

α_1	Diseases induced death rate
δ_1	Recovery rate after first line of treatment
δ_2	Recovery rate after second line of treatment
α_2	Diseases induced death rate after first line of treatment
α_3	Diseases induced death rate after second line of treatment

2.2 Basic assumptions of the model

- 1. The population is varying and homogenously mixed i.e. All people are equally likely to be infected by the infectious individual in case of contact.
- 2. Both detected and undetected case of individual transmit Tuberculosis at the different rate i.e. it is higher in undetected cases.
- 3. It is assumed that no permanent immunity to Tuberculosis.
- 4. Some infected individual delay treatment and moved to resistance classes.
- 5. Natural death occur in all the classes.

2.3 The model equation

10

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \Lambda - \mu S - \left(\lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 (1 - \eta)\right) IS + \rho R \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = \left(\lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 (1 - \eta)\right) IS - \left(\mu + \gamma\right) E \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \gamma E - \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right)I \tag{3}$$

$$\frac{dR_1}{dt} = r_1 I - \left(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1\right) R_1 \tag{4}$$

$$\frac{dR_2}{dt} = r_2 I - \left(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2\right) R_2 \tag{5}$$

$$\frac{dR}{dt} = \delta_1 R_1 + \delta_2 R_2 - (\mu + \rho)R \tag{6}$$

2.4 Analysis of the Model

We present standard epidemiological analysis of the model in the following subsections.

2.4.1 Invariant Region of the Model

The rate of total population is given by

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = \frac{dS}{dt} + \frac{dE}{dt} + \frac{dI}{dt} + \frac{dR_1}{dt} + \frac{dR_2}{dt} + \frac{dR}{dt}$$
(7)

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = \Lambda - \mu \left(S + E + I + R_1 + R_2 + R \right) - \left(\alpha_1 I + \alpha_2 R_1 + \alpha_3 R_2 \right) \tag{8}$$

$$\frac{dN}{dt} \le \Lambda - \mu \left(S + E + I + R_1 + R_2 + R \right) \tag{9}$$

$$\frac{dN}{dt} \le \Lambda - \mu N \tag{10}$$

Where

$$N = S + E + I + R_1 + R_2 + R \tag{11}$$

Theorem 1: Model equations (1)-(6) has solutions which contain in the feasible region Ω for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof:

Let $\Omega = (S, E, I, R_1, R_2, R) \in \Re^6$ be any solution of the model 1-6 with non-negative initial conditions then from equation (10) we have

$$\frac{dN}{dt} \le \Lambda - \mu N \tag{12}$$

$$0 \le N \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \tag{13}$$

We seek solution of the form

$$IF = e^{\int \mu dt} = e^{\mu t} \tag{14}$$

By multiplying through our equation (12) with the integrating factor we obtain

$$\left[Ne^{\mu t}\right] \leq \Lambda e^{\mu t} \tag{15}$$

 \Rightarrow

$$\Lambda - \mu N \ge C e^{\mu t} \tag{16}$$

Therefore, all feasible solution of the human population of the model is in the region

$$\Omega = \left\{ \left(S, E, I, R_1, R_2, R \right) \in \mathfrak{R}^6 : \left(S, E, I, R_1, R_2, R \right) \ge 0, N \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \right\}$$
(17)

2.4.2 Positivity of the solutions

Lemma 1: Let the initial solutions be $\{S(0), E(0), I(0), R_1(0), R_2(0), R(0) \ge 0\} \in \Omega$ then the solution $\{S(t), E(t), I(t), R_1(t), R_2(t), R(t)\}$ of the model equations (1)-(6) is positive for all time $t \ge 0$.

Proof: From equation (1) we have $\frac{dS}{dt} \ge -\mu S$ (18)By separating the variable and integrating equation (18) we have $\int \frac{dS}{S} \ge -\int \mu dt$ (19) \Rightarrow $S(t) \geq S(0)e^{-\mu t}$ (20)Similarly we can show that $E(t) \ge E(0)e^{-(\mu+\gamma)t}$ (21) $I(t) \ge I(0)e^{-(\mu+\alpha_1+r_1+r_2)t}$ (22) $R_1(t) \ge R_1(0)e^{-(\mu+\alpha_2+\delta_1)t}$ (23) $R_{2}(t) \ge R_{2}(0)e^{-(\mu+\alpha_{3}+\delta_{2})t}$ (24) $R(t) \ge R(0)e^{-(\mu+\rho)t}$ (25)

Therefore all the solution of the equations (1) –(6) are positive for all time $t \ge 0$.

2.5 Basic Reproduction Number R_0

The basic reproduction number (R_0) is the average number of new infections that one infected case will generate during their entire infection life time. It is an important tool in determining whether the diseases persist or die out in population.

We use the next generation matrix approach an in [15] to compute the basic reproduction number.

Basic reproduction number is the spectral radius $\rho(F_1V_1^{-1})$ where the matrix F_i and V_i are the new infection terms and the remaining transfer terms respectively. The basic reproduction number is obtained as follow

Consider the following differential equations for the diseases compartment

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = \lambda IS - (\mu + \gamma)E \tag{26}$$

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \gamma E - \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right)I \tag{27}$$

$$\frac{dR_1}{dt} = r_1 I - \left(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1\right) R_1 \tag{28}$$

$$\frac{dR_2}{dt} = r_2 I - \left(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2\right) R_2 \tag{29}$$

Where
$$\lambda = \lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 (1 - \eta)$$

Let $X = (E, I, R_1, R_2)^T$ then the above system can be represented in matrix form as shown below: $\frac{dX_i}{dt} = F_i(X) - V_i(X)$ (30)

Where
$$F(X)_i = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda SI \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
, $V_i(X) = \begin{pmatrix} (\mu + \gamma)E \\ -\gamma E + (\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)I \\ -r_1I + (\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1)R_1 \\ -r_2I + (\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2)R_2 \end{pmatrix}$ (31)

The Jacobian matrix of $F_i(X)$ and $V_i(X)$ at the diseases free equilibrium X_0 are,

Now

$$V_{1}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu + \gamma} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\gamma}{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})} & \frac{1}{\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{r_{1}\gamma}{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})(\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})} & \frac{r_{1}}{(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})(\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})} & \frac{1}{\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1}} & 0 \\ 0 & & & \\ \frac{r_{2}\gamma}{(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})(\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})(\mu + \alpha_{3} + \delta_{2})} & \frac{r_{2}}{(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})(\mu + \alpha_{3} + \delta_{2})} & 0 & \frac{1}{\mu + \alpha_{3} + \delta_{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(34)

The next generation matrix of the system is given by

Thus our basic reproduction number is:

$$R_0 = \frac{\lambda \gamma \Lambda}{\mu (\mu + \gamma) (\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)}$$
(36)

2.6 Equilibrium points of the model

We obtained two equilibrium point for our model, these are the Disease free Equilibrium point and Endemic Equilibrium point.

2.6.1 Disease Free Equilibrium of the Model

Let $X_0 = (S^0, E^0, I^0, R_1^0, R_2^0, R^0)$ be the diseases free equilibrium points on equations (1) – (6) then the

equation (1)- (6) above becomes

$$\Lambda - \mu S^{0} - (\lambda_{1}\eta + \lambda_{2}(1-\eta))I^{0}S^{0} + \rho R^{0} = 0$$
(37)

$$(\lambda_{1}\eta + \lambda_{2}(1-\eta))I^{0}S^{0} - (\mu+\gamma)E^{0} = 0$$
(38)

$$\gamma E^{0} - (\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})I^{0} = 0$$
(39)

$$r_{1}I^{0} - (\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})R_{1} = 0$$
(40)

$$r_{2}I^{0} - (\mu + \alpha_{3} + \delta_{2})R^{0}_{2} = 0$$
(41)

$$\delta_1 R_1^0 + \delta_2 R_2^0 - (\mu + \rho) R^0 = 0 \tag{42}$$

From equation (38) we have

$$E^{0} = \frac{\left(\lambda_{1}\eta + \lambda_{2}(1-\eta)\right)I^{0}S^{0}}{\left(\mu + \gamma\right)}$$
(43)

Substituting (43) into (39) we have

$$\left(\frac{\gamma(\lambda_1\eta + \lambda_2(1-\eta))S^0}{(\mu+\gamma)} - (\mu+\alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)\right)I^0 = 0$$
(44)

Which implies that

$$I^0 = 0 \tag{45}$$

or,

$$\left(\frac{\gamma(\lambda_1\eta + \lambda_2(1-\eta))S^0}{(\mu+\gamma)} - (\mu+\alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)\right) = 0$$
(46)

Thus if $I^0 \neq 0$ we have

$$S^{0} = \frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})}{\gamma(\lambda_{1}\eta + \lambda_{2}(1 - \eta))}$$

$$\tag{47}$$

Putting equation (45) into (40) and (41) gives

$$R_1^0 = 0 (48) (49) (49)$$

Substituting equation (45) into (42)

$$R^0 = 0 \tag{50}$$

Putting (45) and (50) into (37) result in

$$S^0 = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \tag{51}$$

Thus diseases free equilibrium of the model is given by

$$X_{0} = \left(S^{0}, E^{0}, I^{0}, R_{1}^{0}, R_{2}^{0}, R^{0}\right) = \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0\right)$$
(52)

2.6.2 Endemic equilibrium $(S^*, E^*, I^*, R_1^*, R_2^*, R^*)$

We have $I \neq 0$, $E \neq 0$, $R_1 \neq 0$ and $R_2 \neq 0$

Thus from equation (47) we have

$$S^* = \frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)}{\gamma(\lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2(1 - \eta))}$$
(53)

From equation (1) we have

$$I^* = \frac{\Lambda - \mu S^* + \rho R^*}{\left(\lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 (1 - \eta)\right) S^*}$$
(54)
From (2)

$$E^* = \frac{\left(\lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 \left(1 - \eta\right)\right) S^* I^*}{\left(\mu + \gamma\right)}$$
(55)

From equation (4)

$$R_{1}^{*} = \frac{r_{1}I^{*}}{\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1}}$$
(56)

From (5) we have

$$R_2^* = \frac{r_2 I^*}{\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2}$$
(57)

From (6) we have

$$R^{*} = \frac{\delta_{1}R^{*}_{1} + \delta_{2}R^{*}_{2}}{\mu + \rho}$$
(58)

On solving equations (53) to (58) we have the endemic equilibrium point of the model as

$$S^* = \frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)}{\lambda\gamma} = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu R_0}$$
(59)

$$E^* = \frac{\lambda K \mu \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right) \left(R_0 - 1\right)}{\left(\lambda K - b\right)} \tag{60}$$

$$I^* = \frac{K\mu}{\lambda K - b} (R_0 - 1) \tag{61}$$

$$R_{1}^{*} = \frac{r_{1}K(R_{0}-1)}{(\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})(\lambda K - b)}$$
(62)

$$R_{2}^{*} = \frac{r_{2}K(R_{0}-1)}{(\mu + \alpha_{3} + \delta_{2})(\lambda K - b)}$$
(63)

$$R^* = \frac{bK(R_0 - 1)}{\rho(\lambda K - b)}$$
(64)

Where
$$K = \frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)(\mu + \rho)}{\lambda\gamma}$$
 (65)

$$b = \rho \left(\frac{\delta_1 r_1}{\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1} + \frac{\delta_2 r_2}{\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2} \right) \tag{66}$$

$$\lambda = \lambda_1 \eta + \lambda_2 \left(1 - \eta \right) \tag{67}$$

2.6.3 Condition of existence and positivity of endemic equilibrium

The system will remain positive provided we have:

$$\frac{\Lambda - \mu \left(\frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})}{\lambda \gamma}\right)}{\lambda \left(\frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})}{\lambda \gamma}\right)(\mu + \rho) - b} > 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \Lambda - \mu \left(\frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})}{\lambda \gamma}\right) > 0 \quad and \qquad \lambda \left(\frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})}{\lambda \gamma}\right)(\mu + \rho) - b > 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \lambda \gamma \Lambda > \mu (\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2}) \quad and \qquad \lambda K - b > 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \frac{\lambda \gamma \Lambda}{\mu (\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_{1} + r_{1} + r_{2})} > 1 \quad and \qquad \lambda K - b > 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow R_{0} \succ 1 \qquad and \qquad \lambda K > b \qquad (69)$$

This expression in equation (69) is the condition for existence and positivity of the endemic equilibrium solution.

2.6.4 Local Stability of Disease Free Equilibrium

,

Theorem 2. If $R_0 < 1$ then the diseases free equilibrium of the model is locally asymptotically stable and unstable if $R_0 \ge 1$.

Proof: We use the jacobian stability approach to prove the stability of the diseases free equilibrium.

$$J(E) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda I) & 0 & -\lambda S & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ \lambda I & -(\mu + \gamma) & \lambda S & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma & -(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_1 & -(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_2 & 0 & -(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_1 & \delta_2 & -(\mu + \rho) \end{pmatrix}$$
(70)

At the diseases free equilibrium we have $I = E = R_1 = R_2 = R = 0$ and $S = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$ Thus the Jacobian matrix at disease free equilibrium is given by:

$$J(E_0) = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & 0 & -\frac{\lambda\Lambda}{\mu} & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ 0 & -(\mu+\gamma) & \frac{\lambda\Lambda}{\mu} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma & -(\mu+\alpha_1+r_1+r_2) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_1 & -(\mu+\alpha_2+\delta_1) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_2 & 0 & -(\mu+\alpha_3+\delta_2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_1 & \delta_2 & -(\mu+\rho) \end{pmatrix}$$
(71)

Let $K = \mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2$

$$J(E_0) = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & 0 & -\frac{\lambda\Lambda}{\mu} & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ 0 & -(\mu+\gamma) & \frac{\lambda\Lambda}{\mu} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma & -K & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_1 & -(\mu+\alpha_2+\delta_1) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_2 & 0 & -(\mu+\alpha_3+\delta_2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_1 & \delta_2 & -(\mu+\rho) \end{pmatrix}$$
(72)

Thus the Eigenvalues of the jacobian matrix is given by

$$\lambda_1 = -\mu < 0 \tag{73}$$

$$\lambda_2 = -(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1) < 0 \tag{74}$$

$$\lambda_3 = -(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2) < 0 \tag{75}$$

$$\lambda_4 = -(\mu + \rho) < 0 \tag{76}$$

$$\lambda_{5} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(K + \mu + \gamma + \sqrt{\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu}} + K^{2} - 2K\mu - 2K\gamma + \mu^{2} + 2\mu\gamma + \gamma^{2} \right) < 0$$

$$\tag{77}$$

and

$$\lambda_{6} = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\left(K + \mu + \gamma\right) + \sqrt{\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K^{2} - 2K\mu - 2K\gamma + \mu^{2} + 2\mu\gamma + \gamma^{2}} \right)$$
(78)

Now for

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

(73)

$$\lambda_6 = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\left(K + \mu + \gamma\right) + \sqrt{\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K^2 - 2K\mu - 2K\gamma + \mu^2 + 2\mu\gamma + \gamma^2} \right) < 0$$

implies that

 \Rightarrow

 \Rightarrow

$$\left(K+\mu+\gamma\right)^{2} > \frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K\left(\left(K-2(\mu+\gamma)\right)+\left(\mu+\gamma\right)^{2}\right)$$
(79)

Let
$$Z = \mu + \gamma$$
 (80)

$$\left(K+Z\right)^2 > \frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K\left(K-2Z\right) + Z^2$$
(81)

$$\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K(K-2Z) + Z^2 - (K+Z)^2 < 0$$
(82)

$$\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} + K^2 + Z^2 - 2KZ - K^2 - 2KZ - Z^2 < 0$$
(83)

$$\Rightarrow \frac{4\beta\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} - 4KZ < 0 \tag{84}$$

Putting $Z = \mu + \gamma$ and $K = \mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2$ into equation (84) we have

$$\frac{4\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu} - 4(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)(\mu + \gamma) < 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \qquad (85)$$

$$\frac{4}{\left(\mu+\alpha_{1}+r_{1}+r_{2}\right)\left(\mu+\gamma\right)}\left(\frac{\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu\left(\mu+\alpha_{1}+r_{1}+r_{2}\right)\left(\mu+\gamma\right)}-1\right)<0$$
(86)
But R_{0} is

Dut 110 15

$$R_0 = \frac{\gamma}{\mu(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)}$$

λγΛ

Thus we have

$$\frac{4}{(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)(\mu + \gamma)} (R_0 - 1) < 0$$
(87)

Equation (87) will hold if $R_0 < 1$

Thus all eigenvalues of the Jacobian Matrix above has negative real part if $R_0 < 1$

Hence from Routh Hurwitz stability criterion we conclude that the diseases free equilibrium is locally asymptotically stable.

2.6.5 Global stability of the diseases free equilibrium.

Theorem 2: If $R_0 \le 1$ then the diseases free equilibrium of the system is globally asymptotically stable on Ω .

Proof. By constructing an appropriate Lyapunov function $V = (S, E, I, R_1, R_2, R)$ on the positively invariant compact set Ω .

Defined

$$V = (S, E, I, R_1, R_2, R) = \gamma E + (\mu + \gamma)I$$
(88)

Differentiate equation (88) by t we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \gamma \frac{dE}{dt} + (\mu + \gamma) \frac{dI}{dt}$$
(89)

Substitute equation (2) and (3) into (89) we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \gamma \left(\lambda IS - (\mu + \gamma)E\right) + (\mu + \gamma) \left(\gamma E - (\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)\right) I$$
(90)

which gives

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = (\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2) \left(\frac{\lambda\gamma\Lambda}{\mu(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)} - 1\right) I$$
(91)

therefore

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \left(\mu + \gamma\right) \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right) \left(R_0 - 1\right) I \tag{92}$$

Which is strictly decreasing when $R_0 < 1$

i.e

$$\frac{dV}{dt} < 0 \quad if \quad R_0 < 1 \tag{93}$$

and

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = 0$$
 If and only if $E = 0, I = 0, R_1 = 0, R_2 = 0$ and $R_0 = 1$

Defining the set $E_0 = \left\{ \left(E, I, R_1, R_2\right) \in \Omega : \frac{dL}{dt} = 0 \right\}$ the largest invariant set E_0 is contained in the set thus by LaSalle invariant principle [8] the diseases free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable. Hence the proof is complete.

2.6.6 Local stability of the endemic equilibrium

Theorem 4 The endemic equilibrium state of the system (1-6) is locally asymptotically stable if $R_0 > 1$.

Proof:

Using jacobian stability approach we consider the Jacobian matrix of (1-6) at endemic equilibrium points

$$J(E) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda I^*) & 0 & -\lambda S^* & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ \lambda I^* & -(\mu + \gamma) & \lambda S^* & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma & -(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_1 & -(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_2 & 0 & -(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_1 & \delta_2 & -(\mu + \rho) \end{pmatrix}$$
(94)

Let $K_1 = \mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2$, $K_2 = \mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1$, $K_3 = \mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2$, $K_4 = \mu + \rho$, $K_5 = \mu + \gamma$ Also at the endemic equilibrium we have

$$S^* = \frac{(\mu + \gamma)(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)}{\lambda\gamma} = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu R_0}$$
(95)

$$I^* = \frac{K\mu}{\lambda K - b} (R_0 - 1) = A(R_0 - 1)$$
(96)

Where $A = \frac{K\mu}{\lambda K - b}$

We are sure that A is always positive since both K and μ are positive parameter and from equation (69)

We have that $R_0 > 1$ implies $\lambda K - b > 0$

Putting equation (95) and (96) into (94) we obtain

,

$$J(E) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda A(R_0 - 1)) & 0 & \frac{-\lambda \Lambda}{\mu R_0} & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ \lambda A(R_0 - 1) & -K_5 & \frac{\lambda \Lambda}{\mu R_0} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma & -K_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_1 & -K_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r_2 & 0 & -K_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_1 & \delta_2 & -K_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(97)

By reducing equation (97) to upper triangular matrix using Gaussian elimination method we have

.

$$J(E) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \lambda A(R_0 - 1)) & 0 & \frac{-\lambda \Lambda}{\mu R_0} & 0 & 0 & \rho \\ 0 & -K_5 & \frac{\lambda \Lambda}{(A\lambda(R_0 - 1) + \mu)R_0} & 0 & 0 & \frac{\lambda A(R_0 - 1)\rho}{(A\lambda(R_0 - 1) + \mu)} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{ZR_0(R_0 - 1)}{K_5(A\lambda(R_0 - 1) + \mu)R_0} & 0 & 0 & \frac{\lambda A\gamma(R_0 - 1)\rho}{K_5(A\lambda(R_0 - 1) + \mu)} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -K_2 & 0 & \frac{\lambda AR_0r_1\gamma(R_0 - 1)\rho}{ZR_0(R_0 - 1)} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -K_3 & \frac{\lambda AR_0r_2\gamma(R_0 - 1)\rho}{Z(R_0 - 1)} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{R_0(K_3K_4K_2Z - (M_1 + M_2))(R_0 - 1)}{K_2K_3(Z(R_0 - 1))} \end{pmatrix}$$
(98)

Where $Z = AK_1K_5\lambda$ and $M_1 + M_2 = (K_3\delta_1r_1 + K_2\delta_2r_2)\gamma\lambda A\rho$ Thus the Eigenvalues of the reduced Jacobian matrix is

$$\lambda_1 = -K_5 < 0 \tag{99}$$

$$\lambda_2 = -K_3 < 0 \tag{100}$$

$$\lambda_3 = -K_2 < 0 \tag{101}$$

$$\lambda_4 = -\left(\mu + \lambda A(R_0 - 1) < 0\right) \tag{102}$$

If $R_0 > 1$

$$\lambda_{5} = -\frac{Z(R_{0}-1)}{K_{5} (A\lambda(R_{0}-1)+\mu)R_{0}} < 0$$
(103)
$$\lambda_{6} = -\frac{R_{0} (K_{3}K_{4}K_{2}Z - (M_{1}+M_{2}))(R_{0}-1)}{K_{2}K_{3} (Z(R_{0}-1))} < 0$$
(104)
if $R_{0} > 1$ and $K_{3}K_{4}K_{5}Z > M_{1} + M_{2}$

Which verified the local stability of the endemic equilibrium if $R_0 > 1$.

The epidemiological implication of this is that the diseases persist in the population if $R_0 > 1$

2.6.7 Global Stability of Diseases Endemic Equilibrium

Theorem 5 The endemic equilibrium $\Phi = (S^*, E^*, I^*, R_1^*, R_1^*, R_1^*)$ is globally asymptotically stable Ω If $R_0 > 1$.

Proof:

We establish the stability of endemic equilibrium by constructing Lyapunuv function

$$V(S, E, I, R_{1}, R_{2}, R) = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} \left[S - S^{*} - S^{*} \ln\left(\frac{S}{S^{*}}\right) \right] + \lambda_{2} \left[E - E^{*} - E^{*} \ln\left(\frac{E}{E^{*}}\right) \right] + \\ \lambda_{3} \left[I - I^{*} - I^{*} \ln\left(\frac{I}{I^{*}}\right) \right] + \lambda_{4} \left[R_{1} - R_{1}^{*} - R_{1}^{*} \ln\left(\frac{R_{1}}{R_{1}^{*}}\right) \right] + \\ \lambda_{5} \left[R_{2} - R_{2}^{*} - R_{2}^{*} \ln\left(\frac{R_{2}}{R_{2}^{*}}\right) \right] + \lambda_{6} \left[R - R^{*} - R^{*} \ln\left(\frac{R}{R^{*}}\right) \right] \end{bmatrix}$$
(105)

Where $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, \lambda_4, \lambda_5, \lambda_6$ are positive constant.

Taking the derivative of the Lyapunov function V above we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 \left(1 - \frac{S^*}{S}\right) \frac{dS}{dt} + \lambda_2 \left(1 - \frac{E^*}{E}\right) \frac{dE}{dt} + \lambda_3 \left(1 - \frac{I^*}{I}\right) \frac{dE}{dt} + \\ \lambda_4 \left(1 - \frac{R_1^*}{R_1}\right) \frac{dR_1}{dt} + \lambda_5 \left(1 - \frac{R_2^*}{R_2}\right) \frac{dR_2}{dt} + \lambda_6 \left(1 - \frac{R^*}{R}\right) \frac{dR}{dt} \end{bmatrix}$$
(106)

By substituting equation 1-6 into (98) and using the relation obtain from (1-6) as

$$\Lambda + \rho R^* = \left(\lambda I^* + \mu\right) S^* \tag{107}$$

$$\lambda I^* S^* = (\mu + \gamma) E^*$$

$$\chi E^* = (\mu + \alpha + r + r) I^*$$
(108)

$$\gamma E^* = (\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)I^*$$
(109)
$$I^* = (\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2)I^*$$
(110)

$$r_{1}I^{*} = (\mu + \alpha_{2} + \delta_{1})R_{1}^{*}$$
(110)

$$r_2 I^* = (\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2) R_2^*$$
(111)

$$\delta_1 R_1^* + \delta_2 R_2^* = (\mu + \rho) R^*$$
(112)

We obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = -\left[\frac{\lambda_1 \left(S - S^*\right)^2 \left(\lambda I^* + \mu\right)}{S} + \frac{\lambda_2 \left(E - E^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \gamma\right)}{E} + \frac{\lambda_3 \left(I - I^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right)}{I} + \frac{\lambda_4 \left(R_1 - R_1^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1\right)}{R_1} + \frac{\lambda_5 \left(R_2 - R_2^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2\right)}{R_2} + \frac{\lambda_6 \left(R - R^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \rho\right)}{R}\right]$$
(113)

But $I^* = A(R_0 - 1)$, thus equation (113) becomes

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = -\left[\frac{\lambda_1 \left(S - S^*\right)^2 \left(\lambda A(R_0 - 1) + \mu\right)}{S} + \frac{\lambda_2 \left(E - E^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \gamma\right)}{E} + \frac{\lambda_3 \left(I - I^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_1 + r_1 + r_2\right)}{I} + \frac{\lambda_4 \left(R_1 - R_1^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_2 + \delta_1\right)}{R_1} + \frac{\lambda_5 \left(R_2 - R_2^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \alpha_3 + \delta_2\right)}{R_2} + \frac{\lambda_6 \left(R - R^*\right)^2 \left(\mu + \rho\right)}{R}\right]$$
(114)

 \Rightarrow

$$\frac{dV}{dt} < 0 \quad if \quad R_0 > 1$$

and

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = 0 \quad iff \quad S = S^*, \ E = E^*, \ I = I^*, \ R_1 = R_1^*, \ R_2 = R_2^*, \ and \ R = R^*$$

Thus the largest compact invariant set in $\Phi = (S^*, E^*, I^*, R_1^*, R_1^*, R_1^*) \in \Omega: \frac{dV}{dt} = 0$ is the singleton set Φ where Φ is the endemic equilibrium. Thus Φ is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of the region Ω .

Hence the proof is complete.

3.0 Results and Discussion

3.1 Solutions of the model

We solve the model using homotopy perturbation method; see [3] for details on applications of homotopy perturbation method.

The solutions to equations 1-6 are

$$S(t) = S_{0} + (\Lambda + \rho z_{0} - \lambda I_{0}S_{0} - \mu S_{0})t + \begin{bmatrix} \rho \left(\delta_{1}(R_{1})_{0} + \delta_{2}(R_{2})_{0} - (\mu + \rho)R_{0} \right) - \lambda I_{0}(\Lambda + \rho z_{0} - \lambda I_{0}S_{0} - \mu S_{0}) \\ - \lambda \left(\gamma E_{0} - K_{1}I_{0} \right)S_{0} - \mu \left(\Lambda + \rho z_{0} - \lambda I_{0}S_{0} - \mu S_{0} \right) \end{bmatrix} \frac{t^{2}}{2}$$
(115)

$$E(t) = E_0 + (\lambda I_0 S_0 - (\mu + \gamma) E_0)t + \begin{bmatrix} \lambda w_0 (\Lambda + \rho z_0 - \lambda I_0 S_0 - \mu S) - (\mu + \gamma) (\lambda I_0 S_0 - (\mu + \gamma) E_0) \\ -S_0 (\gamma E_0 - K_1 I_0) \end{bmatrix} \frac{t^2}{2}$$
(116)

$$I(t) = I_0 + (\gamma E_0 - K_1 I_0)t + [\gamma (\lambda I_0 S_0 - (\mu + \gamma) E_0) - K_1 (\gamma E_0 - K_1 I_0)]\frac{t^2}{2}$$
(117)

$$R_{1}(t) = (R_{1})_{0} + (r_{1}I_{0} - K_{2}(R_{1})_{0})t + [r_{1}(\gamma E_{0} - K_{1}I_{0}) - K_{2}(r_{1}I_{0} - K_{2}(R_{1})_{0})]\frac{t^{2}}{2}$$
(118)

$$R_{2}(t) = \left(R_{2}\right)_{0} + \left(r_{2}I_{0} - K_{3}(R_{2})_{0}\right)t + \left[r_{2}\left(\gamma E_{0} - K_{1}I_{0}\right) - K_{3}\left(r_{2}I_{0} - K_{3}(R_{2})_{0}\right)\right]\frac{t^{2}}{2}$$
(119)

$$R(t) = R_0 + \left(\delta_1(R_1)_0 + \delta_2(R_2)_0 - (\mu + \rho)R_0\right)t + \begin{bmatrix}\delta_1(r_2I_0 - K_3(R_2)_0) + \delta_2(r_2I_0 - K_3(R_2)_0) \\ -(\mu + \rho)(\delta_1(R_1)_0 + \delta_2(R_2)_0)\end{bmatrix}\frac{t^2}{2}$$
(120)

3.2 Numerical Simulation

The parameter and variable values of six compartments model are assumed and estimated from the population of interest and also on Tuberculosis disease epidemiology. The description of the parameters of the model is show in the table below.

Table 2 Variable and Parameter Values and Estimations

Parameters	Descriptions	Values (y	r ⁻¹) References
Λ	Recruitment rate	15.00	Estimated
η	Case detection rate	0.570	Arthitian (2013)
r_1	Resistance to first line of treatment rate	0.400	Kumar Gupta et al (2018)
r_2	Resistance to second line of treatment rate	0.500	Kumar Gupta et al (2018)
$\delta_{_1}$	Recovery due to first line of treatment rate	0.800	Estimated
δ_2	Recovery due to second line of treatment ra	te 0.300	Estimated
ρ	Rate at which individual losses their immun	nity 0.400	Kumar Gupta et al (2018)





Figure 2 Graph of Infected Individuals against time for different case detection Rate η .

It was observed that the population of infected individuals decreases as case detection rate increases. This means that if early case detection is high then fewer people will be infected compare to when the case detection rate is low as we will have high contact rate between the susceptible and infected individuals as a results of unidentified cases of Tuberculosis.



Figure 3 Graph of Individuals who are resistance to first line of treatment against time for different resistance rate to first line of treatment r_{\parallel} .

We see from the graph that the population of resistant individuals increases as the resistance rate of first line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move from infected class to resistance class of first line of treatment as resistance rate due to first line of treatment increases.



Figure 4 Graph of Individuals who are resistance to second line of treatment against time for different resistance rate to second line of treatment r_2 .

We see from the graph that the population of resistant individuals of second line of treatment class increases as the resistance rate of second line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move from resistance class of first line of treatment to resistance class of second line of treatment as resistance rate due to second line of treatment increases.



Figure 5 Graph of Individuals who are resistance to first line of treatment against time for different recovery rate due to first line treatment δ_1 .

We observed from the graph that the population of resistant individuals decreases as the recovery rate due to first line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move from resistance class of first line of treatment to recovered class as recovery rate due to first line of treatment increases.



Figure 6 Graph of Individuals who are resistance to second line of treatment against time for different recovery rate due to second line treatment δ_2 .

We observed from the graph that the population of resistant individuals decreases as the recovery rate due to second line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move from resistance class of second line of treatment to recovered class as recovery rate due to second line of treatment increases.



Figure 7 Graph of Recovered Individuals against time for different recovery rate due to first line treatment δ_1 .

It was noticed that the population of recovered class increases as the rate of recovery due to first line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move to recovered class if adequate treatment is administered early.



Figure 8 Graph of Recovered Individuals against time for different recovery rate due to second line treatment δ_2 .

It was observed that the population of recovered class increases as the rate of recovery due to second line of treatment increases. This shows that more people will move to recovered class from Resistance class due to second line of treatment.

4. Conclusion

This study presents a deterministic model for the effects of case detection and Resistance to tuberculosis diseases. It was shown that the model is mathematically and epidemiologically meaningful in the feasible region. The positivity of the solution was established, equilibrium points were obtained, and their stability analysis was performed. The conditions for local and global stability of both disease free equilibrium point and endemic equilibrium point were also established. The basic reproduction number using the next generation matrix was obtained was used to form the bases for stability of the equilibrium points. The analysis revealed that diseases free equilibrium is locally asymptotically stable if $R_0 < 1$ and globally stable if $R_0 \leq 1$. Also, the endemic equilibrium point is locally asymptotically stable if $R_0 > 1$ and globally asymptotically stable if $R_0 \geq 1$. Semi-Analytical solutions of the model using Homotopy Perturbation Method (HPM) were obtained graphical profiles of the solutions were presented.

From the results obtained, it was observed that when the case detection rate is high the infected population reduced drastically due to low possibility of contacts between the susceptible population and infectious individuals. Also the result revealed that resistant individuals to first and second line of treatment increase as resistance rate of both classes increases respectively mainly due to treatment failure. The result further revealed that recovered class increases as recovery rate of first and second line of treatment increases.

5. References

- 1. Athithan, S., Ghosh, M.: Mathematical Modelling of TB with the Effects of Case Detections and Treatment. Int. J. Dynam. Control 1, 223-230 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40435-013-0020-2
- 2. Castillo-Chavez, C., Song, B.: Dynamical models of tuberculosis and their applications.Math. Biosci. Eng. 1(2), 361–404 (2004)
- Chakraverty, S., Mahato, N.R., Karunakar, P., Rao, T.D.: Homotopy Perturbation Method: Advanced Numerical and Semi-Analytical Methods for Differential Equations. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 131-139 (2019) https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781119423461.ch12
- 4. Daniel, T. M.: History of Tuberculosis, Respiratory Medicine, 100: 1862-1870 (2006).
- 5. Fredlina, K. Q., Oka, T. B., & Dwipayana, I. M.: SIR (Suspectible, Infectious, Recovered) Model for Tuberculosis Disease Transmission, J. Matematika, Vol. 1(1): 52-58 (2012).
- 6. Klein, E. R., Laxminarayan, Smith D., & Gilligan, C.: Economic incentives and Mathematical Models of Disease, Environment and Development Economics, 12: 707732 (2007)
- 7. Komsiyah, S.: Simulation of SIR-type Epidemic Model with and without Vaccinations, *MatStat*, 2013, Vol. 13 (1): 24-32 (2013).
- 8. La Salle, J., Lefschetz, S.: The stability of dynamical systems. SIAM, Philadelphia (1976)
- 9. Nainggolan, J., Supian, S., Supriatna, A.K., & Anggriani, N.: Mathematical modelling of tuberculosis transmission with recurrent infection and vaccination", Journal of Physics: Conference series 423:012059 (2013)
- 10. Ogundile, O. P., Edeki, S. O., & Adewale, S. O.: Mathematical Modelling Technique for Controlling the Spread of Tuberculosis. Intl. J. Biol. Biom. Eng. volume 12 (2018).
- 11. Okuonghae, D., Korobeinikov, A.: Dynamics of tuberculosis: the effect of direct observation therapy strategy (DOTS) in Nigeria. Math. Model. Nat. Phenom. **2**(1), 113–128 (2007)
- Okuonghae, D., Aihie, V.: Case detection and direct observation therapy strategy (DOTS) in Nigeria: its effect on TB dynamics. J. Biol. Syst. 16(1), 1–31 (2008)
- 13. Okuonghae, D., Omosigho, S.E.: Analysis of a mathematical model for tuberculosis: What could be done to increase case detection. J. Theor. Biol. **269**, 31–45 (2011)

- Okuonghae, D.: A mathematical model of tuberculosis transmission with heterogeneity in disease susceptibility and progression under a treatment regime for infectious cases. Appl. Math. Model. 37, 6786–6808 (2013)
- 15. van den Driessche, P., Watmough, J.: Reproduction numbers and sub-threshold endemic equilibria for compartmental models of disease transmission. Math. Biosci. **180**, 29–48 (2002)
- 16. World Health Organization (WHO), Global Tuberculosis Report, 2018.
- 17. Young D., Stark J., & Kirschner D. (2008). System Biology of Persistent Infection: Tuberculosis as a Case Study, Nature Reviews Microbiology, 6: 520-528

A New Characterization of Dual General Helices

Ahmet YÜCESAN¹, Gözde ÖZKAN TÜKEL² ¹Mathematics, Süleyman Demirel University, Turkey, ²Finance, Banking and Insurance, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey, E-mail(s): ahmetyucesan@sdu.edu.tr, gozdetukel@isparta.edu.tr

Abstract

We derive a general differential equation satisfied by the distance function of every Frenet curve in dual space D^3 . By using this differential equation, we get a new characterization of dual general helices.

Key words: Dual space, Dual general helices.

1. Introduction

Helices are among the simplest shapes that are observed in the filamentary and molecular structures of nature. The local mechanical properties of such structures are often modeled by a uniform elastic potential energy dependent on bending and twist, which is what we term a rod model. Also, helices arise in nanosprings, carbon nanotubes, α -helices, DNA double and collagen triple helices, lipid bilayers, bacterial flagella, aerial hyphae in actynomycetes, bacterial shape in spirochetes, horns, tendrils, vines, screws, springs, and helical staircases [2]. The study of helices by scientists from different fields due to their presence in these structures becomes very attractive.

In the Euclidean 3-space, a general helix is defined by the property that its tangent vector makes a constant angle with a fixed straight line (the axis of the general helix) and a general helix is characterized by its curvature and torsion by means of a moving frame along the curve. Lancret's theorem states that a space curve is a general helix if and only if its torsion τ and its curvature κ satisfy $\tau = c\kappa$ for some $c\epsilon R$ [1,5]. Recently, Deshmukh et. al., give a new characterization for helix in a Euclidean 3-space by using 4-th order differential equation satisfied by the distance function of every Frenet curves [3].

It is also very interesting to study the theory of curves on Dual space since a differentiable curve on dual unit sphere in D^3 represents a ruled surface in Euclidean 3-space R^3 with the aid of the E. Study mapping. According to E. Study mapping, oriented lines in the Euclidean three-space R^3 can be

represented by unit dual vectors with three component of the ring of dual numbers and a differentiable curve on the dual unit sphere in D^3 corresponds to a ruled surface in R^3 .

In this work, we firstly prove that the distance function of every Frenet curve in D^3 satisfies differential equation. By using this differential equation, we give a new characterization for dual general helices. Also, we obtain a characterization of dual general helices with respect to dual centrode and co-centrode.

2. Preliminaries

Dual numbers are ordered paid of real numbers (a, a^*) and may be formally expressed as $\hat{a} = a + \varepsilon a^*$, where ε is the dual operator with the property $\varepsilon^2 = 0$, $\varepsilon \neq 0$. *a* is called real part and a^* is called dual part of \hat{a} . The set of all dual numbers D is a commutative ring with the following addition and multiplication operations:

$$\hat{a} + \hat{b} = (a + \varepsilon a^*) + (b + \varepsilon b^*) = (a + b) + \varepsilon (a^* + b^*)$$

and

$$\hat{a}.\,\hat{b} = (a + \varepsilon a^*)(b + \varepsilon b^*) = ab + \varepsilon (ab^* + a^*b).$$

for $\hat{a} = a + \varepsilon a^*$, $\hat{b} = b + \varepsilon b^* \in D$. Also, the division is

$$\frac{\hat{a}}{\hat{b}} = \frac{a}{b} + \varepsilon \frac{a^*b - ab^*}{b^2}, b \neq 0.$$

In all other cases division is either impossible or ambiguous. If *f* is a differentiable function of *x*, its value for a dual argument $x = x + \varepsilon x^*$ may be separated into parts by a Taylor expansion:

$$f(x) = f(x + \varepsilon x^*) = f(x) + \varepsilon x^* \dot{f}(x), \qquad (2.1)$$

where \dot{f} is the derivative of f with respect to x. By using (2.1), we can define sine and cosine functions as follows:

$$sin\hat{x} = sin(x + \varepsilon x^*) = sinx + \varepsilon x^* cosx$$

and

$$cos\hat{x} = cos(x + \varepsilon x^*) = cosx - \varepsilon x^*sinx.$$

A dual vector is an ordered triple of dual numbers $(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{x}_3)$ and denoted by $\vec{x} = (\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2, \hat{x}_3)$. Then, the set of all dual vector

$$D^{3} = \{ \hat{\vec{x}} | \hat{\vec{x}} = (\hat{x}_{1}, \hat{x}_{2}, \hat{x}_{3}) = (x_{1} + \varepsilon x_{1}^{*}, x_{2} + \varepsilon x_{2}^{*}, x_{3} + \varepsilon x_{3}^{*}) = \vec{x} + \varepsilon \overline{x^{*}}, \vec{x}, \overline{x^{*}} \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \}.$$

Multiplication by a dual scalar of a dual vector \vec{x} is defined by

$$\hat{\lambda}\hat{\hat{x}} = (\hat{\lambda}\hat{x}_1, \hat{\lambda}\hat{x}_2, \hat{\lambda}\hat{x}_3),$$

scalar (or inner) and cross product of dual vectors \vec{x} and \vec{y} are defined by

$$\langle \vec{\hat{x}}, \vec{\hat{y}} \rangle = \langle \vec{x}, \vec{y} \rangle + \varepsilon \left(\langle \vec{x}, \vec{y^*} \rangle + \langle \vec{x^*}, \vec{y} \rangle \right)$$

and

$$\vec{\hat{x}} \times \vec{\hat{y}} = \vec{x} \times \vec{y} + \varepsilon(\vec{x} \times \vec{y^*} + \vec{x^*} \times \vec{y}).$$

If $x \neq 0$, the norm $\|\hat{x}\|$ of \hat{x} is defined by

$$\|\hat{x}\| = \sqrt{\langle \vec{\hat{x}}, \vec{\hat{x}} \rangle} = \|\vec{x}\| + \varepsilon \frac{\langle \vec{x}, \vec{x}^* \rangle}{\|\vec{x}\|}$$

A dual vector \hat{x} with norm 1 (or (1,0)) is called a dual unit vector and $\langle \vec{x}, \vec{x} \rangle = 1$, $\langle \vec{x}, \vec{x^*} \rangle = 0$ for a dual unit vector. Also, the set of all unit dual vector is called as unit dual sphere [6,7].

Let $\hat{\gamma}(t) = \gamma(t) + \varepsilon \gamma^*(t)$ be a dual curve with parameter $t \in I \subset R$ in the dual space D³. The real curve $\gamma(t)$ is called the (real) indicatrix of $\hat{\gamma}(t)$. If every $\gamma_i(t)$ and $\gamma_i^*(t)$ are differentiable, then $\hat{\gamma}(t)$ is differentiable in D³. The dual arclength of the dual curve $\hat{\gamma}$ is defined as

$$\hat{s} = \int_0^s \|\dot{\hat{\gamma}}(t)\| dt = \int_0^s \|\dot{\gamma}(t)\| dt + \varepsilon \int_0^s \langle \vec{T}, \dot{\gamma^*}(t) \rangle dt = s + \varepsilon s^*,$$
(2.2)

where s and \vec{T} is arclength and the unit tangent vector to γ , respectively. Now we will give equations relative to derivatives of dual Frenet vectors along the dual curve $\hat{\gamma}$ in D³. Assume that $\hat{\gamma}$ is a reparametrization curve with the parametrization s of the indicatrix. Then,

$$\hat{\gamma}' = \dot{\hat{\gamma}} \frac{ds}{d\hat{s}} = \vec{\hat{T}}$$

is called the dual unit vector to $\hat{\gamma}(s)$, where $\hat{\gamma}' = \frac{d\hat{\gamma}}{d\hat{s}}$ and $\dot{\hat{\gamma}} = \frac{d\hat{\gamma}}{ds}$. On the other hand we have from (2.2) $\frac{d\hat{s}}{ds} = 1 + \varepsilon \nabla$ such that $\nabla = \langle \vec{T}, \dot{\gamma^*}(t) \rangle$. The dual unit vectors \vec{N} and \vec{B} are respectively called the principle normal and the binormal of $\hat{\gamma}$ at the point $\hat{\gamma}(s)$. For the dual Frenet trihedron $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ along $\hat{\gamma}$, we have the dual Frenet formulas

$$\frac{d}{d\hat{s}} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\hat{T}} \\ \vec{\hat{N}} \\ \vec{\hat{B}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \hat{\kappa} & 0 \\ -\hat{\kappa} & 0 & \hat{\tau} \\ 0 & -\hat{\tau} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\hat{T}} \\ \vec{\hat{N}} \\ \vec{\hat{B}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.3)

where $\hat{\kappa} = \kappa + \varepsilon \kappa^*$ and $\hat{\tau} = \tau + \varepsilon \tau^*$ are nowhere pure dual curvature and dual torsion functions of $\hat{\gamma}$ [6,7,8].

Similar to the definition in Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 , a general helix in dual space is defined as follows: Let $\hat{\gamma}$ be a dual Frenet curve in D^3 with non-zero dual curvature \hat{k} . The curve $\hat{\gamma}(s)$ is called a general dual helix if its tangent vector field makes a constant dual angle with a dual fixed line \hat{u} .

Theorem 2.1 (Lancret Theorem in D^3) (see, [4]). A dual Frenet curve in D^3 is a dual general helix if and only if there exists a constant dual number \hat{c} such that $\hat{\tau} = \hat{c}\hat{\kappa}$.

3. A New Characterization of Dual General Helices

In this section containing the main results, we firstly prove that the distance function of every Frenet curve in D^3 satisfies a differential equation. Then, we give a new characterization of dual general helices by using this equation.

Proposition 3.1. Any dual unit speed Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}(s) = \gamma(s) + \varepsilon \gamma^*(s)$ in D^3 satisfies the following differential equation

$$\hat{\rho}\hat{\sigma}\frac{d^{3}\hat{h}}{d\hat{s}^{3}} + \left(2\frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma} + \hat{\rho}\frac{d\hat{\sigma}}{d\hat{s}}\right)\frac{d^{2}\hat{h}}{d\hat{s}^{2}} + \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma} + \frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\rho}} + \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\rho}}\right)\frac{d\hat{h}}{d\hat{s}} + \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}}\right)\hat{h} = \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma}\right) + \frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}}$$
(3.1)

where $\hat{\kappa}^{-1} = \hat{\rho} = \rho + \varepsilon \rho^*$, $\hat{\tau}^{-1} = \hat{\sigma} = \sigma + \varepsilon \sigma^*$ and $\hat{h}(s) = \hat{f}(s) \frac{d\hat{f}}{d\hat{s}}(s)$.

Proof. Taking derivative of $\hat{f}(s) = \|\hat{\gamma}(s)\| = \sqrt{\langle \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{\gamma}(s) \rangle}$ with respect to the dual arclength parameter \hat{s} :

$$\hat{f}(s)\frac{d\hat{f}}{d\hat{s}}(s) = <\hat{\gamma}(s), \frac{d\hat{\gamma}(s)}{d\hat{s}}>.$$

We can write $\hat{h}(s)$ and \hat{T} instead of $\hat{f}(s)\frac{d\hat{f}}{d\hat{s}}(s)$ and $\frac{d\hat{\gamma}(s)}{d\hat{s}}$, respectively. Then we have $\hat{h}(s) = \langle \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{T} \rangle.$ (3.2)

Taking derivative of (3.2) with respect to \hat{s} and using dual Frenet formulas (2.3), we arrive at

$$\frac{d\hat{h}}{d\hat{s}}(s) = \frac{d}{d\hat{s}} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{T} >= 1 + \hat{\kappa} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{N} >$$

or

$$\hat{\rho}\left(\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - 1\right) = <\hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{N}>.$$
(3.3)

Similarly, taking derivative of (3.3) with respect to \hat{s} and using dual Frenet formulas (2.3), we obtain

$$\hat{\rho}\frac{d^{2}\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^{2}} + \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - 1\right) = -\hat{\kappa} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{T} > +\hat{\tau} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{B} >$$
(3.4)

Substituting (3.2) into (3.4), we get

$$\hat{\rho}\hat{\sigma}\frac{d^{2}\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^{2}} + \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma}\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} + \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\rho}}\hat{h}(s) - \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma} = <\hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{B}>.$$
(3.5)

Finally, taking derivative of (3.5) with respect to \hat{s} , using (2.3) and (3.3), we have

$$\frac{d(\hat{\rho}\hat{\sigma})}{d\hat{s}}\frac{d^{2}\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^{2}} + \hat{\rho}\hat{\sigma}\frac{d^{3}\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^{3}} + \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma}\right)\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} + \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma}\frac{d^{2}\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^{2}} + \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\rho}}\right)\hat{h}(s) + \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\rho}}\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - \frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\sigma}\right) = -\frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}}\left(\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - 1\right).$$
(3.6)

If Eq. (3.6) is edited, Eq. (3.1) is obtained.

By using Proposition 3.1, dual rectifying curves, dual spherical curves can also be characterized, but in this work, we will give a new characterization of only dual general helices.

Theorem 3.2. A dual unit speed Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}(s)$ in D^3 is a dual general helix if and only if according to dual arclength parameter \hat{s} , the function $\hat{h}(s) = \hat{f}(s) \frac{d\hat{f}}{d\hat{s}}(s)$ satisfies the following differential equation

$$\frac{d}{d\hat{s}}\left(\hat{\rho}\frac{d\hat{h}}{d\hat{s}}\right) + \left(\frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}^2} + \frac{1}{\hat{\rho}}\right)\hat{h} = \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}} + \frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}^2}(\hat{s} + \hat{b}),\tag{3.7}$$

where $\hat{f}(s) = \|\hat{\gamma}(s)\|$, $\hat{\rho} = \hat{\kappa}^{-1}$ and $\hat{\sigma} = \hat{\tau}^{-1}$.

Proof. We suppose that $\hat{\gamma}$ is a dual general helix with an axis parallel to the dual unit vector. Then, for a dual constant \hat{c} , we have

$$<\hat{T},\hat{u}>=cos\hat{ heta}=\hat{c}$$

and

$$<\widehat{N}$$
, $\widehat{u}>=0$,

where the dual number $\hat{\theta} = \theta + \varepsilon \theta^*$ is the dual angle between \hat{T} and \hat{u} . On the other hand, because of

 $sin\hat{\theta} = <\hat{u}, \hat{B} >,$

we have

$$\sqrt{1-\cos^2\hat{\theta}} = <\hat{u}, \hat{B}>$$

Since the unit dual vector \hat{u} can be written as $\hat{u} = \langle \hat{u}, \hat{T} \rangle \langle \hat{T} + \langle \hat{u}, \hat{N} \rangle \langle \hat{N} + \langle \hat{u}, \hat{B} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle$, we can write

$$\hat{u} = \hat{c}\hat{T} + \sqrt{1 - \hat{c}^2}\hat{B}.$$
(3.8)

Taking derivative of (3.8) with respect to \hat{s} , we get

$$0 = \hat{c} \frac{d\hat{T}}{d\hat{s}} + \sqrt{1 - \hat{c}^2} \frac{d\hat{B}}{d\hat{s}}.$$

Taking into consideration dual Frenet formulas (2.3), we obtain

 $0 = \hat{\kappa}\hat{c}\hat{N} - \hat{\tau}\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}\hat{N}$

or

$$\hat{\kappa}\hat{c} = \hat{\tau}\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}.\tag{3.9}$$

Because of

 $\frac{d}{d\hat{s}}(<\hat{\gamma}(s),\hat{u}>)=\hat{c},$

we get

$$\langle \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{u} \rangle = \hat{c}\hat{s} + \hat{d}.$$
 (3.10)

By using (3.8), we have

$$\hat{c}\hat{s}+\hat{d}=\hat{c}<\hat{\gamma}(s),\hat{T}>+\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^{2}}<\hat{\gamma}(s),\hat{B}>$$

or

$$\langle \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{T} \rangle = \frac{1}{\hat{c}} \left(\hat{c}\hat{s} + \hat{d} \right) - \frac{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}}{\hat{c}} \langle \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{B} \rangle.$$

Taking into consideration (3.2), we obtain

$$\hat{h}(s) = \hat{s} + \hat{b} - \frac{\sqrt{1 - \hat{c}^2}}{\hat{c}} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{B} >$$
(3.11)

where $\hat{b} = \frac{\hat{a}}{\hat{c}}$. Taking derivative of (3.11) with respect to \hat{s} , using (2.3) and (3.9), we get

$$\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} = 1 + \frac{1}{\hat{\rho}} < \hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{N} >$$

or

$$\hat{\rho}\left(\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - 1\right) = <\hat{\gamma}(s), \hat{N}>.$$
(3.12)

Taking derivative of (3.11) with respect to \hat{s} and using dual Frenet formulas (2.3), we have

$$\hat{\rho}\frac{d^2\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}^2} + \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}}\frac{d\hat{h}(s)}{d\hat{s}} - \frac{d\hat{\rho}}{d\hat{s}} = \frac{\hat{c}(\hat{s}+\hat{b})\hat{\tau}}{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}} - \left(\frac{\hat{c}}{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}} + \frac{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}}{\hat{c}}\right)\hat{t}\hat{h}(s).$$
(3.13)

By using (3.9), we get

$$\frac{\hat{\rho}}{\hat{\sigma}} = \frac{\hat{c}}{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}}$$
 and $\frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\rho}} = \frac{\sqrt{1-\hat{c}^2}}{\hat{c}}$. (3.14)

Substituting (3.14) into (3.13), we obtain (3.7).

4. A characterization of dual general helices according to dual centrode and co-centrode

Let $\hat{\gamma}: I \to D^3$ be a dual unit speed Frenet curve in dual space D^3 . Suppose that $\hat{\delta}(s)$ and $\hat{\delta}^*(s)$ $\hat{\delta} = \hat{\tau}\hat{T} + \hat{\kappa}\hat{B}$ and $\hat{\delta}^* = -\hat{\kappa}\hat{T} + \hat{\tau}\hat{B}$

are denoted as dual centrode and co-centrode of dual Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}$, respectively. Then, $\{\hat{N}, \hat{\delta}, \hat{\delta}^*\}$ is a moving orthogonal frame along dual Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}$.

We can see that Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}$ in dual space D^3 is a dual general helix if and only if $\frac{d\hat{\delta}}{d\hat{s}}$ and dual co-centrode $\hat{\delta}^*$ are always orthogonal for all dual arclength parameter \hat{s} . This fact can be easily see from the derivative of $\hat{\delta}$ and dual Frenet formulas:

$$\frac{d\widehat{\delta}}{d\widehat{s}} = \frac{d\widehat{\tau}}{d\widehat{s}}\,\widehat{T} + \frac{d\widehat{\kappa}}{d\widehat{s}}\,\widehat{B}.$$

So, $\frac{d\hat{\delta}}{d\hat{s}}$ and dual co-centrode $\hat{\delta}^*$ are orthogonal if and only if $\frac{d\hat{\kappa}}{d\hat{s}}\hat{\tau} = \hat{\kappa}\frac{d\hat{\tau}}{d\hat{s}}$. Thus, dual Frenet curve $\hat{\gamma}$ is dual general helix if and only if $\frac{d\hat{\delta}}{d\hat{s}}$ and $\hat{\delta}^*$ are orthogonal for all points.

5. References

[1] Barros, M. (1997). General helices and a theorem of Lancret, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 125 (5) 1503-1509.

[2] Chouaieb, N., Goriely, A., Maddocks, J. H. (2006). Helices. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(25), 9398-9403.

[3] Deshmukh S., Chen B.Y., Turki N.B. (2018). A differential equation for Frenet curves in Euclidean 3-space and its applications, Romanian J. Math. Comp. Sci. 8(1), 1-6.

[4] Lee, J. W., Choi J. H., Jin D. H. (2014). The explicit determination of dual plane curves and dual helices in terms of its dual curvature and dual torsion, Demonstratio Mathematica 1, 157-169.

[5] O'Neill B., Elementary differential geometry, Academic Press. Inc., 482 p., New York, 1997.

[6] Scheaf, J.A., Curvature Theory of Line Trajectories in Spatial Kinematics, Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, 1988.

[7] Veldkamp, G. R. (1976). On the use of dual numbers, vectors and matrices in instantaneous, spatial kinematics. Mechanism and Machine Theory 11(2), 141-156.

[8] Yücesan, A., Ayyıldız, N., Çöken, A. C. (2007). On rectifying dual space curves, Rev. Mat. Complut. 20(2), 497-506.

A NOTE ON EULER TOTIENT PARANORMED SEQUENCE SPACES

Hacer BILGIN ELLIDOKUZOĞLU

Recep Tayyip Erdoğan University, Turkey hacer.bilgin@erdogan.edu.tr

Abstract

Let $\lambda \in \{c, c_0, \ell_\infty\}$. In this study, we introduce the new nonabsolute type paranormed sequence space $\lambda(\varphi, p)$ and show that $\lambda(\phi, p)$ and $\lambda(p)$ linearly isomorphic using the regular matrix given by Euler Totient function Φ . Further, we give a number of results concerning inclusion relations of the sequence space $\lambda(\phi, p)$. Then, we investigate some topological properties. Finally, we compute alfa, beta and gamma duals of this space and characterize certain matrix transformations on this sequence space.

1. Introduction

Assume that the set of all complex termed sequences is represented by ω . In this case, ω is a linear space under co-ordinatewise addition and scalar multiplication and a sequence space is any subspace of ω . For example *c* the set of all convergent complex sequences is a sequence space.

First, we point out the concept of a paranorm. Let *U* be a linear topological space over the real field \mathbb{R} . By a paranorm on *U*, we mean a mapping $p : U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

(i) $p(\theta) = 0$, where θ is the zero vector in the linear space *U*.

(ii)
$$p(u) = p(-u)$$
, for all $u \in U$

(iii) $p(u+v) \le p(u) + p(v)$, for all $u, v \in U$.

(iv) if (λ_n) is in \mathbb{R} with $\lambda \to \lambda_0$ and (u_n) is in U with $p(u - u_0) \to 0$ imply $p(\lambda_n u_n - \lambda u) \to 0$.

Let denote (p_j) a bounded sequences of strictly positive real numbers with $\sup p_j = H$ and $L = \max\{1, H\}$. The paranormed sequence spaces $c_0(p), c(p), \ell_{\infty}(p)$ and $\ell(p)$ were defined by Maddox [20] as follows:

$$c_{0}(p) = \{a = (a_{j}) \in w : \lim_{j \to \infty} |a_{j}|^{p_{j}} = 0\},\$$

$$c(p) = \{a = (a_{j}) \in w : \lim_{j \to \infty} |a_{j} - l|^{p_{j}} = 0 \text{ for some } l \in \mathbb{R}\},\$$

$$\ell_{\infty}(p) = \{a = (a_{j}) \in w : \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} |a_{j}|^{p_{j}} < \infty\},\$$

and

$$\ell(p) = \left\{ a = (a_j) \in w : \sum_k |a_j|^{p_k} < \infty \right\},$$

which are the complete spaces paranormed by

$$g_1(a) = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} |a_k|^{p_k/L} \iff \inf p_k > 0 \text{ and } g_2(a) = \left(\sum_k |a_k|^{p_k}\right)^{1/L},$$

respectively. For convenience in notation, here and in what follows, the summation without limits runs from 0 to ∞ . By \mathcal{F} and \mathbb{N}_k , we shall denote the collection of all finite subsets of \mathbb{N} and the set of all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n \ge k$, respectively. We shall assume throughout that $p_k^{-1} + (p'_k)^{-1} = 1$ provided $1 < \inf p_k \le H < \infty$.

Let $A = (A_{nk})$ be an infinite matrix of complex entries, X and Y be subsets of ω and $x \in \omega$. We write A_n and A^k for the sequences in the n-th row and k-th column of A, $A_n x = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{nk} x_k$ and $A_x = (A_n x)$ (provided all the series $A_n x$ converge). The sets

$$X_A = \{x \in \omega : Ax \in X\}$$

$$(1.1)$$

and

$$M(X,Y) = \{a \in \omega : a.x = (a_k x_k) \in Y \text{ for all } x \in X\}$$
(1.2)

are called the matrix domain of A in X and the multiplier space of X in Y; in particular, $X^{\alpha} = M(X, \ell_1), X^{\beta} = M(X, cs)$ and $X^{\gamma} = M(X, bs)$ are called the $\alpha -, \beta -$ and γ -duals of X. Finally, (X, Y) is the class of all matrices A such that $X \subset Y_A$; so $A \in (X, Y)$ if and only if $A_n \in X$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $Ax \in Y$ for all $x \in X$.

Let (X, g) be a paranormed space. A sequence (c_k) in X is called a Schauder basis for X if and only if for each $x \in X$, there exists a unique sequence (λ_k) of scalars such that $g(x - \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda_k c_k) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. In this case, we can write $x = \sum_k \lambda_k c_k$.

In the literature, there are many paper [1–4, 6–10, 16, 17] about paranormed sequence spaces obtained by matrix domain of infinite triangular matrices. Also, for more details about matrix domains of infinite triangular matrices, one can see [5, 11, 12, 18].

Throughout the paper, φ and μ denote the Euler Totient function and Möbius function, respectively. If n is a pozitif integer, then $\varphi(n)$ denotes the number of elements from $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ coprime to n. It is well known that if $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} ... p_m^{a_m}$ is the prime number decomposition of n > 1, then

$$\varphi(n) = n\left(1 - \frac{1}{p_1}\right)\left(1 - \frac{1}{p_2}\right)\dots\left(1 - \frac{1}{p_m}\right)$$

and $\varphi(1) = 1$. It is also well known that the function φ is multiplicative, i.e., if $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ are coprime, then

$$\varphi(m_1m_2) = \varphi(m_1)\varphi(m_2).$$

Another important property of the Euler function is the equality

$$n = \sum_{d|n} \varphi(d)$$

For any positive integer *n*, Möbius function μ is defined as

$$\mu(n) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n=1, \\ 0 & \text{if } p^2 | n, \text{ for some prime number } p, \\ (-1)^r & \text{if } n = q_1 q_2 ... q_r, \text{ where } q_1, q_2, ..., q_r \text{ are pairwise different prime numbers.} \end{cases}$$

Obviously, the function μ is multiplicative and

$$\sum_{d|n} d\mu(d) = (1 - q_1)(1 - q_2)...(1 - q_r),$$

where $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} \dots p_l^{a_l}$ is the prime number decomposition of n[19].

Also, function $\mu(n)$ is multiplicative and

$$\sum_{d|n} \mu(d) = \begin{cases} 1, & n = 1\\ 0, & n > 1 \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

One can consult to [21] for more details related to these functions. The Euler totient matrix $\Phi = (\phi_{mn})$ is defined by

$$\phi_{mn} = \begin{cases} \frac{\varphi(n)}{m} & n|m\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$. The inverse $\Phi^{-1} = (\phi_{mn}^{-1})$ of the matrix Φ is computed in [22] as

$$\phi_{mn}^{-1} = \begin{cases} \frac{\mu(\frac{m}{n})}{\varphi(m)}n & n|m\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$. Quite recently, [15] and [14] have introduced new Banach sequence spaces

$$\ell_{p}(\Phi) = \left\{ u = (u_{i}) \in \omega : \sum_{i} \left| \frac{1}{i} \sum_{i|j} \varphi(i) u_{i} \right|^{p} < \infty, \ (1 \le p < \infty) \right\}$$
$$\ell_{\infty}(\Phi) = \left\{ u = (u_{i}) \in \omega : \sup_{i} \left| \frac{1}{i} \sum_{i|j} \varphi(i) u_{i} \right| < \infty, \right\}$$
$$c(\Phi) = \left\{ u = (u_{i}) \in \omega : \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{1}{i} \sum_{i|j} \varphi(i) u_{i} = L \text{ for some } L \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$
$$c_{0}(\Phi) = \left\{ u = (u_{i}) \in \omega : \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{1}{i} \sum_{i|j} \varphi(i) u_{i} = 0 \right\}$$

2. The Paranormed Sequence Space $\lambda(\Phi, p)$

The main purpose of the present section, is to introduce the sequence spaces $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ by using Euler totient matrix Φ and is to derive some linear and topological properties. For $\lambda \in \{c_0, c, \ell_\infty\}$, we define the sequence spaces $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ by

$$\lambda(\Phi, p) = \left\{ u = (x_i) \in w : \left(\frac{1}{i} \sum_{j \mid i} \varphi(j) u_j \right) \in \lambda(p) \right\}$$
(2.1)

In the case $(p_n) = e = (1, 1, 1, ...)$, the sequence space $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ is reduced to the sequence space $\lambda(\Phi)$ which are introduced by [14, 15]. With the notation of (1.1), we may redefine the space $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ as follows:

$$\lambda(\Phi, p) = \{\lambda(p)\}_{\Phi}.$$

Theorem 2.1. Consider the function g such that

$$g(u) = \sup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \frac{1}{i} \sum_{j \mid i} \varphi(j) u_j \right|^{p_i/M}$$

for all $u = (u_i) \in \lambda(\Phi, p)$. Then $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ sequence space is the complete linear metric spaces by the paranorm g.

Theorem 2.2. The sequence space $\lambda(\phi, p)$ for $\lambda \in \{c_0, c, \ell_\infty\}$ is linearly isomorphic to the space $\lambda(p)$ where $0 < p_k \le H < \infty$.

3. Dual spaces and matrix transformations

Now, we state and prove the theorems determining the alpha-,beta- and gamma-duals of the sequence space $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ for $\lambda \in \{c_0, c, \ell_\infty\}$. In addition to that, we also characterize the matrix transformations between the spaces $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ and $\lambda(q)$ for $\lambda \in \{c_0, c, \ell_\infty\}$.

In the following lemmas, let *L* and *M* denote natural numbers, *N* and *K* finite subsets of \mathbb{N} and α and α_k complex numbers. Put $K_1 = \{k \in \mathbb{N} : p_k \le 1\}, K_2 = \{k \in \mathbb{N} : p_k > 1\}, p'_k = \frac{p_k}{p_k - 1}$ for $k \in K_2$ and $q_n \ge 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 3.1. [13]

(i) $A \in (c_0(p) : \ell(q))$ if and only if

$$\exists M \in \mathbb{N}, \sup_{K \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} a_{nk} M^{1/p_k} \right|^{q_n} < \infty,$$
(3.1)

(ii) $A \in (c(p) : \ell(q))$ if and only if (3.1) holds and

$$\sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k} a_{nk} \right|^{q_{n}} < \infty, \tag{3.2}$$

(iii) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(p) : \ell(q))$ if and only if

$$\forall M \in \mathbb{N}, \sup_{K \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} a_{nk} M^{1/p_k} \right|^{q_n} < \infty.$$
(3.3)

Theorem 3.1. Define the matrix $C = (c_{nk})$ and the sets $T_1(p)$, T_2 and $T_3(p)$ as follows

$$c_{nk} := \begin{cases} \frac{\mu(\frac{k}{n})}{\varphi(k)} k a_n & , \quad k | n, \\ 0 & , \quad \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

for all $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

$$T_{1}(p): = \bigcup_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in \omega : \sup_{K \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{n} \left| \frac{\mu(\frac{n}{k})}{\varphi(n)} k a_{n} M^{-1/p_{k}} \right| < \infty \right\},$$

$$T_{2}: = \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in w : \sum_{n} \left| \frac{\mu(\frac{n}{k})}{\varphi(n)} k a_{n} \right| < \infty \right\},$$

$$T_{3}(p): = \bigcap_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in \omega : \sup_{K \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{n} \left| \frac{\mu(\frac{n}{k})}{\varphi(n)} k a_{n} M^{-1/p_{k}} \right| < \infty \right\}.$$

Then,

$$\{c_0(\Phi, p)\}^{\alpha} = T_1(p), \{c(\Phi, p)\}^{\alpha} = T_1(p) \cap T_2, \{\ell_{\infty}(\Phi, p)\}^{\alpha} = T_3(p).$$

Lemma 3.2. [13]

(i) $A \in (c_0(p) : c(q))$ if and only if

$$\exists M, \sup_{n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk}| M^{-1/p_k} < \infty, \tag{3.5}$$

$$\lim_{n} |a_{nk} - \alpha_k|^{q_n} = 0 \text{ for all } k, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\forall L, \exists M, \sup_{n} L^{1/q_n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk} - \alpha_k| M^{-1/p_k} < \infty.$$
(3.7)

(ii) $A \in (c(p) : c(q))$ if and only if (3.5), (3.6), (3.7) hold and

$$\exists \alpha, \lim_{n} \left| \sum_{k} a_{nk} - \alpha \right|^{q_n} = 0, \tag{3.8}$$

(iii) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(p) : c(q))$ if and only if

$$\forall M, \sup_{n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk}| M^{1/p_k} < \infty, \tag{3.9}$$

$$\exists \alpha_k, \forall M, \lim_n \left(\sum_k |a_{nk} - \alpha_k| M^{1/p_k} \right)^{q_n} = 0,$$
(3.10)

Lemma 3.3. [13]

(i) $A \in (c_0(p) : \ell_{\infty}(q))$ if and only if

$$\exists M, \sup_{n} \left(\sum_{k} |a_{nk}| M^{-1/p_k} \right)^{q_n} < \infty.$$
(3.11)

(ii) $A \in (c(p) : \ell_{\infty}(q))$ if and only if (3.11) holds and

$$\sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k} a_{nk} \right|^{q_{n}} < \infty.$$
(3.12)

(iii) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(p) : \ell_{\infty}(q))$ if and only if

$$\forall M, \sup_{n} \left(\sum_{k} |a_{nk}| M^{1/p_k} \right)^{q_n} < \infty.$$
(3.13)

Theorem 3.2. Define the matrix $D = (d_{nk})$ and the sets $T_4(p)$, T_5 , $T_6(p)$, T_7 , $T_8(p)$, $T_9(p)$, T_{10} and $T_{11}(p)$ as follows

$$d_{nk} := \begin{cases} \sum_{j=k,k|j}^{n} \frac{\mu(\frac{j}{k})}{\varphi(j)} k a_j & , \quad 1 \le k \le n \\ 0 & , \quad n > k \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

for all $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

$$\begin{split} T_4(p) : &= \bigcup_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k=0}^n |d_{nk}| \, M^{-1/p_k} < \infty \right\}, \\ T_5 : &= \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} |d_{nk}| \text{ exists for each } k \in \mathbb{N} \right\}, \\ T_6(p) : &= \bigcup_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \exists (\alpha_k) \in \mathbb{R} \ni \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k=0}^n |d_{nk} - \alpha_k| \, M^{-1/p_k} < \infty \right\}, \\ T_7 : &= \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \exists \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \ni \lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \sum_{k=0}^n d_{nk} - \alpha \right| = 0 \right\}, \\ T_8(p) : &= \bigcap_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k=0}^n |d_{nk}| \, M^{-1/p_k} < \infty \right\}, \\ T_9(p) : &= \bigcap_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \exists (\alpha_k) \in \mathbb{R} \ni \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n |d_{nk} - \alpha_k| \, M^{1/p_k} = 0 \right\}, \\ T_{10} : &= \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k=0}^n d_{nk} \right| < \infty \right\}, \\ T_{11}(p) : &= \bigcap_{M>1} \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k=0}^n |d_{nk}| \, M^{1/p_k} < \infty \right\}. \end{split}$$

Then,

(i)
$$\{c_0(\Phi,p)\}^{\beta} = T_4(p) \cap T_5 \cap T_6(p), \{c(\Phi,p)\}^{\beta} = \{c_0(\Phi,p)\}^{\beta} \cap T_7, \{\ell_{\infty}(\Phi,p)\}^{\beta} = T_8(p) \cap T_9(p),$$

(ii)
$$\{c_0(\Phi, p)\}^{\gamma} = T_4(p), \{c(\Phi, p)\}^{\gamma} = T_4(p) \cap T_{10}, \{\ell_{\infty}(\Phi, p)\}^{\gamma} = T_{11}(p)$$

4. Certain Matrix Transformation Related to the Spaces $\lambda(\Phi, p)$

In this section, we characterize the matrix transformations from the sequence space $\lambda(\Phi, p)$ into any given sequence space. For an infinite matrix $A = (a_{nk})$, we write for brevity that

$$\hat{a}_{nk}(m) = \sum_{j=k,k|j}^{m} \frac{\mu(\frac{j}{k})}{\varphi(j)} k a_{nj} \ (k < m),$$
$$\hat{a}_{nk} = \sum_{j=k,k|j}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(\frac{j}{k})}{\varphi(j)} k a_{nj} \ (k < m),$$

for all $k, n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ provided the convergence of series. Now, we give the characterization of the classes $(\lambda(\Phi, p), \delta)$ and $(\delta, \lambda(\Phi, p))$, where δ is any given sequence space.

Theorem 4.1. Suppose that the entries of the infinite matrices $A = (a_{nk})$ and $E = (e_{nk})$ are connected with the relation

$$e_{nk} = \sum_{j=k,k|j}^{m} \frac{\mu(\frac{j}{k})}{\varphi(j)} k a_{nj} \ (k < m)$$

$$(4.1)$$

for all $k, n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and δ be any given sequence spaces. Then, $A \in (\lambda(\Phi, p), \delta)$ if and only if $(a_{nk}) \in {\lambda(\Phi, p)}^{\beta}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $E \in (\lambda(p), \delta)$.

Theorem 4.2. Suppose that the entries of the infinite matrices $\Theta = (\theta_{ij})$ and $\Sigma = (\sigma_{ij})$ are connected with the relation

$$\sigma_{ij} = rac{1}{i} \sum_{k|i} \varphi(k) \theta_{kj}$$

for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$ and δ be any given sequence space. Then, $\Theta \in (\delta : \lambda(\Phi, p))$ if and only if $\Sigma \in (\delta : \lambda(p))$.

Corollary 4.1. The following statements hold:

- (i) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(L, p) : \ell_{\infty}(p))$ if and only if (3.13) holds with $a_{nk} = e_{nk}$.
- (ii) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(\hat{L}, p) : c(p))$ if and only if (3.9) and (3.10) hold with $a_{nk} = e_{nk}$.
- (iii) $A \in (\ell_{\infty}(\hat{L}, p) : c_0(p))$ if and only if (3.11) holds with $a_{nk} = e_{nk}$.

References

- [1] ALTAY, B., AND BASAR, F. On the paranormed riesz sequence spaces of non-absolute type. *Southeast Asian Bull. Math* 26, 5 (2002), 701–715.
- [2] ALTAY, B., AND BAŞAR, F. Some paranormed riesz sequence spaces of non-absolute type. *Southeast Asian Bulletin of Mathematics 30*, 4 (2006).
- [3] AYDIN, C., AND BAŞAR, F. Some new paranormed sequence spaces. Information Sciences 160, 1-4 (2004), 27-40.
- [4] AYDIN, C., AND BASAR, F. Some generalizations of the sequence space arp. In *Iran. J. Sci. Technol. Trans. A Sci* (2006), Citeseer.
- [5] BASAR, F. Summability theory and its applications. Bentham Science Publishers, 2012.
- [6] BILGIN ELLIDOKUZOĞLU, H., AND DEMIRIZ, S. On the paranormed taylor sequence spaces. *Konuralp Journal* of *Mathematics* 4, 2 (2016), 132–148.

- [7] CANDAN, M. A new sequence space isomorphic to the space $\ell(p)$ and compact operators. J. Math. Comput. Sci. 4, 2 (2014), 306–334.
- [8] CANDAN, M. A new perspective on paranormed riesz sequence space of non absolute type. Global Journal of Mathematical Analysis 3, 4 (2015), 150–163.
- [9] CANDAN, M., AND KILINÇ, G. A different look for paranormed riesz sequence space derived by fibonacci matrix. *Konuralp Journal of Mathematics* 3, 2 (2015), 62–76.
- [10] DEMIRIZ, S., AND ÇAKAN, C. On some new paranormed euler sequence spaces and euler core. *Acta Mathematica Sinica, English Series 26, 7* (2010), 1207–1222.
- [11] ET, M., AND BASARIR, M. On some new generalized difference sequence spaces. *Periodica Mathematica Hungarica* 35, 3 (1997), 169–175.
- [12] ET, M., AND ÇOLAK, R. On some generalized difference sequence spaces. Soochow Journal of Mathematics 21, 4 (1995), 377–386.
- [13] GROSSEERDMANN, K.-G. Matrix transformations between the sequence spaces of maddox. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 180, 1 (1993), 223–238.
- [14] ILKHAN, M. Matrix domain of a regular matrix derived by euler totient function in the spaces c_0 and c. *Mediterranean Journal of Mathematics* 17, 1 (2020), 27.
- [15] ILKHAN, M., AND KARA, E. E. A new banach space defined by euler totient matrix operator. Oper. Matrices 13, 2 (2019), 527–544.
- [16] KARA, E., ÖZTÜRK, M., AND BAŠARIR, M. Some topological and geometric properties of generalized euler sequence space. *Mathematica Slovaca 60*, 3 (2010), 385–398.
- [17] KARAKAYA, V., AND ŞIMŞEK, N. On some properties of new paranormed sequence space of nonabsolute type. In *Abstract and Applied Analysis* (2012), vol. 2012, Hindawi.
- [18] KILINÇ, G., AND CANDAN, M. A different approach for almost sequence spaces defined by a generalized weighted means. *Sakarya Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi* 21, 6 (2017), 1529–1536.
- [19] KOVÁC, E. On *φ*-convergence and *φ*-density. *Math. Slovaca* 55, 3 (2005), 329–351.
- [20] MADDOX, I. Spaces of strongly summable sequences. The Quarterly Journal of Mathematics 18, 1 (1967), 345–355.
- [21] NIVEN, I., ZUCKERMAN, H. S., AND MONTGOMERY, H. L. An introduction to the theory of numbers. John Wiley & Sons, 1991.
- [22] SCHOENBERG, I. The integrability of certain functions and related summability methods. *The American Mathematical Monthly* 66, 5 (1959), 361–775.

A P-adic Analytic Proof of Reflectivity of Twisted Finite Sums of Continous Functions

Altan Erdoğan¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Gebze Technical University, Turkey Email: alerdogan@gtu.edu.tr

Abstract

The twisted sums of powers which is a generalization of the alternating sums of powers are studied through a p-adic integral transform. The reflectivity of twisted sums of powers is proved by the reflectivity of the corresponding p-adic integrals. In particular the polynomial expressions for the alternating sums of powers follows as a special case.

1. Introduction

The sum of powers of integers of the form

$$\sum_{a=0}^{x} a^{m}$$

for $x \in \mathbb{N}$ and a fixed $m \in \mathbb{N}$ has drawn considerable attention starting with Faulhaber. Faulhaber proved that these sums can be expressed as polynomials in x(x+1) or a multiple of such polynomial depending on the parity of m. One can also consider

the r-fold sum of powers of integers defined as

$$\sum^{1} f(x) = \sum_{a=0}^{x} f(a)$$
$$\sum^{r} f(x) = \sum^{r-1} f(1) + \sum^{r-1} f(2) + \dots + \sum^{r-1} f(x), \ r \ge 2$$
(1)

where $f(x) = x^m$ for some fixed $m \ge 1$. Convenient references for Faulhaber's theorem for r-fold sums are [9, 7, 8].

We may also consider the alternating r-fold sums defined as

$$\sum^{r} (-1)^{x} x^{m} \tag{2}$$

These sums are are studied in detail in [11] and [10] (for general $r \ge 1$). It is a common phenomena that the sums (1) and (2) can be expressed in terms of Bernoulli and Euler polynomials respectively. Also the explicit expressions of (alternating) rfold sums involve polynomials in x(x + r) possibly multiplied by some linear factors and the exponential term $(-1)^x$ for the alternating case depending on the parities of m and r. A comprehensive list of polynomial expressions of these sums in terms of Bernoulli and euler polynomials with proofs can be found in [10] (See also the references therein).

In this paper we aim to explore twisted sums of powers of the form

$$\sum_{a=0}^{x} w^{a} a^{m}$$

where w is to be specified in a p-adic setting. Indeed there will not be any loss if we

 $\operatorname{consider}$

$$\sum_{a=0}^{x} f(a)w^a \tag{3}$$

for an arbitrary even or odd continuous function f(x) on \mathbb{Z}_p (the ring of *p*-adic integers). The method we use is based on the *p*-adic integral equation

$$w^{x} \int_{thbbZ_{p}} f(x+t) \ \mu_{w}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} f(t) \ \mu_{w}(t) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^{a} f(a)$$

for $x \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ where μ_w is a *p*-adic measure specified below. We prove a reflectivity property of the integral transform

$$\int\limits_{\mathbb{Z}_p} f(x+t) \ \mu_w(t)$$

and then this naturally gives an analogues result for the sum $\sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^a f(a)$.
2. Reflectivity of Twisted Sums

We start with the basic definitions and facts required in the main result. We use the convention of [9] for reflective functions.

Definition. Let f be a function on \mathbb{C}_p , and $r \in C_p$. We say that f is r-reflective (respectively anti r-reflective) if

$$f(x) = f(-r-x)$$
 (respectively $f(x) = -f(-r-x)$).

Definition. Let $w \in \mathbb{C}_p^*$ with $|w - 1|_p \ge 1$. We define μ_w to be the p-adic measure defined as

$$\mu_w(a + (p^N)) = \frac{w^a}{w^{p^N} - 1}$$

on the compact-open subsets $a + (p^N)$ of \mathbb{Z}_p with $0 \le a \le p^N - 1$ and extended to all compact-open subsets of \mathbb{Z}_p linearly.

Boundedness of μ_w easily follows, indeed $\sup |\mu_w(a + (p^N))|_p \leq 1$. For basic facts on *p*-adic measures and *p*-adic integration the reader is referred to [2]. The measure μ_w had been defined and studied to *p*-adically interpolate *L*-functions by N. Koblitz in [2] and [3]. Note that the version we use here differs just by a minus sign due to notational conventions. It also plays am improtant role in the theory of *p*-adic polylogarithms ([4]).

In the sequel we set

$$H_w(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p} f(x+t) \ \mu_w(t)$$

to simplify the notation. We will use the following identity which follows by definition

of *p*-adic integration;

$$wH_w(f)(x) = H_w(f)(x-1) + f(x-1)$$
(4)

(We may also refer to [2]).

Proposition 1. Let $w \in \mathbb{C}_p^*$ with $|w-1|_p \ge 1$ and $f \in C(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Then for $x \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 1}$ we have

$$w^{x}H_{w}(f)(x) = H_{w}(f)(0) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^{a}f(a).$$
 (5)

Proof. The claim is clear for x = 1 by (4). Then the result follows by indicution on x.

Note that for $f(x) = x^{k-1}$, $H_w(f)(x)$ turns out to be the so-called k-th Apostol-Bernoulli polynomial. But we will not restirct to polynomials (We refer to [5, 1] for properties of Apostol-Bernoulli polynomials).

We also have another interesting fact about (5). It is well known that the discrete convolution of two continuous functions on \mathbb{Z}_p is also continuous [6]. Now consider the discrete convolution of f and the exponential function $x \mapsto (1/w)^x$. Note that $x \mapsto (1/w)^x$ is discontinuous since $|w - 1|_p \ge 1$. We can write (5) as

$$H_w(f)(x) = w^{-x} H_w(f)(0) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} (1/w)^{a-x} f(a)$$

Note that the above sum is the discrete convolution of f and the function $x \mapsto (1/w)^x$. But $H_w(f)$ is continuous and so the discrete convolution of f and the function $x \mapsto (1/w)^x$ is continuous if and only if $H_w(f)(0) = 0$.

Now we state and prove the main theorem.

Theorem 1. Let $w \in \mathbb{C}_p^*$ with $|w - 1|_p \ge 1$ and f be a continuous function on \mathbb{Z}_p . If f is an even function, then

$$wH_wf(1-x) = -H_{1/w}f(x).$$

Similarly if f is an odd function then

.

$$wH_wf(1-x) = H_{1/w}f(x)$$

Proof. Before the proof note that for any continuous function f(t) and any *p*-adic measure μ on \mathbb{Z}_p we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{Z}_p} f(t) \ \mu = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{a=0}^{p^N - 1} f(\tilde{a}) \mu(a + (p^N))$$

where \tilde{a} is any representative in the subset $a + (p^N)$. First let f be even. Then we

have

$$H_{1/w}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p} f(x+t) \ \mu_{1/w}(t) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{a=0}^{p^{N-1}} \frac{f(x+a-p^N)w^{-a}}{w^{-p^N}-1}$$
$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{a=0}^{p^{N-1}} \frac{f(-x-a+p^N)w^{p^N-a}}{1-w^{p^N}} = -\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{b=1}^{p^N} \frac{f(b-x)w^b}{w^{p^N}-1}$$
$$= -\lim_{N \to \infty} \left[\sum_{b=0}^{p^{N-1}} \frac{f(b-x)w^b}{w^{p^N}-1} + \frac{f(p^N-x)w^{p^N}}{w^{p^N}-1} - \frac{f(-x)}{w^{p^N}-1} \right]$$
$$= -[H_w f(-x) + f(-x)] = -[H_w f(-x) + f(x)]$$

Now we replace x by 1 - x in (4) and obtain

$$wH_wf(1-x) = H_wf(-x) + f(-x) = H_wf(-x) + f(x).$$

Combining these equalities we see that

$$wH_wf(1-x) = -H_{1/w}f(x)$$

as desired. If f is odd then in a similar way first we obtain

$$H_{1/w}f(x) = H_wf(-x) - f(x)$$

and then $wH_w f(1-x) = H_{1/w} f(x)$.

As a consequence if we consider $H_w f(x)$ and $H_{1/w} f(x)$ simultaneously then we can obtain a reflectivity result for the twisted sums (3). First by Theorem 1 we observe

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

that

$$H_w f(x) \cdot H_{1/w} f(x) = \pm w H_w f(x) H_w f(1-x)$$

where the + sign (respectively - sign) occurs if f is odd (respectively even). But the right hand side is clearly -1-reflective. Also by (5) we have that

$$\left[H_w f(0) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^a f(a)\right] \left[H_{1/w} f(0) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^{-a} f(a)\right]$$
$$= \left[w^x H_w f(x)\right] \left[w^{-x} H_{1/w} f(x)\right] = H_w f(x) H_{1/w} f(x) = \pm w H_w f(x) H_w f(1-x)$$

which gives the following result.

Corollary 1. Let $w \in \mathbb{C}_p^*$ with $|w-1|_p \ge 1$ and $f \in C(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Suppose that f is an even or an odd function and that $H_w f(0) = H_{1/w} f(0) = 0$. Then the product

$$\left[\sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^a f(a)\right] \left[\sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^{-a} f(a)\right]$$

is -1-reflective.

Now we restrict to the special case w = -1. Accordingly we may take any prime p > 2, so that $|w - 1|_p = 1$. In this case Theorem 1 reads as

$$H_{-1}f(1-x) = \pm H_{-1}f(x)$$

where the positive (respectively negative) sign occurs if f is odd (respectively even). So $H_{-1}f(1-x)$ is -1-reflective (respectively anti -1 reflective) if f is odd (respectively even). Combining with (5) we obtain the following reflectivity result for the alternating sums.

Corollary 2. Let p be an odd prime and $f \in C(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. Suppose that f is an odd (respectively even) function. Then

$$-H_{-1}f(0) + \sum_{a=0}^{x-1} w^a f(a)$$

is equal to the product of a -1-reflective (respectively anti -1-reflective) function and $(-1)^x$.

References

- Q.-M. Luo, On the Apostol-Bernoulli Polynomials, Central European Journal of Mathematics 2(4), 2004, 509 - 515
- [2] N. Koblitz, p-adic Numbers, p-adic Analysis and Zeta-Functions, Springer-Verlag New York, 1984.
- [3] N. Koblitz, p-adic Analysis: a Short Course on Recent Work, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note, 46 (1980), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York
- [4] R. F. Coleman, Dilogarithms, Regulators and p-adic L-functions, Invent. Math.,
 69 (1982), pp. 171 208
- [5] T. M. Apostol, On the Lerch Zeta Function, Pacific J. Math., 1 (1951), pp. 161 167
- [6] H. Schikhof, W. (2018). Ultrametric Calculus: an introduction to p-adic analysis.
- [7] A.F. Beardon, Sums of powers of integers, Amer. Math. Monthly, 103 (1996), pp. 201-213
- [8] A.W.F. Edwards, A quick route to sums of powers, Amer. Math. Monthly, 93 (1986), pp. 451-455
- [9] D.E. Knuth, Johann Faulhaber and sums of powers, Math. Comput., 61 (1993), pp. 277-294
- [10] William Y.C. Chen, Amy M. Fu, Iris F. Zhang, Faulhaber's theorem on power sums, Discrete Mathematics, Volume 309, Issue 10, 2009, Pages 2974-2981,

[11] I.M. Gessel, G. Viennot, Determinants, paths, and plane partitions, 1989, available on http://people.brandeis.edu/ gessel/homepage/papers/index.html

A STUDY OF STATISTICAL REASONING ABILITIES USING COOPERATIVE LEARNING FOR MATHAYOMSUKSA IV STUDENTS

Chanika Chawong¹, Asst.Prof.Dr. Khwan Paisai², Asst.Prof.Dr. Sukanya Hayeesala³, Asst.Prof.Anek Janjaroon⁴ ^{1,2,3,4}Mathematics, Srinakarinwirot University, Thailand, E-mail(s): Chaw7891@gmail.com, khawn@g.swu.ac.th, sukanya@g.swu.ac.th, anek@g.swu.ac.th

Abstract

The purpose of this research was to study the statistical reasoning abilities in students from grade 10 (Mathayomsuksa IV) by using cooperative learning. The study was conducted with 40 students, working in groups of 3-4 with different relative ability. The participants were assessed in statistical reasoning by comparing the scores from a designed pre-test and post-test. It was hypothesized that the statistical reasoning abilities scores of the students would increase after participating in the study project.

The result shows that

1. Statistical reasoning was higher than the criterion of 60% at the .05 level of significance.

2. Satisfaction of Mathayomsuksa IV students toward cooperative learning was at a high level. **Keywords:** statistical reasoning, cooperative learning, statistics

1. Introduction

The human lives are surrounded with data and decision-making. Using the intuition or previous experience may not be enough to make sense of the data. In addition, a person's life is inevitably related to the use of statistical concepts and methods, directly and indirectly, including biology, physics, engineering, economics, sociology, psychology, business, and others. [1] Garfield defines statistical reasoning as the way statistical knowledge is used to make sense of data. [2] Therefore, statistical reasoning is the tool necessary for this digital age and it should begin with the right educational foundation, school. The study of statistics provides students with tools and ideas to use in order to react intelligently to quantitative information in the world around them [2] According to Jone's [3], the statistical reasoning composes of four processes: describing data, organizing data, representing data and analyzing data. However, Garfield [3] found that most students performed well in the statistics classroom but lacking statistical reasoning ability and skills. Result of this study point out that statistics teachers do not teach students how to apply statistics, but most teachers tend to teach statistics in a way that the formulas are applied and can be calculated accurately. Therefore, teaching statistics should be in a way that enhances students' thinking more than focusing on the calculation and formulas in statistics classroom. Cooperative learning is the type of learning when small groups of students work to enhance their own and their peers' learning in their own group.[4] The cooperative learning results in higher achievement than lecture instruction for all students

and is especially beneficial for those least prepared for statistics. Due to this, cooperative learning is suitable for enhancing the statistics, especially the statistical reasoning.

2. Statistical Reasoning

Garfield defines statistical reasoning as the way statistical knowledge is used to make sense of data. [2] To demonstrate a statistical reasoning, a person needs to be able to give the explanation of the occurred results which require the understanding of the data. Galotti [4] found that statistical reasoning is occurring in a person's thinking after being assigned to state the implications.

Referring to Jones et al. and Mooney statistical reasoning framework, the four key statistical processes consist of describe data, organizing data, representing data, and analyzing data. The four statistical processes are defined as follows.

1. Describe data is the first step of interpreting and data analysis. This step involves the explicit reading of the given raw data or data presented in the form of tables, charts, or graphical representations. There are two subprocesses of describing data: showing awareness of display features and identifying units of data values.

2. Organizing data refers to the process of arranging, categorizing, or consolidating data into a term of center and the spread of data. To organize the data, there are three subprocesses includes grouping data, summarizing data in terms of center, and describing the spread of data.

3. Representing data refers to the process of displaying data in a graphical form. Students need to think about what is involved in constructing graphs and optimize the choice of the graph in the given situation. Data representation has two subprocesses which includes completing or constructing a data display for a provided set of data and giving the effectiveness evaluation for the data displays.

4. Analyzing data is considered as a core of statistical reasoning. This process involves recognizing patterns and trends in the data, making inferences and predictions from data. Curcio [5] defines two subprocesses of analyzing data, reading between the data, and reading beyond the data.

Based on Jones et al. and Mooney statistical reasoning framework [2], there are four levels of statistical reasoning: The four levels consist of idiosyncratic, transitional, quantitative, and analytical. 1st level is when the response of the students is limited to the unrelated data or when they are using their personal experiences and beliefs to answer the questions. At the 2nd level, transitional, students notice the importance of reasoning but still not consistent and tend to focus only one aspect of the statistical problems. On the 3rd level, quantitative, students are capable to identify the mathematical ideas of the problem situation and are not distracted or misled by the irrelevant aspects. The highest level of statistical reasoning, analytical, the reasoning towards statistical reasoning has developed to the task integration of the relevant aspects into a meaningful structure.

Referring to the level of statistical reasoning and subprocess of each statistical reasoning, this research has created the rubric score that corelate to the students statistical reasoning abilities and their responds in the classroom. The table 1 is developed rubric score by the researcher.

Process	Subprocess	Score	Respond
Describing	1.Showing awareness of	0	Student does not show any awareness of the
data	the data		data, give the answer that unrelated to the
			context
		1	Show some awareness but easily to get
			distracted
		2	Show well awareness of the data, not easily to
		2	be distracted
		5	Provide correct answer with the supporting
	2 Identifying units of data	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the
	2. Identifying units of data	0	students give the unrelated respond to the
	values.	1	Show some awareness in data values units but
		1	easily to get distracted
		2	Show well awareness of the data, not easily to
			be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting
			reasons and the discussion beyond the context.
Organizing	1. Summarizing data in the	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the
data	measures of centre and		context
	spread of data	1	Student just only provide the number but does
	-		not show the process of calculation or
			misunderstand in the use of statistical formula.
		2	Show well awareness and right statistical
			computation of the measures of centre and
		2	spread of data, not easily to be distracted.
		3	reasons and the discussion beyond the context
	2 Provide the reason for	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the
	each selected measures of	0	context
	centre	1	Show some awareness for each selected
	centre	-	measures of centre but easily to get distracted
		2	Show well awareness of the data, not easily to
			be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting
			reasons and the discussion beyond the context.
Representation	1. Completing or	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the
data	constructing a data display		context
	for a provided set of data	1	Student just only provide the number but does
			not show the process of calculation or
			misunderstand in the use of statistical formula.

		2	Show well awareness of the data, not easily to
			be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting
			reasons and the discussion beyond the context.
2 ev d:	2. Giving the effectiveness evaluation for the data displays.	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the context
		1	Show some awareness for each selected measures of centre but easily to get distracted
		2	Show well awareness of the data, not easily to be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting reasons and the discussion beyond the context.
Analysing	1. Reading between the	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the
data	data, recognize the patterns		context
	and trends in the data	1	Show some awareness of patterns and trends
			in the data but easily to get distracted
		2	Show well awareness of patterns and trends in
			the data, not easily to be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting
			reasons and the discussion beyond the context.
	2. Reading beyond the data, making inferences	0	Students give the unrelated respond to the context
	and predictions from data	1	Show some awareness of data interpretation but easily to get distracted
		2	Show well awareness in making inferences, not easily to be distracted
		3	Provide correct respond with the supporting reasons and the discussion beyond the context.

Table 1 rubric score according to the level of statistical reasoning

3. Cooperative Learning

Johnson and Johnson [6] states that cooperative learning exists when small groups of students work to enhance their own and their groupmates' learning. Several studies confirm that cooperative learning has provided the learners with positive results. Giraud [7] compared the effective of cooperative learning vs. lecture methods of instruction in the undergraduate statistics course. The cooperative learning results in higher achievement than lecture instruction for all students and is especially beneficial for those least prepared for statistics. As well as, Keeler and Steinhorst [8] have also found that working in cooperative groups resulted the increase in students' final scores in two experimental sections than in a comparison

course section, more percentage of completing the course, and the students had positive attitudes toward the study project. Johnson and Johnson [6] found that the cooperative learners have better performance on questions comparing to their peers in traditional classrooms and also have a higher level of thinking compare to the non-cooperative classroom.

Consequently, cooperative learning enhances the student in many ways, it increases the higher achievement, productivity, self-esteem, self-confidence, the acceptance and support from groupmates, and independence. Moreover, the cooperative learners are more likely to generate new ideas and solutions, more higher-level reasoning, than the non-cooperative learners. Therefore, employing a cooperative learning strategy in statistical reasoning was expected to improve the statistical reasoning scores of students after the participation.

4.Method

This research is the experimental study, which aims to find out the statistical reasoning abilities in students grade 10 by using cooperative learning. The subjects were 40 students from grade 10 at Puranawat School, Bangkok, Thailand. The data collection was performed in the second semester of the academic year 2020, which took a total of 7 periods, 100 minutes each. To construct the statistical instrument, there were experts in the statistical reasoning field had validated the content of this instrument. The researcher construct it based on the statistical reasoning framework. The participants were individually given the pretest and post-test along with the satisfaction survey. This pre-test contained 16 questions and the posttest contained 15 questions. The students were given 40 minutes to complete each test, the tests were done individually. The hypothesis of this research is after participating in the study program statistical reasoning of the students will be higher than the criterion of 60% at the .05 level of significance.



Figure 1. The research framework



Figure 2. Example statistics problem in the research

5. Result

The data obtained during the study of the statistical reasoning ability of Mathayomsuksa 4 students before and after participating in a cooperative learning.

	\overline{X}	S.D	Total score	Z
Pre-test	9	3.06	20	-8.19*
Post-test	16.5	2.80	24	

Note*p < .05

Table 2 The comparison of pre-test and post-test scores

The table 1 shows the improvement in statistical reasoning of the students at the .05 level of significance. The students have improved from earning 45% on their pre-test to 68.75% on their posttest or after the completion of conducting the experiment. A term "improving statistical reasoning" refers to the actual

improvement of the students based on their participating in the cooperative learning using designed statistical reasoning lesson plans.



Figure 3. The improvement of the students statistical reasoning comparing between the pretest and posttest

After the participation in the project, students were given 20 survey questions of their satisfaction toward cooperative learning. The result found that Satisfaction of Mathayomsuksa IV students toward cooperative learning was at a high level.

6. Discussion

This research promotes statistical reasoning in all four areas. The study of statistical reasoning ability of Mathayomsuksa 4 students by using cooperative learning found that Mathayomsuksa IV students that participated in the cooperative learning activities, have higher statistical reasoning abilities than the students in the normal classroom at the criterion of 60% at the .05 level of significance because of the following:

1. Cooperative learning is a learning management that focuses on the students to work together as a group where all members participate in the group assignment with the mutual common goal. The researcher divided the group of students into 10 groups, 4 students each group with different learning abilities using the scores from the pre-test. Throughout the experiment, it was found that the group learning process allows students to exchange ideas with each other, explain knowledge to one another and ask more questions. This can be seen from the satisfaction questionnaire, students mostly agreed that the cooperative learning gives students the courage to ask questions with their teacher and peers. Students feel more engaged and can understand the content better. This is in line with the research of Somdej

Boonprajak [6] which found that collaborative learning gives students the potential of mathematics in problem solving and reasoning at the 0.01 level of significance, in the same way that Ibán and Marcos [7]found a significant increase in creativity scores in the experimental group and a moderate positive correlation between creative thinking and academic achievement.

2. Statistical reasoning is the student's ability in understanding the statistical data through four statistical processes: describing data, organizing data, representing data, and analyzing data.

2.1 Describing data is the first step to understand statistical data and see the overview of the given context. It provides students a preliminary understanding to prepare them for the next step in statistical reasoning. The researcher has designed a lesson plan with list of questions that practice statistical reasoning in describing data, see figure 2. Each series of problems feature various real-life statistical data. The study found that students were more likely to pay attention and participate in the discussion more with the real-life data. Similarly, Svetlana and Gillian [8] states that teacher should allow students to solve real-world problems in a variety of contexts and the discuss up-to-date examples can help stimulate student interest. In the early stages of the experiment, researcher also found that students were likely to use their personal experience to answer the questions. Moreover, the students were unable to provide the support reasoning of their peers' responses. However, after the end of the lesson plan most students had better score in the describing data comprehensive test.

2.2 Organizing data is the second process of statistical reasoning. In this process, researcher found that students were quite familiar with finding arithmetic mean or the calculation aspect of statistics. There were still some groups that had difficulty in finding the median. In addition, they are unable to justify selecting a suitable intermediate representative of the data. However, after the end of lesson plan, many of the students performed better in the organizing data comprehensive test. There was better awareness in arranging the data before the calculation was performed. In addition, students reason better toward the use of measures of center.

2.3 Representing data is the third area of statistical reasoning. This process involves the data representation in various types, tables, charts, bar charts, linear graph, and histogram. It is also including the optimal choice of data representation toward the given context. The researcher found that in the early stages of learning activity, there were some groups of students struggled with determining the X and Y axes, and students were likely to scale their graph incorrectly. However, after the end of lesson plan, many of the students performed better in the data representation comprehensive test. There were less mistakes found in constructing statistical graph comparing to the early stage. Student were able to provide reason toward the given data representation. Jane and Helen's [9] has also found that cooperative learning enhance the learning in data representation, students were likely to have a better concentration in the classroom compare to the normal class.

2.4 Analyzing data is the fourth process of statistical reasoning. It refers to students' ability in recognizing the patterns and trends of data and use given information to make inferences and predictions. The researcher found that in the early stages majority of the students were struggling in

providing reasons towards the given data. There were some number of students that acknowledge in the trends of the data but still could not explain why. Interestingly, this study also found that the students tend to make less mistake in this process from the early stage. This might because they were familiar with the real-life data and trend seen in the news. After the end of lesson plan, many of the students performed better in the analyzing data comprehensive test.

7. Conclusion

In conclusion, the study of statistical reasoning using cooperative learning in the classroom has improved the students' statistical reasoning abilities. Statistical reasoning was higher than the criterion of 60% at the .05 level of significance. The researcher also found that students were more engaged in the classroom when they exposed the real data. For future study, teacher can consider incorporating more of the real-world example in the statistics classroom and let the students work together in group using different active learning techniques. It can also be developed into a statistical reasoning course in the school when the students will spend the entire semester engaging in the statistical reasoning processes.

References

[1-4, 10-15]

- 1. Al-Hemyari, Z., *Introduction of statistics* 2018.
- 2. (eds.), D.B.-Z.a.J.G., *The Challenge of Developing Statistical Literacy, Reasoning and Thinking*. 2004: Kluwer Academic Publishers. 1.
- 3. Garfield, J.B., *The challenge of developing statistical reasoning*. Journal of Statistics Education,, (2002). **10(3)**.
- 4. Galotti K. M., B., J., & Sabini, J. P., Individual differences in syllogistic reasoning: Deduction
- rules or mental models? . Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 1986. 115: p. 16-25.
- 5. Curcio, F.R., *Comprehension of mathematical relationships expressed in graphs*. Journal for research in mathematics education, 1987: p. 382-393.
- 6. Somdej Boonprajak, P.W., Siriporn Thipkong., & Chusak Khampalikhit., *The development of mathematical potential in Mathayomsuksa 1 students by using cooperative learning*. 1997, Srinakarinwirot University
- 7. Segundo Marcos, R.I., et al., *Promoting children's creative thinking through reading and writing in a cooperative learning classroom*. Thinking Skills and Creativity, 2020. **36**: p. 100663.
- 8. Tishkovskaya, S. and G.A. Lancaster, *Statistical education in the 21st century: A review of challenges, teaching innovations and strategies for reform.* Journal of Statistics Education, 2012. **20**(2).
- 9. Chick, H. and J. Watson, *Data representation and interpretation by primary school students working in groups*. Mathematics Education Research Journal, 2001. **13**(2): p. 91-111.
- 10. Maligalig, I.P.D.a.D.S., *Are We Teaching Statistics Correctly to our Youth?* The Philippine Statistician, 2006. **55**: p. 1-28.
- 11. Giraud, G., *Cooperative Learning and Statistics Instruction*. Journal of Statistics Education,, (1997). **5:3**.
- 12. Johnson, D.W.J.a.R.T., *Cooperative Learning: The Foundation for Active Learning*. 2018.
- 13. Chan, S.W., & Ismail, Z., , , Developing statistical reasoning assessment instrument for high

school students in descriptive statistics. . Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2013. 116.

- 14. Li Jin, Y.J.K., Marilyn McGhee, and Robert Reiser, *Statistical Reasoning Skills and Attitude:The Effect of Worked Examples* 2011 Annual Proceedings Jacksonville. **1 & 2**: p. 105.
- 15. Steinhorst, C.M.K.a.R.K., Using Small Groups to Promote Active Learning in the Introductory Statistics Course: A Report from the Field. Journal of Statistics Education 1995. **3**(2).

Açık B-Spline Eğrileri Üzerine

Muhsin Incesu¹, Sara Yılmaz Evren²

¹Mathematics Education Depatment, Muş Alparslan University, Muş, Turkey, ²Mathematics Teacher, Mus, Turkey, E-mail(s): m.incesu@alparslan.edu.tr, sara_yilmaz_90@hotmail.com

Abstract

Bu çalışmada açık B-spline eğrileri hakkında bilgiler verilmiş, onların uç knot vektörlerinde yani t_d ve t_{m-d} noktalarında bu eğrilerin birinci ikinci ve üçüncü türevleri bulunmuştur. Daha sonra aynı noktalarda bu eğriler üzeinde $\{T, N, B\}$ Frenet- Serret çatısı oluyşturularak eğrinin belirtilen noktalarda eğrilikleri ifade edilmiştir.

1. Giriş

B-spline eğrileri ve NURBS eğriler kontrol noktaları denilen bir grup noktanın oluşturduğu konvexhull'uniçinde kalma özelliğine sahiptirler. Ayrıca bu spline eğrilerinin kontrol noktalarından herhangi birinin değiştirilmesinde lokal olarak o noktanın bir komşuluğunda eğri değişim gösterir. Spline eğrilerinde kontrol noktaları sayısı ne kadar azalırsa kontrol noktasının koordinatındaki değişimin eğrinin diğer noktalarını etkilemesi o kadar artmaktadır. örneğin bir data setindeki noktalardan elde edilecek kübikspline eğrilerinde datadan herhangi biri değiştiğinde tüm noktalarda eğrilerin tamamı etkilenebilmektedir (Yükselen,2018).

B-spline eğrileri ve NURBS eğrilerle ilgili yapılan çalışmalara (Tiller,1992), (Hoschek,1992), (Meek ve Walton,1993), (Neamtu ve ark.,1998), (Juhasz,1999), (Piegl ve Tiller, 1999,2002), (Liu ve Wang, 2002), (Selimovic,2006), (Samancı,2018) çalışmalar örnek olarak verilebilir.

2. B-Spline Eğrileri

Derecesi d olan bir B- spline eğrisi, b_i ile gösterilen ve eğriyi kontrol eden bir takım kontrol noktaları ile yine derecesi d olan B-spline taban fonksiyonları diye adlandırılan fonksiyonlar ve bu fonksiyonların

tanımlandığı aralıkları belirleyen $t_0, t_1, ..., t_m$ ile gösterilen knot vektörler yardımıyla tanımlanan parçalı eğrilerdir.

Tanım 1. Knot vektörü olarak adlandırılan ve $t_0, t_1, ..., t_m$ ile tanımlanan, $N_{i,d}(t)$ ile belirtilen d. dereceden B-spline taban fonksiyonları i=0,1,...,n ve $d \ge 1$ için aşağıdaki gibi tanımlanır:

$$N_{i,d}(t) = \frac{t - t_i}{t_{i+d} - t_i} N_{i,d-1}(t) + \frac{t_{i+d+1} - t}{t_{i+d+1} - t_{i+1}} N_{i+1,d-1}(t).$$
(1)

burada

$$N_{i,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, e \breve{g} er \ t \in [t_i, t_{i+1}] \\ 0, aksi \ taktirde \end{cases}$$

dır. Eğer knot vektörler yeterli sayıda tekrarlandığında yani ardışık t_i değerlerinin eşit olması durumunda, tekrarlamanın gerçekleştirilmesi sırasında (bazı i için) $\frac{N_{i,d-1}(t)}{t_{i+d}-t_i} = 0/0$ değeri ile karşılaşılabilir. Bu meydana geldiğinde $\frac{0}{0} = 0$ olduğu varsayılır.

Tanım 2. Knot vektörleri $t_0, t_1, ..., t_m$ ve kontrol noktaları $b_0, b_1, ..., b_n$ ile d. dereceden bir B-spline eğrisi

$$B(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_i N_{i,d}(t)$$
(2)

Olarak tanımlanır. Burada tanım aralığı $[a, b] = [t_d, t_{m-d}]$ dır. Burada $N_{i,d}(t)$, d. dereceden B-spline temel fonksiyonudur.

Örnek 1. Düzlemde kontrol noktaları $b_0(1,2)$, $b_1(3,5)$, $b_2(6,2)$, $b_3(9,4)$ ve knot vektörleri $t_0 = 2$, $t_1 = 4$, $t_2 = 5$, $t_3 = 7$, $t_4 = 8$, $t_5 = 10$, $t_6 = 11$ olarak verilsin. Derecesi d=2 olsun. Bu durumda B-spline eğrisini aşağıdaki şekilde bulalım: Bunun için d=2 oluncaya kadar $N_{i,d}(t)$ taban fonksiyonlarını bulalım. d=0 için:

$$N_{0,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [2,4) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde' \end{cases} \qquad N_{1,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [4,5) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde' \end{cases} \\ N_{2,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [5,7) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde' \end{cases} \qquad N_{3,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [7,8) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde' \end{cases} \\ N_{4,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [8,10) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde' \end{cases} \qquad N_{5,0}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, \ e\breve{g}ert \in [10,11) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde \end{cases}$$

d=1 için:

$$N_{0,1}(t) = \frac{t-t_0}{t_1-t_0} N_{0,0}(t) + \frac{t_2-t}{t_2-t_1} N_{1,0}(t) = \frac{t-2}{4-2} N_{0,0}(t) + \frac{5-t}{5-4} N_{1,0}(t) = \frac{t-2}{2} N_{0,0}(t) + (5-t) N_{1,0}(t),$$

$$\begin{split} N_{1,1}(t) &= \frac{t-t_1}{t_2-t_1} N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{t_3-t}{t_3-t_2} N_{2,0}(t) = \frac{t-4}{5-4} N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{7-t}{7-5} N_{2,0}(t) = (t-4) N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{1}{2} (7-t) N_{2,0}(t), \\ N_{2,1}(t) &= \frac{t-t_2}{t_3-t_2} N_{2,0}(t) + \frac{t_4-t}{t_4-t_3} N_{3,0}(t) = \frac{1}{2} (t-5) N_{2,0}(t) + (8-t) N_{3,0}(t), \\ N_{3,1}(t) &= \frac{t-t_3}{t_4-t_3} N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{t_5-t}{t_5-t_4} N_{4,0}(t) = (t-7) N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{1}{2} (10-t) N_{4,0}(t) \\ N_{4,1}(t) &= \frac{t-t_4}{t_5-t_4} N_{4,0}(t) + \frac{t_6-t}{t_6-t_5} N_{5,0}(t) = \frac{1}{2} (t-8) N_{4,0}(t) + (11-t) N_{5,0}(t). \end{split}$$

Yazılabilir. Buna göre,

$$N_{0,1}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{t-2}{2}, \ t \in [2,4) \\ 5-t, \ t \in [4,5), \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde \end{cases} \qquad N_{1,1}(t) = \begin{cases} t-4, \ t \in [4,5) \\ \frac{7-t}{2}, \ t \in [5,7) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde \end{cases}$$
$$N_{2,1}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{t-5}{2}, \ t \in [5,7) \\ 8-t, \ t \in [7,8), \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde \end{cases} \qquad N_{3,1}(t) = \begin{cases} t-7, \ t \in [7,8) \\ \frac{10-t}{2}, \ t \in [8,10) \\ 0, \ aksi \ taktirde \end{cases}$$
$$N_{4,1}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{t-8}{2}, \ t \in [8,10) \\ 11-t, \ t \in [10,11), \end{cases}$$

 $\begin{pmatrix} 11 - t, t \in [10, 11] \\ 0, aksi taktirde \end{pmatrix}$

olarak bulunur.



Şekil 7. Knot vektörleri $t_0 = 2, t_1 = 2, t_2 = 5, t_3 = 7, t_4 = 8, t_5 = 10, t_6 = 11$ olan birinci dereden taban fonksiyonları

Son olarak, d=2 için

$$\begin{split} N_{0,2}(t) &= \frac{t - t_0}{t_2 - t_0} N_{0,1}(t) + \frac{t_3 - t}{t_3 - t_1} N_{1,1}(t) = \frac{t - 2}{3} N_{0,1}(t) + \frac{7 - t}{3} N_{1,1}(t) \\ &= \frac{t - 2}{3} \left(\frac{t - 2}{2} N_{0,0}(t) + (5 - t) N_{1,0}(t) \right) + \frac{7 - t}{3} \left((t - 4) N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{7 - t}{2} N_{2,0}(t) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{6} (t - 2)^2 N_{0,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (-2t^2 + 18t - 38) N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{1}{6} (7 - t)^2 N_{2,0}(t), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} N_{1,2}(t) &= \frac{t - t_1}{t_3 - t_1} N_{1,1}(t) + \frac{t_4 - t}{t_4 - t_2} N_{2,1}(t) = \frac{t - 4}{3} N_{1,1}(t) + \frac{8 - t}{3} N_{2,1}(t) \\ &= \frac{t - 4}{3} \left((t - 4) N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{7 - t}{2} N_{2,0}(t) \right) + \frac{8 - t}{3} \left(\frac{t - 5}{2} N_{2,0}(t) + (8 - t) N_{3,0}(t) \right) \\ \\ &= \frac{1}{3} (t - 4)^2 N_{1,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (-t^2 + 12t - 34) N_{2,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (8 - t)^2 N_{3,0}(t), \\ N_{2,2}(t) &= \frac{t - t_2}{t_4 - t_2} N_{2,1}(t) + \frac{t_5 - t}{t_5 - t_3} N_{3,1}(t) = \frac{t - 5}{3} N_{2,1}(t) + \frac{10 - t}{3} N_{3,1}(t) \\ &= \frac{t - 5}{3} \left(\frac{t - 5}{2} N_{2,0}(t) + (8 - t) N_{3,0}(t) \right) + \frac{10 - t}{3} \left((t - 7) N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{10 - t}{2} N_{4,0}(t) \right) \\ \\ &= \frac{1}{6} (t - 5)^2 N_{2,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (-2t^2 + 30t - 110) N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{1}{6} (10 - t)^2 N_{4,0}(t), \\ N_{3,2}(t) &= \frac{t - t_3}{t_5 - t_3} N_{3,1}(t) + \frac{t_6 - t}{t_6 - t_4} N_{4,1}(t) = \frac{t - 7}{3} N_{3,1}(t) + \frac{11 - t}{3} N_{4,1}(t) \\ &= \frac{t - 7}{3} \left((t - 7) N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{10 - t}{2} N_{4,0}(t) \right) + \frac{11 - t}{3} \left(\frac{t - 8}{2} N_{4,0}(t) + (11 - t) N_{5,0}(t) \right) \\ \\ &= \frac{1}{3} (t - 7)^2 N_{3,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (-t^2 + 18t - 79) N_{4,0}(t) + \frac{1}{3} (11 - t)^2 N_{5,0}(t). \end{split}$$

Buna göre d=2 için

$$N_{0,2}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 2 \\ \frac{1}{6}(t-2)^2, & 2 \le t < 4 \\ \frac{1}{3}(-2t^2+18t-38), & 4 \le t < 5 \\ \frac{1}{6}(7-t)^2, & 5 \le t < 7 \\ 0, & 7 \le t \\ 0, & 7 \le t \\ \frac{1}{3}(t-4)^2, & 4 \le t < 5 \end{cases}$$
$$N_{1,2}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 4 \\ \frac{1}{3}(t-4)^2, & 4 \le t < 5 \\ \frac{1}{3}(-t^2+12t-34), & 5 \le t < 7 \\ \frac{1}{3}(8-t)^2, & 7 \le t < 8 \\ 0, & 8 \le t \end{cases}$$

$$N_{2,2}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 5\\ \frac{1}{6}(t-5)^2, & 5 \le t < 7\\ \frac{1}{3}(-2t^2+30t-110), & 7 \le t < 8\\ \frac{1}{6}(10-t)^2, & 8 \le t < 10\\ 0, & 10 \le t \end{cases}$$

ve

$$N_{3,2}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & t < 7 \\ \frac{1}{3}(t-7)^2, & 7 \le t < 8 \\ \frac{1}{3}(-t^2 + 18t - 79), & 8 \le t < 10 \\ \frac{1}{3}(11-t)^2, & 10 \le t < 11 \\ 0, & 11 \le t \end{cases}$$

biçiminde ifade edilebilir. 1. ve 2. dereceden olan temel fonksiyonun alanları şekil 1 ve 2 de gösterilmiştir.



Şekil 2. Knot vektörleri $t_0 = 2, t_1 = 2, t_2 = 5, t_3 = 7, t_4 = 8, t_5 = 10, t_6 = 11$ olan ikinci dereden taban fonksiyonları

Bunların sonucunda istenilen B-spline eğrisi [5,8] aralığında aşağıdaki şekilde tanımlanır:

$$B(t) = (1,2)N_{0,2}(t) + (3,5)N_{1,2}(t) + (6,2)N_{2,2}(t) + (9,4)N_{3,2}(t)$$

$$=\begin{cases}\frac{1}{6}(7-t)^{2}(1,2)+\frac{1}{3}(-t^{2}+12t-34)(3,5)+\frac{1}{6}(t-5)^{2}(6,2), & \text{eger } 5 \le t < 7, \\ \frac{1}{3}(8-t)^{2}(3,5)+\frac{1}{3}(-2t^{2}+30t-110)(6,2)+\frac{1}{3}(t-7)^{2}(9,4), & \text{eger } 7 \le t \le 8.\end{cases}$$

Şekil 3' da gösterilen, B-spline eğrisi, iki polinom eğri bölümünün birleşimidir.



Şekil 3. Örnek 1 de verilen B-spline eğrisi

B-spline eğrilerinde d. Nci dereceden bir B-spline eğrisi için m tane knot vektörü ve n tane de kontrol noktası verildiğinde bunlar arasında m=n+d+1 bağıntısı sağlanmalıdır.

Teorem 1. B-spline taban fonksiyonları $N_{i,k}(t)$ aşağıdaki özellikleri sağlar.

- i) **Pozitiflik:** $t \in (t_i, t_{i+k+1})$ için $N_{i,k}(t) > 0$
- ii) Bölgesel Destek: $t \notin (t_i, t_{i+k+1})$ için $N_{i,k}(t) = 0$
- iii) **Parçalı Polinom:** $N_{i,k}(t)$ k. dereceden parçalı polinom fonksiyonlardır.
- iv) Birliğin Bölümü: $t \in [t_r, t_{r+1})$ için $\sum_{j=r-k}^r N_{j,k}(t) = 1$

Teorem 2. Knot vektörleri $t_0, t_1, ..., t_m$ üzerinde tanımlanmış olan *d*. dereceden (2) ile verilen bir B-spline eğrisi aşağıdaki özellikleri sağlar.

i) **Bölgesel Kontrol:** Her bölüm d + 1 kontrol noktaları ile belirlenir. Yani, $t \in$

 $[t_r, t_{r+1}) (d \le r \le m - d - 1)$ ise o zaman

$$B(t) = \sum_{i=r-d}^{r} b_i N_{i,d}(t).$$

Böylece B(t)'yi değerlendirmek için, $N_{r-d,d}(t)$, ..., $N_{r,d}(t)$ değerini değerlendirmek yeterlidir.

ii) Konveks Hull: $t \in [t_r, t_{r+1})$ $(d \le r \le m - d - 1)$ ise, o zaman

$$B(t) \in CH\{b_{r-d}, \dots, b_r\}.$$

iii) Afin Dönüşümleri Altındaki Değişmezlik: T bir afin dönüşüm olsun. O zaman

$$T\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} b_i N_{i,d}(t)\right) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} T(b_i) N_{i,d}(t).$$

2.1. Açık B-spline Eğrileri

Genel olarak, B-spline eğrileri ilk ve son kontrol noktası b_0 ve b_n 'i interpolasyona uğratmaz. d. dereceden eğriler için, son nokta interpolasyonu ve bir son nokta teğet durumu, ancak açık B- spline eğrilerinde geçerlidir. Açık B-spline eğrileri, dış knot vektörleri olarak adlandırılan ilk ve son d tane knot vektörlerinin sırasıyla t_0 ve t_m değerlerine eşit olduğu B-spline eğrileridir. Yani, $t_0 = t_1 = \cdots = t_d$ ve $t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \cdots = t_m$ dir.

Böylece b_0 , b_1 başlangıç teğet yönünü tanımlar ve b_{n-1} , b_n açık bir B-spline eğrisinin son teğet yönünü tanımlar. Son nokta interpolasyonu ve son nokta teğet özellikleri, açık B-spline'larının Bezier eğrilerine benzer şekilde davrandığını gösterir.

3. Temel Sonuçlar: Açık B-Spline Eğrilerinde Frenet Çatısı

Teorem 3. \mathfrak{B} , kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n olan ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \cdots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \cdots = t_m$ olacak biçimde d. dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisi olsun. Bu taktirde

$$\mathfrak{B}(t_d) = b_0 \mathrm{ve}\mathfrak{B}(t_{m-d}) = b_n \mathrm{dir.}$$
(3)

İspat: (Marsh, 1999)

Teorem 4. \mathfrak{B} , kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n olan ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \dots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \dots = t_m$ olacak biçimde d. dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisi olsun. Bu taktirde

$$\mathfrak{B}'(t_d) = \frac{d}{t_{d+1} - t_1} (b_1 - b_0) \tag{4}$$

$$\mathfrak{B}'(t_{m-d}) = \frac{d}{t_{m-1} - t_{m-d-1}} (b_n - b_{n-1}) \tag{5}$$

dir.(Marsh, 1999)

Sonuç 1. \mathfrak{B} , kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n olan ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \cdots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \cdots = t_m$ olacak biçimde d. dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisi verilsin. Eğer $t_0 = t_1 = \cdots = t_d = 0$ ve $t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \cdots = t_m = 1$ bu taktirde

$$\mathfrak{B}'(0) = \frac{d}{t_{d+1}}(b_1 - b_0) \tag{6}$$

$$\mathfrak{B}'(1) = \frac{d}{1 - t_{m-d-1}} (b_n - b_{n-1}) \tag{7}$$

dir.

Teorem 5. \mathfrak{B} , kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n olan ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \dots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \dots = t_m$ olacak biçimde *d*. dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisi olsun. Bu taktirde

$$\mathfrak{B}''(t_d) = \frac{d(d-1)}{(t_{d+1}-t_2)(t_{d+2}-t_2)} (b_2 - b_1) - \frac{d(d-1)}{(t_{d+1}-t_2)(t_{d+1}-t_1)} (b_1 - b_0) \tag{8}$$

ve

$$\mathfrak{B}''(t_{m-d}) = \frac{d(d-1)}{(t_{m-2}-t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-1}-t_{m-d-1})} (b_n - b_{n-1}) - \frac{d(d-1)}{(t_{m-2}-t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-2}-t_{m-d-2})} (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})$$
(9)

dir.

Teorem 6. \mathfrak{B} , kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n olan ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \dots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \dots = t_m$ olacak biçimde d. dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisi olsun. Bu taktirde

$$\mathfrak{B}^{\prime\prime\prime}(t_{d}) = \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)(b_{3}-b_{2})}{(t_{d+1}-t_{3})(t_{d+2}-t_{3})(t_{d+3}-t_{3})} - \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)[t_{d+1}+t_{d+2}-t_{2}-t_{3}](b_{2}-b_{1})}{(t_{d+1}-t_{3})(t_{d+2}-t_{2})(t_{d+2}-t_{3})(t_{d+1}-t_{2})} + \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)(b_{1}-b_{0})}{(t_{d+1}-t_{3})(t_{d+1}-t_{2})(t_{d+1}-t_{1})}$$
(10)

ve

$$\mathfrak{B}^{\prime\prime\prime}(t_{m-d}) = \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)(b_n - b_{n-1})}{(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-2} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-1} - t_{m-d-1})} - \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)[t_{m-3} + t_{m-2} - t_{m-d-2} - t_{m-d-1}](b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})}{(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-2} - t_{m-d-2})(t_{m-2} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-2})} + \frac{d(d-1)(d-2)(b_{n-2} - b_{n-3})}{(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-2})(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-3})}$$
(11)

dir.

Teorem 7.Kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \dots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \dots = t_m$ olan *d*.nci dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisinin Frenet vektör alanları; t_d noktalarında;

 $t = t_d$ 'de

$$T|_{t=t_d} = \frac{b_1 - b_0}{\|b_1 - b_0\|}; \qquad B|_{t=t_d} = \frac{(b_1 - b_0) \times (b_2 - b_1)}{\|(b_1 - b_0) \times (b_2 - b_1)\|};$$
(12)

$$N|_{t=t_d} = \frac{(b_2 - b_1)\csc\Phi}{\|b_2 - b_1\|} - \frac{(b_1 - b_0)}{\|b_1 - b_0\|}\cot\Phi$$
(13)

$$\kappa|_{t=t_d} = \frac{(t_{d+1}-t_1)^2(d-1)}{d(t_{d+1}-t_2)(t_{d+2}-t_2)} \frac{\|b_2-b_1\|}{\|b_1-b_0\|^2} \sin\Phi$$
(14)

 $(\Phi: b_1 - b_0 \text{ ile } b_2 - b_1 \text{ arasındaki açıdır}).$

$$\tau|_{t=t_d} = \frac{(d-2)(t_{d+1}-t_1)(t_{d+1}-t_2)(t_{d+2}-t_2)}{d(t_{d+1}-t_3)(t_{d+2}-t_3)(t_{d+3}-t_3)} \frac{\|b_3-b_2\|\cos\varphi}{\|b_1-b_0\|\|b_2-b_1\|\sin\Phi}$$
(15)

Burada φ ; $[(b_1 - b_0) \times (b_2 - b_1)]$ vektörü ile $b_3 - b_2$ vektörleri arasındaki açıdır.

Teorem 4.7. Kontrol noktaları b_0, b_1, \dots, b_n ve knot vektörleri

 $t_0 = t_1 = \dots = t_d; t_{d+1}, t_{d+2}, \dots t_{m-d-1}; t_{m-d} = t_{m-d+1} = \dots = t_m$ oland.nci dereceden bir açık B-spline eğrisinin Frenet vektör alanları; $t = t_{m-d}$ noktalarında;

$$T|_{t=t_{m-d}} = \frac{b_n - b_{n-1}}{\|b_n - b_{n-1}\|}$$
(16)

$$B|_{t=t_{m-d}} = \frac{-(b_n - b_{n-1}) \times (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})}{\|(b_n - b_{n-1}) \times (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})\|}$$
(17)

$$N|_{t=t_{m-d}} = -\frac{b_{n-1}-b_{n-2}}{\|b_{n-1}-b_{n-2}\|}\csc\vartheta + \frac{b_n-b_{n-1}}{\|b_n-b_{n-1}\|}\cot\vartheta$$
(18)

dir. ϑ , $(b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})$ ile $(b_n - b_{n-1})$ vektörleri arasındaki açıdır.

$$\kappa|_{t=t_{m-d}} = \frac{d-1}{d} \frac{(t_{m-1}-t_{m-d-1})^2}{(t_{m-2}-t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-2}-t_{m-d-2})} \frac{\|b_{n-1}-b_{n-2}\|\sin\vartheta}{\|b_n-b_{n-1}\|^2}$$
(19)

$$\tau|_{t=t_{m-d}} = -\frac{(d-2)}{d} \frac{\|b_{n-2} - b_{n-3}\| \csc \phi}{\|(b_n - b_{n-1}) \times (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})\|(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-1})(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-2})(t_{m-3} - t_{m-d-3})}$$
(20)

Burada φ , $(b_n - b_{n-1}) \times (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2})$ vektörü ile $(b_{n-2} - b_{n-3})$ vektörleri arasındaki açıdır.

4. References

- Gray, A. 1998, Modern Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces with Mathematica, CRC Press LLC.
- Hoschek, J. 1992. Circular splines. Computer-Aided Design, 24(11), 611-618.
- Incesu, M., Gursoy, O. 2004, Bezier Yüzeylerinde Esas Formlar ve eğrilikler, XVII Ulusal Matematik Sempozyumu, Bolu,146-157.

- İncesu M., (2008), Bezier eğrileri, Bezier Yüzeyleri ve Sayısal Algoritmalar, Yük. Lis. Tezi, Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Trabzon.
- İncesu, M., Kiren, Z., Arslan, F. 2008, The Weingarten Transform on Bezier Surfaces, VI. Ulusal Geometri Sempozyumu, Uludağ Üniversitesi, Bursa.
- Juhász, I. 1999. Weight-based shape modification of NURBS curves. Computer Aided Geometric Design, 16(5), 377-383.
- Liu, L., Wang, G. 2002. Explicit atrix representation for NURBS curves and surfaces. *Compute rAided Geometric Design*, 19(6), 409-419.
- Marsh, D. 1999. Applied geometry for computer graphics and CAD, Springer- Verlag, London.
- Meek, D. S., ve Walton, D. J. 1993. Approximating quadratic NURBS curves byarc splines. *Computer-Aided Design*, 25(6), 371-376.
- Neamtu, M., Pottmann, H., and Schumaker, L.L. 1998. Designing NURBS cam profiles using trigonometric splines.
- Neill, B.O.1983, Semi-Riemannian Geometry with Applications to Relativity, Academic Press, New York.
- Piegl, L.A. ve Tiller, W. 1999. Computing off sets of NURBS curves and surfaces. *Computer-Aided Design*, 31(2), 147-156.
- Piegl, L. A. Ve Tiller, W. 2002. Biarc approximation of NURBS curves. *Computer-Aided Design*, 34(11), 807-814.
- Ravani, B., ve Ku, T.S. 1991. Bertrand off sets of ruled and developable surfaces. *Computer-Aided Design*, 23(2), 145-152.
- Samancı Kuşak, H. 2018 On Curvatures of The Timelike Rational Bezier Curves in Minkowski 3-Space, Bitlis Eren Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 7(2), 243-255.
- Samancı Kuşak, H. 2018 Introduction to Timelike Uniform B-Spline Curves in Minkowski 3-Space, Journal of Mathematical sciences and Modelling, 1(3), 206-210.
- Selimovic, I. 2006. Improved algorithms for the projection of points on NURBS curves and surfaces. *Computer Aided Geometric Design*, 23(5), 439-445.
- Smith, G., 1998, Introductory Mathematics: Algebra and Analysis. SpringerVerlag

Spivak, M, 1967 Calculus.New York: W.A. Benjamin.

- Tiller, W. 1992. Knot-removal algorithms for NURBS curves and surfaces. *Computer-Aided Design*, 24(8), 445-453.
- Yükselen, M.A, http://web.itu.edu.tr/~yukselen/HM504/02Ek%20Bezier%20e%F0rileri.pdf Erişim Tarihi: 06.02.2018

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen An investigation of exact traveling wave solutions of the nonlinear partial differential

equation arising in plasma physics using two different methods

Yeşim SAĞLAM ÖZKAN¹,

¹Mathematics, Bursa Uludağ University, Turkey, E-mail: ysaglam@uludag.edu.tr

Abstract

In this work, a variety of solitary wave solutions of the nonlinear partial differential equation arising in plasma physics with the help of two efficient and reliable methods is investigated. Many explicit wave solutions are found by using the analytical technique. These solutions consisting of trigonometric, hyperbolic and rational functions allow studying the physical properties of underlying model. Moreover, the graphical demonstrations for some of the obtained solutions are given.

1. Introduction

The third-order nonlinear partial differential equation (NLPDE) was introduced in [1] by Gilson and Pickering as

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} - \epsilon \frac{\partial^3 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2 \partial t} + 2k \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} - u(x,t) \frac{\partial^3 u(x,t)}{\partial x^3} - \alpha u(x,t) \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} - \beta \left(\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x}\right) \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} = 0, \tag{1}$$

where $\epsilon, \alpha, k, and\beta$ are non-zero real numbers. This equation considered is reduced to equations well known in the literature for specific values of the coefficients. For example; for $\epsilon = 1, \alpha = -3, \beta = 2$, Eq. (1) gives the Fuchssteiner-Fokas-Camassa-Holm equation, for $\epsilon = 0, \alpha = 1, k = 0$, and $\beta = 3$, Eq. (1) reduces to the Rosenau-Hyman equation (RH), for $\epsilon = 1, \alpha = -1, k = 0.5$, and $\beta = 3$, Eq. (1) gives the Fronberg-Whitham (FW). These equations arise at different levels of approximation in shallow water theory [2,3], in the study of the influence of nonlinear dispersion on the structure of patterns in liquid drops [4]. and analyzing the qualitative characteristics of wave breakage and admits a wave of the highest height [5,6,7], respectively.

qualitative characteristics of wave breakage and admits a wave of the highest height [5,6,7], respectively. the Gilson-Pickering equation has attracted the attention of researchers recently. Numerous studies have been done on this equation such as the anstaz method [9], the Bernoulli sub-equation model [11], the G'/G-expansion method to tanh, the coth, cot, and the logical forms under certain conditions [10], the G'/G-expansion method [8], a not a knot meshless method [12], and the symmetry method [13].

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen 2. Description of $exp(-w(\zeta))$ -expansion method

In this section, the basic steps of the method to be applied will be given. Let us consider the following partial differential equation

$$Q(u, u_t, u_x, u_{tt}, u_{tt}, \dots) = 0,$$
(2)

where Q is a polynomial in u(x, t) and its derivatives in which higher order derivatives and nonlinear terms are involved. In virtue of the traveling wave transformation $u = u(\zeta), \zeta = x - ct$, where c is a constant to be determined later, we can reduce (2) to an ordinary differential equation (ode)

$$P(u, u', u'', ...) = 0, (3)$$

where (.)' = $\frac{d}{d\zeta}$ (.). Assume that the solutions of (3) are given as follows

$$u = a_0 + a_1 exp(-w(\zeta)) + \dots + a_n (exp(-w(\zeta)))^n,$$
(4)

where n is determined by balancing principle and $w = w(\zeta)$ satisfies the following ode

$$w'(\zeta) = \exp(-w(\zeta)) + \mu \exp(w(\zeta)) + \lambda.$$
(5)

Equation (5) has the following analytical solutions:

Case 1:
$$\mu \neq 0, \lambda^2 - \mu > 0, w_1(\zeta) = ln\left(\frac{-\lambda - \sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu tanh\left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu}}{2}\zeta\right)}}{2\mu}\right),$$

Case 2: $\mu \neq 0, \lambda^2 - \mu < 0, w_2(\zeta) = ln\left(\frac{-\lambda + \sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu tan\left(\frac{\sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}}{2}\zeta\right)}}{2\mu}\right),$
Case 3: $\mu \neq 0, \lambda^2 - \mu = 0, w_3(\zeta) = ln\left(-\frac{2\lambda\zeta + 4}{\lambda^2\zeta}\right),$
Case 4: $\lambda \neq 0, \mu = 0, w_4(\zeta) = -ln\left(\frac{\lambda}{exp(\lambda\zeta) - 1}\right),$
Case 5: $\mu = 0, \lambda = 0, w_5(\zeta) = ln(\zeta).$

Here, for simplicity, in $w_i(\zeta), 1 \le i \le 5$, we have replaced all of $\zeta + \zeta_0$ with ζ since (5) is an autonomous ode. Plugging (4) along with (5) into (3) gives a polynomial in $exp(-w(\zeta))$. Setting each coefficient of this polynomial to zero, a set of algebraic equations in terms of $a_0, a_1, ..., a_n, c, \lambda, \mu$ is obtained. With the

help of computer programming, the system of algebraic equations can be solved and later substituting these results and analytical solutions $w_1(\zeta), \ldots, w_5(\zeta)$ into (4) give solutions of (3).

3. Description of the modified auxiliary equation (MAE) method

The basics for the MAE method is given in this section. Consider the partial differential equation given in (2) and ordinary differential equation given in (3). To obtain the solution of Eq. (3) via the MAE method, the general solution has the form:

$$u(\zeta) = a_0 + \sum_{j=1}^N a_j K^{jf(\zeta)} + \sum_{j=1}^N b_j K^{-jf(\zeta)} ,$$
(6)

where a_i, K, b_i are constants to be determined and $f(\zeta)$ satisfy the following auxiliary equation

$$f'(\zeta) = \frac{1}{\ln K} \Big(A K^{(-f(\zeta))} + B + C K^{(f(\zeta))} \Big),$$
(7)

where A, B, C are parameters to be determined and $K > 0, K \neq 1$. Here, homogenous balance principle will be used to find the integer N. Plugging Eq. (6) along with Eq. (7) into Eq. (3) and summing all the terms of the same power $K^{jf(\zeta)}$ where j=-N,...,N and equating them to zero, we obtain a system of algebraic equations. This system can be solved to achieve the values of a_i, b_i and A, B, C. Using these values and the solutions of Eq. (6) with Eq. (3), the exact solutions of Eq. (2) can be obtained. The solution of Eq. (7) subject to the couple of cases is given as:

If $B^2 - 4AC < 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$K^{f(\zeta)} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{-B + \sqrt{4AC - B^2} tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4AC - B^2}\zeta\right)}{C},$$
or
(8)

$$K^{f(\zeta)} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{B + \sqrt{4AC - B^2} \cot\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4AC - B^2}\zeta\right)}{C}.$$
(9)

If $B^2 - 4AC > 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$K^{f(\zeta)} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{-B + \sqrt{-4AC + B^2} tanh(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-4AC + B^2}\zeta)}{C}$$
(10)
or

$$K^{f(\zeta)} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{B + \sqrt{-4AC + B^2} \coth\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-4AC + B^2}\zeta\right)}{C}.$$
(11)

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey

This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen

If
$$B^2 - 4AC > 0$$
 and $C \neq 0$, then

$$K^{f(\zeta)} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{2 + B\zeta}{C\zeta}.$$
(12)

4. Application of $exp(-w(\zeta))$ -expansion method

Consider the Gilson-Pickering equation

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} - \epsilon \frac{\partial^3 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2 \partial t} + 2k \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} - u(x,t) \frac{\partial^3 u(x,t)}{\partial x^3} - \alpha u(x,t) \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x} - \beta \left(\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial x}\right) \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} = 0, \tag{13}$$

where ϵ, α, k and β are nonzero real numbers. We use $u = V(\zeta), \zeta = x - ht$, we can convert (13) into an ode.

$$(2k - h)V' + \epsilon hV'' - VV' - \beta V'V' - \alpha VV' = 0,$$
(14)

where ϵ, α, k and β are nonzero constants and the prime denotes the derivative with respect to ζ . Now integrating (14) and assuming that the integration constant to be zero, we obtain,

$$(2k-h)V + (\epsilon h - V)V'' + \frac{1}{2}(1-\beta)(V')^2 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha V^2 = 0.$$
(15)

Using homogenous principle, balancing V'' and V^2 we have 2m=m+2, m=2. So, the trial solution of Eq. (15) can be stated as,

$$V(\zeta) = A + A_1 exp(-w(\zeta)) + A_2 (exp(-w(\zeta)))^2,$$
(16)

where $A_2 \neq 0, A_1, A$ are constants. Putting V, V', V'', V^2 in (15) and comparing, we get,

$$\begin{aligned} -8A_{2}^{2} - 4\beta A_{2}^{2} &= 0, \\ -4AA_{2}\mu^{2} + 2\epsilon hA_{1}\mu\lambda - \beta\mu^{2}A_{1}^{2} + 4kA + \mu^{2}A_{1}^{2} - \alpha A^{2} - 2hA + 4\epsilon hA_{2}\mu^{2} - 2AA_{1}\mu\lambda &= 0, \\ 8\beta\mu\lambda A_{1}A_{2} - 6AA_{1}\lambda - 2A_{1}^{2}\mu - 2\beta\mu A_{1}^{2} - 4\beta\mu^{2}A_{2}^{2} + 4kA_{2} - \beta\lambda^{2}A_{1}^{2} - 6A_{1}A_{2}\mu\lambda + 8\epsilon hA_{2}\lambda^{2} \\ &+ 6\epsilon hA_{1}\lambda - 16AA_{2}\mu - 8AA_{2}\lambda^{2} + 16\epsilon hA_{2}\mu - 2\alpha AA_{2} - \lambda^{2}A_{1}^{2} - \alpha A_{1}^{2} - 2hA_{2} = 0, \\ -8A_{2}^{2}\mu - 3A_{1}^{2} - 12AA_{2} - 4A_{2}^{2}\lambda^{2} - 8\beta\lambda A_{1}A_{2} - \alpha A_{2}^{2} + 12\epsilon hA_{2} - \betaA_{1}^{2} - 4\beta\lambda^{2}A_{2}^{2} - 8\beta\mu A_{2}^{2} - 18A_{1}A_{2}\lambda = 0, \\ 20\epsilon hA_{2}\lambda - 12A_{1}A_{2}\mu - 4A_{2}^{2}\mu\lambda - 8\beta\mu\lambda A_{2}^{2} + 4\epsilon hA_{1} - 4AA_{1} - 8\beta\mu A_{1}A_{2} - 20AA_{2}\lambda - 4\beta\lambda^{2}A_{1}A_{2} \\ -6A_{1}A_{2}\lambda^{2} - 2\beta\lambda A_{1}^{2} - 2\alpha A_{1}A_{2} - 4A_{1}^{2}\lambda = 0, \\ -4\beta A_{1}A_{2} - 8\beta\lambda A_{2}^{2} - 12A_{1}A_{2} - 12A_{2}^{2}\lambda = 0, \\ -4AA_{1}\mu - 4\beta\mu^{2}A_{1}A_{2} - 2AA_{1}\lambda^{2} - 2hA_{1} + 2\epsilon hA_{1}\lambda^{2} - 12AA_{2}\mu\lambda - 2\beta\mu\lambda A_{1}^{2} + 4kA_{1} + 4\epsilon hA_{1}\mu \\ -2\alpha AA_{1} + 12\epsilon hA_{2}\mu\lambda = 0. \end{aligned}$$

By solving the algebraic equations with the help of Maple, we obtain two sets of coefficients for the solutions of (15).

Set 1: {
$$\mu = \mu, \alpha = \alpha, \beta = -2, \epsilon = -\frac{(32\mu^2 + 4\alpha\mu - 16\mu\lambda^2 + 2\lambda^4 - \alpha^2 - \alpha\lambda^2)A_1}{12\alpha h\lambda}, A_2 = \frac{A_1}{\lambda}, A_3 = \frac{A_2}{\lambda}$$

$$A = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{A_1(-2\alpha\mu - \alpha\lambda^2 - 8\mu\lambda^2 + \lambda^4 + 16\mu^2)}{\alpha\lambda}, \\ k = -\frac{1}{24} \frac{16\mu^2 A_1 + 4\alpha\mu A_1 - 8A_1\mu\lambda^2 - \alpha A_1\lambda^2 + A_1\lambda^4 - 12h\lambda}{\lambda}.$$

For Set 1, we obtained the desired solutions as

Case 1: $\mu \neq 0, \lambda^2 - \mu > 0,$

$$u_{1.1}(x,t) = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{A_1(-2\alpha\mu - \alpha\lambda^2 - 8\mu\lambda^2 + \lambda^4 + 16\mu^2)}{\alpha\lambda} + 2 \frac{A_1\mu}{-\lambda - \sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu}\zeta\right)} + 4 \frac{\mu^2 A_1}{\lambda\left(-\lambda - \sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)^2}$$
where $\zeta = x - ht$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 2: $\mu \neq 0$, $\lambda^2 - \mu < 0$,

$$u_{1,2}(x,t) = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{A_1(-2\alpha\mu - \alpha\lambda^2 - 8\mu\lambda^2 + \lambda^4 + 16\mu^2)}{\alpha\lambda} + 2\frac{A_1\mu}{-\lambda + \sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}\zeta\right)} + 4\frac{\mu^2A_1}{\lambda\left(-\lambda + \sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)^2},$$
where $\zeta = x - ht$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 3: $\mu \neq 0$, $\lambda^2 - \mu = 0$,

$$u_{1,3}(x,t) = \frac{A_1\lambda}{(\lambda\zeta+2)^2},$$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 4:
$$\lambda \neq 0, \mu = 0$$
,
 $u_{1.4}(x,t) = 1/6 \frac{A_1 \lambda (\alpha e^{2\lambda\zeta} - \lambda^2 e^{2\lambda\zeta} + 4\alpha e^{\lambda\zeta} + 2\lambda^2 e^{\lambda\zeta} + \alpha - \lambda^2)}{\alpha (e^{\lambda\zeta} - 1)^2},$

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey

This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Set 2:
$$A = 12 \frac{\epsilon h \mu}{\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu}$$
, $A_1 = 12 \frac{\epsilon h \lambda}{\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu}$, $A_2 = 12 \frac{h \epsilon}{\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu}$, $k = \frac{1}{2}h(4\epsilon\mu + 1 - \epsilon\lambda^2)$, $\beta = -2$.

For Set 2, we obtain solutions of (15) as follows:

Case 1: $\mu \neq 0, \lambda^2 - \mu > 0,$

$$u_{2.1}(x,t) = 12 \frac{\epsilon h \mu}{\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu} + 24 \frac{\epsilon h \lambda \mu}{\left(\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu\right) \left(-\lambda - \sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)} + 48 \frac{\epsilon h \mu^2}{\left(\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu\right) \left(-\lambda - \sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda^2 - 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)^{2'}}$$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 2: $\mu \neq 0$, $\lambda^2 - \mu < 0$,

$$u_{2,2}(x,t) = 12 \frac{\epsilon h \mu}{\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu} + 24 \frac{\epsilon h \lambda \mu}{\left(\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu\right) \left(-\lambda + \sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu} tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)} + 48 \frac{\epsilon h \mu^2}{\left(\alpha - \lambda^2 + 4\mu\right) \left(-\lambda + \sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu} tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-\lambda^2 + 4\mu}\zeta\right)\right)^2},$$
where $\zeta = x - ht$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 3: $\mu \neq 0$, $\lambda^2 - \mu = 0$,

 $u_{2,3}(x,t) = 3\frac{\epsilon h\lambda^2}{\alpha} - 12\frac{\epsilon h\lambda^3 \zeta}{\alpha(2\lambda\zeta + 4)} + 12\frac{\epsilon h\lambda^4 \zeta^2}{\alpha(2\lambda\zeta + 4)^2},$ where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 4: $\lambda \neq 0$, $\mu = 0$,

$$u_{2.4}(x,t) = 12 \frac{\epsilon h \lambda^2 e^{\lambda \zeta}}{(\alpha - \lambda^2)(e^{\lambda \zeta} - 1)^2},$$

where $\zeta = x - ht$.

Case 5: $\mu = 0, \lambda = 0$,

 $u_{2.5}(x,t) = 12 \frac{\epsilon h}{\alpha (x-ht)^2}.$

5. Application of the modified auxiliary equation method

We consider following reduced equation:

$$(2k-h)V + (\epsilon h - V)V'' + \frac{1}{2}(1-\beta)(V')^2 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha V^2 = 0.$$
(18)

Using homogenous principle, balancing V'' and V^2 we have 2N=N+2, N=2. So, the trial solution of Eq.

(18) can be stated as,

$$V(\zeta) = a_0 + K^{f(\zeta)}a_1 + K^{2f(\zeta)}a_2 + K^{-f(\zeta)}b_1 + K^{-2f(\zeta)}b_2,$$
(19)

Plugging Eq. (19) into Eq. (18) and picking all terms with the same powers of $K^{f(\zeta)}$ and equalizing to zero all the coefficients of $K^{f(\zeta)}$, the following algebraic equations are obtained:

$$\begin{array}{l} -4\beta A^{2}b_{1}b_{2}-8\beta ABb_{2}{}^{2}-12b_{2}{}^{2}AB-12b_{1}b_{2}A^{2}=0\\ -8b_{2}{}^{2}AC-\beta A^{2}b_{1}{}^{2}-4b_{2}{}^{2}B^{2}-3b_{1}{}^{2}A^{2}-8\beta ACb_{2}{}^{2}-4\beta B^{2}b_{2}{}^{2}-\alpha b_{2}{}^{2}\\ -18b_{1}b_{2}AB-8\beta ABb_{1}b_{2}-12a_{0}b_{2}A^{2}+12\epsilon hb_{2}A^{2}=0\\ -12a_{2}{}^{2}CB-8\beta BCa_{2}{}^{2}-4\beta C^{2}a_{1}a_{2}-12a_{1}a_{2}C^{2}=0\\ \hline\end{array}$$

After solving these algebraic equations, the following solutions are obtained:

Case 1:

$$\{A = \frac{a_0 C}{a_2}, B = B, C = C, a_0 = a_0, a_1 = \frac{a_2 B}{C}, a_2 = a_2, b_1 = 0, b_2 = 0, h = h, \\ \alpha = \frac{-8a_0 a_2 C^2 B^2 + a_2^2 B^4 + 16a_0^2 C^4 - 24ka_2 C^2 + 12a_2 C^2 h}{(-4a_0 C^2 + a_2 B^2)a_2}, \beta = -2, \epsilon = \frac{a_2 (-2k + h)}{h(-4a_0 C^2 + a_2 B^2)}.\}$$
If $B^2 - 4AC < 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$V_{1}(\zeta) = a_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \left(-B + \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} tan \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \zeta \right) \right) a_{2}BC^{-2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(-B + \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} tan \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \zeta \right) \right)^{2} a_{2}C^{-2},$$
or
$$(20)$$

$$V_{2}(\zeta) = a_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \left(B + \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \cot\left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \zeta\right) \right) a_{2}BC^{-2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(B + \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \cot\left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} - B^{2}} \zeta\right) \right)^{2} a_{2}C^{-2}.$$

$$(21)$$

If $B^2 - 4AC > 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$V_{3}(\zeta) = a_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \left(-B + \sqrt{-4\frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-4\frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}}\zeta\right) \right) a_{2}BC^{-2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(-B + \sqrt{-4\frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-4\frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}}\zeta\right) \right)^{2} a_{2}C^{-2},$$

$$(22)$$

or

$$V_{4}(\zeta) = a_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \left(B + \sqrt{-4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} coth \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} \zeta \right) \right) a_{2}BC^{-2} + \frac{1}{4} \left(B + \sqrt{-4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} coth \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-4 \frac{a_{0}C^{2}}{a_{2}} + B^{2}} \zeta \right) \right)^{2} a_{2}C^{-2}.$$

$$(23)$$

If $B^2 - 4AC = 0$, then

$4^{\text{th}} \text{ INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS}$ "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen $V_5(\zeta) = -\frac{-a_0 C^2 \zeta^2 - 2a_0 C^2 \zeta^3 \sqrt{AC} - C^3 \zeta^4 A a_0 - 2a_2 \sqrt{AC} \zeta + 2a_2 A C \sqrt{AC} \zeta^3 + C^2 \zeta^4 A^2 a_2 - a_2}{C^2 \zeta^2 (1 + \sqrt{AC} \zeta)^2}.$ (24)

Case 2:

$$\{A = \frac{1}{2} \frac{b_1 B^3}{2b_1 CB + h - 2k}, B = B, C = C, a_0 = 2 \frac{2b_1 CB + h - 2k}{B^2}, a_1 = 2 \frac{C(2b_1 CB + h - 2k)}{B^3}, b_1 = h, \alpha = -\frac{(6b_1 CB + h - 2k)B^2}{2b_1 CB + h - 2k}, \beta = -3, \epsilon = \frac{2b_1 CB + h - 2k}{B^2 h}, a_2 = 0, b_1 = b_1, b_2 = 0.\}$$

If $B^2 - 4AC < 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$V_{6}(\zeta) = \left(-B + \sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)\frac{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}{B^{3}} + \frac{2(2b_{1}CB + h - 2k)}{B^{2}} + 2b_{1}C\left(-B + \sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)^{-1},$$
or
$$(25)$$

$$V_{7}(\zeta) = -\left(B + \sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\cot\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)\frac{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}{B^{3}} + \frac{2(2b_{1}CB + h - 2k)}{B^{2}} - 2b_{1}C\left(B + \sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\cot\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} - B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)^{-1}.$$
(26)

If $B^2 - 4AC > 0$ and $C \neq 0$, then

$$V_{8}(\zeta) = \left(-B + \sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)\frac{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}{B^{3}} + \frac{2(2b_{1}CB + h - 2k)}{B^{2}} + 2b_{1}C\left(-B + \sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)^{-1},$$
Or
$$(27)$$

$$V_{9}(\zeta) = -\left(B + \sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2} coth\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)\frac{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}{B^{3}} + \frac{2(2b_{1}CB + h - 2k)}{B^{2}} - 2b_{1}C\left(B + \sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2} coth\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-2\frac{b_{1}B^{3}C}{2b_{1}CB + h - 2k}} + B^{2}\zeta\right)\right)^{-1}.$$
(28)

6. Conclusion

A direct and systematic solution procedure for constructing traveling wave solutions to nonlinear partial differential equations is proposed. The presented method is oriented towards the ease of use and capability of computer algebra systems, allowing us to carry out the involved computations conveniently through powerful computer algebra systems. We construct several new solutions. We have obtained periodic, hyperbolic, rational and exponential solutions, and some of them are physically meaningful. Moreover, we got 3D graphic representations. We hope that the results found will serve as a guide for further studies.





Fig. 3: Profile of $u_{1.3}$ for, $A_1 = 2, h = 1.1, \lambda = 2,$



Fig. 4: Profile of $u_{1.4}$ for, $A_1 = 5, \mu = 0, \alpha = 1, \beta = 4, h = 1, \epsilon = 3, \lambda = 1.5,$



Fig. 5: Profile of $u_{2,1}$ for, $\epsilon = 3, \mu = .1, \alpha = 4, \lambda = 3, h = 3,$



Fig. 6: Profile of $u_{2,2}$ for , $\mu = .1, \alpha = 2, \lambda = -1, h = 1, \epsilon = 2,$



Fig. 7: Profile of $u_{2,3}$ for, $h=1, \mu=1, \alpha=2, \lambda=2, \epsilon=4,$



Fig. 8: Profile of $u_{2.4}$ for , $\alpha = .2, \lambda = .5, h = 1, \epsilon = .1, \mu = 0,$



 $\epsilon = 3, \alpha = 4, a_2 = 5, a_1 = 1, a_0 = 1, h = 4,$



Fig. 9: Profile of V_1 for, A = 4, B = 1, C = 2, Fig. 10: Profile of V_2 for, A = 4, B = 1, C = 2, $\epsilon = 3, \alpha = 4, a_2 = 5, a_1 = 1, a_0 = 1, h = 4,$

7. References

[1] Gilson, C., & Pickering, A. (1995). Factorization and Painlevé analysis of a class of nonlinear thirdorder partial differential equations. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 28(10), 2871.

[2] Camassa, R., & Holm, D. D. (1993). An integrable shallow water equation with peaked solitons. Physical review letters, 71(11), 1661.

[3] Fuchssteiner, B., & Fokas, A. S. (1981). Symplectic structures, their Bäcklund transformations and hereditary symmetries. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 4(1), 47-66.

[4] Rosenau, P., & Hyman, J. M. (1993). Compactons: solitons with finite wavelength. Physical Review Letters, 70(5), 564.

[5]Fornberg, B., & Whitham, G. B. (1978). A numerical and theoretical study of certain nonlinear wave phenomena. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 289(1361), 373-404.

[6] Whitham, G. B. (1967). Variational methods and applications to water waves. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 299(1456), 6-25.

[7] Whitham, G. B. (2011). Linear and nonlinear waves (Vol. 42). John Wiley & Sons.

[8] Ebadi, G., Kara, A. H., Petković, M. D., & Biswas, A. (2011). Soliton solutions and conservation laws of the Gilson–Pickering equation. Waves in Random and Complex Media, 21(2), 378-385.

[9] Aslan, İ. (2011). Exact and explicit solutions to nonlinear evolution equations using the division theorem. Applied mathematics and computation, 217(20), 8134-8139.

[10] Fan, X., Yang, S., & Zhao, D. (2009). Travelling wave solutions for the Gilson-Pickering equation by using the simplified G/G-expansion method. Int. J. Nonlinear Sci, 8, 368-373.

[11] Baskonus, H. M. (2019). Complex soliton solutions to the Gilson–Pickering model. Axioms, 8(1), 18. [12] Zabihi, F., & Saffarian, M. (2018). A not-a-knot meshless method with radial basis functions for numerical solutions of Gilson–Pickering equation. Engineering with Computers, 34(1), 37-44.

[13] Singla, K., & Gupta, R. K. (2016). On invariant analysis of some time fractional nonlinear systems of partial differential equations. I. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 57(10), 101504.

Applications of a Pascal distribution series on the certain subclasses of analytic functions

Hasan Bayram¹, Sibel Yalçın¹

¹Mathematics, Bursa Uludag University, Turkey, E-mail(s): hbayram@uludag.edu.tr, syalcin@uludag.edu.tr

Abstract

In the present paper, we consider a generalized distribution with the Pascal model defined by

$$P(\mathcal{X}=j) = {\binom{j+t-1}{t-1}} p^{j} (1-p)^{t}, \quad j \in \{0,1,2,3,\dots\}$$

for the analytic function classes $D(\lambda, \alpha)$ and $S^*C(\alpha, \delta; \lambda)$. Furthermore, we derive some conditions for functions in these classes.

Keywords: Analytic functions, univalent functions, the Pascal distribution.

1. Introduction

The Poisson distribution is one of the most well-utilized discrete distributions in multivariate data research fields. However, nowadays, the elementary distributions such as the Poisson, the Pascal, the Logarithmic, the Binomial have been partially studied in the Geometric Function Theory from a theoretical point of view (see [2], [3], [4], [5], [6], [7], [8], [9]).

Let us consider a non-negative discrete random variable \mathcal{X} with a Pascal probability generating function

$$P(\mathcal{X}=j) = {j+t-1 \choose t-1} p^j (1-p)^t, \quad j \in \{0,1,2,3,\dots\}$$

 \sim

where *p*, *t* are called the parameters.

Let A represent the class of functions f of the form

$$f(z) = z + \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} a_j z^j,$$
 (1)

which are analytic in the open unit disk

$$\mathbb{U} = \{z : z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } |z| < 1\}$$

Let *S* be the subclass of *A* consisting of functions which are univalent in \mathbb{U} .

2. Main Results

We will give some definitions and lemmas from [1] and [10].

2.1 Definition. A function $f \in A$ is said to be in the class $S^*C(\alpha, \delta; \lambda)$ if it satisfies the following condition

$$Re\left\{\frac{zf'(z) + (1+2\lambda)z^2f''(z) + \lambda z^3f'''(z)}{(1-\lambda)f(z) + \lambda zf'(z)}\right\} > \alpha$$
$$z \in \mathbb{U} [1].$$

where $0 \le \alpha < 1, 0 \le \lambda, z \in \mathbb{U}[1]$

2.2 Definition. A function $f \in A$ is said to be in the class $S^*C(\alpha, \delta; \lambda)$ if it satisfies the following condition

$$Re\left\{\frac{zf'(z) + \lambda z^2 f''(z)}{\lambda z(f'(z) + \delta z f''(z)) + (1 - \lambda)(\delta z f'(z) + (1 - \delta)f(z))}\right\} > \alpha$$
 where $0 \le \alpha, \lambda < 1, 0 \le \delta \le 1, z \in \mathbb{U}$ [10].

We recall here the following proved lemmas.

2.3 Lemma. Let
$$f \in A$$
 be of the form (1), then $f \in D(\lambda, \alpha)$, if

$$\sum_{j=2}^{\infty} (j\lambda - \lambda + 1)(j^2 - \alpha) |a_j| \le 1 - \alpha.$$
(2)
Moreover, Alterates proved that

Moreover, Altıntaş proved that

2.4 Lemma. Let $f \in A$ be of the form (1), then $f \in S^*C(\alpha, \delta; \lambda)$, if

$$\sum_{j=2} (j\lambda - \lambda + 1)[j - \alpha - (j - 1)\alpha\delta] |a_j| \le 1 - \alpha.$$
(3)

Now, based upon the Pascal distribution, consider the following power series:

$$K(t,p,z) = z + \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {j+t-2 \choose t-1} p^{j-1} (1-p)^t z^j \qquad (t \ge 1, 0 \le p \le 1, z \in \mathbb{U}).$$
(4)

Note that, by using ratio test we conclude that the radius of convergence of the above power series is infinity.

By considering above definition and lemmas, we have the following sufficient conditions for the function K.

2.5 Theorem. A sufficient condition for the function K given by (4) to be in the class $D(\lambda, \alpha)$ is

$$\frac{\lambda t(t+1)(t+2)p^3}{(1-p)^3} + \frac{(1+5\lambda)t(t+1)p^2}{(1-p)^2} + \frac{(3-\alpha\lambda+4\lambda)tp}{1-p} + (1-\alpha) - (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t$$

$$\leq 1-\alpha \quad , 0 \leq p < 1 \tag{5}$$

Proof. According to Lemma 2.3, we must show that

$$\sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {j+t-2 \choose t-1} (j^2 - \alpha) (1 - \lambda + j\lambda) p^{j-1} (1-p)^t \le 1 - \alpha.$$

Therefore, by combining the relation (4) and the implication (5), we have the equality

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} (j^2 - \alpha) &(1 - \lambda + j\lambda)p^{j-1}(1-p)^t \\ = \lambda(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} (j-1)(j-2)(j-3)p^{j-1} \\ &+ (1+5\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} (j-1)(j-2)p^{j-1} \\ &+ (3 - \alpha\lambda + 4\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} (j-1)p^{j-1} \\ &+ (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} p^{j-1} \\ = \lambda(1-p)^t \sum_{j=4}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} t(t+1)(t+2)p^{j-4}p^3 \\ &+ (1+5\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} t(t+1)p^{j-2}p \\ &+ (3 - \alpha\lambda + 4\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} tp^{j-2}p \\ &+ (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} p^{j-1} \\ = \lambda t(t+1)(t+2)p^3(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} p^{j-1} \\ &= \lambda t(t+1)(t+2)p^3(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t+2}{t+2}} p^j \\ &+ (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1}} p^j - (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \\ &= \frac{\lambda t(t+1)(t+2)p^3}{(1-p)^t} + \frac{(1+5\lambda)t(t+1)p^2}{(1-p)^2} + \frac{(3 - \alpha\lambda + 4\lambda)tp}{1-p} \\ &= \frac{\lambda t(t+1)(t+2)p^3}{(1-p)^t} - (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \leq 1-\alpha \end{split}$$

Thus the proof of Theorem 2.5 is now completed.

2.6 Theorem. A sufficient condition for the function K given by (4) to be in the class $S^*C(\alpha, \delta; \lambda)$ is $\lambda(1-\alpha\delta)t(t+1)p^2 \qquad (1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)tn$

$$\frac{\pi(1-\alpha b)t(t+1)p}{(1-p)^2} + \frac{(1-\alpha b+[2-(1+b)\alpha]\pi)tp}{1-p} + (1-\alpha) - (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \le 1-\alpha$$
(6)
where $0 \le p < 1$.

Proof. According to Lemma 2.4, we must show that \sum_{∞}^{∞}

$$\sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {j+t-2 \choose t-1} (j\lambda - \lambda + 1)[j-\alpha - (j-1)\alpha\delta] p^{j-1} (1-p)^t \le 1-\alpha.$$

From the relation (4) and the implication (6), we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} (j\lambda-\lambda+1)[j-\alpha-(j-1)\alpha\delta] p^{j-1}(1-p)^t} \\ &= \lambda(1-\alpha\delta)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} (j-1)(j-2)p^{j-1}} \\ &+ (1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} (j-1)p^{j-1}} \\ &+ (1-\alpha)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} p^{j-1}} \\ &= \lambda(1-\alpha\delta)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=3}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} t(t+1)p^{j-3}p^2} \\ &+ (1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)(1-p)^t \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t-2}{t-1} tp^{j-2}p} \\ &+ (1-\alpha\delta)t(t+1)p^2(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t+1}{t-1} p^j} \\ &= \lambda(1-\alpha\delta)t(t+1)p^2(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t+1}{t+1} p^j} \\ &+ (1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)tp(1-p)^t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} {\binom{j+t+1}{t-1} p^j} \\ &+ (1-\alpha\delta)t(t+1)p^2 + \frac{(1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)tp}{1-p} \\ &= \frac{\lambda(1-\alpha\delta)t(t+1)p^2}{(1-p)^2} + \frac{(1-\alpha\delta+[2-(1+\delta)\alpha]\lambda)tp}{1-p} \end{split}$$

and this completes the proof of Theorem 2.6.

5. References

[1] Altıntaş O., Özkan Ö, Srivastava HM. Neighborhoods of a class of analytic functions with negative coefficients. Appl. Math. Lett. 2000; 13: 63-67.

[2] Altınkaya Ş, Yalçın S. Poisson distribution series for certain subclasses of starlike functions with negative coefficients. Annals of Oradea University Mathematics Fascicola 2017; 24 (2): 5-8.

[3] Altınkaya Ş., Yalçın S., Poisson distribution series for analytic univalent functions, Complex Analysis and Operator Theory, 12 (5) (2018) 1315-1319.

[4] Çakmak S., Yalçın S., Altınkaya Ş., Some connections between various classes of analytic functions associated with the power series distribution, Sakarya University Journal of Science, 23 (5) (2019) 982-985.

[5] Çakmak S., Yalçın S., Altınkaya Ş., An application of the distribution series for certain analytic function classes, Surveys in Mathematics and its Applications, 15, 225-331, 2020.

[6] S. M. El-Deeb, T. Bulboaca, J. Dziok, Pascal distribution series connected with certain subclasses of univalent functions, Kyungpook Math. J. 59 (2019) 301-314

[7] Porwal S. An application of a Poisson distribution series on certain analytic functions. J. Complex Anal. 2014; 2014: 1-3, Article ID 984135.

[8] Porwal S., Altınkaya Ş., Yalçın S., The Poisson distribution series of general sublasses of univalent functions, Acta Universitatis Apulensis, 58 (2019) 45-52.

[9] Nazeer W, Mehmood Q, Kang SM, Haq AU. An application of Binomial distribution series on certain analytic functions. Journal of Computational Analysis and Applications 2019; 26 (1): 11-17.

[10] Mustafa N., Characteristic Properties of the New Subclasses of Analytic Functions. Dokuz Eylul University-Faculty of Engineering Journal of Science and Engineering (2017); 19(55): 247-257.

Applications of Almost Increasing Sequences to Infinite Series

Hikmet Seyhan Özarslan¹, Mehmet Öner Şakar², Bağdagül Kartal³

^{1,2,3}Mathematics, Erciyes University, Turkey, E-mail(s): seyhan@erciyes.edu.tr, mehmethaydaroner@hotmail.com, bagdagulkartal@erciyes.edu.tr

Abstract

In the present paper, two theorems on $|A, p_n|_k$ summability of infinite series, which generalize the theorems on absolute Riesz summability method, are obtained.

Keywords: Absolute matrix summability, almost increasing sequences, infinite series, Hölder's inequality, Minkowski's inequality.

1. Introduction

A positive sequence (b_n) is said to be almost increasing if there exist a positive increasing sequence (c_n) and two positive constants K and M such that $Kc_n \le b_n \le Mc_n$ (see [1]). Obviously, every increasing sequence is almost increasing, but the converse need not be true as can be seen from the example $b_n = ne^{(-1)^n}$. Let $\sum a_n$ be an infinite series with its partial sums (s_n) . Let (p_n) be a sequence of positive numbers such that

$$P_n = \sum_{\nu=0}^n p_{\nu} \to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty, \ (P_{-i} = p_{-i} = 0, i \ge 1)$$

Let $A = (a_{nv})$ be a normal matrix, i.e., a lower triangular matrix of non-zero diagonal entries. Then A defines the sequence-to sequence transformation, mapping the sequence $s = (s_n)$ to $As = (A_n(s))$, where

$$A_n(s) = \sum_{\nu=0}^n a_{n\nu} s_{\nu}, \qquad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

The series $\sum a_n$ is said to be summable $|A, p_n|_k$, $k \ge 1$, if (see [11])

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} |A_n(s) - A_{n-1}(s)|^k < \infty.$$

If we take $a_{nv} = \frac{p_v}{P_n}$, then we get $|\bar{N}, p_n|_k$ summability method (see [2]).

Given a normal matrix $A = (a_{nv})$, two lower semimatrices $\overline{A} = (\overline{a}_{nv})$ and $\hat{A} = (\hat{a}_{nv})$ are defined as follows:

$$\overline{a}_{nv} = \sum_{i=v}^{n} a_{ni}, \ n, v = 0, 1, \dots$$
(1)

$$\hat{a}_{00} = \overline{a}_{00} = a_{00}, \ \hat{a}_{nv} = \overline{a}_{nv} - \overline{a}_{n-1,v}, \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$
(2)

and

$$A_{n}(s) = \sum_{\nu=0}^{n} a_{n\nu} s_{\nu} = \sum_{\nu=0}^{n} \overline{a}_{n\nu} a_{\nu}$$
(3)
$$\overline{A}_{n}(s) = \sum_{\nu=0}^{n} a_{n\nu} s_{\nu} = \sum_{\nu=0}^{n} \overline{a}_{n\nu} a_{\nu}$$
(3)

$$\overline{\Delta} A_n(s) = \sum_{\nu=0} \hat{a}_{n\nu} a_{\nu} \,. \tag{4}$$

2. Known Results

In [3], Mazhar has proved the following two theorems dealing with $|\overline{N}, p_n|_k$ summability factors of infinite series via almost increasing sequences.

Theorem 2.1. Let (X_n) be an almost increasing sequence, and let there be sequences (β_n) and (λ_n) such that

$$\left|\Delta\lambda_{n}\right| \leq \beta_{n},\tag{5}$$

$$\beta_n \to 0 \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$
 (6)

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \left| \Delta \beta_n \right| X_n < \infty, \tag{7}$$

$$|\lambda_n| X_n = O(1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$
(8)

If

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \frac{|s_{\nu}|^{k}}{\nu} = O(X_{n}) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$
(9)

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \frac{p_{\nu}}{P_{\nu}} |s_{\nu}|^{k} = O(X_{n}) \quad as \quad n \to \infty,$$
(10)

then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $|\overline{N}, p_n|_k, k \ge 1$.

Theorem 2.2. Let (X_n) be an almost increasing sequence, and let the sequences (β_n) and (λ_n) satisfy the conditions (5)-(8) and (10). If the conditions

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P_n \left| \Delta \beta_n \right| X_n < \infty, \tag{11}$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{|s_n|^k}{P_n} = O(X_m) \quad as \quad m \to \infty$$
(12)

are satisfied, then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $|\overline{N}, p_n|_k, k \ge 1$.

3. Main Results

One can find some different applications dealing with absolute matrix summability of infinite series (see [4-10]). The aim of this paper is to generalize Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 2.2 for $|A, p_n|_k$ summability method.

Theorem 3.1. Let $A = (a_m)$ be a positive normal matrix such that

$$\overline{a}_{n0} = 1$$
, $n = 0, 1, ...,$ (13)

$$a_{n-1,\nu} \ge a_{n\nu} \text{ for } n \ge \nu + 1, \tag{14}$$

$$a_{nn} = O\left(\frac{p_n}{P_n}\right). \tag{15}$$

If all conditions of Theorem 2.1 are satisfied, then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $|A, p_n|_k, k \ge 1$.

Theorem 3.2. Let $A = (a_{nv})$ be a positive normal matrix as in Theorem 3.1. If all conditions of Theorem 2.2 are satisfied, then the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$ is summable $|A, p_n|_k, k \ge 1$.

We need the following lemmas for the proofs of Theorem 3.1 and Theorem 3.2.

Lemma 3.1 ([3]). Let (X_n) be an almost increasing sequence. If conditions (6) and (7) are satisfied, then

$$nX_n\beta_n = O(1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty, \tag{16}$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n \beta_n < \infty.$$
(17)

Lemma 3.2 ([3]). Let (X_n) be an almost increasing sequence. If conditions (6) and (11) are satisfied, then

$$P_n X_n \beta_n = O(1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty, \tag{18}$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} p_n X_n \beta_n < \infty.$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

4. Proof of Theorem 3.1

Let (Υ_n) denotes A -transform of the series $\sum a_n \lambda_n$. Then, by (3) and (4), we have $\overline{\Delta}\Upsilon_n = \sum_{v=1}^{n} \hat{a}_{nv} \lambda_v a_v$. By Abel's transformation, we have $\overline{\Delta}\Upsilon_n = \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \Delta_{\nu} \left(\hat{a}_{n\nu} \lambda_{\nu} \right) \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} a_k + \hat{a}_{nn} \lambda_n \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} a_{\nu}$ $=\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1}(\hat{a}_{n\nu}\lambda_{\nu}-\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\lambda_{\nu+1}) s_{\nu}+\hat{a}_{nn}\lambda_{n}s_{n}$ $=\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1}(\hat{a}_{n\nu}\lambda_{\nu}-\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\lambda_{\nu+1}-\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\lambda_{\nu}+\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\lambda_{\nu})\ s_{\nu}+a_{nn}\lambda_{n}s_{n}$ $=\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1}\Delta_{\nu}\left(\hat{a}_{n\nu}\right)\lambda_{\nu}s_{\nu}+\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1}\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\Delta\lambda_{\nu}s_{\nu}+a_{nn}\lambda_{n}s_{n}=\Upsilon_{n,1}+\Upsilon_{n,2}+\Upsilon_{n,3}.$

To prove Theorem 3.1, by Minkowski's inequality, it is sufficient to show that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,r}\right|^k < \infty \quad for \quad r = 1, 2, 3.$$

First, applying Hölder's inequality with indices k and k', where k > 1 and $\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{k'} = 1$, we get

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left| \Upsilon_{n,1} \right|^k \leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} |\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})| |\lambda_{\nu}| |s_{\nu}|\right)^k \leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} |\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})| |\lambda_{\nu}|^k |s_{\nu}|^k\right) \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} |\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})|\right)^{k-1}.$$

$$\Delta_{\mu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu}) = \hat{a}_{n\nu} - \hat{a}_{n\nu+1} = \overline{a}_{n\nu} - \overline{a}_{n\nu+1} + \overline{a}_{n\nu+1} = a_{n\nu} - a_{n\nu+1}.$$
(20)

Here

$$\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu}) = \hat{a}_{n\nu} - \hat{a}_{n,\nu+1} = \overline{a}_{n\nu} - \overline{a}_{n-1,\nu} - \overline{a}_{n,\nu+1} + \overline{a}_{n-1,\nu+1} = a_{n\nu} - a_{n-1,\nu}$$
(20)

by (2) and (1). Then,

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} |\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})| = \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} (a_{n-1,\nu} - a_{n\nu}) = \sum_{\nu=0}^{n-1} a_{n-1,\nu} - a_{n-1,0} - \sum_{\nu=0}^{n} a_{n\nu} + a_{n0} + a_{nn} = \overline{a}_{n-1,0} - \overline{a}_{n0} - \overline{a}_{n0} + a_{n0} + a_{nn} \le a_$$

by (14), (1) and (13). Thus, we have

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left| \Upsilon_{n,1} \right|^k = O(1) \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n} a_{nn}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k\right) = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|\lambda_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left|\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})\right| \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right|^k \left|s_{\nu}\right$$

Now, by (20) and (14), we get $\sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} |\Delta_{\nu}(\hat{a}_{n\nu})| \le a_{\nu\nu}$. Then, using (15) and (8), we have

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left| \Upsilon_{n,1} \right|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \frac{P_{\nu}}{P_{\nu}} |\lambda_{\nu}| |\lambda_{\nu}|^{k-1} |s_{\nu}|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \frac{P_{\nu}}{P_{\nu}} |\lambda_{\nu}| |s_{\nu}|^k.$$

By using Abel's transformation, and using the conditions (5), (10), (17) and (8), we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \big| \Upsilon_{n,1} \big|^k &= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \Delta \big| \lambda_\nu \big| \sum_{r=1}^{\nu} \frac{P_r}{P_r} \big| s_r \big|^k + O(1) \big| \lambda_m \big| \sum_{r=1}^{m} \frac{P_r}{P_r} \big| s_r \big|^k \\ &= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \beta_\nu X_\nu + O(1) \big| \lambda_m \big| X_m = O(1) \text{ as } m \to \infty. \end{split}$$

Again, applying Hölder's inequality with the same indices as those above, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,2}\right|^k &\leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} |\Delta \lambda_{\nu}| |\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}| |s_{\nu}|\right)^k \\ &\leq \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \beta_{\nu} |\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}| |s_{\nu}|^k\right) \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \beta_{\nu} |\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}|\right)^{k-1}. \end{split}$$

By using the conditions (2), (1), (14), we have

$$|\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}| = \overline{a}_{n,\nu+1} - \overline{a}_{n-1,\nu+1} = \sum_{i=\nu+1}^{n} a_{ni} - \sum_{i=\nu+1}^{n-1} a_{n-1,i} = a_{nn} + \sum_{i=\nu+1}^{n-1} (a_{ni} - a_{n-1,i}) \le a_{nn}.$$

Thus, using (15) and (17), we have

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} |\Upsilon_{n,2}|^k = O(1) \sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n} a_{nn}\right)^{k-1} \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \beta_{\nu} \left| \hat{a}_{n,\nu+1} \right| \left| s_{\nu} \right|^k\right) \left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \beta_{\nu} \right)^{k-1} \\ = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \beta_{\nu} \left| s_{\nu} \right|^k \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left| \hat{a}_{n,\nu+1} \right|.$$

By (2), (1), (13) and (14), we obtain

$$\left|\hat{a}_{n,\nu+1}\right| = \sum_{i=0}^{\nu} (a_{n-1,i} - a_{ni}).$$

Thus, using (1) and (13), we have

$$\sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \left| \hat{a}_{n,\nu+1} \right| = \sum_{n=\nu+1}^{m+1} \sum_{i=0}^{\nu} \left(a_{n-1,i} - a_{ni} \right) \le 1.$$

Then, we get

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} |\Upsilon_{n,2}|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \beta_{\nu} |s_{\nu}|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m (\nu \beta_{\nu}) \frac{|s_{\nu}|^k}{\nu}.$$

Here, using Abel's transformation, and using the conditions (9), (7), (17) and (16), we obtain

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} |\Upsilon_{n,2}|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \Delta(\nu\beta_{\nu}) \sum_{r=1}^{\nu} \frac{|s_r|^k}{r} + O(1) m\beta_m \sum_{r=1}^m \frac{|s_r|^k}{r}$$
$$= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \nu |\Delta\beta_{\nu}| X_{\nu} + O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \beta_{\nu+1} X_{\nu+1} + O(1) m\beta_m X_m = O(1) \text{ as } m \to \infty.$$

Finally, using (15) and (8), we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,3}\right|^k = \sum_{n=1}^{m} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} a_{nn}^k \left|\lambda_n\right|^k \left|s_n\right|^k = O(1) \sum_{n=1}^{m} \frac{P_n}{P_n} \left|\lambda_n\right| \left|s_n\right|^k.$$

Then, as in $\Upsilon_{n,1}$, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{m} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,3}\right|^k = O(1) \quad as \quad m \to \infty.$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.

5. Proof of Theorem 3.2

Since the proof of Theorem 3.2 for r = 1 and r = 3 is the same, let us prove

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,r}\right|^k < \infty \quad for \ r=2.$$

As in the proof of Theorem 3.1, we obtain

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,2}\right|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m \beta_{\nu} |s_{\nu}|^k$$

Then,

$$\sum_{n=2}^{m+1} \left(\frac{P_n}{p_n}\right)^{k-1} \left|\Upsilon_{n,2}\right|^k = O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^m P_\nu \beta_\nu \frac{|s_\nu|^k}{P_\nu}$$
$$= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} \Delta(P_\nu \beta_\nu) \sum_{r=1}^\nu \frac{|s_r|^k}{P_r} + O(1) P_m \beta_m \sum_{r=1}^m \frac{|s_r|^k}{P_r}$$
$$= O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} P_\nu |\Delta\beta_\nu| X_\nu + O(1) \sum_{\nu=1}^{m-1} p_{\nu+1} \beta_{\nu+1} X_{\nu+1} + O(1) P_m \beta_m X_m = O(1) \text{ as } m \to \infty,$$

by using (12), (11), (19) and (18).

If we take $a_{nv} = \frac{p_v}{P_n}$ in Theorem 3.1 and Theorem 3.2, then we get Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 2.2.

References

[1] N. K. Bari and S. B. Stečkin, Best approximations and differential properties of two conjugate functions, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč. 5 (1956), 483-522.

[2] H. Bor, On two summability methods, Math. Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 97(1) (1985), 147-149.

[3] S. M. Mazhar, A note on absolute summability factors, Bull. Inst. Math. Acad. Sinica 25(3) (1997), 233-242.

[4] H. S. Özarslan, A note on $|A, p_n|_k$ summability factors, Antarct. J. Math. 7 (2010), 23-30.

[5] H. S. Özarslan, A new application of almost increasing sequences, Miskolc Math. Notes 14(1) (2013), 201-208.

[6] H. S. Özarslan, A new application of absolute matrix summability, C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. 68(8) (2015), 967-972.

[7] H. S. Özarslan, A new factor theorem for absolute matrix summability, Quaest. Math. 42(6) (2019), 803-809.

[8] H. S. Özarslan, An application of absolute matrix summability using almost increasing and δ -quasi-monotone sequences, Kyungpook Math. J. 59(2) (2019), 233-240.

[9] H. S. Özarslan and H. N. Öğdük, On absolute matrix summability methods, Math. Commun. 12(2) (2007), 213-220.

[10] H. S. Özarslan and M. Ö. Şakar, A new application of absolute matrix summability, Math. Sci. Appl. E-Notes 3(1) (2015), 36-43.

[11] W. T. Sulaiman, Inclusion theorems for absolute matrix summability methods of an infinite series. IV, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 34(11) (2003), 1547-1557.

Arithmetic Development in Problem-Solving Among Primary and Secondary School Age Children

Birgul Damla BABER ELBISTAN¹

¹Social Science, The University of Göttingen, Germany, E-mail: birgueldamla.baber@stud.uni-goettingen.de

Abstract

Basic arithmetics skills, which are necessary for mathematical problem-solving, are expected to develop faster after starting school. These basic skills help to improve the level of mathematical operations during the classes. When this development is insufficient, there may occur learning difficulties in mathematics or dyscalculia. This research has been conducted to examine these basic calculating skills in problem situations from a developmental perspective. The Cognitive Developmental aRithmetics (CDR) tests, was used for this aim. These tests have 3 different levels based on the grade level. In this research, the problems section in the tests was compared in terms of different grade levels. For this purpose, the CDR1 test was applied to the 2nd and 3rd grade, the CDR2 test to the 4th and 5th grade, and the CDR3 test to the 6th and 7th-grade levels. There are 1203 participants in total. In the statistical analysis, a significant difference was found regarding the classes in the CDR1 test concerning the development of arithmetics in short problem situations. There is not any significant difference in other grade levels for CDR2 and CDR3.

Keywords: arithmetic development, problem-solving, mathematics, calculating skills

1. Introduction

It is important to plan activities that form the basis of mathematical thinking and have a very important effect on the development of mathematics success and arithmetic skills in the following years, including problem situations in which counting will be used [1]. In order to develop calculating skills, starting from the preschool period, it is aimed to develop skills such as verbal counting, recognition, mental calculation, and problem-solving [2]. Students' meaningful learning is closely related to their ability to apply knowledge in different environments, to establish relationships between concepts, to associate conceptual and operational knowledge, to establish relationships between learning areas, and to transform knowledge into various forms of representation [3]. In cases where meaningful learning is not achieved, students cannot go beyond the patterns they memorize. Soylu and Soylu [4] attributed the students to fail in problem-solving requiring operational

and conceptual knowledge and learning difficulties which has the main reason for the students' inability to learn meaningfully the concepts of addition, subtraction, and multiplication with learning processes based on rote. Knowing that numbers represent multiplicities and deciding what to do accordingly, students become able to do basic operations consciously by controlling certain dimensions of their thinking processes. In the study conducted by Olkun et al. [1] on the acquisition of counting principles starting in pre-school, the development of students' skills related to the concept of numbers was examined and it was found that all skills developed with age. For example, Okamato et al.[6], who developed the scale that measures the size comparison between numbers and calculating skills of kindergarten students, applied this scale to children at the end of the first grade, and found the correlation between the tests strong and significant. Various studies have determined that children who do not develop the concept of the number will have difficulties in certain areas of mathematics (arithmetic operations, flexible mental calculations, prediction skills, etc.) and their academic success will be significantly affected [7]. Because students who lack basic calculating skills cannot be successful problem solvers, and those who fail to solve problems cannot be successful problem-makers [4]. Considering that the basis of problem-solving is basic calculating skills and calculation ability, it is necessary to determine in advance the slowness or difficulties in the development of these skills. Calculation difficulty in arithmetics has been found to be the result of a neurological condition that is either innate or subsequently developed in the brain by researchers [8]. It would be wrong to expect students with these situations to be at the same level as their peers in mathematics class. The difficulty or deficiency in calculating skills is also a sign of mathematics learning difficulties [9]. The results in the achievement and intelligence tests are not sufficient to conclude that the student has difficulty in mathematics [10]. Therefore, this study was carried out to determine the developmental differences in problem-solving that require the use of four basic operations and at the same time to determine whether problem-solving were made whether consciously or unconsciously. For this aim, The Cognitive Developmental aRithmetics test (CDR) [11] which is developed for the assessment of arithmetics, was used.

Materials and Participants

A total of 1203 students from different public schools participated in this study. There are 334 students from the 2nd and 3rd grades, 411 from the 4th and 5th grades, and 458 from the 6th and 7th grades. The tests applied at three different levels based on the grades.

In the CDR tests, it is aimed to measure the use of four basic operations (addition, subtraction, multiplication, division) and cognitive sub-skills related to them. In the problems section of CDR tests, there are 2 parts and 20 questions in total. In the first part of the problems (P1), the students were asked 10 questions such that they could reach a result by doing only one of the four basic operations. In the second part of the problems (P2), the students were given extra information and 10 problem situations were asked to measure their attention whether they did the problem consciously or unconsciously.

Results

P1 Section

CDR1 test, P1 part's t-test results are shown in Table1 (t = 3.27 and P <.05). A statistically significant difference was found between the mean at the second grade (M = 5.71 SD = 2.98) and the third grade level (M = 6.75 SD = 3.35). Third graders were 10% more successful than the second graders regarding the mean.

Table 1

	suns of me	0211110011				
	Ν	Х	SS	Sd	t	р
2. grade	162	5.71	2.98	332	3.27	.001
3. grade	172	6.75	3.35			

t-test results of the CDR1 test in P1

According to Table2 in which P1 part's t-test results (t = 0.65 p > .05) of the CDR2 test, are given. There is not any significant differences between the fourth grade (M = 6.63 SD = 2.37) and the fifth grade levels results (M = 6.80 SD = 2.82).

Table2

t-test results of the CDR2 Test in P1

	Ν	Х	SS	Sd	t	р
4. grade	222	6.63	2.37	409	.65	.51
5. grade	189	6.80	2.82			

P1 t-test results (t = .20 p>.05) of the CDR3 test are given at the Table3 and according to the results there is not any significant difference between two grades regarding the mean.

Table 3

t-test results of the CDR2 Test in P1

	Ν	Х	SS	Sd	t	р
6. grade	234	6.85	2.34	456	.20	.83
7. grade	224	6.89	2.55			

Problems P2 Section

According to Table4 just like in the P1 t-test results, P2 t-test (t = 0.20; p> .05) results have a significant difference between the mean of the second grades (M = 5.71 SD = 2.98) and the third grades (M= 6.75; SD = 3.35). The percentage of correct answers in both grades is 57% in the second grade and 67% in the third grade.

Table 4

t-test results of the CDR1 Test in P2

		N	X	SS	Sd	t	р
2. grad	e	162	5.71	2.98	332	3.27	.001
3. grad	e	172	6.75	3.35			

In the Table 5 in which the P2 part t-test results (t = 0.67; p> .05) are given, no statistically significant difference was found between the fourth (M = 4.65; SD = 3.03) and the fifth grades (M = 4.77; SD =2.97) regarding the means.

Table 5

t-test results of the CDR2 Test in P2

• •												
	"An Istan	bul Meetii	ng for Wo	orld M	athemat	icians"						
	27-3	30 Octobe	r 2020, Is	tanbul	, Turkey	7						
This con	nference is	dedicated	to 67 th bi	rthday	of Prof	: M. M	ursaleen	l				
Ν	Х	SS	Sd	t	р							
222	4.65	3.03	409	.67	.41							
189	4.77	2.97										
	This con N 222 189	"An Istan 27-: This conference is N X 222 4.65 189 4.77	"An Istanbul Meetin 27-30 OctoberThis conference is dedicatedNXSS2224.653.031894.772.97	<th and="" column="" contribution="" of="" of<="" td="" the=""><td><th colsectio<="" td=""><td><th column="" formation="" formation<="" of="" td="" the=""><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td></th></td></th></td></th>	<td><th colsectio<="" td=""><td><th column="" formation="" formation<="" of="" td="" the=""><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td></th></td></th></td>	<th colsectio<="" td=""><td><th column="" formation="" formation<="" of="" td="" the=""><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td></th></td></th>	<td><th column="" formation="" formation<="" of="" td="" the=""><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td></th></td>	<th column="" formation="" formation<="" of="" td="" the=""><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td><td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td></th>	<td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td> <td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td> <td>"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97</td>	"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians"27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97	"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97	"An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, TurkeyThis conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. MursaleenNXSSSdt2224.653.03409.67.411894.772.97

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS

The t-test results (t = 1.63; p> .05) for the CDR3 test P2 is presented in Table 6 and there was not found any statistically significant difference between the sixth grade (M = 4.72 and SD = 2.70) and the seventh grade results (M= 5.14 and SD = 2.87).

Table 6

t-test Results of the CDR3 Test in P2

	Ν	Х	SS	Sd	t	р
6. grade	234	4.72	2.70	456	1.63	.10
7. grade	224	5.14	2.87			

Conclusion

Basic calculating skills are very important for the development of arithmetic success during academic life and so on. This development's first steps start at a primary school. Based on the results in this research, at 2nd and 3rd-grade students have significant differences regarding the mean. One of the reasons for this result can be the slower arithmetic development in the early grades compared to others. The results of the other grades demonstrate there are not any significant differences regarding the means. Therefore, it can be said that the development of calculating skills becomes faster after learning the basic four operations (addition, subtraction, division, and multiplication) in primary school. Based on the results in this research, the P1 parts, ' mean was significantly higher for all students, but this means decreased significantly in problem P2 where extra information was given. Most of the students used the extra information in the solution, and this situation affected the result of the total mean. This indicates that meaningfully learning, and the ability to use arithmetic to consciously solving problems is weaker just as the Floyd et al.'s [5] research; where the students performed more memorization on basic calculating skills, and in problem situations, there were no significant differences between a primary school student and a secondary school student regarding strategies used. Considering the differences in

the mean between the grades, it indicates there is a significant difference between the 2nd and 3rd grades of the primary school where arithmetic is started and that these skills are developing. At other grade levels, it is seen that the mean of two grades in which a test is applied are close to each other. Accordingly, these comparisons are useful at the individual level, concerning showing students who are behind their peers or their grade level in arithmetic terms. It cannot be expected for students with these situations to have the same level of success in math as their peers. In cases where calculation skills cannot be provided, problems will arise especially in mental or estimation calculations. Such inadequacies and problem situations are considered under the name of calculation difficulties. The difficulty or deficiency in calculating skills is also a sign of mathematics learning difficulties (Jordan, 2007). Therefore, these tests which are applied at three different levels were important to identify students who have calculating difficulties regarding problem-solving or who are cognitively behind their peers by solving short problems that require basic four operations.

References

[3] Akkan, Yaşar, Adnan Baki, and ÜNAL ÇAKIROĞLU. "5-8. grade öğrencilerinin aritmetikten cebire geçiş süreçlerinin problem çözme bağlamında incelenmesi." *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi* 2012.43 (2012): 1-13.

[2] Griffin, Sharon. "The development of math competence in the preschool and early school years: Cognitive foundations and instructional strategies." *Mathematical cognition* (2002): 1-32.

[1] Olkun, Sinan, Esra Fidan, and Ayşe Babacan Özer. "5-7 yaş aralığındaki çocuklarda sayı kavramının gelişimi ve saymanın problem çözmede kullanımı." *Eğitim ve Bilim* 38.169 (2013).

[4] Soylu, Yasin, and Cevat Soylu. "Matematik derslerinde başariya giden yolda problem çözmenin rolü." *İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi* 7.11 (2006): 97-111.

[5] Floyd, Randy G., Jeffrey J. Evans, and KEVIN S. McGREW. "Relations between measures of Cattell-Horn-Carroll (CHC) cognitive abilities and mathematics achievement across the school-age years." *Psychology in the Schools* 40.2 (2003): 155-171.

[6] Case, Robbie, et al. "The role of central conceptual structures in the development of children's thought." *Monographs of the society for research in child development* (1996): i-295.

[7] Lee, Dianne, and N. E. Papillion. "The Implications of Number Sense on the Mastery of Addition and Subtraction Concepts." *Department of Mathematics* 48 (2011).

[8] Ardila, Alfredo, and Mónica Rosselli. "Acalculia and dyscalculia." *Neuropsychology review* 12.4 (2002): 179-231.

[9] Jordan, Nancy C. "Do words count? Connections between mathematics and reading difficulties." (2007).

[10] DURMUŞ, Soner. "Matematikte öğrenme güçlüğü gösteren öğrencilere yönelik öğretim yaklaşımları." *Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi* 13 (2007): 76-83.

[11] Desoete, Annemie, and Herbert Roeyers. "Metacognitive macroevaluations in mathematical problem solving." *Learning and Instruction* 16.1 (2006): 12-25.

ASYMPTOTIC FORMULA OF EIGENVALUES AND EIGENFUNCTIONS OF A BOUNDARY VALUE PROBLEM

Khanlar R. Mamedov¹, Gülseren Eroğlu², Ulviye Demirbilek³

^{1,2,3}Mathematics, Mersin University, Turkey, E-mail(s): hanlar@mersin.edu.tr , glsrn_3306@hotmail.com, udemirbilek@mersin.edu.tr

Abstract

In this work, we consider a Sturm-Liouville problem with spectral parameter on boundary condition. We investigate spectral properties of eigenvalue and eigenfunction for the problem where the potential q(x) is a real valued function. With the help of the properties, asymptotic formula is obtained for the problem.

Keywords: Eigenvalue, eigenfunction, spectral parameter, asymptotic formula.

1. Introduction

We consider the following boundary value problem with a spectral parameter in the equation and the boundary conditions:

$$-u'' + q(x)u = \lambda^2 u, \qquad 0 < x < 1, \tag{1}$$

$$(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \lambda + \alpha_2 \lambda^2) u(0) + u'(0) = 0,$$
(2)

$$(\beta_0 + \beta_1 \lambda) u(1) + u'(1) = 0.$$
(3)

Here λ is spectral parameter, $q(x) \ge 0$ C [0,1] is a real valued function, α_i and β_i are real constants (i = 0,1,2) and satisfy $\alpha_2 > 0$, $\alpha_0 < 0$, $\beta_0 > 0$, $\beta_1 < 0$.

In recent years, in many fields of physical interpretation of mathematics, Sturm-Liouville problems involving spectral parameters at the boundary have been encountered. The spectral properties of the Sturm-Liouville equation generated by the boundary condition are investigated by many researchers. These types of the problems were studied in [1-13]. The boundary value problem under boundary conditions that do not include the spectral parameter in the linear state is discussed in [11]. However, unlike this thesis, no conditions are placed in α_1 and β_1 constants.

Problems with similar situations were studied in [3], [4], [15]. However, there is an essential difference between the problem. Namely, $\alpha_1 = 0$ and $\beta_1 = 0$ are accepted by authors. Thus, the boundary conditions are transformed into linear form. Different from other works, the boundary conditions include λ and λ^2 in this paper. Therefore, it provides the opportunity to comment on the second order operators. A.G. Kostyuchenko and A.A. Shkalikov's work is an example of this [14].

2. Some Properties of the Eigenvalues and Eigenfunctions of the Boundary Value Problems (1)-(3)

In this study, we examined the spectral properties of the eigenvalues of the (1) -(3) boundary value problem. Important main results for the eigenvalues of the problem which is the basic structure of this study are obtained as follows:

Lemma 1. All eigenvalues of the boundary value problem (1)-(3) are real.

Proof. Let $u(x, \lambda)$ be an eigenfunction of the boundary problem (1)-(3) which correspond to the eigenvalue λ . Multiply both sides of (1)-(3) by $\overline{u(x,\lambda)}$ and integrate the result with respect to x from 0 to 1 and using the boundary conditions (2)-(3), the conclusion gives us quadratic equation depends on λ . From the existence of real roots, Lemma is proved.

The other lemma is obtained as a result of the Lemma 1.

Lemma 2. All eigenvalues of the boundary value problem (1)-(3) are simple.

The following oscillatory theorem proves existence of a countable set of eigenvalues of the boundary value problem (1)-(3).

Lemma 3. Suppose that u(x) is a solution of the equation

$$u'' + g(x)u = 0, (4)$$

with the initial value problem

$$u(0) = 1, \quad u'(0) = -\alpha_0 - \alpha_1 \lambda_1 - \alpha_2 {\lambda_1}^2, \tag{5}$$

and

$$v'' + h(x)v = 0, (6)$$

$$v(0) = 1, \quad v'(0) = -\alpha_0 - \alpha_1 \lambda_2 - \alpha_2 {\lambda_2}^2, \tag{7}$$

v(x) is a solution to the initial value problem (6)-(7). Moreover, assume that g(x) < h(x) and 0 < x < 1.

If it is $\lambda_2 > \lambda_1 > \max\{0, -\frac{\alpha_1}{2\alpha_2}\}$ or $\lambda_2 < \lambda_1 < \min\{0, -\frac{\alpha_1}{2\alpha_2}\}$, then when u(x) has m zeros then v(x) has at least m zeros in in this interval. Additionally *kth* zero of v(x) is less than *kth* zero of u(x).

Theorem1. (Oscillation Theorem) There are an unboundedly decreasing sequence of negative eigenvalues $\{\lambda_{-n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ and an unboundedly increasing sequence of positive eigenvalues $\{\lambda_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$

$$\dots \lambda_{-n} < \lambda_{-n+1} \dots < \lambda_{-2} < \lambda_{-1} < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < \dots < \lambda_{n-1} < \lambda_n \dots$$
$$\dots \lambda_{-n} < \lambda_{-n+1} \dots < \lambda_{-2} < \lambda_{-1} < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < \dots < \lambda_{n-1} < \lambda_n \dots$$

Moreover, there exist numbers $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and k^* , $k^* \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Then, for eigenvalues λ_{-n} $(n \ge n^*)$ and λ_n $(n \ge n^*)$ have zeros respectively $(n+k^*-n^*)$ and $(n+k^*-n^*)$ in (0,1).

5. References

[1] Walter, J., Regular eigenvalue problems with eigenvalue parameter in the boundary condition. *Math. Z.,Bd.* (1973), 133, (4), 301-302.

[2] Schneider, A., A note on eigenvalue problems, with eigenvalue parameter in the boundary condition. *Math. Z., Bd.* (1974),136, (2), 163-167.

[3] Fulton, C.T., Two-point boundary value problems with eigenvalue parameter contained in the boundary condition. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* (1977), 77,293-308.

[4] Hinton, D.B., An expansion theorem for an eigenvalue problem with eigenvalue parameter in the boundary condition. *Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser.* (2) (1979), 30, (2), 33-42.

[5] Russakovskii, E.M., An operatör interpretation of boundary value problem with a polynomial spectral parameter in the boundary condition. *Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen.* (1975), 9, (4), 91-92.

[6] Shkalikov, A.A., Boundary value problem for ordinary differential equations with a parameter in the boundary condition. *Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen* (1982),16, No.4, 92-93.

[7] Shkalikov, A.A., Boundary value problem for ordinary differantial equations with a parameter in the boundary condition. *Trudy Sem. Petrovsk* (1983), (9), 190-229.

[8] Makhmudov, A.P., Nonlinear perturbations of regular specktral problems with a parameter in the boundary condition and completeness of their eigenfunctions. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* (1984) 277, (6), 1318-1323.

[9] Kerimov N.B.; Allakhverdiev, T.I., On a certain boundary value problem.I. *Differentsial'nye Ukravneniya* (1993), 29, (1), 54-60.

[10] Kerimov N.B.; Allakhverdiev, T.I., On a certain boundary value problem.II. *Differentsial'nye Ukravneniya* (1993), 29, (6), 952-960.

[11] Binding, P.A.; Browne, P.J.; Seddighi, K., Sturm-Liouville problems with eigenparameter dependent boundary conditions. *Proc. Edinburg Math. Soc.* (2) (1994), 37, (1), 57-72.

[12] Mamedov, Kh. R. 'On One Bounday Value Problem with Parameter in the Boundary Conditions, Spectral Theory of Operators and its Applications, v11, (1997)

[13] Kerimov N.B, Mamedov Kh.R, 'On a Boundary Problem with a Spectral Parameter in the Boundary Conditions', Sib. Math. Jour., 40, no2, (1999).

[14] Kostyuchenko, A.G.; Shkalikov, A.A., On the theory of selfadjoint quadratic operatör pencils. *Vestnik Moskov. Univ. Ser. I Math. Mekh* (1983), 38, (6), 40-50.

[15] Levitan, B.M.; Sargsyan, I.S., An Introduction to Spectral Theory. Selfadjoint Ordinary Differential Operators [in Russian].; Nakua, Moscow, 1970.

BAYESIAN TWO-STAGE DESIGNS WITH FREQUENTIST TEST IN EXPERIMENTAL TRIALS

Ahlam Labdaoui¹

¹Laboratory of Applied Mathematics and Modeling, Department of Mathematics, University Constantine1 25000 Constantine, Algeria,

E-mail: ¹ahlem_stat@live.fr

Abstract

Prediction provides discipline and pragmatic importance to empirical research. The design with the predictive probability approach provides an excellent alternative for conducting multi-stage phase II trials; it is efficient and flexible and possesses desirable statistical properties. In this paper we consider the Bayesian predictive procedures within the experimental design, for this, we define indices of satisfaction related to a test as a decreasing function of the p-value and satisfaction is higher than the null hypothesis is rejected wider. This design possesses good frequentist properties and allows early termination of the trial. We treated our applications in experimental planning and sequential designs with binary outcomes.

Keywords: Bayesian approach, Prediction, Binomial model, interim monitoring

1. Introduction

A major strength of the Bayesian paradigm is the ease with which one can make predictions about future observations. The predictive idea is central in experimental investigations. Furthermore Bayesian predictive probabilities are efficient tools for designing and monitoring experiments. Bayesian predictive procedures give the applied researcher a very appealing method to evaluate the chances that an experiment will end up showing a conclusive result, or on the contrary a non-conclusive result. These procedures are far more intuitive and much closer to the thinking of scientists than frequentist procedures [1].

Experimental (or interventional) studies, as the name implies, these are studies in which the participants undergo some kind of intervention in order to evaluate its impact. An intervention could include a medical or surgical intervention, a new drug, or an intervention to change lifestyle. Because they are the most methodologically rigorous design, experiments are the default choice for providing evidence for best practice in patient management, so this discussion will begin with them. The experimental researcher has control over the intervention, its timing, and dose or intensity. In its simplest form, an experimental study to test the effect of a treatment requires that the researcher formally states the hypothesis to be tested where he must selects people eligible for the treatment, in which the sample is divided into two groups and each group (the experimental, or intervention group) is given the intervention while the other (the control group)

is not, and the outcomes of interest are recorded over time, and the results compared between the two groups [2].

Prediction models will become more relevant in the medical field with the increase in knowledge on potential predictors of outcome, e.g. from genetics. Also, the number of applications will increase, e.g. with targeted early detection of disease, and individualized approaches to diagnostic testing and treatment. The current era of evidence-based medicine asks for an individualized approach to medical decision-making. Evidence-based medicine has a central place for meta-analysis to summarize results from randomized controlled trials; similarly prediction models may summarize the effects of predictors to provide individualized predictions of a diagnostic or prognostic outcome [3].

In this paper we consider the Bayesian predictive procedures within the experimental design, for this, we define a hypothesis is defined indices of satisfaction and anticipation of satisfaction related to a test as a decreasing function of the p-value, satisfaction is higher than the null hypothesis is rejected wider, that is to say, the p-value is small. We consider the case of a two-step procedure, which is often done in the case of experimental trials where these satisfaction indices are interesting protocols and when the inference concerns an effect evaluated from the future sample. We treated our applications in experimental planning and sequential designs with binary outcomes. The computations and the simulation results concern an inferential problem are given by software: Matlab and R.

2. STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY

2.1. Experimental designs

2.1.1. Bayesian predictive design

We use the Bayesian framework as a tool to design clinical trials with desirable frequentist properties. Taking the Bayesian approach, we derive an efficient and flexible design. Statistical methodology has already been used. Remember that, the Bayesian model was introduced in the context of [4] and after improved in [5, 6, and 7].

We specify the experimental context by choosing $(P_{\theta})_{\theta \in \Theta}$ a family of probability observations on a space

 Ω and where Θ is the space of unknown parameters and is to test the null hypothesis Θ_0 against the alternative hypothesis Θ_1 . In classical asymmetric design test problems, such a situation is generally in the experimenter, a desire to put in evidence a significant result, that is to say, to conclude the rejection of the null hypothesis.

- Step 1: If $p_{\theta} < \theta_L$, stop the trial and reject the alternative hypothesis;
- Step 2: If $p_{\theta} < \theta_{U}$, stop the trial and reject the null hypothesis;
- Step 3: Otherwise continue to the next stage until reaching the number maximum of patients.

Typically, we choose θ_L as a small positive number and θ_U as a large positive number, both between 0 and 1 (inclusive). $p_{\theta} < \theta_L$ indicates that it is unlikely the response rate will be larger than θ_0 at the end of the trial given the current information. When this happens, we may as well stop the trial and reject the alternative hypothesis at that point. On the other hand, when $p_{\theta} < \theta_L$, the current data suggest that, if the same trend continues, we will have a high probability of concluding that the treatment is efficacious at the end of the study we can see [8]. This result, then, provides evidence to stop the trial early due to efficacy. By choosing $\theta_L > 0$ and $\theta_U < 1$, the trial can terminate early due to either futility or efficacy. For phase IIA trials, we often prefer to choose $\theta_L > 0$ and $\theta_U = 1$ to allow early stopping due to futility, but not due to efficacy.

2.1.2. Satisfaction index

If adopted a procedure deterministic test, relative to a level α , leading to partition Ω in a region of notrejection $\Omega_0^{(\alpha)}$ and a rejection region $\Omega_1^{(\alpha)}$, an index particularly simple satisfaction is the indicator function of $\Omega_0^{(\alpha)}$. It is satisfied if the result is significant at α , if dissatisfied. But very often users want rather face an outcome that seems likely to lead to their rejection of Θ_0 , know what its degree of significance; that is to say, know how far the results appear significant.

Using the fact that any reasonable test technique leads to a family of not -rejection regions $\Omega_0^{(\alpha)}$ in the sense of decreasing inclusion when α increases, that is to say, when our precautions s' mitigate, then use a new index of satisfaction, a little less rough than the previous one, denoted $\Phi^{(\alpha)}$, and defined as a function of p- value, the simplest as zero on the region of not-rejection $\Omega_0^{(\alpha)}$ and equal to (1 - p), or more generally

 $(1-p)^{l}$ with l > 0 otherwise. In other words it offers a satisfaction index which is zero if it is not detected significant and otherwise a decreasing function of the p- value, and therefore, the more p is small and the experimenter believes that the result is significant [9] remind that the p- value is considered as a measure of credibility to attach to the null hypothesis that practitioners often use to meet several critical and disadvantages of approach Neymann of Pearson. The value of this index satisfaction and an extended family of indices in the concept of predicting satisfaction of a sample future as a first sample.

2.1.3. Prediction of satisfaction

Experimental contexts that we have mentioned in the introduction often lend themselves to analysis in several phases, and we limit ourselves to two phases and the situation , which corresponds to the requirements in the experimental trials, where the first phase is that indicative and is intended only to consider whether to resume testing for a second phase , conducted independently of the first and of which only the test result based on the conclusion of which is the ultimate purpose of the study . We note here Ω , Ω' and Ω " sets complete results, the results of the first phase and the results of the second phase

 $(\Omega = \Omega' + \Omega'')$. It is in this context that has proposed to introduce a Bayesian model with a prior distribution on Θ and the family of probabilities $(P_{\theta})_{\theta \in \Theta}$ on Ω . He sees in this model the probability of

 Ω ", influenced by the outcome of the first phase ω' , which we denote by $P_{\Omega'}^{\omega'}$, recall that, according to the usual Bayesian terminology, the term predictive probability, the probability P_{Ω} on the space of complete results, which is used here is the probability on Ω " which is deduced by conditioning by ω' . We find as a prediction on the view of the first phase of a significant result in the second phase, the value $P_{\Omega'}^{\omega'}(\Omega_1^{\gamma(\alpha)})$, where $\Omega_1^{\gamma(\alpha)}$ is the rejection region of the classical test made on the basis of the results of the second phase. It is in this sense that here is practice both classical statistics and Bayesian statistics. We propose here, more typically associate with any satisfaction index on the second phase index forecasting is the mathematical expectation with respect to $P_{\Omega'}^{\omega}$, satisfaction provided by consider the second phase of

the experiment and the predicted using the first.

Consider a single-arm phase II clinical trial in which all patients are assigned to experimental treatment E. The dose level of E is determined by a previous phase I trial and, thus, is considered to be fixed. Patients are recruited, treated, and evaluated group sequentially, but the size of a group may vary because the group size after the first interim look is determined based on the most up-to-date observations during the

trial. The total number of interim looks may also vary from trial to trial, depending on the observations and defined loss function, but we assume an upper bound on the number of patients that could be accrued to the phase II trial. The decision space for the whole phase II clinical trial is defined as $D = \{d_1, d_2, d_3\}$. At each interim evaluation, three possible decisions could be made:

- d_1 : Stop the phase II trial and recommend no further study of E.
- d_2 : Stop the phase II trial and recommend E to a subsequent phase III trial.
- d_3 : Continue to enroll patients to the phase II trial.

It is shown elementarily that the value ω' an index of prediction can also be obtained as the expectation with respect to the posterior distribution based on ω' , the average value of the index of satisfaction related to the law sampling the second phase. The problem that arises is that of the calculation of this hope in situations of tests, for a choice of prior distribution. Several models are considered to illustrate the Bayesian predictive procedure proposed.

2.1.4. Statistical inference for the design

We define the indices of satisfaction and anticipation of satisfaction related to a decreasing hypothesis test as a function of the p-value, satisfaction is higher than the null hypothesis is rejected more broadly, that is to say that p-value is small. We consider the case of a two-step procedure, which is often done in the case of clinical trials where these satisfaction indices are interesting protocols and when the inference concerns an effect evaluated from the future sample only.

Being fixed α , a level α test defined by the critical first satisfaction index region $\Omega_{l}^{\mu(\alpha)}$:

$$\phi(\omega'') = \mathbf{1}_{\Omega''(\alpha)}(\omega'') \tag{1}$$

The default of the above rudimentary index is that it expresses a satisfaction in "all or nothing". It is interesting to take into account to what level will the result always appears significant. It thus appears natural to consider satisfaction indexes that are null if a significant effect is not detected, and in the opposite case are an increasing function of the classical indicator of significance that is in theory of tests, the *p*-value. One thus uses a new index of satisfaction defined by:

$$\phi(\omega'') = 0$$
 if $p(\omega'') \ge 1 - \alpha$ (2)

 $=L(p(\omega''))$ else.

Where L is a decreasing function. We can generalize this procedure to a family of limited indices defined by:

$$L(p) = (1-p)^{l} \quad where \ l \ge 0 \tag{3}$$

It is preferable to choose limited indexes because of their easier interpretation. In the case where l=1, $1-\phi(\omega'')$ is the p-value and in the case where l=0, one finds the indicator function of the critical region.

For the sequel, we choose l=1, L (p) = (1 - p) therefore

$$\phi(\omega'') = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad p(\omega'') \ge 1 - \alpha$$

$$= (1 - p) \quad else. \tag{4}$$

Based on the fact that most clinical trials meeting "legal" requirements (imposed by the control authorities for the authorization of placing drugs on the drug market) use as primary criterion of evaluation the significance level of a frequentist test, which is no else than the p-value. May we recall for this purpose that the p-value is always regarded as a measure of credibility to be attached to the null hypothesis that practitioners often use to answer several criticisms and disadvantages of the Neymann Pearson approach

Recall that $p = \inf \left\{ \beta, \omega^{"} \in \Omega_{1}^{"(\beta)} \right\}$ is what practitioners note the associated $\omega^{"}$ and is called the p-value, it is considered a measure of credibility to be attached to the null hypothesis and practitioners often use to meet several critical and disadvantages of the approach Neymann -Pearson, you can see why. Therefore, the more that p is, the more the practitioner Considers that the results significant.

An indicator of prediction is given by:

$$\pi(\omega') = \int_{\Omega_1^{"}(\alpha)} \phi(\omega'') P_{\Omega^{"}}^{\omega'}(d\omega'')$$

$$= \int_{\{\omega^{"}: p(\omega^{"} \ge 1-\alpha)\}} L(p(\omega^{"})) P_{\Omega^{"}}^{\omega^{'}}(d\omega^{''})$$

$$= \int_{\Theta} \left(\int_{\Omega_{1}^{"(\alpha)}} \phi(\omega^{\prime}) P_{\Omega^{"}}^{\theta}(d\omega^{\prime}) \right) P_{\Theta}^{\omega^{\prime}}(d\theta^{\prime})$$
(5)

It is noticed that $\int_{\Omega_{\alpha}^{(\alpha)}} \phi(\omega'') P_{\Omega''}^{\theta}(d\omega'')$ generalizes the power of the test in the logic of the index of satisfaction proposed. Therefore, this index of prediction can be used to determine whether the trial should be stopped early due to efficacy/futility or continued because the current data are not yet conclusive; it is the experimenter to take the final decision.

2.1.5 Application

It is proposed to calculate the prediction of satisfaction in this Bayesian design with two kinds of prior *distributions* in the binomial model, where the law of the unknown parameter θ is a conjugate prior or noninformative.

Several phase II clinical trial designs are proposed in the statistical literature anmost of them are conducted in two stages. Let X_i be the dichotomous response variable, which assumes value 1 if the clinicians classify the patient i as responder to the treatment t and 0 otherwise. In a typical two-stage design, T patients are accrued and treated at the first stage and T'additional patients in the second stage.

We denote θ the probability that an individual suffering from a disease is cured with the treatment t. It is also considered that the medication (treatment related t) may be marketed only if $\theta \ge \theta_0$. From a statistical point of view, we can formulate the problem using the following test:

$$H_0: \theta \leq \theta_0$$

We work in the framework of the sampling model where we assume that are realizations of independent random variables X_i and even Bernoulli parameter θ , again for the sake of completeness we take

 $\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{T} X_i$. If we choose as prior distribution for θ a beta law B(a,b) is then known that the posterior distribution of θ/ω' is still a beta law $B(\overline{\alpha},\overline{\delta})$ with $\overline{\alpha} = a + \omega'$ and $\overline{\delta} = b + T - \omega'$.

The satisfaction index for observation $\omega'' = \sum_{i=1}^{T'} X_i$ is:

$$\phi(\omega^{"}) = 0 \text{ if } \omega^{"} < q_0 \tag{6}$$

$$= \sum_{t=0}^{\omega^{"-1}} C_N^t \,\theta_0^t \,(1-\theta_0)^{N-t} \text{ if } \omega^{"} \ge q_0 \,, \tag{7}$$

where

$$q_{0} = \inf \left\{ u; \sum_{t=u}^{T'} C_{T'}^{t} \theta_{0}^{t} (1 - \theta_{0})^{T'-t} \le \alpha \right\}.$$
(8)

Then the Bayesian prediction distribution of ω''/ω'

$$f(\omega''/\omega') = \int_{0}^{1} f(\omega''/\theta) f(\theta/\omega') d\theta$$
(9)

$$= \int_{0}^{1} C_{T'}^{\omega''} \theta^{\omega''} (1-\theta)^{(T'-\omega'')} [\beta(\overline{\alpha},\overline{\beta}]^{-1} \times \theta^{\overline{\alpha}} - 1(1-\theta)^{\overline{\delta}} - 1$$
(10)

$$= C_{T'}^{\omega''} \frac{\left[\beta\left(\overline{\alpha} + \omega'', \overline{\delta} + T' - \omega''\right)\right]}{\left[\beta\left(\overline{\alpha}, \overline{\delta}\right)\right]}$$

From here on, observed the response of the first step ω' , the prediction $\pi(\omega')$ is

$$\pi(\omega') = \sum_{\omega''=q_0}^{T'} \sum_{t=0}^{\omega''-1} C_{T'}^{t} \theta_0^{t} (1-\theta_0)^{T'-t} \frac{C_{T'}^{\omega''} \beta (a+\omega'+\omega'', b+T+T'-\omega'-\omega'')}{\beta (a+\omega', b+T+-\omega')}$$
(11)

Moreover, due to ethical considerations, the phase II clinical studies are planned as a multi-stage design to ensure that the trials do not last too long if the treatment shows a clear inadequateness.

Simulation sittings

The aim of exploratory clinical trials, such as phase II trials and proof-of-concept studies, is to determine whether a new intervention is promising for further testing in confirmatory clinical trials, such as phase III randomized controlled trials. The clinical trial, a prospective study to evaluate the effect of interventions in humans under prespecified conditions, is a standard and integral part of modern medicine. Many adaptive and sequential approaches have been proposed for use in clinical trials to allow adaptations or modifications to aspects of a trial after its initiation without undermining the validity and integrity of the trial. In all rigor, the Jeffreys rule gives different priors for the different designs, since it is based on the Fisher information, showd that Jeffreys prior offers new perspectives for the development of Bayesian procedures with good frequentist properties in hypothesis testing procedures.

Suppose two imaging modalities (e.g., CT vs.MRI) for diagnosing lung cancer are to be compared on the basis of test accuracy (sensitivity, specificity, and the area under the ROC curve).

We note in results 1 with:

- The prior Beta (1,1) where ω' is included in [0, 17], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.00000004 to 0.6694. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 17$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [18, 20] the result $\pi_1(\omega')$ varies from 0.8057 to 0.9763.
- The prior Beta (0.5,0.5) where ω' is included in [0, 17], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.0000007 to 0.7161. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 17$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [18, 20] the result $\pi_2(\omega')$ varies from 0.8490 to 0.9914.
- The real data with prior Beta (0.6,0.4) where ω' is included in [0, 17], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.00000002 to 0.7306. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 17$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [18, 20] the result $\pi_3(\omega')$ varies from 0.8604 to 0.9938.

2.2 Sequential designs

The concept of sequential statistical methods was originally motivated by the need to obtain clinical benefits under certain economic or ethical constraints. For a trial with a positive result, early stopping means that a new product can be exploited sooner. If a negative result is indicated, early stopping ensures that resources are not wasted. [11]

We propose in the sequential designs, a satisfaction made by both the first and the second phase of the experiment (ω', ω'') in the case of a classical test study, and is predicted using the first phase unlike previous work where only the result of the second phase ω'' is to establish the formal conclusion of the
study (2.1), with the precedent Binomial model. We use a usual test on the results z of the first and second phase defined by : $z = \omega' + \omega''$.

Group sequential methods are used routinely to monitor clinical trials and to provide early stopping when there is evidence of a treatment effect, a lack of an effect or concerns about patient safety. In many studies, the response of clinical interest is measured some time after the start of treatment and there are subjects at each interim analysis who have been treated but are yet to respond. The satisfaction index for observation z is

 $\phi(z) = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad z < q_0 \tag{12}$

$$=\sum_{t=0}^{z-1} C_{T+T}^{t} \,\theta_{0}^{t} \left(1-\theta_{0}\right)^{T+T-t} \text{ if } z \ge q_{0} \,, \tag{13}$$

Where

$$q_{0} = \inf \left\{ u; \sum_{t=u}^{T+T'} C_{T+T'}^{t} \theta_{0}^{t} \left(1 - \theta_{0}\right)^{T+T'-t} \le \alpha \right\}.$$
(14)

Then the Bayesian prediction distribution of z/ω'

$$f(z/\omega') = \int_{0}^{1} f(z/\theta) f(\theta/\omega') d\theta$$
(15)

$$= \int_{0}^{1} C_{T+T'}^{z} \theta^{z} (1-\theta)^{(T+T'-z)} \frac{\theta^{a+\omega'-1} (1-\theta)^{T+b-\omega'-1}}{B(a+\omega',T+b-\omega')} d\theta$$
(16)

$$=C_{T+T'}^{z} \frac{B(a+\omega'+z,2T+T'+b-z-\omega')}{B(a+\omega',T+b-\omega')}$$
(17)

From here on, observed the response of the first step ω' , the prediction $\Pi(\omega')$ is

$$\Pi(\omega') = \sum_{z=q_0}^{T+T'} \sum_{t=0}^{z-1} C_{T+T'}^{t} \theta^{t} (1-\theta)^{T+T'-t} C_{T'}^{\omega''} \frac{B(a+\omega'+\omega'', T+T'+b-\omega'-\omega'')}{B(a+\omega', b+T-\omega')}$$
(18)

Simulation sittings

Group sequential design is probably one of the most commonly used clinical trial designs in clinical research and development, the primary reasons for conducting interim analyses of accrued data.

Suppose are the sample sizes of the two groups and the prior probability of the null hypotheses is $\theta_0 = 0.6$, the predictive probability at each point $\Pi(\omega')$ is calculated via simulation in table II, where $\Pi_1(\omega')$ represented the uniform prior beta(1,1), $\Pi_2(\omega')$ represented the non informative prior beta(0.5,0.5) and the other case $\Pi_3(\omega')$ is the real data with a vague prior beta (0.6,0.4).

We note in results 2 with:

- The prior B(1,1) where ω' is included in [0, 15], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.0000001 to 0.7932. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 15$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [16, 20] the result $\Pi_1(\omega')$ varies from 0.8789 to 0.9986.
- The prior B(0.5,0.5) where ω' is included in [0, 15], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.00000007 to 0.8136. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 15$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [16, 20] the result $\Pi_2(\omega')$ varies from 0.0.8964 to 0.9995.
- The real data with prior B(0.6,0.4) where ω' is included in [0, 15], the result of $\theta_0 = 0.6$ varies from 0.00000005 to 0.8231. Therefore we conclude H₀ for $\omega' < 15$. On the other hand, when ω' is included in [16, 20] the result $\Pi_3(\omega')$ varies from 0.9032 to 0.9997.

Comparison of prevision indices

If we denote by $\pi_1(\omega')$, $\pi_2(\omega')$ and $\pi_3(\omega')$, the prevision index in the case of experimental design, and $\Pi_1(\omega')$, $\Pi_2(\omega')$ and $\Pi_3(\omega')$, the prevision index in the case of sequential design, figures 1, 2, and 3 show compared curves $\pi_1(\omega')$ and $\Pi_1(\omega')$, $\pi_2(\omega')$ and $\Pi_2(\omega')$, $\pi_3(\omega')$ and $\Pi_3(\omega')$ of the prevision indices in a study of frequentist test respectively in experimental design and in sequential analysis.

One can see that when we choose the sequential design the prediction is better.



Figure 1-Prediction in experimental and

sequential designs with uniform prior Beta(1,1)

Figure2- Prediction in experimental and sequential designs with non-informative prior Beta (0.5,0.5)



Figure3- Prediction in experimental and sequential designs with a

vague prior Beta (0.6,0.4)

3. CONCLUSION

The aim of our work was to propose a Bayesian experimental designs and sequential adaptation design in experimental trials, considered the procedure based on satisfaction of the prediction index concept design, we believe that we can say that the Bayesian predictive approach proposed can be used to predict on the basis of statements frequentist results, we nevertheless believe that the frequentist approach sheds a different light on data and should not be excluded from further our goal is to develop an effective and flexible design that has desirable statistical properties . We have improved the methodology in the design of clinical trials by providing a prediction indices in a Bayesian framework, as is always the case in the experimental trial protocol and we illustrate our results using the binomial model.

References

- [1] Guosheng Yin, Nan Chen, J. Jack Lee, *Phase II trial design with Bayesian adaptive randomization and predictive probability*, Appl. Statist. (2012) 61, Part 2, pp. 219–235.
- [2] Lisa V. Hampson, Christopher Jennison, *Group sequential tests for delayed responses*, J. R. Statist. Soc. B (2013) 75, Part 1, pp. 3–54.
- [3] E.W .Steyerberg, *Clinical Prediction Models A Practical Approach to Development*, Validation, and Updating, XXVIII, 500p, Hardcover, 2009.
- [4] Merabet, H. (2013). Bayesian sequential analysis of clinical trials feedback. Statistica LXXIII(3): 363– 377.
- [5] H.Merabet, A.Labdaoui, P.Druilhet (2017), Bayesian prediction for two-stage sequential analysis in clinical trials, Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods, Pages: 9807-9816.
- [6] H.Merabet, A.Labdaoui (2014), Bayesian prediction using two-stage designs in experimental trials, Nature et technology, pp. 11,23.
- [7] S. M Berry, B.P. Carlin, J.J Lee, P. Muller, 2011, *Bayesian Adaptive Methods for Clinical Trials*. Chapman & Hall/CRC biostatistics series.
- [8] G. Koop, D.J. Poirier, and J. L. Tobias, Bayesian Econometric Methods, 2007.
- [9] C.M.C. Shein Chung, Adaptive design methods in clinical trials, Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2011
- [10] Luke Akong'o Orawo J. Andrés Christen, Bayesian sequential analysis for multiple-arm clinical trials, Stat Comput (2009) 19: 99–109 DOI 10.1007/s11222-008-9074-y.
- [11] N. A Azadi, P. Fearnhead, G Ridall and J. H. Blok, *Bayesian Sequential Experimental Design forn Binary Response Data with Application to Electromyographic Experiments*, Bayesian Analysis (2014), 9, Number 2, pp. 287-306.

Blow up of Solution for a Viscoelastic Wave Equation with m-Laplacian and Delay Terms

Erhan Pişkin¹, Hazal Yüksekkaya²

¹Mathematics, Dicle University, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Dicle University, Turkey, E-mail(s): episkin@dicle.edu.tr, hazally.kaya@gmail.com

Abstract

In this paper, we deal with a viscoelastic wave equation with delay terms. We study the blow up of solutions with positive initial energy.

Keywords: Blow up, Delay term, m-Laplacian.

1. Introduction

We consider the following problem

$$\begin{cases} |u_t|^{\rho} u_{tt} - \Delta u - div(|\nabla u|^{m-2} \nabla u) + \int_0^t g(t-s)\Delta u(s)ds \\ -\Delta u_{tt} + \mu_1 u_t(x,t) + \mu_2 u_t(x,t-\tau) \\ = b|u|^{p-2} u, & in \,\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ u_t(x,t-\tau) = f_0(x,t-\tau), & x \in \Omega, \ t \in (0,\tau), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x), u_t(x,0) = u_1(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,t) = 0, & x \in \partial\Omega, t \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 1$, with a smooth boundary $\partial\Omega$, $\rho > 0$, b, μ_1 are positive constants, μ_2 is a real number, $\tau > 0$ represents the time delay, the term $\Delta_m u = div(|\nabla u|^{m-2}\nabla u)$ is called *m*-Laplacian, the kernel *g* is satisfying some conditions to be specified later. u_{0,u_1, f_0} are the initial data in a suitable function space.

Some other authors studied the related problems (see [Messaoudi and Kafini 2016, Wu 2019]).

2. Preliminaries

In this part, we give some material needed for the proof of our results. We use the standard Lebesgue space $L^p(\Omega)$ and Sobolev space $H_0^1(\Omega)$ with their usual norms $\|\cdot\|_p$ and $\|\cdot\|_{H_0^1(\Omega)}$.

Lemma 1. [Adams and Fournier 2003, Pişkin 2017] Let $2 \le p \le \frac{2n}{n-2}$, the inequality $||u||_p \le c_s ||\nabla u||_2$ for $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$,

holds with some positive constants c_s .

Related to g(t) kernel function, we suppose that

(A1)
$$g: R^+ \to R^+$$
, and
 $g(0) > 0, g' \le 0 \text{ and } 1 - \int_0^\infty g(s) ds = l > 0,$
(2)

satisfies.

Also, from Messaoudi and Kafini (2016), we get the following lemma.

Lemma 2. Assume that

$$\|u\|_{p}^{s} \leq C(\|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{m}^{m} + \|u\|_{p}^{p}),$$

where *C* is a positive constant, satisfies for any $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $2 \le s \le p$.

Now we introduce, similar to the work of Nicaise and Pignotti (2006), the new variable

$$z(x, \kappa, t) = u_t(x, t - \tau \kappa) \ x \in \Omega, \kappa(0, 1),$$

thus, it is easy to see that

$$\tau z_t(x,\kappa,t) + z_\kappa(x,\kappa,t) = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \times (0,1) \times (0,\infty).$$

Then, problem (1) takes the form

$$\begin{cases} |u_t|^{\rho} u_{tt} - \Delta u - div(|\nabla u|^{m-2}\nabla u) + \int_0^t g(t-s)\Delta u(s)ds \\ -\Delta u_{tt} + \mu_1 u_t(x,t) + \mu_2 z(x,1,t) \\ = b|u|^{p-2} u, & in \,\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ \tau z_t(x,\kappa,t) + z_\kappa(x,\kappa,t) = 0, & x \in \Omega, \ \kappa \in (0,1), t > 0, \\ z(x,0,t) = u_t(x,t), & x \in \Omega, \ t > 0, \\ z(x,\kappa,0) = f_0(x,-\tau\kappa), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x), u_t(x,0) = u_1(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,t) = 0, & x \in \partial\Omega, t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$
(3)

Next, by combining the arguments Kirane and Belkacem (2011) and Wu (2019), we give the local existence theorem of problem (3).

Theorem 3. Suppose that $\mu_2 < \mu_1$, (A1) and assume that $u_0, u_1 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $f_0 \in L^2(\Omega \times (0,1))$. Then, for T > 0, there exists a unique solution (u, z) satisfies

$$u, u_t \in C([0,T); H_0^1(\Omega)),$$

$$z \in C\left([0,T); L^2(\Omega \times (0,1))\right).$$

3. Blow up result

In this part, we get the blow up result with positive initial energy. Firstly, we define the energy functional of the problem (3) as follows

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{\rho+2} \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \frac{1}{m} \|\nabla u\|_m^m + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \int_0^t g(s) ds\right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (go\nabla u)(t) + \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \frac{\xi}{2} \int_\Omega \int_0^1 z^2 (x, \kappa, t) d\kappa dx - \frac{b}{p} \|u\|_p^p,$$
(4)

We can get the following Lemma similar to Pişkin and Yüksekkaya (2020).

Lemma 4. E(t) is a decreasing function, such that

$$\begin{split} E'(t) &\leq -\alpha \left(\|u_t\|^2 + \int_{\Omega} z^2(x,\kappa,t) \, dx \right) + \frac{1}{2} (g' o \nabla u)(t) - \frac{1}{2} g(t) \|\nabla u\|^2 \\ &\leq -\alpha \left(\|u_t\|^2 + \int_{\Omega} z^2(x,\kappa,t) \, dx \right) \leq 0, \quad \text{for } t \geq 0. \end{split}$$

Lemma 5. [Wu 2019] Suppose that $l \|\nabla u_0\|^2 > \lambda_1^2$ and $E(0) < E_1$, then there exists $\lambda_2 > \lambda_1$, such that $l \|\nabla u\|^2 + (go\nabla u)(t) \ge \lambda_2^2$, (5)

for all $t \in [0, T)$, and

$$\|u\|_p^p \ge \frac{bB_1^p}{p}\lambda_2^p. \tag{6}$$

Theorem 7. Assume that $u_0, u_1 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ with $\|\nabla u_0\|^2 > \lambda_1^2$ and $E(0) < \beta E_1$. Suppose further that $\rho . Then the solution of (3) blows up in finite time.$

Proof. By contradiction, we assume that the solution of problem (3) is global, such that

$$\|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u\|_m^m + \|u\|_p^p + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla u\|^2 \le K_1, \forall t \ge 0,$$
(8)

where $K_1 > 0$.

We set, $E_2 \in (E(0), \beta E_1)$, such that

$$H(t) = E_2 - E(t)$$

From Lemma 5, (5) and $E_1 = \frac{p-2}{2p}\lambda_1^2$, we get

$$H(t) \ge H(0) = E_2 - E(0) > 0.$$
(9)

We define

$$L(t) = H^{1-\sigma}(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\rho+1} \int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{\rho} u_t u dx + \frac{\mu_1 \varepsilon}{2} \int_{\Omega} u^2 dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_t \nabla u dx.$$
(10)

There exists K > 0, such that

$$L'(t) \ge \varepsilon K \begin{pmatrix} \|u_t\|_{p+2}^{p+2} + \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla u\|_m^m + (go\nabla u)(t) \\ + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + H(t) + \|u\|_p^p + \int_{\Omega} \int_0^1 z^2 (x, \kappa, t) d\kappa dx \end{pmatrix},$$
(11)

Utilizing Hölder and Young's inequalities, we get

$$\left(\left| \int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{\rho} u_t u dx \right| \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \leq \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\frac{\rho+1}{1-\sigma}} \|u\|_{\rho+2}^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}}$$

$$\leq c_5 \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\frac{\rho+1}{1-\sigma}} \|u\|_{\rho}^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \leq c_1 \left(\|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\frac{\rho+1}{1-\sigma}\mu} + \|u\|_{\rho}^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}\theta} \right),$$

$$(12)$$

where $\frac{1}{\mu} + \frac{1}{\theta} = 1$.

From Lemma 2 and (12), we obtain

$$\left(\left|\int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{\rho} u_t u dx\right|\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \le c_2 \left(\|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u\|_m^m + \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|u\|_p^p\right),\tag{13}$$

with $c_2 > 0$. In a similar way, as in deriving (12), we also get

$$\left(\left|\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_t \nabla u dx\right|\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \le c_3 \left(\|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla u\|_2^{\frac{2}{1-2\sigma}}\right),\tag{14}$$

for $c_3 > 0$. Combining (10), (13) and (14) to satisfy

$$L(t)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \le c_4 \begin{pmatrix} H(t) + \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla u\|_m^m \\ + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + H(t) + \|u\|_p^p + \|u\|_{\rho}^{\frac{2}{1-\sigma}} + \|u\|_2^{\frac{2}{1-\sigma\sigma}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(15)

for $t \ge 0$ and $c_4 > 0$. From (11) and (15), we get

$$L(t)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}} \le c_5 \left(H(t) + \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla u\|_m^m + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|u\|_p^p \right), \tag{16}$$

with $c_5 > 0$. Combining (11) and (16), we obtain

$$L'(t) \ge c_6 L(t)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}}, t \ge 0, \tag{17}$$

here $c_6 = \frac{\varepsilon K}{c_5}$. A simple integration of (17) over (0, *t*), we have

$$L(t) \ge \left(L(0)^{-\frac{\sigma}{1-\sigma}} - \frac{\sigma c_{11}}{1-\sigma}t\right)^{-\frac{1-\sigma}{\sigma}}.$$
(18)

As we know, L(0) > 0, (18) indicates that L becomes infinite in a finite time T with $0 < T \le \frac{1-\sigma}{c_6 \sigma L(0)^{\frac{\sigma}{1-\sigma}}}$.

4. Conclusion

In recent years, there has been published much work concerning the wave equation with constant delay or time-varying delay. However, to the best of our knowledge, there was no blow-up result for a viscoelastic wave equation with m-Laplacian and delay terms. We have been proved that blow-up of solutions with positive initial energy for problem (1) under the sufficient conditions in a bounded domain.

5. References

- 1. R. A. Adams, J. J. F. Fournier, Sobolev Spaces, Academic Press, 2003.
- 2. M. Kafini and S A. Messaoudi, A blow-up result in a nonlinear wave equation with delay, Mediterr J. Math., 13, 237-247, (2016).
- 3. M. Kirane and S H. Belkacem, Existence and asymptotic stability of a viscoelastic wave equation with a delay, Z Angew Math Phys., 62, 1065--1082, (2011).
- 4. S. Nicaise and C. Pignotti, Stability and instability results of the wave equation with a delay term in the boundary or internal feedbacks, SIAM J. Control Optim., 45(5), 1561-1585, (2006).
- 5. E. Pişkin, Sobolev Spaces, Seçkin Publishing, 2017. (in Turkish).
- 6. E. Pişkin and H. Yüksekkaya, Local existence and blow up of solutions for a logarithmic nonlinear viscoelastic wave equation with delay, Comput. Methods Differ. Equ., 1-14, (2020), doi :10.22034/cmde.2020.35546.1608.

7. S T. Wu, Blow-up of solution for a viscoelastic wave equation with delay, Acta Math. Sci., 39B(1), 329-338, (2019).

Bounds for a new subclass of bi-univalent functions with respect to symmetric conjugate points related to Fibonacci numbers

Meryem Yıldız¹, Şahsene Altınkaya²

 ^{1,2}Department of Mathematics, Bursa Uludağ University, 16059 Bursa, Turkey.
 E-mails: ¹mrymyildiz.001@gmail.com
 ²sahsene@uludag.edu.tr

Abstract

In the present investigation, we use the Fibonacci numbers to derive estimates on the initial coefficients for a new subclass of bi-univalent functions with respect to symmetric conjugate points. Also, we derive Fekete-Szegö inequalities for functions belonging to the newly-defined class.

1. Introduction

Let \mathbb{C} be the set of complex numbers and $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$ be the open unit disc in \mathbb{C} . Further, let \mathcal{A} represent the class of functions f of the from

$$f(z) = z + a_2 z^2 + a_3 z^3 + \dots = z + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} a_n z^n , \qquad (1)$$

which are analytic in \mathbb{D} and normalized by f(0) = f'(0) - 1 = 0. The subclass of \mathcal{A} consisting of univalent functions is denoted by \mathcal{S} . Next, the well known class of functions with positive real part, consisting of all functions p analytic in \mathbb{D} satisfying p(0) = 1 and $\Re p(z) > 0$, is usually denoted by P and called the Carathéodory class. Each $p \in P$ has a Taylor series expansion

 $p(z) = 1 + x_1 z + x_2 z^2 + x_3 z^3 + \dots (x_1 > 0)$

with coefficients satisfying $|x_n| \le 2$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (see [7], [11]).

With a view to remanding the rule of subordination between analytic functions, let the functions f, g be analytic in \mathbb{D} , we say that the function f is subordinate to g, indicated as $f \prec g$ (or $f(z) \prec g(z)$) ($z \in \mathbb{D}$), if there exists a Schwarz function $\mathfrak{w} \in \Lambda$, where

$$\Lambda = \{ \mathfrak{w} : \mathfrak{w}(0) = 0, |\mathfrak{w}(z)| < 1, z \in \mathbb{D} \}.$$

such that

$$f(z) = g(\mathfrak{w}(z)) \quad (z \in \mathbb{D}).$$

The *Koebe-One Quarter Theorem* [4] provides that the image of \mathbb{D} under every univalent function $f \in \mathcal{A}$ contains a disc of radius 1/4. Thus every univalent function $f \in \mathcal{A}$ has an inverse f^{-1} satisfying

$$f^{-1}(f(z)) = z$$
, and $f(f^{-1}(w)) = w$ $(|w| < r_0(f), r_0(f) \ge \frac{1}{4})$,

where

 $g(w) = f^{-1}(w) = w - a_2w^2 + (2a_2^2 - a_3)w^3 - (5a_2^3 - 5a_2a_3 + a_4)w^4 + \cdots$

A function $f \in \mathcal{A}$ is said to be bi-univalent in \mathbb{D} if both f and f^{-1} are univalent in \mathbb{D} . Let Σ represent the class of bi-univalent functions in \mathbb{D} given by (1).

Historically, motivated substantially by the aferomentioned pioneering work on this subject by Srivastava [13], many authors investigated the coefficient bounds for various subclasses of bi-univalent functions (see e.g., [2], [9], [11] and see also the references cited therein). Until now, not much is known about the bounds on the general coefficient bounds for $|a_n|$ for bi-univalent functions (see, for example, [1], [12], [14]). The coefficient estimate problem for each of the coefficients

$$|a_n| (n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1,2\})$$

is still an open problem.

The classical Fekete-Szegö inequality, presented by means of Loewner's method, for the coefficients of $f \in S$ is

 $|a_3 - \varrho a_2^2| \le 1 + 2exp(-2\varrho/(1 - \vartheta))$ for $\varrho \in [0, 1)$.

As $\varrho \to 1^-$, we have the elementary inequality $|a_3 - a_2^2| \leq 1$. Moreover, the coefficient functional $F_{\varrho}(f) = a_3 - \varrho a_2^2$ on the normalized analytic functions f in the unit disc \mathbb{D} plays an important role in function theory. The problem of maximizing the absolute value of the functional $F_{\vartheta}(f)$ is called the Fekete-Szegö problem (see [6]).

By $S^*(\varphi)$ and $C(\varphi)$ we denote the following classes of functions:

$$S^*(\varphi) = \left\{ f \colon f \in \mathcal{A}, \ \frac{zf'(z)}{f(z)} < \varphi(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D} \right\},$$
$$C(\varphi) = \left\{ f \colon f \in \mathcal{A}, \ 1 + \frac{zf''(z)}{f'(z)} < \varphi(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D} \right\}.$$

The classes $S^*(\varphi)$ and $C(\varphi)$ are the extensions of classical sets of starlike and convex functions and in such form were defined and studied by Ma and Minda [9]. Afterwards, El-Ashwah and Thomas [5] introduced the class $S_c^*(\varphi)$ of functions called starlike with respect to symmetric conjugate points, they are the functions $f \in S$ satisfy the condition

$$\Re\left(\frac{zf'(z)}{f(z)-\overline{f(-\overline{z})}}\right) > 0 \quad (z \in \mathbb{D}).$$

A function $f \in S$ is called convex with respect to symmetric conjugate points, if

$$\Re\left(\frac{(zf'(z))'}{(f(z)-\overline{f(-\overline{z})})'}\right) > 0 \quad (z \in \mathbb{D}).$$

The class of all convex functions with respect to symmetric conjugate points is denoted by $C_c(\varphi)$.

Now, we will introduce the family $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}(\eta; \tilde{p})$ as follows:

Definition 1. A function $f \in \Sigma$ is said to be in the family $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}(\eta; \tilde{p})$ $(0 \le \eta \le 1)$ if it fulfills the subordinations:

$$\left(\frac{2[\eta z^3 f^{\prime\prime\prime}(z) + (\eta + 1)z^2 f^{\prime\prime}(z) + zf^{\prime}(z)]}{\eta \left(z^2 \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)^{\prime\prime} + \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)\right) + (1 - \eta)z \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)^{\prime\prime}}\right) < \tilde{p}(z) = \frac{\tau^2 z^2}{1 - \tau z - \tau^2 z^2}$$

and

$$\left(\frac{2[\eta w^3 g^{\prime\prime\prime}(w) + (\eta + 1)w^2 g^{\prime\prime}(w) + wg^{\prime}(w)]}{\eta \left(w^2 \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)^{\prime\prime} + \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)\right) + (1 - \eta)w \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)^{\prime\prime}}\right) < \tilde{p}(w) = \frac{\tau^2 w^2}{1 - \tau w - \tau^2 w^{2\prime}}$$

where $g = f^{-1}$ and $\tau = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2} \approx -0.618$.

Remark 1. The function $\tilde{p}(z)$ is not univalent in \mathbb{D} , but it is univalent in the disc $|z| < \frac{3-\sqrt{5}}{2} \approx 0.38$. For example, $\tilde{p}(0) = \tilde{p}\left(-\frac{1}{2\tau}\right)$ and $\tilde{p}\left(e^{\pm i \arccos(1/4)}\right) = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{5}$. Also, it can be written as $\frac{1}{|\tau|} = \frac{|\tau|}{1-|\tau|}$,

which indicates that the number $|\tau|$ divides [0,1] such that it fulfills the golden section (see for details Dziok et al. [3]).

Additionally, Dziok et al. [3] indicate a useful connection between the function $\tilde{p}(z)$ and the Fibonacci numbers. Let $\{F_n\}$ be the sequence of Fibonacci numbers

$$F_0 = 0, F_1 = 1, F_{n+2} = F_n + F_{n+1}$$
 $(n \in \mathbb{N}_0).$

Then

$$F_n = \frac{(1-\tau)^n - \tau^n}{\sqrt{5}}, \quad \tau = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}.$$

If we set

$$\tilde{p}(z) = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{p}_n z^n = 1 + (F_0 + F_2)\tau z + (F_1 + F_3)\tau^2 z^2$$

+
$$\sum_{n=3}^{\infty} (F_{n-3} + F_{n-2} + F_{n-1} + F_n) \tau^n z^n$$
,

then the coefficients \tilde{p}_n satisfy

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}_{n} = \begin{cases} \tau & (n = 1) \\ 3\tau^{2} & (n = 2) \\ \tau \tilde{\mathbf{p}}_{n-1} + \tau^{2} \tilde{\mathbf{p}}_{n-2} & (n = 3, 4, \cdots). \end{cases}$$
(2)

2. Main Results

In this part, we offer to get the estimates on the Taylor-Maclaurin coefficients and derive the Fekete-Szegö inequalities for functions in the subclass $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}(\eta, r)$ of bi-univalent functions.

Theorem 1. Let the function *f* given by (1) be in the class $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}(\eta; \tilde{p})$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |a_2| &\leq \frac{|\tau|}{\sqrt{2|(4\eta+3)\tau - 2(\eta+2)^2(3\tau-1)|}}, \\ |a_3| &\leq \frac{|\tau|}{2(4\eta+3)} + \frac{\tau^2}{8(\eta+2)^2} \end{aligned}$$

and for any real number ϱ

$$|a_{3} - \varrho a_{2}^{2}| \leq \begin{cases} \frac{|\tau|}{2(4\eta + 3)}, & |1 - \varrho| \leq \frac{|(4\eta + 3)\tau - 2(\eta + 2)^{2}(3\tau - 1)|}{(4\eta + 3)|\tau|} \\ \frac{|1 - \varrho|\tau^{2}}{2|(4\eta + 3)\tau - 2(\eta + 2)^{2}(3\tau - 1)|}, & |1 - \varrho| \geq \frac{|(4\eta + 3)\tau - 2(\eta + 2)^{2}(3\tau - 1)|}{(4\eta + 3)|\tau|} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Suppose that $f \in \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}(\eta; \tilde{p})$. Firstly, let $p < \tilde{p}$ Then, by the definition of subordination, for two analytic functions u, v such that u(0) = v(0) = 0, |u(z)| < 1, |v(w)| < 1 ($z, w \in \mathbb{D}$), we can write

$$\left(\frac{2[\eta z^{3} f^{\prime\prime\prime}(z) + (\eta + 1)z^{2} f^{\prime\prime}(z) + zf^{\prime}(z)]}{\eta \left(z^{2} \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)^{\prime\prime} + \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)\right) + (1 - \eta)z \left(f(z) - \overline{f(-\overline{z})}\right)^{\prime}}\right) = \tilde{p}(u(z))$$
(3)

and

$$\left(\frac{2[\eta w^3 g^{\prime\prime\prime}(w) + (\eta + 1)w^2 g^{\prime\prime}(w) + wg^{\prime}(w)]}{\eta \left(w^2 \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)^{\prime\prime} + \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)\right) + (1 - \eta)w \left(g(w) - \overline{g(-\overline{w})}\right)^{\prime\prime}}\right) = \tilde{p}(\upsilon(w)).$$
(4)

Next, define the functions $p_1 \mbox{ and } p_2 \mbox{ by }$

$$p_1(z) = \frac{1 + u(z)}{1 - u(z)} = 1 + x_1 z + x_2 z^2 + \cdots$$

$$p_2(w) = \frac{1 + v(w)}{1 - v(w)} = 1 + y_1 w + y_2 w^2 + \cdots$$

Since u and v are Schwarz functions, p_1 and p_2 are analytic functions in \mathbb{D} , with $p_1(0) = p_2(0) = 1$ and which have positive real part in \mathbb{D} , we obtain the equations

$$u(z) = \frac{p_1(z) - 1}{p_1(z) + 1} = \frac{1}{2} \left[x_1 z + \left(x_2 - \frac{x_1^2}{2} \right) z^2 \right] + \cdots,$$
$$v(w) = \frac{p_2(w) - 1}{p_2(w) + 1} = \frac{1}{2} \left[y_1 w + \left(y_2 - \frac{y_1^2}{2} \right) w^2 \right] + \cdots$$

lead to

$$\tilde{p}(u(z)) = 1 + \frac{\tilde{p}_1 x_1}{2} z + \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(x_2 - \frac{x_1^2}{2}\right)\tilde{p}_1 + \frac{x_1^2}{4}\tilde{p}_2\right]z^2 + \cdots,$$

$$\tilde{p}(v(w)) = 1 + \frac{\tilde{p}_1 y_1}{2} w + \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(y_2 - \frac{y_1^2}{2}\right)\tilde{p}_1 + \frac{y_1^2}{4}\tilde{p}_2\right]w^2 + \cdots$$

Now, upon comparing the corresponding coefficients in (3) and (4), we get

$$2(\eta+2)a_2 = \frac{\ddot{p}_1 x_1}{2},\tag{5}$$

$$2(4\eta + 3)a_3 = \frac{1}{2}\left(x_2 - \frac{x_1^2}{2}\right)\tilde{p}_1 + \frac{x_1^2}{4}\tilde{p}_2,\tag{6}$$

$$-2(\eta+2)a_2 = \frac{\tilde{p}_1 y_1}{2},\tag{7}$$

$$2(4\eta + 3)(2a_2^2 - a_3) = \frac{1}{2} \left(y_2 - \frac{y_1^2}{2} \right) \tilde{p}_1 + \frac{y_1^2}{4} \tilde{p}_2.$$
(8)

From the equations (5) and (7), one can easily find that

$$x_1 = -y_1, \tag{9}$$

$$8(\eta+2)^2 a_2^2 = \frac{\tilde{p}_1^2}{4} (x_1^2 + y_1^2).$$
(10)

If we add (6) to (8), we obtain

$$4(4\eta + 3)a_2^2 = \frac{\tilde{p}_1}{2}(x_2 + y_2) + \frac{(\tilde{p}_2 - \tilde{p}_1)}{4}(x_1^2 + y_1^2).$$
(11)

By making the use of (10) in (11), we have

$$a_2^2 = \frac{\tilde{p}_1^3(x_2 + y_2)}{8[(4\eta + 3)\tilde{p}_1^2 - 2(\eta + 2)^2(\tilde{\tilde{p}}_2 - \tilde{p}_1)]}$$
(12)

which yields

$$|a_2| \le \frac{|\tau|}{\sqrt{2|[(4\eta + 3)\tau - 2(\eta + 2)^2(3\tau - 1)]|}}$$

Next, if we subtract (8) from (6), we obtain

$$4(4\eta + 3)(a_3 - a_2^2) = \frac{p_1}{2}(x_2 - y_2)$$
(13)

Then, in view of (10), the equation (13) becomes

$$a_3 = \frac{\tilde{p}_1(x_2 - y_2)}{8(4\eta + 3)} + \frac{\tilde{p}_1^2(x_1^2 + y_1^2)}{32(\eta + 2)^2}$$

Thus, by virtue of (2), we get the bound for $|a_3|$. From (12) and (13), we find that

$$a_{3} - \rho a_{2}^{2} = \frac{(1-\rho)\tilde{p}_{1}^{3}(x_{2}+y_{2})}{8[(4\eta+3)\tilde{p}_{1}^{2}-2(\eta+2)^{2}(\tilde{p}_{2}-\tilde{p}_{1})]} + \frac{\tilde{p}_{1}(x_{2}-y_{2})}{8(4\eta+3)}$$
$$= \frac{\tilde{p}_{1}}{4} \Big[\Big(h(\rho) + \frac{1}{2(4\eta+3)} \Big) x_{2} + \Big(h(\rho) - \frac{1}{2(4\eta+3)} \Big) y_{2} \Big],$$

where

$$h(\varrho) = \frac{(1-\varrho)\tilde{p}_1^2}{2[(4\eta+3)\tilde{p}_1^2 - 2(\eta+2)^2(\tilde{p}_2 - \tilde{p}_1)]}.$$

Thus, in view of (2), we get

$$\begin{aligned} |a_3 - \varrho a_2^2| &\leq \begin{cases} \left| \tilde{p}_1 \right| \\ 2(4\eta + 3) \end{cases}, \quad 0 \leq |h(\varrho)| \leq \frac{1}{2(4\eta + 3)} \\ |\tilde{p}_1| |h(\varrho)|, \quad |h(\varrho)| \geq \frac{1}{2(4\eta + 3)} \end{aligned}$$

Acknowledgement. This work is supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK), Project Number: 118F543.

5. References

- [1] Altınkaya, Ş., Yalçın, S., Çakmak, S., A Subclass of bi-univalent functions based on the Faber polynomial expansions and the Fibonacci Numbers, Mathematics, 7, 1-9, 2019.
- [2] Brannan, D. A., Taha, T. S., *On some classes of bi-univalent functions*, Studia Universitatis Babeş-Bolyai Mathematica, 31, 70-77, 1986.
- [3] Dziok, J., Raina, R. K., Sokól, J., *On α-convex functions related to shell-like functions connected with Fibonacci numbers*, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 218, 996-1002, 2011.
- [4] Duren, P. L., Univalent Functions, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer, New York, USA, 259, 1983.
- [5] El-Ashwah, R. M., Thomas, D. K., *Some subclasses of close-to-convex functions*, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc., 2, 86-100, 1987.
- [6] Fekete, M., Szegö, G., *Eine Bemerkung Über Ungerade Schlichte Funktionen*, J. London Math. Soc., [s1-8 (2)], 85-89 1993.
- [7] Grenander, U., Szegö, G., Toeplitz forms and their applications, California Monographs in Mathematical Sciences Univ, California Press, Berkeley, 1958.
- [8] Lewin, M., On a coefficient problem for bi-univalent functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 18, 63-68, 1967.
- [9] Ma, W. C., Minda, D., A unified treatment of some special classes of univalent functions, in: Proceedings of the Conference on Complex Analysis, Tianjin, 1992, 157-169, Conf. Proc. Lecture Notes Anal. I, Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1994.
- [10] Netanyahu, E., The minimal distance of the image boundary from the origin and the second coefficient of a univalent function in |z| < 1, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 32, 100-112, 1969.
- [11] Pommerenke, C., Univalent Functions, Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, Göttingen, 1975.
- [12] Srivastava, H. M., Sümer Eker, S., Hamidi, S. G., Jahangiri, J. M., Faber polynomial coefficient estimates for Bi-univalent funnctions defined by the Tremblay fractional derivative operator, Bulletin of the Iranian Mathematical Society, 44, 149-157, 2018.
- [13] Srivastava, H. M., Mishra, A.K., Gochhayat, P., *Certain subclasses of analytic and bi-univalent functions*, Applied Mathematics Letters, 23, 1188-1192, 2010.
- [14] Srivastava, H. M, Sakar, F. M., Güney, H. Ö., Some general coefficient estimates for a new class of analytic and bi-univalent functions defined by a linear combination, Filomat, 32, 1313-1322, 2018.

Comparing the efficiency of hierarchical cluster algorithms

MUÇA Markela¹, PUKA Llukan² ^{1,2}Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Science, University of Tirana, Albania

E-mail(s): 1markela.muca@fshn.edu.al; 2llukan.puka@fshn.edu.al

Abstract

In this paper we use some known hierarchical methods in order to organize observations (in our case, students) method in order to cluster cases (in our case, students) into homogeneous groups based on some criteria (in our case, their preferences). A student can be classified in one of favourite studies programs according to the results in State Matura Exams. The results of analysis are compared with the real results.

Most of the clustering algorithms are very sensitive to their input parameters. For example, by the hierarchical clustering, the number of clusters is defined a priory or at the end of the algorithms based on some criteria. Therefore, it is very important to evaluate the result of the clustering algorithms. It is difficult to define when a clustering result is acceptable. Thus, in this paper the most commonly used validity internal and external measures are compared to each other in order to determine the most appropriate method and an optimal number of clusters for this dataset.

The analysis is based on a sample taken from the database of the MSH 2013 (State Matura). All analysis is performed using SPSS statistics 20.

Keywords: Hierarchical cluster analysis, external, internal and distance measures..

1. Introduction

The objective of cluster analysis (CA) is to assign observations (e.g. people, things, events, companies) into groups (clusters) so that observations within each group are similar to one another with respect to variables or attributes of interest, and the groups them-selves stand apart from one another, (Anderberg M. R., 1973). Objects in the formed groups could be cases or variables, data set can be numeric or categorical. Categorical data can be derived from either quantitative or qualitative data where observations are directly observed from counts.

Cluster analysis is supported by a number of software packages like SAS, SPSS, BMDP, which are often available in academic and other computing environments. A brief descriptions and sources for these and other packages are provided by Romesburg (Romesburg, H. C., 1984).

Another issue in CA is the interpretation of groups. In fact, interpretation of groups that result from arithmetic procedure is not very clear. An important role in the identification of group, play the distance between objects. Usually, a graphical representation helps in distinguishing before applying any method. We must be careful in case when there are no real groups for the data sets but method contains a partition.

Because we don't know the number of clusters that will emerge in our sample, a two- stage sequence of analysis occurs as follows:

- We carry out some of the hierarchical cluster algorithms for example average, complete linkage, single linkage, Ward method and k-means algorithm applying square Euclidean distance as the distance measure for a given number of cluster K=2:6.
- The next stage we will calculate three internal and three external measures which are available on cvClust package in R. These calculations are done for each clustering method and for each pro defined number of clusters. Then the optimal number of clustering correspond to the optimal score for each measure.

2. Measures of distance for observations and Cluster methods

There are some techniques CA, which are based on the transformation of the matrix with observation into another matrix which is called distance matrix, similarity or non-similarity matrix between variables or observations. The Euclidean distance, the weighted Euclidean distance, Mahalanobis distance are some measures of distance for numerical variables. For other data types (nominal, ordinal) are used others measures of distance (Holmes F., 2005).

In this paper, the Squares Euclidean distance between two points, a and b, with k dimensions is calculated as:

$$d(P_k, P_l) = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{q} (x_i - x_i)^2}$$
, k, l=1:n,

where n=the number of individuals and q=the number of factors

Squared Euclidean distances is usually computed from raw data, and not from standardized data. The distance between any two objects is not affected by outliers' values, but it can be greatly affected by differences in scale among the dimensions from which the distances are computed. In our application, the last one is not a problem after all of the dimensions denotes a measured evaluation in points, and you don't need to transform the dimensions. So that they have similar scales.

3. Some algorithms in hierarchical cluster analysis

In the hierarchical method, one method (agglomerative), for example, begins with as many groups as there are observations, and then systematically merges observations to reduce the number of groups by

one, two,..., k, until a single group containing all observations is formed. Another method (partition) begins with a given number of groups and an arbitrary assignment of the observations to the groups, and then reassigns the observations one by one so that ultimately each observation belongs to the nearest group.

One characteristic of hierarchical methods is that agglomeration which happened along procedure cannot be rearranged. This means that, from the moment that two or more objects join into a cluster, they cannot be separated after they are joined (until the procedure ends). Of course, this is a disadvantage of these methods.

After having chosen the distance or similarity measure, we need to decide which clustering algorithm to apply. There are several agglomerative procedures and they can be distinguished by the way they define the distance from a newly formed cluster to a certain object, or to other clusters in the solution. Nearest neighbor, furthest neighbor, Average linkage, Centroid linkage and Ward's methods are the most popular agglomerative clustering procedures available in most common statistical packages. All these differ in the definition of distance. So, each of inter-group proximity measures giving rise to a different agglomerative method (Brian S. Everitt. et. al., 2011).

4. Decide on the Number of Clusters

An important question we haven't yet addressed is how to decide on the number of clusters to retain from the data. Unfortunately, hierarchical methods provide only very limited guidance for making this decision. The only meaningful indicator relates to the distances at which the objects are combined. One way to solve this problem is to plot the number of clusters on the x-axis against the distance at which objects or clusters are combined on the y-axis. Using this plot, we then search for the distinctive break (elbow) or we can make use of the dendrogram which essentially carries the same information.

As an example of how to determine the optimum number of clusters we work with, suppose we have several objects (10 students) and each student have 10 features (total points that students have gathered in each studies programs) as show in in Table 1.

				1					
Point_1	Point_2	Point_3	Point_4	Point_5	Point_6	Point_7	Point_8	Point_9	Point_10
6178.3	6334.1	6334.1	6178.3	6178.3	6178.3	6334.1	6334.1	6334.1	6334.1
5267.4	5007	5267.4	5007	5093.8	5267.4	5007	5007	5267.4	5267.4
6386.6	6386.6	6386.6	6386.6	6095.3	6386.6	6386.6	6095.3	6095.3	6386.6
6297.2	6297.2	6297.2	6297.2	6297.2	6297.2	6134.8	6297.2	6297.2	6297.2
4222.2	4222.2	4010.4	4169.4	4010.4	4222.2	4010.4	4248.9	4169.4	4151.6
6070.3	6070.3	6070.3	6070.3	6070.3	5775.1	5775.1	5971.9	5971.9	5775.1
6525.4	6525.4	6525.4	6286.9	6286.9	6286.9	6525.4	6525.4	6525.4	6445.9
5833	5833	5833	5833	5641	5545	5833	5545	5545	5737
5012.1	5012.1	5012.1	4934.2	5012.1	4934.2	4934.2	4934.2	4934.2	4934.2
3746	3681	3681	3995.8	3746	3681	3681	3746	3681	3681

Table 1. A sample from the data set





Figure 1. Validation cluster for average, single linkage, complete and Ward.

We carry out a hierarchical cluster analysis using four methods; **average, complete linkage, single linkage, and Ward applying square Euclidean distance** as the distance measure. All these processes can be represented on a diagram known as a dendrogram (see figure 1a). Also, we draw a graphic of pair (j, c_j), the "the scree plot", and we observe the position in which this graphic begin to become "flat" (see Figure 1b).

From Figure 1, we see that the number of clusters once is two and once is three. Also, these two methods cannot be used when the number of observations is large, because this not easily distinguished. For these reasons it is good to use internal and external indicators.

5. Internal and External measures

In this section, we illustrate the validation measures. There are two types of clustering validation techniques (Ashish Jaiswal and Nitin Janwe, 2011; Rousseeuw P. J., 1987; Duda P. E. et al, 2001) which are based on external criteria and internal criteria, respectively. The focus of this paper is on the evaluation of internal clustering validation measures including **connectivity Silhouette Width, Dunn Index** (Maria Halkidi et al, 2002; A.K. Jain and R.C. Dubes, 1998, Michael Steinbach, 2000) and external clustering validation measures including the average proportion of non-overlap (APN), the average distance between means (ADM). The average proportion of non-overlap (APN), the average distance (AD) and the average distance between means (ADM). The APN, AD, and ADM are all based on the cross-classification table of the original clustering with the clustering based on the removal of one column

The connectivity indicates the degree of connectedness of the clusters, as determined by the k-nearest neighbours. where the number of neighbours to use will be specified. The connectivity has a value between 0 and infinity and should be minimized.

Let define $nn_{i,(j)}$ as the j-th nearest neighbour of observation i, and let

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,nn_{i,(j)}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i \text{ and } j \text{ are in the same cluster} \\ I / j & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then for a particular clustering partition $C = \{C_1, ..., C_k\}$ of the N observation into k-clusters, it is defined as

$$Connectivity(C) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{L} x_{i,nn_{i,(j)}}$$

where L is a parameter giving the number of nearest neighbours to use.

The Silhouette Width is the average of each observation's Silhouette value. It is a quantity between -1 and 1, with well-clustered observations having values near 1 and poorly clustered observations having values near -1 and should be maximised (Chen G. et al., 2002, Rousseeuw, 2006). The silhouette index value to detect if we have to do with an appropriate clustering or not. For each observation i, it is defined as

$$s(i) = \frac{b(i) - a(i)}{\max(a(i), b(i))}$$

where a_i is the average distance between i and all other observation in the same cluster, and b_i is the average distance between i and the observations in the nearest neighboring cluster (nn_i)

The Dunn Index is computed as the ratio between the minimum distance between two clusters and the size of the largest cluster. It has a value between 0 and infinity and should be maximized (Bolshakova N. & Azuaje F., 2003). So, we locate our optimal number of clusters looking for the maximum value of this index. It is defined as (J. Dunn 1974)

$$D(C) = \frac{\min_{C_k, C_l \in C, C_k \neq C_l} (\min_{i \in C_k, j \in C_l} dist(i, j))}{\max_{C_m \in C} dist(C_m)}$$

where $dist(C_m)$ is the maximum distance between observation in the cluster C_m

The APN measures the average proportion of observations not placed in the same cluster under both cases, while the AD measures the average distance between observations placed in the same cluster under both cases and the ADM measures the average distance between cluster centers for observations placed in the same cluster under both cases. In all cases the average is taken over all the deleted columns, and all measures should be minimized.

The average proportion of non-overlap (APN), the average distance (AD) and the average distance between means (ADM) are defined respectively as

$$APN(k) = \frac{l}{MN} \sum_{i=l}^{N} \sum_{j=l}^{M} (l - \frac{n(C_{i,o} \cap C_{i,l})}{n(C_{i,o})}), AD(k) = \frac{l}{MN} \sum_{i=l}^{N} \sum_{j=l}^{M} \frac{l}{n(C_{i,o})n(C_{i,l})} \sum_{i \in C_{i,o}, j \in C_{i,l}} dist(i, j)$$
$$ADM(k) = \frac{l}{MN} \sum_{i=l}^{N} \sum_{j=l}^{M} dist_{i,j} Euclidean(\overline{x}_{C_{i,l}}, \overline{x}_{C_{i,o}})$$

where $n(C_{i,o})$ is the cluster containing observation i using original cluster, $n(C_{i,l})$ is the cluster containing observations i where the cluster is based on the dataset with column l removed, $\overline{x}_{C_{i,l}}$ is the mean of the observation in the cluster which contain observation i.

6. Data set information. Experimental results

We will use a sample retrieved from the database of results in year 2013, in different Universities of Tirana, to determine the best grouping of students with regard to their total points they have for each preference. This sample consist of n=400 admitted students. To illustrate, we cluster the above data (a sample taken from the database of the MSH 2013, State Matura) using the hierarchical and K-means algorithms with two to six clusters. Both internal and external measures are used for validation.

First, we carry out a hierarchical cluster analysis using four methods; **complete linkage, single linkage, average and Ward applying square Euclidean distance** as the distance measure and then we use two validates methods; a dendrogram and "scree plot", which will helps us to determine the optimum number of clusters we work with. From the example above we see that the number of clusters once is two and once is three. Also, these two methods cannot be used when the number of observations is large, because the distinction is not done easily. For these reasons it is good to use internal and external indicators. The results are shown in table 2 and in figure 2.

Number of clusters	2	3	4	5	6
Connectivity	5.1837	10.0417	11.0417	12.8401	18.2964
Dunn	0.4035	0.4035	0.4035	0.4035	0.0454
Silhouette	0.6225	0.6005	0.5300	0.5256	0.4893
Connectivity_K-means	5.1837	16.1726	21.0306	22.0306	23.8290
Dunn	0.4035	0.4035	0.0244	0.0303	0.0303
Silhouette	0.6225	0.5305	0.5339	0.5301	0.5364

Table 2. Internal measures for hierarchical methods and k-means

From table 2 (column 2, with red colour), we see that hierarchical clustering and k-means with two clusters performs the best in each case. The plots of the connectivity, Dunn Index, and Silhouette Width are given in Figure 2. Recall that the **connectivity** should be **minimized**, while both the **Dunn Index** and the **Silhouette Width** should be **maximized**. Thus, it appears that hierarchical clustering outperforms the other clustering algorithms under each validation measure. For hierarchical clustering and k-means clustering the optimal number of clusters is clearly two.





Figure 2. Plots of the connectivity measure, the Dunn Index, and the Silhouette Width

	Score	Methods	cluster
APN	1.89E-03	hierarchical	3
AD	1.67E+03	Kmeans	6
ADM	2.06E+01	hierarchical	2

Table 3. Optimal score value for external measures

Instead of viewing all the validation measures, we can instead just view the optimal values as shown in Table 3. From table 3, we see that, for the APN measures, hierarchical clustering with three clusters while for ADM measures, hierarchical clustering with two clusters again gives the best score. It is illustrative to graphically visualize each of the validation measures.

The plots of the APN, AD, and ADM are given in Figure 3. The APN measure shows an interesting trend, in that it initially increases from two to four clusters (for both algorithm) but subsequently decreases afterwards (for hierarchical). Though hierarchical clustering with two clusters has the best score, K-means with four clusters is a close second. The AD measures tend to decrease as the number of clusters increases (for both algorithm). Here both algorithm with six cluster have the best overall score. K-means with six

clusters has better overall score than the hierarchical algorithms. For the ADM measure both algorithm with four clusters has the best score, though the hierarchal methods outperform K-means for smaller numbers of clusters.



Figure 3. Plot of the APN, AD, and AMD measures.

RANK	1	2	3
APN	hierarchical_3	hierarchical_2	hierarchical_4
AD	K-means_6	K-means_4	K-means_5
ADM	hierarchical_2	hierarchical_3	hierarchical_4
Connectivity	hierarchical_2	K-means-2	hierarchical_3
Dunn	hierarchical_2	hierarchical_3	hierarchical_4
Silhouette	hierarchical_2	K-means_2	hierarchical_3

Table 4. The top three ranking algorithms for each measure.

From Table 4, we see that hierarchical with two clusters performs best on four of the six measures, so picking the best algorithm is relatively simple in this case. However, in many cases there is no clearly best performing algorithm. Also, it would be rather difficult to give the overall ordered list, and we may be interested in, say, the top two or more performing algorithms instead of restricting ourselves to a single set of results.

7. Conclusions

HCA and K-means (Johnson R. A. and Wichern D. W., 2002) are used for reducing of dimension in a data set and the results show the efficiency of multivariate statistical analysis.

HCA and K-means are run and for 2 to 6 clusters stand out on two diagrams: *the dendrogram* and *the scree plot*. We see that the number of clusters once is two and once is three. Also, these two methods cannot be used when the number of observations is large, because this not easily distinguished. For these reasons it is good to use internal and external indicators.

HCA with two clusters performs best on four of the six measures, so picking the best algorithm is relatively simple in this case. Also, it would be rather difficult to give the overall ordered list, and we may be interested in, say, the top two or more performing algorithms instead of restricting ourselves to a single set of results.

8. References

- 1. A.K. Jain and R.C. Dubes. Algorithms for Clustering Data. Prentice Hall, 1998.
- 2. Anderberg, M. R., 1973. Cluster Analysis for Applications. New York: Academic.
- 3. Ashish Jaiswal and Nitin Janwe, 2011. Hierarchical Document Clustering: A Review. 2nd National Conference on Information and Communication Technology (NCICT). Proceedings published in International Journal of Computer Applications (IJCA).
- 4. Bolshakova, N. & Azuaje, F., 2003. Cluster validation techniques for genome expression data. Signal Processing, 83(4): 825-833.
- 5. Brian S. Everitt, Sabine Landau, Morven Leese and Daniel Stahl, 2011. Cluster Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. ISBN: 978-0-470-74991-3.
- 6. Chen, G., Jaradat, S. A., Banerjee, N., Tanaka, T. S., Ko, M. S. H., & Zhang, M. Q. (2002) Evaluation and Comparison of Clustering Algorithms in Analyzing ES Cell Gene Expression Data. Statistica Sinica, 12: 241-262.
- 7. Duda, P. E. Hart and D. G. Stork, Pattern Classification, Wiley, New York, 2001.
- 8. Holmes Finch, 2005. Comparison of distance Measures in Cluster Analysis with Dichotomous Data. Journal of Data Science 3. 85-100.
- 9. J. Dunn, "Well separated clusters and optimal fuzzy partitions," J. Cybern., vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 95–104, 1974.

- 10. Johnson, R. A. and Wichern, D.W., 2002. Applied Multivariate Statistical Analysis. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey.
- 11. Maria Halkidi, Yannis Batistakis, and Michalis Vazirgiannis. Cluster validity methods: Part i. *SIGMOD Record*, 31(2):40–45, 2002.
- 12. Michael Steinbach, George Karypis, and Vipin Kumar. A comparison of document clustering techniques. In Workshop on Text Mining, the 6th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, August 2000.
- 13. Romesburg, H. C. 1984. Cluster Analysis for Researchers. Belmont, Calif.: Lifetime Learning.
- 14. Rousseeuw, P.J., 1987. Silhouettes: A graphical aid to the interpretation and validation of cluster analysis. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 20, 53-65.

(F, h) cone upper class on Fixed Point Results in Quasi–Cone Metric Space for Generalized Contractive Mappings Using Diameter of Orbits

Eriola Sila¹⁾, Arslan Hojat Ansari²⁾, Silvana Liftaj²⁾

¹⁾ Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

²⁾ Department of Mathematics, Karaj Branch, Islamic Azad University, Karaj, Iran

²⁾ Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Information Technology, University "A. Moisiu", Durres, Albania

erjola.liftaj@fshn.edu.al, analsisamirmath2@gmail.com, silvana.liftaj@yahoo.com

Abstract

In this paper is defined cone upper class. Some fixed point theorems related to (F, h) - cone upper class in quasi - cone metric space are given. As applications to illustrate these results are provided some examples.

1. Introduction

In 2007, Huang and Zhang [13] introduced the concept of cone metric space replacing the real axis in distance function by an ordered Banach space. They proved some fixed point theorems generalizing the result of Kannan [11], Chatterja [12]. There are many authors like Binayak et al. [10], Raja and Vaezpour [14], Ding [18] have studied fixed point in cone metric spaces.

Later, in 2009 Abdeljawad and Karapinar [15] generalized cone metric spaces into quasi cone metric spaces. Using this generalization many authors like Sila et.al [16], Shaddad and Noorani [7], ect have given their contribution fixed points for contractions given in [8].

In 2012, Karapinar and Samet [1] proved some fixed point theorems related $\alpha - \psi$ contractive mappings in metric space and then Bilgili et al. [2] extended these result to quasi-cone metric space.

Later, Sila et al. [17] generalized these results in quasi-cone metric space using the diameter of orbits.

Recently A. H. Ansari [21] introduced the concept of (F, h) upper class of type I in metric spaces. In this paper is defined (F, h) upper class of type I and a class of $\alpha - \mu - \psi$ contractive mappings in quasi cone metric space and is proved some fixed point theorems which generalize the results of [2], [17].

Below there are given some preliminaries that are used for proving the new results.

Definition 1.1 [13] Let E be a real Banach space and P be a subset of E. P is called a cone if and only if:

1. *P* is closed, $P \neq \emptyset, P \neq \{0\}$;

2. For all $x, y \in P$, $\alpha x + \beta y \in P$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^+$;

3. if $x \in P$ and $-x \in P$ implies x = 0.

For a given cone $P \subset E$, we can define a partial ordering " \leq " with respect to *P* by $x \leq y$ if and only if $y - x \in P$. x < y will stand $x \leq y$ and $x \neq y$, while $x \ll y$ will stand for $y - x \in int P$, where int *P* denotes the interior of *P*.

The cone *P* is called normal if there is a number k > 0 such that $0 \le x \le y \Rightarrow ||x|| \le k||y||$, for all $x, y \in P$. The least positive *k* satisfying this, is called the normal constant of *P*.

Definition 1.2 [13] Let X be a nonempty set. Suppose the mapping $d: X \times X \rightarrow E$ satisfies following conditions:

1. $0 \le d(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$ and d(x, y) = 0 if and only if x = y;

2. d(x, y) = d(y, x) for all $x, y \in X$;

3. $d(x, y) \le d(x, z) + d(z, y)$ for all $x, y, z \in X$.

Then, d is called a *cone metric* on X and (X, d) is called a *cone metric space*.

Definition 1.3 [15] Let X be a nonempty set. Suppose the mapping $q: X \times X \rightarrow P$ satisfies following conditions:

1. $0 \le q(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$;

2. q(x, y) = 0 if and only if x = y;

3. $q(x, y) \le q(x, z) + q(z, y)$ for all $x, y, z \in X$.

Then, q is called a quasi-cone metric on X and (X, q) is called a quasi-cone metric space.

Remark 1.4 Note that any cone metric space is a quasi-cone metric space.

Shaddad and Noorani [7] introduced the appropriate generalization in quasi-cone metric spaces by considering the established notions in quasi-metric spaces.

Definition 1. 5 [7] *Let* (*X*, *q*) *be a quasi–cone metric space.*

A sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X is called right (left) Cauchy if for each $c \in \text{int } P$, there is $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $q(x_n, x_m) \ll c \ (q(x_m, x_n) \ll c \text{ resp.})$ for all $n \ge m \ge n_0$.

The sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in X is called Cauchy if and only if it is both left and right Cauchy.

Definition 1. 6 [7] *Let* (X, q) *be a quasi-cone metric space.* Let $\{x_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in *X*. We say that the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is right convergent to $x \in X$ if $q(x, x_n) \to 0$. We say that the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to $x \in X$ if the sequence is right and left convergent to x. We denote this by $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = x$ or $x_n \to x$.

Definition 1. 7 [7] *A quasi–cone metric space* (*X*, *q*) *is called complete if every Cauchy sequence in X converges.*

Definition 1. 8 [10] Let $O(x) = \{x, Tx, T^2x, ...\}$ where $x \in X$. The set O(x) is called orbit of x.

Using the same method as in [5], there is defined diameter of a set in quasi - cone metric space.

Definition 1. 9 ([5], [9]) *Let* $M \subseteq X$, *where* X *is a quasi-cone metric space.*

 $\delta(M) = \sup\{q(x, y), q(y, x), x, y \in M\} \text{ is called diameter of } M.$

Define $\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = \max\{q(T^i x, T^j x), q(T^k y, T^m y), q(T^i x, T^k y)\}$ for $i, j, k, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

The orbit O(x) is called bounded if there exist a $c \in P$, $\delta(O(x)) \leq c$.

Definition 1. 10 [4]*The continuous function* ψ : $P \rightarrow P$ *which satisfies the following conditions:*

- 1. $\forall t \in P, \psi(t) < t;$
- 2. $\forall t_1, t_2 \in P$, for $t_1 < t_2$ implies $\psi(t_1) < \psi(t_2)$;
- $3.\lim_{n\to\infty} \|\psi^n(c)\| = 0$

is called a *comparison function in cone P*.

Definition 1. 11 [3] *Let* (X, q) *be a quasi--cone metric space and* $T: X \rightarrow X$ *be a given function.*

The map T is $\alpha - \psi$ contractive mapping if there exist two functions $\alpha: X \times X \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$ and ψ a comparison function which satisfy the nonlinear contraction condition:

$$\alpha(x, y)q(T(x), T(y)) \le \psi(q(x, y)).$$

Definition 1. 12 [23] Let $T: X \to X$ and $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$. The mapping T is α –admissible if for all $x, y \in X$ the following implication is true

 $\alpha(x, y) \ge 1$ implies $\alpha(Tx, Ty) \ge 1$.

Definition 1. 13 [6] Let $T: X \to X$ and $\mu: X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$. The mapping T is μ – subadmissible if for all $x, y \in X$ and $\mu(x, y) \le 1$ the inequality $\mu(Tx, Ty) \le 1$ holds.

Definition 1. 14 [19, 20]A mapping $F: P^2 \rightarrow P$ is called cone *C*-class function if it is continuous and satisfies following axioms:

 $(1) F(s,t) \leq s;$

(2) F(s,t) = s implies that either $s = \theta$ or $t = \theta$; for all $s, t \in P$.

We denote C - class functions as C.

In 2014 the concept of pair (\mathcal{F}, h) is an upper class was introduced by A. H. Ansari in [21]

Definition 1. 15 [21, 22] The function $h: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function of subclass of type I, if $x \ge 1 \Rightarrow h(1, y) \le h(x, y)$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

Definition 1. 16 [21, 22] Let $h, \mathcal{F}: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$, then we say that the pair (\mathcal{F}, h) is an upper class of type *I*, if *h* is a function of subclass of type *I* and:

(i) $0 \le s \le 1 \Rightarrow \mathcal{F}(s,t) \le \mathcal{F}(1,t)$,

(*ii*) $h(1, y) \leq \mathcal{F}(s, t) \Rightarrow y \leq st \text{ for all } t, y \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

2. Main Results

Definition 2.1 *The function* $h: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{P} \to \mathbb{P}$ *is a cone function of subclass of type I, if* $x \ge 1 \Rightarrow h(1, y) \le h(x, y)$ *for all* $y \in \mathbb{P}$.

Example 2. 2 Define $h: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{P} \to \mathbb{P}$, where $P = \{(m, n) \in \mathbb{R}^2, m, n \ge 0\}$, by:

- 1. h(x, (m, n)) = x(m, n);
- 2. $h(x, (m, n)) = e^{x}(m, n),$
- 3. h(x, (s, t)) = (s, t);
- 4. $h(x, (s, t)) = \frac{1}{n+1} (\sum_{i=0}^{n} x^{i})(s, t), n \in \mathbb{N};$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then *h* is a cone function of subclass of type I.

Definition 2.3 *Let* $h, \mathcal{F}: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{P} \to \mathbb{P}$. *The pair* (\mathcal{F}, h) *is an upper class of type I, if* h *is a cone function of subclass of type I and:*

(i) for $0 \le s \le 1$ implies $\mathcal{F}(s,t) \le \mathcal{F}(1,t)$,

(ii) if $h(1, y) \leq \mathcal{F}(s, t)$ then $y \leq st$ for all $t, y \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Example 2. 4 Define $h, \mathcal{F}: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{P} \to \mathbb{P}$ by:

1. h(x, (m, n)) = x(m, n) and $\mathcal{F}(s, (u, w)) = s(u, w)$;

2. $h(x, y) = \frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} x^{i} \right) y, n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \mathcal{F}(s, t) = st;$

where $P = \{(m, n) \in \mathbb{R}^2, m, n \ge 0\}$. Then the pair (\mathcal{F}, h) is an cone upper class of type I.

Theorem 2. 5 Let (X,q) be a complete Hausdorff quasi-cone metric space and let $T: X \to X$ be a continuous function that satisfies the nonlinear contraction condition:

 $h(\alpha(x, y), q(T(x), T(y))) \le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x, y), \psi(M(x, y)).$

 $M(x,y) = \max\{q(x,y), q(Tx,x), q(Ty,y), \frac{1}{2}[q(Tx,y) + q(x,Ty)]\} \text{ for all } x, y \in X, \text{ the pair } (\mathcal{F},h) \text{ is an cone upper class of type I, and } \psi: P \to P \text{ is a continuous function that for every } t \in P, \psi(t) < t \text{ and } \forall t_1, t_2 \in P, \text{ for } t_1 < t_2 \text{ implies } \psi(t_1) < \psi(t_2).$

Suppose that

1. $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1, \mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. Define the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. The sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is right Cauchy.

Indeed, firstly, is proved that the sequence $\{q(T^{n+1}x_0, T^nx_0)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is monotonic decreasing as follows:

$$\begin{split} h(1,q(T^{n+1}x_0,T^nx_0)) &\leq h(\alpha(T^nx_0,T^{n-1}x_0),q(T^{n+1}x_0,T^nx_0)) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(\mu(T^nx_0,T^{n-1}x_0),\psi(M(T^nx_0,T^{n-1}x_0))) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(1,\psi(M(T^nx_0,T^{n-1}x_0))) \\ &q(T^{n+1}x_0,T^nx_0) \leq \psi(M(T^nx_0,T^{n-1}x_0)) \end{split}$$

where

$$M(T^{n}x_{0}, T^{n-1}x_{0}) = \left\{ q(T^{n}x_{0}, T^{n-1}x_{0}), q(T^{n+1}x_{0}, T^{n}x_{0}), q(T^{n}x_{0}, T^{n-1}x_{0}), \frac{1}{2} [q(T^{n+1}x_{0}, T^{n-1}x_{0}) + q(T^{n}x_{0}, T^{n}x_{0})] \right\} = \max\{q(T^{n}x_{0}, T^{n-1}x_{0}), q(T^{n+1}x_{0}, T^{n}x_{0})\}$$

Case 1. $M(T^n x_0, T^{n-1} x_0) = q(T^{n+1} x_0, T^n x_0)$, so $q(T^{n+1} x_0, T^n x_0) \le \psi(q(T^{n+1} x_0, T^n x_0))$ which is a contradiction.

Case 2. $M(T^n x_0, T^{n-1} x_0) = q(T^n x_0, T^{n-1} x_0)$, so

$$q(T^{n+1}x_0, T^nx_0) \le \psi(q(T^nx_0, T^{n-1}x_0)) \le q(T^nx_0, T^{n-1}x_0)$$
 for all $n \ge 1$.

Let $C_k = \sup\{q(T^i x_0, T^j x_0), i > j > k\}$. The sequence $\{C_k\}$ is monotonic decreasing and lower bound, so it converges to $C_0 \in P$. As a result, it yields

$$\forall p \in \mathbb{N}, i_p > j_p > p, C_p - \frac{C_0}{p} \le q \left(T^{i_p} x_0, T^{j_p} x_0 \right) \le C_p \text{ implies } q \left(T^{i_p} x_0, T^{j_p} x_0 \right) \to C_0 \text{ as } p \to \infty$$

Below is proved that $C_0 = 0$.

$$q(T^{i_p+1}x_0, T^{j_p+1}x_0) \le \alpha(T^{i_p}x_0, T^{j_p}x_0)q(T^{i_p+1}x_0, T^{j_p+1}x_0) \le \psi(M(T^{i_p}x_0, T^{j_p}x_0))$$

Taking the limit when $p \to +\infty$, is taken $C_0 \le \psi(C_0)$, so $C_0 = 0$.

Using the same method, it can be proved that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}$ is left Cauchy. So it is a Cauchy sequence and since the space is complete, it is convergent to x^* .

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}q(T^nx_0,x^*)=\lim_{n\to\infty}q(x^*,T^nx_0)=0.$$

Since T is continuous $\lim_{n \to \infty} q(T^n x_0, Tx^*) = \lim_{n \to \infty} q(T(T^{n-1} x_0), Tx^*)) = 0.$

Furthermore, $\lim_{n\to\infty} q(Tx^*, T^n x_0) = \lim_{n\to\infty} q(Tx^*, T(T^{n-1}x_0)) = 0.$

Thus, $\lim_{n\to\infty}q(T^nx_0,Tx^*)=\lim_{n\to\infty}q(Tx^*,T^nx_0)=0.$

As X is Hausdorff, it is true that $x^* = Tx^*$ and x^* is a fixed point of T.

In the following theorem the function $T: X \to X$ is non-continuous.

Theorem 2. 6 Let (X, q) be a complete, Hausdorff quasi-cone metric space where cone is normal with constant of normality K and T: $X \rightarrow X$ be a function that satisfies the nonlinear contraction condition:
$h(\alpha(x,y),q(Tx,Ty))) \leq \mathcal{F}(\mu(x,y),\psi(N(x,y))$

where $N(x, y) = \max\{q(x, y), \frac{1}{a}[q(Tx, x) + q(Ty, y)], \frac{1}{a}[q(Tx, y) + q(x, Ty)]\}$ for all $x, y \in X, a \ge K, \psi: P \to P$ is a continuous function that for every $t \in P, \psi(t) < t$ and $\forall t_1, t_2 \in P$, for $t_1 < t_2$ implies $\psi(t_1) < \psi(t_2)$.

Suppose that

1. $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1, \mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$, for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

2. If $\{T^n x\}$ is a sequence such that $\alpha(T^{n+1}x_0, T^n x_0) \ge 1, \mu(T^{n+1}x_0, T^n x_0) \le 1$ for all n and $T^n x \to x^*$ as $n \to \infty$, then there exists a subsequence $\{T^{n_k}x\}$ of $\{T^n x\}$ such that $\alpha(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \ge 1, \alpha(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \ge 1, \mu(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \le 1, \mu(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \le 1$.

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. Define the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Continuing the same procedure as Theorem 2. 5, we prove that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy and so it converges to x^* .

From Condition 2 of theorem, there exist a subsequence $\{T^{n_k}x_0\}$ of $\{T^nx_0\}$, such that $\alpha(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \ge 1$, $\alpha(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \ge 1$ for all $k \in N$.

$$\begin{split} h(1,q(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0)) &\leq h(\alpha(x^*,T^{n_k}x_0),q(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0)) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(\mu(x^*,T^{n_k}x_0),\psi(N(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0))) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(1,\psi(N(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0))) \\ q(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0) &\leq \psi(N(Tx^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0) < N(Tx^*,T^{n_k}x_0) \\ &= \max\{q(x^*,T^{n_k}x_0),\frac{1}{a}[q(Tx^*,x^*) + q(T^{n_k+1}x_0,T^{n_k}x_0)], \\ &\qquad \frac{1}{a}[q(Tx^*,T^{n_k}x_0) + q(T^{n_k+1}x_0,x^*)]\} \end{split}$$

Taking the limit when $n_k \to +\infty$, $N(Tx^*, T^{n_k}x_0)$ converges to $\frac{1}{a}q(Tx^*, x^*)$.

From $q(Tx^*, T^{n_k+1}x_0) \le \psi(N(Tx^*, T^{n_k}x_0)) < N(Tx^*, T^{n_k}x_0)$ and taking the limit when $n_k \to +\infty$, is taken the following inequality

$$q(Tx^*,x^*) < \frac{1}{a}q(Tx^*,x^*),$$

which is a contradiction. Consequently, $q(Tx^*, x^*) = 0$ and $Tx^* = x^*$ and x^* is a fixed point of T.

In the following theorem the function *T* is taken non-continuous.

Theorem 2. 7 Let (X,q) be a complete Hausdorff quasi-cone metric space and let $T: X \to X$ be a continuous function that satisfies the nonlinear contraction condition:

 $h(\alpha(x, y)q(T(x), T(y))) \le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x, y), \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y))))$

for all $x, y \in X$, where $\psi: P \to P$ is a comparison function and the pair (\mathcal{F}, h) is a cone upper class of type *I*. Suppose that $\alpha, \mu: X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1$ and $\mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$ for every $n, m \in N$.

Moreover for $x_0 \in X$, the orbit $O(x_0)$ is bounded.

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in N}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. From condition of theorem, there exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1$ and $\mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$. Define the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Below is proved that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is right Cauchy.

Taking $x = T^{n+i}x_0$, $y = T^{n+j}x_0$, where $i, j, n \in N$ and i > j.

 $h(1,q(Tx,Ty)) \le h(\alpha(x,y),q(Tx,Ty))$ $\le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x,y),\psi(\delta(O(x)\cup O(y))))$ $\le \mathcal{F}(1,\psi(\delta(O(x)\cup O(y))))$

As a result

$$q(Tx, Ty) = q(T^{n+i+1}x_0, T^{n+j+1}x_0)$$

$$\leq \psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)))$$

$$= \psi(\delta(O(T^{n+i}x_0) \cup O(T^{n+j}x_0)))$$

$$< \psi(\delta(O(T^nx_0))$$

So, it is true that $(T^{n+i+1}x_0, T^{n+j+1}x_0) \le \psi(\delta(O(T^nx_0)))$

for every $i, j, n \in N$ and i > j.

Furthermore

$$q(T^{n+i+1}x_0, T^{n+j+1}x_0) \le \delta(O(T^{n+1}x_0)) = \max\{q(T^{n+i+1}x_0, T^{n+j+1}x_0), i, j \in \mathbb{N}\} \le \psi(\delta(O(T^nx_0))).$$

From this, it yields

$$q(T^{n+i+1}x_0, T^{n+j+1}x_0) \le \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(T^nx_0)))$$

$$\le \psi^2(\delta(\mathcal{O}(T^{n-1}x_0))) \le \cdots$$

$$\le \psi^n(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x_0))) \le \psi^n(c)$$

Due to $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|\psi^n(c)\| = 0 \Leftrightarrow (\forall \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa} > 0) (\exists n_0 \in N) (\forall n > n_0 \Rightarrow \|\psi^n(c)\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa})$, where *K* is the constant of normality of cone, we have

$$\left\|q(T^{n+i+1}x_0,T^{n+j+1}x_0)\right\| \le K \|\psi^n(c)\| < K \cdot \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa} = \varepsilon, \text{ for } n > n_0, \text{ and } i > j.$$

Consequently, the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is right Cauchy. In the same manner it can be proved that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is left Cauchy. Since (X, q) is complete, there exists a point $x^* \in X$ such that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to $x^* \in X$, so $q(T^n x_0, x^*) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ and $q(x^*, T^n x_0) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$.

The point x^* is a fixed point of T, $Tx^* = x^*$. Indeed, it is true that $\lim_{n \to +\infty} q(T^n x_0, x^*) = 0$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} q(x^*, T^n x_0) = 0$. By using the continuity of T, we have $\lim_{n \to +\infty} q(T(T^n x_0), Tx^*) = 0$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} q(Tx^*, T(T^n x_0)) = 0$. By uniqueness of the limit, it is concluded that $Tx^* = x^*$.

Theorem 2.8 *Let* (X,q) *be a complete Hausdorff quasi-cone metric space and let* $T: X \to X$ *be a function that satisfies the nonlinear contraction condition:*

$$h(\alpha(x, y)q(T(x), T(y))) \le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x, y), \psi(\frac{1}{a}\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y))))$$

for $x, y \in X$ and $a \ge K$, where $\psi: P \to P$ is a comparison function. Suppose that

1. $\alpha, \mu: X \times X \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1$ and $\mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

2. If $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence such that for $T^n x \to x^* \in X$ as $n \to \infty$, then there exists a subsequence $\{T^{n_k} x\}$ of $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $\alpha(T^{n_k} x, T^q x^*) \ge 1$, $\alpha(T^{n_k} x, x^*) \ge 1, \alpha(x^*, T^{n_k} x) \ge 1$ and $\mu(T^{n_k} x, T^q x^*) \le 1, \mu(T^{n_k} x, x^*) \le 1, \mu(x^*, T^{n_k} x) \le 1$.

Moreover for every $z \in X$, the orbit O(z) is bounded. Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1$. Define the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Using the same method as in Theorem 2. 7 it can be proved that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy. Since (X, q) is complete, there

exists a point $x^* \in X$ such that the sequence $\{T^n x_0\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $x^* \in X$, so $q(T^n x_0, x^*) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$ and $q(x^*, T^n x_0) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$.

The next step is to prove that x^* is a fixed point of T, $Tx^* = x^*$. For this, it is needed to prove that the sequence $\{T^m x_0\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to x^* . Suppose that this sequence converges to $l \in X$.

$$\begin{split} h(1,q(T^{n_k+1}x^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0)) &\leq h(\alpha(T^{n_k}x^*,T^{n_k}x_0),q(T^{n_k+1}x^*,T^{n_k+1}x_0)) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(\mu(T^{n_k}x^*,T^{n_k}x_0),\psi(\frac{1}{a}\delta(O(T^{n_k}x^*)\cup O(T^{n_k}x_0))) \\ &\leq \mathcal{F}(1,\psi(\frac{1}{a}\delta(O(T^{n_k}x^*)\cup O(T^{n_k}x_0)))) \end{split}$$

So, the following inequality is true.

$$\begin{aligned} q(T^{n_k+1}x^*, T^{n_k+1}x_0) &\leq \psi(\frac{1}{a}\delta(O(T^{n_k}x^*) \cup O(T^{n_k}x_0))) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{a}\delta(O(T^{n_k}x^*) \cup O(T^{n_k}x_0)) \\ &= \frac{1}{a}\max\{q^{n_k+i}x^*, T^{n_k+j}x^*\}, q(T^{n_k+p}x_0, T^{n_k+r}x_0), q(T^{n_k+i}x^*, T^{n_k+p}x_0)\} \end{aligned}$$

for $i, j, p, r \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Taking the limit of both sides when $k \to \infty$, $q(l, x^*) < \frac{1}{a}q(l, x^*)$.

So this is a contradiction, and it yields $q(l, x^*) = 0$, $l = x^*$.

Now we prove that x^* is a fixed point of T.

$$h(1, q(T^{n_k+1}x^*, Tx^*)) \le h(\alpha(T^{n_k}x^*, Tx^*), q(T^{n_k+1}x^*, Tx^*))$$

$$\le \mathcal{F}(\mu(T^{n_k}x^*, Tx^*), (\frac{1}{a}\delta(O(T^{n_k}x^*) \cup O(x^*))))$$

$$\le \mathcal{F}(1, (\frac{1}{a}(O(T^{n_k}x^*) O(x^*))))$$

Corollary 2. 9 (X,q) a quasi-cone metric space and $T: X \to X$ a α -admissible and μ -subadmissible such that $\alpha(x, y)d(Tx, Ty) \leq \mu(x, y)\psi(M(x, y))$, where $\psi: P \to P$ is a continuous function that satisfies the conditions $\psi(0) = 0, \forall t \in P, \psi(t) < t$ and $\forall t_1, t_2 \in P$, for $t_1 < t_2$ implies $\psi(t_1) < \psi(t_2)$ and

1. $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, +\infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1, \mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

2. If $\{T^n x\}$ is a sequence such that $\alpha(T^{n+1}x_0, T^n x_0) \ge 1, \mu(T^{n+1}x_0, T^n x_0) \le 1$ for all $n \in N$ and $T^n x \to x^*$ as $n \to +\infty$, then there exists a subsequence $\{T^{n_k}x\}$ of $\{T^n x\}$, such that $\alpha(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \ge 1, \alpha(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \ge 1, \mu(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \le 1, \mu(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \le 1$.

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. Taking h(s, t) = st and F(x, y) = xy in Theorem 2. 7, the corollary is true.

Corollary 2. 10 Let (X,q) a quasi-cone metric space and and $T: X \to X$ a α -admissible and such that $\alpha(x, y)d(Tx, Ty) \leq \psi(M(x, y)), \varphi, \psi: P \to P$ satisfies the conditions $\psi(0) = 0, \forall t \in P, \psi(t) < t$ and ψ is semi-lower continuous and

1. $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies the property that exists $x_0 \in X$ such that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge 1$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

2. If $\{T^n x\}$ is a sequence such that $\alpha(T^{n+1}x_0, T^n x_0) \ge 1$ for all $n \in N$ and $T^n x \to x^*$ as $n \to \infty$, then there exists a subsequence $\{T^{n_k}x\}$ of $\{T^n x\}$ such that

 $\alpha(T^{n_k}x, x^*) \ge 1, \alpha(x^*, T^{n_k}x) \ge 1.$

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. Taking h(s, t) = st and F(x, y) = xy and $\mu(x, y) = 1$ in Theorem 2.7, the corollary is proved.

Corollary 2. 11 Let (X, q) a quasi-cone metric space and $T: X \to X$ such that $d(Tx, Ty) \le \psi(M(x, y))$, $\psi: P \to P$ satisfies the conditions $\psi(0) = 0, \forall t \in P, \psi(t) < t$ and ψ is increasing.

Then T has a fixed point $x^* \in X$ and the sequence $\{T^n x\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to x^* .

Proof. Taking h(s, t) = st and F(x, y) = xy and $\alpha(x, y) = 1$, $\mu(x, y) = 1$ in Theorem 2. 7, the corollary is proved.

3. Examples

Example 3. 1 Let $X = [0,1], E = \mathbb{R}^2$, and P a normal cone with constant of normality $K, P = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, x, y \ge 0\}$. Determine $q: X \times X \to P$,

$$q(x,y) = \begin{cases} (\frac{y}{3}, y), & x < y\\ (0,0), & x = y\\ (x, 3x), & x > y \end{cases}$$

is a quasi-cone metric and (X, q) is quasi-cone metric space.

Taking h(x, y) = xy and $\mathcal{F}(x, y) = xy$ we have that the pair (\mathcal{F}, h) is an cone upper class of type I. Let $T: X \to X, T(x) = x^2$ be a continuous function, $\psi: P \to P, \psi(x, y) = (\frac{x}{3}, \frac{y}{3})$ be a comparison function and $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, \infty), \alpha(x, y) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \max(x, y), x \neq y \\ a, x = y \end{cases}$, where $a \ge 1$, $\mu: X \times X \to [0, \infty), \mu(x, y) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \neq y \\ b, & x = y \end{cases}$, where b < 1. The function T satisfies the condition of Theorem 2. 7. Indeed, taking $x_0 = 0$ it is true that $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) = a \ge 1$ and $\mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) = b < 1$.

Moreover, *T* satisfies the nonlinear contraction of Theorem 2. 7.

Case 1. x = y

This case is trivial because q(Tx, Ty) = 0.

Case 2. x = y

In this case

$$q(Tx,Ty) = q(x^{2},y^{2}) = (\frac{y^{2}}{3},y), \alpha(x,y) = \frac{y}{3}$$
$$\mu(x,y) = 1, h(\alpha(x,y),q(Tx,Ty)) = (\frac{y^{3}}{3},y^{3})$$
$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = \max\{q(x,y),q(x,Tx),q(y,Ty),q(x,T^{i}x),q(y,T^{j}y),q(T^{i}x,T^{j}y),q(T^{i}x,T^{k}x),q(T^{j}y,T^{p}y)\}$$
$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (y,3y), \psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (\frac{y}{3},y)$$

Consequently, the nonlinear contraction of Theorem 2.7 is taken.

$$h(\alpha(x, y), q(Tx, Ty)) \le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x, y), \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y)))).$$

Case 3. *x* > *y*

$$q(Tx, Ty) = q(x^2, y^2) = (x^2, 3x^2), \alpha(x, y) = \frac{x}{3},$$
$$\mu(x, y) = 1, h(\alpha(x, y), q(Tx, Ty)) = (\frac{x^3}{3}, x^3)$$

 $\delta(\mathcal{O}(x)\cup\mathcal{O}(y))=\max\{q(x,y),q(x,Tx),q(y,Ty),q(x,T^ix),q(y,T^jy),$

$$q(T^{i}x, T^{j}y), q(T^{i}x, T^{k}x), q(T^{j}y, T^{p}y)\}$$
$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (x, 3x), \psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (\frac{x}{3}, x)$$

As a result, the nonlinear contraction of Theorem 2.7 is completed.

$$h(\alpha(x, y), q(Tx, Ty)) \le \mathcal{F}(\mu(x, y), \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y)))).$$

So the function T has fixed points. The points x = 0 and x = 1 are the fixed points of T.

Example 3. 2 Let $X = [0,1], E = \mathbb{R}^2$, and P be a normal cone, $P = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, x, y \ge 0\}$. Determine $q: X \times X \rightarrow P$, such that

$$q(x,y) = \begin{cases} (\frac{y}{2}, y), & x < y\\ (0,0), & x = y\\ (x, 2x) & x > y \end{cases}$$

is a quasi-cone metric and (X, q) is quasi-cone metric space.

Let

$$T: X \to X, T(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{x^4}{3}, & 0 \le x < \frac{1}{9} \\ \frac{1}{9}, & \frac{1}{9} \le x \le 1 \end{cases}$$

be a non-continuous function, $\psi: P \to P, \psi(x, y) = (\frac{x}{2}, \frac{y}{2})$ be a comparison function and $\alpha: X \times X \to [0, \infty)$,

$$\alpha(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0, & (x,y) \in [0,\frac{1}{9}) \times [\frac{1}{9},1] \cup [\frac{1}{9},1] \times [0,\frac{1}{9}) \\ b, & x = y \\ \frac{1}{3}\max\{x,y\}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where $b \ge 1$, $\mu: X \times X \to [0, \infty)$,

$$\mu(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}, & (x,y) \in [0,\frac{1}{9}) \times [\frac{1}{9},1] \cup [\frac{1}{9},1] \times [0,\frac{1}{9}) \\ c, & x = y \\ \max\{x,y\}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where $0 \le c < 1$.

The function satisfies the conditions of Theorem 2.8.

Indeed, taking $x_0 = 0$ the following inequalities are true $\alpha(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \ge \mu(T^n x_0, T^m x_0) \le 1$.

Also $T^n 0 \to 0$ when $n \to +\infty$, so $\alpha(T^n 0, 0) \ge 1$, $\mu(T^n 0, 0) \le 1$.

Below is shown that the function T satisfies the nonlinear contraction of Theorem 2.8.

Consequently, it needs to prove that for every $(x, y) \in X \times X$, the inequality

$$\frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\alpha(x,y))^{i}\right) q(Tx,Ty) \le \mu(x,y) \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y))$$

holds.

Case 1. x = y. This case is trivial because q(Tx, Ty) = 0.

Case 2. 1. $x, y \in [0, \frac{1}{9}), x < y$. In this case $Tx = \frac{x^4}{3}, Ty = \frac{y^4}{3}, \alpha(x, y) = \frac{y}{3}, \mu(x, y) = y$,

$$\frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\frac{y}{3})^{i} \right) q\left(\frac{x^{4}}{3}, \frac{y^{4}}{3}\right) = \frac{1}{n+1} \frac{1 - (\frac{y}{3})^{n}}{1 - \frac{y}{3}} \left(\frac{y^{4}}{6}, \frac{y^{4}}{3}\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{n+1} \frac{3}{3-y} \left(\frac{y^{4}}{6}, \frac{y^{4}}{3}\right) \leq \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{y^{4}}{6}, \frac{y^{4}}{3}\right) = \left(\frac{y^{4}}{8}, \frac{y^{4}}{4}\right) \leq y\left(\frac{y}{2}, y\right)$$

$$= \mu(x, y)\psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)))$$

$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = \max\{q(x, y), q(x, Tx), q(y, Ty), q(x, T^{i}x), q(y, T^{j}y), q(T^{i}x, T^{j}y), q(T^{i}x, T^{k}x), q(T^{j}y, T^{p}y)\}$$

$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (y, 2y), \psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (\frac{y}{2}, y)$$

Case 2. 2. $x, y \in [0, \frac{1}{9}), x > y$ In this case $Tx = \frac{x^4}{3}, Ty = \frac{y^4}{3}, \alpha(x, y) = \frac{x}{3}, \mu(x, y) = x$, .

$$\frac{1}{n+1}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\frac{x}{3})^{i}\right)q\left(\frac{x^{4}}{3}, \frac{y^{4}}{3}\right) = \frac{1}{n+1}\frac{1-(\frac{x}{3})^{n}}{1-\frac{x}{3}}\left(\frac{x^{4}}{3}, \frac{2y^{4}}{3}\right) \le \frac{1}{n+1} \cdot \frac{3}{3-x}\left(\frac{x^{4}}{3}, \frac{2y^{4}}{3}\right) \le \frac{3}{4}\left(\frac{x^{4}}{3}, \frac{2y^{4}}{3}\right)$$

$$= (\frac{x^4}{4}, \frac{y^4}{2}) \le (\frac{x}{2}, y) = \mu(x, y)\psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) \ \delta(O(x) \cup O(y))$$

= max {q(x, y), q(x, Tx), q(y, Ty), q(x, T^ix), q(y, T^jy), q(T^ix, T^jy), q(T^ix, T^kx), q(T^jy, T^py)}

$$\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (x, 2y), \quad \psi(\delta(O(x) \cup O(y)) = (\frac{x}{2}, y)$$

Case 3. 1. $x, y \in [\frac{1}{9}, 1], x < y \text{ or } x > y$. So, $Tx = \frac{1}{9}, Ty = \frac{1}{9}, q(Tx, Ty) = 0$, so

$$\frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\alpha(x,y))^{i}\right) q(Tx,Ty) \le \mu(x,y) \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y))$$

Case 4. 1. $x \in [0, \frac{1}{9}), y \in [\frac{1}{9}, 1]$. Consequently, $Tx = \frac{x^4}{3}, Ty = \frac{1}{9}, \alpha(x, y) = 0, \mu(x, y) = \frac{1}{2}$, so

$$\frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\alpha(x,y))^{i}\right) q(Tx,Ty) \le \mu(x,y) \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y)))$$

Case 4. 2. $y \in [0, \frac{1}{9}), x \in [\frac{1}{9}, 1]$. In this case $Ty = \frac{y^4}{3}, Tx = \frac{1}{9}, q(Tx, Ty) = 0$, so

$$\frac{1}{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n} (\alpha(x,y))^{i}\right) q(Tx,Ty) \le \mu(x,y) \psi(\delta(\mathcal{O}(x) \cup \mathcal{O}(y))$$

So the function T has fixed points. The points x = 0 and $x = \frac{1}{9}$ are the fixed points of T.

4. Conclusion

Conclusion 4. 1 For h(x, y) = xy and $\mathcal{F}(s, t) = st$ and $\mu(x, y) = 1$ in Theorem 2.7 and Theorem 2.8, there are taken the conditions of results of [17]. So, these results generalize the results of [17]. **Conclusion 4. 2** Corollary 2.10 is a generalization of Theorem 3.4 of [1] and Theorem 14 of [2].

Conclusion 4. 3 Every result mentioned in corollaries above are true in case when it is replaced M(x, y) by $\delta(O(x) \cup O(y))$, which are generalizations of results in [9].

5. References

[1] E. Karapinar and B. Samet, "Generalized $\alpha - \psi$ Contractive Type Mappings and Related Fixed Point Theorems with applications", Hindawi Publishing corporation, Abstract and Applied Analysis, Vol 2012, article ID 793486, 17 pages.

- [2] N. Bilgili, E. Karapinar and B. Samet, "Generalized $\alpha \psi$ contractive type mappings in quasi-metric spaces and related fixed point theorems", Journal of Inequalities and Applications 2014, 2014/1/36
- [3] B. Samet, C. Vetro, P. Vetro, "Fixed point theorem for $\alpha \psi$ contractive type mappings", Nonlinear Anal. 75, 2154-2165 (2012)
- [4] Hussain N, Kadelburg Z, Radenovic S, Al Solami F, "Comparison functions and fixed point results in partial metric spaces." Abstr. Appl. Anal 2012., 2012: Article ID 605781

[5] Jacek Jachymski, "A generalization of the theorem by Rhoades and Watson for contractive type mappings", Math, Japonica 38, No. 6 (1993), 1095-1102.

[6] Peyman Salimi, Abdul Latif and Nawab Hussain, Modified $\alpha - \psi$ contractive mappings with applications, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, 2013, 2013:151

[7] F. Shaddad and Noorani, "Fixed point results in quasi-cone metric spaces", Abstract and Applied Analysis, vol 2013, Article ID 303626, 7 pages.

[8] B. E. Rhoades, "A Comparison of various definitions of contractive mappings", Transactions of American Mathematical Society, Vol 226, pp 257-290, 1977.

[9] Sila. E, Hoxha. E, Some Generalizations of Fixed Point Theorems in Quasi-Cone Metric Space Relating to the Diameter of Orbits by Using a Comparison Function, Journal of Mathematical Analysis, ISSN: 2217-3412, URL: http://ilirias. com/jma Volume 7 Issue 5(2016), Pages 132-139.

- [10] Lj. B.Ciric, On some maps with a nonunique fixed point, Publ. Inst. Math., 17 (1974), 52–58
- [11] R. Kannan, "Some results on fixed points", Bulletin of the Calcutta Mathematical Society, vol. 10, pp. 71-76, 1968.
- [12] S. K. Chatterjea, "Fixed-point theorems", Comptes Rendus de lâ Academie Bulgare des Sciences, vol. 25, pp. 727-730, 1972.
- [13] L. G. Huang and X. Zhang, "Cone metric spaces and fixed point theorems of contractive mappings", J. Math. Anal. Appl., 332 (2007), 1468-1476.
- [14] P. Raja and S. M. Vaezpour, "Some extensions of Banach's contraction Principle in complete cone metric space", Hindawi publishing Corporation, Fixed point theory and Applications, Vol 2008, Article ID 768294, 11 pages.
- [15] T. Abdeljaward and E. Karapinar, "Quasi-cone metric spaces and generalization of Caristi Kirk's Theorem", Fixed Point Theory and Application, Vol. 2009, No. 1, article ID 574387.

- [16] E. Sila, E. Hoxha, K. Dule, "Some Fixed Point Results on *p*–Quasi–Cone Metric Space", Proceedings in Arsa 2014, pp. 277-275.
- [17] E. Sila, E. Hoxha, "Fixed Point Results in Quasi Cone Metric Space for generalized $\alpha \psi$ contractive mappings using diameter of orbit", JAM, vol. 10, No. 2 (2015), pp. 3195-3204.
- [18] Hui-Sheng Ding, Zoran Kadelburg, Erdal Karapinar, and Stojan Radenovi, *Common fixed points of weak contractions in cone metric spaces*, Abstr. Appl. Anal., Volume 2012, Article ID 793862
- [19] Arslan Hojat Ansari, Sumit Chandok and Diana Doli CANIN- Deki C, Coincidence and Common Fixed Points for Generalized Contractive Mappings in Regular Cone Metric Spaces Via New Function, J. Adv. Math. Stud. Vol. 9(2016), No. 2, 171-182
- [20] Arslan Hojat Ansari, Sumit Chandok, Nawab Hussain and Ljiljana Paunovi C, Fixed Points of (ψ, φ) -Weak Contractions in Regular Cone Metric Spaces Via New Function, J. Adv. Math. Stud. Vol. 9(2016), No. 1, 72-82
- [21] A. H. Ansari, Note on " α -admissible mappings and related fixed point theorems", The 2nd Regional Conference on Mathematics and Applications, PNU, September 2014, pages373-376
- [22] A. H. Ansari and S. Shukla, Some fixed point theorems for ordered $F (\mathcal{F}, h)$ -contraction and subcontractions in 0-*f*-orbitally complete partial metric spaces, J. Adv. Math . Vol. 9 (2016), No. 1, 37-53.
- [23] Samet, B, Vetro, C, Vetro, P., Fixed point theorems for $\alpha \psi$ –contractive type mappings. Nonlinear Anal. 75, 2154-2165 (2012).

Configurations of SDM Methods Proposed between 1999 and 2012: A Follow-up Study

Tuğçe Aydın, Serdar Enginoğlu

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Turkey E-mail(s): aydinttugce@gmail.com, serdarenginoglu@gmail.com

Abstract

Recently, the concept of fuzzy parameterized fuzzy soft matrices (*fpfs*-matrices) has become a prominent mathematical tool to cope with decision-making problems, where both parameters and alternatives are fuzzy. Therefore, many soft decision-making (SDM) methods, constructed by the substructures of this concept, have been configured faithfully to the original to render them operable in *fpfs*-matrices space and successfully applied to decision-making problems. In this study, we complete the configurations of the SDM methods having been constructed with soft sets, soft matrices, and their fuzzy hybrid versions and proposed between 1999 and 2012. Afterwards, we apply the configured methods herein to a performance based-value assignment (PVA) intended for the known filters used in image denoising, so that we can compare their ranking performances. Finally, we discuss the need for further research.

Keywords - Fuzzy sets, soft sets, soft matrices, fpfs-matrices, soft decision-making, PVA problems

1. Introduction

The concepts of soft sets [1], fuzzy soft sets [2,3], fuzzy parameterized soft sets [4], and fuzzy parameterized fuzzy soft sets (*fpfs*-sets) [5] have been propounded to model uncertainties in which alternatives or parameters are fuzzy. Moreover, to allow for processing soft decision-making (SDM) methods constructed by these concepts in a computer environment, the concepts of soft matrices [6], fuzzy soft matrices (*fs*-matrices) [7], and fuzzy parameterized fuzzy soft matrices (*fpfs*-matrices) [8] have been introduced. So far, many theoretical and applied studies in certain areas ranging from algebra to machine learning have been conducted on the concepts [9-25].

Recently, 43 SDM methods, constructed by the aforesaid concepts, have been configured in [26-28] to operate them in *fpfs*-matrices space and successfully applied to performance-based value assignment (PVA) problems. Moreover, several methods in [29-34] have been simplified and improved to apply them to PVA problems. The results show that the improvements have provided a crucial advantage in the presence of PVA problems.

The primary motivation of this study is to complete the configurations of the SDM methods having been constructed with soft sets, soft matrices, and their fuzzy hybrid versions and proposed between 1999 and 2012. Therefore, we consider the methods provided in [35-43]. In [35], the authors have availed of fuzzy soft sets to model a problem concerning object recognition. After that, [36] has revised the method provided

in [35] and applied it to the same problem. In [37], the authors have developed a method constructed by soft sets and based on the grey relational analysis. Moreover, they have applied this method to a problem concerning the eligibility of candidates in an online job advertisement and compared it with the uni-int SDM method [10]. In [38], the authors have applied *fs*-matrices to the problem of finding a healthy environment. [39] has used *fs*-matrices to arrive at a decision on a purchasing problem. Similarly, [40] has suggested two SDM methods using the soft matrices to decide upon a dress and factory purchase problem. In [41], the authors have attempted to overcome a city selection problem by employing fuzzy parameterized soft sets. [42] has studied a house purchase problem through soft sets. In [43], the authors have proposed a method by revising the algorithm given in [35].

In Section 2 of the present paper, we give the concepts of *fs*-matrices and *fpfs*-matrices and some of their basic definitions. Besides, we present three of the configured SDM methods in [26,28] to be employed in the next sections. In Section 3, to operate in *fpfs*-matrices, we configure 12 SDM methods, constructed by soft sets, fuzzy soft sets, fuzzy parameterized soft sets, soft matrices, and *fs*-matrices. In Section 4, we apply six of the configured methods to a PVA problem with the known filters used in image denoising. In Section 5, we discuss the need for further research.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, firstly, we present the concepts of *fs*-matrices [7] and *fpfs*-matrices [8] and some of their basic definitions. Throughout this study, let *E* be a parameter set, *F*(*E*) be the set of all fuzzy sets over *E*, and $\mu \in F(E)$. Here, a fuzzy set is denoted by $\{\mu(x)x \mid x \in E\}$.

Definition 1. [2,3] Let U be a universal set, E be a parameter set, and α be a function from E to F(U). Then, the set $\{(x, \alpha(x)) | x \in E\}$, being the graphic of α , is called a fuzzy soft set (fs-set) parameterized via E over U (or briefly over U).

In the present paper, the set of all the *fs*-sets over *U* is denoted by $FS_E(U)$. In $FS_E(U)$, since the *graph*(α) and α generate each other uniquely, the notations are interchangeable. Therefore, as long as it causes no confusion, we denote an *fs*-set *graph*(α) by α .

Example 1. Let $E = \{x_1, x_2, x_3\}$ and $U = \{u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4\}$. Then, $\alpha = \{(x_1, \{{}^{0.6}u_1, {}^{0.3}u_3, {}^{0.5}u_4\}), (x_2, \{{}^{0.7}u_3, {}^{0.1}u_4\}), (x_3, \{{}^{0.2}u_2, {}^{0.9}u_3, {}^{0.5}u_4\})\}$

is an *fs*-set over *U*.

Definition 2. [7] Let $\alpha \in FS_E(U)$. Then, $[a_{ij}]$ is called fs-matrix of α and is defined by

such that $a_{ij} \coloneqq \alpha(x_j)(u_i)$, for $i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots\}$. Here, if |U| = m and |E| = n, then $[a_{ij}]$ has order $m \times n$.

From now on, the set of all the *fs*-matrices parameterized via *E* over *U* is denoted by $FS_E[U]$. **Example 2.** The *fs*-matrix of α provided in Example 1 is as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} a_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0.2 \\ 0.3 & 0.7 & 0.9 \\ 0.5 & 0.1 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}$$

Definition 3. [7] Let $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n_1} \in FS_{E_1}[U]$, $[b_{ik}]_{m \times n_2} \in FS_{E_2}[U]$, and $[c_{ip}]_{m \times n_1 n_2} \in FS_{E_1 \times E_2}[U]$ such that $p = n_2(j-1) + k$. For all i and p, if $c_{ip} \coloneqq \min\{a_{ij}, b_{ik}\}$, then $[c_{ip}]$ is called and-product of $[a_{ij}]$ and $[b_{ik}]$ and is denoted by $[a_{ij}] \wedge [b_{ik}]$.

Definition 4. [5] Let U be a universal set, $\mu \in F(E)$, and α be a function from μ to F(U). Then, the set $\{(\mu(x)x, \alpha(\mu(x)x)) | x \in E\}$, being the graphic of α , is called a fuzzy parameterized fuzzy soft set (fpfs-set) parameterized via E over U (or briefly over U).

In this paper, the set of all the *fpfs*-sets over U is denoted by $FPFS_E(U)$. In $FPFS_E(U)$, since the $graph(\alpha)$ and α generate each other uniquely, the notations are interchangeable. Therefore, as long as it causes no confusion, we denote an *fpfs*-set $graph(\alpha)$ by α .

Example 3. Let $E = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4\}$ and $U = \{u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4, u_5\}$. Then,

 $\alpha = \{ ({}^{0.3}x_1, \{{}^{0.4}u_1, {}^{0.8}u_2, {}^{0.2}u_4, {}^{0.9}u_5 \}), ({}^{0.1}x_2, \{{}^{0.7}u_3, {}^{0.5}u_5 \}), ({}^{0.3}x_3, \{{}^{0.6}u_2, {}^{0.1}u_3, {}^{0.5}u_4 \}), ({}^{0.7}x_4, \{{}^{0.3}u_2, {}^{0.8}u_4, {}^{1}u_5 \}) \}$ is an *fpfs*-set over *U*.

Definition 5. [8] Let $\alpha \in FPFS_E(U)$. Then, $[a_{ij}]$ is called the fpfs-matrix of α and is defined by

	$\int^{a_{01}}$	a_{02}	a_{03}		a_{0n}	••••
	<i>a</i> ₁₁	<i>a</i> ₁₂	<i>a</i> ₁₃		a_{1n}	
$[a_{ij}] =$:	÷	÷	·.	÷	÷
	<i>a</i> _{<i>m</i>1}	a_{m2}	a_{m3}		a _{mn}	
	L	•	:	•.	•	•••

such that for $i \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots\}$ *and* $j \in \{1, 2, \dots\}$ *,*

$$a_{ij} \coloneqq \begin{cases} \mu(x_j), & i = 0\\ \alpha(\mu(x_j)x_j)(u_i), & i \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

Here, if |U| = m - 1 and |E| = n, then $[a_{ij}]$ has order $m \times n$.

Hereinafter, the set of all the *fpfs*-matrices parameterized via *E* over *U* is denoted by $FPFS_E[U]$.

Example 4. The fpfs-matrix of α provided in Example 3 is as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} a_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.3 & 0.1 & 0.3 & 0.7 \\ 0.4 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0.8 & 0 & 0.6 & 0.3 \\ 0 & 0.7 & 0.1 & 0 \\ 0.2 & 0 & 0.5 & 0.8 \\ 0.9 & 0.5 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

Definition 6. [8] Let $[a_{ij}], [b_{ij}], [c_{ij}] \in FPFS_E[U]$. For all *i* and *j*, if $c_{ij} \coloneqq \max\{a_{ij}, b_{ij}\}$, then $[c_{ij}]$ is called union of $[a_{ij}]$ and $[b_{ij}]$ and is denoted by $[a_{ij}] \widetilde{\cup} [b_{ij}]$.

Definition 7. [8] Let $[a_{ij}], [b_{ij}] \in FPFS_E[U]$. For all i and j, if $b_{ij} \coloneqq 1 - a_{ij}$, then $[b_{ij}]$ is called complement of $[a_{ij}]$ and is denoted by $[a_{ij}]^{\tilde{c}}$ or $[a_{ij}^{\tilde{c}}]$.

To obtain an increasing sequence consisting of all the elements of an index set, being a subset of \mathbb{N}^n , we define a linear ordering relation over \mathbb{N}^n as follows:

Definition 8. Let $(j_1, j_2, ..., j_n), (k_1, k_2, ..., k_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$. Then, the relation " \leq " is called linear ordering relation and is defined by

$$(j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n) \leq (k_1, k_2, \dots, k_n) \Leftrightarrow [j_1 < k_1 \lor (j_1 = k_1 \land j_2 < k_2) \lor \dots \lor (j_1 = k_1 \land j_2 = k_2 \land \dots \land j_{n-1} = k_{n-1} \land j_n \leq k_n)]$$

Secondly, we give some of the configured algorithms, provided in [26,28], to be required in the next section of the paper. Henceforth, $I_n = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ and $I_n^* = \{0, 1, 2, \dots, n\}$.

MBR01 [26]

Step 1. Construct an *fpfs*-matrix $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$

Step 2. Obtain $[b_{ik}]_{(m-1)\times(m-1)}$ defined by $b_{ik} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^n a_{0j}\chi(a_{ij}, a_{kj}), i, k \in I_{m-1}$ such that

$$\chi(a_{ij}, a_{kj}) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 1, & a_{ij} \ge a_{kj} \\ 0, & a_{ij} < a_{kj} \end{cases}$$

Step 3. Obtain $[c_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $c_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} b_{ik}$, $i \in I_{m-1}$

Step 4. Obtain $[d_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $d_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} b_{ki}$, $i \in I_{m-1}$

Step 5. Obtain the score matrix
$$[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$$
 defined by $s_{i1} \coloneqq c_{i1} - d_{i1}$, $i \in I_{m-1}$

Step 6. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1} + |\min s_{i1}|}{\max_i s_{i1} + |\min s_{i1}|}$

MRB02 [26]

Step 1. Construct an *fpfs*-matrix $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$

Step 2. Obtain the score matrix $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $s_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{0j}a_{ij}$, $i \in I_{m-1}$ **Step 3.** Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1}}{\max s_{i1}}$

M11 [28]

Step 1.Construct an *fpfs*-matrix $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$

Step 2. Obtain $[b_{ik}]_{(m-1)\times(m-1)}$ defined by $b_{ik} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{0j} (a_{ij} - a_{kj}), \quad i, k \in I_{m-1}$ Step 3. Obtain the score matrix $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $s_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} b_{ik}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$ Step 4. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1} + |\min s_{i1}|}{\max_i s_{i1} + |\min s_{i1}|}$

3. Configurations of 12 SDM Methods

In this section, we configure 12 SDM methods constructed by soft sets [37,42], fuzzy soft sets [35,36,43], fuzzy parameterized soft sets [41], soft matrices [40], and *fs*-matrices [38,39]. Thus, we complete the configurations of the SDM methods having been constructed with soft sets, soft matrices, and their fuzzy hybrid versions and proposed between 1999 and 2012. In [26-28], the authors have propounded a notation consisting of the first letters of the authors' surnames of the papers and the last two digits of their publication year to refer to each method. We too use this notation style in the present study.

In [35], the authors have benefitted from fuzzy soft sets to model a problem concerning object recognition. We configure the proposed methods therein as follows:

Algorithm 1 (RM07a)

Step 1. Construct three *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n_1}$, $[b_{ik}]_{m \times n_2}$, and $[c_{il}]_{m \times n_3}$

Step 2. Determine an indices set *R* such that $R \subseteq I_{n_1} \times I_{n_2} \times I_{n_3}$

Step 3. Obtain increasing sequence (r_t) consisting of all elements of R such that $r_t := (u_t, v_t, w_t)$ **Step 4.** Obtain $[d_{it}]_{m \times |R|}$ defined by

$$d_{it} \coloneqq \min_{r \in R} \{a_{iu_t}, b_{iv_t}, c_{iw_t}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}^*$$

Here, |R| denotes the cardinality of R.

Step 5. Apply MBR01 to $[d_{it}]$

Algorithm 2 (RM07o)

Step 1. Construct three *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n_1}$, $[b_{ik}]_{m \times n_2}$, and $[c_{il}]_{m \times n_3}$

Step 2. Determine an indices set *R* such that $R \subseteq I_{n_1} \times I_{n_2} \times I_{n_3}$

Step 3. Obtain increasing sequence (r_t) consisting of all elements of *R* such that $r_t := (u_t, v_t, w_t)$ **Step 4.** Obtain $[d_{it}]_{m \times |R|}$ defined by

$$d_{it} \coloneqq \max_{r_t \in R} \{a_{iu_t}, b_{iv_t}, c_{iw_t}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}^*$$

Here, |R| denotes the cardinality of *R*. **Step 5.** Apply MBR01 to $[d_{it}]$

In [36], the researchers have revised the method provided in [35]. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 3 (KGW09)

Step 1. Apply RM07a except its Step 5 **Step 2.** Apply M11 to $[d_{it}]$

[37] has developed a new method constructed by soft sets and based on the grey relational analysis. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 4 (KWW11/2(w,z))

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Apply MRB02 to the matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and obtain the score matrices $[s_{i1}^1]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ and $[s_{i1}^2]_{(m-1)\times 1}$, respectively

Step 3. Obtain $[c_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ and $[d_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$c_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{s_{i1}^1 - \min_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^1}{\max_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^1 - \min_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^1}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

and

$$d_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{s_{i1}^2 - \min_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^2}{\max_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^2 - \min_{k \in I_{m-1}} s_{k1}^2}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 4. Obtain $[e_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ and $[f_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$e_{i1} \coloneqq \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} c_{k1} - c_{i1}, i \in I_{m-1}$$

and

$$f_{i1} \coloneqq \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} d_{k1} - d_{i1}, \ i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 5. For
$$w \in [0,1]$$
, obtain $[g_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ and $[h_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$g_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{\min_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\} + w \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\}}{e_{i1} + w \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\}}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

and

$$h_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{\min_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\} + w \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\}}{f_{i1} + w \max_{k \in I_{m-1}} \{e_{k1}, f_{k1}\}}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 6. For $z \in [0,1]$, obtain the score matrix $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $s_{i1} \coloneqq zg_{i1} + (1-z)h_{i1}, i \in I_{m-1}$

Step 7. Obtain the (w, z)-decision set $\{ \mu(u_k) u_k | u_k \in U \}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1}}{\max_{i} s_{i1}}$

In [38], the authors have applied *fs*-matrices to the problem of finding a healthy environment. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 5 (NS11)

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Obtain *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}^{\tilde{c}}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}^{\tilde{c}}$ **Step 3.** Obtain union *fpfs*-matrix $[c_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ of $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 4.** Obtain union *fpfs*-matrix $[d_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ of $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}^{\tilde{c}}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}^{\tilde{c}}$ **Step 5.** Obtain $[e_{ij}]_{(m-1) \times n}$ defined by

 $e_{ij} \coloneqq (c_{0j} - d_{0j})(c_{ij} - d_{ij}), i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$ matrix [5] be a defined by

Step 6. Obtain the score matrix $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{n} e_{ij}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 7. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1} + |\min s_{i1}|}{\max_i s_{i1} + |\min s_{i1}|}$

[39] has used *fs*-matrices to make a decision on a purchasing problem. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 6 (BMM12)

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Obtain $[c_{kj}]_{n \times n}$ and $[d_{kj}]_{n \times n}$ defined by $c_{kj} \coloneqq \min\{a_{0j}, b_{0k}\}, \quad k, j \in I_n$

and

$$d_{kj} \coloneqq c_{jk}, \quad k, j \in I_n$$

Step 3. Obtain $[e_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ and $[f_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ defined by $e_{ij} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \min\{a_{ik}, d_{kj}\}, i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$

and

$$f_{ij} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \min\{b_{ik}, c_{kj}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_m$$

Step 4. Obtain
$$[g_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$$
 and $[h_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ defined by
 $g_{ij} \coloneqq \frac{e_{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} e_{ij}}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$

and

$$h_{ij} \coloneqq \frac{f_{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^n f_{ij}}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$$

Step 5. Obtain $[u_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$

$$u_{ij} \coloneqq \max\{g_{ij}, h_{ij}\}, i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_m$$

Step 6. Obtain the score matrix $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{n} u_{ij}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 7. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k_1}}{\max_{k \in U} s_{i_1}}$

The authors in [40] have modelled the problems of buying a dress and factory through soft matrices. We configure the proposed methods therein as follows:

Algorithm 7 (BMM12/2)

Step 1. Construct three *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$, $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$, and $[c_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Obtain $[d_{kj}]_{n \times n}$, $[e_{kj}]_{n \times n}$, and $[f_{kj}]_{n \times n}$ defined by $d_{kj} \coloneqq \min\{\mathbf{a}_{0j}, b_{0k}, \mathbf{c}_{0k}\}, \quad k, j \in I_n$ $e_{kj} \coloneqq \min\{\mathbf{a}_{0k}, b_{0j}, \mathbf{c}_{0k}\}, \quad k, j \in I_n$

and

$$f_{kj} \coloneqq \min\{a_{0k}, b_{0k}, c_{0j}\}, \quad k, j \in I_n$$

Step 3. Obtain $[u_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$, $[v_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ and $[w_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ defined by
 $u_{ij} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \min\{a_{ik}, d_{kj}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$
 $v_{ij} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \min\{b_{ik}, e_{kj}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$
and

$$w_{ij} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \min\{c_{ik}, f_{kj}\}, \quad i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_m$$

Step 4. Obtain $[g_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$

$$g_{ij} \coloneqq \max\{u_{ij}, v_{ij}, w_{ij}\}, i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_n$$

Step 5. Obtain $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{i1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 6. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k | u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1}}{\max_{l} s_{l1}}$

Algorithm 8 (BMM12/3)

Step 1. Apply BMM12 except its Step 4.

In [41], the authors have attempted to overcome a city selection problem employing fuzzy parameterized soft sets. We configure the proposed methods therein as follows:

Algorithm 9 (CD12/3)

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Obtain $[c_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ defined by

$$c_{0j} \coloneqq a_{0j} + b_{0j} - a_{0j}b_{0j}, \ j \in I_m$$

and

$$c_{ij} \coloneqq \max\{a_{ij}, b_{ij}\}, i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_m$$

Step 3. Obtain $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{1}{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{0j} c_{ij}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 4. Obtain the decision set $\left\{ {}^{\mu(u_k)}u_k | u_k \in U \right\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1}}{\max_i s_{i1}}$

Algorithm 10 (CD12/4)

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 2.** Obtain $[c_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ defined by

$$c_{0j} \coloneqq a_{0j}b_{0j}$$
 and $c_{ij} \coloneqq \min\{a_{ij}, b_{ij}\}, i \in I_{m-1} \text{ and } j \in I_m$

Step 3. Obtain $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{i1} \coloneqq \frac{1}{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{0j} c_{ij}, \quad i \in I_{m-1}$$

Step 4. Obtain the decision set $\left\{ {}^{\mu(u_k)}u_k | u_k \in U \right\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1}}{\max_i s_{i1}}$

In [42], the authors have studied a house purchase problem through soft sets. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 11 (FLC12)

Step 1. Construct two *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[b_{ik}]_{m \times n}$

Step 2. Obtain two *fs*-matrices
$$[c_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$$
 and $[d_{ij}]_{(m-1)\times n}$ defined by

$$c_{ij} \coloneqq \begin{cases} a_{0j}, & \sum_{t=1}^{n} a_{0t} a_{it} \ge \sum_{t=1}^{J} a_{0t} \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

and

$$d_{ij} \coloneqq \begin{cases} b_{0j}, & \sum_{t=1}^{n} b_{0t} b_{it} \ge \sum_{t=1}^{j} b_{0t} \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

such that $i \in I_{m-1}$ and $j \in I_n$

Step 3. Obtain and-product *fs*-matrix $[e_{ip}]_{m \times n^2}$ of $[c_{ij}]_{m \times n}$ and $[d_{ik}]_{m \times n}$ **Step 4.** Obtain $[c_{ik}]_{m \times n}$ defined by $c_{ik} := c_{ik}$ such that $i \in I$ and l := m

Step 4. Obtain $[s_{i1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by $s_{i1} \coloneqq e_{il}$ such that $i \in I_{m-1}$ and $l \coloneqq \max\{p | \exists i \in I_{m-1}, e_{ip} \neq 0\}$ **Step 5.** Obtain the decision set $\{s_{k1}u_k | u_k \in U\}$

[43] has proposed a method by revising the algorithm provided in [35]. We configure the proposed method therein as follows:

Algorithm 12 (QYZ12)

Step 1. Apply RM07a except its Step 5 **Step 2.** Obtain $[e_{it}^p]_{(m-1)\times|R|}$ defined by

$$e_{it}^{p} := \begin{cases} d_{ot}, & d_{pt} > d_{it} \\ 0, & d_{pt} = d_{it} \\ -d_{ot}, & d_{pt} < d_{it} \end{cases}$$

such that $i, p \in I_{m-1}$ and $t \in I_{|R|}$

Step 3. Obtain the score matrix $[s_{p1}]_{(m-1)\times 1}$ defined by

$$s_{p1} \coloneqq [1 \quad 1 \quad \cdots \quad 1]_{1 \times (m-1)} \cdot [e_{it}^{p}]_{(m-1) \times |R|} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}_{|R| \times 1}, \quad p \in I_{m-1}$$

r1-1

Step 4. Obtain the decision set $\{\mu(u_k)u_k \mid u_k \in U\}$ such that $\mu(u_k) = \frac{s_{k1} + |\min s_{i1}|}{\max_i s_{i1} + |\min s_{i1}|}$

4. An Application of Some of the Configured Methods to PVA Problem

In this section, we apply KWW11/2(w,z), NS11, BMM12, BMM12/3, CD12/3, and CD12/4 to a PVA problem intended for the known filters used in image denoising. To this end, we present the results of the filters in [44], harvested with Structural Similarity (SSIM) [45] and Visual Information Fidelity (VIF) [46], for the 20 traditional images at noise densities ranging from 10% to 90% in Table 1 and 2, respectively. The results herein were obtained by MATLAB R2020b.

Table 1. Mean-SSIM results of the filters for the 20 traditional images

Filters/Noise Density	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%
DBA	0.9796	0.9584	0.9315	0.8968	0.8520	0.7949	0.7213	0.6265	0.4966
MDBUTMF	0.9774	0.9197	0.8117	0.7973	0.8399	0.8410	0.8025	0.7023	0.3566
BPDF	0.9783	0.9536	0.9229	0.8838	0.8323	0.7634	0.6680	0.5096	0.2585
NAFSMF	0.9748	0.9504	0.9248	0.8973	0.8666	0.8320	0.7910	0.7357	0.6190
AWMF	0.9728	0.9622	0.9484	0.9315	0.9098	0.8816	0.8437	0.7904	0.7028
DAMF	0.9854	0.9699	0.9516	0.9303	0.9051	0.8748	0.8368	0.7846	0.6964
ARmF	0.9868	0.9735	0.9581	0.9400	0.9173	0.8880	0.8491	0.7947	0.7056

Table 2. Mean-VIF results of the filters for the 20 traditional images

Filters/Noise Density	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%
DBA	0.8548	0.7319	0.6179	0.5119	0.4095	0.3128	0.2229	0.1365	0.0635
MDBUTMF	0.8272	0.6713	0.5044	0.4420	0.4310	0.3978	0.3302	0.2212	0.0730
BPDF	0.8188	0.6858	0.5659	0.4564	0.3529	0.2541	0.1614	0.0783	0.0334
NAFSMF	0.7902	0.6751	0.5828	0.5030	0.4307	0.3604	0.2897	0.2129	0.1226
AWMF	0.7896	0.7366	0.6789	0.6181	0.5533	0.4833	0.4066	0.3129	0.1928
DAMF	0.8787	0.7816	0.6943	0.6162	0.5437	0.4731	0.3998	0.3096	0.1913
ARmF	0.8832	0.7975	0.7210	0.6474	0.5741	0.4974	0.4158	0.3182	0.1955

Suppose that the success of the seven filters at high noise densities is more important than at other densities. In that case, the values in Table 1 and 2 can be represented with two *fpfs*-matrices, constructed in the first steps of the algorithms as follows:

	г0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9
	0.9796	0.9584	0.9315	0.8968	0.8520	0.7949	0.7213	0.6265	0.4966
	0.9774	0.9197	0.8117	0.7973	0.8399	0.8410	0.8025	0.7023	0.3566
[a]	0.9783	0.9536	0.9229	0.8838	0.8323	0.7634	0.6680	0.5096	0.2585
$[a_{ij}] \cdot -$	0.9748	0.9504	0.9248	0.8973	0.8666	0.8320	0.7910	0.7357	0.6190
	0.9728	0.9622	0.9484	0.9315	0.9098	0.8816	0.8437	0.7904	0.7028
	0.9854	0.9699	0.9516	0.9303	0.9051	0.8748	0.8368	0.7846	0.6964
	L _{0.9868}	0.9735	0.9581	0.9400	0.9173	0.8880	0.8491	0.7947	0.7056

and

0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.7 0.1 0.5 0.8 0.9 0.8548 0.7319 0.6179 0.5119 0.4095 0.0635 0.3128 0.2229 0.1365 $[b_{ij}] \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} 0.0316 & 0.7319 & 0.0179 & 0.0179 & 0.0179 & 0.01093 & 0.0120 & 0.2229 \\ 0.8272 & 0.6713 & 0.5044 & 0.4420 & 0.4310 & 0.3978 & 0.3302 \\ 0.8188 & 0.6858 & 0.5659 & 0.4564 & 0.3529 & 0.2541 & 0.1614 \\ 0.7902 & 0.6751 & 0.5828 & 0.5030 & 0.4307 & 0.3604 & 0.2897 \\ 0.7896 & 0.7366 & 0.6789 & 0.6181 & 0.5533 & 0.4833 & 0.4066 \end{bmatrix}$ 0.0730 0.2212 0.0334 0.0783 0.2129 0.1226 0.3129 0.1928 0.7816 0.6943 0.6162 0.5437 0.4731 0.3998 0.3096 0.1913 0.8787 0.1955 -0.88320.7975 0.7210 0.6474 0.5741 0.4974 0.4158 0.3182

Performance Ranking of the Filters via KWW11/2(w,z)

Step 2. If MRB02 to $[a_{ij}]$ and $[b_{ij}]$ is applied, then the score matrices $[s_{i1}^1]$ and $[s_{i1}^2]$ are as follows: $[s_{i1}^1] = [3.2838 \quad 3.2132 \quad 2.9011 \quad 3.5588$ 3.7861 3.7678 $[3.8134]^T$ $1.9523 \ 1.9544 \ 2.0301]^T$ $[s_{i1}^2] = [1.3368 \quad 1.4731 \quad 1.1060 \quad 1.5051$ **Step 3.** The matrices $[c_{i1}]$ and $[d_{i1}]$ are as follows: $[c_{i1}] = [0.4195 \quad 0.3421 \quad 0 \quad 0.7176 \quad 0.9701 \quad 0.9499 \quad 1]^T$ $[d_{i1}] = [0.2498 \quad 0.3972 \quad 0 \quad 0.4319 \quad 0.9158 \quad 0.9180 \quad 1]^T$ **Step 4.** The matrices $[e_{i1}]$ and $[f_{i1}]$ are as follows: $[e_{i1}] = [0.5805 \quad 0.6579 \quad 1 \quad 0.2824 \quad 0.0299 \quad 0.0501$ $[0]^{T}$ $[f_{i1}] = [0.7502 \quad 0.6028 \quad 1 \quad 0.5681 \quad 0.0842 \quad 0.0820 \quad 0]^T$ **Step 5.** For w = 0.5, the matrices $[g_{i1}]$ and $[h_{i1}]$ are as follows: $[g_{i1}] = [0.4627 \quad 0.4318 \quad 0.3333 \quad 0.6391 \quad 0.9435 \quad 0.9090 \quad 1]^T$ $[h_{i1}] = [0.3999 \quad 0.4534 \quad 0.3333 \quad 0.4681 \quad 0.8558 \quad 0.8591$ $[1]^{T}$ **Step 6.** For z = 0.5, the score matrix is as follows: $0.8997 \quad 0.8841 \quad 1]^T$ $[s_{i1}] = [0.4313 \quad 0.4426 \quad 0.3333 \quad 0.5536$ Step 7. The (0.5,0.5)-decision set is as follows:

{^{0.4313}DBA, ^{0.4426}MDBUTMF, ^{0.3333}BPDF, ^{0.5536}NAFSMF, ^{0.8997}AWMF, ^{0.8841}DAMF, ¹ARmF}

Performance Ranking of the Filters via NS11

Step 2. The *fpfs*-matrices $[a_{ij}]^{\tilde{c}}$ and $[b_{ij}]^{\tilde{c}}$ are as follows:

	г0.9	0.8	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.2	ן 0.1
	0.0204	0.0416	0.0685	0.1032	0.1480	0.2051	0.2787	0.3735	0.5034
	0.0226	0.0803	0.1883	0.2027	0.1601	0.1590	0.1975	0.2977	0.6434
$\begin{bmatrix} a \end{bmatrix}^{\tilde{c}} =$	0.0217	0.0464	0.0771	0.1162	0.1677	0.2366	0.3320	0.4904	0.7415
$[a_{ij}] -$	0.0252	0.0496	0.0752	0.1027	0.1334	0.1680	0.2090	0.2643	0.3810
	0.0272	0.0378	0.0516	0.0685	0.0902	0.1184	0.1563	0.2096	0.2972
	0.0146	0.0301	0.0484	0.0697	0.0949	0.1252	0.1632	0.2154	0.3036
	L0.0132	0.0265	0.0419	0.0600	0.0827	0.1120	0.1509	0.2053	0.2944

and

	1	г0.9	0.8	0.7		0.6	0.	5	0.4	(0.3	0.2	(ן 0.1
		0.1452	0.2681	0.382	21	0.488	1 0.	5905	0.68	72).777	1 0.863	35 ().9365
		0.1728	0.3287	0.495	6	0.558	0 0.	5690	0.60	22	0.669	8 0.778	88 (0.9270
[h	٦ ^ĉ _	0.1812	0.3142	0.434	1	0.543	6 0.	6471	0.74	59 (0.838	6 0.921	.7 ().9666
[D	'ij] =	0.2098	0.3249	0.417	'2	0.497	0 0.	5693	0.63	96	0.710	3 0.787	'1 ().8774
		0.2104	0.2634	0.321	1	0.381	9 0.	4467	0.51	67	0.593	4 0.687	'1 (0.8072
		0.1213	0.2184	0.305	57	0.383	8 0.	4563	0.52	69	0.600	2 0.690)4 (0.8087
		0.1168	0.2025	0.279	0	0.352	6 0.	4259	0.50	26	0.584	2 0.681	.8 ().8045
Step 3. Th	ne <i>fpfs</i> -1	matrix [<i>c_i</i>	$\left[i \right]$ is as fo	ollows:										
	r0.1	0.2	0.	3	0.4		0.5	0.	6	0.7		0.8	0.9	1
	0.9	796 0.9	584 0.	9315	0.89	968	0.852	0 0.	7949	0.72	13	0.6265	0.49	66
	0.9	774 0.9	197 0.	8117	0.79	973	0.839	9 0.	8410	0.80	25	0.7023	0.35	66
[_]	_ 0.9	783 0.9	536 0.	9229	0.88	338	0.832	3 0.	7634	0.66	80	0.5096	0.25	85
$\begin{bmatrix} c_{ij} \end{bmatrix}$	= 0.9'	748 0.9	504 0.	9248	0.89	973	0.866	6 0.	8320	0.79	10	0.7357	0.61	90
	0.9	728 0.9	622 0.	9484	0.93	315	0.909	8 0.	8816	0.84	37	0.7904	0.70	28
	0.9	854 0.9	699 0.	9516	0.93	303	0.905	1 0.	8748	0.83	68	0.7846	0.69	64
	L _{0.98}	868 0.9	735 0.	9581	0.94	400	0.917	3 0.	8880	0.84	91	0.7947	0.70	56J
Step 4. The <i>fpfs</i> -matrix $[d_{ij}]$ is as follows:														
	г0.9	0.8	3 0.	7	0.6		0.5	0.	4	0.3		0.2	0.1	1
	0.1	452 0.2	2681 0.	3821	0.48	881	0.590	5 0.	6872	0.77	71	0.8635	0.93	65
	0.1	728 0.3	287 0.	4956	0.55	580	0.569	0 0.	6022	0.66	98	0.7788	0.92	70
[].	_ 0.1	812 0.3	142 0.	4341	0.54	436	0.647	1 0.	7459	0.83	86	0.9217	0.96	66
	0.2	098 0.3	249 0.	4172	0.49	970	0.569	3 0.	6396	0.71	03	0.7871	0.87	74
	0.2	104 0.2	.634 0.	3211	0.38	819	0.446	7 0.	5167	0.59	34	0.6871	0.80	72
	0.1	213 0.2	2184 0.	3057	0.38	838	0.456	3 0.	5269	0.60	02	0.6904	0.80	87
	L0.1	168 0.2	2025 0.	2790	0.3	526	0.425	9 0.	5026	0.58	42	0.6818	0.80	451
Step 5. Th	ne matr	ix [e _{ij}] is	as follow	/s:										
ſ	-0.662	75 -0.4	-142 –	0.2198	_	0.081	7 0	0.02	215 -	-0.02	23 -	-0.1422	-0	ן3519.
	-0.643	37 -0.3	3546 -	0.1264	_	0.047	90	0.04	78	0.053	1 -	-0.0459	-0	.4563
	-0.637	77 –0.3	8836 -	0.1955	_	0.068	0 0	0.00)35 -	-0.06	82 -	-0.2473	-0	.5665
$\left[e_{ij}\right] = \left[$	-0.612	20 -0.3	3753 —	0.2030	_	0.080	1 0	0.03	885	0.032	3 -	-0.0308	-0	.2067
	-0.609	99 -0.4	- 193 –	0.2509	_	0.109	90	0.07	730	0.100	1	0.0620	-0	.0835
	-0.692	13 -0.4	- 509	0.2584	_	0.109	3 0	0.06	596	0.094	6	0.0565	-0	.0898
	-0.696	60 - 0.4	626 –	0.2716	_	0.117	5 0	0.07	71	0.106	0	0.0677	-0	.0791
Step 6. Th	ne score	e matrix is	s as follow	ws:				-		_		. .		г
$[S_i]$	1] = [-	-1.8781	-1.574	-2	.163	34 —	1.437	2 –	1.238	5 —	1.378	9 -1.32	761]	L

Step 7. The decision set is as follows:

{^{0.3084}DBA, ^{0.6373}MDBUTMF, ⁰BPDF, ^{0.7851}NAFSMF, ¹AWMF, ^{0.8481}DAMF, ^{0.8512}ARmF}

Performance Ranking of the Filters via BMM12

Step 2. The matrices	$\left[c_{kj}\right]$	and	$\left[d_{kj}\right]$	are as follows:
----------------------	-----------------------	-----	-----------------------	-----------------

$$\begin{bmatrix} c_{kj} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 & 0.2 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.3 & 0.3 & 0.3 & 0.3 & 0.3 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.5 & 0.5 & 0.5 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.6 & 0.6 & 0.6 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.7 & 0.7 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.8 & 0.8 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.8 & 0.8 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.8 & 0.9 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} d_{kj} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 & 0.1 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.8 & 0.9 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 & 0.4 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.5 & 0.5 & 0.5 & 0.5 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.7 & 0.7 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.7 & 0.7 \\ 0.1 & 0.2 & 0.3 & 0.4 & 0.5 & 0.6 & 0.7 & 0.8 & 0.9 \end{bmatrix}$$

Step 3. The matrices $[e_{kj}]$ and $[f_{kj}]$ are as follows:

and

$$[e_{kj}] = \begin{bmatrix} 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.4966 & 3.7966 & 3.9231 & 3.9231 & 3.9231 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 2.9566 & 3.3566 & 3.6566 & 3.8566 & 3.8589 & 3.8589 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.3585 & 2.8585 & 3.2585 & 3.4681 & 3.5361 & 3.5361 & 3.5361 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.1190 & 4.1547 & 4.1547 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.2932 & 4.2932 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.2932 & 4.2932 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.2033 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.3003 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.3003 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.3003 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.3003 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.7000 & 2.4000 & 3.0000 & 3.5000 & 3.9000 & 4.2000 & 4.3003 & 4.3003 \\ 0.9000 & 1.6928 & 2.0942 & 2.4222 & 2.4532 & 2.4532 & 2.4532 & 2.4532 & 2.4532 \\ 0.9000 & 1.6928 & 2.2928 & 2.7057 & 2.8956 & 2.8956 & 2.8956 & 2.8956 & 2.8956 \\ 0.9000 & 1.6913 & 2.2913 & 2.7007 & 2.8738 & 2.8738 & 2.8738 & 2.8738 & 2.8738 \\ 0.9000 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9269 & 1.6925 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9269 & 1.6925 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955 & 2.7137 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 & 2.9269 \\ 0.9260 & 1.6955 & 2.2955$$

Step 4. The matrices $[g_{kj}]$ and $[h_{kj}]$ are as follows:

	_								
	r0.0047	0.0089	0.0126	0.0157	0.0183	0.0199	0.0205	0.0205	0.0205
	0.0047	0.0089	0.0126	0.0155	0.0176	0.0191	0.0202	0.0202	0.0202
	0.0047	0.0089	0.0123	0.0150	0.0170	0.0181	0.0185	0.0185	0.0185
$[g_{ki}] =$	= 0.0047	0.0089	0.0126	0.0157	0.0183	0.0204	0.0216	0.0217	0.0217
	0.0047	0.0089	0.0126	0.0157	0.0183	0.0204	0.0220	0.0225	0.0225
	0.0047	0.0089	0.0126	0.0157	0.0183	0.0204	0.0220	0.0224	0.0224
	$L_{0.0047}$	0.0089	0.0126	0.0157	0.0183	0.0204	0.0220	0.0225	0.0225
and									
	г0.0063	0.0110	0.0140	0.0156	0.0157	0.0157	0.0157	0.0157	0.0157
	0.0064	0.0115	0.0153	0.0177	0.0179	0.0179	0.0179	0.0179	0.0179
	0.0059	0.0100	0.0126	0.0137	0.0137	0.0137	0.0137	0.0137	0.0137
$[h_{ki}] =$	= 0.0066	0.0118	0.0155	0.0174	0.0176	0.0176	0.0176	0.0176	0.0176
	0.0066	0.0124	0.0167	0.0198	0.0211	0.0211	0.0211	0.0211	0.0211
	0.0066	0.0124	0.0167	0.0197	0.0210	0.0210	0.0210	0.0210	0.0210
	L _{0.0066}	0.0124	0.0168	0.0198	0.0214	0.0214	0.0214	0.0214	0.0214
Step 5. The	matrix $\begin{bmatrix} u \end{bmatrix}$	[i] is as fo	llows:						
-	г0.0063	0.0110	0.0140	0.0157	0.0183	0.0199	0.0205	0.0205	0.0205ן
	0.0064	0.0115	0.0153	0.0177	0.0179	0.0191	0.0202	0.0202	0.0202
	0.0059	0.0100	0.0126	0.0150	0.0170	0.0181	0.0185	0.0185	0.0185
$[u_{ii}] =$	0.0066	0.0118	0.0155	0.0174	0.0183	0.0204	0.0216	0.0217	0.0217
5 93	0.0066	0.0124	0.0167	0.0198	0.0211	0.0211	0.0220	0.0225	0.0225
	0.0066	0.0124	0.0167	0.0197	0.0210	0.0210	0.0220	0.0224	0.0224
	$L_{0.0066}$	0.0124	0.0168	0.0198	0.0214	0.0214	0.0220	0.0225	0.0225

Step 6. The score matrix is as follows:

 $[s_{i1}] = [0.1467 \quad 0.1484 \quad 0.1342 \quad 0.1551 \quad 0.1646 \quad 0.1641 \quad 0.1652]^T$

Step 7. The decision set is as follows:

{^{0.8879}DBA, ^{0.8983}MDBUTMF, ^{0.8122}BPDF, ^{0.9386}NAFSMF, ^{0.9962}AWMF, ^{0.9930}DAMF, ¹ARmF}

Performance Ranking of the Filters via BMM12/3

Step 4. Let us consider $[e_{kj}]$ and $[f_{kj}]$ provided in BMM12, then the matrix $[g_{ij}]$ is as follows:

2.4000	2.9566	3.3566	3.6566	3.8566	3.8589	3.8589
2.3585	2.8585	3.2585	3.4681	3.5361	3.5361	3.5361
2.4000	3.0000	3.5000	3.9000	4.1190	4.1547	4.1547
2.4000	3.0000	3.5000	3.9000	4.2000	4.2932	4.2932
2.4000	3.0000	3.5000	3.9000	4.1964	4.2810	4.2810
2.4000	3.0000	3.5000	3.9000	4.2000	4.3003	4.3003
	2.4000 2.3585 2.4000 2.4000 2.4000 2.4000	2.40002.95662.35852.85852.40003.00002.40003.00002.40003.00002.40003.0000	2.40002.95663.35662.35852.85853.25852.40003.00003.50002.40003.00003.50002.40003.00003.50002.40003.00003.5000	2.40002.95663.35663.65662.35852.85853.25853.46812.40003.00003.50003.90002.40003.00003.50003.90002.40003.00003.50003.90002.40003.00003.50003.9000	2.40002.95663.35663.65663.85662.35852.85853.25853.46813.53612.40003.00003.50003.90004.11902.40003.00003.50003.90004.20002.40003.00003.50003.90004.19642.40003.00003.50003.90004.2000	2.40002.95663.35663.65663.85663.85892.35852.85853.25853.46813.53613.53612.40003.00003.50003.90004.11904.15472.40003.00003.50003.90004.20004.29322.40003.00003.50003.90004.19644.28102.40003.00003.50003.90004.20004.3003

Step 5. The score matrix is as follows:

 $[s_{i1}] = [27.0625 \ 26.5442 \ 25.1519 \ 27.8284 \ 28.1864 \ 28.1584 \ 28.2006]^T$

Step 6. The decision set is as follows:

{^{0.9596}DBA, ^{0.9413}MDBUTMF, ^{0.8919}BPDF, ^{0.9868}NAFSMF, ^{0.9995}AWMF, ^{0.9985}DAMF, ¹ARmF}

Performance Ranking of the Filters via CD12/3

Step 2. The matrix $[b_{ij}]$ is as follows:

	г 0.19	0.36	0.51	0.64	0.75	0.84	0.91	0.96	ך 0.99
	0.9796	0.9584	0.9315	0.8968	0.8520	0.7949	0.7213	0.6265	0.4966
	0.9774	0.9197	0.8117	0.7973	0.8399	0.8410	0.8025	0.7023	0.3566
[h]_	0.9783	0.9536	0.9229	0.8838	0.8323	0.7634	0.6680	0.5096	0.2585
$\lfloor D_{ij} \rfloor -$	0.9748	0.9504	0.9248	0.8973	0.8666	0.8320	0.7910	0.7357	0.6190
	0.9728	0.9622	0.9484	0.9315	0.9098	0.8816	0.8437	0.7904	0.7028
	0.9854	0.9699	0.9516	0.9303	0.9051	0.8748	0.8368	0.7846	0.6964
	L0.9868	0.9735	0.9581	0.9400	0.9173	0.8880	0.8491	0.7947	0.7056

Step 3. The score matrix is as follows:

 $[s_{i1}] = [0.6623 \quad 0.6478 \quad 0.5977 \quad 0.7087 \quad 0.7509 \quad 0.7478 \quad 0.7566]^T$

Step 4. The decision set is as follows:

{^{0.8754}DBA, ^{0.8563}MDBUTMF, ^{0.7900}BPDF, ^{0.9367}NAFSMF, ^{0.9925}AWMF, ^{0.9884}DAMF, ¹ARmF}

Performance Ranking of the Filters via CD12/4

Step 2. The matrix $[b_{ij}]$ is as follows:

	г 0.01	0.04	0.09	0.16	0.25	0.36	0.49	0.64	0.81
	0.8548	0.7319	0.6179	0.5119	0.4095	0.3128	0.2229	0.1365	0.0635
	0.8272	0.6713	0.5044	0.4420	0.4310	0.3978	0.3302	0.2212	0.0730
[h]_	0.8188	0.6858	0.5659	0.4564	0.3529	0.2541	0.1614	0.0783	0.0334
$\begin{bmatrix} D_{ij} \end{bmatrix}$ –	0.7902	0.6751	0.5828	0.5030	0.4307	0.3604	0.2897	0.2129	0.1226
	0.7896	0.7366	0.6789	0.6181	0.5533	0.4833	0.4066	0.3129	0.1928
	0.8787	0.7816	0.6943	0.6162	0.5437	0.4731	0.3998	0.3096	0.1913
	$L_{0.8832}$	0.7975	0.7210	0.6474	0.5741	0.4974	0.4158	0.3182	0.1955
3 The	3 The score matrix is as follows:								

Step 3. The score matrix is as follows:

 $[s_{i1}] = [0.0912 \quad 0.1092 \quad 0.0708 \quad 0.1118 \quad 0.1522 \quad 0.1509 \quad 0.1568]^T$ **Step 4.** The decision set is as follows:

{^{0.5816}DBA, ^{0.6967}MDBUTMF, ^{0.4515}BPDF, ^{0.7132}NAFSMF, ^{0.9707}AWMF, ^{0.9625}DAMF, ¹ARmF}

In Table 3 and 4, we present the decision sets and the ranking orders of the filters obtained by the six SDM methods, respectively. The results show that KWW11/2(0.5,0.5), BMM12, and CD12/4 produce the same ranking order. Moreover, they also confirm both the ranking orders provided in [27,33] and the opinions of the experts about these ranking orders. Therefore, these methods can be applied to the PVA problem of image-denoising filters. Similarly, the results of BMM12/3 and CD12/3 tend to confirm the aforesaid ranking orders except those of MDBUTMF and DBA. Consequently, the considered methods herein except NS11 agree that ARmF outperforms the other filters, whereas all the methods reveal that BPDF exhibits minimum performance.

Table 3. Decision	sets of the filters	for the state-of-art	methods
--------------------------	---------------------	----------------------	---------

Methods	Ranking Orders
KWW11/2(0.5,0.5)	{ ^{0.4313} DBA, ^{0.4426} MDBUTMF, ^{0.3333} BPDF, ^{0.5536} NAFSMF, ^{0.8997} AWMF, ^{0.8841} DAMF, ¹ ARmF}
NS11	{ ^{0.3084} DBA, ^{0.6373} MDBUTMF, ⁰ BPDF, ^{0.7851} NAFSMF, ¹ AWMF, ^{0.8481} DAMF, ^{0.8512} ARmF}
BMM12	{ ^{0.8879} DBA, ^{0.8983} MDBUTMF, ^{0.8122} BPDF, ^{0.9386} NAFSMF, ^{0.9962} AWMF, ^{0.9930} DAMF, ¹ ARmF}
BMM12/3	{ ^{0.9596} DBA, ^{0.9413} MDBUTMF, ^{0.8919} BPDF, ^{0.9868} NAFSMF, ^{0.9995} AWMF, ^{0.9985} DAMF, ¹ ARmF}
CD12/3	{ ^{0.8754} DBA, ^{0.8563} MDBUTMF, ^{0.7900} BPDF, ^{0.9367} NAFSMF, ^{0.9925} AWMF, ^{0.9884} DAMF, ¹ ARmF}
CD12/4	{ ^{0.5816} DBA, ^{0.6967} MDBUTMF, ^{0.4515} BPDF, ^{0.7132} NAFSMF, ^{0.9707} AWMF, ^{0.9625} DAMF, ¹ ARmF}

Fable 4. Ranking	orders of th	e filters for the	state-of-art methods
-------------------------	--------------	-------------------	----------------------

Methods	Ranking Orders
KWW11/2(0.5,0.5)	BPDF<dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf< b=""></dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf<>
NS11	BPDF <dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<armf<awmf< td=""></dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<armf<awmf<>
BMM12	BPDF<dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf< b=""></dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf<>
BMM12/3	BPDF <mdbutmf<dba<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf< td=""></mdbutmf<dba<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf<>
CD12/3	BPDF <mdbutmf<dba<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf< td=""></mdbutmf<dba<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf<>
CD12/4	BPDF<dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf< b=""></dba<mdbutmf<nafsmf<damf<awmf<armf<>

5. Conclusion

In this study, we configured 12 SDM methods to operate them in *fpfs*-matrices space, faithfully to the original. Thus, we completed the configurations of the methods constructed by soft sets, fuzzy soft sets, fuzzy parameterized soft sets, fuzzy parameterized fuzzy soft sets, and their matrix representations and proposed between 1999 and 2012. Besides, we applied some of them to a PVA problem for the known filters used in image denoising.

The methods incorporating parameter reduction were excluded from the present study. In the future, researchers can focus on these methods and configure them to *fpfs*-matrices space. Moreover, they can compare the methods by applying them to different decision-making problems. This study encourages researchers to compare all the configured methods, which were proposed between 1999 and 2012, in the presence of a PVA problem.

6. References

[1] Molodtsov D., 1999. Soft Set Theory-First Results. Computers Mathematics with Applications, 37(4-5): 19-31.

[2] Maji P. K., Biswas R., Roy A. R., 2001. Fuzzy Soft Sets. The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, 9(3): 589-602.

[3] Çağman N., Enginoğlu S., Çıtak F. 2011. Fuzzy Soft Set Theory and Its Applications. Iranian Journal of Fuzzy Systems, 8(3): 137-147.

[4] Çağman N., Çıtak F., Enginoğlu S., 2011. FP-Soft Set Theory and Its Applications. Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics, 2(2): 219-226.

[5] Çağman N., Çıtak F., Enginoğlu S., 2010. Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Set Theory and Its Applications. Turkish Journal of Fuzzy Systems, 1(1): 21-35.

[6] Çağman N., Enginoğlu S., 2010. Soft Matrix Theory and Its Decision Making. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 59(10): 3308-3314.

[7] Çağman N., Enginoğlu S., 2012. Fuzzy Soft Matrix Theory and Its Application in Decision Making. Iranian Journal of Fuzzy Systems, 9(1): 109-119.

[8] Enginoğlu S., Çağman N., 2020. Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Matrices and Their Application in Decision-Making. TWMS Journal of Applied and Engineering Mathematics, 10(4): 1105-1115.

[9] Atmaca S., 2017. Relationship between Fuzzy Soft Topological Spaces and (X, τ_e) Parameter Spaces. Cumhuriyet Sciences Journal, 38(4): 77-85.

[10] Çağman N., Enginoğlu S., 2010. Soft Sets Theory and uni-int Decision-Making. European Journal of Operational Research, 207(2): 848-855.

[11] Çıtak F., Çağman N., 2017. Soft k-int-Ideals of Semirings and Its Algebraic Structures. Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics, 13(4): 531-538.

[12] Deli İ., Çağman N., 2015. Relations on FP-soft Sets Applied to Decision Making Problems. Journal of New Theory, (3): 98-107.

[13] Enginoğlu S., Ay M., Çağman N., Tolun V., 2019. Classification of the monolithic columns produced in Troad and Mysia Region ancient granite quarries in Northwestern Anatolia via soft decision-making, Bilge International Journal of Science and Technology Research, 3(Special Issue): 21-34.

[14] Enginoğlu S., Çağman N., Karataş S., Aydın T., 2015. On Soft Topology. El-Cezerî Journal of Science and Engineering, 2(3): 23-38.

[15] Karaaslan F., 2016. Soft Classes and Soft Rough Classes with Applications in Decision Making. Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2016, Article ID1584528, 11 pages.

[16] Memiş S., Enginoğlu S., 2019. An Application of Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Matrices in Data Classification. Eds: Kılıç M., Özkan K., Karaboyacı M., Taşdelen K., Kandemir H., Beram A. International Conferences on Science and Technology Natural Sciences and Technology, Prizren, KOSOVO, August 26-30, pp. 68-77.

[17] Memiş S., Enginoğlu S., Erkan U., 2019. A Data Classification Method in Machine Learning Based on Normalised Hamming Pseudo-Similarity of Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Matrices. Bilge International Journal of Science and Technology Research, 3(Special Issue): 1-8.

[18] Riaz M., Hashmi M. R., 2018. Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Compact Spaces with Decision-Making, Punjab University Journal of Mathematics, 50(2): 131-145.

[19] Riaz M., Hashmi M. R., Farooq A., 2018. Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Metric Spaces. Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 9(2): 25-36.

[20] Sezgin A., 2016. A New Approach to Semigroup Theory I: Soft Union Semigroups, Ideals and bi-Ideals. Algebra Letters, 2016(3): 1-46.

[21] Sezgin A., Çağman N., Çıtak F., 2019. α -Inclusions Applied to Group Theory via Soft Set and Logic. Communications Faculty of Sciences University of Ankara Series A1 Mathematics and Statistics, 68(1): 334-352.

[22] Şenel G., 2016. A New Approach to Hausdorff Space Theory via the Soft Sets. Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2016, Article ID 2196743, 6 pages.

[23] Şenel G., 2018. Analyzing The Locus of Soft Spheres: Illustrative Cases and Drawings. European Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 11(4): 946-957.

[24] Ullah A., Karaaslan F., Ahmad I., 2018. Soft Uni-Abel-Grassmann's Groups. European Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 11(2): 517-536.

[25] Zorlutuna İ., Atmaca S., 2016. Fuzzy Parametrized Fuzzy Soft Topology. New Trends in Mathematical Sciences, 4(1): 142-152.

[26] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., 2018. A Configuration of Some Soft Decision-Making Algorithms via *fpfs*-matrices. Cumhuriyet Science Journal, 39(4): 871-881.

[27] Aydın T., Enginoğlu S., 2019. A Configuration of Five of the Soft Decision-Making Methods via Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Matrices and Their Application to a Performance-Based Value Assignment Problem. Eds: Kılıç M., Özkan K., Karaboyacı M., Taşdelen K., Kandemir H., Beram A. International Conferences on Science and Technology Natural Sciences and Technology, Prizren, KOSOVO, August 26-30, pp. 56-67.

[28] Enginoğlu S., Öngel T., 2020. Configurations of Several Soft Decision-Making Methods to Operate in Fuzzy Parameterized Fuzzy Soft Matrices Space. Eskişehir Technical University Journal of Science and Technology A-Applied Sciences and Engineering, 21(1): 58-71.

[29] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., 2018. Comment on "Fuzzy soft sets" [The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, 9(3), 2001, 589-602]. International Journal of Latest Engineering Research and Applications, 3(9): 1-9.

[30] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., Arslan B., 2018. Comment (2) on Soft Set Theory and uni-int Decision Making [European Journal of Operational Research, (2010) 207, 848-855]. Journal of New Theory, (25): 84-102.

[31] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., Öngel T., 2018. Comment on Soft Set Theory and Uni-Int Decision Making [European Journal of Operational Research, (2010) 207, 848-855]. Journal of New Results in Science, 7(3): 28-43.

[32] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., Çağman N., 2019. A Generalisation of Fuzzy Soft Max-Min Decision-Making Method and Its Application to A Performance-Based Value Assignment in Image Denoising. El-Cezerî Journal of Science and Engineering, 6(3): 466-481.

[33] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., Karaaslan F., 2019. A New Approach to Group Decision-Making Method Based on TOPSIS under Fuzzy Soft Environment. Journal of New Results in Science, 8(2): 42-52.

[34] Enginoğlu S., Memiş S., 2020. A New Approach to the Criteria-Weighted Fuzzy Soft Max-Min Decision-Making Method and Its Application to a Performance-Based Value Assignment Problem. Journal of New Results in Science, 9(1): 19-36.

[35] Roy A. R., Maji P. K., 2007. A Fuzzy Soft Set Theoretic Approach to Decision Making Problems. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 203(2): 412-418.

[36] Kong Z., Gao L., Wang L., 2009. Comment on "A Fuzzy Soft Set Theoretic Approach to Decision Making Problems". Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 223(2): 540-542.

[37] Kong Z., Wang L., Wu Z., 2011. Application of Fuzzy Soft Set in Decision Making Problems Based on Grey Theory. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 236(6): 1521-1530.

[38] Neog T. J., Sut D. K., 2011. An Application of Fuzzy Soft Sets in Decision Making Problems Using Fuzzy Soft Matrices. International Journal of Mathematical Archive, 2(11): 2258-2263.

[39] Basu T. M., Mahapatra N. K., Mondal S. K., 2012. Different Types of Matrices in Fuzzy Soft Set Theory and Their Application in Decision Making Problems. Engineering Science and Technology: An International Journal, 2(3): 389-398.

[40] Basu T. M., Mahapatra N. K., Mondal S. K., 2012. Matrices in Soft Set Theory and Their Applications in Decision Making Problems. South Asian Journal of Mathematics, 2(2): 126-143.

[41] Çağman N., Deli İ., 2012. Products of FP-Soft Sets and Their Applications. Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 41(3): 365-374.

[42] Feng F., Li Y., Çağman N., 2012. Generalized uni-int Decision Making Schemes Based on Choice Value Soft Sets. European Journal of Operational Research, 220(1): 162-170.

[43] Qin K., Yang J., Zhang X., 2012. Soft Set Approaches to Decision Making Problems. In: Proceedings of The International Conference on Rough Sets and Knowledge Technology, pp. 456-464.

[44] Enginoğlu S., Erkan U., Memiş S., 2019. Pixel Similarity-based Adaptive Riesz Mean Filter for saltand-pepper Noise Removal. Multimedia Tools and Applications,78: 35401-35418.

[45] Wang Z., Bovik A. C., Sheikh H. R., Simoncelli E. P., 2004. Image Quality Assessment: From Error Visibility to Structural Similarity. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing,13(4): 600-612.

[46] Sheikh H. R., Bovik A. C., 2006 Image Information and Visual Quality. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing, 15(2): 430-444.

Controlled Hodgkin – Huxley Neuron vs Controlled Qubit: Pros and Cons of Their Applications

Sergey Borisenok^{1,2}

¹Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Abdullah Gül University, Kayseri, Turkey, ²Feza Gürsey Center for Physics and Mathematics, Boğaziçi University, Turkey, E-mails: sergey.borisenok@agu.edu.tr, borisenok@gmail.com

Abstract

Nonlinear multidimensional dynamical systems presented in the form of ordinary differential equations with free control parameters cover the variety of regular and chaotic regimes and can be used for computational purposes and data analysis. To demonstrate the chaotic regime, for instance, the dimension of the phase space for the deterministic system should be at least 3. Here we compare two multidimensional systems: 4-dimensional Hodgkin-Huxley neuron and 3-dimensional quantum bit (in its real ODE representation) in the external field. Both systems can be driven via the free parameters towards the necessary dynamical state (stabilization or tracking goal). Both systems could be used for the realization of complex computational algorithms. We compare the efficiency of qubit mathematical model with the classical model of mathematical neuron to analyze pros and cons of both systems to be applied for the computational purposes.

1. Introduction

Nonlinear multidimensional dynamical systems presented in the form of ordinary differential equations with free control parameters cover the variety of regular and chaotic regimes and can be used for computational purposes and data analysis. To demonstrate the chaotic regime, for instance, the dimension of the phase space for the deterministic system should be at least 3.

Here we compare two multidimensional systems: classical 4-dimensional Hodgkin-Huxley (HH) neuron and 3-dimensional quantum bit (in its real ODE representation) in the external field. Both systems can be driven via the free parameters towards the necessary dynamical state (stabilization or tracking goal).

To demonstrate the possibility of using a multi-dimensional classical system for the realization of quantum algorithms we describe the HH-neuron based adaptation of Deutsch algorithm with Fradkov's speed gradient feedback control and discuss its pros and cons of such approach.

2. Qubits and Deutsch algorithm

Quantum bits (qubits) could be considered as basic units of quantum information processes. In the ideal case a qubit can be represented as a real-variable 3-dimansional dynamical system making its evolution on the surface of 2d-sphere (the Bloch sphere).

The non-classical properties of qubits serve for the purpose of specific quantum algorithms. As an example let's describe the quantum algorithm for a simple searching problem, i.e. the Deutsch algorithm proposed in 1985 and generalized for an arbitrary positive integer n as the Deutsch – Jozsa algorithm in 1992 [1]. Here for simplicity we will discuss the case n = 1.

Assume that we are given a function $f: \{0,1\} \rightarrow \{0,1\}$, and we are promised that one of two possible holds:

- 1. *f* is **constant**: that means that either f(x) = 0 for all *x* from $\{0,1\}$ or f(x) = 1 all *x* from $\{0,1\}$.
- 2. *f* is **balanced**: i.e., the number of inputs *x* from $\{0,1\}$ for which the function takes values 0 and 1 are the same.

The goal is to determine which of the two possibilities holds.

The classical solution to this searching problem demands $2^{n-1} - 1$ evaluations. The quantum Deutsch algorithm demands only one 'measurement' and involves three Hadamard's gates *H* and one operator U_f , see the circuit implementation in Fig 1. The symbol \oplus denotes addition mod 2.



Figure 1. Circuit for implementing the Deutsch algorithm; based on [2].

The result of measurement on Fig. 1 is given by the combination:

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \left[(1 + (-1)^{f(0) \oplus f(1)}) | 0 \rangle + (1 - (-1)^{f(0) \oplus f(1)}) | 1 \rangle \right]$$
(1)

From (1) one can see that the single measurement is enough to define the type of the function f. Indeed,

- $f(0) \oplus f(1) = 0$ if and only if we measure 0, therefore f is constant;
- $f(0) \oplus f(1) = 1$ if and only if we measure 1, therefore f is balanced.

The similar phase kick-backe ffect is observed for the case of n bits resulting from the measurements. If all n measurement results are 0, we conclude that the function was constant. Otherwise, if at least one of the measurement outcomes is 1, we conclude that the function was balanced.

The Deutsch-based family of quantum algorithms has a wide spectrum of applications: quantum computation, quantum cryptography, quantum data mining, simulation of quantum systems, modeling of formal languages [3].

3. Hodgkin – Huxley mathematical neuron

Here we present a simple classical realization of Deutsch algorithm based on the Hodgkin – Huxley mathematical neuron [4]. HH model is based on the system of four differential equations:

$$C_{M} \cdot \frac{dv}{dt} = -g_{Na}m^{3}h \cdot (v - E_{Na}) - g_{K}n^{4} \cdot (v - E_{K}) - g_{Cl} \cdot (v - E_{Cl}) + I(t) ;$$

$$\frac{dm}{dt} = \alpha_{m}(v) \cdot (1 - m) - \beta_{m}(v) \cdot m ;$$

$$\frac{dn}{dt} = \alpha_{n}(v) \cdot (1 - n) - \beta_{n}(v) \cdot n ;$$

$$\frac{dh}{dt} = \alpha_{h}(v) \cdot (1 - h) - \beta_{h}(v) \cdot h .$$
(2)

In (2) v(t) stands for the membrane potential, m(t), n(t), h(t) are the membrane gate variables, and the control signal I(t) is the net current stimulation the axon. The suitable rate functions are given by:

$$\alpha_{m}(v) = \frac{0.1 \cdot (25 - v)}{\exp\left\{\frac{25 - v}{10}\right\} - 1}; \ \beta_{m}(v) = 4 \cdot \exp\left\{-\frac{v}{18}\right\};$$

$$\alpha_{n}(v) = \frac{0.01 \cdot (10 - v)}{\exp\left\{\frac{10 - v}{10}\right\} - 1}; \ \beta_{n}(v) = 0.125 \cdot \exp\left\{-\frac{v}{80}\right\};$$

$$\alpha_{h}(v) = 0.07 \cdot \exp\left\{-\frac{v}{20}\right\}; \ \beta_{h}(v) = \frac{1}{\exp\left\{\frac{30 - v}{10}\right\} + 1}.$$
(3)

The set of constants includes the potentials E_{Na} (equilibrium potential at which the net flow of Na ions is zero), E_K (equilibrium potential at which the net flow of K ions is zero), E_{Cl} (equilibrium potential at which leakage is zero) in mV, the membrane capacitance C_M and the conductivities g_{Na} (sodium channel conductivity), g_K (potassium channel conductivity), g_{Cl} (leakage channel conductivity) in mS/cm²:

$$g_{Na} = 120; E_{Na} = 115;$$

 $g_{K} = 36; E_{K} = -12;$
 $g_{Cl} = 0.3; E_{Cl} = 10.36.$
(4)

The HH system demonstrates the variety of dynamical regimes, including resting (no spikes come), spiking (producing a single output voltage spike) and bursting (the series of chaotic spikes). The spiking regime has a threshold: one should apply a certain level of the input current to produce a single spike.

For transferring the action potential in the axon of the k-th cell via its synapse towards the dendrite/soma input of the l-th neuron we use our gain input-output model [5]:

$$I_{l}(t) = \alpha \cdot [v_{k}(t) - v_{\text{rest}}]; \alpha = \text{const} > 0,$$
(5)

with the constant gain coefficient α and the phenomenological constant reference rest potential of the HH neuron.

Correspondingly, for the threshold (tr) level:

$$I_{\rm tr} = \alpha \cdot (v_{\rm tr} - v_{\rm rest}) \ . \tag{6}$$

Such a threshold action potential v_{tr} stimulates the necessary treshold current I_{tr} entering the next cell to produce a single spike. If the current coming to the next neuron is below the threshold level, the neuron stays at the resting regime.

4. Deutsch algorithm with the Hodgkin – Huxley neuron

Now we are ready to formulate the classical HH-based analog of the Deutsch algorithm (1). At first, let's define the HH neuron 'quasi-quantum states':

$$|0\rangle = 0 \cdot I_{tr} \text{ (resting);} |1\rangle = 1 \cdot I_{tr} \text{ (spiking),}$$
 (7)

and by (6) the corresponding potentials:

$$v_{|0\rangle} = v_{\text{rest}} + \frac{0 \cdot I_{\text{tr}}}{\alpha} = v_{\text{rest}} ;$$

$$v_{|1\rangle} = v_{\text{rest}} + \frac{1 \cdot I_{\text{tr}}}{\alpha} = v_{\text{rest}} + \frac{I_{\text{tr}}}{\alpha} .$$
(8)

We will apply a control algorithm to drive the dynamical system (2) towards the goal potential:

$$v_* = v_{\text{rest}} + |f(0) - f(1)| \cdot \frac{I_{\text{tr}}}{\alpha}$$
 (9)

Now in (9) we get the following options:

- If f(0) = f(1), then $v_* = v_{\text{rest}} = v_{|0\rangle}$, and f is constant;
- If f(0) = f(1), then $v_* = v_{\text{rest}} + 1 \cdot \frac{I_{\text{tr}}}{\alpha} = v_{|1\rangle}$, and f is balanced.

To achieve the goal (9), let's use Fradkov's speed gradient algorithm [6]. We define the non-negative differentiable goal function:

$$G(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[v(t) - v_*(t) \right]^2.$$
(10)

It is dynamical (i.e. time-dependent), by that the control goal is tracking. The control signal in the HH neuron is one-dimensional, for that reason the gradient is reduced to the partial derivative:

$$I_{SG} = -\Gamma \frac{\partial}{\partial I} \left(\frac{dG}{dt} \right) = -\frac{\Gamma}{C_M} (v - v_*) \; ; \; \Gamma = \text{const} > 0. \tag{11}$$

This control current (11) drives the system (2) towards the minimization of the control goal (10). The achievability of the stabilization/tracking goal in HH dynamical system for the speed gradient algorithm has been proved in [7].

Now the differential equation for the action potential *v* looks like:

$$C_{M} \cdot \frac{dv}{dt} = -g_{Na}m^{3}h \cdot (v - E_{Na}) - g_{K}n^{4} \cdot (v - E_{K}) - g_{Cl} \cdot (v - E_{Cl}) - \frac{\Gamma}{C_{M}}(v - v_{*}).$$
(12)

The produced action potential v enters to the next HH neuron, in which we perform a 'measurement' by checking if it demonstrates the resting or spiking.

Thus, the finalized algorithm follows the chain:

$$f \Longrightarrow v_* \Longrightarrow I \Longrightarrow v = v_{|0\rangle}$$
 or $v = v_{|1\rangle}$.

If we observe the resting in the measuring HH neuron (i.e. if it does not spike), the function f must be constant, if the measuring neuron produces a spike, the function f is balanced.

Our algorithm, as in the Deutch approach (1), demands only one measurement.

5. Conclusion

The given multidimensional classical system in the form of controlled 4d HH system is capable to imitate the effects similar to the quantum phase contributions to the computational process. Thus, we provide the simple examples of the HH-based computational algorithms following the quantum paradigm.

The algorithm proposed here could be easily generalized for the case of few HH neurons (the analog of multi-qubit system).

Of course, from the purpose of time optimization quantum algorithms work faster than their classical emulations. Nevertheless, the HH-based classical algorithms are easier for the practical implementation and do not demand very sophisticated software.

Thus, in summary, our approach can open a new gate for the practical realization of quantum algorithms and provide new perspectives for the computational properties of artificial neural networks.
6. References

[1] Deutsch, D., Jozsa, R. 1992. "Rapid solutions of problems by quantum computation", Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A, 439, 553-558.

[2] Aradyamath, P., Naghabhushana, N. M., Ujjinimatad, R. 2019. "Quantum computing concepts with Deutsch Jozsa algorithm", International Journal of Informatics Visualization, 3, 59-68.

[3] Batty, M., Casaccino, A., Duncan, A. J., Rees, S., Severini, S. 2008. An Application of the Deutsch-Jozsa Algorithm to Formal Languages and the Word Problem, in Groups, in "Theory of Quantum Computation, Communication, and Cryptography", Springer, 57-69.

[4] Hodgkin, A. L., Huxley, A. F. 1952. "Currents carried by sodium and potassium ions through the membrane of the giant axon of Loligo", The Journal of Physiology, 116 (4), 449-72.

[5] Borisenok, S., Çatmabacak, Ö., Ünal, Z. 2018. "Control of collective bursting in small Hodgkin-Huxley neuron clusters", Communications Faculty of Sciences University of Ankara Series A2-A3, 60, 21-30.

[6] Fradkov, A. L. 2007. Cybernetical Physics: From Control of Chaos to Quantum Control. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.

[7] Borisenok, S., Ünal, Z. 2017. "Tracking of arbitrary regimes for spiking and bursting in the Hodgkin-Huxley neuron", MATTER: International Journal of Science and Technology, 3, 560-576.

Controller Design of Haptic-Teleoperation System using PID and FLC methods to Compensate for Uncertain Dynamics

Tayfun Abut¹, Servet Soyguder²

 ¹Mechanical Engineering, Mus Alparslan University, Turkey,
 ² Mechanical Engineering, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Turkey, E-mail(s): tayfunabut@gmail.com, servetsoyguder@gmail.com

Abstract

Haptic-Teleoperation systems are systems that play an important role in human-robot interaction. The main goal of these systems is seamless bilateral interaction. However, these systems have fundamental problems. One of them is the dynamic uncertainties of the robots that make up the system, and this problem significantly affects the performance of the systems. In this study, firstly the motion equations of the system are obtained. Secondly, Fuzzy Logic Control(FLC) and PID control methods are used to overcome this problem. The studies were carried out in a simulation environment and the results were compared with each other.

1. Introduction

Haptic-Teleoperation systems are systems that ensure human-robot interaction. The main purpose of such systems is to extend the user's manipulation capabilities to a remote environment. The main goal of these systems is a seamless two-way interaction. In the literature, various control methods have been proposed and applied to solve the problem of uncertainty of the parameters of these robots. Jiang and Praly have tried to overcome dynamic uncertainties by an adaptive controller design [1]. Hung et al. proposed a nonlinear control method for the teleoperation system in which master and slave robots are not fully known [2]. Nuno et al. proposed an adaptive controller for nonlinear teleoperators and realized it in a simulation environment [3]. In their study, Passenberg and others wrote a review article on the adaptive controllers of the environment and the operator working in the task space [4]. Liu and Tavakoli used adaptive bilateral controllers with nonlinear, ambiguous dynamics, and multi-degree of freedom based on inverse dynamics [5]. Mellah et. al. have created two adaptive rules to set up fuzzy logic membership functions. These rules were applied to the two-way teleoperation system [6]. Abut and Soyguder used the adaptive calculated torque method to deal with kinematic and dynamic uncertainties and interaction forces between the operator and the environment [7]. Yang et al. used an adaptive approach for monitoring control of a teleoperation system with kinematic and dynamic uncertainties. In this approach, they used the adaptive Fuzzy control method to estimate the parameters of the system and to control the system [8]. One of the most important sources of uncertainty in haptic-teleoperation systems is the dynamic models of robots due to their complex nonlinear structures. Therefore, the kinematic and dynamic robot model reveals parametric uncertainties that lead researchers to use adaptive algorithms in

control design. Based on this observation in the literature, the fuzzy logic control method was preferred and tried to overcome the control problems arising due to the uncertainties of dynamic and kinematic connections. To purpose to overcome the parameter uncertainty problem of the haptic-teleoperation system consisting of a single degree of freedom master and slave robot, and the control of the system was performed using Fuzzy Logic and PID control methods.



Figure 1. Block diagram of the bilateral teleoperation system

2. Modeling and Control Design of the System

The equations of motion of the haptic-teleoperation robotic system acquired using the Lagrange-Euler method is given below.

$$I_m \ddot{q}_m + b_m \dot{q}_m = \tau_m + \tau_h \tag{1}$$

$$l_s \ddot{q}_s + b_s \dot{q}_s = \tau_s - \tau_e \tag{2}$$

$$f_h = k_h (x_{md} - x_m) + b_h (\dot{x}_{md} - \dot{x}_m)$$
(3)

$$f_e = k_e (x_b - x_s) + b_e (\dot{x}_b - \dot{x}_s)$$
(4)

The equations of motion of the master and slave robot are given below. $q_i, \dot{q}_i, \ddot{q}_i$ and τ_i respectively represent the position, speed, acceleration, and control torque. The $i \in \{m, s\}$ indices represent the master and slave robots respectively. I_m and I_s represent the moment of inertia and b_m and b_s show the damping coefficients of the robots. f_m , f_s refer to force acting on the master and slave robots respectively. f_h and f_e represent the force corresponding to the disturbing forces exerted by the user and acting on the environment from the system. τ_m , τ_s refers to the torques affecting the master and slave robots, respectively. τ_h and τ_e represents the torques that are applied by the user and correspond to the disruptive forces that affect the system from the environment. $\tau_h = J_m^T F_h$ and $\tau_e = J_s^T F_e$. The relationship between the human operator and the environment the contacts between a virtual wall and the end of the robot is modeled as a spring-damper system. be and bh represent damping coefficients, ke and kh represent spring constants. x_{md} , x_b indicate the reference positions of the robot while x_m and x_m represent its actual positions. Fuzzy Logic (FLC) and classical PID (proportional integral derivative) control methods are used in the control of the haptic-teleoperation system. With these controllers applied to the system, this error is tried to be minimized. Fuzzy logic (Fuzzy Logic) and fuzzy set theory were developed in 1965 by the Azerbaijani Prof. It was proposed by Lotfi A. Zadeh (California University, Berkeley) [9]. In this study, he attributed the reason why people can control some systems better than machines because they

have the ability to make decisions by using some information that cannot be expressed with certainty (ambiguous). Fuzzy logic operations consist of the analysis and definition of a problem, the transformation of the information found by developing variable sets and logic relationships, and the interpretation of the model. The block diagram of the Fuzzy Logic Controller(FLC) is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Block diagram of the FLC method used in the control of the system

The controller uses the error and the rate of change of errors as input and performs the control of the system based on time-varying error (e) and error derivative (\dot{e}). The proposed fuzzy logic controller aims to improve the control performance provided by a PID controller. The rule base of an FLC (Fuzzy logic controller) consists of a group of IF-THEN rules generally obtained from the verbal expressions of experts who have knowledge about the system to be controlled [10-12]. The rule base is described as the heart of an FLC. Because all other units and components are used to realize these rules in a reasonable and efficient way. The rule table and membership functions created for this system were created in order to obtain the minimum angle error values of the main and dependent robots. The rule base created for the system e and \dot{e} membership functions defined for it are shown. The membership functions defined for the output value τ are shown in Figure 4.

Table 1. Rule Base Created for FLC

			ė	
	τ	NB	ZE	ΡВ
	NB	NB	NB	ZE
е	ZE	NB	ZE	ΡВ
	РВ	ZE	РВ	РВ





Figure 3. Membership functions defined for input value *e* and *e*.



Figure 4. Membership functions defined for ouput value τ

In the control algorithms, the inputs of the system *e* are the error and the rate of change of error \dot{e} . Here, the error is the difference between the outputs of the system and the desired values. The outputs of the system are the appropriate torque values applied to the motors that drive the system in a way that minimizes the error and the instantaneous change values of the error over time. Here, Mamdani method is used in Fuzzy Logic type control. The system control structure consists of a total of one entry and one exit. This value is the position information of the system. Firstly, the graphs of the triangular type membership function used for fuzzy control are shown in Figures 3 and 4 for the input values and {-0.6, -0.4, -0.2, 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6}, respectively. and {-0.6, -0.4, -0.2, 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6} values in this range were used. At the same time, values in this range {-2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2} were used for the output value of the fuzzy control. The fuzzy control variables that form the rule bases shown in the tables above were formed as follows. e, (\dot{e}) , $\tau =$ {error, error change, control variable torque {NB (Negative Large), ZE (Zero), PB (Positive Large)}. Input values of FLC are specified in the range of {-0.6, 0.6} and {-2, 2} respectively. All entry and exit membership functions are taken as triangle type.

3. Simulation Results

In this section, simulation studies have been done by using the motion equations of the system. The control variables of the system are position and force parameters. In this study, simulation studies of the single degree of freedom haptic-teleoperation system were carried out. The single degree of freedom haptic-teleoperation studies performed with multi-degree of freedom haptic robots. Figure 5 shows the simulation model of the interaction of the master and slave robot with the environment.





Figure 5. The interaction model of master and slave robots with the environment

Figures 6-a and 6-b are shown the angular position and angular position error graphs of the master and slave robots obtained by the PID control method, respectively. Figures 7-a and 7-b are shown the torque and torque error graphs of the master and slave robots obtained by the PID control method, respectively. Figures 8-a and 8-b are shown the angular position and angular position error graphs obtained by the FLC control method of master and slave robots obtained by the FLC control method, respectively. Figures 9-a and 9-b are shown the torque and torque error graphs of the master and slave robots obtained by the FLC control method, respectively.



Figure 6. a) Angular position and b) Angular position error response of joint angle obtained by the PID control method





Figure 7. Human and environment torque response obtained a) torque and b) torque error by the PID control method



Figure 8. a) Angular position and b) Angular position error response of joint angle obtained by the FLC control method



Figure 9. Human and environment torque response obtained a) torque and b) torque error by the FLC control method

The simulation run time was taken as 20 seconds. The forces generated as a result of the interaction of the dependent robot with the environment are the forces physically felt by the human-operator as a result of the torque-force sensors being transmitted to the main robot (Figure 7 and 9). As can be seen in the graphs obtained by the FLC method, a lower position error has occurred compared to the classical PID method. It was seen that the PID control method has a larger error in the compared position error responses. It has been observed that the human and environmental torque graphs obtained by the FLC method show the low amplitude and low continuous regime error performance compared to the classical PID method. FLC is seen to be the method that best follows the reference value generated by the master robot. The best torque follow-up was also obtained by the FLC method. The simulation result graphs showed that the haptic-teleoperation system consisting of main and dependent robots was found to be more feasible with the FLC method.

4. Conclusion

In this study, the control of a bilateral single degree of freedom teleoperation system was carried out. The best torque tracking performance was obtained with the fuzzy logic control(FLC) method as in position responses. Among the methods, it has been seen that the FLC method is more applicable for this teleoperation system. In addition, the PID control method showed the worst performance as can be seen in the graphs. The obtained results are given in the form of graphics, tables, and analyses. As a result of the simulations, useful prospective information about the movement of the system was obtained. In the future, real-time studies will be carried out in the laboratory using this method.

5. References

[1] Jiang, Z. P. and Praly, L. (1998). Design of robust adaptive controllers for nonlinear systems with dynamic uncertainties. *Automatica*, *34*(7), 825-840.

- [2] Hung, N. V. Q., Narikiyo, T. and Tuan, H. D. (2003). Nonlinear adaptive control of master–slave system in teleoperation. *Control Engineering Practice*, *11*(1), 1-10.
- [3] Nuño, E., Ortega, R. and Basañez, L. (2010). An adaptive controller for nonlinear teleoperators. *Automatica*, 46(1), 155-159.
- [4] Passenberg, C., Peer, A. and Buss, M. (2010). A survey of environment-, operator-, and taskadapted controllers for teleoperation systems. *Mechatronics*, 20(7), 787-801.
- [5] Liu, X. and Tavakoli, M. (2011). Inverse dynamics-based adaptive control of nonlinear bilateral teleoperation systems. In *2011 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation* (pp. 1323-1328). IEEE.
- [6] Mellah, R., Guermah, S. and Toumi, R. (2017). Adaptive control of bilateral teleoperation system with compensatory neural-fuzzy controllers. *International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems*, *15*(4), 1949-1959.
- [7] Abut, T. and Soyguder, S. (2017). Real-time control of bilateral teleoperation system with adaptive computed torque method. *Industrial Robot: An International Journal.*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 299–311, (2017).
- [8] Yang, L., Chen, Y., Liu, Z., Chen, K., and Zhang, Z. (2019). Adaptive fuzzy control for teleoperation system with uncertain kinematics and dynamics. *International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems*, *17*(5), 1158-1166.
- [9] Zadeh, L.A. (1965), "Fuzzy sets", Information and Control, Vol. 8 No. 3, pp. 338-353.
- [10] Zadeh, L. A. (1992). Knowledge representation in fuzzy logic. In *An introduction to fuzzy logic applications in intelligent systems* (pp. 1-25). Springer, Boston, MA.
- [11] Abut, T. (2015). Dynamic Model and Optimal Control of A Snake Robot: TAROBOT-1. International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research, 4(11), 4.
- [12] Abut, T. and Soyguder, S. (2019). Real-time control and application with self-tuning PID-type fuzzy adaptive controller of an inverted pendulum. *Industrial Robot: the international journal of robotics research and application*. Vol. 46 Issue: 1, pp.159-170

Curvatures of the Translation Hypersurface in 4-Space

Erhan Güler¹, Ömer Kişi²

^{1,2}Faculty of Sciences, Department of Mathematics, Bartin University, Turkey E-mail(s): eguler@bartin.edu.tr okisi@bartin.edu.tr

Abstract

We study curvatures $\mathfrak{C}_{i=1,2,3}$ of translation hypersurface in the four dimensional Euclidean space. We also give some relations on \mathfrak{C}_i of translation hypersurface.

1. Introduction

We see some nice papers about translation surfaces (TS) and translation hypersurfaces (TH) in the literature such as [1-17].

Arslan et al [1] worked TS in 4-dimensional Euclidean space; Chen, Sun, and Tang [2] studied TH with constant mean curvature (CMC) in (n + 1)-dimensional spaces; Dillen, Verstraelen, and Zafindratafa [3] focused a generalization of the TS of Scherk; Inoguchi, Lopez, and Munteanu [4] gave minimal TS in the Heisenberg group Nil₃; Lima, Santos, and Sousa [5] introduced TH with constant scalar curvature into the Euclidean space; Lima, Santos, and Sousa [6] studied generalized TH in Euclidean space; Liu [7] considered TS with CMC in 3-dimensional spaces; Lopez [8] worked minimal TS in hyperbolic space; Lopez and Moruz [9] studied translation and homothetical surfaces with constant curvature in Euclidean space; Lopez and Munteanu [10] worked minimal TS in Sol₃; Moruz and Munteanu [11] obtained hypersurfaces in the Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^4 defined as the sum of a curve and a surface whose mean curvature vanishes; Munteanu, Palmas, and Ruiz-Hernandez [12] worked minimal TH in Euclidean space; Scherk [13] found his classical minimal TS; Seo studied [14] TH with constant curvature in space forms; Verstraelen, Walrave, and Yaprak [15] studied on the minimal TS in \mathbb{E}^n ; Yang and Fu [16] considered affine TS in affine space; Yoon [17] focused the Gauss map of TS in Minkowski 3-space.

A translation surface in \mathbb{E}^3 is a surface generated by translations. For two space curves α , β with a common point P, the curve α is shifted such that point P is moving on β . Then the curve α generates a TS

$$\mathbf{x}(u, v) = \alpha(u) + \beta(v).$$

A translation hypersurface in the four dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^4 is a hypersurface generated by translations: for three space curves α , β , γ with a common point P, the curve α is shifted such that point P is moving on β and γ , respectively. Then, the curve α generates a TH in \mathbb{E}^4 . TH is parametrized by

$$\mathbf{x}(u, v, w) = (u, v, w, f(u) + g(v) + h(w)).$$
(1.1)

where f(u), g(v), h(w) are differentiable functions for all $u, v, w \in I \subset \mathbb{R}$. More clear form of it as follows

In this work, we obtain curvatures of hypersurfaces in \mathbb{E}^4 . We present basic elements of the four dimensional Euclidean geometry. Moreover, we compute curvatures $\mathfrak{C}_{i=1,2,3}$ of TH.

2. Preliminaries

To find the *i*-th curvature formulas $\mathfrak{C}_{i=0,1,\dots,n}$ in \mathbb{E}^{n+1} , we get characteristic polynomial of shape operator **S**:

$$P_{\mathbf{S}}(\lambda) = 0 = \det(\mathbf{S} - \lambda I_n) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k s_k \lambda^{n-k},$$
(2.1)

Here, I_n shows identity matrix. Then, we get curvature formulas $\binom{n}{i} \mathfrak{C}_i = s_i$, where $\binom{n}{0} \mathfrak{C}_0 = s_0 = 1$ by definition. *k*-th fundamental form of hypersurface M^n is given by $I(\mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X), Y) = \langle \mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X), Y \rangle$. So, we get

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{i} {\binom{n}{i}} \mathfrak{C}_{i} \operatorname{I}(\mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X), Y) = 0.$$
(2.2)

Throughout the work, we will identify a vector (a, b, c, d) with its transpose.

One can assume $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M}(u, v, w)$ be an isometric immersion of a hypersurface M^3 in \mathbb{E}^4 . Dot product of $\vec{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)$ and $\vec{y} = (y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4)$ in \mathbb{E}^4 is defined by $\langle \vec{x}, \vec{y} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^4 x_i y_i$. Vector product in \mathbb{E}^4 is given by

$$\vec{x} \times \vec{y} \times \vec{z} = \det \begin{pmatrix} e_1 e_2 e_3 e_4 \\ x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4 \\ y_1 y_2 y_3 y_4 \\ z_1 z_2 z_3 z_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

The Gauss map of a hypersurface **M** is defined by

$$e = \frac{\mathbf{M}_u \times \mathbf{M}_v \times \mathbf{M}_w}{\|\mathbf{M}_u \times \mathbf{M}_v \times \mathbf{M}_w\|'}$$

where
$$\mathbf{M}_u = d\mathbf{M}/du$$
. We obtain following matrices for a hypersurface **M** in \mathbb{E}^4 ,

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} E & F & A \\ F & G & B \\ A & B & C \end{pmatrix}, \quad II = \begin{pmatrix} L & M & P \\ M & N & T \\ P & T & V \end{pmatrix}, \quad III = \begin{pmatrix} X & Y & O \\ Y & Z & R \\ O & R & S \end{pmatrix},$$

are defined by

where the coefficients are defined by

$$\begin{split} E &= \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{u} \rangle, \quad F = \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{v} \rangle, \quad G = \langle \mathbf{M}_{v}, \mathbf{M}_{v} \rangle, \quad A = \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \quad B = \langle \mathbf{M}_{v}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \quad C = \langle \mathbf{M}_{w}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \\ L &= \langle \mathbf{M}_{uu}, e \rangle, \quad M = \langle \mathbf{M}_{uv}, e \rangle, \quad N = \langle \mathbf{M}_{vv}, e \rangle, \quad P = \langle \mathbf{M}_{uw}, e \rangle, \quad T = \langle \mathbf{M}_{vw}, e \rangle, \quad V = \langle \mathbf{M}_{ww}, e \rangle, \\ X &= \langle e_{u}, e_{u} \rangle, \quad Y = \langle e_{u}, e_{v} \rangle, \quad Z = \langle e_{v}, e_{v} \rangle, \quad O = \langle e_{u}, e_{w} \rangle, \quad R = \langle e_{v}, e_{w} \rangle, \quad S = \langle e_{w}, e_{w} \rangle. \end{split}$$

3. Curvatures

Next, we will obtain curvatures for a hypersurface $\mathbf{M}(u, v, w)$ in \mathbb{E}^4 .

Using characteristic polynomial $P_{S}(\lambda) = a\lambda^{3} + b\lambda^{2} + c\lambda + d = 0$, we obtain curvature formulas: $\mathfrak{C}_{0} = 1$ (by definition),

$$\binom{3}{1}\mathfrak{C}_1 = -\frac{b}{a}, \quad \binom{3}{2}\mathfrak{C}_2 = \frac{c}{a}, \quad \binom{3}{3}\mathfrak{C}_3 = -\frac{d}{a}$$

Therefore, we get curvature folmulas:

Theorem 3.1. Any hypersurface
$$M^3$$
 in \mathbb{E}^4 has following curvature formulas, $\mathfrak{C}_0 = 1$ (by definition),

$$\mathfrak{C}_1 = \frac{(EN + GL - 2FM)C + (EG - F^2)V - LB^2 - NA^2 - 2(APG - BPF - ATF + BTE - ABM)}{3[(EG - F^2)C - EB^2 + 2FAB - GA^2]},$$
(3.1)

$$\mathfrak{C}_{2} = \frac{(EN + GL - 2FM)V + (LN - M^{2})C - ET^{2} - GP^{2} - 2(APN - BPM - ATM + BTL - PTF)}{3[(EG - F^{2})C - EB^{2} + 2FAB - GA^{2}]},$$
(3.2)

$$(LN - M^2)V - LT^2 + 2MPT - NP^2$$
(2.2)

$$\mathfrak{C}_3 = \frac{(EG - F^2)C - EB^2 + 2FAB - GA^2}{(EG - F^2)C - EB^2 + 2FAB - GA^2}.$$
(3.3)

Proof. Solving det($\mathbf{S} - \lambda I_3$) = 0 with some calculations, we get coefficients of polynomial $P_{\mathbf{S}}(\lambda)$. **Theorem 3.2.** For any hypersurface M^3 in \mathbb{E}^4 , curvatures are related by following formula

> $\mathfrak{C}_0 IV - 3\mathfrak{C}_1 III + 3\mathfrak{C}_2 II - \mathfrak{C}_3 I = 0.$ (3.4)

4. Curvatures of TH

With the first differentials of (1.1) depends on u, v, w, we get the Gauss map of (1.1):

$$e = \frac{1}{(\det I)^{1/2}} (f', g', h', -1).$$
(4.1)

Here, detI = $f'^2 + g'^2 + h'^2 + 1$, and f' = df/du, g' = dg/dv, h' = dh/dw. We have the first and the second fundamental form matrices of (1.1), respectively,

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} 1+f'^2 & f'g' & f'h' \\ f'g' & 1+g'^2 & g'h' \\ f'h' & g'h' & 1+h'^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad II = \begin{pmatrix} -f''/(\det I)^{1/2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -g''/(\det I)^{1/2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -h''/(\det I)^{1/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, we obtain the third fundamental form matrix

$$\mathbb{G}_{1} = \frac{\left(f'^{2}(g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)/(\det l)^{2} - f'g'f''g''/(\det l)^{2} - f'h'f''h''/(\det l)^{2} - f'h'f''h''/(\det l)^{2} - g'h'g''h''/(\det l)^{2} - g'h'g''h''/(\det l)^{2} - f'h'f''h''/(\det l)^{2} - g'h'g''h''/(\det t l)^{3} \left\{ \frac{(g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f'' + (f'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''}{+(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + 1)h''} \right\} - \left(\frac{f'^{2}(g'^{2} + 1)f''^{2} - 2f'^{2}g'^{2}f''g''}{+(f'^{2} + 1)g''^{2}g''^{2}} \right)^{h'^{2}h''} - (\det l)^{3} \left\{ \frac{(g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f''h''}{+(f'^{2} + 1)g''h''} \right\} - \left(\frac{f'^{2}(g'^{2} + 1)f'''h''}{+(h'^{2} + 1)g''h''} \right)^{3} - \left(\frac{(det l)^{3}(f'' + g'^{2} + 1)f''h''}{+(h'^{2} + 1)g''h''} \right)^{3} + \left(\frac{(det l)^{3}(f'' + g'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''h''}{3} \right)^{3} + \left(\frac{(det l)^{3}(f'' + g'^{2} + g'')h'^{2}h'' - (det l)^{3}(f'' + g'' + 1)f''g''}{3} \right)^{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f''g''}{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} \right)^{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} \right)^{3} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)f''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det l)^{11/2}} + \frac{(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''}{(det g''^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)g''g''} + \frac{(f'^{2} +$$

Proof. Computing (3.1), (3.2), and (3.3) of (1.1), we have the curvatures.

Corollary 4.1. The curves $\alpha(u)$, $\beta(v)$ and $\gamma(w)$ on translation hypersurface (1.1) have unit speed if and only if the curvatures of (1.1) are as follows

 $\mathfrak{C}_1=0, \ \mathfrak{C}_2=0, \ \mathfrak{C}_3=0,$

i.e., hypersurface (1.1) is *i*-minimal translation hypersurface, where i = 1,2,3.

5. Conclusion

Translation hypersurfaces have been studied by some authors. We have expanded well-known results of the translation hypersurfaces by using its curvatures in \mathbb{E}^4 . In addition, we give minimality conditions of it.

6. References

- [1] Arslan K., Bayram B., Bulca B., Öztürk G. On translation surfaces in 4-dimensional Euclidean space. *Acta Et Commentationes Uni. Tartuensis de Matematica* 20(2), (2016) 123-133.
- [2] Chen C., Sun H., Tang L. On translation hypersurfaces with constant mean curvature in (n+1)dimensional spaces. J. Beijing Inst. Tech. 12, (2003) 322-325.
- [3] Dillen F., Verstraelen L., Zafindratafa G. A generalization of the translation surfaces of Scherk. *Differential Geometry in honor of Radu Rosca*, K.U.L. (1991) 107-109.
- [4] Inoguchi J.I., Lopez R., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation surfaces in the Heisenberg group Nil₃. *Geometriae Dedicata* 161(1), (2012) 221-231.
- [5] Lima B.P., Santos N.L., Sousa P.A. Translation hypersurfaces with constant scalar curvature into the Euclidean space. *Israel J. Math.* 201, (2014) 797-811.
- [6] Lima B.P., Santos N.L., Sousa P.A. Generalized translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. J. *Math. Anal. Appl.* 470(2), (2019) 1129-1135.
- [7] Liu H. Translation surfaces with constant mean curvature in 3-dimensional spaces. J. Geom. 64, (1999) 141-149.
- [8] Lopez R. Minimal translation surfaces in hyperbolic space. *Beitr. Algebra Geom.* 52, (2011) 105-112.
- [9] Lopez R. Moruz M. Translation and homothetical surfaces in Euclidean space with constant curvature. *J. Korean Math. Soc.* 52(3), (2015) 523-535.
- [10] Lopez R., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation surfaces in Sol₃. J. Math. Soc. Japan 64(3), (2012) 985-1003.
- [11] Moruz M., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation hypersurfaces in E⁴. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 439(2), (2016) 798-812.
- [12] Munteanu M.I., Palmas O., Ruiz-Hernandez G. Minimal translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. *Mediterr. J. Math.* 13, (2016) 2659-2676.
- [13] Scherk H.F. Bemerkungen über die kleinste fäche innerhalb gegebener grenzen. J. Reine Angew Math. 13, (1835) 185-208.

- [14] Seo K. Translaton hypersurfaces with constant curvature in space forms. Osaka J. Math. 50 (2013) 631-641.
- [15] Verstraelen L., Walrave J., Yaprak Ş. The minimal translation surfaces in Euclidean space. Soochow J. Math. 20 (1994), 77-82.
- [16] Yang D., Fu Y. On affine translation surfaces in affine space. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 440 (2), (2016) 437-450.
- [17] Yoon D.W. On the Gauss map of translation surfaces in Minkowski 3-space. *Taiwanese J. Math.* 6(3), (2002) 389-398.

Determining the Relation Between Reasoning Skills and Critical Thinking Disposition of Pre-Service Science Teachers

Seda Okumuş¹, Oylum Çavdar², Yasemin Koç³

¹Science Education, Atatürk University, Turkey,
 ²Science Education, Muş Alparslan University, Turkey,
 ³Science Education, Mustafa Kemal University, Turkey,
 E-mail(s): seda.okumus@atauni.edu.tr, o.cavdar@alparslan.edu.tr, yaseminkoc@mku.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, it was aimed to determine the relation between reasoning skills and critical thinking dispositions of pre-service science teachers. Correlational research design was used in the study. The sample of the study consists of 50 teacher candidates studying at 3rd grade in science teaching program at Atatürk University Kazım Karabekir Education Faculty. The Hypothetico-creative Reasoning Skills Inventory (HRSI) developed by Duran (2014) and the Critical Thinking Disposition Scale (CTDS) developed by Semerci (2016) were used to collect data. The reliability of the scales was determined as $\alpha = .89$ and $\alpha = .96$, respectively. HRSI consists of 23 items and five sub-factors, and CTDS consists of 49 items and five sub-factors. During the analysis of the data, first of all, normality analyzes were made for each scale and sub-factors in the scales. Pearson's product moment correlation coefficients was calculated to determine the relation between reasoning skills and critical thinking disposition of prospective science teachers (p> .05).

Keywords: Critical thinking disposition, pre-service science teachers, reasoning skills.

1. Introduction

Education programs in the world and in our country aim to bring individuals who can cope with real life problems, have the ability to question, discuss, and make decisions, think scientifically, and access information themselves. In other words, today's societies need individuals with 21st century skills.

Critical thinking, which is accepted as a factor that facilitates access to information and comprehension, is one of the desired achievements of education (Semerci, 2016). Stating that critical thinking is basically based on the ability and tendency to obtain, evaluate and use information effectively, Demirel (1999) explained the five dimensions of critical thinking as follows: Consistency; a critical thinker should be able to eliminate contradictions in thought. Combining; a critical thinker should be able to apply his thoughts to a model. Competence; the critical thinker should be able to share what they think effectively. One of the most important goals of the science program, which was organized and put into practice in the

2004-2005 academic year in our country and which is based on the constructivist approach, is to develop students' critical thinking skills (MEB, 2006). Teachers who lack critical thinking skills and disposition are seen as an important obstacle in achieving this goal. In this context, teachers who are trained in critical thinking and have critical thinking skills and disposition are needed to improve students' critical thinking skills.

Reasoning has defined it as a method at the heart of scientific knowledge production by which evidence is collected, analyzed, and links between concepts and theories are established (Schen, 2007). Reasoning skills are central to learning science by doing and experiencing. However, these skills prepare individuals to solve socio-scientific problems they may encounter in their lives and to be good citizens (Osborne, 2013) and assist in decision-making processes. For example, we use the proportional reasoning skill to calculate how much fuel we will consume based on the distance of the road we will travel, and the probabilistic reasoning skill when predicting the weather. For this reason, the contribution of reasoning skill to the formation of a scientifically literate individual profile is of undeniable importance. In addition to the benefits it provides in daily life, reasoning skills have an important place in academic terms. Chen and She (2015) found that 5th grade students who received explicit reasoning training produced significantly more testable and correct hypotheses, evidence-based explanations, and their level of reasoning increased compared to students who did not receive this training. Despite its importance, many studies focus on students' inadequacy in reasoning skills (Croker, 2012).

In this context, many studies conducted in recent years refer to the necessity of science education based on scientific process skills, which form the basis of reasoning skills and critical thinking, especially in university education (Quitadamo & Kurtz, 2007). Accordingly, it was aimed to determine the relation between reasoning skills and critical thinking dispositions of pre-service science teachers.

2. Method

Correlational research design was used in quantitative research methods.

2.1.Samples

The sample of the study consists of 50 teacher candidates studying at 3rd grade in science teaching program at Atatürk University Kazım Karabekir Education Faculty. Appropriate sampling method was used in determining the sample.

2.2.Data Collection Tool

The Hypothetico-creative Reasoning Skills Inventory (HRSI) is a likert-type scale consisting of 23 items and five sub-factors (Hypothetical Thinking and Creativity-HTC; Proportional Thinking-PT; Identifying and Controlling Variables-Combined Thinking-ICVCT; Probabilistic Thinking-PRT and

Correlational Thinking-CT). Items in the scale were scored as "1 = 20%", "2 = 40%", "3 = 60%", "4 = 80% and 5 = 100%". The highest score that can be obtained from the inventory is 115 and the lowest score is 23. The reliability of the scale was determined as $\alpha = .89$.

Critical Thinking Disposition Scale (CTDS) is a Likert-type scale consisting of 49 items and five sub-factors (Open Mindedness-OM; Systematicity-S; Flexibility-F; Perseverance and Patience-PP and Metacognition-M). The items in the scale were scored as "1 = strongly disagree", "2 = mostly disagree", "3 = partially agree", "4 = mostly agree and 5 = completely agree". The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 245 and the lowest score is 49. The reliability of the scale was determined as $\alpha = .96$.

2.3.Data Analysis

During the analysis of the data, first of all, normality analyzes were made for each scale and sub-factors in the scales. Since the number of teacher candidates is more than 30, the normality of the data was determined with the help of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test. Pearson's product moment correlation (simple linear correlation) was used in correlation analysis, since the HRSI and CTDS data were normally distributed (p = .200; p > .05).

3. Findings

In this title, descriptive statistics obtained from each scale are presented first. Then, the result of correlation analysis was displayed.

Scales	Sub-factors	Ν	Х	Median	SS	Min	Max	Ranj
HRSI	HTC	50	16,46	16,00	4,568	5	24	19
	PT	50	17,46	17,00	2,991	10	23	13
	ICVCT	50	22,24	23,00	3,734	14	28	14
	PRT	50	10,40	10,00	2,441	5	15	10
	CT	50	13,94	15,00	3,235	6	20	14
Full scale		50	80,48	80,00	13,995	48	107	59
CTDS	OM	50	12,38	12,00	1,576	8	15	7
	S	50	52,18	53,00	6,026	38	65	27
	F	50	43,50	43,50	5,697	24	54	30
	PP	50	32,30	32,00	4,273	23	39	16
	Μ	50	40,64	52,00	23,988	3	68	65
Full sca	ale	50	181,00	183,00	30,103	128	236	108

Table 1	Descriptive	statistics	of HRSI	and CTDS
rable r.	Descriptive	statistics	or mor	

According to Table 1, it is seen that teacher candidates received the lowest 48 and the highest 107 points on the hypothetico-creative reasoning skills inventory. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 115 and the lowest score is 23. The average of the scores the teacher candidates got from the

scale is 80.48 standard deviation 13.9. It can be said that the reasoning skills of the teacher candidates are at an average value, since the average of the participants' reasoning skills scores (\overline{X} = 80.48) is very close to 80, which is the middle score value of the scale.

It is seen that the pre-service teachers received the lowest 128 and the highest 236 points on the critical thinking disposition scale. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 245 and the lowest score is 49. The average of the pre-service teachers' scores from the scale is 181 standard deviation of 30. It can be said that pre-service teachers 'critical thinking dispositions are low since the average score of the participants' critical thinking dispositions ($\overline{X} = 181$) is less than 183, which is the midpoint value of the scale.

Correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between hypothetico-creative reasoning skills and critical thinking dispositions of pre-service science teachers. Pearson product-moment correlation was calculated during the correlation analysis process, since the HRSI and CTDS data were normally distributed.

		HRSI	CTDS
	Pearson Correlation	1	,258
HRSI	Sig. (2-tailed)		,070
	Ν	50	50
	Pearson Correlation	,258	1
CTDS	Sig. (2-tailed)	,070	
	Ν	50	50

Table 2. Correlation between hypothetico-creative reasoning skills and critical thinking disposition

According to Table 2, no significant was found between the hypothetico-creative reasoning skills and critical thinking disposition of prospective science teachers (r=.258; p>.05).

4. Conclusion and Recommendations

Prospective teachers' hypothetico-creative reasoning skills were average, and critical thinking disposition were below average. The reason why teacher candidates do not have these skills at the desired level may be their inability to provide theory-evidence coordination and their acceptance of what they believe as certain truths. However, these skills are skills that can be developed later. As a matter of fact, Schwartz, Lederman, and Crawford (2004) reported in their study with pre-service teachers that providing direct opportunities for reasoning and critical thinking, as well as giving them enough time for reflection and discussion, reinforced the pre-service teachers' views on these skills. In this direction, it is thought that an effective science teaching can improve the deficiencies in students' skills.

In line with the research results, it is recommended to examine the sub-dimensions of the hypothetico-creative reasoning skills and critical thinking dispositions of teacher candidates, to examine

them using different scales and inventories, and to reveal the reasons for the results with qualitative studies.

5. References

- Duran, V. (2014). Öğretmen Adaylarının Hipotetik-Yaratıcı Akıl Yürütme Becerilerinin Bilimsel Epistemolojik İnançları, Öğrenme Stilleri ve Demografik Özellikleri Açısından İncelenmesi, Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü Eğitim Programları ve Öğretimi Ana Bilim Dalı, Muğla.
- Semerci, N. (2016). Eleştirel Düşünme Eğilimi (EDE) Ölçeğinin Geliştirilmesi: Geçerlik ve Güvenirlik Revize Çalışması. *Electronic Turkish Studies*, *11*(9).
- Demirel, Ö. (1999). Kuramdan uygulamaya eğitimde program geliştirme. Ankara: PegemA Yayıncılık. Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı (2006). İlköğretim fen ve teknoloji dersi 6., 7. ve 8. sınıflar öğretim programı. MEB Yayınevi.
- Schen, M. S. (2007). Scientific reasoning skills development in the introductory biology courses for undergraduates. Doctoral Thesis, Ohio State University.
- Osborne, J. (2013). The 21st century challenge for science education: Assessing scientific reasoning. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 10, 265–279.
- Chen, C. T. & She, H. C. (2015). The effectiveness of scientific inquiry with/without integration of scientific reasoning. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 13(1), 1–20.
- Croker, S. (2012). The development of cognition. Andover, UK: Cengage.
- Hogan, K., & Maglienti, M. (2001). Comparing the epistemological underpinnings of students' and scientists' reasoning about conclusions. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38, 663-687.
- Klaczynski, P. A. (2000). Motivated scientific reasoning biases, epistemological beliefs, and theory polarization: A two-process approach to adolescent cognition. *Child Development*, 71, 1347-1366.
- Vass, E., Schiller, D., & Nappi, A. J. (2000). The effects of instructional intervention on improving proportional, probabilistic, and correlational reasoning skills among undergraduate education majors. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37, 981-995.
- Quitadamo, I.J., & Kurtz, M.J. (2007). Learning to improve: Using writing to increase critical thinking performance in general education biology. *CBE-Life Science Education*, 6, 140-154.
- Schwartz, R. S., Lederman, N. G., & Crawford, B. A. (2004). Developing views of nature of science in an authentic context: an explicit approach to bridging the gap between nature of science and scientific inquiry. *Science Education*, 88, 610-645.

ECC in special ring and cryptographic application

Bilel Selikh¹, Abdelhakim Chillali², Douadi Mihoubi¹ and Nacer Ghadbane¹

¹Laboratory of Pures and Applied Mathematics, Department of Mathematics, Mohamed Boudiaf University of Msila, Algeria, ²Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University, FP, LSI, Taza, Morocco, E-mail(s): bilel.selikh@univ-msila.dz, abdelhakim.chillali@usmba.ac.ma douadi.mihoubi@univ-msila.dz, nacer.ghadbane@univ-msila.dz

Abstract

Let F_{3^d} is the finite field of order 3^d with *d* be a positive integer, we consider $A_4 := F_{3^d}[\varepsilon] = F_{3^d}[X]/(X^4)$ is a finite quotient ring, where $\varepsilon^4 = 0$ [5]. In this paper, we will show an example of encryption and decryption. The motivation for this paper came from the observation that communications, industrial automation and many more. On the other hand, cryptography is the study of mathematical techniques related to aspects of information security [6]. Firstly, we study the elliptic curve over this ring. Furthermore, we study the algorithmic properties by proposing effective implementations for representing the elements and the group law. Finally, we give an example cryptographic (encryption and decryption) with a secret key.

Keywords : Cryptography, Elliptic Curves, Finite Rings, Finite Field.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 11T71, 14H52, 11T55, 94A60.

1. Introduction

Elliptic curves have been playing an increasingly important role both in number theory and in related fields such as cryptography [6]. Cryptography is the science of using mathematics to encrypt and decrypt data. Cryptography enables you to store sensitive information or transmit it across insecure networks (like the Internet) so that it cannot be read by anyone except the intended recipient.

In 2015 My Hachem Hassib, Abdelhakim Chillali and Mohamed Abdou Elomary [5] had constructed a local ring $F_{3^d}[\varepsilon] = F_{3^d}[X] / (X^4)$, $\varepsilon^4 = 0$, defined an elliptic curve over $F_{3^d}[\varepsilon]$ and they had given the classification of elements in $E_{a,b}(F_{3^d}[\varepsilon])$.

In this work, we will show cryptographic application over this ring (encryption, decryption) by using the public key scheme. In the first time, we show the fundamental results in the paper [5].

In section 3 we give a cryptosystem for ecryption and decryption. Finally, we present an application on cryptography by using code of elements of subgroup G generator by the point P.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we will show some the fundamental results in the paper [5].

Let *d* be a positive integer. We consider the quotient ring $A_4 = F_{3d}[X]/(X^4)$ where F_{3d} is the finite field of order 3^{*d*}. Then the ring A_4 is identified to the ring $F_{3d}[\varepsilon]$, $\varepsilon^4 = 0$.

So we have:

$$A_{4} = \{ \sum_{i=0}^{3} x_{i} \varepsilon^{i} | (x_{i})_{0 \le i \le 3} \in F_{3} d \}$$

We have the following lemmas:

Lemma 2.1. Let $X = \sum_{i=0}^{3} x_i \varepsilon^i$. X is invertible in A_4 if and only if $x_0 \neq 0$.

Lemma 2.2. A_4 is a local ring, it's maximal ideal is $I_4 = (\varepsilon)$.

Lemma 2.3. A_4 is a vector space over F_{3^d} and have $(1,\varepsilon,\varepsilon^2,\varepsilon^3)$ as basis.

Remark 2.1. We denote by π the canonical projection defined by:

$$\pi: A_4 \longrightarrow F_{3^d}$$
$$\sum_{i=0}^3 x_i \varepsilon^i \longmapsto x_0$$

2.1. Elliptic curve over A₄

Definition 2.1. We consider the elliptic curve over the ring A_4 which is given by the equation: $Y^2Z = X^3 + aX^2Z + bZ^3$, where $a, b \in A_4$ and $-a^3b$ is invertible in A_4 , and denoted by $E_{a,b}^4$. So we have: $E_{a,b}^4 = \{[X:Y:Z] \in P_2(A_4) \mid Y^2Z = X^3 + aX^2Z + bZ^3\}$.

2.1.1. Classification of elements of $E_{a,b}^4$

Proposition 2.1. Every element in $E_{a,b}^4$ is of the form [X : Y : 1] (where X or $Y \in A_4 \setminus I_4$), or [X : 1 : Z] where $X, Z \in I_4$ and we write:

$$E_{a,b}^4 = \{ [X:Y:1] \mid Y^2 = X^3 + aX^2 + b, and X \text{ or } Y \in A_4 \setminus I_4 \} \cup$$

 $\{[X: 1: Z] \mid Z = X^3 + aX^2Z + bZ^3, and X, Z \in I_4\}.$

Proof. See [5]. \Box

Lemma 2.4. Let $[X:1:Z] \in E_{a,b}^4$ where $X, Z \in (\varepsilon)$.

If
$$X = x_1 \varepsilon + x_2 \varepsilon^2 + x_3 \varepsilon^3$$
, then $[X: 1: Z] = [X: 1: x_1^3 \varepsilon^3]$

Proof. See [5].

2.2. The group law over $E_{a,b}^4$

After classifying the elements of $E_{a,b}^4$, we will define the group law over it. We consider firstly the mapping σ :

$$\sigma : E_{a,b}^4 \to E_{\pi(a),\pi(b)}^4$$
$$[X:Y:Z] \mapsto [\pi(X):\pi(Y):\pi(Z)]$$

Theorem 2.1. Let $P = [X_1 : Y_1 : Z_1]$ and $Q = [X_2 : Y_2 : Z_2]$ two points in $E_{a,b}^4$, and $P + Q = [X_3 : Y_3 : Z_3]$.

• If $\sigma(P) = \sigma(Q)$ then: $X_{3} = Y_{1}Y_{2}^{2}X_{1} + Y_{1}^{2}Y_{2}X_{2} + 2aX_{1}^{2}X_{2}Y_{2} + 2aX_{1}X_{2}^{2}Y_{1} + 2Z_{1}Z_{2}^{2}abY_{1} + 2Z_{1}^{2}Z_{2}abY_{2}.$ $Y_{3} = Y_{1}^{2}Y_{2}^{2} + 2a^{2}X_{1}^{2}X_{2}^{2} + a^{2}bX_{1}Z_{1}Z_{2}^{2} + a^{2}bX_{2}Z_{1}^{2}Z_{2}.$ $Z_{3} = aX_{1}X_{2}(Y_{1}Z_{2} + Y_{2}Z_{1}) + a(X_{1}Y_{2} + X_{2}Y_{1})(X_{1}Z_{2} + X_{2}Z_{1}) + Y_{1}Y_{2}(Y_{1}Z_{2} + Y_{2}Z_{1}).$

• If
$$\sigma(P) \neq \sigma(Q)$$
 then:

$$X_{3} = 2X_{1}Y_{2}Y_{1}Z_{2} + X_{1}Y_{2}^{2}Z_{1} + 2X_{2}Y_{1}^{2}Z_{2} + X_{2}Y_{1}Y_{2}Z_{1} + 2aX_{1}^{2}X_{2}Z_{2} + aX_{1}X_{2}^{2}Z_{1}.$$

$$Y_{3} = 2Y_{1}^{2}Y_{2}Z_{2} + Y_{1}Y_{2}^{2}Z_{1} + 2aX_{1}X_{2}Y_{1}Z_{2} + aX_{1}X_{2}Y_{2}Z_{1} + 2aX_{1}^{2}Y_{2}Z_{2} + aX_{2}^{2}Y_{1}Z_{1}.$$

$$Z_{3} = 2Y_{1}^{2}Z_{2}^{2} + Y_{2}^{2}Z_{1}^{2} + aX_{1}^{2}Z_{2}^{2} + 2aX_{2}^{2}Z_{1}^{2}.$$

Lemma 2.5. σ is a surjective homomorphism of groups .

3. Cryptographic protocols

In this section we describes some, public-key encryption, key generation, and the encryption and decryption method.

3.1. Exchange of secret key

Diffie-Hellman key exchange is a method of securely exchanging cryptographic keys over public channel [6].

The Diffie-Hellman key exchange is the following protocol:

- Alice and Bob agree on a prime number p, a point P generating subgroup of known order of the elliptic curve $E_{a,b}(A_4)$ and $(a,b) \in A_4 \times A_4$.
- Alice chooses a private random integer $K_A < ord(P)$ and sends $Y_A = K_A P$ to Bob.
- Bob chooses a private random integer $K_B < ord(P)$ and sends $Y_B = K_B P$ to Alice.
- Alice computes $K_A Y_B$.
- Bob computes $K_B Y_A$.
- The common secret key : $K = K_A K_B P = K_B K_A P$.

3.2. Cryptosystem for encryption and decryption

We will consider two-party key agreement protocols derived from the basic Diffie-Hellman protocol. Alice and Bob chooses elliptic curve over ring A_4 and a secret key: K in $E_{a,b}^4$. To encrypt a message M in $E_{a,b}^4$, Alice calculate

 $C = E_{nc}(M) = M + K$

To decrypt a cipher text C, Bob calculate

$$M = D_{ec}(C) = C - K$$

Cryptosystem Based on A4

- Space of lights: $L = E_{a,b}^4$.
- Space of quantified: $F = E_{a,b}^4$.
- Space of keys: $E_{a,b}^4$.
- Function of encryption: $\forall K \in E_{a,b}^4$

$$E_{nc}: L \longrightarrow F$$
$$M \longmapsto M + K$$

• Function of decryption: $\forall K \in E_{a,b}^4$

$$\begin{array}{rccc} D_{ec} \colon F & \to & L \\ C & \mapsto & C - K \end{array}$$

We have: $D_{ec} \circ E_{nc}(M) = M$.

4. Cryptographic application

Let $E_{a,b}^4$ and elliptic curve over A_4 and an irreductible polynomial $H(X) = X^3 + 2X^2 + 1$ in $F_3[X]$. H(X) have not roots in the F₃ because H(0)=1, H(1)=1, H(2)=2 but there exist an α where $H(\alpha) = 0$ in $F_{27} = \frac{F_3[X]}{(H(X))}$ so $(1,\alpha,\alpha^2)$ is a basis of the vector space F_{27} over F_3

$$F_{27} = \{0, 1, 2, 2\alpha^{2} + 2, 2\alpha + 1, \alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 2, 2\alpha^{2} + \alpha, 2\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 1, 2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha, \alpha^{2} + \alpha, \alpha^{2} + 1, \alpha + 2, \alpha^{2} + \alpha + 1, \alpha, 2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 2, 2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 1, \alpha^{2}, 2\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 2, 2\alpha, 2\alpha + 2, 2\alpha^{2} + 1, \alpha^{2} + 2, \alpha^{2}$$

Let *a* and *b* in $F_{27}[\varepsilon]$ so we have:

 $E_{a,b}(\mathbf{F}_{27}[\varepsilon]): Y^2 = X^3 + aX^2 + b$

Let $P \in E_{a,b}(F_{27}[\varepsilon])$ of order *n*, we will use the subgroup $\langle P \rangle$ of $E_{a,b}(F_{27}[\varepsilon])$ to encrypt messages, and we denote $G = \langle P \rangle$.

4.1. Coding of elements of G

We will give a code to each element Q = mP where $m \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ defined as following:

Assume $Q = [x_0 + x_1\varepsilon + x_2\varepsilon^2 + x_3\varepsilon^3 : y_0 + y_1\varepsilon + y_2\varepsilon^2 + y_3\varepsilon^3 : Z]$ where $x_i, y_i \in F_{27}$ for $i \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ and Z = 0 or Z = 1, we set:

$$x_i = e_{0i} + e_{1i}\alpha + e_{2i}\alpha^2$$
$$y_i = r_{0i} + r_{1i}\alpha + r_{2i}\alpha^2$$

where α is a primitive root of an irreducible polynomial of degree 3 over F₃ and $e_{ij}, r_{ij} \in F_3$ then we code Q as it follows:

• If Z = 1 then:

 $Q = e_{00}e_{10}e_{20}e_{01}e_{11}e_{21}e_{02}e_{12}e_{22}e_{03}e_{13}e_{23}r_{00}r_{10}r_{20}r_{01}r_{11}r_{21}r_{02}r_{12}r_{22}r_{03}r_{13}r_{23}r_{23}r_{10}$

• If Z = 0 then:

 $Q = e_{00}e_{10}e_{20}e_{01}e_{11}e_{21}e_{02}e_{12}e_{22}e_{03}e_{13}e_{23}r_{00}r_{10}r_{20}r_{01}r_{11}r_{21}r_{02}r_{12}r_{22}r_{03}r_{13}r_{23}0$

4.2. Example for cryptography

Let

$$a = 1 + \alpha + \alpha\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + 2\varepsilon^{3}$$
$$b = 1 + \alpha^{2} + \alpha^{2}\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + (1 + \alpha + \alpha^{2})\varepsilon^{3}$$

two elements in $F_{27}[\varepsilon]$

We consider the point $P = [2+\varepsilon+\varepsilon^2+2\varepsilon^3: 1+2\alpha+(2\alpha^2+\alpha)\varepsilon+(2\alpha^2+1)\varepsilon^2+(2\alpha^2+1)\varepsilon^3: 1]$, we have $G = \langle P \rangle$ is the subgroup of order 63 so, for $Q \in G$, $\exists m \in \{1, 2, \dots, 63\}$: Q = mP. The points of G are: $P = [2 + \varepsilon + \varepsilon^2 + 2\varepsilon^3 : 1 + 2\alpha + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $2P = \left[\alpha + 1 + 2\varepsilon + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^2 + \alpha^2\varepsilon^3 : 1 + \alpha^2\varepsilon + \alpha^2\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^3 : 1\right]$ $3P = [2 + 2\alpha^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^2 : 2\alpha + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha + 2\alpha^2)\varepsilon^2 + \varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $4P = [2 + 2\alpha^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : \alpha + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (2\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $5P = [\alpha + 1 + (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^3 : 2 + 2\varepsilon + (\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $6P = [2 + (a^2 + 2a)\varepsilon + (2a^2 + a + 2)\varepsilon^2; a + 2 + (a^2 + a + 1)\varepsilon + (a^2 + 2a)\varepsilon^2 + \varepsilon^3; 1]$ $7P = \left[(\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha + 1)\varepsilon^2 + 2\alpha^2\varepsilon^3 : 1 : 0 \right]$ $8P = [2 + (2\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2\alpha + 1 + (2\alpha^{2} + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $9P = [1 + \alpha + (\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon + (2\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1 + (2\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + \alpha\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $10P = [2\alpha^{2} + 2 + (2\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (2\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2\alpha + 2\alpha\varepsilon^{2} + (2\alpha^{2} + \alpha)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $11P = [2 + 2\alpha^2 + (2\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : \alpha + \alpha\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $12P = \left[\alpha + 1 + (\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon + \alpha\varepsilon^3 : 2 + (\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + 2\alpha)\varepsilon^3 : 1\right]$ $13P = [2 + (2\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + \varepsilon^{3} : 2 + \alpha + (\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $14P = [(2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha)\varepsilon + (\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (2\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{3}: 1:0]$ $15P = [2 + (\alpha^2 + 2\alpha)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1 + 2\alpha + (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $16P = [1 + \alpha + (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1 + \varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $17P = [2+2\alpha^2+(\alpha^2+1)\varepsilon+(2\alpha+2)\varepsilon^2+(2\alpha^2+2\alpha)\varepsilon^3: 2\alpha+(2\alpha+2)\varepsilon+(\alpha^2+1)\varepsilon^2+(2\alpha^2+\alpha+1)\varepsilon^3: 1]$ $18P = [2 + 2\alpha^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^3 : \alpha + (2\alpha + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon^2 + \varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $19P = [\alpha + 1 + 2\varepsilon + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2 + 2\alpha^{2}\varepsilon + 2\alpha^{2}\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha^{2} + \alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $20P = [2 + \varepsilon + \varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + \alpha + 1)\varepsilon^3 : \alpha + 2 + (\alpha^2 + 2\alpha)\varepsilon + (\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$ $21P = [(2\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1 : 0]$ $22P = \left[2 + \varepsilon + \varepsilon^2 + (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha)\varepsilon^3 : 1 + 2\alpha + (2\alpha^2 + \alpha)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^2 + 1)\varepsilon^2 + \varepsilon^3 : 1\right]$ $23P = [1 + \alpha + 2\varepsilon + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1 + \alpha^2\varepsilon + \alpha^2\varepsilon^2 + (\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2)\varepsilon^3 : 1]$

 $24P = [2\alpha^{2} + 2 + (2\alpha^{2} + 2)\varepsilon + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (\alpha + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2\alpha + (\alpha + 1)\varepsilon + (2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha)\varepsilon^{2} + (2\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

$$\begin{split} 25P &= [2a^{2}+2+(a^{2}+1)c+(2a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2)c^{3}:a+(a+1)c+(2a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 26P &= [1+a+(2a^{2}+2a+2)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a+2)c^{3}:2+2c+(a^{2}+a)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:1] \\ 27P &= [2+(a^{2}+2a)c+(2a^{2}+a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+2)c^{3}:a+2+(a^{2}+a+1)c+(a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(a^{2}+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 28P &= [(a^{2}+a)c+(2a^{2}+a+1)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+2)c^{3}:a+2+(a^{2}+a+1)c+(2a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2)c^{3}:1] \\ 30P &= [a+1+(a^{2}+a+2)c+c^{2}+a^{3}:2a+1+(2a^{2}+2)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 30P &= [a+1+(a^{2}+a+2)c+2a^{2}c^{3}:1+(2a^{2}+2)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 31P &= [2a^{2}+2+(2a+1)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a+1)c^{3}:2a+2ac^{2}+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 32P &= [2a^{2}+2+(2a+1)c^{2}:a+ac^{2}+(a^{2}+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 33P &= [a+1+(a^{2}+a+2)c+(a^{2}+1)c^{3}:2+(a^{2}+1)c+(2a^{2}+1)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a+1)c^{3}:1] \\ 34P &= [2+(2a^{2}+a+2)c+c^{2}+(a^{2}+a)c^{3}:2+a+(a^{2}+2)c+(a+1)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a+2)c^{3}:1] \\ 35P &= [(2a^{2}+2a)c+(a^{2}+2a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a+1)c^{3}:1:0] \\ 36P &= [2+(a^{2}+2a)c+(a^{2}+2a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a+1)c^{3}:1+c) \\ 36P &= [2+(a^{2}+2a)c+(2a^{2}+a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a+2)c^{3}:2a+1+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 38P &= [2a^{2}+2+(2a^{2}+1)c+(2a+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(2a+2)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 38P &= [2a^{2}+2+(a^{2}+1)c+(2a+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(2a+2)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 39P &= [a+1+2c+(a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+2+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{2}:1] \\ 40P &= [a+1+2c+(a+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+2+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 41P &= [2+c+c^{2}+(a^{2}+a+1)c^{3}:1+2a+(2a^{2}+a)c+(a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 42P &= [(a^{2}+2a+1)c^{3}:1:0] \\ 43P &= [2a^{2}+2+(a^{2}+1)c^{2}+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(a+1)c+(2a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 44P &= [a+1+2c+(a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(a+1)c+(2a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 44P &= [a+1+2c+(a+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(a+1)c+(2a^{2}+2)c^{2}+(a^{2}+a)c^{3}:1] \\ 44P &= [a+1+2c+(a^{2}+2a)c+(a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(a^{2}+2a)c^{3}:a+(a+1)c+(2a^{2}+2a)c^{2}+(a^{2$$

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen

 $51P = [1 + a + (a^{2} + a + 2)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1 + (2a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (2a^{2} + a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $52P = [2a^{2} + 2 + (2a + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon^{3} : 2a + 2a\varepsilon^{2} + (2a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $53P = [2 + 2a^{2} + (2a + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (2a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : a + a\varepsilon^{2} + 2a\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $54P = [1 + a + (a^{2} + a + 2)\varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 2a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2 + (a^{2} + 1)\varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (2a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $55P = [2 + (2a^{2} + a + 2)\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + (2a^{2} + 2a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 2 + a + (a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon + (a + 1)\varepsilon^{2} + (2a + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $56P = [(2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + 2a + 2)\varepsilon^{2} : 1 : 0]$ $57P = [2 + (a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + 2a + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{3} : 1 + \varepsilon + (2a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $58P = [1 + a + (2a^{2} + 2a + 2)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{3} : 1 + \varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $59P = [2 + 2a^{2} + (a^{2} + 1)\varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{3} : 1 + \varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $60P = [2 + 2a^{2} + (a^{2} + 1)\varepsilon + (2a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{3} : a + (2a + 2)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + a)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $61P = [a + 1 + 2\varepsilon + (a + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (a + 1)\varepsilon^{3} : 2 + 2a^{2}\varepsilon + 2a^{2}\varepsilon^{2} + a\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$ $62P = [2 + \varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} + 2\varepsilon^{3} : 2 + a + (a^{2} + 2a)\varepsilon + (a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{2} + (a^{2} + 2)\varepsilon^{3} : 1]$

Coding the elements of G, we use english letters for this application.

The coding are as follows:

P = 2001001002001200121021021 = A

- 2P = 1102002100011000010011101 = B
- 3P = 2022021100000201100221001 = C

4P = 2021012201110101102021201 = D

- 5P = 1102222011022002000112211 = E
- 6P = 2000212120002101110211001 = F
- 7P = 000011112002100000000000 = G
- 8P = 2002121002211201022202011 = H
- 9P = 1102110001201002022010101 = I
- 10P = 20200012020200000200121 = J
- 11P = 2020001202100100000102121 = K

12P = 1102110000102001011020211 = L

13P = 2002121001002102011102211 = M

14P = 000022221212100000000000 = N

15P = 2000212122201202220122111 = O

16P = 1102222012201001000222111 = P

17P = 202101220022020201011121 = Q

18P = 2022021101010102200111001 = R

19P = 1102002102012000020021111 = S

20P = 2001001001112100212012021 = T

21P = 00000000212100000000000 = U

22P = 2001001000221200121021001 = V

23P = 1102002102101000010012111 = W

24P = 2022021102100201100220221 = X

25P = 2021012202010101102020121 = Y

26P = 1102222012202002000110221 = Z

27P = 2000212122112101110211011 = a

28P = 000011112211100000000000 = b

29P = 2002121000101201022202021 = c

30P = 1102110000021002022011111 = d

31P = 2020001201120200000202011 = e

32P = 2020001200000100000101011 = f

33P = 1102110001012001011021221 = g

34P = 2002121000112102011102221 = h

35P = 000022221121100000000000 = i

36P = 2000212120121202220122121 = j

37P = 1102222011021001000220121 = k

38P = 202101220202020201010011 = l

39P = 2022021102210102200110221 = m

40P = 1102002100222000020022121 = n

41P = 2001001000222100212012001 = o

42P = 0000000012110000000000 = p

43P = 2001001001111200121021011 = q

44P = 1102002101221000010010121 = r

45P = 2022021101200201100222111 = s

46P = 2021012200210101102022011 = t

47P = 1102222010112002000111201 = u

48P = 2000212121222101110211021 = v

49P = 000011112120100000000000 = w

50P = 2002121001021201022202001 = x

51P = 1102110002111002022012121 = y

52P = 2020001200220200000201201 = z

53P = 2020001201200100000100201 = -

54P = 1102110002222001011022201 =.

55P = 2002121002222102011102201 = [

56P = 000022221000100000000000 =]

57*P* = 2000212121011202220122101 = /

58P = 1102222010111001000221101 = (

59P = 2021012201120202201012201 =)

60*P* = 2022021100110102200112111 = !

61P = 1102002101102000020020101 = ?

62P = 2001001002002100212012011 = :

4.2.1. Encryption and decryption

Exchange of secret key

- Alice chooses a random number integer $K_A = 7 < ord(P) = 63$ and computes $Y_A = 7P$.
- Alice sends Y_A to Bob, but keep K_A .
- Bob chooses a random number $K_B = 5 < ord(P) = 63$ and computes $Y_B = 5P$.
- Bob sends Y_B to Alice, but keep K_B .
- Alice computes $K_A Y_B = 35P$.
- Bob computes $K_B Y_A = 35P$.
- The secret key between Alice and Bob is K = 35P.
 - To encrypt the following message "Meet Me In The Garden". We follow these steps:
 a) Remove the white space, the message becomes "MeetMeInTheGarden".
 - b) Transmutation every letter in the message into a point of the subgroup $G = \langle P \rangle$.
 - c) To encrypt every point mP by using the secret key and computes mP + 35P.
 - d) By the elements of G we get "vCCRvCrL[FCp:PBCL".
 - e) Build their codes according to elements of G.

• Its encryption is:

2. To decrypt the following message:

We follow these steps:

- *a*) Gather the bits in the blocks of 25 bits.
- b) Replace the blocks code with points of $G = \langle P \rangle$ and Computes mP 35P.
- *c)* Transmutation the points on symbol letters.
- *d*) We get the resulte after completing the space.
 - Its decryption is: Yes Of Course

Remark 4.1.

1. With this application, we can encrypt and decrypt any message of any length.

2. The motivation of this work is that decryption is difficult for an interceptor who cannot solve the discret logarithm problem.

5. Conclusion

In this work, we showed the elliptic curve over special ring $A_4 = F_{3d}[\varepsilon]$, where $\varepsilon^4 = 0$, and we have given an example of cryptography (encryption-decryption) with a secret key. We have calculated this cryptographic application with the help of Maple.

6. References

- [1] W. Bosma and H.W. Lenstra, *Complete System of Two Addition Laws for Elliptic Curves*, Journal of Number Theory, (1995).
- [2] AZIZ BOULBOT, ABDELHAKIM CHILLALI and ALI MOUHIB, *Cryptographic Protocols on the non-commutative Ring R*, International Journal of Mathematical and Computational Methods, Volume 2, (2017).
- [3] Mustapha Elhassani, Aziz Boulbot, Abdelhakim Chillali and Ali Mouhib, *Fully homomorphic encryption scheme on a non-Commutative ring R*, International Conference on Intelligent Systems and Advanced Computing Sciences(ISACS), (2019). Doi: 10.1109/ISACS48493.2019.9068892
- [4] M. H. Hassib and A. Chillali, *Example of cryptography over the ring* $F_{3d}[\varepsilon]$, $\varepsilon^2 = 0$, Latest trends in Applied Informatics and Computing, ISBN 978-1-61804-130-2, (2012), 71-73.
- [5] My Hachem Hassib, Abdelhakim Chillali, Mohamed Abdou Elomary, *Elliptic Curves over the Ring* $F_{3^d}[\varepsilon]$, $\varepsilon^4 = 0$, International Mathematical Forum, Vol.9, 2014, no.24, 11911196 HIKARI Ltd, www.m-hikari.com, http://dx.doi.org/10.12988/imf.2014.4599.
- [6] V. Miller, *Use of elliptic curves in cryptography*, in CRYPTO'85, LNCS 218, pp.417-426, Springer 1986.
- [7] Abdelhamid Tadmori, Abdelhakim chillali and M'hamed Ziane, *Elliptic curves over ring* $F_{2^d}[\varepsilon]$, $\varepsilon^4 = 0$, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 9, 2015, no. 35, 1721 1733 HIKARI Ltd, www.m-hikari.com.
- [8] A. Tadmori, A. Chillali AND M. Ziane, *Ecc over the ring* $F_{2^d}[X]/(X^2)$ by using a password, Gulf Journal of Mathematics, Vol 6, Issue 4 (2018) 72-78.

Effects of water waves.

Study of water wave breaking through equations and experiments

L. Bezati¹, Sh. Hajrulla², F. Hoxha²

University of Vlora "I.Qemali", Albania^{1,} Epoka University, Albania² University of Tirana, Albania²

E-mail(s): leonard.bezati@univlora.edu.al, shajrulla@epoka.edu.al, fatmir.hoxha@fshn.edu.al

Abstract

This work describes water wave breaking. We introduce a class of nonlinear water waves. We deal with the space-time measurements study of solution in the absorption regions combined with the estimates of the solutions in the smooth regions.

Our work presents an experimental study on the propagation of nonlinear water waves. In shallow water, the damping of water waves is highly influenced by the bottom friction. Moreover, the contact line and perfect wave absorption play a significant role on the shallow water and water wave breaking. The final part of our work covers the measurement of wave absorption. We conclude with experiments and some important conclusions.

Key words: shallow water waves, wave breaking, wetting, absorption, nonlinearity problem

1. Introduction

The study explains some theories of progressive waves, it describes water wave breaking and their interaction with shorelines and coastal structures. Nonlinear behaviors are compared with theoretical results. During the years, scientists obtain a great deal of the water wave breaking theory. They use by observing natural and experimentally generated objects and effects.

Related to the water wave breaking theory our study takes an important role. We study a sinusoidal wave of wavelength L, height H and period T, propagating on water with undisturbed depth h. The variation of surface elevation with time, from the still water level, is denoted by η . We can explain that in shallow water, the damping of water waves is highly influenced by the bottom friction. Thus, shallow water may be characterized as irregular, short crested and long steep containing a large range of frequencies and directions. We study more specifically the propagation of nonlinear water waves.

The study of surface waves and its interaction with structures has substantial importance, permitting us to solve some important problems like wave amplification in harbors due to resonance, excitation of trapped modes or scattering of waves through an obstacle.

The comparison between theory and experiments represents the opportunity to reveal the experimental constraints (Farhat [2], Porter and Newman [3]). These subjects are of great interest for engineers, mathematicians and physicist, as well as the theoretical assumptions make models different from reality. In addition, the models are tested against experiments concerning periodic wave transformation.

2. Main theory

2.1 Surface wave theory

It is a reasonable starting point for shallow water waves, which are greatly influenced by viscosity, surface tension or turbulence.

Such a theory is based on some basic assumptions that establish the foundation of the following development. Therefore, let us consider an irrotational flow, with velocity u, which can be expressed as: $u = \nabla \phi$, where ϕ represents a scalar potential. If we consider mass conservation, the scalar potential satisfies Laplace's equation: $\Delta \phi = 0$.



Figure 2.1: Basic variables in the surface waves theory

Let us consider in figure 2.1 a surface S (x, y, t) = $z - \eta$ (x, y, t) = 0 describing surface of the fluid. Then, considering that the surface S moves with the fluid and always contains the same particles, we can express the zero exchange of particles by means of the material derivative:

$$\frac{DS}{Dt} = \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla S\right) = 0$$
2.1

2.2 The propagation of the shallow water waves problem

Our interesting problem is the propagation of the shallow water waves in a coastal region with some obstacles inside it. In this context, water wave breaking is an important phenomenon in shallow water waves theory. Two main facts are very important in our study: the phenomena of the contact line and the fact of the wave absorption. These play a significant role on the shallow water studies and water wave breaking theory. At the scale of the water wave, the continental shelf behaves like a submerged step that changes the wave profile, increasing the steepness and wave height. Figure 2.2 shows a deformation of a water wave passing over a continental shelf where an obstacle increases the steepness of wave close to the breaking limit.



Figure 2.2 The deformation of a water wave passing over a continental shelf.
The experiments presented in this work were carried out using the facilities developed by Fourier Transform Profilometry previously in the laboratory, which permit the measurement of the water surface deformation. This technique developed initially by Takeda and Mutoh [4] for the scan of 3D surfaces, was adapted later by Cobelli [1] for the study of surface waves.

2.3 The mathematical models of surface waves

In this article, we mention the model developed by Massel [5], the mathematical models of surface waves that gives results for nonlinear conditions. We mention the fact that the application was study by Ohyama [6].

Among the earliest models, which solve the linearized equations, one can mention Mei and Black [7], who presents a variation of formulation, and Miles [13], where the scattering matrix with the transmission and reflection coefficients in both directions is calculated. The model proposed by Newman [8], considered an infinite depth before the step, which can be a good approximation for certain configurations.

The equation (2.1) corresponds to a classical wave equation including a loss term with a constant β which transforms the equation in a dispersive problem. In addition, a nonlinear source term in the right hand yields a non-homogeneous partial differential equation. Note that, this source term was especially chosen with a temporal derivative, to get rid of constant terms, as will appear in the following. Thus, we propose a model of nonlinear propagation expressed as a nonlinear wave equation:

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial t^2} + \beta \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} - c^2(x) \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} = \alpha(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\phi \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} \right)$$
2.2

where β is constant and $\alpha(x)$ and c(x) are piecewise functions representing the nonlinearity and the phase velocity, respectively. The nonlinear problem can be solved starting with the perturbation method. Considering a small parameter ε , we develop the wave function φ as a power series:

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x},t) = \varepsilon \, \varphi_1(\mathbf{x},t) + \varepsilon^2 \, \varphi_2(\mathbf{x},t) + \varepsilon^3 \, \varphi_3(\mathbf{x},t) + \dots \qquad 2.3$$

2.3.1 Solving the nonlinear propagation water wave equation

We continue solving the nonlinear propagation water wave equation (2.2). By separating the terms at this order ε^2 , we get a homogeneous equation in the form:

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi_1}{\partial t^2} + \beta \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial t} - c^2(x) \frac{\partial^2 \phi_1}{\partial x^2} = 0$$
2.4

We state the problem with the following boundary conditions:

- In $x = -\infty$ there are one incident wave and one reflected wave from the discontinuity.
- In $x = +\infty$ there is one transmitted wave (only outgoing)

Note that the first order problem should satisfy continuity of the function and its partial derivative. Thus, we have $[\phi_1] = 0$ and $[\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\phi_1] = 0$ at x = 0.

2.3.2 Method of solution for the first order

Taking the proposed solution developed by Massel [5], according to the boundary conditions at the infinity as:

Besides, we get two equations from the continuity conditions at x = 0. Thus, at x = 0 we have

$$\varphi_1|_{x=0^-} = \varphi_1|_{x=0^+}$$
$$\left[\frac{\partial\varphi_1}{\partial x}\right]|_{x=0^-} = \left[\frac{\partial\varphi_1}{\partial x}\right]|_{x=0^+}$$
$$2.7$$

Now we replace the proposed solution for x < 0 in equation (2.4) (we omitted the case x > 0 because it is the same procedure as for x < 0). This gives us:

$$(-\omega^{2} - i\omega\beta + c_{1}^{2}k^{2}) \alpha e^{i(kx - \omega t)} - (-\omega^{2} - i\omega\beta + c_{1}^{2}k^{2}) \alpha Re^{-i(kx + \omega t)} = 0.$$
 2.8

Both terms are linearly independent, so the equation is solved, if and only if, each term is equal to zero. This implies that:

$$\omega^2 + i\omega\beta = c_1^2 k^2, x < 0$$
 2.9

In the same way, for x > 0 we have the same condition:

$$\omega^2 + i\omega\beta = c_2^2 k^2, \, x > 0$$
 2.10

The equations (2.9) and (2.10) are the dispersion relation between ω and k, which will be referred afterwards as the function $k = D(\omega)$. As it will be useful in the next section, the dispersive wavenumbers obtained for the multiplies of the frequencies, will be denoted by:

$$D(n\omega) = \begin{cases} k_n, x < 0 \\ l_n, x > 0 \end{cases} n = 1, 2, ... 2.11$$

By replacing equations (2.5) and (2.6) in the continuity conditions (2.7) and changing the generic wavenumber k for the dispersive notation k_1 and l_1 from system (2.11), we get two equations:

$$1 - R = T$$
 2.12
 $k_1 + k_1 R = l_1 T$ 2.13

Solving for the unknowns R and T we get:

$$R = \frac{l_1 - k_1}{l_1 + k_1}$$

$$T = \frac{2 k_1}{2.15}$$
2.14

$$= \frac{1}{l_1 + k_1}$$
 2.1

3. Analysis of the reflection and transmission of a water wave over an obstacle

3.1 Statement of the problem

We consider the surface gravity wave problem in two dimensions. The geometry of the system can be described from left to right starting with a wave coming from $x = -\infty$ and including a submerged step located at x = 0. Thus, the depth h(x) is a piecewise function expressed as:



Figure 3.1: Scheme of the propagation problem of a nonlinear wave over a submerged rectangular obstacle. The incident wave comes from the left side

In both sides of the step, the velocity potential function φ and the surface displacement η should satisfy the Laplace equation (volume conservation):

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}\right)\varphi = 0$$
3.2

and the free surface boundary conditions expressed in the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial x} , \qquad z = \eta$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} + \left[\left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x} \right)^2 + \left(\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z} \right)^2 \right] g \eta = 0 , \qquad z = \eta$$
3.3

On the bottom and on the step wall, we impose impervious boundary:

2

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z} = 0$$
 , $z = -h(x)$ 3.4

$$rac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x} = 0$$
 , $-h(x) < z < -h_s$, $x = 0$

3.2 Solution of the problem

The problem can be solved starting with the perturbation method, well explained by Hsu [9], Ohyama [6] and Mei [10]. Considering a small parameter ε (here we consider in dimensional form $\varepsilon = a$), we develop the wave potential φ and the surface displacement η into a power series expansion:

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) = \varepsilon \,\varphi_1(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) + \varepsilon^2 \varphi_2(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) + \varepsilon^3 \varphi_3(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) + \dots \qquad 3.5$$

$$\eta(x,t) = \varepsilon \eta_1(x,t) + \varepsilon^2 \eta_2(x,t) + \varepsilon^3 \eta_3(x,t) + \dots$$
 3.6

Additionally, the total potential can be expressed in a Taylor series expansion, around z = 0, thus we will use expansion in the form:

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x}, \eta, t) = \varphi_{z=0} + \eta \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial z}]|_{z=0} + \eta^2 \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial z^2}]|_{z=0} + \dots \qquad 3.7$$

We replace the power series (3.5) and (3.6), and the Taylor expansion (3.7) in the Laplace equation (3.2) and in the free surface and bottom boundary conditions (equations (3.3) to (3.4)). We truncate the expressions at the order ε^2 :

After some calculation we get a nonlinear problem of surface waves over a submerged step expressing as follows.

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varepsilon \, \varphi_1 + \, \varepsilon^2 \, \varphi_2 \right) + O(\, \varepsilon^3) = 0 \,, \qquad -h(x) < z < -h_s \,, \ x = 0 \tag{3.8}$$

4. Numerical example

4.1 Numerical examples of solution for the first order equation discussed in the section 2.

In this section, we compute a particular example of the previous method of solution for the first order explained at section 2. We chose the following parameters that determine the conditions of the problem:

- $\omega = \pi$
- $\alpha_1 = 0.2, x < 0$
- $\alpha_2 = 0.4, x > 0$
- $\beta = 0.02$
- $c_1 = 0.1, x < 0$
- $c_2 = 0.3, x > 0$
- a = 0.02

with this condition, the steepness of the incident wave is $k\alpha = 0.08$, which indicates the weak nonlinearity of the incident wave.

Therefore, a consistent weakly nonlinear model can be applied. Figure 4.1 shows the real part of each component of the first order. The obtained coefficients are R = 1/3, T = 2/3. The continuity of φ_1 and $\partial_x \varphi_1$ imposed in equations above is observable in figure 4.1, where the addition of the incident and reflected wave in the left region match in amplitude and slope with the transmitted wave.



Figure 4.1: Real part of the first order waves. In x < 0 there are an incident and a reflected wave. In x > 0 there is a transmitted wave



Figure 4.2: Real part of the first order waves φ_1 , solution of the linear problem. There is continuity of the wave and its derivative at x = 0.

4.2 Influence of wetting conditions in an absorbing beach

The absorption of waves at the end of the channel is reached by installing a beach with weak slope. The quality of absorption is mainly driven by the beach slope, however, at small scale the contact line at the end of the wet surface has a substantial contribution.

In figure 4.3(a and b) two configurations are represented, corresponding to different wetting conditions of the beach surface, as is described by Qu'er'e [12]. The first case in figure 4.3-a, shows the change of the contact angle when the beach is made of plastic material, which is quite hydrophobic. In this case, when a small wave arrives, the contact line is pinned because of the high energy required to move the contact line upwards. Consequently, the contact angle increases, and the wave is partially reflected by the negative meniscus. This enhanced reflection by a pinned contact line was recently reported by Michel [11].

The opposite case is illustrated in figure 4.3-b, where the periodic structure represents the mesh located on the beach surface. The mesh spacing is 500 μ m, which is sufficiently large to be filled with water and to keep the fluid trapped in the gaps. This configuration changes completely the wetting of the beach surface,

creating a contact line that moves above a surface that is permanently wet, without the cost of energy required to wet the surface.



Figure 4.3: The wave reflection in a beach with different wetting properties. (a) The surface of the beach is not wet surface (b) The surface of the beach is covered with a mesh that keep the surface wet.

4.3 Experimental measurement of the beach absorption

Due to the experiments, two configurations were considered, focused on the experiments of nonlinear wave propagation over a step. Therefore, we compared in figures 4.5 and 4.6, the absorption of the beach for $\omega = 4\pi \text{ s}-1$ and $\omega = 6\pi \text{ s}-1$ respectively. In both configurations, the water depth is h = 2 cm, and the slope of the beach was estimated at 8%.

In figure 4.4 the experimental set-up is shown. We analyzed the influence of the wetting of the beach by adding a nylon mesh with a spacing of 500 μ m. This mesh can trap the water and keep the surface permanently wet, changing the movement of the water-solid contact line.





In the first configuration, at $\omega = 4\pi \text{ s}^{-1}$, the absorbing beach with and without mesh are compared and results are reported in figure 4.5. The reflection without mesh is 22% whereas the reflection coefficient with mesh is 6%. We observe in this case that the wetting reduces the beach reflection in a substantial fraction.



Figure 4.5: The fundamental mode. The depth is h = 2 cm, the beach start at x = 0.6 m. (Left) The surface is made of simple plastic. (Right) The surface is covered with a material that keeps a wet surface

At higher frequency, $\omega = 6\pi s^{-1}$, the difference is smaller but is still significant. In figure 4.6, the reflection from the beach without mesh is 6%, while the beach with mesh has a reflection coefficient of 1.8%. In this case, considering that high frequencies usually have smaller reflection the improvement due to the wetting is less marked. With such a weak reflection, we must consider that the linear fit performed on the fundamental mode is not an accurate tool to observe the difference in reflection.



Figure 4.6: The fundamental mode. The depth is h = 2 cm, the beach start at x = 0.6 m. (Left) The surface is made of simple plastic. (Right) The surface is covered with a material that keeps a wet surface.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, we analyzed the contribute of the wetting in an absorbing beach, with the objective of quantifying the role of the contact angle to the remaining reflection not absorbed by the beach. The wetting properties of the beach surface influence the absorption. Throw the facts, we compared the absorption of the beach for some different values of ω , respectively. In our configurations, the water depth is h = 2 cm, and the slope of the beach was estimated at 6%.

We practiced the water obstacle that modify the wave field, when the field size and the wave-amplitude are sufficiently small. In this context, we saw the influence of lateral walls(obstacles) on the propagation of water waves breaking. The great advantage of our technique is the possibility to measure a two-dimensional field η (x, y, z) with good temporal resolution.

In this article we have observed the importance of the wetting properties. We considered two samples; The first, when the surface of the beach is made of simple plastic. The second, when the surface is covered with a material that keeps a wet surface, generating smaller reflection.

in the experimental set-up of surface waves at small scale. Two problems were considered: the wetting properties of an absorbing beach and the wetting of the lateral walls in a narrow channel. In the first case, the addition of a mesh keeps the beach surface permanently wet, saving the energy consumed by the wetting

process and keeping the contact angle small and constant. In contrast, the beach without mesh has a pinned contact line that changes the contact angle creating a locally vertical surface that can reflect partially the capillary wave.

At low frequencies and sufficiently small amplitude, the reflection can be reduced 6 times by means of this mechanism. In the second problem, the wetting properties of lateral walls in a narrow waveguide were analyzed. When the walls have a simple plastic surface, the meniscus changes its contact angle when a wave is passing, and the contact line can be pinned if the wave-amplitude is small.

In contrast, when lateral mesh is added, the positive meniscus moves vertically with the amplitude of the wave, and the measurement of the relative deformation by Fourier Transform Profilometry gives a field without any modulation in the transverse direction, as it is expected theoretically with Neumann boundary conditions on the lateral walls.

In conclusion, the fact of a wet surface generates the quality of the measurement of the beach absorption.

6. References

[1] P. Cobelli, A. Maurel, V. Pagneux, and P. Petitjeans. Global measurement on water waves by fourier transform profilometry. Exp. Fluids, 46:1037–1047, 2009.

[2] M. Farhat, S. Enoch, S. Guenneau, and A. B. Movchan. Broadband cylindrical acoustic cloak for linear surface waves in a fluid. Physical review letters, 101(13):134501, 2008.

[3] R. Porter and J. N. Newman. Cloaking of a vertical cylinder in waves using variable bathymetry. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 750:124–143, 2014.

[4] M. Takeda and K. Mutoh. Fourier transform profilometry for the automatic measurement of 3-d object shapes. Appl. Opt., 22:3977–3982, 1983.

[5] S. R. Massel. Harmonic generation by waves propagating over submerged step. Coastal Engineering, 7:357–380, 1983.

[6] T. Ohyama, W. Kioka, and A. Tada. Applicability of numerical models to nonlinear dispersive waves. Coastal Engineering, 24:297–313, 1995.

[7] C. C. Mei and J. L. Black. Scattering of surface waves by rectagular obstacles in waters of finite depth. J. Fluid Mech., 38:499–511, 1969.

[8] J. N. Newman. Propagation of water waves over an infinite step. Journal of Fluids Mechanics, 23:399–415, 1965.

[9] J. R. C. Hsu, Y Tsuchiya, and R. Silvester. Third order approximation to short, crested waves. Journal of Fluids Mechanics, 90:179–196, 1979.

[10] C. C. Mei, M. Stiassnie, and D. K. P. Yue. Theory and applications of ocean surface waves. Part 1: Linear Aspects, volume 23. World Scientific, 2005.

[11] G. Michel, F. P'etr'elis, and S. Fauve. Acoustic measurements of surface wave damping by a meniscus. Phys. Rev. Lett., 116:174301, 2016.

[12] D. Qu'er'e. Wetting and roughness. Annu. Rev. Mater. Res., 38:71–99, 2008.

[13] J. W. Miles. Surface-wave scattering matrix for a shelf. J. Fluid Mech., 28:755–767, 1967.

Evaluation of family tourism services in the old quartiers of Berat city, Albania, using AHP and VIKOR

Robert Kosova¹, Markela Muça², Blerina Boçi¹, Dorina Guxholli¹, Taulant Kullolli³

¹Mathematics. University "A. Moisiu". Durrës. Albania,
 ²Mathematics. University of Tirana. Tirana. Albania,
 ³Marketing. University "A. Moisiu". Durrës. Albania,
 E-mail: robertko2000@gmail.com

Abstract

The tourism industry has become one of Albania's most important and profitable industries. From a country where tourism almost did not exist, Albania has emerged as an attractive country, where tourism is booming, contributing to the growth of the economy and the benefits to its citizens. The annual increase in the number of visitors and revenues from tourism is about 10-20%, (INSTAT 2003 - 2018). That is, more tourists are coming, more customers are to be satisfied and there is more pressure to better performance and better quality services. The tourism industry as a service industry is always looking for improvements to become more competitive and to respond to the expectations of local and foreign customers. The city of Berat is more than 2500 years old, it is declared a museum city in 1961 and it is included in the 2008 UNESCO World Heritage List. During the last decade, we have seen a very successful activity of family tourism businesses, which are specially established in the three old quartiers of Berat; Kala, Gorica, and Mangalam, which are the main quartiers visited by tourists. These quartiers include dozens of old and characteristic houses, over 100 years old, some of which have been transformed into small guesthouses, hotels, restaurants, bars, and resorts for domestic and foreign tourists with remarkable success. These transformations from old houses to tourist businesses are created by the investments of their owners, immigrants, city businessmen, and foreigners. This study aims to analyze, study, and compare the family tourism businesses, created and managed by family businesses. We will compare the quality of family tourism services in these three quartiers, based on the ratings of foreign and domestic clients who have visited them. The data are obtained from Trip Advisor and local data. The criteria that will evaluate the quality of tourist business services of these three neighborhoods are generally location, cleanliness, rooms, service, price, value, distance, performance, atmosphere, etc. The AHP method will be used to calculate the weight of the criteria and the ranking of the three alternatives will be performed with the VIKOR method, [13].

Keywords: mcda, tourism, vikor, ahp, evaluation, rating.

1. Introduction

In recent years, which has been accompanied by a greater opening of Albania in Europe and the world, there has been a boom in the country's tourism development. This has happened not only on the coast, where the number of foreign tourists has increased greatly, this has also happened in the domestic cities of Albania, which have attractive characteristics for foreign tourists. Cultural tourism is the main focus of

attracting foreign visitors to these cities such as Berat, Kruja, Gjirokastra, which are very old cities. Berat is an old Illyrian city, with an uninterrupted life of more than 2400 years. It is built in its beginnings inside the old Castle, which is very well preserved and has the rare feature of being fully inhabited, with old houses and very well preserved. Inside the Castle, there were once over 40 Byzantine-Orthodox churches, of which only 8 remain, which is a special attraction for foreign and domestic tourists.

Other cities, especially Gjirokastra have similar characteristics to Berat, have an old and well-kept castle, which is not inhabited. The old houses are revered on the hillside on which the castle stands. Kruja is famous for its Castle and the Historical Museum located inside the castle.

In the three old neighborhoods of the city of Berat, important transformations have been carried out, cultural and archeological sites have been restored, which have highlighted the cultural and historical values of the old city. This has led to a very large increase in tourists in our city. In the service of tourists, many old houses have been transformed into three neighborhoods, which have coped with quality, cultured, successful service, domestic tourism, and especially foreign tourism. Many UNESCO projects are under development as well as other projects of the European Union and the Ministry of Culture to improve the infrastructure of the city in the service of citizens and tourists.

The number of foreign tourists entering Albania has been increased rapidly, figure 1. Data are comparing the number of tourists entering Albania from 2001-2019.

Along with the quantitative development of tourism, the increase in the number of domestic and foreign tourists, there is great importance in improving the quality of tourist services. quality service is closely related to the evaluation of guests, tourists who will always make their evaluation. All family tourism businesses of these neighborhoods are included in tourist portals and sites as trip advisor and others. Data for evaluations of family tourism services are taken from trip advisor and local data, figure 1,2,3.



Figure 1. Entry and exit of Albanian and foreigners, 2011-2019



2015

2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
1,107	1,283	1,352	1,528	1,708	1,858

Figure 2. Profits, (million \$), 2013-2018.

Figure 3. Overnights of tourists, 2015-2018

2017

2018

2016

2. Main results:

Multicriteria Decision Analyses (MCDA) and AHP.

Multiple-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) or Multiple- criteria decision making (MCDM) is a powerful tool of operations research which is used for selecting a set of alternatives and prioritizing, ranking them under given criteria, (Hwang & Yoon, 1981). MCDA is a valuable tool that can be applied to many complex decisions. It is most applicable to solving problems that are characterized as a choice among alternatives. It helps us focus on what is important, is logical and consistent, and is easy to use. This tool is used by practically everyone every day because there is always some decision, we need to analyze and make among many alternatives which are evaluated under some criteria, conditions, constraints. People make thousands of decisions, but this same process also occurs in the corporate world, government organs, engineering, constructions, oil industry, whenever you have a decision process. A Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) resembles a cost-benefit analysis, but with the notable advantage of not being solely limited to monetary units for its comparisons. When making important decisions, multiple criteria and levels of scale need to be accounted for. Taking decisions based on multiple different criteria with help from the Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) tool can then make things clear, [5]. By structuring complex problems and analyzing multiple sets of criteria, informed, more justifiable decisions can be made.

MCDA steps are:

Define the context,

Identify the options available,

Decide the objectives and select the right criteria that represent the value

Measure out each of the criteria to discern their relative importance.

The use of a Multi-criteria analysis comes with various advantages when compared to a decision-making tool not based on specific criteria:

- It's open and explicit
- The chosen criteria can be adjusted
- Many different actors can be compared with one another
- A Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) grants insight into different judgments of value
- Performance measurements can be left to experts
- Scores and weights can be used as reference

• It's an important means of communication between the different parties involved in the decisionmaking process

It should be a Decision Analyses group of specialists, stakeholders, analysts, and persons of interest to analyze and decide the alternatives to work with, the criteria, and the importance or weight of criteria, by comparing them with the best tool available and the best method of comparison.

Selecting the criteria is very crucial because they influence the decision-making process of MCDA/MCDM methods. There are a lot of MCDM available techniques and, as it has been proved by literature, different techniques provide different results for the same problem, [8]. A combination of AHP and TOPSIS, VIKOR, or other methods, ELECTRE, PROMETHEE, etc, has been used in many evaluation problems, figure 4.



Figure 4. MCDA evaluation process.

The AHP was developed by T. Saaty in 1980 as a mathematical technique for solving complex and unstructured decision problems. The objective of AHP is the comparative evaluation and hierarchical ranking of the alternative solutions, concerning a group of compound criteria, (Saaty, 1996; Doumpos & Zopounidis, 2001), [13]. We will use AHP for the computation of the criteria weights we need for the VIKOR method of ranking alternatives. The mathematical approach used by AHP is based on the pairwise comparison technique through a numerical value scale from 1 to 9, (Saaty, 1996; Vaidya & Kuman, 2006), [15], [16]. Those scalar values express the subjective opinion of the decision-maker about how many times more important is one criterion in comparison to another. Table 1 exhibits the pairwise comparison scalar values and their linguistic equivalents (Saaty, 2008), [16].

Table 1. Pairwise comparison values of criteria a,b.

Value	Reciprocal value	Criterion a in comparison to b
1	1	Equally important
2	1/2	Slightly more important
3	1/3	Moderately more important
4	1/4	Moderately more important
5	1/5	Strongly more important
6	1/6	Strongly plus more important
7	1/7	Very strongly more important
8	1/8	Very, very strongly more important
9	1/9	Extremely more important

AHP steps are:

Step1. The identification of evaluation criteria which are considered to be the most important performance measures for the performance evaluation problem,

Step 2. The construction of a hierarchy of the evaluation criteria,

Step 3. Calculation of weights of chosen criteria using AHP method of MCDA,

Step 4. Calculate values for alternatives and get the final ranking results.

The process; Matrix of comparison values:

Let's assuming *n* attributes, then the pairwise comparison of attribute i with attribute j yields a square matrix $A_{n \times n}$ where the term $a_{i,j}$ denotes the comparative importance of attributes *i* concerning attribute *j*. In the comparison matrice $A_{n \times n}$ we have; $a_{i,j} = 1$, for i = j, and $a_{i,j} = \frac{1}{a_{i,j}}$.

I	Attribute	S
	$\overline{1}$	$\begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \dots & a_{1n-1} & a_{1n} \end{bmatrix}$
	2	$a_{21} a_{22} \dots a_{2n-1} a_{2n}$
$A_{nxn} =$		
	$\binom{\dots}{n}$	$\begin{bmatrix} \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ a_{n1} & a_n2 & \dots & a_{nn-1} & a_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$

Step 3. Construct normalized decision matrix,

$$c_{i,j} = \frac{a_{i,j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{i,j}}, \ i = \overline{1, n}; \ j = \overline{1, n}.$$
(1)
Step 4. Construct the weighted normalized matrix,

$$w_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{c_{i,j}}{n}, \ i = \overline{1, n}$$
(2)

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} w_1 \\ w_2 \\ \cdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ w_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

Step 5. Calculate eigenvectors and Row matrix

$$E = \frac{N^{th} rootvalue}{\sum N^{th} rootvalue}$$
(4)

$$Rowmatrix = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} * e_{j1}$$
(5)
Step 6. Calculate the maximum Eigenvalue
$$\lambda_{max} = \frac{Rowmatrix}{E}$$
(6)
Step 7. Calculate the consistency index and consistency ratio,

$$CI = (\lambda_{max} - n)/(n-1) \text{ and } CR = \frac{CI}{RI}$$
(7)

Where *n* and *RI* denote the order of matrix and randomly generated Consistency Index respectively.

Vikor method

In some cases, the heterogeneity of criteria might make it impossible to produce a solution that satisfies them all simultaneously. To confront such situations first Yu (1973) and almost a decade later Zeleny (1982) introduced the notion of 'compromise solution' which is defined as the feasible solution "closest" to the "ideal" one and compromise means an established agreement by mutual concessions (Opricovic & Tzeng, 2004). The VIKOR method is an implementation of the notion of a compromise solution. The method (Visekriterijumska Optimizacija I Kompromisno Resenje in Serbian) was developed by S. Opricovic in 1990 as a multicriteria optimization method to solve complex decision problems, which have several possible solutions. VIKOR aims to rank the set of alternatives concerning a set of conflicting evaluation criteria and suggest the solution that is "closest" to the "ideal" solution. (Yazdani & Graeml, 2014), [14].

3. Case study

We have taken under consideration three main quartiers, (three Alternatives) of Berat city, Albania, concerning their tourism services. The purpose is to rank the three of them by evaluating the service quality estimated by customers- tourists. The data are provided by TripAdvisor and local data.

1. Quartier of Kala- Castle. All the hotels, restaurants are inside old houses of the castle. The castle is more than 2400 years old and very well preserved. There are more than 60 familiar tourism businesses inside the castle.

2. Quartier of Gorica. It is positioned on the left side of the river, which the oldest quartier of Berat.

The old houses are very well preserved, most of them are restored and changed to rooms to let, restaurants, family small hotels, there are more than 100 familiar tourism businesses.

3. Quartier of Mangalem. It's very picturesque and beautiful. Most of the old houses are transformed into restaurants, rooms, hotels, bars and other tourism services mostly frequented and visited by foreign tourists. More than 150 familiar tourism businesses are working there.

The process of AHP calculating criteria weights is done by using AHP online. The matrix of comparison scalars was built by comparing all the criteria using the method of pairwise comparison. The test of consistency is 4.8 % which is a very satisfactory, (< 10% is very good). The criteria and their weights resulted from using AHP are in tables 2,3. The alternative evaluation was made by calculating the evaluation of customers and criteria weights, the results are in figure 5, and the SQR ranking, figure 6.

Nr	Criteria	Symbols
1	Location	C1
2	Cleanness	C2
3	Price	C3
4	Atmosphere	C4
5	Service	C5
6	Value	C6

Table 2. AHP criteria for Alternatives

Number of comparisons = 15Consistency Ratio CR = 4.8%Principal eigenvalue = 6.300Eigenvector solution: 4 iterations, delta = 5.2E-8 Table 3. Criteria weights, AHP.

Criteria	Weights
C1	12%
C2	18%
C3	15%
C4	16%
C5	22%
C6	17%



Figure 5. Alternative Evalution.

Figure 6. Vikor S, Q, R ranking.

4. Conclusions:

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the familiar tourism business and services that are working in three old quartiers of Berat. After many years of working, having an important contribution to the local economy, what they need is a process of evaluation of their quality of services, to make improvements, to have a better understanding of their services, and ensuring a better future for their businesses. The guest's evaluation and customer satisfaction are of great importance for any business in the tourism industry, especially for small family businesses. Such businesses are having a great estimation from foreign tourists, as we have seen from tourist sites and the data provided by local offices. Still, there are many rooms for improvements, not only from the business but, from local and central governments, regarding the performance of the city, transportations, noise, organizing cultural events, activities such visiting cultural and historical sites, hiking and excursions, etc.

The best performance in almost all the criteria is the quartier of Mangalam.

They need to improve in some aspects such as price, value, etc.

The quartier of Gorica needs improvement in the quality of hotels, food, atmosphere.

The quartier of Kala needs to offer more to cover the problem of location. They offer the best atmosphere.

5. References

[1] Akincilar A. &Dagdeviren, M. (2014). A hybrid multi-criteria decision-making model to evaluate hotel websites. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 36, 263-271. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.10.002.
[2] Ayhan M.B. (2013). A Fuzzy AHP approach for supplier selection problem: a case study in a gear motor company. doi:10.5121/ijmvsc.2013.4302.

[3] Brunelli M. & Mezei J. (2013). How different are ranking methods for fuzzy numbers? A numerical study. International Journal of Approximate Reasoning, 54, 627–639, DOI: 10.1016/j.ijar.2013.01.009.

[4] Chang D.-Y. (1996). Applications of the extent analysis method on fuzzy AHP: Theory and Methodology. European Journal of Operational Research, 95, 649-655.

[5] Digkoglou P., Dragoslis A., Papathanasiou J., Kostoglou V. Using AHP, and VIKOR to evaluate the hotel industry of eight European countries. Balkan Region Conference on Engineering and Business Education, Sciendo, vol. 3(1), pages 8-13, December 2017.

[6] Doumpos M. & Zopounidis K. (2001). Multicriteria classification techniques. Greece, Athens: Kleidarithmos Publications.

[7] Duckstein L. & Oprinovic S. (1980). Multiobjective Optimization in River Basin Development.Water Resources Research, 16(1), 14-20.

[8] Fu, H. P., Chu, K. K., Chao, P., Lee, H. H., & Liao, Y. C. (2011). Using fuzzy AHP and VIKOR for Benchmarking. doi:10.1080/02642069.2010.503874.

[9] Hwang, C. and Yoon, K. (1981) Multiple Attribute Decision Making: Methods and Application. Springer, New York. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-48318-9

[10] Kosova et., al. Performance evaluation of University Academic Staff in teaching, research, and service using MCDA method and AHP. International Conference on Mathematics: "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" ICOM 2019 Conference Proceedings Book ISBN: 978-605-67964-3-2.

[11] Lee, J. & Lee, H. (2015). Deriving Strategic Priority of Policies for Creative Tourism Industry in Korea using AHP, Procedia Computer Science, 55, 479 – 484, DOI: 10.1016/j.procs.2015.07.018.

[12] Mardani, A., Jusoh, A., Bagheri, M.M. &Kazemilari, M. (2015). A combined hybrid fuzzy multiple criteria decision-making approach to evaluating of QM critical success factors in SME's hotels' firms, Prodecia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 172, 786–793, DOI: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.433.

[13] Mardani A., Zavadskas E.K., Govindan K., Senin A.A. &Jusoh A. (2016). VIKOR Technique: A Systematic Review of the State-of-the-Art Literature on Methodologies and Applications. Sustainability, 8(37), doi:10.3390/su8010037.

[14] Opricovic S. & Tzeng G-H., (2004). Compromise solution by MCDM methods: A comparative analysis of VIKOR and TOPSIS. European Journal of Operational Research, 156, 445-455.

[15] Saaty T.L. (1996). The Analytical Hierarchy Process, 2 Publications.

[16] Saaty, T.L. (2008). Decision making with the analytic hierarchy process.Int. J. Services Sciences, 1(1), 83-98.

Evaluation on the parameters of PSO algorithm using analytic tools

Besiana Çobani¹, Aurora Simoni², Rigena Sema³

¹⁾Department of Mathematics, University of Tirana ²⁾Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Tirana ³⁾Department of Mathematics, University of Tirana E-mail: <u>besiana.hamzallari@fshn.edu.al</u>, <u>aurora.simoni@fshn.edu.al</u>, <u>rigena.sema@fshn.edu.al</u>

Abstract

The PSO algorithm is used nowadays in nonlinear optimization problems. It is an evolutionary heuristic algorithm which aims to a global solution. Numerically, it is one of the most successful method, but there is still to work on the theorical part of the algorithm. In this work we deal with the convergence of the algorithm based on the matrices and differential equations. We perturbate the dynamical system that models the particle movement and we evaluate the parameters of perturbation based on theorical restrictions.

Keywords: PSO algorithm, parameters, convergence, differential equation

Introduction. The PSO algorithm we consider has n particles. Each one of the particles has an initial position in a dimensional space and is a potential candidate for the solution needed. How does a particle move? To answer we take in consideration three rules (1) the particle should keep its inertia (2) change the condition according to its most optimist position (individual rule) (3) change the condition according to the swarm's most optimist position (social rule). It is clear that the position of each particle is governed by rule 2 and 3, so by the most optimist position during its movement (individual experience) and the position of the most optimist particle in its neighborhood (near experience). As in the bird flock, the position of the particles nearby the one with the most optimist position coincides and this is called whole PSO. When the whole particle swarm is surrounding the particle, the most optimist position of the surrounding is equal to the one of the whole most optimist particle. A particle is identified by its current speed and its position, the most optimal position of each particle and the most optimal position of the neighborhood. We focus our work in the study of the behavior of one particle, of one individual. The speed and the velocity of a particle is given by the formula

$$(1)v_{id}^{k+1} = v_{id}^{k} + c_1 r_1^{k} (pbest_{id}^{k} - x_{id}^{k}) + c_2 r_2^{k} (gbest_d^{k} - x_{id}^{k})$$
$$(2)x_{id}^{k+1} = x_{id}^{k} + v_{id}^{k+1}$$

 v_{id}^k represents the speed of the particle i in the k time and x_{id}^k represents the d-dimension quantity of its position or more simply the current position of the particle $pbest_{id}^{k}$ represents the d dimension quantity of the particle i at its most optimal position at its k times and $gbest_d^k$ is the ddimension quantity of the swarm at its most optimal position. The speed is always between two boundaries, $-v_{dmax}$ and v_{dmax} , in order to avoid the wandering of the point away from the operational searching space. c_1 , c_2 are non-negative constants, called cognitive learning rate or the acceleration coefficients and play an important role in the algorithm process. They represent the particle stochastic acceleration weight toward the personal best (pbest) and the global best (gbest). We should avoid small accelerate constant since the particle can move away from the goal area and large accelerate constant values since the particle can move very quickly to the goal area and leave it totally. How do we determine these acceleration coefficients? If we take $c_1 = 0$ then the particle behaves social only and the particles cooperate with each other leaving apart the pbest and focusing only in the gbest tending into a local optima. If $c_2 = 0$ the particles have no interaction so the chances to get the optimal solution is very small. In previous work of Kennedy and Eberhart, also Clerc later was stated that high values of the cognitive component c_1 compared to the social component c_2 will bring to extra wandering of the search area (space). If there is a high value of the social component compared to the cognitive one then the particles may hurry prematurely to the local optimum. In many papers the values of the acceleration coefficients are equal to 2.05, other researchers recommend to not take the same value of the coefficients. All of this discussion is based more heuristically because still there is no mathematical assurance on the convergence of PSO. In this paper we try to give some values for the acceleration coefficients based on analytic tools. Our research is based on the well-known paper of Clerc and Kennedy.

2. Modelling the problem in a dynamical system The relations (1) and (2) can be modelled as a dynamical system proposed by Clerc and Kennedy. First, we denote $\varphi_1 = c_1 r_1^k$, $\varphi_2 = c_2 r_2^k$, and $\varphi = \varphi_1 + \varphi_2$. Then we redefine

$$pbest_{id} \coloneqq \frac{\varphi_1 pbest_{id} + \varphi_2 gbest_d}{\varphi_1 + \varphi_2}$$

The dynamical system obtained by (1) and (2)

(3)
$$\begin{cases} v_{t+1} = wv_t + \varphi y_t \\ y_{t+1} = -wv_t + (1 - \varphi)y_t \\ ICOM \ 2020 \\ ISTANBUL / TURKEY \end{cases}$$

where $y_t = p - x_t$, where p is the best position found so far. From three in an iterating step we have

$$\begin{cases} v_{t+2} = wv_{t+1} + \varphi y_{t+1} \\ y_{t+1} = -wv_t + (1 - \varphi)y_t \end{cases}$$

substituting y_{t+1} at the first equation and adding the first identity of (3) we have

$$v_{t+2} + (\varphi - 1 - w)v_{t+1} + \omega v_t = 0$$

which is a second order difference equation. Using the Lagrange interpolation, we have a continuous solution in order to study the convergence so the respective differential equation is

$$v_{tt} + \ln(e_1 e_2) v_t + \ln(e_1) \ln(e_2) = 0$$

where e_1 , e_2 are the roots of the characteristic equation $\lambda^2 + (\varphi - 1 - \omega)\lambda + \omega = 0$,

respectively

(*)
$$e_1 = \frac{\omega + 1 - \varphi + \sqrt{(\omega + 1 - \varphi)^2 - 4\omega}}{2}$$
, $e_2 = \frac{\omega + 1 - \varphi - \sqrt{(\omega + 1 - \varphi)^2 - 4\omega}}{2}$

and the solution of the second order differential equation is $v(t) = l_1 e_1^{t} + l_2 e_2^{t}$.

From

$$v_{t+1} = wv_t + \varphi y_t$$

we can derive

$$y(t) = \frac{l_1 e_1^{t}(e_1 - \omega) + l_2 e_2^{t}(e_2 - \omega)}{\varphi}.$$

To estimate the parameters l_1 , l_2 for t = 0

$$\begin{cases} v(0) = l_1 + l_2 \\ y(0) = \frac{l_1(e_1 - \omega) + l_2(e_2 - \omega)}{\varphi} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} v(0) = l_1 + l_2 \\ y(0) = \frac{l_1(e_1 - \omega) + l_2(e_2 - \omega)}{\varphi} \end{cases}$$

3. The perturbated dynamical system. We continue our study of convergence taking the inertia weight $\omega = 1$, and perturbate the dynamical system introducing the parameters α , β . γ , δ , η as follows

(4)
$$\begin{cases} v_{t+1} = \alpha v_t + \beta \varphi y_t \\ y_{t+1} = -\gamma v_t + (\delta - \eta \varphi) y_t \end{cases}$$

where $\varphi \in R^{+*}, \forall t \in N, (y_t, v_t) \in R^2$

In this case we operate with matrix theory as the eigenvalues of the coefficients of a linear dynamical system determine the solution of that system as well.

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & \beta \varphi \\ -\gamma & \delta - \eta \varphi \end{bmatrix}$$

If we denote the eigenvalues of the matrix $\bar{e}_1 \ \bar{e}_2$ then the solution of (4) is

$$v(t) = l_1 \bar{e_1}^t + l_2 \bar{e_2}^t, \quad y(t) = \frac{l_1 \bar{e_1}^t (\bar{e_1} - \alpha) + l_2 \bar{e_2}^t (\bar{e_2} - \alpha)}{\beta \varphi}$$

As in the previous section we evaluate the parameters l_1 , l_2 for the initial time t = 0

$$\begin{cases} l_1 = \frac{-\beta \varphi y(0) - (\alpha - \bar{e}_2) v(0)}{\bar{e}_2 - \bar{e}_1} \\ l_2 = \frac{\beta \varphi y(0) + (\alpha - \bar{e}_1) v(0)}{\bar{e}_2 - \bar{e}_1} \end{cases}$$

And also from (*) for $\omega = 1$

$$e_{1} = \frac{2 - \varphi + \sqrt{(2 - \varphi)^{2} - 4}}{2}, \quad e_{2} = \frac{2 - \varphi - \sqrt{(2 - \varphi)^{2} - 4}}{2}$$

$$(**) \quad e_{1} = 1 - \frac{\varphi}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{\varphi^{2} - 4\varphi}}{2}, \qquad e_{2} = 1 - \frac{\varphi}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{\varphi^{2} - 4\varphi}}{2}$$

We have the constriction coefficients k_1, k_2 defined by

$$\begin{cases} \bar{e}_1 = k_1 e_1 \\ \bar{e}_2 = k_2 e_2 \end{cases}$$

From direct computation,

$$\begin{cases} k_1 = \frac{\alpha + \delta - \eta\varphi + \sqrt{(\eta\varphi)^2 + 2\varphi(\alpha\eta - \delta\eta - 2\beta\gamma) + (\alpha - \delta)^2}}{2 - \varphi + \sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}} \\ k_2 = \frac{\alpha + \delta - \eta\varphi - \sqrt{(\eta\varphi)^2 + 2\varphi(\alpha\eta - \delta\eta - 2\beta\gamma) + (\alpha - \delta)^2}}{2 - \varphi - \sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}} \end{cases}$$

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

4. Choosing the coefficients. For k_1 and k_2 to be real for a given value of φ subtracting and adding the two above identities we obtain

$$2(\alpha + \delta - \eta\varphi) = (k_1 + k_2)(2 - \varphi) + (k_1 - k_2)\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}$$
$$2\sqrt{(\eta\varphi)^2 + 2\varphi(\alpha\eta - \delta\eta - 2\beta\gamma) + (\alpha - \delta)^2} = (k_1 + k_2)\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}(k_1 - k_2)(2 - \varphi)$$

or posing

• $A = sgn(\varphi^2 - 4\varphi)$ • $B = |\varphi^2 - 4\varphi|$ • $C = (\eta\varphi)^2 + 2\varphi(\alpha\eta - \delta\eta - 2\beta\gamma) + (\alpha - \delta)^2$

we have

$$\sqrt{C(1 - sgn(C)(2 - \varphi) - (\alpha + \delta - \eta\varphi)}\sqrt{B(1 - A)} = 0$$
$$\sqrt{(|C|)}\sqrt{B} sgn(C)(1 + A) = 0$$

It is seen the presence of φ so the solution depends on it. As it is obvious there are many ways for the two equations to be zero. A possible choice is

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L} > 0\\ A = -1, (\varphi < 4)\\ \alpha + \delta - \eta \varphi = 0 \end{cases}$$

First set of choice $\alpha = \delta$, $\beta \gamma = \eta^2$.

Then

$$\begin{split} \alpha &= \frac{1}{4} (2(k_1 + k_2) + (k_1 - k_2)(\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi} + \varphi \frac{2 - \varphi}{\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}}))\\ \eta &= \frac{1}{2} (k_1 + k_2 + \frac{2 - \varphi}{\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}} (k_1 - k_2)) \end{split}$$

Since we want real coefficients and from A = -1 then we choose

$$k_1=k_2=\mathbf{k}\in R$$

And in order for the five coefficients to satisfy the conditions $\alpha = \delta$, $\beta \gamma = \eta^2$, we choose

$$\alpha = \beta = \gamma = \delta = \eta = k$$

In this case the parameters do not depend on φ .

Second set of choice (depend on φ) $\alpha = \beta$, $\gamma = \delta = \eta$, after the calculations

$$\alpha = \frac{(k_1 + k_2)(2 - \varphi) + (k_1 - k_2)\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}}{2} + (\varphi - 1)$$
$$\gamma = \frac{1}{4(\varphi - 1)} \frac{(k_1 + k_2)(\varphi - 2) - (k_1 - k_2)\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi}}{\sqrt{k_1^2(\varphi^2 - 4\varphi + 2 - \varphi\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi} + k_2^2(\varphi^2 - 4\varphi + 2 + \varphi\sqrt{\varphi^2 - 4\varphi} + 8k_1 k_2(2\varphi - 1))}}$$

To simplify the result, we take $k_1 = k_2 = k \in R$ and

$$\alpha = (2 - \varphi)k + \varphi - 1$$
$$\gamma = k \text{ or } \gamma = \frac{k}{\varphi - 1}$$

For the convergence of the first choice of parameters, with the condition $k_1 = k_2 = k$, $(5)\begin{cases} |\bar{e}_1| = k|e_1| \\ |\bar{e}_2| = k|e_2| \end{cases}$

And for the second choice of coefficients and for the parameter α to be positive, $\varphi \leq 2$

$$(6) \begin{cases} |\bar{e}_1| = \left| k \left(1 - \frac{\varphi}{2} \right) + \frac{\sqrt{k^2 (2 - \varphi)^2 + 4k(\varphi - 2) + 4(\varphi - 1)}}{2} \right| \le k |e_1| = k \\ |\bar{e}_2| = \left| k \left(1 - \frac{\varphi}{2} \right) - \frac{\sqrt{k^2 (2 - \varphi)^2 + 4k(\varphi - 2) + 4(\varphi - 1)}}{2} \right| \le k |e_2| = k \end{cases}$$

(5) and (6) guarantee that the system is stable.

Conclusion. Since the coefficients k_1 , k_2 which means also φ depend on the parameters α , β , γ , δ , η we should study if there are other restrictions needed to ensure the continuity of the system and to advance in the research of the converge of PSO.

References

[1] Clerc M, Kennedy J "The particle Swarm- Explosion, Stability and convergence in a multidimensional Complex Space" IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation 2002

[2] Ziyu T , Dingxue Z A modified Particle Swarm Optimization with an adaptive acceleration Coefficients Asia-Pacific Conference on Information Processing 2009

[3] Sahu A, Panigrahi S, Pattnik S "Fast Convergence Particle Swarm Optimization for Functions Optimization" Procedi Technology 4 2012

[4] Bai Q "Analysis of Particle Swarm Optimization Algorithm" Computer and Information Science 2010

[5] Tian D "A review of Convergence Analysis of Particle Swarm Optimization" International Journal of Grid and Distributed Computing 2013

Exact and Numerical Solution for Pseudo- Parabolic Differential Equation Defined by Atangana-Baleanu Fractional Derivative

Mahmut Modanli¹,

¹Mathematics, Harran University, Turkey, E-mail(s): mmodanli@harran.edu.tr,

Abstract

In this paper, the finite difference scheme method is applied to Pseudo-parabolic differential equation. Stability estimates are given for this method. The exact solution is obtained for this equation. Error analysis is calculated by comparing the exact and approximate solution for this problem.

1. Introduction

Fractional differential equations are applied many phenomena in various fields of engeneering and scientific displines such as control theory, physics, chemistry, biology, economic, mechanics and electromagnetic. In theoretical physics, it is usually very important to seek and construct explicit solutions of linear and nonlinear partial differential equations (PDEs). Therefore, the solution helps the researchers to understand the physical phenomena. The parabolic equation occurs in several areas of applied mathematics, such as heat conduction, the phenomenea of turbulence and flow through a shock wave traveling in a viscous fluid such as the modeling of dynamics. In recent years, several studies for the linear and nonlinear initial value of fractionnals problems arise in the literature.

The pseudo-parabolic equation models a variety of physical processes. The one dimensional pseudoparabolic equation was derived in [3]. In general, some of the nonlinear models of real-life problems are still very difficult to solve either theoretically or numerically. Recently, many authors have proposed analytical solution to one dimensional system of parabolic equation (Burgers equation) eg.[4, 5] using a domain decomposition method. In [2] the author used Laplace transform and homotopy perturbation method to obtain approximate solutions of homogeneous and inhomogeneous coupleg Berger's equation. The author in [1] used a modified double Laplace decomposition method to solve coupled pseudo-parabolic equations. In [6], Akgül and Modanli studied Crank–Nicholson difference method and reproducing kernel function for third order fractional differential equations in the sense of Atangana–Baleanu Caputo derivative.

In this work, we shall use difference scheme method for pseudo-parabolic fractional partial differential equation. For this, following farctional order initial-boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} {}^{ABC}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}(u_{t}(t,x)) = \lambda u_{txx}(t,x) + u_{xx}(t,x) + f(t,x) = 0, x \in [0,X], t \in [0,T] \\ u(x,0) = g(x), x \in [0,X], \\ u(t,0) = u(t,L) = 0, t \in [0,T], \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

is investigated. Where, g(x), f(t,x) are known functions, u(t,x) is unknown function and $\lambda > 0$. ${}^{ABC}_{0}D^{\alpha}_{t}$ is Atangana-Baleanu Caputo(ABC) derivative that defined by the following definition.

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen Definition 1.1. Suppose that $f \in H^1(a, b), b > a$ and $\sigma \in [0, 1]$. Then ABC fractional derivative is

$${}^{ABC}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}(f(t)) = {}^{B(\alpha)}_{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{t} f'(x)E_{\alpha} \left[-\alpha {(t-x)^{\alpha} \over 1-\alpha} \right] dx,$$
(1.2)

Here,

$$E_{\alpha}\left[-\alpha \frac{(t-x)^{\alpha}}{1-\alpha}\right] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\alpha \frac{(t-x)^{\alpha}}{1-\alpha})^k}{\Gamma(\alpha k+1)},$$
(1.3)

is Mittag-Leffler function, and $B(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha + \frac{\alpha}{\Gamma(\alpha)}$.

Using Laplace transform method for the equation (1.2), it is written as

$$\mathcal{L}[{}^{ABC}_{\ a}D^{\alpha}_{t}(u(t,x))] = \frac{B(a)}{1-\alpha} \frac{s^{a}u(s,x) - s^{a-1}u(0,x)}{s^{a} + \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}$$
(1.4)

Next section, we will construct difference scheme for the equation (1.1). Then we will prove stability estimates for this difference scheme.

2. Finite Difference Scheme Method

We introduce grids with uniform steps

$$W^{h} = \{x_{n}: x_{n} = nh, n = 0, 1, ..., M\}, h = \frac{x}{M}$$
$$W^{\tau} = \{t_{k}: t_{k} = k\tau, k = 0, 1, ..., N\}, \tau = \frac{T}{N}$$

From [7], we can write first order difference scheme for the equation (1.2) as

$${}^{ABC}_{a}D^{\alpha}_{t}(u(t_{k},x_{n})=\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\sum_{j=0}^{k}(\frac{u_{n}^{k+1}-u_{n}^{k}}{\tau}d_{j,k}),$$
(2.1)

where

$$d_{j,k} = (t_j - t_{k+1})^{1-\alpha} - (t_j - t_k)^{1-\alpha}.$$

Using Taylor expansion, the following formula

$$u_{xx}(t_k, x_n) \cong \frac{u_{n+1}^k - 2u_n^k + u_{n-1}^k}{h^2}$$
(2.2)

is writen. From [8], $u_{txx}(t_k, x_n)$ can be found as: $u_{txx}(t_k, x_n) \cong \frac{1}{\tau} \left(\frac{u_{n+1}^k - 2u_n^{k+1} + u_{n-1}^k}{h^2} - \frac{u_{n+1}^{k-1} - 2u_n^k + u_{n-1}^{k-1}}{h^2} \right).$ (2.3)

Using the formulas (2.1), (2.2) and (2.3), we obtain finite difference scheme for the equation (1.1) following as:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \left(\frac{u_{n+1}^{k+1} - u_{n}^{k}}{\tau} d_{j,k} \right) = \frac{1}{\tau} \left(\frac{u_{n+1}^{k} - 2u_{n}^{k+1} + u_{n-1}^{k}}{h^{2}} - \frac{u_{n+1}^{k-1} - 2u_{n}^{k} + u_{n-1}^{k-1}}{h^{2}} \right) \\ + \frac{u_{n+1}^{k} - 2u_{n}^{k} + u_{n-1}^{k}}{h^{2}} + f_{n}^{k}, 1 \le k \le N - 1, \quad 1 \le n \le M - 1 \\ u_{n}^{0} = g(x_{n}), \quad 0 \le n \le M, \quad u_{0}^{k} = u_{M}^{k} = 0, \quad 0 \le k \le N, \quad 0 < \alpha < 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4)$$

The stability estimates can be proved similarity of the procedure [6].

Next section, we will apply one test problem for the approximation solution of the problem (1.1).

3. Numerical Examples

In this section, we shall test one example for the pseudo-parabolic partial differential equations by finite difference method. For this, we utilize a procedure of modified Gauss elimination method for difference equation (2.4). To obtain error analysis table, the following maximum norm is used for the numerical solution by given

$$\varepsilon = \max_{\substack{i=0,1,\cdots,M\\ j=0,1,\cdots,N}} |u(x,t) - u(t_k, x_n)|.$$

Where $u_n^k = u(t_k, x_n)$ is the approximate solution, u(x, t) is the exact solution and ε is the error analysis.

Example 3.1. The fractional order the pseudo-parabolic partial differential equations defined by ABC derivative operator with inital-boundary value condition

$$\begin{cases} {}^{ABC}_{0}Du(t,x) = u_{txx}(t,x) + u_{xx}(t,x) + f(t,x), \quad 0 < x < \pi, \quad 0 < t < 1, \\ f(t,x) = \left(t^3 + \frac{3(1-\alpha)t^2}{B(\alpha)} + \frac{6\alpha t^{2+\alpha}}{B(\alpha)\Gamma(3+\alpha)} \frac{(1-\alpha)t^3}{B(\alpha)} + \frac{6\alpha t^{3+\alpha}}{B(\alpha)\Gamma(4+\alpha)}\right) sinx, \\ u(0,x) = 0, \quad 0 \le x \le \pi, \\ u(t,0) = u(t,\pi) = 0, \quad 0 \le t \le 1, \\ \text{is tested.} \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

In the following Table 1., the approximate solution and exact solution of the following example are given for different value α .

α	N, M mesh grid	ε – Error Analysis
	N=M=25	0.1266
	N=M=50	0.0634
1/100	N=M=100	0.0317
	N=M=200	0.0159
	N=M=25	0.1215
	N=M=50	0.0608
50/100	N=M=100	0.0304
	N=M=200	0.0152
	N=M=25	0.0329
99/100	N=M=50	0.0165
	N=M=100	0.0083
	N=M=200	0.0043
1	N=M=200	0.0039

Remark 3.1 If the following condition is satisfied $h^2 < \frac{2(\tau+1)\Gamma(2-\alpha)}{\tau^{1-\alpha}}$, then numerical results are

showed stability estimates for the above Table 1.

4. Conclusion

In this paper, the exact solution and stability estimates are showed for Pseudo-parabolic partial differential equation with sense of ABC derivative. First order finite difference schemes are constructed. Stability inequalities are proved for given difference schemes. Approximate solutions for numerical experiment were found by the finite difference-method. MATLAB programs are used for the numerical computations.

5. References

- 1. Hassan Eltayeb Gadain, solving coupled pseudo-parabolic equation using a modified double Laplace decomposition method, Acta Mathematica Scienta 2018, number of volume(number of issue), vol.38.Ser.B, p. 333- 346.
- 2. Aminikhah H, An analytical approximation for coupled viscous Burgers equation, Appl Math Model, 2013, 37: 59795983.
- 3. Mesloub S, A nonlinear nonlocal mixed problem for a second order pseudoparabolic equation, J Math Anal Appl, 2006, 316: 189209.

- 4. Dehghan M, Hamidi A and Shakourifar M, The solution of coupled Burgers equations using Adomian Pad technique, Appl Math Comput, 2007, 189: 10341047.
- 5. Kaya D, An explicit solution of coupled viscous Burgers equation by the decomposition method, IJMMS, 2001, 27: 675680.
- 6. Akgül, A., & Modanli, M. (2019). Crank–Nicholson difference method and reproducing kernel function for third order fractional differential equations in the sense of Atangana–Baleanu Caputo derivative. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals, 127*, 10-16.
- 7. Alqahtani,R.T., "Atangana-Baleanu derivative with fractional order applied to the model of groundwater within an unconÖned aquifer," J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl, 9, 3647-3654 (2016).
- Jachimavičienė, J., Sapagovas, M., Štikonas, A., & Štikonienė, O. (2014). On the stability of explicit finite difference schemes for a pseudoparabolic equation with nonlocal conditions, Nonlinear analysis: modelling and control. Vilnius: Institute of Mathematics and Informatics, 2014, vol. 19, no. 2.

Extended q-Daehee Polynomials and Its Applications via Mahler Expansion

Ugur Duran¹, Mehmet Acikgoz²

¹Basic Sciences of Engineering, Iskenderun Technical University, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Gaziantep University, Turkey, E-mails: mtdrnugur@gmail.com, acikgoz@gantep.edu.tr

Abstract

In the present paper, we firstly consider novel q-extensions of the Daehee polynomials named as the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) and generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials of the second kind with weight (α, β) . For the aforementioned polynomials, we derive various interesting and new formulas and identities covering correlations and recurrence relations associated with the Apostol type Stirling numbers of the second kind, the generalized twisted q-Bernoulli polynomials with weight (α, β) and Stirling numbers of both kinds. Moreover, we provide two relationships for the two types of generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) . Then, we examine some connections with the p-adic gamma function with its derivative via Mahler expansion for the aforesaid polynomials. Furthermore, we prove an exciting explicit formula for the p-adic Euler constant thanks to the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) .

Keywords: *p*-adic gamma function, Mahler expansion, Bernoulli polynomials, Daehee polynomials, *p*-adic numbers.

1. Introduction

In the science of mathematics, *special polynomials and special functions* have been debated and used for centuries. The subjects of special polynomials and functions have been in uninterrupted development from then till now, *cf.* [1]. In recent years, diverse new special polynomials and functions in conjunction with some applications have been considered by many mathematicians (see [1-28]). These treatises provide an overview of the field of the diverse special polynomials and functions, centering mainly on the Hermite polynomials, hypergeometric functions, Bernoulli polynomials, gamma function, Daehee polynomials, and the related certain polynomials and functions.

The Daehee polynomials $D_n(x)$ are defined by Kim et al. [10] via the following exponential generating function:

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} D_n(x) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\log(1+t)}{t} (1+t)^x.$$
(1.1)

Upon setting x=0 in (1.1), we obtain $D_n(0) := D_n$ standing for *n*-th Daehee number, cf. [2,4,10-

12,14,17,20,22,23,25 - 27] and see also the related references cited therein.

The *p*-adic numbers are a counterintuitive arithmetic system, which was initially considered by the Kummer in circa 1850, *cf*. [16,24]. With the consideration of these numbers, many mathematicians and physicists started to develop new scientific tools using their available, useful, and applicable properties. Firstly, Kurt Hensel who is a German mathematician (1861-1941) advanced the *p*-adic numbers in a study related to the improvement of algebraic numbers in formal power series in about 1897. Several effects of these researches have emerged in mathematics and physics such as *p*-adic analysis, string theory, *p*-adic quantum mechanics, quantum field theory, representation theory, algebraic geometry, complex systems, dynamical systems, genetic codes, and so on (*cf*. [2-4,6-11,13,16,17,19-23,25-27]; also see the related references cited in each of these earlier studies). The one important tool of the mentioned advancements is *p*-adic gamma function which is introduced by Yasou Morita [19] in 1975. Intense research activities in such an area as *p*-adic gamma function is principally motivated by their significance in *p*-adic analysis. Hereby, in recent more than forty years, the *p*-adic gamma function and its diverse extensions have been studied and progressed broadly by many mathematicians, *cf*. [5-8,15,16,19,24]; see also the related references cited therein.

Here are some definitions and notations, which will be useful for the next sections.

Imagine that p be a fixed prime number. In the course of this paper, we use the following notations: \mathbb{Q} denotes the field of all rational numbers, \mathbb{Z}_p denotes the ring of all p-adic rational integers, \mathbb{Q}_p denotes the field of all p-adic rational numbers, and \mathbb{C}_p denotes the completion of the algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q}_p . Let the notation \mathbb{N} indicates the set of all natural numbers and set $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

For d a fixed positive number, let

$$X^* = \bigcup_{\substack{0 < a < dp^N \\ (a,p)=1}} \left(a + dp\mathbb{Z}_p \right) \text{ and } X := X_d = \lim_n \mathbb{Z} / dp^N \mathbb{Z},$$

and

$$\left\{x \in X \mid x \equiv a \left(\operatorname{mod} dp^{N} \right)\right\} = a + dp^{N} \mathbb{Z}_{p}$$

in which $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ lies in $0 \le a < dp^N$. See [2-4,6-11,13,16,17,20-23,25-27] for a detailed systematic study.

The normalized absolute value with respect to the *p* -adic analysis is known as $|p|_p = p^{-1}$. The symbol " *q* " can be chosen as a complex number $q \in \mathbb{C}$ with |q| < 1, an indeterminate, or a *p* -adic number $q \in \mathbb{C}_p$ with $|q-1|_p < p^{-\frac{1}{p-1}}$ and $q^x = \exp(x \log q)$ for $|x|_p \le 1$. This is every time obvious in the content of the paper.

The q-extension of any number x, denoted by $[x]_q$, is given by $[x]_q = \frac{1-q^x}{1-q}$. It is easily seen that $\lim_{q\to 1} [x]_q = x$, cf. [2-4,6,7,9,12-15,17,20-22].

For $f \in UD(\mathbb{Z}_p) = \{f | f \text{ is uniformly differentiable function at a point } a \in \mathbb{Z}_p \}$, consider the following expression:

$$\frac{1}{\left[p^{N}\right]_{q}}\sum_{0\leq j< p^{N}}q^{j}f(j) = \sum_{0\leq j< p^{N}}f(j)\mu_{q}(j+p^{N}\mathbb{Z}_{p})$$
(1.2)

indicating the *p*-adic *q*-generalization of Riemman sums for a function *f*. The integral of $f \in UD(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ will be introduced as a limit $(N \to \infty)$ of these sums when it exists. The bosonic *p*-adic *q*-integral on \mathbb{Z}_p (or sometimes called *q*-Volkenborn integral) of a function $f \in UD(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ is introduced as (*cf*. [2,4,6,7,9,12-14,17,20-22])

$$I_{q}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} f(x) d\mu_{q}(x) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{\left[p^{N}\right]_{q}} \sum_{x=0}^{p^{N}-1} f(x) q^{x}.$$
(1.3)

For $f_1(x) = f(x+1)$, in terms of (1.3), Kim [9] attained the following quirky integral formula

$$qI_{q}(f_{1}) - I_{q}(f) = (q-1)f(0) + \frac{q-1}{\log q}f'(0), \qquad (1.4)$$

which densely preserves usable for introducing multifarious extensions of several special polynomials such as Daehee and Bernoulli polynomials with their varied generalizations. Kim [9] provided a more general integral formula for the equation (1.4) as follows:

$$q^{m}I_{q}(f_{n}) = I_{q}(f) + (q-1)\sum_{u=0}^{m-1} q^{u}f(u) + \frac{q-1}{\log q}\sum_{u=0}^{m-1} f'(u) \text{ for } f_{n}(x) = f(x+m).$$
(1.5)

Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. The falling factorial or known as lower factorial is defined as

$$(x)_m := x(x-1)(x-2)\cdots(x-m+1)$$
 (1.6)

and satisfies the following summation formula

$$(x)_{m} = \sum_{u=0}^{m} S_{1}(m, u) x^{u}, \qquad (1.7)$$

where $S_1(m,u)$ is Stirling number of the first kind, *cf*. [1-4,6,7,10-12,14,17,20,22,23,25-28].

Kim et al. [12] introduced q-extension of the Daehee polynomials of both kinds as follows:

$$D_{n,q}(x) = \int_X (x+\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \text{ and } D_{n,q}(x) = \int_X (-x-\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) (n \ge 0).$$

In [22], Park defined the modified q-Daehee polynomials of both kinds via q-Volkenborn integrals:

$$D_n(x:q) = \int_X q^{-\omega} (x+\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \text{ and } D_{n,q}(x:q) = \int_X q^{-\omega} (-x-\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) (n \ge 0). \quad (1.8)$$

Setting x = 0 in (1.8) yields $D_n(0:q) := D_{n:q}$ named as *n*-th modified *q*-Daehee number. It is clear to see that $\lim_{q \to 1} D_n(x:q) := D_n(x)$.

Let χ be the Dirichlet character with a conductor $d \in \mathbb{N}$, *cf.* [16,17,23,25]. The generalized *q*-Daehee polynomials of both kinds attached to χ are defined by the following *p*-adic *q*-integrals (*cf.* [20]):

$$D_{n,\chi,q}(x) = \int_{X} \chi(\omega) (x + \omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \text{ and } D_{n,\chi,q}(x) = \int_{X} \chi(\omega) (-x - \omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \quad (n \ge 0)$$

For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let T_p be the *p*-adic locally constant space defined by

$$T_p = \bigcup_{0 < n} \mathbb{C}_{p^n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{C}_{p^n},$$

where $\mathbb{C}_{p^n} = \left\{ \xi \left| \xi^{p^n} = 1 \right\} \right\}$ is the cyclic group of order p^n . For $t, q \in \mathbb{C}_p$ in conjunction with $|q|_p < p^{-\frac{1}{1-p}}$

and $|t|_p < p^{-\frac{1}{1-p}}$, the twisted *q*-Daehee polynomials of both kinds are defined by the following *q*-Volkenborn integrals (*cf.* [17]):

$$D_{n,q}(x|\xi) = \xi^n \int_X (x+\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \text{ and } D_{n,q}(x|\xi) = \xi^n \int_X (-x-\omega)_n d\mu_q(\omega) \quad (n \ge 0).$$

The Stirling numbers of the second kind, denoted by $S_2(u,m)$, is the number of ways to partition a set of u objects into m non-empty subsets and have also the following generating function

$$\frac{\left(e^{z}-1\right)^{u}}{u!} = \sum_{m=u}^{\infty} S_{2}\left(u,m\right) \frac{z^{m}}{m!}.$$
(1.9)

For further details on the applications of the Stirling numbers of both kinds, take a look at the references [2,4,10-12,14,17,20,22,23,25-27] and see also the references cited therein.

The contents of the present paper are as follows: we firstly give an extension of the bosonic p-adic q-integrals on X involving the parameters α and β to define two types of the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) . Then, using properties of the mentioned integral, we examine several new relationships and interesting identities for these polynomials related to the generalized twisted q-Bernoulli polynomials with weight (α, β) , Apostol type Stirling numbers of the second kind, and Stirling numbers of both kinds. We finally get some connections formula including the p-adic Euler constant, p-adic gamma function, and the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) by utilizing the Mahler series expansion of the p-adic gamma function.

2. Main Results

In this part, let $t, q \in \mathbb{C}_p$ with $|q|_p < p^{-\frac{1}{1-p}}$ and $|t|_p < p^{-\frac{1}{1-p}}$.

As an extension of the bosonic p-adic q-integral, the weighted p-adic q-integral is given by Araci et al. [2] as follows:

$$I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = \int_{X} q^{-\beta x} f(x) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{\left[dp^{N}\right]_{q^{\alpha}}} \sum_{r=0}^{dp^{N}-1} f(r) q^{(\alpha-\beta)r},$$
(2.1)

which satisfies the following formulas, for $f_n(x) = f(x+n)$:

$$q^{(\alpha-\beta)}I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f_{1}) - I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = (q-1)\frac{\left[\alpha\right]_{q}}{\alpha}(\alpha-\beta)f(0) + \frac{\left[\alpha\right]_{q}}{\alpha}\frac{q-1}{\log q}f'(0)$$

and

$$q^{(\alpha-\beta)n}I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f_{n}) - I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = \frac{\left[\alpha\right]_{q}}{\alpha} \left(\left(q-1\right)\sum_{u=0}^{n-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)u}f\left(u\right) + \frac{q-1}{\log q}\sum_{u=0}^{n-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)u}f'\left(u\right) \right).$$
(2.2)

Araci et al. [2] considered and investigated the *q*-Daehee polynomials with the weight (α, β) of both kinds given below

$$D_{n,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \int_{X} q^{-\beta\omega} (x+\omega)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(\omega) \text{ and } D_{n,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \int_{X} q^{-\beta y} (-x-y)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) (n \ge 0).$$

If we setting $f(x) = \xi^n \chi(x)(x)_n$ in (2.1), we then have

$$I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\xi^{n}\chi(x)(x)_{n}) = \xi^{n}\int_{X}\chi(x)q^{-\beta x}(x)_{n}d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x).$$
(2.3)

It follows from Eq. (2.3) that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \xi^n \int_X \chi(x) q^{-\beta x}(x)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \int_X \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \binom{x}{n} (\xi t)^n \right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \int_X \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} (1 + \xi t)^x d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x).$$
(2.4)

By (2.2), using the property $\chi(x+d) = \chi(x)$, we have

$$q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f_{d}) - I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} \int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta(x+d)} (1+\xi t)^{x+d} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x)$$

$$-\int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} (1+\xi t)^{x} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x)$$

$$= \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha} (q-1) \left(\sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)a} \chi(a) (1+\xi t)^{a} + \frac{\log(1+\xi t)}{\log q} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)a} \chi(a) (1+\xi t)^{a} \right)$$

$$= \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha} (q-1) \left(1 + \frac{\log(1+\xi t)}{\log q} \right) \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)a} \chi(a) (1+\xi t)^{a}. \qquad (2.5)$$

We now can state the following Definition 1.

Definition 1 We define generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ with weight (α,β) by the following generating function to be

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} = \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha} \frac{1 - q + \frac{1 - q}{\log q} \log(1 + \xi t)}{1 - q^{(\alpha - 2\beta)d} (1 + \xi t)^{d}} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)a} \chi(a) (1 + \xi t)^{a+x}.$$
(2.6)

By (2.5) and (2.6), we readily deduce that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} = \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \left(1 + \xi t\right)^{x+y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right)$$
(2.7)

For $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and Eq. (2.7), we get

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \left(x+y\right)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right).$$
(2.8)

When x = 0 in (2.8), we get $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(0|\xi) := D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ that we call the generalized twisted q-Daehee numbers with weight (α, β) possessing the following generating function

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \frac{t^n}{n!} = \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \left(1 + \xi t\right)^y d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y).$$

As a result of (1.6) and (2.8), we give the following theorem.

Theorem 1 For $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the following correlation holds:

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}\left(n,k\right) B_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right),$$

where $B_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ are the generalized twisted q-Bernoulli polynomials with weight (α,β) defined by

$$B_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \left(x+y\right)^{k} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y).$$

Proof. Thanks to (1.6), we compute that

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (x+y)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$$

$$= \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}(n,k) (x+y)^{k} \right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}(n,k) \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (x+y)^{k} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}(n,k) (-1)^{k} B_{k,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),$$

hence, we investigate the asserted result.

In the special case x = 0, we then attain that

$$D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_1(n,k) B_{k,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)},$$

where $B_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(0|\xi) := B_{k,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ are the generalized twisted *q*-Bernoulli numbers with weight (α,β) . Since

$$q^{(\alpha-\beta)d}I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f_{n}) - I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = q^{(\alpha-\beta)d}\int_{X}\chi(x)q^{-\beta(x+d)}e^{(x+d)t\xi}d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) - \int_{X}\chi(x)q^{-\beta x}e^{xt\xi}d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x)$$
$$= \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha}(q-1)\left(\sum_{a=0}^{d-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)a}\chi(a)e^{at\xi} + t\xi\frac{\log(1+\xi t)}{\log q}\sum_{a=0}^{d-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)a}\chi(a)e^{at\xi}\right),$$

the polynomials $B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ satisfy the following equality:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} = \frac{1-q+t\xi}{1-q^{(\alpha-2\beta)d}} \frac{1-q}{e^{dt\xi}} \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)a} \chi(a) e^{at\xi}$$

There is a relationship among $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$, $B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ and $S_2(n,k:\omega)$ which we discuss below.

Theorem 2 Let $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We then have

$$B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \xi^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{2}\left(n,k:\frac{1}{\xi}\right) D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right),$$
(2.9)

where the Apostol type Stirling numbers of the second kind are defined by

$$\sum_{k=n}^{\infty} S_2(n,k:\omega) \frac{t^k}{k!} = \frac{\left(\omega e^t - 1\right)^n}{n!}, cf. [27].$$

Proof. Substituting t by $\frac{e^{t\zeta}}{\zeta} - 1$ in the generating function (2.6), we acquire

$$\frac{\left[\alpha\right]_{q}}{\alpha} \frac{1 - q + \frac{1 - q}{\log q} t\xi}{1 - q^{(\alpha - 2\beta)d} e^{t\xi d}} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)a} \chi(a) e^{t\xi a} e^{\xi tx} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) \frac{\left(\frac{e^{t\xi}}{\xi} - 1\right)^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} S_{2}\left(n,k:\frac{1}{\xi}\right) \frac{\xi^{k} t^{k}}{k!} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\xi^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) S_{2}\left(n,k:\frac{1}{\xi}\right)\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$

and by (2.8), we get

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{[\alpha]_q}{\alpha} \frac{1 - q + t\xi \frac{1 - q}{\log q}}{1 - q^{(\alpha - 2\beta)d} e^{dt\xi}} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)a} \chi(a) e^{at\xi} e^{x\xi t},$$
(2.10)

which implies the desired result (2.9).

Definition 2 *The generalized twisted* q*-Daehee numbers of the second kind with weight* (α, β) *are defined by the following integral formula:*

$$D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \xi^n \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (-y)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) \ (n \in \mathbb{N}_0).$$

$$(2.11)$$

In terms of (1.7) and (2.11), we get the following result.

Theorem 3 *The following relationship holds for* $n \ge 0$:

$$D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \xi^{n-k} S_1(n,k) (-1)^k B_{k,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$$

Proof. Using (1.6), we calculate that

$$D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (-y)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}(n,k) (-y)^{k} \right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} S_{1}(n,k) (-1)^{k} \xi^{n-k} \int_{X} \xi^{k} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} y^{k} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \xi^{n-k} S_{1}(n,k) (-1)^{k} B_{k,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)},$$

which gives the assertion in the theorem.

To compute the generating function of the numbers $D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$, we have

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \frac{t^n}{n!} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\xi^n \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (-y)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) \right) \frac{t^n}{n!}$$
$$= \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} {\binom{-y}{n}} (\xi t)^n \right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (1+\xi t)^{-y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y).$$

Moreover, in view of (2.11), we investigate

$$q^{(\alpha-\beta)d}I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f_{n}) - I_{q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) = q^{(\alpha-\beta)d}\int_{X}\chi(x)q^{-\beta x-\beta d}(1+\xi t)^{-x-d}d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) - \int_{X}\chi(x)q^{\beta x}(1+\xi t)^{-x}d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha}(q-1)\left(\sum_{a=0}^{d-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)a}\chi(a)(1+\xi t)^{-a} + \frac{\log(1+\xi t)^{-1}}{\log q}\sum_{a=0}^{d-1}q^{(\alpha-\beta)a}\chi(a)(1+\xi t)^{-a}\right),$$

which yields the following formula

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (1+\xi t)^{-y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \frac{q-1-\frac{q-1}{\log q} \log(1+\xi t)}{q^{(\alpha-2\beta)d} (1+\xi t)^{-d}-1} \frac{[\alpha]_{q}}{\alpha} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)a} \chi(a) (1+\xi t)^{-a}.$$

Thus let us rewrite Definition 2 as

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{q - 1 - \frac{q - 1}{\log q} \log(1 + \xi t)}{q^{(\alpha - 2\beta)d} (1 + \xi t)^{-d} - 1} \frac{[\alpha]_q}{\alpha} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)a} \chi(a) (1 + \xi t)^{-a} dx^{\alpha}$$

We here consider the generalized weighted q-Daehee polynomials of the second kind with weight (α, β) as follows:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (1+\xi t)^{-(x+y)} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y).$$
(2.12)

From (2.12), we acquire

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} = \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \binom{-x-y}{n} \xi^{n} t^{n}\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \left(-x-y\right)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right)\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!},$$

thus, we get
$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \left(-x-y\right)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right).$$
(2.13)

Then, we arrive at the following relationship.

Theorem 4 The following correlation

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \sum_{l=0}^{n} \left(-1\right)^{l} S_{1}\left(n,l\right) B_{l,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right)$$
(2.14)

holds for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Proof. Owing to the following computations:

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi) = \xi^n \int_X \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (-x-y)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$$

= $\xi^n \int_X \left(\sum_{k=0}^n S_1(n,k) (-x-y)^k \right) \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$
= $\sum_{k=0}^n S_1(n,k) (-1)^k \xi^{n-k} \int_X \xi^k q^{-\beta y} (x+y)^k d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$
= $\sum_{k=0}^n \xi^{n-k} S_1(n,k) (-1)^k B_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi),$

we get the claimed result (2.14).

We now provide the following theorem.

Theorem 5 *The following correlation*

$$B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|-\xi\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) S_{2}\left(n,k:\frac{1}{\xi}\right)$$

is valid for $n \ge 0$.

Proof. By changing t by $\frac{e^{t\xi}}{\xi} - 1$ in (2.12), we derive

$$\begin{split} \frac{q - 1 + \frac{q - 1}{\log q} \left(-\xi t\right)}{q^{(\alpha - 2\beta)d} \left(1 + \xi t\right) e^{(-t\xi)d} - 1} \frac{\left[\alpha\right]_{q}}{\alpha} \sum_{a=0}^{d-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)a} \chi(a) e^{(-\xi t)(a+x)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(x|\xi\right) \frac{\left(\frac{e^{t\xi}}{\xi} - 1\right)^{n}}{n!} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(x|\xi\right) \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} S_{2} \left(k, n : \frac{1}{\xi}\right) \frac{\xi^{k} t^{k}}{l!} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\xi^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(x|\xi\right) S_{2} \left(n, k : \frac{1}{\xi}\right)\right) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} \end{split}$$

and using (2.10), we deduce

$$B_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|-\xi\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) S_{2}\left(n,k:\frac{1}{\xi}\right).$$

The following correlations are valid for the polynomials $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ and $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$. **Theorem 6** *The following identities*

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \left(-\xi\right)^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \frac{D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right)}{\xi^{k}}$$

and

$$D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right) = \left(-\xi\right)^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \frac{D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right)}{\xi^{k}}$$

hold for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Proof. By means of the following binomial formulae (*cf.* [2,4,10-12,14,17,20,22,23,25-27])

$$(-1)^n \binom{m}{n} = \binom{-m+n-1}{n}$$
 and $\binom{-m+n-1}{n} = \sum_{k=1}^n \binom{n-1}{n-k} \binom{-m}{k}$,

from (2.13), we derive

$$\frac{D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x|\xi\right)}{n!}\left(-1\right)^{n} = \left(-\xi\right)^{n} \int_{X} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} \binom{x+y}{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \xi^{n} \int_{X} \binom{-x-y+n-1}{n} q^{-\beta y} \chi\left(y\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \binom{n-1}{n-k} \xi^{n-k} \int_{X} \binom{-x-y}{k} \xi^{k} q^{-\beta y} \chi\left(y\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\xi^{n-k}}{k!} \binom{n-1}{k-1} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x|\xi\right)$$

and

$$\frac{D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right)}{n!}\left(-1\right)^{n} = \left(-\xi\right)^{n} \int_{X} \binom{-x-y}{n} \chi\left(y\right) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \xi^{n} \int_{X} \binom{x+y+n-1}{n} q^{-\beta y} \chi\left(y\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi^{n-k} \binom{n-1}{n-k} \int_{X} \binom{x+y}{k} \xi^{k} q^{-\beta y} \chi\left(y\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(y\right) \\
= \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\xi^{n-k}}{k!} \binom{n-1}{k-1} D_{k,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(x\big|\xi\right).$$

Now, we provide some applications for the polynomials $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ and $D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)$ associated with the

Mahler expansion of the p-adic gamma function.

The p-adic gamma function is defined by the following limit expression:

$$\Gamma_{p}\left(x\right) = \lim_{n \to x} \left(-1\right)^{n} \prod_{\substack{h < n \\ (p,h) = 1}} h \qquad \left(x \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}\right), \tag{3.1}$$

where *n* approaches *x* through positive integers. The mentioned function, as well as its several extensions, have been developed by many physicists and mathematicians, *cf.* [5-8,15,16,19,24]; see also the related references cited in each of these earlier works.

The *p*-adic Euler constant γ_p is given by the following formula (*cf.* [5,6,15,16,24]):

$$\gamma_{p} := -\frac{\Gamma_{p}^{'}(1)}{\Gamma_{p}(0)} = -\Gamma_{p}^{'}(0) = \Gamma_{p}^{'}(1).$$
(3.2)

For $x \in \mathbb{Z}_p$, the notation $\binom{x}{n}$ is given by $\binom{x}{n} = \frac{x(x-1)\cdots(x-n+1)}{n!}$ $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ with the initial condition $\binom{x}{0} = 1$. The functions $x \to \binom{x}{n}$ form an orthonormal base of the space $C(\mathbb{Z}_p \to \mathbb{C}_p)$ by the Euclidean

norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. The aforegoing orthonormal base fulfills the following equality:

$$\binom{x}{n} = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{n-j-1}}{n-j} \binom{x}{j} \text{ (see [6-8,18]).}$$
(3.3)

Mahler [18] investigated a generalization for continuous maps of a *p*-adic variable by making use of the special polynomials as a binomial coefficient polynomial in 1958, which means that for any $f \in C(\mathbb{Z}_p \to \mathbb{C}_p)$, there exist unique elements a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots of \mathbb{C}_p such that

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \begin{pmatrix} x \\ n \end{pmatrix} (x \in \mathbb{Z}_p).$$
(3.4)

The base $\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} * \\ m \end{pmatrix} : m \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$ is named Mahler base of the space $C(\mathbb{Z}_p \to \mathbb{C}_p)$, and the corresponding

components $\{a_m : m \in \mathbb{N}\}$ in the function $f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \begin{pmatrix} x \\ n \end{pmatrix}$ are termed the Mahler coefficients of $f \in C(\mathbb{Z}_p \to \mathbb{C}_p)$.

The Mahler series expansion of the *p*-adic gamma function Γ_p and its Mahler coefficients are provided in Robert's book [24] as given below.

Proposition 1 For
$$x \in \mathbb{Z}_p$$
, let $\Gamma_p(x+1) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \binom{x}{n}$ be Mahler series of Γ_p . Then its coefficients satisfy the following identity:

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} (-1)^{n+1} a_n \frac{x^n}{n!} = \frac{1 - x^p}{1 - x} \exp\left(x + \frac{x^p}{p}\right).$$
(3.5)

We start by giving the following integral result.

Theorem 7 We have

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \Gamma_{p}(x+y+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)}{n!}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where a_n is given by Proposition 1.

Proof. For $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$, by the relation $\binom{x+y}{n} = \frac{(x+y)_n}{n!}$ and Proposition 1, we get

$$\xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_{p} (x+y+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (x) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \frac{(x+y)_{n}}{n!} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (x)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \frac{\xi^{n}}{n!} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} (x+y)_{n} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (y),$$

which is the desired result (3.6) via Eq. (2.8).

We now examine a special circumstance of Theorem 7.

Corollary 1 As a special case of Theorem 7, the following relation holds true:

$$\int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_{p}(x+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{a_{n}}{n!}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where a_n is provided by Proposition 1. We here state the following theorem. **Theorem 8** Let $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$. We have

$$\int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_{p}\left(-x-y+1\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(x\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{D_{n,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(y\big|\xi\right)}{n!},$$

where a_n is given by Proposition 1.

Proof. For
$$x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$$
, by the relation $\binom{-x-y}{n} = \frac{(-x-y)_n}{n!}$ and Proposition 1, we get

$$\int_X \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_p(-x-y+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \int_X q^{-\beta x} \chi(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\xi^n a_n}{n! \xi^n} (-x-y)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{\xi^n} \frac{1}{n!} (\xi^n \int_X \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} (-x-y)_n d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x)),$$

which is the desired result with Eq. (2.13).

A swift result of Theorem 8 is given below.

Corollary 2 *Setting* y = 0 *in Theorem 8 gives the following relation:*

$$\int_{X} q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_{p}\left(-x+1\right) \chi\left(x\right) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}\left(x\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{D_{n,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}}{n!},$$

where a_n is given by Proposition 1.

We give the following theorem.

Theorem 9 For $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta_{y}} \Gamma'_{p}(x+y+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)}{u!}$$

where a_n is given by Proposition 1.

Proof. In view of Proposition 1, we obtain

$$\xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) \Gamma'_{p} (x+y+1) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (y) = \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \binom{x+y}{n} q^{-\beta y'} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (y)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) \binom{x+y}{n} q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}} (y)$$

and using (3.3), we derive

$$\xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \Gamma'_{p}(x+y+1) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-u-1} \frac{a_{n}}{n-u} \xi^{n} \int_{X} \chi(y) q^{-\beta y} \binom{x+y}{u} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} a_{n} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi)}{u!}.$$

We now provide the following theorem.

Theorem 10 For $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$, we attain

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) \Gamma'_{p}(-x-y+1) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{a_{n}}{u!(n-u)} D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x|\xi),$$

where a_n is stated in Proposition 1.

Proof. The proof method of this theorem is similar to that of Theorem 10. So, we omit the proof.

The immediate results of Theorems 9 and 10 are given as follows.

Corollary 3 For $x \in \mathbb{Z}$, the following integral formulas holds:

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) \Gamma'_{p}(y+1) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{a_{n}}{u!(n-u)} D_{u,\chi,q,\xi}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$$

and

$$\int_{X} \chi(y) \Gamma'_{p}(-y+1) q^{-\beta y} d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(y) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{a_{n}}{u!(n-u)} D^{(\alpha,\beta)}_{u,\chi,q,\xi}.$$

We now provide an interesting representation of the *p*-adic Euler constant utilizing the generalized twisted *q*-Daehee polynomials attached (α, β) .

Theorem 11 We have

$$\gamma_{p} = \frac{\alpha}{q^{2\alpha-\beta} - q^{\alpha-\beta}} \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(d-1|\xi\right) - D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(-1|\xi\right)}{u!} - \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\alpha} \sum_{r=2}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)r} \chi(r) \left(\Gamma_{p}^{'}(r) + \frac{\Gamma_{p}^{(2)}(r)}{\log q^{\alpha}} \right) - \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\log q^{\alpha}} q^{(\alpha-\beta)2} \chi(2) \right].$$

Proof. Taking
$$f(x) = \chi(x)\Gamma'_{p}(x)$$
 in Eq. (2.2) and using $\chi(x+d) = \chi(x)$ yield the following result

$$\Psi = q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} \int_{X} q^{-\beta x} \Gamma'_{p}(x+d) \chi(x+d) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) - \int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma'_{p}(x) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) \qquad (3.8)$$

$$= \frac{q^{\alpha}-1}{\alpha} \sum_{r=0}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)r} \chi(r) \Gamma'_{p}(r) + \frac{q^{\alpha}-1}{\log q^{\alpha}} \sum_{r=0}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha-\beta)r} \chi(r) \Gamma^{(2)}_{p}(r),$$
which $\Gamma^{(2)}(x)$ is the second derivative of the n axis gamma function at x . With some basis computations

which $\Gamma_p^{(2)}(r)$ is the second derivative of the *p*-adic gamma function at *r*. With some basic computations and using Theorem 9, we acquire

$$\begin{split} \Psi &= q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} \int_{X} q^{-\beta x} \chi(x) \Gamma_{p}^{'}(x+d) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) - \int_{X} \chi(x) q^{-\beta x} \Gamma_{p}^{'}(x) d\mu_{q^{\alpha}}(x) \\ &= q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(d-1|\xi)}{u!} - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1|\xi)}{u!} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{u=0}^{n-1} \frac{a_{n}}{\xi^{n}} \frac{(-1)^{n-u-1}}{n-u} \frac{q^{(\alpha-\beta)d} D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(d-1|\xi) - D_{u,\chi,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1|\xi)}{u!} \end{split}$$

and

$$\Psi = \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\alpha} q^{\alpha - \beta} \Gamma_{p}^{'}(1) + \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\alpha} \sum_{r=2}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)r} \chi(r) \Gamma_{p}^{'}(r) + \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\log q^{\alpha}} \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)r} \chi(r) \Gamma_{p}^{(2)}(r)$$

$$\Psi = \frac{q^{2\alpha - \beta} - q^{\alpha - \beta}}{\alpha} \gamma_{p} + \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\alpha} \sum_{r=2}^{n-1} q^{(\alpha - \beta)r} \chi(r) \left(\Gamma_{p}^{'}(r) + \frac{\Gamma_{p}^{(2)}(r)}{\log q^{\alpha}} \right) + \frac{q^{\alpha} - 1}{\log q^{\alpha}} q^{(\alpha - \beta)^{2}} \chi(2),$$

where $\Gamma'_{p}(1) = \gamma_{p}$, $\chi(1) = 1$ and $\chi(0) = 0$. Then, the proof is completed.

3. Conclusion

In the present paper, new generalizations of the q-Daehee polynomials, named as the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) , have been considered. For the aforementioned polynomials, several novel and interesting formulas and relations associated with the generalized twisted q-Bernoulli polynomials with weight (α, β) , Apostol type Stirling numbers of the second kind, and Stirling numbers of both kinds have been investigated. Moreover, two relationships for the two types of generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) have been acquired. Then, many connections with the p-adic gamma function with its derivative via Mahler expansion for the aforesaid polynomials have been analyzed. Furthermore, a new explicit expression for p-adic Euler constant in view of the generalized twisted q-Daehee polynomials with weight (α, β) has been proved. Some results derived in the second section are generalizations of the results obtained in [2], [10], [11], [12], [17], [22] and [23]. Several results attained in the third section are generalizations of the results given and [6].

4. References

- 1. G. E. Andrews, R. Askey, R. Roy, Special Functions, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 71. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1999).
- 2. S. Araci, U. Duran, M. Acikgoz, On weighted *q*-Daehee polynomials with their applications, Indagationes Mathematicae, V. 30, No: 2, March 2019, pp. 365-374.
- 3. S. Araci, E. Ağyüz, M. Acikgoz, On a *q*-analog of some numbers and polynomials, J. Inequal. Appl., 2015:19 (2015) doi: 10.1186/s13660-014-0542-y.
- 4. Y. K. Cho, T. Kim, T. Mansour, S. H. Rim, Higher-order *q*-Daehee polynomials, J. Comput. Anal. Appl., V.19, N.1 (2015), pp.167-173.
- 5. J. Diamond, The *p*-adic log gamma function and *p*-adic Euler constant, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 233, 1977, 321-337.
- 6. U. Duran, M. Acikgoz, On *p*-adic gamma function related to *q*-Daehee polynomials and numbers, Proyecciones Journal of Mathematics 38 (4), 2019, 799-810.
- 7. Ö. Ç. Havara and H. Menken, On the Volkenborn integral of the *q*-extension of the *p*-adic gamma function, J. Math. Anal., 8 (2), 2017, 64-72.
- 8. Ö. Ç. Havare and H. Menken, The Volkenborn integral of the *p*-adic gamma function, Int. J. Adv. Appl. Funct., 5 (2), 2018, 56-59.
- 9. T. Kim, q-Volkenborn Integration, Russ. J. Math. Phys., V.9, N.3 (2002) pp.288-299.
- 10. D. S. Kim, T. Kim, Daehee numbers and polynomials, Appl. Math. Sci., V.7, N.120 (2013), pp.5969-5976.
- 11. D. S. Kim, T. Kim, H. I. Kwon, J.-J. Seo, Daehee polynomials with *q*-parameter, Adv. Stud. Theor. Phys., V.8, N.13, (2014), pp.561-569.

- 12. T. Kim, S.-H. Lee, T. Mansour, J.-J. Seo, A note on *q*-Daehee polynomials and numbers, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math., V.24, N.2 (2014), pp.155-160.
- 13. T. Kim, On the weighted *q*-Bernoulli numbers and polynomials, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math., Vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 207–215, 2011.
- 14. T. Kim, Y. Simsek, Analytic continuation of the multiple Daehee *q*-*l*-functions associated with Daehee numbers, Russ. J. Math. Phys., 15 (2008), 58–65.
- 15. Y. S. Kim, *q*-analogues of *p*-adic gamma functions and *p*-adic Euler constants, Comm. Korean Math. Soc., 13 (4), 1998, 735–741.
- 16. N. Koblitz, *p*-adic numbers, *p*-adic analysis, and Zeta functions (Springer-Verlag, New York Inc, 1977).
- 17. D. Lim, On the twisted modified *q*-Daehee numbers and polynomials, Adv. Stud. Theo. Phys., 9(4), 2015, 199-211.
- 18. Mahler, An interpolation series for continuous functions of a *p*-adic variable, J. Reine Angew. Math., 199, 1958, 23-34.
- 19. Y. Morita, A *p*-adic analogue of the Γ -function, J. Fac. Sci., 22(2), 1975, 255-266.
- 20. E. J. Moon, J.-W. Park, S. H. Rim, A note on the generalized *q*-Daehee number of higher order, Proc. Jangjeon Math. Soc., V.17, N.4 (2014), pp.557-565.
- 21. H. Ozden, I. N. Cangul, Y. Sımsek, Remarks on *q*-Bernoulli numbers associated with Daehee numbers, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math., V.18, N.1 (2009), pp.41-48.
- 22. J.-W. Park, On the *q*-analogue of Daehee numbers and polynomials, Proc. Jangjeon, Math. Soc., V.19, N.3, (2016), pp.537-544.
- 23. J. W. Park, S. H. Rim, J. Kwon, The twisted Daehee numbers and polynomials, Adv. Difference Equ., 2014 (2014), 9 pages.
- 24. A. M. Robert, A course in *p*-adic analysis (Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., 2000).
- 25. J. J. Seo, S. H. Rim, T. Kim, S. H. Lee, Sums products of generalized Daehee numbers, Proc. Jangjeon Math. Soc., 17(1), 2014, 1-9.
- 26. Y. Simsek, Apostol type Daehee numbers and polynomials, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math., 26 (3), 2016, 555-566.
- 27. Y. Simsek, A. Yardimci, Applications on the Apostol-Daehee numbers and polynomials associated with special numbers, polynomials, and *p*-adic integrals, Adv. Difference Equ., 2016:308. DOI: 10.1186/s13662-016-1041-x
- 28. H.M. Srivastava, H.L. Manocha, A treatise on generating functions, Ellis Horwood Limited. Co. New York, 1984.

Extension of Leap Condition in Approximate Stochastic Simulation Algorithms of

Biological Networks

Saliha Demirbüken,¹ Vilda Purutçuoğlu²

¹Institute of Applied Mathematics, Middle East Technical University, Turkey ²Department of Statistics, Middle East Technical University, Turkey e-mails: salihademirbuken@gmail.com, vpurutcu@metu.edu.tr

Abstract

The stochastic simulation of the biological systems is the realization of the actual biological process by using some Monte Carlo approaches. The direct method, first reaction method and the next reaction method are three major methods in this area. Although these algorithms are successful to generate the systems exactly, they are computationally demanding for large systems. So, the approximate stochastic simulation algorithms (SSA) are the alternative approaches to generate the complex biological systems with a loss in accuracy by gaining from computational demand. The main idea of these methods is to provide a generation of the system via the leap-condition. Basically, this condition implies that the movement in the state of the system should be very slight for the selected time step in the sense that the hazard functions do not change considerably during the change in time from time t to $t+\tau$. By this way, we can compute how many times each reaction can be realized in each small time interval so that we can move along the system's history axis from one time step to the next, instead of moving along from one reaction to the next. Hereby, in this study, we extend the underlying leap condition by deriving a realistic confidence interval for the selection of the number of reactions in every step of the system. For this purpose, we specifically deal with the poisson τ -leap and the Langevin methods as these are two fundamental approximate SSA in the literature, as well as the approximate Gillespie algorithm as the extension of them. We derive the maximum likelihood estimators and the moment estimators of the simulation parameters and construct confidence interval estimators at a given significance level for these three algorithms. From the derivations, we observe theoretically more precise intervals for the plausible values of parameters.

Keywords: Approximate stochastic simulation algorithms, leap condition, biological networks **Acknowledgement:** The authors thank to the Scientific Research Project of Middle East Technical University (Project no: BAP-01-09-2017-002) for their support.

1. Introduction

In the biological systems, the stochastic simulation algorithms enable to realize the biological process by using Monte Carlo approaches. Accordingly, the chemical reactions occurring in the biological systems can be simulated numerically in the time evolution. At this point, discreteness

and stochasticity may play important roles to describe the system realistically [6]. There are three main algorithms for stoshastically simulating the systems. These are the direct method (Gillespie Algorithm), the first reaction method and the next reaction method. Although they are successful in capturing the natural activation of the biological systems, they are computationally not efficient for large systems. Hence, the approximate stochastic simulation algorithm (SSA) are preferred in place of exact SSAs to decrease the computationally demand by losing accuracies of the simulated system. Basically, these approximate SSAs are based on the leap condition. This condition simply implies that the time step τ should be chosen in such a way that there is no significant change in the propensity function during the time change from *t* to $t + \tau$, i.e. $[t, t + \tau)$ [4]. In mathematically [5],

$$|h_{i}(Y+\bar{\lambda})(Y,\tau)-h_{i}(Y)|\leq\varepsilon h_{0}(Y),$$

where $h_0(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^r h_j(Y)$ is the sum of all hazard functions $h_j(Y)$ and ε denotes the error control parameter which presents

$$\bar{\lambda}(Y,\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} [h_j(Y)\tau] v_j = \tau \xi(Y).$$

The above expression shows the expected net change in the state for the given time interval when the system has r members of reactions. In this equation, v_j represents the stoichiometric coefficients of the reaction j which corresponds to the jth row of the net effect matrix V.

In general, estimators provide to find \hat{Y} the plausible value of an unknown population parameter via the observations or the given knowledge about the population. Hence, there are different types of estimators in the literature. Among alternates, in this study, we particularly focus on the maximum likelihood estimators(MLE) and maximum moment estimator(MME) as two well-known parametric estimation approaches in order to inter our model parameters *k*, the number of simultaneous reactions in the simulations and τ the time interval to realize *k* numbers of reactions. Simply, the likelihood function can be written as follows,

$$L_n(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = L_n(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \mathbf{y}) = f_n(\mathbf{y}, \boldsymbol{\theta}),$$

where the observed data set is denoted by $y = (y_1, y_2, ..., y_n)$, associated with a vector $\theta = [\theta_1, \theta_2, ..., \theta_k]^T$ of parameters that index the probability distribution within a parametric family $\{f(\cdot; \theta) \mid \theta \in \Theta\}$. thus, this is called the parameter space and $f_n(y; \theta)$ is the product of univariate density functions. Therefore, the aim of MLE is to find the values of the model parameters that maximize the likelihood function over the parameter space, i.e,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}\in\boldsymbol{\Theta}} \widehat{L}_n(\boldsymbol{\theta}\,;y).$$

In addition to MLE, on the other hand, MME can be described in the following way. Suppose that the problem is to estimate *k* unknown parameters $\theta_1, \theta_2, \ldots, \theta_k$ characterizing the distribution $f_W(w; \theta)$ of the random variable *W*. Also, assume that the first *k* moments of the true distribution, i.e, the "population moments", can be expressed as the functions of θ s via

$$\mu_1 \equiv \mathbf{E}[W] = g_1(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k),$$
$$\mu_2 \equiv \mathbf{E}[W^2] = g_2(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k),$$
$$\vdots$$
$$\mu_k \equiv \mathbf{E}[W^k] = g_k(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k).$$

Accordingly, if a sample of size *n* is drawn, resulting in the values w_1, \ldots, w_n , $j = 1, \ldots, k$, the estimated mean of these values μ_j can be found by

 $\hat{\mu}_j = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n w_i^j$ as the j-th sample moment. On conclusion, the method of moments estimator

for $\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k$ denoted by $\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k$ can be defined as the solution to the equations: $\hat{\mu}_1 = g_1(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k),$

$$\widehat{\mu}_2 = g_2(\widehat{\theta}_1, \widehat{\theta}_2, \dots, \widehat{\theta}_k),$$

$$\widehat{\mu}_k = g_k(\widehat{\theta}_1, \widehat{\theta}_2, \dots, \widehat{\theta}_k).$$

:

Additionally, a confidence interval gives an estimated range of values which is likely to include an unknown population parameter. This estimated range is calculated from a given set of sample data.

Hereby, in this study, we aim to construct the confidence intervals for the population parameters k and τ int he two well-knowns approximate SSAs, namely, the poisson tau-leap and the langevin tau-leap methods, with one of the recent approach, called the approximate Gillespie method, by using MLE and MME approaches. All these approaches are based on the leap condition. In the current literature, the k and τ in these three simulation approaches have been used via a conservative one-sided confidence interval without controlling the significance level α . Hence, this study suggests realistic and accurate confidence intervals for both parameters by controlling α and by using the MLE and MME of the modal parameters so that narrower and more accurate confidence intervals can be obtained theoretically. Thereby, in the organization of the paper, we present the selected three major approximate SSAs in Section 2. We present our confidence intervals inserted to the leap condition of the underlying three approximate SSAs in Section 3. Finally, we conclude our findings in Section 4.

2. Approximate Stochastic Simulation Algorithms

Although the SSA is exact and it gives more accurate result, it is slow and computationally costly. By the approximate SSA [6], it is possible to gain from computational demand. Because if we control how many times each reaction can be realized in each subinterval, i.e, the leap, it is possible to proceed with one step to the next step rather than the reaction to the next in the history axis of the system. The smaller the intervals are chosen, the more accurate solution we get. Nonetheless, choosing a larger time interval provides approximation solution by gaining the computational efficiency. In this part, we present the Poisson τ -leap, Langevin method and the approximation Gillespie algorithm before we describe our extensions in their derivations.

2.1. Poisson τ -leap Method

In this method, under the leap condition, firstly, for each reaction channel R_j , a random value k_j from a Poisson random value $Poi(h_j(Y)\tau)$ is generated in the time interval [t, t+ τ], where Y(t) = Y is a state vector. Then, an admissible τ is found by putting boundary for the difference between

$$|h_i(Y+\lambda(Y))-h_i(Y)|,$$

where $\lambda(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} k_j v_j$ shows the net change in the state of the system in [t,t+ τ]. Since $k_j \sim Poi(h_j(Y)\tau)$, $E(k_j) = h_j(Y)\tau$ and

$$\bar{\lambda}(Y,\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} [h_j(Y),\tau] v_j = \tau \xi(Y), \tag{1}$$

which is the expected net change in the state for the given time interval. Here v_j shows the stoichiometric coefficients of the reaction *j* corresponding to the *j*th row of the net effect matrix *V* as stated before hand and $h_j(Y)$ is the hazard function of the *j*th reaction that is found by the product of the rate constant c_j and distinct molecular reactant combination of underlying reaction. Then, $\xi(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_j v_{ij}$ can be denoted as the mean or expected state change in a unit of time by an n-dimensional vector where each *i*th component, $\xi_j(Y)$, corresponds to the expected change of the *i*th species in an unit of time. Then, we get the inequality

$$|h_j(Y+\lambda)(Y,\tau) - h_j(Y)| \le \varepsilon h_0(Y)$$
⁽²⁾

by using $\lambda(Y, \tau)$ in Equation (1). This means that there is a limitation for the expected changes in a hazard functions in the time τ , by a fraction ε , error control parameter, lying ($0 < \varepsilon < 1$), of the sum of all hazard functions $h_0(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^r h_j(Y)$. In fact, this inequality (2) is a leap condition. Accordingly, by using the first order Taylor expansion and applying Equation (2), we get

$$h_j(Y+\bar{\lambda})(Y,\tau) - h_j(Y) \approx \bar{\lambda})(Y,\tau) h_j(Y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \tau \xi_i(Y) \frac{\partial h_j(Y)}{\partial Y_i}.$$
(3)

Then, letting $b_{ji} = \frac{\partial h_j(Y)}{\partial Y_i}$ (i = 1, ..., n; j = 1, ..., r), the following inequality can be obtained.

$$\tau |\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i(Y)b_{ji}| \le \varepsilon h_0(Y).$$

Therefore, the largest value of τ satisfying the leap condition for the given *Y* and the preselected ε is calculated by

$$\tau = \min\{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i(Y) b_{ji}(Y)|}\}.$$
(4)

From Equation (4), it can be still preferable to use the exact time step of SSA when the obtained value of τ is a favorable choice of the leap size. Since the SSA gives $\tau = \frac{1}{h_0(Y)}$, the obtained τ in Equation (4) would not be preferred if $\tau \leq \frac{1}{h_0(Y)}$. However, in terms of the computational cost, the time interval in the Poisson τ -leap method is more demanding than the time of SSA. Notably, the differences are small.

Finally, updating the current state in the Poisson τ -leap method is done by replacing t by $t := t + \tau$ and Y that is necessary to determine the largest value of τ and is compatible with the leap condition.

On the other hand, although it can successfully simulate the systems in majority of cases, it also is possible to generate negative molecular populations. To avoid the negative populations, some alternative approaches have been suggested and the Binomial τ -leap is one of the well-known alternative approaches of Poisson τ -leap to solve the negativity problems.

2.2. Langevin τ -leap Method

Basically, in this method, the number of times of execution of the *j*th reaction k_j can be found

$$k_i \sim Poi(h_i(Y)\tau) \approx N(h_i(Y)\tau, h_i(Y)\tau)$$

when j = 1, ..., r under the condition that it is possible to leap down the history axis of the system by the time step τ with a very large number of reaction and satisfying the leap condition. Since there is no much change that affects the hazard functions $h_j(Y)$'s (j = 1, ..., r), the Poisson distribution can be written as a normal distribution with the same mean and variance. Thus, the steps of the Langevin τ -leap method can be shortly described as below:

Firstly, the τ value satisfying leap condition is chosen and $\tau \gg max\{\frac{1}{h_j(Y)}\}$. Secondly, from normal distribution with mean zero and unit variance, $l_j \sim N(0, 1)$, a sample value k_j is chosen and put $k_j = h_j(Y)\tau + (h_j(Y)\tau)^{1/2}k_j$ for each j, (j = 1, ..., r). Then, the net change in the state $\lambda(Y)$ is calculated by $\lambda(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^r k_j v_j$, where v_j is the *n*-dimensional net effect vector of the *j*th reaction in *n*-species in the system. Finally, replacing $Y := Y + \lambda(Y)$ and $t := t + \tau$ the system is updated.

2.3. Approximate Gillespie Algorithm

It is an alternative approximation method of the Gillespie algorithm. In this method, the *k* number of reactions is executed rather than a single reaction at a time. Here, the *k* reactions are developed by the Gamma distribution with a parameter $\sum_{j=1}^{r} h_j(Y)$ as each reaction occurs in an exponential time step *t*. It is also denoted by $\tau \sim \Gamma(k, h_0(Y))$, where τ indicates the time interval of *k* reactions in the total hazard, $h_0(Y), h_0(Y) := \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_j(Y)$. In the system, the update is performed by replacing *t* by $t := t + \tau$ and by changing the current state *Y* by $Y := Y + \lambda(Y)$, where the net change in the state is found via $\lambda(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} k_j v_j$. In this expression, v_j is the net effect of the *j*th reaction by showing the *j*th row of the net effect matrix *V*, as previously.

The total number of reactions during the interval τ is chosen with an assumption that the required time for every reaction is equivalent to that of Gillespie. To choose a suitable k giving a good approximation, there are two proposals, namely, fixed k and varying k approaches.

Fixed k:

Firstly, a fixed k is chosen for the overall simulation and then, by the two-sided Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, the accuracy of the results is controlled by the given k.

Varying *k*:

A k satisfying the leap condition is described in each time step when the change in hazard function $\Delta h_i(Y), (j = 1, ..., r)$ is approximated by the first order Taylor expansion in the time interval $[t, t + \tau]$ in a such way that the following equality can be obtained.

$$\Delta h_j(Y) = h_j(Y + \lambda(\bar{Y}, \tau)) - h_j(Y) \approx \lambda(\bar{Y}, \tau) h_j(Y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda(\bar{Y}, \tau) \frac{\partial h_{ij}(Y)}{\partial Y_i}$$
(5)

in which the expected change in the state by considering k simultaneous reaction is

$$\lambda(\bar{Y},\tau) = Y(t+\tau) - Y(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} k_j v_j$$

and k_j is the number of times of the *j*th reaction, v_j is the net effect of the *j*th reaction by showing the *j*th row of the net effect matrix V. With a gamma distribution, we have $\tau \sim \Gamma(k, h_0(Y))$ where $k = \langle \tau \rangle . h_0(Y)$. In this expression, $\langle \tau \rangle$ shows τ on average.

Substituting Equation (5), we can obtain

$$\Delta h_j(Y) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) \tau h_0(Y),$$

where the total change in hazard of the reaction j' is described in terms of $f_{ij'}$ via

$$f_{jj'} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\partial h_j(Y)}{\partial Y_i} V_{ij}$$

for the execution of the reaction j'.

In order to compute the confidence interval, the following expression is written as

$$\Delta h_j(Y) \approx E(\Delta h_j(Y)) \pm \sqrt{Var(\Delta h_j(Y))}.$$
(6)

Then, the statistics for $\Delta h_i(Y)$ can be shown by

$$E(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) E(\tau) h_0(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) \frac{k}{h_0(Y)} h_0(Y) = k \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)$$
(7)

and

$$Var(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) Var(\tau) h_0(Y) = \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) \frac{k}{h_0(Y)} h_0(Y) = k \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y).$$
(8)

By substituting Equation (7) and (8) into the required leap condition, the below expression can be found.

$$|k|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) \le \varepsilon h_0(Y)$$

and

$$\sqrt{(k\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y))} \le \varepsilon h_0(Y)$$

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

293

Finally, the optimal k is computed from

$$k = \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left\lfloor \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)}, \frac{\varepsilon^2 h_0^2(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)} \right\rfloor$$
(9)

3. Confidence Intervals for Leap Condition

As described previously, we derive MLE and MME methods to infer the model parameters of approximate SSA, which are k and τ vie the confidence intervals. Hence, while $\tau \sim Poi(k)$, the MLE of k is found as τ . Then, by inserting it into $\Delta h_i(Y)$, we get

$$\Delta h_j(Y) = \sum_{j=1} f_{jj'}(Y)\tau$$

We know that with the value of z = 1, similar to Equation (7),

$$\Delta h_j(Y) \approx E(\Delta h_j(Y)) \pm \sqrt{Var(\Delta h_j(Y))}$$

Since $\tau \sim Poi(k)$, the mean of the value τ is $E(\tau) = k$ and the variance of the value τ is found as $Var(\tau) = k$. Thus, we can obtain the following equalities for the approximate values of $E(\Delta h_j(Y))$ and $Var(\Delta h_j(Y))$, respectively.

$$E(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) E(\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) k = k \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)$$
(10)

$$Var(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) Var(\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) k = k \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)$$
(11)

After substituting Equation (10) and (11) into the required leap condition, a suitable k can be derived as

$$k = \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left\lfloor \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)}, \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)} \right\rfloor$$
(12)

It can be observed that the value of $\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)}$ is smaller than the value of $\frac{\varepsilon^2 h_0^2(Y)}{\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)}$ in Equation (9).

Secondly, by applying MME, the estimator of the value k is obtained as $k = \frac{\tau}{n}$. Accordingly, the mean of $\Delta h_j(Y)$, $E(\Delta h_j(Y))$ and the variance of $\Delta h_j(Y)$, $Var(\Delta h_j(Y))$ are calculated approximately as the following way.

$$Var(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) \frac{E(\tau)}{n} = \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) \frac{k}{n} = \frac{k}{n} \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)$$
(14)

Similar to the process of using MLE, after substituting equation (13) and (14) into the required leap condition, a suitable k value can be obtained from

$$k = \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left\lfloor \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)n}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)|}, \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)n}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)|} \right\rfloor$$
(15)

In order to find k, we also construct the confidence interval.

 $k = \tau \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{n}}$, in this inequality $z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ denotes the tabulated normal value for the significance level α . Then, substituting this expression into $\Delta h_j(Y)$, we get that

$$\Delta h_j(Y) = \sum_{j'=1}^r (\tau \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{n}}).$$

For this statement, $E(\Delta h_j(Y))$ and $Var(\Delta h_j(Y))$ are calculated by using the assumption of $E(\sqrt{\tau}) = \sqrt{k}$ via

$$E(\Delta h_{j}(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}(Y) E(\tau \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{n}})$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}(Y) [E(\tau) \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{\tau} E(\sqrt{\tau})] \qquad (16)$$

$$= k \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{k}}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}(Y)$$

$$Var(\Delta h_{j}(Y)) \approx \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}^{2}(Y) E(\tau \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{n}})$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}^{2}(Y) [Var(\tau) \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{\tau} Var(\sqrt{\tau})] \qquad (17)$$

$$= k \pm z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{k}}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{j=1}^{r} f_{jj'}^{2}(Y)$$

Then, by inserting the Equation (16) into the required leap condition, the following inequality is obtained.

$$\left| \left[(\sqrt{k} + \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}})^2 + \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}} \right] \sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'} \right| \le \varepsilon h_0(Y)$$

Then , we can get this inequality for the value of k

$$k \le \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}/Y} \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}}\right)^2 \mp \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}\right)^2$$

Applying the same process for Equation (17), a suitable k can be found by

$$k = \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left\lfloor \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)} \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}}\right)^2} \mp \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}\right)^2, \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)} \pm \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}}\right)^2} \mp \frac{z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{2\sqrt{n}}\right)^2 \right\rfloor$$
(18)

Also, the confidence interval for the value of k estimated from MME is obtained as $k = \frac{\tau}{n} \pm 2\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{n^2}}$ while taking z = 1. If we perform the MLE approach, the suitable k can be derived as

$$k = \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left[\left| \left(\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)n}{\sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)} \pm 1 \right)^2 \mp 1 \right|, \left| \left(\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)n}{\sum_{j=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)} \pm 1 \right)^2 \mp 1 \right| \right]$$
(19)

In addition to these confidence interval for the value of k, there are different approaches for the confidence intervals for the mean of the Poisson distribution [7]. The first approach is based on the normal approximation.

Thus from Equation (18), the lower and the upper bound of the value of k, denoted by k_l and k_u , can be written by following expression.

$$k_{l} = \tau - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}z_{1-\alpha/2}^{2} + z_{1-\alpha/2}\sqrt{\tau - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1-\alpha/2}^{2}},$$

$$k_{u} = \tau + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}z_{1-\alpha/2}^{2} + z_{1-\alpha/2}\sqrt{\tau + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1-\alpha/2}^{2}}.$$
(20)

Hereby, similar to previous approaches, by inserting Equation (20) into the necessary places, $E(\Delta h_j(Y))$ and $Var(\Delta h_j(Y))$ are calculated by the properties of $E(\tau) = k$ and $Var(\tau) = k$. Thus,

$$E(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(k \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}z_{1-\alpha/2}^2 + z_{1-\alpha/2}E(\sqrt{\tau \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1-\alpha/2}^2})).$$
(21)

$$Var(\Delta h_j(Y)) \approx \sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2 (k \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} z_{1-\alpha/2}^2 + z_{1-\alpha/2} Var(\sqrt{\tau \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} z_{1-\alpha/2}^2})).$$
(22)

In order to simplify the above expression, we can define

$$A(k) = E(\sqrt{\tau \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1-\alpha/2}^2}) = Var(\sqrt{\tau \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1-\alpha/2}^2}).$$

since under the poisson distribution, the expected value is the same as the value of the variance. Then, by substituting Equation (21) and (22) into the required leap condition, we get the following inequalities

$$k + z_{1-\alpha/2}A(k) \le \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\Sigma_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)|} \pm \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} z_{1-\alpha/2}^2,$$

$$k + z_{1-\alpha/2}A(k) \le \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\Sigma_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)|} \pm \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} z_{1-\alpha/2}^2.$$
(23)

Let we choose α as $z_{\alpha/2} = 1$ and as $-z_{\alpha/2} = z_{1-\alpha/2}$, we can write the following inequality for the suitable value of k via

$$k \le \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left\lfloor \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\left| \sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y) \right|} - \frac{1}{4}, \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{\left| \sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y) \right|} - \frac{1}{4} \right\rfloor.$$
(24)

Moreover, the confidence interval via the lower and upper bound of k with a normal approximation can be written more simply as [7].

$$k_l, k_u = \tau \pm z_{1-\alpha/2} \sqrt{\tau}.$$

Repeating the same procedure for this value k's, and choosing α such that $z_{\alpha/2} = 1$, the value of k can obtained as

$$k \le \min_{j \in [1,r]} \lfloor \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)|} + \frac{1}{4}} \pm \frac{1}{2}\right)^2, \left(\sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)|} + \frac{1}{4}} \pm \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \rfloor.$$
(25)

Lastly, an improved normal approximation for the confidence interval gives us the following k with k_l and k_u [7].

$$k_l, k_u = \tau + \frac{2z_{\alpha/2}^2 + 1}{6} \pm (\frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{2z_{\alpha/2}^2}(\tau \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{2z_{\alpha/2}^2 + 1}{18})).$$

Finally, by implementing a similar process as before and choosing α such that $z_{\alpha/2} = 1$, an appropriate value of *k* can be presented as

$$k + B(k) \le \min_{j \in [1,r]} \left| \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}(Y)|} - \frac{1}{4}, \frac{\varepsilon h_0(Y)}{|\sum_{j'=1}^r f_{jj'}^2(Y)|} - \frac{1}{4} \right|,$$
(26)

where $B(k) = E(\sqrt{\tau} \pm \frac{1}{2} + \frac{z_{\alpha/2}^2 + 2}{18})).$

4. Conclusion

SSAs are important to show the simulation of the reactions in the biological systems. While they give the exact solution, they are not computationally efficient. Thus, the approximate SSAs can be preferable in order to gain from computational demand. These approximate methods are simply based on the leap condition. This condition implies that the time step τ should be selected so that the propensity function do not change during the time interval $[t, t + \tau]$. In addition to these, it is possible to compute how many times each reaction can be realized in each small time interval so that we can move along the system's history axis from one time step to the next, instead of moving along from one reaction to the next.

In this work, we have used the poisson τ -leap [4] and the Langevin methods [4] as these are two fundamental approximate SSA in the literature, as well as the approximate Gillespie algorithm [5] as the extension of them. By deriving MLE and MME for the parameter k, we have constructed the confidence interval by using this value. Thus, we have extended into the leap condition to have a suitable value of k. We have gotten new confidence intervals for the parameter k which have narrower range.

5. Future Work

As the future study, we consider to derive other types of estimators such as Bayesian and maximum a posterior approaches so that we can obtain theoretically narrower confidence interval for the optimal k in the underlying approximation methods.

6. References

[1] Gillespie, D. T. (1977). Exact stochastic simulation of coupled chemical reactions. Journal of Physical Chemistry, 81(25):2340–2361.

[2] Gillespie, D. T. (1992). A rigorous derivation of the chemical master equation. Physica A, 188:404–425.

[3] Gibson, M. A. and Bruck, J. (2000). Efficient exact stochastic simulation of chemical systems with many species and many channels. Journal of Physical Chemistry, A (104):1876–1889.

[4] Gillespie D. T. (2001). Approximate accelerated stochastic simulation of chemically reacting systems. Journal of Chemical Physics, 115:1716–1733.

[5] Purutçuoğlu, V. and Wit, E. (2008). An approximation algorithm based on leap condition for stochastical simulation of biomedical systems. Proceeding of the 4th International Conference "Inverse problems: Modelling and Simulation", 151-152.

[6] Gillespie D. T. (2006). Stochastic simulation of chemical kinetics. Annual Review Physical Chemistry, 58:35-55.

[7] Sahai H. and Khurshid A. (1993). Confidence interval for the mean of a poisson distribution: A Review, Biometrical Journal, 35(1993)7, 857-867.

Fault-Tolerant Metric Dimension of 4-th Power of Paths

Laxman Saha

¹Department of Mathematics, Balurghat College, Balurghat, India, E-mail(s):laxman.iitkgp@gmail.com

Abstract

For a simple connected graph G = (V(G), E(G)), a subset Rof V(G) is said to be a resolving set of G if everypair of vertices of G are resolved by some vertices in R i.e., every pair of vertices of G are identified uniquelyby some vertex elements in R. A resolving set of G containing the minimum number of vertices is the metric basis and the minimum cardinality of the metric basis is called the metric dimension of G. A resolving set F for the graph G is said to be fault tolerant if for each $u \in F$, $F \setminus \{u\}$ is also a resolving set for G and the minimum cardinality of the fault-tolerant resolving set said to be the fault-tolerant metric dimension. In this article, we determine the exact value of fault-tolerant metric dimension of P_n^4 for $n \ge 26$.

Keywords: Resolving set, Fault-tolerant resolving set, Fault-tolerant metric dimension.

1. Introduction

For a simple, undirected, finite and a connected graph G whose set of vertices are denoted by V(G) and the set of edges by E(G), we represent the distance between any two arbitrary vertices say u, v by d(u, v). The distance d(u, v) is considered as the length of the shortest path from the vertex u to the vertex v. A vertex u is said to resolve a set of vertices S if $d(u, v) \neq d(u, w)$ for every pair of vertices vand w inS. A set $W = \{w_1, w_2, ..., w_m\}$ of vertices is said to be the resolving set of G if $code_W(u) \neq$ $code_W(v)$ for every pair of distinct vertices u and v of G, where $code_W(x) = (d(x, w_1), d(x, w_2), ..., d(x, w_m))$ represent the code of the vertex $x \in V(G)$. The metric basis for a graph G is the resolving set of G containing the minimum number of vertices. The minimum cardinality of a resolving set W is called the metric dimension of G and denoted by $\beta(G)$.

The concept of metric dimensions was first instigated by Slater [1], Harry and Melter [2]. The metric basis $\beta(G)$ is the minimum cardinality of the resolving set. Elements in the basis were considered as sensors in an application given in [5]. If one of the censors does not work properly, we will not have enough information to deal with the intruder (fire, thief etc). In order to over-come this kind of problems, Hernando et al. introduced concept of fault-tolerant metric dimension in [7]. This concept is defined as follows : A resolving set F of a graphs G is fault- tolerant if $F \setminus \{v\}$ is also a resolving set, for every vertex $v \in F$. The fault-tolerant metric dimension of G, denoted by by $\beta'(G)$ is the minimum cardinality of a fault-tolerant resolving set. A fault-tolerant resolving set of order by $\beta'(G)$ is called a fault-tolerant metric basis. The *t*-th power of a connected graph G, denoted by G^t , is the graph on the same vertex set as G and two vertices uand vare adjacent in G^t if $d_G(u, v) \leq t$ in G.

The problem of determining the fault-tolerant metric dimension is NP hard problem and results are known only for some classes of graphs. Hernendo et al. [7] characterized all fault tolerant resolving sets forany tree T. Also in article they have shown the relation $\beta'(G) \leq \beta(G)(1 + 2 \cdot 5^{\beta(G)-1})$ for every graphs G. For a cycle C_n , the fault-tolerant metric dimension has been determined by Javaid et al. in [11] as $\beta'(C_n) = 3$. Basak at el. [12] determine the fault-tolerant metric dimension of C_n^3 . In this paper, we study the fault-tolerant metric dimension of P_n^4 for $n \geq 26$.

Henceforth we denote the vertex set $V(P_n)$ by $\{v_0, v_1, ..., v_{n-1}\}$ and hence degree of v_l for $l \in \{1, 2, ..., n-2\}$, whereas both the vertices v_0 and v_{n-1} has degree one. The following proposition is true P_n^4 .

Proposition 1.1. The distance between two vertices v_i and v_j in P_n^4 is given by $d(v_i, v_j) = \left[\frac{|i-j|}{4}\right]$ and the diameter of P_n^4 .

The following lemma gives a basic property of a fault-tolerant resolving set for an arbitrary graph.

Lemma 1.[11] A set F of vertices is a fault-tolerant resolving set of G if and only if every pair of vertices in G is resolved by at least two vertices of F.

In next section we show that the value of $\beta'(P_n^4) = 8$ for all integer $n \ge 26$. Our method involves the determination of lower bound of $\beta'(P_n^4)$ as 8 and then searching an optimal fault-tolerant resolving set of size 8.

2. Fault-tolerant metric dimension of P_n^4

This section deals with the determination of the fault-tolerant metric dimension of P_n^4 for $n \ge 26$. Firstwe give a lower bound for $\beta'(P_n^4)$ and then determine fault tolerant metric bases. We need following results to determine a lower bound for $\beta'(P_n^4)$.

Lemma 2. Let v_i resolves two consecutive vertices v_a and v_{a+1} . Then

(a) $j \equiv a \pmod{4}$ with $j \leq a$ (b) $j \equiv a + 1 \pmod{4}$ with $j \geq a + 1$.

Proof:

(a) Let $v_j \in V(P_n^4)$ with $j \le a$. Then the distances of two vertices v_a and v_{a+1} from v_j are $\left[\frac{a-j}{4}\right]$ and $\left[\frac{a-j+1}{4}\right]$, respectively. Let a-j = 4q + r where $0 \le r \le 3$. Then $\left[\frac{a-j}{4}\right] \ne \left[\frac{a-j+1}{4}\right]$ implies $\left[\frac{4q+r}{4}\right] \ne \left[\frac{4q+r+1}{4}\right]$ and this is true only when r = 0. Therefore $j \equiv a \pmod{4}$ with $j \le a$.

(b) Let $v_j \in V(P_n^4)$ with $j \ge a + 1$ i.e., v_j be a right side vertex of v_{a+1} . Then the distances of two vertices v_a and v_{a+1} from v_j are $\left[\frac{j-a}{4}\right]$ and $\left[\frac{j-a-1}{4}\right]$, respectively. Let j - a - 1 = 4q + r, where $0 \le r \le 3$. Then $\left[\frac{j-a}{4}\right] \ne \left[\frac{j-a-1}{4}\right]$ implies $\left[\frac{4q+r+1}{4}\right] \ne \left[\frac{4q+r}{4}\right]$ and this is true only when r = 0. Therefore $j \equiv a + 1 \pmod{4}$ with $j \ge a + 1$.

Lemma 3. Let F be a fault-tolerant resolving set of P_n^4 such that $F \cap \{v_i, v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}\} = \emptyset$ for some $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 4\}$. Then $|F| \ge 8$.

Proof: Denote $R_{a,a+1}$ be the set of all vertices which resolve the vertices v_a and v_{a+1} . Let $i \equiv r \pmod{4}$, for some $r \in \{0,1,2,3\}$. Then Using Lemma 2,

$$\begin{split} R_{i-1,i} &= \{v_j : j \le i-1, j \equiv r \pmod{4}\} \cup \{v_j : j \ge i, j \equiv r \pmod{4}; \\ R_{i,i+1} &= \{v_j : j \le i, j \equiv r \pmod{4}\} \cup \{v_j : j \ge i+1, j \equiv r+1 \pmod{4}\}; \\ R_{i+1,i+2} &= \{v_j : j \le i+1, j \equiv r+1 \pmod{4}\} \cup \{v_j : j \ge i+2, j \equiv r+2 \pmod{4}\}; \\ R_{i+2,i+3} &= \{v_j : j \le i+2, j \equiv r+2 \pmod{4}\} \cup \{v_j : j \ge i+3, j \equiv r+3 \pmod{4}\}. \end{split}$$

Since $F \cap \{v_i, v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}\} = \emptyset$, $(F \cap R_{a,a+1}) \cap (F \cap R_{b,b+1}) = \emptyset$ for distinct $a, b \in \{i - 1, i, i + 1, i + 2\}$. Again from Lemma 1, $|F \cap R_{a,a+1}| \ge 2$ for every a. Now we may write $|F| \ge \sum_{t=i-1}^{i+2} |F \cap R_{t,t+1}| \ge 8$ as $(F \cap R_{a,a+1}) \cap (F \cap R_{b,b+1}) = \emptyset$. Hence we obtain the result.

Theorem 2.1. For a path P_n with $n \ge 26$, $\beta(P_n^4) \ge 8$.

Proof: Let *F* be a fault-tolerant resolving set of P_n^4 . If $F \cap \{v_i, v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}\} = \emptyset$ for some $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 4\}$, then using Lemma 3, we have $|F| \ge 8$. Now assume that $F \cap \{v_i, v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}\} = \emptyset$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 4\}$. Since $n \ge 26$, we have $F \cap \{v_i, v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}\} \neq \emptyset$ for $i \in \{1, 4, 7, 10, 13, 16, 19, 21\}$ and hence $|F| \ge 8$ as $\{v_a, v_{a+1}, v_{a+2}\} \cap \{v_b, v_{b+1}, v_{b+2}\} = \emptyset$ for b = a + 3t where $t \ge 1$. Therefore, in this case we also have $|F| \ge 8$. Thus we get that any fault-tolerant resolving set *F* has size at least 8 and hence $\beta(P_n^3) \ge 8$, provided $n \ge 26$.

Theorem 2.2. For an *n*-vertex path P_n with $n \ge 26$, $\beta(P_n^3) = 8$.

Proof: Using the result of Theorem 2.1, we have $\beta(P_n^3) \ge 8$. Thus to prove this theorem we have show that there exists a fault-tolerant resolving set F of P_n^3 with cardinality 8. Our claim

 $F = \{v_0, v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7\}$ is a fault-tolerant resolving set.

Using Lemma 1, we say that our claim is true if every pair of vertices of P_n^4 is resolved by at least two vertices in *F*. Let $v_a, v_b \in V(P_n^4)$ be arbitrary two vertices. We show that there exist two vertices *u* and *v* in *F* both of which resolve the vertices v_a and v_b . Without loss of generality, we may assume a < b. We consider the following three cases depending on the cardinality of $F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}$.

Case-1: The cardinality of $F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}$ is two. Here both the vertices v_a and v_b are in F. Let $D = \{v_a, v_b\}$. Then $D \subset F$. Now the $code_D(v_a) = (0, x)$ and $code_D(v_b) = (x, 0)$, where $x = d(v_a, v_b) \neq 0$. Hence $code_D(v_a)$ and $code_D(v_b)$ are differ in two places and hence v_a and v_b are resolved by two vertices of D and hence by two vertices of F as $D \subset F$. So in this case proof is done.

Case-2: The cardinality of $F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}$ is one. Here first we show that $v_b \notin F$. We proof this by contrary. If possible, let $v_b \in F$ Since a < b and F contains consecutive vertices of P_n^3 containing the starting vertex v_0 . Hence v_a must be in F. But we assume here that $|F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}| = 1$. Therefore, v_b cannot be an element of F and hence v_a must be in F due to the fact that $|F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}| = 1$. Since $v_a \in F$ the pair of v_a and v_b must be resolved by v_a as $code_{\{v_a\}}(v_a) = (0)$ and $code_{\{v_a\}}(v_b) = (d(v_a, v_b)) \neq (0)$. Now we have to find an another vertex $uin F \setminus \{v_a\}$ that resolve the vertices v_a and v_b . Observe that $d(v_a, u) = 1$ or 2 for every $u \in F \setminus \{v_a\}$. Here the vertex v_a is an arbitrary but fixed element of F. For a fixed v_a , define two sets $S_a^1 = \{u \in F : d(v_a, u) = 1\}$ and $S_a^2 = \{u \in F : d(v_a, u) = 2\}$. Then $S_a^1 \cup S_a^2 = F \setminus \{v_a\}$. Note that $v_a \notin S_a^1 \cup S_a^2$ and S_a^1 and S_a^2 are disjoint sets. Also it is noted that both S_a^1 and S_a^2 are non-empty provided $v_a \notin \{v_3, v_4\}$. For $v_a \notin \{v_3, v_4\}$, S_a^2 is empty. Now we consider following two sub cases according as v_a is in $\{v_3, v_4\}$ or not.

Subcase-(2a) : $v_a \in \{v_3, v_4\}$. In this case S_a^2 is empty and hence $S_a^1 = F \setminus \{v_a\}$ i.e., $d(v_a, u) = 1$ for all $u \in F \setminus \{v_a\}$. Since $v_b \notin F$, $b \ge 8$ and hence $d(u, v_b) \ge 2$ for $u = v_0$. Therefore, in this case there exists a vertex $u = v_0$ that resolve the vertices v_a and v_b .

Subcase-(2b) : $v_a \notin \{v_3, v_4\}$ In this case both S_a^1 and S_a^2 are non-empty. If $d(v_a, u) \ge 2$, then we show that v_a and v_b are resolved by v_3 . Note that $v_3 \in S_a^1$ i.e., $d(v_3, v_a) = 1$. Now $d(v_a, v_b) \ge 2$ implies that $b - a \ge 8$ and hence $d(v_3, v_b) = \left\lfloor \frac{b-3}{4} \right\rfloor \ge \left\lfloor \frac{a+5}{4} \right\rfloor \ge 2$. Therefore, v_3 resolve v_a and v_b provided $d(v_a, v_b) \ge 2$. Now we assume $d(v_a, v_b) = 1$. Then $v_a \in \{v_5, v_6, v_7\}$. Let *l* be the largest integer in $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ such that $d(v_l, v_a) = 1$. Then a = l + 4 and hence $b - l \ge 5$. Therefore, $d(v_l, v_b) = \left\lfloor \frac{b-l}{4} \right\rfloor \ge \left\lfloor \frac{5}{4} \right\rfloor \ge 2$. Hence in this case v_a and v_b are resolve by v_l , where *l* is the largest integer in $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ such that $d(v_l, v_a) = 1$.

Case-2 $F \cap \{v_a, v_b\}$ *is empty*. In this case $a, b \in \{8, 9, ..., n-1\}$. To prove the result, here we have to identify two vertices $u, v \in F$ that resolved v_a and v_b . Let $a \equiv l \pmod{4}$. Then both v_l and v_{l+4} are in *F*. Now we calculate the following distances.

$$d(v_{l}, v_{a}) = \left[\frac{a-l}{4}\right] = \frac{a-l}{4}$$
$$d(v_{l+4}, v_{a}) = \left[\frac{a-l-4}{4}\right] = \frac{a-l-4}{4}$$
$$d(v_{l}, v_{b}) = \left[\frac{b-l}{4}\right] \ge \frac{b-l}{4} + 1$$
$$d(v_{l+4}, v_{b}) = \left[\frac{b-l-4}{4}\right] \ge \frac{b-l-4}{4} + 1$$

From above we can say that v_a and v_a are resolved by both the vertices v_l and v_{l+4} when $a \equiv l \pmod{4}$. On account of all cases above, we say that $F \cap \{v_0, v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7\}$ forms a fault-tolerant resolvingset for P_n^4 . Hence the proof is complete.

Remark 2.1. By similar argument as used in Theorem 2.2, one may show that any eight consecutive vertices forms a fault-tolerant resolving set for P_n^4 .

3. Concluding remark

In this article we have determined the fault-tolerant metric dimension for P_n^4 for all $n \ge 26$. We also have shown the existence of at least n fault-tolerant metric bases for the same graph. The readers may try to find all fault-tolerant metric bases for r-th power of paths or in particular, for square of paths. This article gives a solution to the problem of placement of optimal numbers of sensors in a network when it is structured as square of paths. By giving more than one fault-tolerant metric bases for P_n^4 , we present an alternative placement of censors in the network when one solution is not suitable for an organization that are planning to place the sensors. If a sensor fails which can be catastrophic the fault-tolerant system is able to use reversion to fall back to a safer mode. The advantages of using such a system are that it reduces redundancy, there is no slow down of the given system and no assumptions are made for the distribution of fault.

Acknowledgement

The author is thankful to the Science and Engineering Research Board (DST), India for its financial support (Grant No. CRG/2019/006909).

4. References

- [1] P.J. Slater, Leaves of trees, Cong. Numer., 14 (1975), 549-559.
- [2] F. Harary and R.A. Melter, On the metric dimension of a graph, Ars. Combin., 2 (1976), 191–195.
- [3] S. Khuller B. Raghavachari, A. Rosenfeld : Landmarks in graphs, Discret Appl. Math., 70 (1996), 217-229.
- [4] Beerliova, Z., Eberhard, F., Erlebach, T., Hall, Hoffmann, A. M., Mihalak, M. and Ram, L. Network discovery and verification, IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun, 24 (2006), 2168–2181.
- [5] G. Chartrand and P. Zhang., The theory and application of resolvability in graphs, A Survey. Cong. Numer., 160 (2003), 47–68.
- [6] G. Chartrand, L. Eroh, M.A. Jhonson and O. R. Oellermann, Resolvability in graphs and the metric dimension of a graph, Discrete Appl. Math., 105 (2000), 99–113.
- [7] C. Hernando, M. Mora, P. J. Slater, David R. Wood, Fault-Tolerant Metric Dimension of Graphs, Ramanujan Math. Society Lecture Notes 5(2008) 81–85.
- [8] M. Imran, A. Baig, S.A.U. Bokhary and I. Javaid. On the metric dimension of circulant graphs, Appl. Math. Lett., 25(3) (2012), 320–325.
- [9] A. Borchert and S. Gosselin, The metric dimension of circulant graphs and Caley hypergraphs, Util. Math., 106 (2018), 125–147.
- [10] Grigorious, C., Kalinowski, T., Ryan, J. and Stephen, S., The metric dimension of the circulant graph, Australas. J. Combin., 69(3) (2017), 417–441.

[11] I. Javaid, M. Salman, M. A. Chaudhry, S. Shokat. Fault-Tolerance in Resolvability, Util. Math. 80 (2009), 263–275.
[12] M. Basak, L. Saha, G. K. Das, K.Tiwary. Fault-tolerant metric dimension of circulant graphs, Theor. Comput. Sci. 817 (2020), 66–79.

Global existence of the wave equation with polynomial source and damping terms.

<u>Boulmerka Imane¹</u> and Hamchi Ilhem²

Laboratory of Partial Differential Equations and its Applications, Department of Mathematics, University of Batna 2, Algeria

 $\label{eq:Email:iboulmerka@univ-batna2.dz^1, i.hamchi@univ-batna2.dz^2$

Abstract

In this work, we consider the wave equation with polynomial source and damping terms.

By the stable set method, we prove that under some conditions on the parameters in the system the

global solution exists.

Keywords : Wave equation, Source term, Damping term, Global solution.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we consider the following system

$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} - \Delta u = |u|^{p-2}u & in \quad (0,T) \times \Omega, \\ u = 0 & on \quad (0,T) \times \Gamma_0, \\ \partial_{\nu} u = -|u_t|^{m-2}u_t & on \quad (0,T) \times \Gamma_1, \\ u(0) = u_0, u_t(0) = u_1 & in \quad \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1)

Where T > 0 and Ω is a bounded domain of $\mathbb{R}^n (n \in \mathbb{N}^*)$ with smooth boundary Γ . { Γ_0, Γ_1 } is a partition of Γ such that $\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1$ and $\overline{\Gamma_0} \cap \overline{\Gamma_1} = \emptyset$. Also, we have the following conditions on m and p:

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & if \ n = 1, 2, \\ 2 \le p \le 2\frac{n-1}{n-2} & if \ n \ge 3, \end{cases}$$
(2)

and

$$\begin{cases}
2 \le m \quad if \ n = 1, 2, \\
2 \le m \le \frac{2n}{n-2} \quad if \ n \ge 3.
\end{cases}$$
(3)

In the literature, the problem of global existence of the wave equation was studied by several authors : in the case of internal damping term, Haraux and Zuazua [2] in 1988, proved the global existence for arbitrary initial data. In 1994, Georgiev and Todorova [4] considered the wave equation with internal source and damping terms. They proved that when the damping term dominated the source term then the global solution exists for arbitrary initial data. Ikehata [3] in 1995, considered the same equation. He used the stable set method, introduced by Sattinger [6] in 1968, to show that when the source term dominated the damping term the global solution exists for small enough initial energy. In the case of the boundary damping term, Park and Ha [5] in 2008, obtained the global existence result. For other results in this direction, we can see [7] and [8].

Our objective is to study the global existence of solution of the system (1) using the stable set method.

This paper contains three sections, in addition to the introduction. In section 2, we give some preliminary results needed to prove our main result. Section 3 contains the proof of the global existence result.

2. Preliminary results

In this section, we start with presenting the local existence result.

Theorem 1 [1] If $u_0 \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega)$ and $u_1 \in L^2(\Omega)$ then there exists a unique weak maximal solution u of the problem (1) in (0,T). Moreover, the following alternative holds :

$$T = +\infty$$

or

$$T < +\infty$$
 and $\lim_{t \to T} (\|u_t\|_2 + \|\nabla u\|_2) = +\infty.$

Now, we consider the energy functional E associated with our system defined by

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{2} \|u_t\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p \text{ for all } t \in (0,T).$$

We have the following derivative energy identity, which shows that the above energy is a decreasing function.

Theorem 2 [1] Let $u_0 \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega)$ and $u_1 \in L^2(\Omega)$. We have

$$E(t) - E(s) = -\int_{s}^{t} \int_{\Gamma_1} |u_t|^{m-1} u_t d\Gamma d\tau \qquad \text{for all } 0 \le s \le t \le T.$$

We introduce the following functionals associated to the local solution u of (1) defined for all $t \in (0, T)$ by

$$J(t) = J(u(t)) = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p$$

and

$$K(t) = K(u(t)) = \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \|u\|_p^p.$$

We consider the following set

$$\mathbb{H} = \{ w \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega) / K(w) > 0 \}.$$
(4)

Let C_* be the best constant such that

$$\|u\|_p \le C_* \|\nabla u\|_2 \quad for \ all \ u \in H^1_{\Gamma_0}(\Omega).$$

$$\tag{5}$$

We have the following property of the set \mathbb{H} .

Lemma 1 If $u_0 \in \mathbb{H}$ and $u_1 \in L^2(\Omega)$ with

$$\beta = C_*^p \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}E(0)\right)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} < 1.$$
(6)

Then

$$u(t) \in \mathbb{H} \quad for \ all \ t \in (0, T).$$

Proof 1 Since

then

$$K(u_0) > 0.$$

 $u_0 \in \mathbb{H},$

This implies that there exists $T^* \leq T$ such that

$$K(t) \ge 0 \quad for \ all \ t \in [0, T^*]. \tag{7}$$

We have

$$\begin{split} J(t) &= \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p \\ &= \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{p} (\|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \|u\|_p^p) \\ &= \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{p} K(t). \end{split}$$

By (7), we find

$$J(t) \ge \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 \quad \text{for all } t \in [0, T^*].$$

Hence

$$\|\nabla u\|_2^2 \leq \frac{2p}{p-2}J(t).$$

Since

$$J(t) = E(t) - \frac{1}{2} ||u_t||_2^2 \le E(t),$$

then

$$\|\nabla u\|_2^2 \le \frac{2p}{p-2}E(t).$$

Since E is a decreasing function then

$$\|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \leq \frac{2p}{p-2} E(0) \text{ for all } t \in [0, T^{*}].$$
(8)

By (5), we find

$$||u||_{p}^{p} \leq C_{*}^{p} ||\nabla u||_{2}^{p} = \frac{1}{p} C_{*}^{p} ||\nabla u||_{2}^{p-2} ||\nabla u||_{2}^{2}.$$

(8) gives

$$||u||_p^p \le C^p_* \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}E(0)\right)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} ||\nabla u||_2^2.$$

 $\|u\|_{p}^{p} \leq C_{*}^{p} \left(\frac{2p}{p-2}E(0)\right)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} = \beta \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}.$

So

We then use (6) to find

$$||u||_p^p < ||\nabla u||_2^2 \text{ for all } t \in [0, T^*].$$

So

$$K(u(t)) = \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \|u\|_p^p > 0 \text{ for all } t \in [0, T^*].$$

 $This \ leads \ to$

$$u(t) \in \mathbb{H} \quad for \ all \ t \in [0, T^*]$$

By noting that

$$C^p_*(\frac{2p}{p-2}E(T^*))^{\frac{p-2}{2}} < 1,$$

we can repeat the proceedings above to extend T^* to T. So, we get the desired result.

3. Main result

Now, we prove the main result of this work.

Theorem 3 If $u_0 \in \mathbb{H}$ and $u_1 \in L^2(\Omega)$ with $\beta < 1$, then the local solution u of (1) is global. **Proof 2** From the definition of E and K, we get for all $t \in (0,T)$

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{2} \|u_t\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \|u_t\|_2^2 + \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{p} K(t).$$

Since

$$K(t) \ge 0 \quad for \ all \ t \in (0,T),$$

thus

$$E(t) \geq \frac{1}{2} \|u_t\|_2^2 + \frac{p-2}{2p} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 \quad for \ all \ t \in (0,T).$$

This implies that there exists C > 0 such that

$$||u_t||_2^2 + ||\nabla u||_2^2 \le CE(t) \text{ for all } t \in (0,T).$$

Since E is a decreasing function, then

$$||u_t||_2^2 + ||\nabla u||_2^2 \le CE(0)$$
 for all $t \in (0,T)$.

By the alternative statement, we find the desired result.

4. References

A. Fiscella and E. Vitillaro; Blow-up for the wave equation with nonlinear source and boundary damping terms. Proceedings of the Royel Society of Edinburgh. July, 145A (2015), 759-778.
 A. Haraux and E. Zuazua; Decay estimates for some semilinear damped hyperbolic problem. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. Oxford, 150 (1988), 191-206.

[3] R. Ikehata; Some remarks on the wave equations with nonlinear damping and source terms. Nonlinear Anal., 27 (1995), 1165-1175.

[4] V. Georgiev and G. Todorova; Existence of solutions of the wave equation with nonlinear damping and source terms. J. Diff. Eqns., 109, 2 (1994), 295-308.

[5] J. Park and T. Ha; Existence and asymptotic stability for the semilinear wave equation with boundary damping and source term. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 49 (2008), 1-26.

[6] D. Sattinger; On global solution of nonlinear hyperblic equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 30 (1968), 148-172.

[7] E. Vitillaro; A Potential well theory for the wave equation with nonlinear source and boundary damping terms. Glasgow Math. Journal., 44 (2002), 375-395.

[8] S. Wu and H. Chen; Uniform decay of solutions of a nonlinear viscoelastic wave equation with boundary dissipation. Jornal of Function Spaces and Applications, (2012), 1-17.

Inextensible Flow of Non-Null Curve with Type-3 Bishop Frame in Lorentz 3-space Tunahan TURHAN Electronic Technology, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey E-mail: tunahanturhan@isparta.edu.tr

Abstract

In this work, we present type-3 Bishop frame for a non-null curve with respect to normal vector field of a non-null curve in Lorentz 3-space. Then, we get the inextensible flow equation for a timelike curve with respect to type-3 Bishop frame and type-3 Bishop frame curvatures.

Key words: Inextensible flow, Non-null curve, Type-3 Bishop frame.

1. Introduction

Curves are one of the important structures of differential geometry. The many fundamental results in the theory of the curves in Euclidean and non-Euclidean were studied by many researchers. The flow of a curve is called to be inextensible if the arc-length of a curve is preserved. Inextensible curve flows have growing importance in many applications such as engineering, computer vision, structural mechanics and computer animation. The terms "inextensible" and "extensible" mostly come up in physics. There are inextensible and extensible collisions in physics. In extensible collision, both the kinetic energy and momentum are conserved. In inextensible collision, the kinetic energy is not conserved in the collision; however, the momentum is conserved, [7]. In [6], studied the evolution of space curves in Euclidean space by considering Frenet equations that describe the evolution for the Frenet vectors according to arclength and time parameters. He got nonlinear partial differential equations for the Frenet apparatus (k and τ) of curve. Then in [4], Doliwa and Santini presented a relation between the motion of inextensible curves and solitonic systems in a space of constant curvature. Also, in [8-9], the authors investigated motion of plane and space curves and gave time evolution equation of the moving frame and the curvatures of the evolving curve. Recently, Bishop frame and inextensible flow of curves have studied by many researchers in Euclidean space and non-Euclidean spaces ([3], [5], [12], [13]). Bishop frame which is known alternative or parallel frame of the curve, was firsly presented by Bishop [2]. In [11], the authors described type-3 Bishop frame and gave time evolution equation of space curves with respect to such frame.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we recall some general notions and notations needed throughout the paper and repeat some of the definitions mentioned in the introduction more formally. Then we obtain type-3 Bishop frame for a non-null curve in Lorentz 3-space. In section 3, we get the inextensible flow equation for a timelike curve with respect to type-3 Bishop frame and type-3 Bishop frame curvatures.

2. Type-3 Bishop Frame for Non-Null Curves

The Lorentz 3-space \mathbb{R}^3_1 is the real vector space endowed with a symmetric, bilinear and non-degenerate metric

$$< x, y > = -x_1y_1 + x_2y_2 + x_3y_3,$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, y_3)$ are arbitrary vectors in \mathbb{R}^3_1 . Also, let $= (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, y_3)$ be two vectors in \mathbb{R}^3_1 , then the Lorentzian cross product $x \times_L y$ is defined by the formula

$$x \times_L y = (x_3y_2 - x_2y_3, -x_1y_3 + x_3y_1, -x_1y_2 - x_2y_1).$$

An arbitrary vector $x \in \mathbb{R}^3_1$ is called spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) if it satisfies $\langle x, x \rangle > 0$ or x = 0 (resp. $\langle x, x \rangle < 0$, $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$ and $x \neq 0$). An arbitrary curve α in \mathbb{R}^3_1 is said spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) if its velocity vector is spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike). Any spacelike or timelike curve is called non-null curve in \mathbb{R}^3_1 , [10].

Let $\alpha(s)$ be non-null curve and $\{T, N, B\}$ is the moving Frenet frame along the curve $\alpha(s)$ in \mathbb{R}^3_1 . The Frenet derivative equations are

$$\begin{pmatrix} T'\\N'\\B' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa & 0\\ -\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \kappa & 0 & \tau\\ 0 & \varepsilon_1 \tau & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T\\N\\B \end{pmatrix},$$
(1)

where κ and τ are curvature and torsion of α , respectively, and $\varepsilon_1 = \mp 1 = \langle T, T \rangle$, $\varepsilon_2 = \mp 1 = \langle N, N \rangle$ and $\langle B, B \rangle = -\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2$, [1].

Firstly, we present type-3 Bishop frame for a timelike curve with respect to normal vector field of a timelike curve in Lorentz 3-space.

Let *T*, *N* and *B* denotes the unit tangent, the unit normal, the unit binormal vectors on the timelike curve, respectively. If we rotate Frenet frame $\{T, N, B\}$ of the timelike curve by angel θ about the spacelike normal, we get a new frame denoted by $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$, then the relation between two frames is written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\theta(s) & 0 & \sinh\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sinh\theta(s) & 0 & \cosh\theta(s) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{pmatrix},$$
(2)

or

$$\begin{pmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\theta(s) & 0 & -\sinh\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sinh\theta(s) & 0 & \cosh\theta(s) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3)

Assume that,

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{pmatrix}, R_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\theta(s) & 0 & \sinh\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sinh\theta(s) & 0 & \cosh\theta(s) \end{pmatrix}, R_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\theta(s) & 0 & -\sinh\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sinh\theta(s) & 0 & -\cosh\theta(s) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$b = \begin{pmatrix} B_{1} \\ B_{2} \\ B_{3} \end{pmatrix}, K = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa & 0 \\ \kappa & 0 & \tau \\ 0 & -\tau & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(4)

then (1), (2) and (3) can be given as

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial s} = KF,$$

$$b = R_1F,$$

$$F = R_2b.$$
(5)

If we use (5), we can give the rate of change of type-3 Bishop frame as

$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial s} = \left(\frac{\partial R_1}{\partial s}R_2 + R_1 K R_2\right) b \tag{6}$$

or by using (4) we obtain

 $\frac{d}{ds} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa \cosh\theta(s) - \tau \sinh\theta(s) & \frac{d\theta(s)}{ds} \\ \kappa \cosh\theta(s) - \tau \sinh\theta(s) & 0 & -\kappa \sinh\theta(s) + \tau \cosh\theta(s) \\ \frac{d\theta(s)}{ds} & \kappa \sinh\theta(s) - \tau \cosh\theta(s) & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix}.$ (7)

Thus we can give the equation (7) as

$$\frac{d}{ds} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa_1 & 0 \\ \kappa_1 & 0 & \kappa_2 \\ 0 & -\kappa_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(8)

where type-3 Bishop curvatures are

$$\kappa_{1} = \kappa \cosh\theta(s) - \tau \sinh\theta(s),$$

$$\kappa_{2} = -\kappa \sinh\theta(s) + \tau \cosh\theta(s),$$
(9)

and

$$\theta(s) = const.$$

Definition. The frame $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$ is properly oriented, so we can call the set $\{B_1, B_2, B_3, \kappa_1, \kappa_2\}$ as type-3 Bishop invariants of the timelike curve $\alpha(s)$, [11].

Now, we can give the evolution of an orthonormal type-3 Bishop frame $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$ by its angular velocity ω as

$$\frac{dB_1}{ds} = \omega \times B_1,$$

$$\frac{dB_2}{ds} = \omega \times B_2,$$

$$\frac{dB_3}{ds} = \omega \times B_3.$$
(10)

Also, we can write ω with respect to type-3 Bishop frame $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$ as

$$\omega = \omega_1 B_1 + \omega_2 B_2 + \omega_3 B_3. \tag{11}$$

Then equation (10) becomes

$$\frac{dB_1}{ds} = \omega_2 B_3 - \omega_3 B_2,$$

$$\frac{dB_2}{ds} = -\omega_1 B_3 - \omega_3 B_1,$$

$$\frac{dB_3}{ds} = \omega_1 B_2 + \omega_2 B_1.$$
(12)

If we compare equations (12) with equations (8), we obtain

$$\omega_1 = -\kappa_2, \ \omega_2 = 0, \ \omega_3 = -\kappa_1.$$
 (13)

So, the Darboux vector for to type-3 Bishop frame is given by

$$\omega = -\kappa_2 B_1 - \kappa_1 B_3. \tag{14}$$

Now, we present type-3 Bishop frame for a spacelike curve with timelike normal in Lorentz 3-space. Let *T*, *N* and *B* denotes the unit tangent, the unit normal, the unit binormal vectors on the spacelike curve with timelike normal, respectively. If we rotate Frenet frame $\{T, N, B\}$ of the spacelike curve by angel θ about the timelike normal, we get a new frame denoted by $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$, then the relation between two frames is written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta(s) & 0 & \sin\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sin\theta(s) & 0 & \cos\theta(s) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{pmatrix},$$
(15)

or

$$\begin{pmatrix} T\\N\\B \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta(s) & 0 & -\sin\theta(s)\\0 & 1 & 0\\\sin\theta(s) & 0 & \cos\theta(s) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1\\B_2\\B_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(16)

Assume that,

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} T \\ N \\ B \end{pmatrix}, R_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta(s) & 0 & \sin\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sin\theta(s) & 0 & \cos\theta(s) \end{pmatrix}, R_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta(s) & 0 & -\sin\theta(s) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sin\theta(s) & 0 & \cos\theta(s) \end{pmatrix}$$
(17)

$$b = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad K = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa & 0 \\ \kappa & 0 & \tau \\ 0 & \tau & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

then (1), (15) and (16) can be given as

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial s} = KF,
b = R_1F,
F = R_2b.$$
(18)

If we use (18), we can give the rate of change of type-3 Bishop frame as

$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial s} = \left(\frac{\partial R_1}{\partial s}R_2 + R_1 K R_2\right) b \tag{19}$$

or by using (17) we obtain

$$\frac{d}{ds} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa \cos\theta(s) + \tau \sin\theta(s) & \frac{d\theta(s)}{ds} \\ \kappa \cos\theta(s) + \tau \sin\theta(s) & 0 & -\kappa \sin\theta(s) + \tau \cos\theta(s) \\ \frac{d\theta(s)}{ds} & -\kappa \sin\theta(s) + \tau \cos\theta(s) & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(20)

Thus we can give the equation (20) as

$$\frac{d}{ds} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \kappa_1 & 0 \\ \kappa_1 & 0 & \kappa_2 \\ 0 & \kappa_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(21)

where type-3 Bishop curvatures are

$$\kappa_{1} = \kappa \cos\theta(s) + \tau \sin\theta(s),$$

$$\kappa_{2} = -\kappa \sin\theta(s) + \tau \cos\theta(s),$$
(22)

and

 $\theta(s) = const..$

3. Inextensible flow of a timelike curve with respect to type-3 Bishop frame

In this section we get inextensible flow of a timelike curve using type-3 Bishop frame. Also, we get time evolution equation for type-3 Bishop frame and type-3 Bishop curvatures.
Inextensible flow of a timelike curve with respect to type-3 Bishop frame is given as

$$\frac{dC(s)}{ds} = \Lambda_1 B_1 + \Lambda_2 B_2 + \Lambda_3 B_3$$
(23)

where Λ_1 , Λ_2 and Λ_3 are functions of arc-lenght parameter s and time parameter s, correspond to the tangent, normal and binormal projections of the velocity. If the timelike curve parametrized by time parameter t, then the general temporal evolution in which the triad { B_1 , B_2 , B_3 } remains orthonormal adopts the form [1],

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma_1 & 0 \\ \gamma_1 & 0 & \gamma_2 \\ 0 & -\gamma_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(24)

where γ_1 and γ_2 are geometric parameters which are in general functions of s and t. These describe the evolution in t of the type-3 Bishop frame { B_1, B_2, B_3 } on the timelike curve [11]. If we use compatibility condition in (8) and (24), we have

$$\frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial \gamma_1}{\partial s}, \ \frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial \gamma_2}{\partial s}$$
(25)

and

 $\gamma_2\kappa_1-\gamma_1\kappa_2=0.$

Also, if we use compatibility condition in (23), we obtain

$$\frac{\partial \Lambda_1}{\partial s} = -\Lambda_2 \kappa_1,$$

$$\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} = \gamma_1 + \Lambda_3 \kappa_2 - \Lambda_1 \kappa_1,$$

$$\frac{\partial \Lambda_3}{\partial s} = -\Lambda_2 \kappa_2.$$
(26)

For a given functions { Λ_1 , Λ_2 , Λ_3 }, equations (25) and (26) form a set of 6 nonlinear first order partial differential equations which governing the evolution of the type-3 Bishop curvatures of the evolving timelike curve in the Lorentz 3-space, [11].

From (25), we get

$$\frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial \gamma_1}{\partial s},\tag{27}$$

$$\frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial t} = \gamma_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1} \right) + \frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1} \frac{\partial \gamma_1}{\partial s}.$$

With the aid of (26), γ_1 and its derivative with respect to s, are given by

$$\gamma_1 = \frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2, \tag{28}$$

$$\frac{\partial \gamma_1}{\partial s} = \frac{\partial^2 \Lambda_2}{\partial s^2} + \frac{\partial \Lambda_1}{\partial s} \kappa_1 + \Lambda_1 \frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial s} - \frac{\partial \Lambda_3}{\partial s} \kappa_2 - \Lambda_3 \frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial s}.$$
(29)

Using first and third equations in the (26) and substituting in (29), we get

$$\frac{\partial \gamma_1}{\partial s} = \frac{\partial^2 \Lambda_2}{\partial s^2} + \Lambda_2 \kappa_1^2 + \Lambda_1 \frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial s} - \Lambda_2 \kappa_2^2 - \Lambda_3 \frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial s}.$$
(30)

If we use (28) and (30) into (27), the time evolution equation of type-3 Bishop curvatures κ_1 and κ_2 are given by

$$\frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 \Lambda_2}{\partial s^2} + \Lambda_2 \kappa_1^2 + \Lambda_1 \frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial s} - \Lambda_2 \kappa_2^2 - \Lambda_3 \frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial s},$$
$$\frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial t} = \left(\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1}\right) + \frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \Lambda_2}{\partial s^2} + \Lambda_2 \kappa_1^2 + \Lambda_1 \frac{\partial \kappa_1}{\partial s} - \Lambda_2 \kappa_2^2 - \Lambda_3 \frac{\partial \kappa_2}{\partial s}\right).$$

Lastly, we can give the time evolution of type-3 Bishop frame $\{B_1, B_2, B_3\}$ on the timelike curve as

$$\begin{array}{lll} \displaystyle \frac{\partial B_1}{\partial t} & = & (\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2) B_2, \\ \displaystyle \frac{\partial B_2}{\partial t} & = & \left(\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2 \right) B_1 + \frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2 \right) B_2, \\ \displaystyle \frac{\partial B_3}{\partial t} & = & - \frac{\kappa_2}{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{\partial \Lambda_2}{\partial s} + \Lambda_1 \kappa_1 - \Lambda_3 \kappa_2 \right) B_2. \end{array}$$

4. References

[1] Balgetir H., Bektas M., and Ergut M., (2004), Bertrand curves for Nonnull curves in 3-dimensional Lorentzian space, Hadronic Journal, 27, 229-236.

[2] Bishop R. L., (1975), There is more than one way to frame a curve, Amer.Math. Monthly. 82, 246-251.

[3] Bukcu B., and Karacan M.K., (2008), Special Bishop Motion and Bishop Darboux Rotation Axis of the Space Curve, Journal of Dynamical Systems and Geometric Theories. 6:1, 27-34.

[4] Doliwa A., and Santini P., An elementary geometric characterization of the integrable motions of a curve, Phys. Lett. A, 185, 373-384.

[5] Kiziltug S., (2014), On Characterization of Inextensible Flows of Curves According to Type-2 Bishop Frame E^3 . Math. Comput. Appl. 19, 69-77.

[6] Lamb Jr. G.L., (1977), Solitons on moving space curves, J. Math. Phys. 18, 1654-1661.

[7] Langer J., and Perline R., (1991), Poisson geometry of the filament equation, J. Nonlinear Sci. 1, 71-93.

[8] Nakayama N., Iizuka T., and Wadati M., (1994), Curve Lengthening Equation and Its Solutions, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 63, 1311-1321.

[9] Nakayama N., Iizuka T., and Wadati M., (1994), Motion of Curves in the Plane, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 62, 473-479.

[10] O'Neill, B., (1983). Semi-Riemann Geometry with Applications to Relativity. Academic Pres, 469 p. New York.

[11] Soliman M.A., Nassar H.A., Hussien R.A., and Youssef T., (2019), Evolution of Space Curves Using Type-3 Bishop Frame, Caspian Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 8(1), 58-72.

[12] Turhan T., (2019) Contribution to Evolution of Timelike Curves with Type-3 Bishop Frame, Current Studies on Science, Technology & Social Sciences, December 20-22, Ankara, Turkey

[13] Yılmaz S., and Turgut M., (2010), A new version of Bishop frame and an application to spherical images, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 371, 764-776.

Integration of TAM model in Students Acceptance of Google Classroom context Using Partial Least Squares -Structural Equation Model.

Phd. Evgjeni Xhafaj¹, Phd. Daniela Halidini Qendraj²

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania, ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Information Technology, Aleksander Moisiu University Durres, Albania. E-mails: genaxhafa@yahoo.com, daniela_gendraj@hotmail.com

Abstract

The development of information technology has an integral role to the promotion of new alternatives in relation to improve teaching and learning for universities. This study has the main aim to analyze through the structure of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), how the model factors can predict the behavioral intention towards Google Classroom. The data were collected through an online questionnaire for 194 students from Alexander Moisiu University, who used the Google Classroom platform. The data evaluations are realized using the Partial Least Square-Structural Equation Model (PLS-SEM) method. The results show that Perceived Usefulness (PU) and Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU) significantly influence behavioral intention towards Google Classroom and both of these constructs influence in the actual usage of Google Classroom.

Keywords: Technology Acceptance Model, Partial Least Square-Structural Equation Model, Google Classroom, factors.

1. Introduction

The development of information technology has an integral role in promoting new alternatives related to the improvement of teaching and learning for universities and consequently induce the need for new approaches through the implementation of e-learning tools. We mention the Google Classroom platform as Learning Management System (LMS) which was introduced in 2014, as part of the G Suite for Education, that features Gmail, Calendar, Contacts, Docs, Sheets, Slides, Drive, and Hangouts (1). Google Classroom is the best used in the context that students and instructors can discuss course content outside of the constraints of time and distance (Falvo & Johnson (2)). Being assisted by the platform of Google Classroom, students have access for learning materials, interact with the content, instructor, and other learners referring Ally (10). Several theories / models of information system (IS) are developed to explain the factors of the acceptance of a new technology. One such model is the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). This model shows that an individual's behavioral intention (BI) to use a technology is determined by two factors that are perceived usefulness (PU) and Perceived ease of use (PEOU) respectively. Perceived usefulness is defined here as "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance. Perceived ease of use, refers to "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free of effort" based on Davis (3). In the study of Rana A. Saeed Al-Maroof (4) implements the TAM model integrated with the PLS-SEM approach, treats the connections of factors that are : perceived usefulness (PU), perceived ease of use (PEOU) respectively. From the empirical data

analysis is showed that PU and PEOU has a positive effect with Behavioral Intention (BI) to use Google Classroom, while BI significantly affects the actual usage (AU) of Google Classrooms. So, in tis study are proposed to test the following 4 hypotheses:

H1:Perceived ease of use (PEOU) positively impact the perceived usefulness (PU) of Google Classroom. H2:Perceived ease of use positively (PEOU) impact the behavioral intention (BI) to use Google Classroom. H3:Perceived usefulness (PU) positively impact the behavioral intention (BI) to use Google Classroom. H4:Behavioral intention (BI) to use Google classroom impact the actual use (UB) of Google Classroom

2. Methods

The target populations per kete studim jane 194 studente te Universitetit Aleksander Mosiu te cilet per shkak te pandemise Covid-19 kane perdorur Google Classroom as learning tool. The target populations for this study are 194 students of Alexander Mosiu University who have used Google Classroom as learning tool, due to the Covid-19 pandemic. All the variables were measured using a five-point nominal scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). In this study is used the Partial Least Square-Structural Equation Model (PLS-SEM) for statistical evaluation, that includes (i) the analysis of the measurement model and (ii) the structural model (5). Firstly we determine if all latent variables are reflective and then evaluate the measurement model which includes reliability and validity (6). In terms of model reliability is evaluated composite reliability, and its values must be greater than 0.7 based on Hair et al (7). Validity includes the assessment of measure convergent validity and discriminant validity. Convergent validity is developed from the average variance extracted (AVE), and outer loadings of the indicators, and their values must be at least 0.5 and 0.7 respectively (Hew et al (8)). In order to evaluate the discriminant validity are used the Fornell-Larcker criterion and heterotrait-monotrait ratio (HTMT) The Fornell-Larcker criterion (Fornell & Larcker (9)) claims that a latent variable shares more variance with its assigned indicators than with any other latent variable. HTMT values must be below the limit value 0.85 to confirm the discriminant validity. After estabilshing all the indicators of the measurement model, we evaluate the structural model. The latter includes the evaluation of path coefficients in the structural models, and coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) .

3. Results

Assessment of Measurement Model

Table 1 shows the outer loadings, composite reliability and variance extracted (AVE). As we see all loading values are greater than 0.7 and range from 0.813 to 0.936. Composite reliability values are all greater than the limit 0.7 so satisfying the acceptable minimum values of 0.7. AVE values range from 0.72 to 0.859 that are greater than suggested threshold value i.e. greater than 0.50.

Table 1. Validity and reliability of measurement model

Construct and indicators	Loadings	CR	AVE
Perceived usefulness (PU)		0.924	0.859
PU1	0.932		
PU2	0.921		
Perceived ease of use (PEOU)		0.885	0.72
PEOU 1	0.813		
PEOU 2	0.893		
PEOU3	0.839		
Behavioral Intention (BI)		0.943	0.847
BI 1	0.909		
BI 2	0.936		
BI 3	0.916		
Use Behavior (UB)		0.905	0.826
UB 1	0.902		
UB 2	0.915		

We use the Fornell-Larcker criterion and the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio to evaluate the discriminant validity. Table 2 shows the HTMT values in parentheses. We see that all the constructs are showing higher loading on their own respective constructs than other constructs, so the Fornell – Larcker criterion condition is satisfy. Also all HTMT values are less than 1, so since both conditions are satisfied we say that discriminant validity is achieved in this study.

 Table 2. Discriminant validity

	BI	PEOU	PU	UB
BI	0.921			
PEOU	0.596(0.666)	0.849		
PU	0.704(0.790)	0.689 (0.826)	0.927	
UB	0.574(0.669)	0.561(0.704)	0.676(0.832)	0.909

Assessment Structural model

The assessment of structural model includes the evaluation of path coefficients, and coefficient of determination (R^2) . Figure 1 indicates the path coefficients and p-values for each connection of the constructs.





Figure 1. Path coefficients of structural model

The results in Table 3 show the path coefficients, p-values, and significance of each path of the structural model. It is shown that PU (b = 0.559, p = 0.00) and PEOU (b = 0.21, p = 0.002) significantly impacts Behavioral intention (BI) to use Google Classroom. As we see BI has a significant positive relationship with UB, as was hypothesized. Additionally PEOU has positive influence on PU. Finally all path coefficients estimates of the connections of model's construct are all significant at a 5% significance level.

Table 3.	Estimation	of structural	model
----------	------------	---------------	-------

Hypothesis	Path coefficients	T-Statistics	P-Values
BI→UB	0.574	10.83	0.000
PEOU →BI	0.21	3.165	0.002
PU→BI	0.559	9.233	0.000
PEOU →PU	0.689	17.114	0.000

Table 4 shows the coefficients of determination of the model constructs. The amount of variance in the endogenous constructs BI explained by all of the exogenous constructs linked to it is 0.519, while for the other variables PU and UB it is (0.475, 0.330) respectively.

Table 4. Coefficient of determination (R^2)

Construct	R Square	R Square Adjusted
BI	0.519	0.514
PU	0.475	0.472
UB	0.330	0.326

4. Conclusions

The projection of the TAM model in this study showed the antecedents of behavioral intention (BI) to use Google Classroom. The TAM model shows that behavioral intention (BI) to use Google Classroom depends on perceived ease of use PEOU and perceived usefulness PU. Using PLS-SEM metode we found that PEOU and PU have positive impact on the BI, further more BI has a significant positive relationship with UB. The Model explains only 51.9% of intentions to use Google Classroom. The findings of this study confirm that acceptance of Google Classroom from students is influenced by perceived ease of use (PEOU) and the perceived usefulness (PU). Perceived ease of use toward Google Classroom has a positive impact on perceived usefulness toward Google Classroom dhe additionally both affect on the actual use of Google Classroom.

5. References

- 1. Singer N. How Google took over the classroom. The New York Times. 2017.
- 2. Falvo DA, Johnson BF. The use of learning management systems in the United States. TechTrends. 2007.
- 3. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Q Manag Inf Syst. 1989;
- 4. Al-Maroof RAS, Al-Emran M. Students acceptance of google classroom: An exploratory study using PLS-SEM approach. Int J Emerg Technol Learn. 2018;
- 5. Hair JF, Risher JJ, Sarstedt M, Ringle CM. When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. European Business Review. 2019.
- 6. Ringle CM, Sarstedt M, Mitchell R, Gudergan SP. Partial least squares structural equation modeling in HRM research. Int J Hum Resour Manag. 2020;
- 7. Hair JF, Sarstedt M, Ringle CM, Mena JA. An assessment of the use of partial least squares structural equation modeling in marketing research. J Acad Mark Sci. 2012;
- 8. Hew TS, Kadir SLSA. Predicting the acceptance of cloud-based virtual learning environment: The roles of Self Determination and Channel Expansion Theory. Telemat Informatics. 2016;
- 9. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error. J Mark Res. 1981;
- 10. Ally M, Fahy P. Using students' learning styles to provide support in distance education. Proceedings of the Eighteenth Annual Conference on Distance Teaching and Learning, Madison, WI, 2002.

Iterated Binomial Transforms of the Balancing and Lucas-Balancing Polynomials

Nazmiye YILMAZ¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Karamanoglu Mehmetbey University, Turkey, E-mail: yilmaznzmy@gmail.com

Abstract

In this study, we apply r times the binomial transforms to the balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials. Also, the Binet formulas, summations, generating functions of these transforms are found using recurrence relations. Finally, we obtain the Catalan and Cassini formulas for these transforms.

Keywords: balancing polynomials, Lucas-balancing polynomials, binomial transforms. **2010 AMS:** 11B65, 11B83.

1. Introduction

The study of number sequences has been a source of attraction to the mathematicians since ancient times. Since then many of them are focusing their interest on the study of the fascinating triangular numbers. In 1999, Behera and Panda [BeheraPanda] introduced the notion of balancing numbers $\{B_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ as solutions to a certain Diophantine equation. Then, the recurence relation of this number is $B_{n+1}=6B_n-B_{n-1}$ for $n \ge 1$, where $B_0=0$, $B_1=1$. A study on the Lucas-balancing numbers $C_n=\sqrt{8B_n^2+1}$ was published in 2009 by Panda [Panda]. The recurrence relation of this number is $C_{n+1}=6C_n-C_{n-1}$ for $n\ge 1$, where $C_0=1$, $C_1=3$. In addition, the author in [Frontczak c] studied the binomial sums of the balancing and Lucas-balancing numbers.

Generalizations of balancing numbers can be obtained in various ways (see [Frontczak a, Frontczak b, Ozkoc, PatelIrmakRay, Ray a, Ray b]). A natural extension is to consider for $x \in \mathbb{C}$ sequences of

balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials $\{B_n(x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $\{C_n(x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, respectively.

The authors defined the balancing $\{B_n(x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and Lucas-balancing $\{C_n(x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ polynomials as in the forms

 $B_{n+1}(x) = 6xB_n(x) - B_{n-1}(x)$, where $B_0(x) = 0$, $B_1(x) = 1$ and

 $C_{n+1}(x) = 6xC_n(x) - C_{n-1}(x)$, where $C_0(x) = 1$, $C_1(x) = 3x$

respectively, in [Ray a, Frontczak b, PatelIrmakRay].

In addition, some matrix based transforms can be introduced for a given sequence. Binomial transform is one of these transforms and there is also other ones such as rising and falling binomial transforms (see [BhadouriaJhalaSingh, Chen, FalconPlaza, Prodinger]). Furthermore, there is the interesting study on the watermarking and the binomial transform. For example, in [MandalGhosalZizka], the binomial transform based fragile image watermarking technique has been proposed for color image authentication.

Given an integer sequence $X = \{x_0, x_1, x_2, ...\}$, the binomial transform *B* of the sequence *X*, $B(X) = \{b_n\}$, is given by

$$b_n = \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n}{i} x_i.$$

Also, in [Boyadzhiev], author studied the following properties of the binomial transform

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} i x_{i} = n(b_{n} - b_{n-1})$$

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} \frac{x_i}{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{b_j}{j}.$$

In [Yilmaz], the author applied the binomial transforms to the balancing $B_n(x)$ and Lucas-balancing $C_n(x)$ polynomials:

Proposition 1.1. For n > 0,

- i) Recurrence relation of sequence $\{b_n(x)\}$ is $b_{n+1}(x) = (6x+2)(b_n(x)-b_{n-1}(x)), b_0(x) = 0, b_1(x) = 1$ with initial conditions,
- ii) Recurrence relation of sequence $\{c_n(x)\}$ is $c_{n+1}(x) = (6x+2)(c_n(x)-c_{n-1}(x)),$ $c_0(x) = 1, c_1(x) = 3x+1$ with initial conditions.

Also, Falcon [Falcon] studied the iterated application of the some binomial transforms to the k-Fibonacci sequence. Yilmaz and Taskara [YilmazTaskara] investigated the iterated application of the some binomial transforms to the k-Lucas sequence.

The goal of this paper is to apply iteratly the binomial transforms to the balancing $B_n(x)$ and Lucasbalancing $C_n(x)$ polynomials. Furthermore, the binet formulas, summations, generating functions of these transforms are found by recurrence relations.

2. Main Results

In this section, we will mainly focus on iterated binomial transforms of the balancing and Lucasbalancing polynomials to get some important results. In fact, we will also present the recurrence relations, binet formulas, summations, generating functions of these transforms.

The iterated binomial transforms of the balancing $B_n(x)$ and Lucas-balancing $C_n(x)$ polynomials are demonstrated by $B^{(r)}(x) = \{b_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ and $C^{(r)}(x) = \{c_n^{(r)}(x)\}$, where $b_n^{(r)}(x)$ and $c_n^{(r)}(x)$ are obtained by applying "r" times the binomial transform to the balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials. It are

obvious that $b_0^{(r)}(x) = 0$, $b_1^{(r)}(x) = 1$ and $c_0^{(r)}(x) = 1$, $c_1^{(r)}(x) = 3x + r$.

The following lemma will be key of the proof of the next theorems.

Lemma 2.1. For $n \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, the following equalities are hold:

i)
$$b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} (b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{i+1}^{(r-1)}(x)),$$

ii) $c_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} (c_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + c_{i+1}^{(r-1)}(x)).$

Proof. Firstly, in here we will just prove i), since ii) can be thought in the same manner with i).

i) By using definition of binomial transform and the well known binomial equality $\binom{n+1}{i} = \binom{n}{i} + \binom{n}{i-1}$,

we obtain

$$\begin{split} b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) &= \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{i} b_i^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} \binom{n}{i} b_i^{(r-1)}(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \binom{n}{i-1} b_i^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n}{i} b_i^{(r-1)}(x) + \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n}{i} b_{i+1}^{(r-1)}(x), \end{split}$$

which is desired result.

Theorem 2.2. For $n \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, the recurrence relations of sequences $\{b_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ and $\{c_n^{(r)}(x)\}$

are

$$b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) = (6x+2r)b_n^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x), \qquad (2.1)$$

$$c_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) = (6x+2r)c_n^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)c_{n-1}^{(r)}(x), \qquad (2.2)$$

with initial conditions $b_0^{(r)}(x) = 0$, $b_1^{(r)}(x) = 1$ and $c_0^{(r)}(x) = 1$, $c_1^{(r)}(x) = 3x + r$.

Proof. Similarly the proof of the Lemma 2.1, only the first case, the equation (2.1) will be proved. We

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

will omit the equation (2.2) since the proofs will not be different.

The proof will be done by induction steps on r and n.

First of all, for r = 1, from the *i*) condition of Proposition 1.1, it is true

$$b_{n+1}(x) = (6x+2)(b_n(x)-b_{n-1}(x)).$$

Let us consider definition of iterated binomial transform, then we have $b_2^{(r)}(x) = 6x + 2r$. The initial conditions are $b_0^{(r)}(x) = 0$, $b_1^{(r)}(x) = 1$. Hence, for n = 1, the equation (2.1) is true, that is

$$b_{2}^{(r)}(x) = (6x+2r)b_{1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^{2}+1)b_{0}^{(r)}(x).$$

Actually, by assuming the equation in (2.1) holds for all (r-1,n) and (r,n-1), that is,

$$b_{n+1}^{(r-1)}(x) = (6x+2r-2)b_n^{(r-1)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^2-2r+2)b_{n-1}^{(r-1)}(x),$$

and

$$b_n^{(r)}(x) = (6x+2r)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)b_{n-2}^{(r)}(x).$$

Then, we need to show that it is true for (r, n). That is,

$$b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) = (6x+2r)b_n^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x).$$

From Lemma 2.1-i) and assumption, we have

$$\begin{aligned} b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) &= \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i+1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} \binom{b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{i+1}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{0}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} \binom{b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + (6x + 2r - 2)b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) - (6xr - 6x + r^{2} - 2r + 2)b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{0}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= (6x + 2r - 1)\sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) - (6xr - 6x + r^{2} - 2r + 2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{0}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &= (6x + 2r - 1)b_{n}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr - 6x + r^{2} - 2r + 2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{0}^{(r-1)}(x) + b_{1}^{(r-1)}(x) \end{aligned}$$

Then, we write

$$b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) - (6x + 2r - 1)b_n^{(r)}(x) = -(6xr - 6x + r^2 - 2r + 2)\sum_{i=1}^n \binom{n}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1.$$
(2.3)

Now, if *n* is replaced by n-1 in equation (2.3), we get

$$b_n^{(r)}(x) - (6x + 2r - 1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) = -(6xr - 6x + r^2 - 2r + 2)\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1.$$

Afterward, we obtain by algebraic operation

$$\begin{split} b_{n}^{(r)}(x) &= (6x+2r-1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\binom{n}{i} - \binom{n-1}{i-1}\right)b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1 \\ &= (6x+2r-1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &+ (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n-1}{i-1}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1 \\ &= (6x+2r-1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &+ (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{i}b_{i}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1 \\ &= (6x+2r-1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) \\ &+ (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) + 1 \\ &= (6xr+r^{2}+1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr-6x+r^{2}-2r+2)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i}b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x) + 1. \end{split}$$

That is, we can write

$$-\left(6xr-6x+r^2-2r+2\right)\sum_{i=1}^{n} \binom{n}{i} b_{i-1}^{(r-1)}(x)+1=b_{n}^{(r)}(x)-\left(6xr+r^2+1\right)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x).$$
(2.4)

Then, we substitute equation (2.4) in equation (2.3)

$$b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) - (6x + 2r - 1)b_n^{(r)}(x) = b_n^{(r)}(x) - (6xr + r^2 + 1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x)$$

which is completed the proof of this theorem.

The characteristic equation of sequences $\{b_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ and $\{c_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ in (2.1) and (2.2) is $\lambda^2 - (6x+2r)\lambda + (6xr+r^2+1) = 0$. Let be λ_1 and λ_2 the roots of this equation. Then, Binet formulas of sequences $\{b_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ and $\{c_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ can be expressed as

$$b_n^{(r)}(x) = \frac{\lambda_1^n - \lambda_2^n}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2},$$
(2.5)

and

$$c_n^{(r)}(x) = \frac{\lambda_1^n + \lambda_2^n}{2},$$
(2.6)

where $\lambda_{1,2} = 3x + r \pm \sqrt{9x^2 - 1}$.

Now, we give the sums of iterated binomial transforms for the balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials.

Theorem 2.3. Sums of sequences $\{b_n^{(r)}(x)\}\$ and $\{c_n^{(r)}(x)\}\$ are $i)\sum_{i=0}^{n-1}b_i^{(r)}(x) = \frac{(6xr+r^2+1)b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x)-b_n^{(r)}(x)+1}{2-6x-2r+6xr+r^2}$ $ii)\sum_{i=0}^{n-1}c_i^{(r)}(x) = \frac{(6xr+r^2+1)c_{n-1}^{(r)}(x)-c_n^{(r)}(x)-3x-r+1}{2-6x-2r+6xr+r^2}.$

Proof. We omit the balancing case since the proof be quite similar. By considering equation (2.6), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i^{(r)}(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{\lambda_1^i + \lambda_2^i}{2} \right).$$

Then we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i^{(r)}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\lambda_1^n - 1}{\lambda_1 - 1} + \frac{\lambda_2^n - 1}{\lambda_2 - 1} \right].$$

Afterward, by taking account equations $\lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2 = 6xr + r^2 + 1$ and $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 6x + 2r$, we conclude

 $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i^{(r)}(x) = \frac{\left(6xr + r^2 + 1\right)c_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) - c_n^{(r)}(x) - 3x - r + 1}{2 - 6x - 2r + 6xr + r^2}.$

Theorem 2.4. The generating functions of the iterated binomial transforms for $\{B_n(x)\}$ and $\{C_n(x)\}$

are

$$i)\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x)t^i = \frac{t}{1 - (6x + 2r)t + (6xr + r^2 + 1)t^2},$$

$$ii)\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} c_i^{(r)}(x)t^i = \frac{1 - 3xt - rt}{1 - (6x + 2r)t + (6xr + r^2 + 1)t^2}.$$

Proof. *i*) Assume that $b(x,r,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x) t^i$ is the generating function of the iterated binomial transform for $\{B_n(x)\}$. From Theorem 2.2, we obtain

$$b(x,r,t) = b_0^{(r)}(x) + b_1^{(r)}(x)t + \sum_{i=2}^{\infty} \left((6x+2r)b_{i-1}^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)b_{i-2}^{(r)}(x) \right)t^i$$

$$= b_0^{(r)}(x) + b_1^{(r)}(x)t + (6x+2r)t\sum_{i=2}^{\infty} b_{i-1}^{(r)}(x)t^{i-1} - (6xr+r^2+1)t^2\sum_{i=2}^{\infty} b_{i-2}^{(r)}(x)t^{i-2}$$

$$= b_0^{(r)}(x) + b_1^{(r)}(x)t + (6x+2r)t\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x)t^i - (6xr+r^2+1)t^2\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x)t^i$$

$$= b_0^{(r)}(x) + b_1^{(r)}(x)t + (6x+2r)t\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x)t^i - (6x+2r)tb_0^{(r)}(x) - (6xr+r^2+1)t^2\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x)t^i$$

$$= t + (6x+2r)tb(x,r,t) - (6xr+r^2+1)t^2b(x,r,t)$$

Now rearrangement the equation implies that

$$b(x,r,t) = \frac{t}{1 - (6x + 2r)t + (6xr + r^2 + 1)t^2},$$

which equal to the $\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i^{(r)}(x) t^i$ in theorem. Hence the result.

ii) The proof of generating function of the iterated binomial transform for $\{C_n(x)\}$ can see by taking account proof of *i*).

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

Using the Binet formulas, we give the Catalan formulas of these transforms, as the next proposition shows.

Proposition 2.5. For integers k, n with k < n, we have

$$i) b_{n-k}^{(r)}(x) b_{n+k}^{(r)}(x) - (b_n^{(r)}(x))^2 = -(6xr + r^2 + 1)^{n-k} (b_k^{(r)}(x))^2,$$

$$ii) c_{n-k}^{(r)}(x) c_{n+k}^{(r)}(x) - (c_n^{(r)}(x))^2 = (6xr + r^2 + 1)^{n-k} (9x^2 - 1) (b_k^{(r)}(x))^2.$$

If we replace k = 1 in Proposition 2.5; we give the Cassini formulas of these transforms.

Corollary 2.6. For integers *n*, we have

$$i) b_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) b_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) - (b_n^{(r)}(x))^2 = -(6xr + r^2 + 1)^{n-1},$$

$$ii) c_{n-1}^{(r)}(x) c_{n+1}^{(r)}(x) - (c_n^{(r)}(x))^2 = (6xr + r^2 + 1)^{n-1} (9x^2 - 1).$$

Conclusion

In this paper, we define the iterated binomial transforms for balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials and present some properties of these transforms. By the results in Sections 2 of this paper, we have a great opportunity to compare and obtain some new properties over these transforms. Thus, we extend some recent result in the literature. By taking into account these transforms and its properties, it also can be obtained properties of the iterated binomial transforms of balancing and Lucas-balancing numbers. That is,

- ▶ If we replace x=1 in $b_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the iterated binomial transforms for balancing numbers.
- ➤ If we replace x = 1 in $c_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the iterated binomial transforms for Lucas-balancing numbers.
- ➤ If we replace x = k in $b_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the iterated binomial transforms for k-balancing numbers.

- ▶ If we replace x = k in $c_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the iterated binomial transforms for Lucas k-balancing numbers.
- ▶ If we replace r = 1 in $b_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the binomial transforms for balancing polynomials.
- ▶ If we replace r=1 in $c_n^{(r)}(x)$; we obtain the binomial transforms for Lucas-balancing polynomials.

References

[BeheraPanda] A. Behera, G.K. Panda, On the square roots of triangular numbers, *The Fibonacci Quarterly*, 37 (2), (1999), 98-105.

[BhadouriaJhalaSingh] P. Bhadouria, D. Jhala, B. Singh, Binomial Transforms of the *k* -Lucas Sequences and its Properties, *Journal of Mathematics and Computer Science*, 8, (2014), 81-92.

[Boyadzhiev] K. N. Boyadzhiev, Notes on the Binomial Transform, World Scientific, Singapore, 2018.

[Chen] K.W. Chen, Identities from the binomial transform, *Journal of Number Theory*, 124, (2007), 142-150.

[FalconPlaza] S. Falcon, A. Plaza, Binomial transforms of *k*-Fibonacci sequence, *International Journal* of Nonlinear Sciences and Numerical Simulation, 10(11-12), (2009), 1527-1538.

[Falcon] S. Falcon, Iterated Binomial Transforms of the *k*-Fibonacci Sequence, *British Journal of Mathematics & Computer Science*, 4(22), (2014), 3135-3145.

[Frontczak a] R. Frontczak, Identities for generalized balancing numbers, *Notes on Number Theory and Discrete Mathematics*, 25(2), (2019), 169-180.

[Frontczak b] R. Frontczak, On balancing polynomials, *Applied Mathematical Sciences*, 13(2), (2019), 57-66.

[Frontczak c] R. Frontczak, Sums of balancing and Lucas-balancing numbers with binomial coefficients, *International Journal of Mathematical Analysis*, 12, (2018), 585-594.

[MandalGhosalZizka] J. K. Mandal, S. K. Ghosal and J. Zizka, A Fragile Watermarking Based On Binomial Transform In Color Images, *Computer Science and Information Technology*, (2013), 281-288.

[Ozkoc] A. Ozkoc, Tridiagonal Matrices via *k*-Balancing Number, *British Journal of Mathematics and Computer Science*, 10(4), (2015), 1-11.

[Panda] G.K. Panda, Some fascinating properties of balancing numbers, *Proceeding of the Eleventh International Conference on Fibonacci Numbers and Their Application*, Congr. Numer. 194, (2009), 185-189.

[PatelIrmakRay] B. K. Patel, N. Irmak and P. K. Ray, Incomplete Balancing and Lucas-Balancing Numbers, *Mathematical Reports*, 20(70), (2018), 59-72.

[Prodinger] H. Prodinger, Some information about the binomial transform, *The Fibonacci Quarterly*, 32(5), (1994), 412-415.

[Ray a] P.K. Ray, Balancing polynomials and their derivatives, *Ukrainian Mathematical Journal*, 69(4), (2017), 646-663.

[Ray b] P. K. Ray, On the properties of k-balancing numbers, Ain Shams Engineering Journal, 9, (2018),

395-402.

[Yilmaz] N. Yilmaz, Binomial transforms of the balancing and Lucas-balancing polynomials, *Contributions to Discrete Mathematics*, 15(3), (2020).

[YilmazTaskara] N. Yilmaz, N. Taskara, Iterated binomial transform of the *k* -Lucas sequence, *J*. *Computational Analysis and Applications*, 22(5), (2017).

Lacunary Statistical Convergence of Sequences in Neutrosophic Normed Spaces

Ömer Kişi¹, Erhan Güler²

^{1,2}Faculty of Science, Departmant of Mathematics, Bartin University, Turkey E-mail(s): okisi@bartin.edu.tr, eguler@bartin.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, we examine lacunary statistical convergence in neutrosophic normed space. We give the lacunary statistically Cauchy sequence in neutrosophic normed space and present the lacunary statistically completeness in connection with a neutrosophic normed space.

Keywords: Lacunary statistical convergence, neutrosophic normed space.

1. Introduction

Fuzzy Sets (FSs) put forward by Zadeh [28] has influenced deeply all the scientific fields since the publication of the paper. It is seen that this concept, which is very important for real-life situations, had not enough solution to some problems in time. New quests for such problems have been coming up. Atanassov [1] examined Intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFSs). Neutrosophic set (NS) is a new version of the idea of the classical set which is originated by Smarandache [24]. The first world publication related to the concept of neutrosophy was published in 1998 and involved in the literature [22]. Examples of other generalizations are FS [28] interval-valued FS [26], IFS [1], interval-valued IFS [2], the sets dialetheist, paradoxist, paraconsistent and tautological [23], Pythagorean fuzzy sets [27].

Using the concepts Probabilistic metric space and fuzzy, fuzzy metric space (FMS) is introduced in [14]. Kaleva and Seikkala [9] have defined the FMS as a distance between two points to be a non-negative fuzzy number. In [7] some basic properties of FMS studied and the Baire Category Theorem for FMS proved. Further, some properties such as separability, countability are given and Uniform Limit Theorem is proved in [8]. Afterward, FMS has used in the applied sciences such as fixed point theory, image and signal processing, medical imaging, decision-making et al. After defined of the intuitionistic fuzzy set (IFS), it was used in all areas where FS theory was studied. Park [21] defined IF metric space (IFMS), which is a generalization of FMSs. Park used George and Veeramani's [7] thought of applying t-norm and t-conorm to FMS meanwhile defining IFMS and studying its basic features.

Bera and Mahapatra examined the neutrosophic soft linear spaces (NSLSs) [3]. Later, neutrosophic soft normed linear spaces (NSNLS) has been given by Bera and Mahapatra [4]. In [4], neutrosophic norm, Cauchy sequence in NSNLS, convexity of NSNLS, metric in NSNLS were defined. In future studies on this subject, it is also possible to study with the idea of "Probabilistic metric space" using neutrosophic probability [25]. Kirişci and Şimşek [31] originated the neutrosophic normed space and the statistical convergence in neutrosophic normed space.

Lacunary statistical convergence was given by Fridy and Orhan [29]. Çakan and Altay [30] presented multidimensional analogues of the results presented by Fridy and Orhan [29]. Mursaleen and Mohiuddien [18] studied lacunary statistical convergence in intuitionistic fuzzy normed space.

Triangular norms (t-norms) (TN) were initiated by Menger [16]. In the problem of computing the distance between two elements in space, Menger offered using probability distributions instead of using numbers for distance. TNs are used to generalize with the probability distribution of triangle inequality in metric space conditions. Triangular conorms (t-conorms) (TC) know as dual operations of TNs. TNs and TCs are very significant for fuzzy operations (intersections and unions).

Definition 1.1. Give an operation \circ : $[0,1] \times [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$. If the operation \circ is satisfying the following conditions, then it is called that the operation \circ is continuous TN: For s, t, u, v $\in [0,1]$,

- (I) $s \circ 1 = s$,
- $(II) \qquad If \ s \leq u \ and \ t \leq v, \ then \ s \circ t \leq u \circ v,$
- (III) is continuous,
- (IV) is commutative and associative.

Definition 1.2. Give an operation $*: [0,1] \times [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$. If the operation * is satisfying the following conditions, then it is called that the operation * is continuous TC:

- (I) s * 0 = s,
- $(II) \qquad If \ s \leq u \ and \ t \leq v, \ then \ s \ast t \leq u \ast v,$
- (III) * is continuous,
- (IV) * is commutative and associative.

Definition 1.3. Take F be an arbitrary set, $\mathcal{N} = \{\langle u, \mathcal{G}(u), \mathcal{B}(u), \mathcal{Y}(u) \rangle : u \in F\}$ be a NS such that $\mathcal{N} = F \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to [0,1]$. Let \circ and \ast show the continuous TN and continuous TC, respectively. If the following conditions are hold, then the four tuple $V = (F, \mathcal{N}, \circ, \ast)$ is called NNS: For all $u, v \in F$ and $\lambda, \mu > 0$ and for each $\sigma \neq 0$,

- $(I) \qquad 0 \leq \mathcal{G}(u,\lambda) \leq 1, 0 \leq \mathcal{B}(u,\lambda) \leq 1, 0 \leq \mathcal{Y}(u,\lambda) \leq 1 \; \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+,$
- (II) $\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) + \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) + \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) \leq 3$, for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+$
- (III) $\mathcal{G}(u, \lambda) = 1 \text{ for } \lambda > 0 \text{ iff } u = 0$

(IV)
$$\mathcal{G}(\sigma u, \lambda) = \mathcal{G}\left(u, \frac{\lambda}{|\sigma|}\right),$$

- $(V) \qquad \mathcal{G}(u,\mu) \circ \mathcal{G}(v,\lambda) \leq \mathcal{G}(u+v,\lambda+\mu),$
- (VI) G(u, .) is continuous non-decreasing function,

(VII)
$$\lim_{\lambda\to\infty} \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{u},\lambda) = 1$$
,

(VIII) $\mathcal{B}(u, \lambda) = 0$ for $\lambda > 0$ iff u = 0,

(IX)
$$\mathcal{B}(\sigma u, \lambda) = \mathcal{B}\left(u, \frac{\lambda}{|\sigma|}\right)$$

- $(X) \qquad \mathcal{B}(u,\mu) * \mathcal{B}(v,\lambda) \leq \mathcal{B}(u+v,\lambda+\mu),$
- (XI) $\mathcal{B}(u, .)$ is continuous non-decreasing function,

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\text{XII}) & \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 0, \\ (\text{XIII}) & \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 0 \text{ for } \lambda > 0 \text{ iff } \mathbf{u} = 0, \\ (\text{XIV}) & \mathcal{Y}(\sigma \mathbf{u}, \lambda) = \mathcal{Y}\left(\mathbf{u}, \frac{\lambda}{|\sigma|}\right), \\ (\text{XV}) & \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, \mu) * \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{v}, \lambda) \leq \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v}, \lambda + \mu), \\ (\text{XVI}) & \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, .) \text{ is continuous non-decreasing function,} \\ (\text{XVII}) & \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 0, \\ (\text{XVIII}) & \text{ If } \lambda \leq 0, \text{ then } \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 0, \\ \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 1 \text{ and } \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{u}, \lambda) = 1. \end{array}$

Definition 1.4. Let V be a NNS, then the sequence (a_n) in V, $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and $\lambda > 0$. Then, the sequence (a_n) is converges to a iff there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathcal{G}(a_n - a, \lambda) > 1 - \varepsilon$, $\mathcal{B}(a_n - a, \lambda) < \varepsilon$ and $\mathcal{Y}(a_n - a, \lambda) < \varepsilon$. That is $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{G}(a_n - a, \lambda) = 1$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{B}(a_n - a, \lambda) = 0$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{Y}(a_n - a, \lambda) = 0$ as $\lambda > 0$. In that case, the sequence (a_n) is called a convergent sequence in V. The convergent in NNS is denoted by $\mathcal{N} - \lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = a$.

2. Main Results

Definition 2.1. Take a NNS V. A sequence (x_m) is said to be lacunary statistically convergent to $\xi \in F$ with regards to NN (LSC-NN), if for each $\lambda > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$,

 $\delta_{\theta}(\{m \in \mathbb{N}: \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \le 1 - \epsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \ge \epsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \ge \epsilon\}) = 0,$ or equivalently

 $\delta_{\theta}(\{m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \epsilon \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \epsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \epsilon\}) = 1.$ Therefore, we get

$$\lim_{r\to\infty}\frac{1}{h_r}|\{m\in I_r: \mathcal{G}(x_m-\xi,\lambda)\leq 1-\varepsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m-\xi,\lambda)\geq \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_m-\xi,\lambda)\geq \varepsilon\}|=0.$$

Therefore, we write $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim_{m \to \infty} \xi(s_{\theta(\mathcal{N})})$. The set of LSC-NN will be denoted by $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})}$. **Example 2.1.** Let $(F, \|.\|)$ be a NS. For all $a, b \in [0,1]$, take the TN $a \circ b = ab$ and the TC $a * b = min\{a + b, 1\}$. For all $x \in F$ and every $\lambda > 0$, we consider $\mathcal{G}(x, \lambda) = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \|x\|}$, $\mathcal{B}(x, \lambda) = \frac{\|x\|}{\lambda + \|x\|}$ and $\mathcal{Y}(x, \lambda) = \frac{\|x\|}{\lambda}$. Then V is a NNS. We define a sequence (x_m) by

$$\mathbf{x}_{m} = \begin{cases} m, & \text{for } \mathbf{k}_{r} - \left[\sqrt{h_{r}} \right] + 1 \le m \le \mathbf{k}_{r}, (r \in \mathbb{N}) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Consider

$$A_{r}(\varepsilon,\lambda) \coloneqq \{m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G}(x_{m},\lambda) \leq 1 - \varepsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_{m},\lambda) \geq \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_{m},\lambda) \geq \varepsilon \}$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and for any $\lambda > 0$. Then, we get

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey

This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen

$$\begin{split} A_{r}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &= \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \|x_{m}\|} \leq 1 - \varepsilon \text{ or } \frac{\|x_{m}\|}{\lambda + \|x_{m}\|} \geq \varepsilon, \frac{\|x_{m}\|}{\lambda} \geq \varepsilon \right\} \\ &= \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon \quad \|x_{m}\| \geq \frac{\lambda\varepsilon}{1 - \varepsilon} \text{ or } \|x_{m}\| \geq \lambda\varepsilon \right\} \\ &= \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon x_{m} = m \right\} = \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon k_{r} - \left[\sqrt{h_{r}} \right] + 1 \leq m \leq k_{r}, (r \in \mathbb{N}) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Then we get,

$$\frac{1}{h_r}|A_r(\epsilon,\lambda)| = \frac{1}{h_r}\left|\left\{m \in \mathbb{N}: k_r - \left[\!\left[\sqrt{h_r}\right]\!\right] + 1 \le m \le k_r, (r \in \mathbb{N})\right\}\right| \le \frac{\left[\!\left[\sqrt{h_r}\right]\!\right]}{h_r}$$

which implies that $\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_r} |A_r(\varepsilon, \lambda)| = 0$. Hence

$$\delta_{\theta} (A_{r}(\varepsilon, \lambda)) = \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{\left[\sqrt{h_{r}} \right]}{h_{r}} = 0$$

implies that $x_m \to 0(S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})})$. On the other hand $x_m \not\to 0(\mathcal{N})$, since

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}},\lambda) = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \|\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}}\|} = \begin{cases} \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \mathrm{m}}, \text{ for } \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}} - \left[\!\left[\sqrt{\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{r}}}\right]\!\right] + 1 \le \mathrm{m} \le \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}}, (\mathrm{r} \in \mathbb{N}) \\ 1, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases} \le 1$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}},\lambda) &= \frac{\|\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}}\|}{\lambda + \|\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}}\|} = \begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{m}}{\lambda + \mathrm{m}}, & \text{for } \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}} - \left[\!\left[\sqrt{\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{r}}}\right]\!\right] + 1 \leq \mathrm{m} \leq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}}, & (\mathrm{r} \in \mathbb{N}) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases} \\ \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}},\lambda) &= \frac{\|\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}}\|}{\lambda} = \begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{m}}{\lambda}, & \text{for } \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}} - \left[\!\left[\sqrt{\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{r}}}\right]\!\right] + 1 \leq \mathrm{m} \leq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{r}}, & (\mathrm{r} \in \mathbb{N}) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases} \geq 0. \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

Lemma 2.1. Take a NNS V. The following statements are equivalent, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\lambda > 0$:

$$\begin{array}{ll} 1. & S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim x_{m} = \xi, \\ 2. & \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{G}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) \leq 1 - \varepsilon \}| = \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{B}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) \geq \varepsilon \}| = \\ \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{Y}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) \geq \varepsilon \}| = 0, \\ 3. & \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{G}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \varepsilon \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon \}| = \\ 1, \\ 4. & \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{G}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \varepsilon \}| = \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{B}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon \}| = \\ \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_{r}} |\{m \in I_{r} \colon \mathcal{Y}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon \}| = 1, \\ 5. & S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim \mathcal{G}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) = 1, \text{ and } S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim \mathcal{B}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) = 0, \\ S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim \mathcal{Y}(x_{m} - \xi, \lambda) = 0. \end{array}$$

Theorem 2.1. Take a NNS V. If (x_m) is LSC-NN, then $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim x_m = \xi$ is unique.

Proof. Assume that $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim_m \xi_1$ and $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim_m \xi_2$ for $\xi_1 \neq \xi_2$. Choose $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, for a given $\mu > 0$, $(1 - \varepsilon) \circ (1 - \varepsilon) > 1 - \mu$ and $\varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu$. For any $\lambda > 0$, let's write the following sets:

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{G}_{1}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{G}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{1}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \leq 1 - \varepsilon \right\}, \\ \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{B}_{1}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{B}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{1}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\}, \\ \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{Y}_{1}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{Y}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{1}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{G}_{2}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{G}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{2}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \leq 1 - \varepsilon \right\}, \\ \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{B}_{2}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{B}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{2}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\}, \\ \mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{Y}_{2}}(\varepsilon,\lambda) &\coloneqq \left\{ \mathsf{m} \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{Y}\left(\mathsf{x}_{\mathsf{m}} - \xi_{2}, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \geq \varepsilon \right\}. \end{split}$$

We know that $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim_{m \to \infty} \xi_1$. Then, using the Lemma 2.1, for all $\lambda > 0$,

$$\delta_{\theta} \left(\mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{G}_{1}}(\mu, \lambda) \right) = \delta_{\theta} \left(\mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{B}_{1}}(\mu, \lambda) \right) = \delta_{\theta} \left(\mathsf{K}_{\mathcal{Y}_{1}}(\mu, \lambda) \right) = 0.$$

Further, since we get $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim_{m \to \infty} \xi_2$, using the Lemma 2.1, for all $\lambda > 0$,

$$\delta_{\theta}\left(K_{\mathcal{G}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\right) = \delta_{\theta}\left(K_{\mathcal{B}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\right) = \delta_{\theta}\left(K_{\mathcal{Y}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\right) = 0.$$

Let

 $K_{\mathcal{N}}((\mu,\lambda)) := \{K_{\mathcal{G}_{1}}(\mu,\lambda) \cup K_{\mathcal{G}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\} \cap \{K_{\mathcal{B}_{1}}(\mu,\lambda) \cup K_{\mathcal{B}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\} \cap \{K_{\mathcal{Y}_{1}}(\mu,\lambda) \cup K_{\mathcal{Y}_{2}}(\mu,\lambda)\}.$

Then, observe that $\delta_{\theta}(K_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)) = 0$ which implies $\delta_{\theta}(\mathbb{N} \setminus K_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)) = 1$. Then, we have three possible situations, when take $k \in \mathbb{N}/K_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)$:

1.
$$\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N} \setminus (\mathbf{K}_{\mathcal{G}_1}(\mu, \lambda) \cup \mathbf{K}_{\mathcal{G}_2}(\mu, \lambda)),$$

2. $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N} \setminus (\mathbf{K}_{\mathcal{B}_1}(\mu, \lambda) \cup \mathbf{K}_{\mathcal{B}_2}(\mu, \lambda)),$

3.
$$\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N} \setminus (\mathbf{K}_{y_1}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \cup \mathbf{K}_{y_2}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\lambda})).$$

Firstly, consider (1). Then we have

$$\mathcal{G}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) \ge \mathcal{G}\left(\mathbf{x}_m - \xi_1, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \circ \mathcal{G}\left(\mathbf{x}_m - \xi_2, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) > (1 - \varepsilon) \circ (1 - \varepsilon) > 1 - \mu$$

and so $\mathcal{G}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) > 1 - \mu$. For all $\lambda > 0$, we obtain $\mathcal{G}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) = 1$, where $\mu > 0$ is arbitrary. That is, $\xi_1 = \xi_2$ is obtained.

For the situation (2), if we take $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus (K_{\mathcal{B}_1}(\mu, \lambda) \cup K_{\mathcal{B}_2}(\mu, \lambda))$, then we can write

$$\mathcal{B}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) \leq \mathcal{B}\left(x_m - \xi_1, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) * \mathcal{B}\left(x_m - \xi_2, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) < \varepsilon * \varepsilon.$$

Using $\varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu$, we can see that $\mathcal{B}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) < \mu$. For all $\lambda > 0$, we have $\mathcal{B}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) = 0$, where $\mu > 0$ is arbitrary. Thus $\xi_1 = \xi_2$. Again, for the situation (3), if we take $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus (K_{y_1}(\mu, \lambda) \cup K_{y_2}(\mu, \lambda))$, then we write

$$\mathcal{Y}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) \leq \mathcal{Y}\left(x_m - \xi_1, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) * \mathcal{Y}\left(x_m - \xi_1, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) < \varepsilon * \varepsilon.$$

Using $\varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu$, we can see that $\mathcal{Y}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) < \mu$. For all $\lambda > 0$, we get $\mathcal{Y}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, \lambda) = 0$, where $\mu > 0$ is arbitrary. Thus $\xi_1 = \xi_2$. This step completes the proof.

Theorem 2.2. If $\mathcal{N} - \lim_{m \to \infty} \xi$ for NNS V, then $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim_{m \to \infty} \xi$.

Proof. If $\mathcal{N} - \lim x_m = \xi$, then, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\lambda > 0$, there exist a number $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \varepsilon$ and $\mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon$, $\mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon$ for all $k \ge N$. Therefore, the set

$$\in \mathbb{N}: \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \lambda) \leq 1 - \varepsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \lambda) \geq \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \lambda) \geq \varepsilon \}$$

has finite number of terms. Since every finite subset of N has density zero and so

 $\delta_{\theta}(\{m \in \mathbb{N}: \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \le 1 - \varepsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \ge \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \ge \varepsilon\}) = 0$ that is $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim x_m = \xi$.

Theorem 2.3. Let V be an NNS. $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim_{m \to \infty} x_{j_n} = \xi$ iff there exists a increasing index sequence $J = \{j_1, j_2, ...\} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, while $\delta_{\theta}(J) = 1, \mathcal{N} - \lim_{n \to \infty} x_{j_n} = \xi$.

Proof. Assume that $S_{\theta(N)} - \lim x_m = \xi$. For any $\lambda > 0$ and $\mu = 1, 2, ...,$

$$P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda) = \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{m} - \xi,\lambda) > 1 - \frac{1}{\mu} \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{x}_{m} - \xi,\lambda) < \frac{1}{\mu}, \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{m} - \xi,\lambda) < \frac{1}{\mu} \right\}$$

and

$$R_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda) = \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \le 1 - \frac{1}{\mu} \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \ge \frac{1}{\mu}, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \ge \frac{1}{\mu} \right\}.$$

Then, $\delta_{\theta}(R_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda)) = 0$, since $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim x_{m} = \xi$. Further, for $\lambda > 0$ and $\mu = 1, 2, ..., P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda) \supseteq P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu+1,\lambda)$ and so,

$$\delta_{\theta} (P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)) = 1. \tag{1}$$

for $\lambda>0$ and $\mu=$ 1,2,

{m

Now, we will demonstrate that for $m \in P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)$, $\mathcal{N} - \lim x_m = \xi$. Suppose that $\mathcal{N} - \lim x_m \neq \xi$, for some $m \in P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)$. Then, there is $\rho > 0$ and a positive integer N such that $\mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \leq 1 - \rho$ or $\mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \geq \rho$, $\mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) \geq \rho$, for all $m \geq N$. Let $\mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \rho$ or $\mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \rho$, $\mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \rho$, for all m < N. Hence

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{h_r} |\{m \in I_r : \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \rho \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \rho, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \rho\}| = 0.$$

Since $\rho = \frac{1}{\mu}$, we obtain $\delta_{\theta}(P_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu, \lambda)) = 0$, which contradicts (1). That's why, $\mathcal{N} - \lim x_m = \xi$.

Suppose that there exists a subset $J = \{j_1, j_2, ...\} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, such that $\delta_{\theta}(J) = 1$, If $\mathcal{N} - \lim_{n \to \infty} x_{j_n} = \xi$, i.e. $\mathbb{N} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \mu$ and $\mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \mu$, $\mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi, \lambda) < \mu$ for every $\mu > 0$ and $\lambda > 0$. In that case,

$$\begin{split} R_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda) &:= \{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{G}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \leq 1 - \mu \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \geq \mu, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - \xi,\lambda) \geq \mu \} \\ &\subseteq \mathbb{N} - \{ j_{N+1}, j_{N+2}, \dots \}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have $\delta_{\theta}(R_{\mathcal{N}}(\mu,\lambda)) \leq 1 - 1 = 0$. Hence, $S_{\theta(\mathcal{N})} - \lim x_m = \xi$.

Definition 2.2. A sequence (x_m) is called to be lacunary statistically Cauchy with regards to NN $\mathcal{N}(\text{LSCa-NN})$ in NNS V, if there exists N = N(ε), for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\label{eq:KC} \begin{split} \mathsf{KC}_{\epsilon} \coloneqq \{ m \in \mathbb{N} \colon \mathcal{G}(x_m - x_N, \lambda) \leq 1 - \epsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - x_N, \lambda) \geq \epsilon, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - x_N, \lambda) \geq \epsilon \} \\ \text{has lacunary density zero. That is, } \delta_{\theta}(\mathsf{KC}_{\epsilon}) = 0. \end{split}$$

Theorem 2.4. If a sequence (x_m) is LSC-NN in NNS V, then it is LSCa-NN.

Proof. Let (x_m) be LSC-NN. We get $(1 - \varepsilon) \circ (1 - \varepsilon) > 1 - \mu$ and $\varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu$, for a given $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $\mu > 0$. Then, we get

$$\delta_{\theta} \left(A(\varepsilon, \lambda) \right) = \delta_{\theta} \left(\left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) \le 1 - \varepsilon \text{ or } \mathcal{B} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) \ge \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right) \quad (2)$$

and so,

$$\delta_{\theta} \left(A^{c}(\varepsilon, \lambda) \right) = \delta_{\theta} \left(\left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) > 1 - \varepsilon \text{ and } \mathcal{B} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) < \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y} \left(x_{m} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2} \right) < \varepsilon \right\} \right) = 1,$$

for $\lambda > 0$. Let $p \in A^{c}(\varepsilon, \lambda)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{p}} - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \varepsilon \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{p}} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon, \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{p}} - \xi, \lambda) < \varepsilon$$

Let

 $B(\varepsilon,\lambda) = \{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{G}(x_m - x_p,\lambda) \le 1 - \mu \text{ or } \mathcal{B}(x_m - x_p,\lambda) \ge \mu, \mathcal{Y}(x_m - x_p,\lambda) \ge \mu \}.$ We claim that $B(\varepsilon,\lambda) \subset A(\varepsilon,\lambda)$. Let $q \in B(\varepsilon,\lambda) \setminus A(\varepsilon,\lambda)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \mathbf{x}_{p}, \lambda) \leq 1 - \mu \text{ and } \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \xi, \lambda) > 1 - \mu,$$

in particular $\mathcal{G}\left(x_p - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) > 1 - \epsilon$. Then,

$$1 - \mu \ge \mathcal{G}(x_q - x_p, \lambda) \ge \mathcal{G}\left(x_q - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \circ \mathcal{G}\left(x_p - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) > (1 - \varepsilon) \circ (1 - \varepsilon) > 1 - \mu,$$

which is not possible. Moreover,

 $\mathcal{B}(x_q - x_p, \lambda) \ge \mu$ and $\mathcal{B}(x_q - \xi, \lambda) < \mu$,

in particular $\mathcal{B}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{p}}-\boldsymbol{\xi},\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)<\varepsilon.$ Then,

$$\mu < \mathcal{B}(x_q - x_p, \lambda) \le \mathcal{B}\left(x_q - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) * \mathcal{B}\left(x_p - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) < \varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu,$$

which is not possible. Similarly,

$$\mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \mathbf{x}_{p}, \lambda) \ge \mu \text{ and } \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \xi, \lambda) < \mu$$

in particular $\mathcal{Y}\left(x_{p}-\xi,\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)<\epsilon$. Then,

$$\mu < \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \mathbf{x}_{p}, \lambda) < \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{q} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}) * \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{p} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}) < \varepsilon * \varepsilon < \mu,$$

which is not possible. In that case, $B(\varepsilon, \lambda) \subset A(\varepsilon, \lambda)$. Then, by (2), $\delta_{\theta}(A(\varepsilon, \lambda)) = 0$ and (x_m) is LSCa-NN.

Theorem 2.5. The NNS V is called lacunary statistically (LSC-NN) complete, if every LSCa-NN is LSC-NN.

Proof. Let (x_m) be LSCa-NN but not LSC-NN. Choose $\mu > 0$. We get $(1 - \epsilon) \circ (1 - \epsilon) > 1 - \mu$ and $\epsilon * \epsilon < \mu$, for a given $\epsilon > 0$, choose $\mu > 0$. Since (x_m) is not LSC-NN,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}}, \lambda) &\geq \mathcal{G}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \circ \mathcal{G}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) > (1 - \varepsilon) \circ (1 - \varepsilon) > 1 - \mu, \\ \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}}, \lambda) &< \mathcal{B}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \ast \mathcal{B}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) < \varepsilon \ast \varepsilon < \mu, \\ \mathcal{Y}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}}, \lambda) &< \mathcal{Y}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{m}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) \ast \mathcal{Y}\left(\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{N}} - \xi, \frac{\lambda}{2}\right) < \varepsilon \ast \varepsilon < \mu. \end{split}$$

For,

 $T(\varepsilon, \lambda) = \left\{ m \in \mathbb{N} : \mathcal{B}_{x_m - x_N}(\varepsilon) \le 1 - \mu \right\},\$

 $\delta_{\theta}(T^{c}(\varepsilon,\lambda)) = 0$ and $\delta_{\theta}(T(\varepsilon,\lambda)) = 1$, which is contradiction, since (x_{m}) was LSCa-NN. So that (x_{m}) must be LSC-NN. Hence every NNS is (LSC-NN) complete.

From Theorems 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, we have:

Theorem 2.6. Let V be an NNS. Then, for any sequence $(x_m) \in F$, following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. (x_m) is LSC-N.
- 2. (x_m) is LSCa-NN.
- 3. NNS V is (LSC-NN) complete.

4. There exists an increasing index sequence $J = (j_n)$ of natural numbers such that $\delta_{\theta}(J) = 1$ and sequence (x_{j_n}) is LSCa-NN.

4. Conclusion

In this study, lacunary statistical convergence in neutrosophic normed space is introduced and some fundamental properties are examined. Further, lacunary statistical Cauchy sequence and lacunary statistically completeness for neutrosophic norm are defined.

5. References

[1] Atanassov, K. 1986. Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 20: 87-96.

[2] Atanassov, K., and G. Gargov. 1989. Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Information Computing 31: 343-349.

[3] Bera, T., and N.K. Mahapatra. 2017. Neutrosophic soft linear spaces. Fuzzy Information and Engineering 9: 299-324.

[4] Bera, T., and N.K. Mahapatra. 2018. Neutrosophic soft normed linear spaces. Neutrosophic Sets and Systems. 23: 52-71.

[5] Debnath, P. 2012. Lacunary ideal convergence in intuitionistic fuzzy normed linear spaces. Computers & Mathematics with Applications 63: 708–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa.2011.11.034.

[6] Freedman, A.R., and J.J. Sember. 1981. Densities and summability. Pacific Journal of Mathematics 95: 293-305.

[7] George, A., and P. Veeramani. 1994. On some results in fuzzy metric spaces. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 64: 395-399.

[8] George, A., and P. Veeramani. 1997. On some results of analysis for fuzzy metric spaces. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 90: 365-368.

[9] Kaleva, O., and S. Seikkala. 1984. On fuzzy metric spaces. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 12: 215-229.

[10] Karakaya, V., N. Simsek, M. Erturk, and F. Gursoy. 2012. λ – Statistical convergence of sequences of functions in intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Journal of Function Spaces and Applications. 2012:Article ID 926193. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/926193.

[11] Karakuş, S., K. Demirci, and O. Duman. 2008. Statistical convergence on intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Chaos Solutions & Fractals 35: 763-769.

[12] Kirişci, M. 2019. Fibonacci statistical convergence on intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems 36: 5597–5604. https://doi.org/10.3233/JIFS-181455.

[13] Kirişci, M., and N. Şimşek. Neutrosophic metric spaces, arXiv:1907.00798.

[14] Kramosil, I., and J. Michalek. 1975. Fuzzy metric and statistical metric spaces. Kybernetika 11: 336-344.

[15] Kumar, V., and M. Mursaleen. 2011. On (μ, λ) –statistical convergence of double sequences on intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Filomat. 25: 109-120.

[16] Menger, K. 1942. Statistical metrics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 28: 535-537.

[17] Mohiuddine, S.A., and Q.M. Danish Lohani. 2009. On generalized statistical convergence in intuitionistic fuzzy normed space. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 42: 1731-1737.

[18] Mursaleen, M., and S.A. Mohiuddine. 2009. On lacunary statistical convergence with respect to the intuitionistic fuzzy normed space. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 233: 142–149.

[19] Mursaleen, M., and S.A. Mohiuddine. 2009. Statistical convergence of double sequences in intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Chaos Solitons Fractals 41: 2414-2421.

[20] Mursaleen, M., S.A. Mohiuddine, and O.H.H. Edely. 2010. On the ideal convergence of double sequences in intuitionistic fuzzy normed spaces. Computers & Mathematics with Applications 59: 603-611.

[21] Park, J.H. 2004. Intuitionistic fuzzy metric spaces. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 22: 1039-1046.

[22] Smarandache, F. 1998. Neutrosophy. Neutrosophic Probability, Set, and Logic, ProQuest Information & Learning. Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA.

[23] Smarandache, F. 2003. A unifying field in logics: Neutrosophic logic. Neutrosophy, Neutrosophic Set, Neutrosophic Probability and Statistics. Phoenix: Xiquan.

[24] Smarandache, F. 2005. Neutrosophic set, a generalisation of the intuitionistic fuzzy sets. International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics 24: 287-297.

[25] Smarandache, F. 2013. Introduction to neutrosophic measure, neutrosophic integral, and neutrosophic probability, sitech & educational. Columbus: Craiova.

[26] Turksen, I. 1996. Interval valued fuzzy sets based on normal forms. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 20: 191-210.

[27] Yager, R.R. 2013. Pythagorean fuzzy subsets. In Proceedings of joint IFSA World Congress and NAFIPS annual meeting, Edmonton, Canada.

[28] Zadeh, L.A. 1965. Fuzzy sets. Information Computing 8: 338-353.

[29] Fridy, J.A., Orhan, C., 1993. Lacunary statistical convergence, Pacific J. Math., 160(1): 43-51.

[30] Çakan, C., Altay, B. 2006. Statistically boundedness and statistical core of double sequences, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 317: 690-697.

[31] Kirişci, M., and N. Şimşek. 2020. Neutrosophic normed spaces and statistical convergence. The Journal of Analysis https://doi.org/10.1007/s41478-020-00234-0.

Laplace Transform Collocation Method for Pseudo-hyperbolic Partial Differential Equation

Mahmut Modanli¹,

¹Mathematics, Harran University, Turkey, E-mail(s): mmodanli@harran.edu.tr,

Abstract

In this paper, Laplace transform collocation method is applied to Pseudo-hyperbolic partial differential equation. First, definition of this method is given for approximation solution. Second, the exact solution is obtained for this equation. Error analysis is calculated by comparing the exact and approximate solution for this problem. This method was found to be convenient and effective on a sample problem.

1. Introduction

Partial differential equations (PDEs) with both constant and variable coefficients arise in many brances of science engineering, example, eletromagnetic, and for thermodynamics, hydrodynamics, elektrodynamics, elasticity, fluid dynamics, wave propogation, and materials science [1-3]. Due to its tremendous scope and applications in several disciplines, a considerable attention has been given to exact and numerical solutions of the partial differential equations. Finite difference methods in particular became very popular and a large number of schemes has been published very recently. Consequently it becomes important to understand how they compare in terms of accuracy, stability and computing times In [4-5], FDTM and MFDTM to solve third-order dispersive partial differential equations were used. Laplace transform collocation method was used for telegraph partial differential equation [7].

In this paper, we consider initial boundary value problem for pseudo-hyperbolic partial differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial t^2} = \lambda \frac{\partial^3 u(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} + f(t,x), & 0 < x < L, & 0 < t < T, \\ u(0,x) = r_1(x), & u_t(0,x) = r_2(x), & 0 \le x \le L, \\ u(t,0) = u(t,L) = 0, & 0 \le t \le T, & \lambda > 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where λ is known constant coefficient, f, r_1 , r_2 are known continuous functions in their respective domains, and the function u is unknown. For this problem, basic definitions are given. For the exact solution of this problem are investigated by Homotopy Analysis Method(HAM). A new form of trial function from the basic equation is obtained with the use of Laplace transform technique for telegraph partial equation [7].

2. Laplace Transform Collocation Method (LTCM)

To put emphasis on the essential mathematical details of the Laplace transform collocation method, we consider (1.1) pseudo-hyperbolic partial differential equation similiar the method [7].

Taking the Laplace transform of (1.1), we have

$$s^{2}u(s,x) - su(0,x) - u_{t}(0,x) = \lambda \mathcal{L}\left\{\frac{\partial^{3}u(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^{2}}\right\} + \mathcal{L}\left\{\frac{\partial^{2}u(t,x)}{\partial x^{2}}\right\} + \mathcal{L}\left\{f(t,x)\right\}$$
(2.1)

After simple algebraic simplification, we get

$$U(s,x) = \frac{1}{s^2} \{ sr_1(x) + r_2(x) \} + \lambda \mathcal{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial^3 u(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} \right\} + \mathcal{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} \right\} + \mathcal{L} \{ f(t,x) \}$$
(2.2)

The function u(t, x) and its derivative in the formula (2.2) are there after replaced with a trial function of the form

$$u = u_0 + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n \, u_n \tag{2.3}$$

where c_n are constants to be determined which satisfy the given conditions in the formula (1.1). Thus, we have the following equation

$$\begin{cases} U(s,x) = \frac{1}{s^2} \left\{ s \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) \\ + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) + \lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial t \partial x^2} \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) \\ + \mathcal{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \left(u_0(t,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(t,x) \right) \right\} + \mathcal{L} \{ f(t,x) \} \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

Taking the inverse Laplace transform of (2.4), we obtain

$$u_{new}(t,x) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s^2} \left\{ s \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) + \lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial t \partial x^2} \left(u_0(0,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(0,x) \right) + \mathcal{L} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \left(u_0(t,x) + \sum_{n=1}^k c_n u_n(t,x) \right) \right\} + \mathcal{L} \left\{ f(t,x) \} \right\} \right].$$
(2.5)

Substituting (2.5) into (1.1), we have the following new collocating at points $x = x_i$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u_{new}(t,x)}{\partial t^2} - \lambda \frac{\partial^3 u_{new}(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2 u_{new}(t,x)}{\partial x^2} = f(t,x),$$
(2.6)
where

 $x_j = \frac{L-0}{n+1}j, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$

Now, we define the residual function

$$R_n(t,x) = L[u_n(t,x)] - f(t,x),$$
(2.7)

where $u_n(t, x)$ denotes the approximate solution, u(t, x) denotes the exact solution and

$$L[u_n(t,x)] = \frac{\partial^3 u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^3} + \lambda \frac{\partial^2 u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^2} + \frac{\partial^\alpha u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^\alpha} - \frac{\partial^2 u_n(t,x)}{\partial x^2}.$$
(2.8)

It then follows that

$$\frac{\partial^3 u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^3} + \lambda \frac{\partial^2 u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^2} + \frac{\partial^\alpha u_n(t,x)}{\partial t^\alpha} - \frac{\partial^2 u_n(t,x)}{\partial x^2} = f + R_n$$
(2.9)

subject to given initial conditions in the equation (1.1).

Now since *L* is a linear operator, we get fort he error function $e_n(t, x) = u(t, x) - u_n(t, x)$

$$\frac{\partial^2 e_n(t,x)}{\partial t^2} - \lambda \frac{\partial^3 e_n(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2 e_n(t,x)}{\partial x^2} = -R_n(t,x)$$
(2.10)

with the homogeneous conditions

$$e_n(0,x) = (e_{n)_t}(0,x) = (e_{n)_{tt}}(0,x) = 0,$$
(2.11)

$$e_n(t,0) = e_n(t,L) = 0.$$
(2.12)

By solving (2.10) subject to the homogeneous conditons (2.11) and (2.12), we get the error function $e_n(t, x)$. This allows us to compute $u(t, x) = u_n(t, x) + e_n(t, x)$ even for problems without known exact solutions.

3. Numerical Examples

In this section, we implement the new method on some examples to test its efficiency and applicability.

Example 1. We consider the case in which $\lambda = 2$, and (1.1) becomes

$$\frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial t^2} - 2\frac{\partial^3 u(t,x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} = (t^3 + 3t^2 + 6t)sinx, \tag{3.1}$$

with the following initial conditions

$$\begin{cases} u(0,x) = u_t(0,x) = 0, 0 \le x \le \pi, \\ u(t,0) = u(t,1) = 0, \ 0 \le t \le 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Using the The exact solution is given by $u(t, x) = t^3 sinx$. We assume that the trial function of the following form:

$$u(t,x) = c_1 x^2 (x-1) t^3 + c_2 x (x-1)^2 t^3.$$
(3.3)

Taking the Laplace transform of (3.1) and using the formula (2.4), (3.2), (3.3), we obtain

$$U(s,x) = \frac{1}{s^2} \left[\mathcal{L}\left\{ \frac{\partial^2 u(t,x)}{\partial x^2} \right\} + 2\mathcal{L}\left\{ \frac{\partial^3 u(t,x)}{\partial t \, \partial x^2} \right\} + \mathcal{L}\left\{ (t^3 + 3t^2 + 6t)sinx \right\} \right]$$

Then,

$$\left\{U(s,x) = \left(\frac{6}{s^6} + \frac{6}{s^5}\right)\left\{c_1(6x-2) + c_2(6x-4)\right\} + \left\{\frac{6}{s^6} + \frac{6}{s^5} + \frac{6}{s^4}\right\}sinx.$$
(3.4)

Taking the inverse Laplace transform of (3.4), we get the following new trial solution:

$$\begin{cases} u_{new}(t,x) = \left[\left(\frac{t^5}{20} + \frac{t^4}{4} \right) (c_1 + c_2) \right] x \\ -2 \left(\frac{t^5}{20} + \frac{t^4}{4} \right) (c_1 + 2c_2) + \left[\left(t^3 + \frac{t^4}{4} + \frac{t^5}{20} \right) sinx \right]. \end{cases}$$
Substituting (3.5) into (3.1), we have the following residual formula:
$$(3.5)$$

 $R(t, x, c_1, c_2) = \frac{\partial^2 u(t, x)}{\partial t^2} - 2\frac{\partial^3 u(t, x)}{\partial t \partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2 u(t, x)}{\partial x^2} - (t^3 + 3t^2 + 6t)sinx$

$$= (A(c_1 + c_2)x + B(c_1 + 2c_2)) + Ksinx$$
(3.6)

where

$$A = 6t^{3} + 3t^{2},$$

$$B = -2t^{3} - 6t^{2},$$

$$K = \frac{t^{5}}{20} + 3\frac{t^{4}}{4} + 3t^{3} + 6t^{2}.$$

Collocating (3.6) at equally spaced points $x = \frac{\pi}{10}$, $x = \frac{\pi}{100}$ and t = 0.01 and equating to zero, we obtain $c_1 = 3.850930392770440$ and $c_2 = -1.925747071251289$.

Comprasion between the approximate with the method LTCM and the exact approximate for Example is given in Table.

x =	t	Maxerror(u(exact)-
		u(LTCM))
pi/10	0.1	0.0058
pi/100	0.01	6.0753×10^{-6}
pi/1000	0.001	6.0530×10^{-9}
0.0001	0.0001	6.0502×10^{-12}

Error	Analy	vsis	Tabl	e
LIIUI	nnar	y 515	1 aur	L

4. Conclusion

In this work, we adopted a combination of Laplace transform collocation method to develop a numerical method for pseudo-hyperbolic partial differential equation. Numerical example was considered to demonstrate the accuracy and efficiency of the method. The exact solution is compared with the approximate solution. Obtained results are given in result Table.

5. References

[1] H. Lamb, Hydrodynamics, Cambridge Mathematical Library, Combridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 6th edition, 1993.

[2] J. A. Hudson, The Excitation and Propagation of Elastic Waves, Camridge Monographs on Mechanics and Applied Mathematic, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1980.

[3] A. Taflove, Computational Electrodynamics: The Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method, Artech House, Boston, Mass, USA, 1995.

[4] Hilfer, R., Applications of fractional calculus in physics, Singapore: Word Scientific Company; 2000.

[5] Wazwaz AM. An analytic study on the third-order dispersive partial differential equation. Appl Math Comput 2003;142:511-520.

[6] Yu. P. Apakov, On the solution of a boundary-value problem for a third-order equation with multiple characteristics, Ukrainian Mathematical Journal, 64 (1) (2012), 1-12.

[7] Adewumi, A. O., Akindeinde, S. O., Aderogba, A. A., & Ogundare, B. S. (2017). Laplace Transform Collocation Method for Solving Hyperbolic Telegraph Equation. *International Journal of Engineering Mathematics*, 2017.
Local Existence of Solutions for a p-Laplacian Type Equation with Delay Term and Logarithmic Nonlinearity

Erhan Pişkin¹, Hazal Yüksekkaya²

¹Mathematics, Dicle University, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Dicle University, Turkey, E-mail(s): episkin@dicle.edu.tr, hazally.kaya@gmail.com

Abstract

In this work, we deal with a p-Laplacian type equation with delay term and logarithmic nonlinearity. Under suitable conditions, we consider the local existence of solutions by using the Faedo-Galerkin method.

Keywords: Delay, Local existence, Logarithmic nonlinearity.

1. Introduction

We consider the following problem

$$\begin{cases} |u_t|^{\rho} u_{tt} - \Delta u - \Delta_p u + \int_0^t g(t-s)\Delta u(s)ds \\ -\Delta u_{tt} + \mu_1 u_t(x,t) + \mu_2 u_t(x,t-\tau) \\ = kulnu, & in \,\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ u_t(x,t-\tau) = f_0(x,t-\tau), & x \in \Omega, \ t \in (0,\tau), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x), u_t(x,0) = u_1(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,t) = 0, & x \in \partial\Omega, \ t \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 1$, with a smooth boundary $\partial\Omega$, $\rho > 0$, k, μ_1 are positive constants, μ_2 is a real number, $\tau > 0$ represents the time delay, the term $\Delta_p u = div(|\nabla u|^{p-2}\nabla u)$ is called p-Laplacian, the kernel g is satisfying some conditions to be specified later. u_{0,u_1, f_0} are the initial data in a suitable function space.

Some other authors studied the related problems (see [Wu 2013, Messaoudi, Guesmia and Al-Gharabli 2020]).

2. Preliminaries

In this part, we give some material needed for the proof of our results. We use the standard Lebesgue space $L^p(\Omega)$ and Sobolev space $H_0^1(\Omega)$ with their usual scalar products and norms $\|\cdot\|_p$ and $\|\cdot\|_{H_0^1(\Omega)}$.

Lemma 1. [Adams and Fournier 2003, Pişkin 2017] Let $2 \le q \le \frac{2n}{n-2}$, the inequality

$$\|u\|_{q} \le c_{s} \|\nabla u\|_{2} \text{ for } u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega), \tag{2}$$

holds with some positive constants c_s .

Lemma 2. [Kirane and Belkacem 2011] For any $g \in C^1(R)$ and $\varphi \in H^1(0, T)$, we have

$$-2\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\Omega} g(t-s)\phi\phi_{t}dxds = \frac{d}{dt} \Big((go\phi)(t) - \int_{0}^{t} g(s)ds \|\phi\|^{2} \Big) + g(t)\|\phi\|^{2} - (g'o\phi)(t), \quad (3)$$

where

$$(go\phi)(t) = \int_0^t g(t-s) \int_{\Omega} |\phi(s) - \phi(t)|^2 dx ds.$$

Lemma 3. [Gross 1975, Chen, Luo and Liu 2015] (Logarithmic Sobolev Inequality) Let *u* be any function in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and a > 0 be any number. Then,

$$\int_{\Omega} u^{2} \ln |u| dx \leq \frac{1}{2} ||u||^{2} \ln ||u||^{2} + \frac{a^{2}}{2\pi} ||\nabla u||^{2} - (1 + \ln a) ||u||^{2}.$$
(4)

Lemma 4. [Cazenave and Haraux 1980] (Logarithmic Gronwall Inequality) Let $C > 0, \gamma \in L^1(0, T; R^+)$ and suppose that the function $w: [0, T] \to [1, \infty)$ satisfies

$$w(t) \le \left(1 + \int_0^t \gamma(s)w(s)\ln(w(s))ds\right), \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$
(5)

Then,

$$w(t) \le Cexp(C) \int_0^t \gamma(s) ds, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(6)

Lemma 5. [Messaoudi, Guesmia and Al-Gharabli 2020] Let $\epsilon_0 \in (0,1)$. Then, there exists $d_{\epsilon_0} > 0$ such that

$$s|lns| \le s^2 + d_{\epsilon_0} s^{1-\epsilon_0}, \forall s > 0.$$

$$\tag{7}$$

Now we introduce, similar to the work of Nicaise and Pignotti (2006), the new variable

$$z(x, \kappa, t) = u_t(x, t - \tau \kappa) \ x \in \Omega, \kappa(0, 1),$$

thus, we have

$$\tau z_t(x,\kappa,t) + z_\kappa(x,\kappa,t) = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \times (0,1) \times (0,\infty).$$

Then, problem (1) takes the form

$$\begin{cases} |u_{t}|^{\rho}u_{tt} - \Delta u - \Delta_{p}u + \int_{0}^{t}g(t-s)\Delta u(s)ds \\ -\Delta u_{tt} + \mu_{1}u_{t}(x,t) + \mu_{2}z(x,1,t) \\ = kulnu, & in \Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ \tau z_{t}(x,\kappa,t) + z_{\kappa}(x,\kappa,t) = 0, & x \in \Omega, \ \kappa \in (0,1), t > 0, \\ z(x,0,t) = u_{t}(x,t), & x \in \Omega, \ \kappa \in \Omega, \ t > 0, \\ z(x,\kappa,0) = f_{0}(x,-\tau\kappa), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,0) = u_{0}(x), u_{t}(x,0) = u_{1}(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,t) = 0, & x \in \partial\Omega, t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$
(8)

Next, we define the energy associated to the solution of system (8) by

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{\rho+2} \|u_t\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \frac{1}{p} \|\nabla u\|_p^p + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \int_0^t g(s) ds\right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (go\nabla u)(t) + \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u_t\|^2 - \frac{k}{2} \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \ln |u| dx + \frac{k}{4} \|u\|^2 + \frac{\zeta}{2} \int_{\Omega} \int_0^1 z^2(x, \kappa, t) d\kappa dx.$$
(9)

We can get the following Lemma similar to Pişkin and Yüksekkaya (2020).

Lemma 6. E(t) is a nonincreasing function, such that

$$E'(t) \leq -c_1 \|u_t\|^2 - c_2 \int_{\Omega} z^2(x, 1, s) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} (g' \circ \nabla u)(t) - \frac{1}{2} g(t) \|\nabla u\|^2$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} (g' \circ \nabla u)(t) - \frac{1}{2} g(t) \|\nabla u\|^2 \leq 0, \ \forall t \geq 0.$$
(10)

3. Local existence

In this part, we state and prove the local existence result for problem (8) by using the Faedo-Galerkin method.

Theorem 7. Suppose that $\mu_2 < \mu_1$. Suppose further that $u_0, u_1 \in H_0^1$ and $f_0 \in L^2(\Omega \times (0,1))$. Then there exists a unique solution (u, z) of (8) satisfying

$$u, u_t \in C([0,T); H_0^1(\Omega)),$$

$$z \in C([0,T); L^2(\Omega \times (0,1)))$$

for T > 0.

Proof. Let us consider

$$u^{k}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} c^{jk}(t) w^{j}(x),$$

and

$$z^{k}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} r^{jk}(t)\varphi^{j}(x,\kappa),$$

where (u^k, z^k) are the solutions of the following approximate problem corresponding to (8)

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \left| u_t^k \right|^{\rho} u_{tt}^k w^j dx + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u^k \nabla w^j dx - \int_0^t g(t-\tau) \int_{\Omega} \nabla u^k(\tau) \nabla w^j dx d\tau + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{tt}^k \nabla w^j dx + \\ \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u^k \right|^{p-2} \left| \nabla u^k \right| \nabla w^j dx + \int_{\Omega} \left(\mu_1 u_t^k(x,t) + \mu_2 z^k(x,1,t) \right) w^j dx = k \int_{\Omega} \left(u^k ln |u^k| \right) w^j dx. \end{split}$$
(11)
$$u^k(0) = u_0^k \to u_0 \text{ in } H_0^1(\Omega), \ u_t^k(0) = u_1^k \to u_1 \text{ in } H_0^1(\Omega), \end{split}$$
(12)

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\tau z_t^k(x,\kappa,t) + z_\kappa^k(x,\kappa,t) \right) \varphi^j dx = 0,$$
(13)

$$z^{k}(0) = z_{0}^{k} \to f_{0} \text{ in } L^{2}(\Omega \times (0,1)), \tag{14}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., k.

First estimate: Since the sequences u_0^k , u_1^k and z_0^k converge, such that

$$E^{k}(t) - E^{k}(0) \leq -c_{1} \int_{0}^{t} \left\| u_{t}^{k} \right\|^{2} ds - c_{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |z^{k}(x, 1, s)|^{2} dx ds.$$
(15)

From the estimates for each term in (15), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| u_{t}^{k} \right\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u^{k}\|^{2} + \|u^{k}\|^{2} + \|\nabla u_{t}^{k}\|^{2} + \|\nabla u^{k}\|_{p}^{p} \\ + (go\nabla u^{k})(t) + \int_{\Omega} \int_{0}^{1} |z^{k}(x,\kappa,t)| \, d\kappa dx \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \left\| u_{t}^{k} \right\|^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} |z^{k}(x, 1, s)|^{2} dx ds$$

$$\leq c(1 + \|u^{k}\|^{2} ln \|u^{k}\|^{2}).$$
(16)

From (16) and applying the Logarithmic Gronwall inequality, we have the first estimate:

$$\left\| u_t^k \right\|_{\rho+2}^{\rho+2} + \|\nabla u^k\|^2 + \|u^k\|^2 + \|\nabla u_t^k\|^2 + \|\nabla u^k\|_p^p + (go\nabla u^k)(t) + \int_{\Omega} \int_0^1 |z^k(x,\kappa,t)| \, d\kappa dx + \int_0^t \left\| u_t^k \right\|^2 \, ds + \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} |z^k(x,1,s)|^2 \, dx ds \le c \left(1 + Ce^{CT} ln(Ce^{CT}) \right) = A_1.$$

$$(17)$$

Second estimate: Replacing w^j by $-\Delta w^j$ in (11), multiplying by c_t^{jk} and summing over j from 1 to k, it follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_t^k|^{\rho} u_{tt}^k (-\Delta u_t^k) dx + \int_{\Omega} \Delta u^k \Delta u_t^k dx + \langle \Delta_p u^k, \Delta u_t^k \rangle - \int_0^t g(t-s) \int_{\Omega} \Delta u^k \Delta u_t^k dx ds + \int_{\Omega} \Delta u_t^k \Delta u_t^k dx - \mu_1 \int_{\Omega} \Delta u_t^k \cdot u_t^k dx - \mu_2 \int_{\Omega} \Delta u_t^k \cdot z^k(x, 1, t) dx = -k \int_{\Omega} \Delta u_t^k u^k ln |u^k| dx.$$
(18)

From the estimates for each term in (18) and by integrating over (0,t), then using Gronwall lemma, we obtain

 $\begin{aligned} \|\Delta u^{k}\|^{2} + (go\Delta u^{k}) + \int_{0}^{1} \tau \|\nabla z^{k}(x,\kappa,t)\|^{2} d\rho + \|\nabla u^{k}_{t}\|^{2} + \|\nabla \Delta u^{k}\|^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\Delta u^{k}_{t}\|^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla u^{k}_{tt}\|^{2} ds \leq \\ M_{2}. \end{aligned}$ (19)

4. Conclusion

In recent years, there has been published much work concerning the wave equation with constant delay or time-varying delay. However, to the best of our knowledge, there was no local existence result with a p-laplacian type equation with delay term and logarithmic nonlinearity. We have been proved that local existence of solutions by using Faedo-Galerkin method for problem (1) under the suitable conditions.

5. References

- 1. R. A. Adams, J. J. F. Fournier, Sobolev Spaces, Academic Press, 2003.
- 2. M.M. Al-Gharabli, A. Guesmia and S.A. Messaoudi, Well-posedness and asymptotic stability results for a viscoelastic plate equation with a logarithmic nonlinearity., Appl. Anal., 99, 50-74 (2020).
- 3. T. Cazenave and A. Haraux, Equations d'evolution avec non-linearite logarithmique, Ann. Fac. Sci. Touluse Math., 2(1), 21-51, (1980).
- 4. H. Chen, P. Luo and G.W. Liu, Global solution and blow-up of a semilinear heat equation with logarithmic non linearity, J. Math Anal. Appl., 422, 84-98, (2015).
- 5. L. Gross, Logarithmic Sobolev inequalities, Amer. J. Math., 97(4), 1061-1083, (1975).

- 6. M. Kirane and S. H. Belkacem, Existence and asymptotic stability of a viscoelastic wave equation with a delay, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 62, 1065-1082, (2011).
- 7. S. Nicaise and C. Pignotti, Stability and instability results of the wave equation with a delay term in the boundary or internal feedbacks, SIAM J. Control Optim., 45(5), 1561-1585, (2006).
- 8. E. Pişkin, Sobolev Spaces, Seçkin Publishing, 2017. (in Turkish).
- 9. E. Pişkin and H. Yüksekkaya, Local existence and blow up of solutions for a logarithmic nonlinear viscoelastic wave equation with delay, Comput. Methods Differ. Equ., 1-14, (2020), doi :10.22034/cmde.2020.35546.1608.
- 10. S T. Wu, Asymptotic behavior for a viscoelastic wave equation with a delay term, Taiwanese J. Math., 17, 765-784, (2013).

Mathematical description and approximation for the water wave equation

Sh. Hajrulla¹, L. Bezati², Merita Bajrami², F. Hoxha³

Epoka University, Albania¹ University of Vlora, Albania^{2,} University of Tetova, North Macedonia^{2,} University of Tirana, Albania³

E-mail(s): sha jrulla@epoka.edu.al, leonard.bezati@univlora.edu.al, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, fatmir.hoxha@fshn.edu.al, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita.azemi@unite.edu.mk, merita

Abstract

We deal with approximation made to justify the linearization of the equations. Because of the oscillatory motions that they generate, surface gravity waves can be easonably well described by a linear analysis. This is mathematically justified by restricting the attention to small wave amplitudes and weak accompanying motions. In shallow water, the damping of water waves is highly influenced by the bottom friction.

Describing water wave breaking we linearize the problem through the linear parameter. It is interesting to mention that the mathematical model can be derived by alternative proofs. We linearize the wave breaking equation and come to conclusions through the wave absorption experiment on the coast. For instance, it can be derived by imposing the dynamic equilibrium of a string that is vibrating in a two-dimensional plane. Mathematical description approximation leads us to get conclusions.

Key words: linearization, water waves equation, wave breaking, mathematical description, approximation

1. Introduction

We deal with a mathematical model to describe the behavior of shallow water waves, like for instance amplitude and period, depending on the given external forcing and the geometry of the sea bottom, which dictate the initial and boundary conditions. The usual method of obtaining the linear model is to linearize the discrete form of the nonlinear model. This is known as the discrete method and the discrete linear model formed in this way is called the tangent linear model (TLM) (see [5], [6])

From fluid mechanics (see [7]), we know that the motion of fluid is completely described by the velocity vector that generally varies in space and time. We take the motion of fluid in the form

$$\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) = \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t})\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{x}} + \mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t})\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{z}}$$
(1)

where z is the vertical upward-positive coordinate, z = 0 is the mean sea level, x is the longitudinal coordinate along the direction of propagation of the wave, i_x and i_w are unit vectors along the x and z axis, respectively, and finally u and w are the x and z components of the velocity vector, respectively.

Studding the numerical methods in atmospheric and oceanic modeling ([10]), we introduce and study it for small amplitude waves at shallow water wave, one can assume that the values at the sea level of velocity and the potential are given by the corresponding values at the mean sea level obtaining:

$$w(x, 0, t) = \frac{\partial \eta(x, t)}{\partial t} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \Phi(x, 0, t)}{\partial t} + g\eta(x, t) = 0 \tag{2}$$

The resulting equations set <u>the basis</u> for the "**linear wave theory**". Essentially, the linear formulation has been obtained by introducing approximations finalized to give the surface boundary condition at z = 0 instead of $z = \eta$. In fact, η is still unknown and therefore in the original formulation the boundary condition depends on the solution, therefore making the equation non-linear (see [11]).

The linear formulation is particularly interesting because it allows application of the superposition principle, which states that the configuration induced by two waves can be obtained by summing the individual configuration originated by each wave taken alone. This would not be possible with the original non-linear formulation, as the configuration induced by each wave would depend on η and therefore on the combined effect of the two waves.

2. Main theory

2.1 Linearization

Mathematically we study small wave amplitudes and weak accompanying motions. In the momentum equations (2), all terms linear in the velocity and pressure are then assumed to be small, while the nonlinear terms are assumed to be even smaller and therefore negligible.

Under the assumption that the velocity, length and time scales, U, L and T, meet the following criterion:

$$U^2 / L \ll U / T$$
 or $U \ll L / T$ (3)

The ratio L/T, representing influence over a characteristic time of the phenomenon, provides a scale for the wave speed. Hence a corollary of the approximation made to justify the linearization of the equations is that we restrict our attention to wave motions in which the velocity of the fluid is much smaller than the speed of propagation of wave crests.

By assuming that water is incompressible, the continuity equation applies because of conservation of mass. If we refer to an elementary control volume, we can write

$$\frac{\partial u(x, z, t)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial w(x, z, t)}{\partial z} = 0$$
(4)

We now assume that the motion of the fluid (the flow) is irrational, it means that the cross gradient of the velocity or shear is zero. This assumption is more realistic for fluids. It follows that the velocity can be expressed in terms of the velocity potential Φ , namely

$$u = \frac{\partial \Phi(x, z, t)}{\partial x}$$
$$w = \frac{\partial \Phi(x, z, t)}{\partial Z}$$
(5)

By substituting eq. (5) in the continuity equation (4) one can obtain the Laplace equation, which is a secondorder partial differential equation.

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Phi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{x}^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \Phi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{z}^2} = 0$$
(6)

2.2 Solutions of the linear wave equations

We are interested in solutions that correspond to a regular wave, namely, waves with constant amplitude, period, and direction. Therefore, we assume that the solution for the potential has the form

$$\Phi(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z},\mathbf{t}) = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{z})\sin(\omega \mathbf{t} - \mathbf{k}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{\varphi}_0) \tag{7}$$

where k is the wavenumber, ω is frequency and φ_0 is the phase of the wave and A is an amplitude which depends on z. Dependence of amplitude on the vertical coordinate is a necessary condition given that the motion of fluid particles depends on their position along the vertical direction. For instance, in the proximity of the sea bottom the vertical component of the velocity is null and therefore the potential has a different gradient with respect to other locations.

The solution given by (5) is called "*traveling wave*". The wave number is related to the wavelength λ by the relationship $k = 2\pi / \lambda$. By plugging this solution into eq. (3), (4), we obtain

$$\eta(\mathbf{x},t) = \mathbf{a} \sin(\omega t - \mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}) \tag{8}$$
$$\omega^2 = \mathbf{g}\mathbf{k} \tanh(\mathbf{h}\mathbf{k}) \tag{9}$$

Eq. (7) is called the "*dispersion relation*", which states that *frequency* and *wavenumber* $k = 2\pi / \lambda$ have related each other. Eq. (7), (8) and (9) are <u>the core</u> of the **linear wave theory**. It is a reasonable starting point for shallow water waves, which are greatly influenced by viscosity, surface tension or turbulence.

2.3 The turbulent mixing under shallow water waves breaking

Mathematically, we choose to take the density of the water equal to ρ_0 everywhere and that of the air as zero.

The energy carried by surface waves, however, must eventually be dissipated somewhere and will affect the water contents there. For example, wave energy can be converted into turbulent mixing under wave breaking. After linearization, the equations are:

This set of equations (10) forms a system for the flow variables u(x, y, z, t), v(x, y, z, t), w(x, y, z, t) and p(x, y, z, t). An accessory variable is the surface elevation α (x, y, t) (Figure 1).



Figure 1: surface wave as the surface elevation

Along the bottom, which we take as horizontal (z = 0), the boundary condition is that there is no vertical velocity (w = 0). After linearization ($|\alpha| \ll H$), the boundary conditions become:

$$z = H : w = \frac{\partial a}{\partial t} \text{ and } p = p_a + \rho_0 g a$$

$$z = 0 : w = 0$$
(11)

3. Solution of the problem

The linear equations permit us to seek a periodic solution of sinusoidal shape. Taking λ as the wavelength (the distance from one crest to the next crest at a given time) and T as the period (the interval of time during which a crest travels one wavelength), we introduce for convenience the *wavenumber* $k = 2\pi / \lambda$ and the angular frequency $\omega = 2\pi / T$.

Then, we seek a wave solution of the form:

$$u(x,z,t) = U(z) \cos(kx - \omega t)$$

$$u(x,z,t) = 0$$

$$w(x,z,t) = W(z) \sin(kx - \omega t)$$

$$p(x,z,t) = p_a + \rho_0 g(H-z) + P(z) \cos(kx - \omega t)$$

$$a(x,t) = A \cos(kx - \omega t).$$
(12)

With this notation, the vertical displacement of the surface varies between -A in a trough to +A at a crest. The choice of w in quadrature with the other variables is to ensure a match of trigonometric functions after substitution in the equations.

An interesting aspect of wave propagation is that the energy carried by waves does not always travel in the same direction or at the same speed as crests and troughs. In a wave of a single wavelength, the energy density is uniformly distributed because of the pattern repetition every wavelength. But, in a wave consisting of multiple components, different wavelengths dominate at different locations, and the energy distribution is non uniform.

In a multi-component wave, called a wave group, the trigonometric function $\sin(kx - \omega t)$ is no longer applicable and needs to be generalized to $\sin \alpha$, where the phase $\alpha(x, t)$ is a more complicated function of space and time. Nonetheless, one can define a local wavenumber k and a local frequency ω as

$$k = \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial x}, \quad \omega = -\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial t}, \quad (13)$$

to which correspond a local wavelength $\lambda = 2\pi/k$ and a local period $T = 2\pi/\omega$. The uniqueness of the function α in Equations (13) implies a relation between wavenumber and frequency:

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \omega}{\partial x} = 0. \tag{14}$$

Since the dispersion relation prescribes a relation between frequency and wave number, it follows that $\omega = \omega(k)$ and $\partial \omega / \partial x = (d\omega/dk) (\partial k / \partial x)$.

4. THE SHALLOW-WATER CONTINUITY EQUATION

4.1 The linearization of the shallow water equations

The figure below shows the interface between two fluids of different, constant densities. The dashed line shows the position of the interface if the fluids are undisturbed (see [1]). The solid line shows the interface displaced. The depth of the lower fluid is H.



Figure : the interface between two fluids of different, constant densities

If we assume that the upper fluid is very deep compared to the displacement of the interface (see [8]), then we can assume that the pressure at the level of the undisturbed interface (the dashed line in the figure) remains constant at a value of p_0 . If the lower fluid is in hydrostatic balance, then the pressure at any point

in the lower fluid is proportional to the weight of the fluid above it. Therefore, at the point shown in the diagram the pressure will be

$$p = p_0 + \rho_1 g (H - z) + \rho_1 g \eta - \rho_2 g \eta$$

and the horizontal pressure gradient force will be

$$-\frac{1}{\rho_1}\frac{\partial p}{\partial x} = -\left(\frac{\rho_1 - \rho_2}{\rho_1}\right)g\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial x}$$

The continuity equation in the lower fluid is

 $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial z} = 0 \tag{15}$

To linearize the shallow-water equations we use the following perturbation forms for the dependent variables

$$u = \overline{u} + u'$$

$$v = \overline{v} + v'$$

$$h = H(x, y) + \eta - z_0.$$
(16)

Note that H is the mean undisturbed height of the fluid surface, which can depend on x, and y. The term zo is the elevation of the bottom topography, and for a flat bottom would be zero.

We will assume a flat bottom ($z_0 = 0$), and assume that the base state is in geostrophic balance so that

$$\overline{u} = -\frac{g}{f} \frac{\partial H}{\partial y} \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{v} = \frac{g}{f} \frac{\partial H}{\partial x}, \tag{17}$$

Putting (16) into equation (15) and using the equations (17), we get

$$\frac{\partial u'}{\partial t} + \overline{u} \frac{\partial u'}{\partial x} + \overline{v} \frac{\partial u'}{\partial y} = -g' \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial x} + fv'$$

$$\frac{\partial v'}{\partial t} + \overline{u} \frac{\partial v'}{\partial x} + \overline{v} \frac{\partial v'}{\partial y} = -g' \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial y} - fu'$$

$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial t} + \overline{u} \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial x} \right) + \overline{v} \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial y} \right) + u' \frac{\partial H}{\partial x} + v' \frac{\partial H}{\partial y} = -H \left(\frac{\partial u'}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v'}{\partial y} \right).$$
(18)

Equations (18) are the linearized shallow-water equations.

The effect of linearization errors is another subject that we can study in another section in the next future using some base knowledge (see [9]).

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, we analyzed the linearize the shallow-water equations. We use the perturbation forms for the dependent variables.

The great advantage of our technique is the possibility to measure a two-dimensional field η (x, y, z) with good temporal resolution.

In this article we have observed the importance of the semi-continuous approach. This fact gives the possibility to avoid some of the problems that occur when linearizing complex schemes. For example, it has been shown how problems may arise in the direct linearization of interpolation with semi-Lagrange advection schemes or the direct linearization of iterative solution procedures.

We set out the continuous equations for the nonlinear model and show their linearization for use in the PFM. We discussed how we should measure the accuracy of the linear models. A weakness in applying present methods derives a new method designed to test such a model. The two linear models will be then compared numerically in another section.

We obtain, for the linearization of the momentum equation using the fact that products of perturbations are neglected to give the linear equations.

In conclusion, the linear equation can be solved by using the same direct solver as is used in the nonlinear model. An examination of the resulting time discretization for the tangent linear model shows that it is a second-order approximation to the continuous linear equations.

6. References

[1] Krogstad, H.E., Arntsen, Ø.A., Linear Wave Theory, Part A., Regular Waves, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway46:1037–1047, 2017.

[2] S. R. Massel. Harmonic generation by waves propagating over submerged step. Coastal Engineering, 7:357–380, 1983.

[3] C. C. Mei, M. Stiassnie, and D. K. P. Yue. Theory and applications of ocean surface waves. Part 1: Linear Aspects, volume 23. World Scientific, 2005.

[4] G. Michel, F. P´etr´elis, and S. Fauve. Acoustic measurements of surface wave damping by a meniscus. Phys. Rev. Lett., 116:174301, 2016.

[5] Variational data assimilation with a semi-Lagrangian semi implicit global shallow-water equation model and its adjoint. Mon. Weather Rev., 121, 1759–1769

[6] Linearizing iterative processes for four-dimensional data assimilation schemes. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc., 124, 1715–1742

[7] Nonlinear shallow fluid flow over an isolated ridge. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 21, 1–23

[8] Development of linear models for data assimilation in numerical weather prediction'. PhD thesis, Department of Mathematics, University of Reading, UK

[9] The effect of linearization errors on 4DVAR data assimilation. Mon. Weather Rev., 126, 1695–1706 [10] 'An overview of numerical methods for the next generation U.K. NWP and climate model'. Pp. 425–444 in Numerical methods in atmospheric and oceanic modelling, Eds. C. A. Lin, R. Laprise and H. Ritchie. Canadian Meteorological and Oceanographic Society, 112–150 Louis Pasteur, Ottawa, ON, K1N 6N5, Canada.

Miscellaneous Properties of the Gamma Distribution Polynomials

Ugur Duran¹, Mehmet Acikgoz²

¹Basic Sciences of Engineering, Iskenderun Technical University, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Gaziantep University, Turkey, E-mails: mtdrnugur@gmail.com, acikgoz@gantep.edu.tr

Abstract

The main aim of this paper is to investigate multifarious properties and relations for the gamma distribution. The approach to reach this purpose will be introducing a special polynomial including gamma distribution. Several formulas covering addition formula, derivative property, integral representation, and explicit formula are derived utilizing the series manipulation method. Furthermore, two correlations including Bernoulli and Euler polynomials for gamma distribution polynomials are provided by utilizing their generating functions.

Keywords: Special polynomials, gamma distribution, Cauchy product, generating function, Bernoulli polynomials, Euler polynomials.

1. Introduction

The gamma distribution is frequently used to model waiting times. For instance, in life testing, the waiting time until death is a random variable that is frequently modeled with a gamma distribution. Also, the importance of the gamma distribution is mainly due to its connections to the normal and exponential distributions (see [2-5,7,8]). In the literature, Kang et al. [4] considered special polynomials involving exponential distribution, which is related to life testing and then they derived diverse formulas and identities such as the symmetric property, recurrence formula, and summation formula. Jambunathan [3] provided certain significant properties of the gamma distribution to show certain useful applications to sampling problems. Khodabin et al. [5] introduced the generalized gamma distribution that is flexible in the statistical literature, which covers exponential, gamma, and Weibull distributions and also gave several important properties for this distribution. Mead et al. [7] defined modified generalized gamma distribution to investigate greater flexibility in modeling data from a practical viewpoint and they derived multifarious identities and properties of this distribution, including explicit expressions for the moments, quantiles, mode, moment generating function, mean deviation, mean residual lifetime and expression of the entropies. Rahman et al. [8] considered k-gamma and k-beta distributions and moments generating function for the mentioned distributions in terms of a new parameter k > 0 and developed a lot of properties of these distributions.

Before going to handle the gamma distribution, we need to mention the gamma function.

The gamma function, which is firstly considered by Leonard Euler, is an extension of the factorial

function to real (and complex) numbers. This function denoted by $\Gamma(r)$ is defined by the following improper integral for r > 0:

$$\Gamma(r) = \int_0^\infty x^{r-1} e^{-x} dx, \qquad (1.1)$$

which holds the following properties (cf. [2,3,5,7,8] and also see the references cited therein)

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{r-1} e^{-\omega x} dx = \frac{\Gamma(r)}{\omega^{r}} \quad \text{for } \omega > 0,$$
(1.2)

$$\Gamma(r+1) = r\Gamma(r), \tag{1.3}$$

$$\Gamma(n+1) = n!$$
 for $n = 1, 2, 3,$ (1.4)

Dividing both sides of (1.1) by $\Gamma(r)$, it becomes

$$1 = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\Gamma(r)} x^{r-1} e^{-x} dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} t^{r-1} e^{-\omega t} dt, \qquad (1.5)$$

where there is a change of variable $x = \omega t$. Thus, the probability density function of a gamma distribution (or called two-parameter family of continuous probability distributions) with parameters r > 0 and $\omega > 0$ denoted by $f(t:\omega,r)$, is defined as follows

$$f(t:\omega,r) = \begin{cases} \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} t^{r-1} e^{-\omega t} & \text{if } t > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } t \le 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

where X is a continuous random variable (see [2,3,5,7,8]). Some properties of the gamma distribution are stated below.

Proposition 1 Let $\omega > 0$ and r > 0. The gamma distribution possesses the following properties (cf. [2,3,5,7,8]):

$$(i) (Mean) E(X) = \frac{r}{\omega}$$
$$(ii) (Varience) V(X) = \frac{r}{\omega^2}$$
$$(iii) (Mode) M(X) = \frac{r-1}{\omega} \text{ for } r \ge 1$$
$$(iv) (Moments) E(X^n) = \frac{r}{\omega} \text{ for } n = 1, 2, \dots,$$

The following sections are planned as follows: the second section includes a definition of a special polynomial including gamma distribution which we call gamma distribution polynomials and provides various formulas and identities including addition formula, derivative property, integral representation, and explicit formula. The third section gives two relationships covering the Bernoulli and Euler polynomials for gamma distribution polynomials by using their generating functions. The last section of this paper examines the results attained in this paper.

2. Main Results

In this part, we define special polynomials for gamma distribution polynomials which we call gamma distribution polynomials. We then investigate and research several relations and identities for these polynomials.

Kang and Lee [4] defined special polynomials $\mathfrak{E}(x;\omega)$ including exponential distribution given by the following generating function

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{E}(x;\omega) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega}{e^{\omega t}} e^{tx}.$$
(2.1)

and investigated diverse properties covering recurrence formula, symmetric properties, and summation formula. When x = 0 in (2.1), we get

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{E}(0:\omega) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega}{e^{\omega t}},$$
(2.2)

which is the probability density function of exponential distribution (*cf.* [2,4]) in conjunction with the parameter $\omega > 0$.

Motivated by the above, we now give our main definition.

Definition 1 Let $\omega > 0$ and r > 0. We introduce a special polynomial $\mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r)$ covering gamma distribution by the following exponential generating function:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x:\omega,r)\frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)}\frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}}e^{tx},$$
(2.3)

which we call the gamma distribution polynomials.

Upon setting x = 0 in Definition 1, we obtain the following Taylor series expansion about t = 0:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(\omega, r) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} = f(t:\omega, r), \qquad (2.4)$$

where $\mathfrak{G}_n(0:\omega,r) := \mathfrak{G}_n(\omega,r)$ we call the gamma distribution numbers.

If we choose $\omega = \frac{1}{2}$ and $r = \frac{v}{2}$, we then get a new special polynomial for the χ^2 -distribution (or chisquared distribution) (*cf.* [2]), which we call χ^2 -distribution polynomials as follows:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Re_n \left(x : v \right) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{2^{-\frac{v}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{v}{2}\right)} \frac{t^{\frac{v}{2}-1}}{e^{\frac{t}{2}}} e^{tx}.$$
(2.5)

Taking x=0, the χ^2 -distribution polynomials $\Re_n(x:v)$ reduce to the corresponding numbers $\Re_n(0:v) := \Re_n(v)$, which is also new, given by

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Re_n(v) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{2^{-\frac{v}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{v}{2}\right)} \frac{t^{\frac{v}{2}-1}}{e^{\frac{t}{2}}},$$
(2.6)

which is the probability density function of chi-squared distribution with the parameter v > 0, (cf. [2]).

Remark 1 Substituting r = 1 in (2.3), the gamma distribution polynomials reduce to the exponential distribution polynomials $\mathfrak{E}(x:\omega)$ in (2.1), cf. [2,4].

We now investigate some properties of the gamma distribution polynomials $\mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r)$ and the gamma distribution numbers $\mathfrak{G}_n(\omega,r)$. We firstly give the following relation.

Theorem 1 The following correlation

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x:\omega,r) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} x^{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}(\omega,r)$$
(2.7)

holds for $\omega > 0$ and r > 0.

Proof. By Definition 1, using the Cauchy product rule for the power series, we readily see that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} e^{tx}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^n \frac{t^n}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} x^k \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}(\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!}$$

which provides the asserted result (2.7).

We state the following theorem.

Theorem 2 (Derivative Property) The following formula

$$\frac{d}{dx}\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x;\omega,r) = n\mathfrak{G}_{n-1}(\omega,r)$$
(2.8)

is valid for $\omega > 0$ and r > 0. **Proof.** By Definition 1, we acquire

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{d}{dx} \mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{d}{dx} \left(\frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega r}} e^{tx} \right) = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega r}} t e^{tx} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(\omega,r) \frac{t^{n+1}}{n!},$$

which means the desired result (2.8).

We give the addition formula for the gamma distribution polynomials.

Theorem 3 (Addition Formula) The following equality

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x+y:\omega,r) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} y^{n-k} \mathfrak{G}_{k}(x:\omega,r)$$
(2.9)

holds for $\omega > 0$, r > 0 and x, y being real numbers.

Proof. By Definition 1, using the Cauchy product rule for the power series, we readily see that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n \left(x + y : \omega, r \right) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega r}} e^{t(x+y)} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega r}} e^{tx} e^{yt}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n \left(x : \omega, r \right) \frac{t^n}{n!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} y^n \frac{t^n}{n!} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} y^k \mathfrak{G}_{n-k} \left(x : \omega, r \right) \frac{t^n}{n!}$$

which implies the claimed result (2.9).

We now give the following theorem.

Theorem 4 (Integral Representation) The following integral formula

$$\int_{\mu}^{\xi} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x+y;\omega,r) dy = \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+\xi;\omega,r) - \mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+\mu;\omega,r)}{n+1}$$
(2.10)

holds for $\omega > 0$ and r > 0.

Proof. In view of derivative property (2.8), using the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, we easily get

$$\int_{\mu}^{\xi} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x+y;\omega,r) dy = \int_{\mu}^{\xi} \left(\frac{d}{dy} \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+y;\omega,r)}{n+1}\right) dy$$
$$= \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+y;\omega,r)}{n+1} \bigg|_{\mu}^{\xi} = \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+\xi;\omega,r) - \mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+\mu;\omega,r)}{n+1}$$

which gives the asserted result (2.10).

Some special cases of the integral representation are stated below.

Corollary 1 *For* $\omega > 0$ *and* r > 0, *we have*

$$\int_{0}^{1} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x+y;\omega,r) dy = \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x+1;\omega,r) - \mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(x;\omega,r)}{n+1},$$
$$\int_{0}^{1} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(y;\omega,r) dy = \frac{\mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(1;\omega,r) - \mathfrak{G}_{n+1}(\omega,r)}{n+1},$$
$$\int_{\mu}^{\xi} \mathfrak{E}_{n}(x+y;\omega) dy = \frac{\mathfrak{E}_{n+1}(x+\xi;\omega) - \mathfrak{E}_{n+1}(x+\mu;\omega)}{n+1}.$$

We state the following theorem.

Theorem 5 The following relations

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x:\omega,r) = (-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(-x:-\omega,r)$$
(2.11)

and

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x:\omega,r) = 2^{r} \mathfrak{G}_{n}\left(x - \frac{\omega}{2}:\frac{\omega}{2},r\right)$$
(2.12)

hold for x being a real number, $\omega > 0$ and r > 0. **Proof.** Via Definition 1, we obtain

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x;\omega,r)\frac{t^{n}}{n!} = \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)}\frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}}e^{tx} = -\frac{(-\omega)^{r}}{\Gamma(r)}\frac{(-t)^{r-1}}{e^{(-\omega)(-t)}}e^{(-t)(-x)} = -\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-1)^{n}\mathfrak{G}_{n}(-x;-\omega,r)\frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$

and

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)t}} e^{t\left(x-\frac{\omega}{2}\right)} = 2^r \frac{\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\right)t}} e^{t\left(x-\frac{\omega}{2}\right)} = 2^r \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n\left(x-\frac{\omega}{2}:\frac{\omega}{2},r\right) \frac{t^n}{n!}$$

which proves the asserted results (2.11) and (2.12).

We give the following theorem.

Theorem 6 The following relation

$$x^{n} = \frac{n!}{(n+r-1)!} \sum_{k=0}^{n+r-1} {n+r-1 \choose k} \Gamma(r) \mathfrak{G}_{n+r-1-k}(x;\omega,r) \omega^{k-r}$$
(2.13)

is valid for x being a real number, $\omega > 0$ and r > 0. **Proof.** In terms of Definition 1, we derive

$$e^{tx} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^n}{n!} e^{\omega t} \frac{\Gamma(r)}{\omega^r} t^{r-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \Gamma(r) \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}(x;\omega,r) \omega^{k-r} \frac{t^{n-r+1}}{n!}$$

which means the desired result (2.13).

We here provide the following theorem.

Theorem 7 The following explicit formula for the gamma distribution polynomials

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n+r-1} \binom{n+r-1}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n+r-1-k} \left(x : \omega, r \right) \left(\omega - x \right)^k = \begin{cases} \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} & \text{if } n = 1-r \\ 0 & \text{if } n > 1-r \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

is valid for x being a real number, $\omega > 0$ and r being a positive integer. **Proof.** From Definition 1, we attain

$$\frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} e^{t(\omega-x)} t^{1-r}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n}(x;\omega,r) \frac{t^{n}}{n!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\omega-x)^{n} \frac{t^{n+1-r}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}(x;\omega,r) (\omega-x)^{k} \frac{t^{n-r+1}}{n!}$$

which means the desired result (2.14).

An immediate result of Theorem 7 is given as follows.

Corollary 2 We have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n+r-1} \binom{n+r-1}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n+r-1-k}(\omega, r)(\omega-x)^{k} = \{ \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \text{ if } n=1-r, 0 \text{ if } n>1-r.$$
(2.15)

The identities (2.14) and (2.15) provide us to compute the gamma distribution polynomials and numbers. The first few polynomials and numbers are calculated as follows:

$\mathfrak{G}_0\left(x:\omega,r\right) = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)},$	$\mathfrak{G}_0(\omega,r) = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)},$	
$\mathfrak{G}_{1}\left(x:\omega,r\right)=-\frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)}\left(\omega-x\right),$	$\mathfrak{G}_1(\omega,r) = -\frac{\omega^{r+1}}{\Gamma(r)},$	
$\mathfrak{G}_{2}\left(x:\omega,r\right) = \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)}\left(\omega-x\right)^{2},$	$\mathfrak{G}_2\left(\omega,r\right) = \frac{\omega^{r+2}}{\Gamma(r)},$	
$\mathbf{\mathfrak{G}}_{3}\left(x:\omega,r\right)=-\frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)}\left(\omega-x\right)^{3},$	$\mathfrak{G}_3\left(\omega,r\right) = -\frac{\omega^{r+3}}{\Gamma(r)},$	
$ \mathfrak{G}_4(x:\omega,r) = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} (\omega - x)^4, $	$\mathfrak{G}_4\left(\omega,r\right) = \frac{\omega^{r+4}}{\Gamma(r)},$	(2.16)
(2.10)		

Here, we provide symmetric property for the gamma distribution polynomials.

Theorem 8 The gamma distribution polynomials satisfy the following summation formula for x being a real number, $\omega > 0$ and r > 0:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k} \left(x \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r \right) \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(y \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r \right) \left(\frac{a}{b} \right)^{n-2k}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k} \left(x \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r \right) \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(y \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r \right) \left(\frac{b}{a} \right)^{n-2k} .$$
(2.17)

Proof. By means of Definition 1, we consider

$$U = \frac{\omega^{2r}}{\Gamma(r)\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{2r-2}}{e^{2\omega t}} e^{t(x+y)}.$$

Thus, we get

$$U = \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} e^{tx} \frac{\omega^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} e^{ty}$$
$$= \frac{\left(\omega \frac{b}{a}\right)^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{\left(t \frac{a}{b}\right)^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\omega \frac{b}{a}\right)\left(t \frac{a}{b}\right)}} e^{\left(t \frac{a}{b}\right)\left(x \frac{b}{a}\right)} \frac{\left(\omega \frac{a}{b}\right)^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\omega \frac{a}{b}\right)\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)}} e^{\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)\left(y \frac{a}{b}\right)}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n}\left(x \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r\right) \left(\frac{a}{b}\right)^{n} \frac{t^{n}}{n!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n}\left(y \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r\right) \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{n} \frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}\left(x \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r\right) \mathfrak{G}_{k}\left(y \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r\right) \left(\frac{a}{b}\right)^{n-2k} \frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$

and similarly

$$U = \frac{\left(\omega \frac{a}{b}\right)^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\omega \frac{a}{b}\right)\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)}} e^{\left(t \frac{b}{a}\right)\left(x \frac{a}{b}\right)} \frac{\left(\omega \frac{b}{a}\right)^{r}}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{\left(t \frac{a}{b}\right)^{r-1}}{e^{\left(\omega \frac{b}{a}\right)\left(t \frac{a}{b}\right)}} e^{\left(t \frac{b}{b}\right)\left(y \frac{b}{a}\right)}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n} \left(x \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r\right) \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{n} \frac{t^{n}}{n!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_{n} \left(y \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r\right) \left(\frac{a}{b}\right)^{n} \frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k} \left(x \frac{a}{b} : \omega \frac{a}{b}, r\right) \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(y \frac{b}{a} : \omega \frac{b}{a}, r\right) \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{n-2k} \frac{t^{n}}{n!},$$

which implies the claimed result (2.17).

A specific case of Theorem 8 is given below.

Corollary 3 We have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}\left(x\frac{1}{a}:\omega\frac{1}{a},r\right) \mathfrak{G}_{k}\left(ya:\omega a,r\right)a^{n-2k} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{n-k}\left(xa:\omega a,r\right) \mathfrak{G}_{k}\left(y\frac{1}{a}:\omega\frac{1}{a},r\right)a^{2k-n}$$

Here is a summation formula for the polynomials $\mathfrak{G}_n(x:\omega,r)$.

Theorem 9 The following summation formula

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x+y;\omega,r) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{n}{k} \binom{k}{u} (-1)^{u+1} \mathfrak{G}_{u}(-\omega,r) x^{k-u} y^{n-k}$$
(2.18)

holds for x, y being real numbers, ω , r being positive real numbers. **Proof.** From Definition 1, by using the Cauchy product for power series, we observe that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x+y) = -\omega, r) \frac{\left(-t\right)^n}{n!} = \left(-1\right) \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} e^{-t(x+y)} = -\frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} e^{-tx} e^{-ty}$$



which means the desired result (2.18).

Hence, Theorem 3 and Theorem 9 yield the following results given as Corollary 4, Corollary 5, Corollary 6, and Corollary 7.

Corollary 4 We have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} y^{n-k} \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(x : \omega, r \right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{n}{k} \binom{k}{u} (-1)^{u+1} \mathfrak{G}_{u} \left(-\omega, r \right) x^{k-u} y^{n-k}.$$
(2.19)

Corollary 5 *We have*

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}\left(x:\omega,r\right) = \sum_{u=0}^{n} \binom{n}{u} (-1)^{u+1} \mathfrak{G}_{u}\left(-\omega,r\right) x^{n-u}.$$
(2.20)

Corollary 6 We have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{k}\left(x:\omega,r\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{n}{k} \binom{k}{u} \left(-1\right)^{u+1} \mathfrak{G}_{u}\left(-\omega,r\right) x^{k-u}.$$
(2.21)

Corollary 7 We have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(x : \omega, r \right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} (-1)^{k+1} \mathfrak{G}_{k} \left(-\omega, r \right).$$
(2.22)

3 Correlations with the Bernoulli and Euler polynomials

In this section, two correlations including Bernoulli and Euler polynomials for gamma distribution polynomials are provided using their generating functions.

The classical Bernoulli and Euler polynomials are defined utilizing the following generating functions

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n(x) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{t}{e^t - 1} e^{xt} \quad (|t| < 2\pi)$$
(3.1)

and

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} E_n(x) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{2}{e^t + 1} e^{xt} \quad (|t| < \pi).$$
(3.2)

See [1,6] for details about the aforesaid polynomials. The Bernoulli numbers B_n and Euler numbers E_n are obtained by the special cases of the corresponding polynomials x = 0, namely

$$B_n(0) := B_n \text{ and } E_n(0) := E_n.$$
(3.3)

The Bernoulli polynomials and Euler polynomials are the most famous and important special polynomials in the theory of umbral calculus and they appear everywhere in mathematics, mostly in analytic number

theory, elementary number theory, numerical analysis, *cf*. [1,6] and also see each of the earlier related references cited therein. Cheon [1] acquired a simple correlation for the Bernoulli polynomials and the Euler polynomials by utilizing their exponential generating functions. Kim et al. [6] studied some special polynomials connected to Euler and Bernoulli polynomials and provide several correlations for these polynomials. Then, they presented the zeros of these polynomials by using the computer. Now, we state the following theorem.

Theorem 10 The following relation

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}\left(x:\omega,r\right) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} \left(\sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{k}{u} \mathfrak{G}_{u}\left(\omega,r\right) - \mathfrak{G}_{k}\left(\omega,r\right)\right) B_{n+1-k}\left(x\right)$$
(3.4)

is valid for x being a real number and ω , r being positive real numbers. **Proof.** By Definition 1 and equality (3.1), we see that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n\left(x:\omega,r\right) \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)} \frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega t}} \frac{e^t - 1}{t} \frac{t}{e^t - 1} e^{tx}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n\left(\omega,r\right) \frac{t^n}{n!} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^n}{n!} - 1\right) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n\left(x\right) \frac{t^{n-1}}{n!}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \left(\sum_{u=0}^k \binom{k}{u} \mathfrak{G}_u\left(\omega,r\right) - \mathfrak{G}_k\left(\omega,r\right)\right) B_{n-k}\left(x\right) \frac{t^{n-1}}{n!},$$

which provides the asserted result (3.4).

The immediate result of the Theorem 10 is given as Corollary 8. Corollary 8 *We have*

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(\omega,r) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} \left(\sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{k}{u} \mathfrak{G}_{u}(\omega,r) - \mathfrak{G}_{k}(\omega,r) \right) B_{n+1-k}.$$

Now, we state the following correlation with the Euler polynomials. **Theorem 11** *The following relation*

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(x;\omega,r) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \left(\sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{k}{u} \mathfrak{G}_{u}(\omega,r) + \mathfrak{G}_{k}(\omega,r) \right) E_{n-k}(x)$$
(3.5)

holds for ω, r being positive real numbers and x being a real number. **Proof.** From Definition 1 and equality (3.2), we derive

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(x;\omega,r)\frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{\omega^r}{\Gamma(r)}\frac{t^{r-1}}{e^{\omega r}}\frac{e^t+1}{2}\frac{2}{e^t+1}e^{tx}$$
$$= 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{G}_n(\omega,r)\frac{t^n}{n!}\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{t^n}{n!}+1\right)\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}E_n(x)\frac{t^n}{n!}$$

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\left(\sum_{u=0}^{n}\binom{n}{u}\mathfrak{G}_{u}(\omega,r)+\mathfrak{G}_{n}(\omega,r)\right)\frac{t^{n}}{n!}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}E_{n}(x)\frac{t^{n-1}}{n!}$$
$$=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{n}\binom{n}{k}\left(\sum_{u=0}^{k}\binom{k}{u}\mathfrak{G}_{u}(\omega,r)+\mathfrak{G}_{k}(\omega,r)\right)E_{n-k}(x)\frac{t^{n}}{n!}$$

which means the desired result (3.5).

The immediate consequence of the Theorem 11 is stated in Corollary 9 as follows. **Corollary 9** *We have*

$$\mathfrak{G}_{n}(\omega,r) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \left(\sum_{u=0}^{k} \binom{k}{u} \mathfrak{G}_{u}(\omega,r) + \mathfrak{G}_{k}(\omega,r) \right) E_{n-k}.$$

3. Conclusion

In this paper, we have firstly aimed to investigate some properties and relations for the gamma distribution and introduced a special polynomial including gamma distribution. We then have derived various formulas and equalities such as explicit formula, derivative property, addition formula, and integral representation via the series manipulation method. Moreover, we have proved two relations for the mentioned polynomials related to the classical Bernoulli and usual Euler polynomials by using their generating functions.

4. References

- 1. Cheon, G.-S. A note on the Bernoulli and Euler polynomials. Appl. Math. Lett. 2003, 16, 365-368.
- 2. Evans, M., Hastings, N. A. J., Peacock, B. Statistical distributions, 2nd Edition. 1993, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, New York.
- 3. Jambunathan, M. V. Some properties of beta and gamma distributions. Ann. Math. Statist. 1954, 25, 401-405.
- 4. Kang, J. Y.; Lee, T. S. Some properties of special polynomials with exponential distribution. Commun. Korean Math Soc. 2019, 34, 383-390.
- 5. Khodabin, M., Ahmadabadi, A. Some properties of generalized gamma distribution. Math. Sci. 2010, 4, 9-28.
- 6. Kim, T., Ryoo, C. S. Som identities for Euler and Bernoulli polynomials and their zeros, Axioms, 2018, 7, 1-19.
- Mead, M., Nassar, M. M., Dey, S. A generalization of generalized gamma distributions. Pakistan J. Stat. Oper. Res. 2018, 14, 121-138.
- 8. Rahman, G., Mubeen, S., Rehman, A., Naz, M. On *k*-gamma and *k*-beta distributions and moment generating functions. J. Prob. Stat. 2014, ID 982013, 6 pages.

NEW EXACT SOLUTIONS FOR CONFORMABLE FRACTIONAL EQUATION VIA IBSEFM

Ulviye Demirbilek¹, Khanlar R. Mamedov²

^{1,2}Mathematics, Mersin University, Turkey, E-mail(s): udemirbilek@mersin.edu.tr, hanlar@mersin.edu.tr

Abstract

The aim of this paper to obtain new exact solutions of conformable fractional a Boussinesqlike equation using the method of Improved Bernoulli Sub-Equation Function Method (IBSEFM). This solutions of the equation arises in several problems in coastal and ocean engineering. Compared with other methods, this method is very effective, simple, and easy to calculate, and it is a powerful mathematical tool for obtaining exact travelling wave solutions of other nonlinear conformable fractional partial differential equations.

Keywords: Conformable fractional derivative, Improved Bernoulli Sub-Equation Function Method, Exact Solution.

1. Introduction

Fractional order differential equations are the generalized form of an integer order differential equations. In recent years, the fractional differential equations have become a useful tool for describing nonlinear phenomena of science and engineering models. The fractional differential equation is also widely applied in several physical and engineering fields models such as physics, mathematical biology, fluid mechanics, plasma physics, optic, quantum field theory, etc. [1-3]. In many studies, various effective analytical approaches have been constructed and accomplished for searching more general and new exact solutions of nonlinear partial differential equations such as Kudryashov method [4], The first integral method [5] and IBSEFM [6,7].

In this paper, we obtain the exact solutions of conformable fractional Boussinesq-like equation by using IBSEFM. We consider

$$u_{tt}^{2\alpha} - \left(6u^2 u_x + u_{xtt}^{2\alpha}\right)_x - u_{xx} = 0,$$
(1)

where u_t^{α} is the fractional derivative in conformable sense of order $0 < \alpha \le 1$. This equation is an interesting model to describe ocean and coastal sciences [8].

The rest of this paper is organized as follows: In Section 2, we will describe the method for solving conformable fractional differential equations In Section 3, we apply this method to establish exact solution for the conformable fractional Boussinesq-like equation. Some conclusions are presented at the end of the paper.

2. Description of the Method

In this part, let us give the fundamental properties of the IBSEFM. We present the six fundamental steps of the IBSEFM below the following:

Step 1: Let us take consider the following conformable time fractional partial differential equation (CFPDE) of the style

$$P(v, D_t^{(\mu)}v, D_x^{(\mu)}v, D_{xt}^{(2\mu)}v, D_{xt}^{(3\mu)}v, ...) = 0,$$
(2)

where $D_t^{(\mu)}$ is the conformable derivative operator, v(x,t) is an unknown function, *P* is a polynomial in *v* and its partial derivatives contain fractional derivatives. The aim is to convert conformable fractional partial differential equation with a suitable fractional transformation into the ordinary differential equation (ODE). The wave transformation as:

$$v(x,t) = V(\xi),$$

$$\xi = \left(x - ct^{\alpha} \alpha^{-1}\right),$$
(3)

where c is an arbitrary constant and not zero. Using the properties of conformable derivative, it enables us to convert (3) into an ODE in the form

$$N(V,V',V'',...) = 0. (4)$$

Step 2: If we integrate (4) term to term once or more, we acquire integration constant(s) which may be determined then.

Step 3: We hypothesize that the solution of (4) may be presented below:

$$V(\xi) = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{n} a_i F^i(\xi)}{\sum_{i=0}^{m} b_i F^i(\xi)},$$
(5)

where $a_0, a_1, ..., a_n$ and $b_0, b_1, ..., b_m$ are coefficients which will be determined later. $m \neq 0, n \neq 0$ are chosen arbitrary constants to balance principle and considering the form of Bernoulli differential equation as follows:

$$F'(\xi) = \sigma F(\xi) + dF^M(\xi), \tag{6}$$

where $d \neq 0, \sigma \neq 0, M \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0, 1, 2\}$ and $F(\xi)$ is polynomial.

Step 4: The positive integer m, n, M (are not equal to zero) which is found by balance principle that is both nonlinear term and the highest order derivative term of (4).

Substituting (5) and (6) in (3) it gives us an equation of polynomial $\Theta(F)$ of F as following;

$$\Theta(F(\xi)) = \rho_s F(\xi)^s + \dots + \rho_1 F(\xi) + \rho_0 = 0,$$

where ρ_i , $(i = \overline{0, j})$ are coefficients and will be determined later.

Step 5: The coefficients of $\Theta(F(\xi))$ which will give us a system of algebraic equations, whole be zero.

$$\rho_i = 0, i = \overline{0, j}.$$

Step 6: When we solve (4), we get the following two cases with respect to σ and d:

a) For $d \neq \sigma$, $\mathcal{E} \in R$,

$$F(\xi) = \left[\frac{-de^{\sigma(\varepsilon-1)} + \varepsilon\sigma}{\sigma e^{\sigma(\varepsilon-1)\xi}}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}},\tag{7}$$

b) For $d = \sigma$, $\mathcal{E} \in R$,

$$F(\xi) = \left[\frac{\left(\varepsilon - 1\right) + \left(\varepsilon + 1\right) \tanh\left(\sigma\left(1 - \varepsilon\right)\right)\frac{\varepsilon}{2}}{1 - \tanh\left(\sigma\left(1 - \varepsilon\right)\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)}\right]^{\frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon}}.$$
(8)

Using a complete discrimination system for polynomial of $F(\xi)$, we obtain the analytical solutions of (4) via software programme and categorize the exact solutions of (4). To achieve better results, we can plot two and three dimensional figures of analytical solutions by considering proper values of parameters.

3. Implementation of the IBSFM

Consider the nonlinear conformable fractional a Boussinesq-like:

$$u_{tt}^{2\alpha} - \left(6u^2 u_x + u_{xtt}^{2\alpha}\right)_x - u_{xx} = 0.$$

In the following, we apply the first integral method to find the solitary wave solutions for conformable fractional a Boussinesq-like. Firstly, we let

$$u(x,t) = U(\eta), \ \eta = px - q(t^{\alpha}\alpha^{-1}), \tag{9}$$

where p, q are arbitrary constants (are not zero) to be determined later. Using the (9) into (7), we obtain ordinary differential equation:

$$\left(p^{2}-q^{2}\right)U(\eta)+2p^{2}U^{3}(\eta)+p^{2}q^{2}U''(\eta)=0.$$
(10)

According the method, when we apply the balance for the terms $U^3(\eta)$ and $U''(\eta)$, we obtain the relationship for m, n and M as below:

M+m=n+1.

For this equation, we take one case, assuming that M = n = 3 and m = 1, then we get as follows:

$$U(\eta) = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{3} a_i F^i(\eta)}{\sum_{i=0}^{1} b_i F^i(\eta)} = \frac{a_0 + a_1 F(\eta) + a_2 F^2 + a_3 F^3(\eta)}{b_0 + b_1 F(\eta)} = \frac{\psi}{\varphi},$$
(11)

$$U'(\eta) = \frac{\psi'(\eta)\phi(\eta) - \psi(\eta)\phi'(\eta)}{\phi^{2}(\eta)},$$

$$U''(\eta) = \frac{\psi'(\eta)\phi(\eta) - \psi(\eta)\phi'(\eta)}{\phi^{2}(\eta)} - \frac{[\psi(\eta)\phi'(\eta)]'\phi^{2}(\eta) - 2\psi(\eta)[\phi(\eta)]^{2}\phi(\eta)}{\phi^{4}(\eta)},$$
(12)

Substituting (11) and (12) in (10), we get a system of algebraic system. When we equal to zero all the same power of F and solving the algebraic system of equations from coefficients of polynomial of F, it yields the following coefficients:

$$Const: -2p^{2}a_{0}^{3} + q^{2}a_{0}b_{0}^{2} - p^{2}a_{0}b_{0}^{2} = 0,$$

$$F: -6p^{2}a_{0}^{2}a_{1} + q^{2}a_{1}b_{0}^{2} - p^{2}a_{1}b_{0}^{2} - p^{2}q^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{1}b_{0}^{2} + 2q^{2}a_{0}b_{0}b_{1} - 2p^{2}a_{0}b_{0}b_{1} - +p^{2}q^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{0}b_{0}b_{1} = 0,$$

$$F^{2}: -6p^{2}a_{0}a_{1}^{2} - p^{2}6a_{0}^{2}a_{2} + q^{2}a_{2}b_{0}^{2} - p^{2}a_{2}b_{0}^{2} - 4p^{2}q^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{2}b_{0}^{2} + 2q^{2}a_{1}b_{0}b_{1}$$

$$-2p^{2}a_{1}b_{0}b_{1} + p^{2}q^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{1}b_{0}b_{1} + qa_{0}b_{1}^{2} - c^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{0}b_{1}^{2} + k^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{0}b_{1}^{2} + p^{2}q^{2}\sigma^{2}a_{0}b_{1}^{2} = 0,$$

$$F^{7}:-6p^{2}a_{2}^{2}a_{3}-6p^{2}a_{1}a_{3}^{2}-15q^{2}d^{2}p^{2}a_{3}b_{0}^{2}-9q^{2}d^{2}p^{2}a_{2}b_{0}b_{1}-12q^{2}dp^{2}\sigma a_{3}b_{1}^{2}=0,$$

$$F^{8}:-6p^{2}a_{2}a_{3}^{2}-21q^{2}d^{2}p^{2}a_{3}b_{0}b_{1}-3q^{2}d^{2}p^{2}a_{2}b_{1}^{2}=0,$$

$$F^{9}:-2p^{2}a_{3}^{3}-8q^{2}d^{2}p^{2}a_{3}b_{1}^{2}=0.$$

We now solve the above system of equations and substitute in each case the obtained result of the coefficients to get the new solution(s) u(x,t). By solving the above system with the aid of software, the coefficients are obtained as:

Case1: For $\sigma \neq d$,

$$a_{0} = \frac{i\sqrt{-q^{2} + p^{2}}b_{0}}{\sqrt{2}p}; a_{1} = \frac{i\sqrt{-q^{2} + p^{2}}b_{1}}{\sqrt{2}p}; a_{2} = -2idqb_{0}; a_{3} = -2iqdb_{1}; \sigma = -\frac{\sqrt{-q^{2} + p^{2}}}{\sqrt{2}pq},$$
(13)

where $p \neq 0$, $q \neq 0$.

Putting (13) along with (7) in (11), we acquire exponential solution to Boussinesq-like equation as follow:

$$u_{1}(x,t) = -\frac{2i\sqrt{2}qde^{\frac{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{-q^{2}+p^{2}}\left(px-\frac{qt^{\alpha}}{\alpha}\right)}{pq}}\varepsilon\sqrt{-q^{2}+p^{2}}t^{-1+\alpha}}}{p\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}qdk}{\sqrt{-q^{2}+p^{2}}}+\varepsilon e^{\frac{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{-q^{2}+p^{2}}\left(px-\frac{qt^{\alpha}}{\alpha}\right)}{pq}}\right)^{2}},$$

where p,q are constants and are not zero. Thus, we can plot two dimensional (2D), three dimensional (3D) and contour plot for imaginary part of the equation as follow:



Figure 1: The 3D and 2D Surfaces of the exact solution of $u_1(x,t)$. By considering the values $\alpha = 0.4$; p = 0.87; q = 0.31; d = 0.5; $\varepsilon = 0.5$; -1 < x < 1, -7 < t < 7 for 3D surface -5 < x < 5, -5 < t < 5 for 2D surface and contourplot.

4. Conclusion

In this paper, we have succesfully applied the IBSEFM to Eq. (1) and we obtained original new solution. With the aid of mathematical software, a variety of exact solutions consisting of exponential for the conformable fractional partial derivative equations are obtained. And two and three dimensional figures of this solution are plotted according to the suitable values of these parameters. Furthermore, the work shows that the method is effective and can be used for many other conformable fractional partial derivative equations in mathematical physics. The performance of the IBSEFM is reliable. Thus, we deduce that the proposed method can be extended to solve many systems of nonlinear fractional partial differential equations.

5. References

- K.S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the FractionalCalculus and FractionalDifferential Equations. Wiley, New York (1993).
- [2] A.M.A El-Sayed, A.E.M. El-Mesiry, H.A.A. El-Saka, On the fractional-order logistic equation. Appl. Math. Lett. **20**(7), 817–823 (2007)
- [3] A.A. Kilbas, H.M. Srivastava, J.J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier, Amsterdam, (2006).
- [4] R. I. Nuruddeen, A. M. Nass, Exact solitary wave solution for the fractional and classical GEWBurgers equations: an application of Kudryashov method, Journal of Taibah University for Science, 12 (2018), 309–314.
- [5] M.Eslami, H. Rezazadeh, The first integral method forWu–Zhang system with conformable time-fractional derivative, Calcolo 53(2016),475–485.
- [6] H. M. Baskonus, H. Bulut, Exponential prototype structure for (2+1) dimensional Boiti Leon Pempinelli systems in mathematical physics, Waves Random Complex Media, 26 (2016), 189–196.
- [7] V. Ala, U. Demirbilek, Kh. R. Mamedov, An Application of Improved Bernoulli Sub-Equation Function Method to the Nonlinear conformable Time Fractional SRLW Equation. AIMS Mathematics 5-4 (2020),3751-3761.
- [8] Hadi Rezazadeh, M.S. Osman, M.Eslami, M. Mirzazadeh, Qin Zhou, S.A. Badri, and A. Korkmaz Hyperbolic rational solutions to a variety of conformable fractional Boussinesq-Like equations, Nonlinear Engineering 8, 2019, 224–230.

New Fixed Point Theorems on Vector Metric Spaces with w-distance

Hakan Sahin

Department of Mathematics, Amasya University, Turkey, E-mail: hakan.sahin@amasya.edu.tr

Abstract

In this paper, we first define a new concept on vector metric spaces by considering the concept of Q-function which includes the concept of w-distance, and hence we obtain a new contractive mapping. Then, we obtain some fixed point theorems for such mappings on vector metric spaces. Thus, we extend some results existing in the literature.

1. Introduction

The fixed point theory has important place in many disciplines, since it has vital tools for solving some problems in these areas. Therefore, Banach contraction principle [6] which is fundamental result in fixed point theory has attracted interest of authors [4,5,14]. In this sense, Cevik et al. [8] introduced a notion of vector metric space and proved Banach's result on these spaces. Then, many authors have generalized and improved the results in the literature [7,9,13]. Now, before the definition of vector metric spaces, we recall some basic and fundamental concepts about Riesz space and related properties. A real vector space E is said to be an ordered vector space if it is equipped with an partial order which is compatible operations of vector spaces. An ordered vector space (E, \leq) is said to be a Riesz space if the supremum $x \lor y$ and infimum $x \land y$ for all $x, y \in E$ are in E. Let (E, \leq) be a Riesz space. We denote positive cone of E by E_+ . The notation $a_n \downarrow a$ means that the sequence $\{a_n\}$ is nonincreasing such that $\inf\{a_n: n \in \mathbb{N}\} = a$. If there exists $\{a_n\}$ in *E* satisfying $a_n \downarrow 0$ such that $|b_n - b| \le a_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then the sequence $\{b_n\}$ is called order convergence to $b \in E$ where the modul of $a \in E$ is defined by $|a| = a \vee (-a)$. If there exists $\{a_n\}$ in *E* satisfying $a_n \downarrow 0$ such that $|b_n - b_{n+p}| \le a_n$ for all $n, p \in$ N, then the sequence $\{b_n\}$ is called order-Cauchy sequence. Also, a Riesz space is called order-Cauchy complete if every order-Cauchy sequence order converges to any point in this space. Moreover, if every subset of E with upper bound (lower bound) has a supremum (infimum) in E, then the Riesz space is

called Dedekind complete. A Riesz space *E* is said to be Archimeden, if $\frac{1}{n}a \downarrow 0$ for all $a \in E_+$. Note that, every Dedekind complete Riesz space is an Archimedean. For more detail see [2].

Definition 1. Let X be a nonempty set and (E, \leq) be a Riesz space. Then, then the mapping $d: X \times X \to E$ is acid to be matrix if it is activitied for all $x \to x \in C$.

E is said to be vector metric if it is satisfied for all $x, y, z \in X$,

m1) d(x, y) = 0 if and only if x = y,

 $m2) d(x, y) \le d(x, z) + d(y, z).$

Also, (X, d, E) is called vector metric space.

Definition 2. Let (X, d, E) be a vector metric space and $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence in X. Then,

- i) It is said to be $\{x_n\} E$ -converges to $x \in X$, denoted by $x_n \xrightarrow{d,E} x$, if there exists $\{a_n\}$ in E satisfying $a_n \downarrow 0$ such that $d(x_n, x) \le a_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- ii) The sequence $\{x_n\}$ is said to be *E*-Cauchy if there exists $\{a_n\}$ in *E* satisfying $a_n \downarrow 0$ such that $d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \le a_n$ for all $n, p \in \mathbb{N}$.
- iii) The vector metric space (X, d, E) is said to be *E*-complete if every *E*-Cauchy sequence in *X E*-converges to a point *x* in *X*.

On the other hand, recently, there is a tendency to improve the results obtained in fixed point theory by using some functions such as w-distance. In this sense, Al-Homidian [1] introduced a new concept so called Q-function including the notion of w-distance defined by Kada et al. [11]. Then, many authors studied to generalize this concept in various ways [3,10,12].

In this paper, we first define a new concept on vector metric spaces by considering the concept of Q-function, and hence we obtain a new contractive mapping. Then, we obtain some fixed point theorems for such mappings on vector metric spaces. Thus, we extend many results existing in the literature.

2. Main Results

We begin this section with the definition of our new concept on vector metric spaces.

Definition 3. Let (X, d, E) be a vector metric space. Then, the mapping $q: X \times X \to E$ is called Q_v -function, if it is satisfied for all $x, y, z \in X$,

 $Q_1) q(x, y) \le q(x, z) + q(z, y),$

 Q_2) If $x \in X, M \in E_+$ and the sequence $\{y_n\}$ satisfying $y_n \xrightarrow{d,E} y$ for some $y \in X$ satisfy $q(x, y_n) \le M$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then $q(x, y) \le M$,

 Q_3) For each $b \in E_+$, there exists $a \in E_+$ such that

$$q(x, y) \le a \text{ and } q(x, z) \le a \Rightarrow d(y, z) \le b.$$

Note that every vector metric is a Q_{ν} -function.

Theorem 1. Let (X, d, E) be an E-complete vector metric space where (E, \leq) is an Archimedean Riesz space and $q: X \times X \to E$ be a Q_v -function on X. Assume that $T: X \to X$ is a mapping. If there exists $\alpha \in [0,1)$ such that

$$q(Tx,Ty) \le \alpha q(x,y) \tag{2.1}$$

for all $x, y \in X$, then the mapping T has a fixed point in X.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ be arbitrary point. Define a sequence $\{x_n\}$ with the initial point x_0 such that $x_{n+1} = Tx_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. From (2.1), we have

$$q(x_n, x_{n+1}) = q(Tx_{n-1}, Tx_n)$$

$$\leq \alpha q(x_{n-1}, x_n)$$

$$= \alpha q(Tx_{n-2}, Tx_{n-1})$$

$$\leq \alpha^2 q(x_{n-2}, x_{n-1})$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\leq \alpha^n q(x_0, x_1)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, for all $n, p \in \mathbb{N}$, we get

$$q(x_{n}, x_{n+p}) \leq q(x_{n}, x_{n+1}) + q(x_{n+1}, x_{n+2}) + \dots + q(x_{n+p-1}, x_{n+p})$$

$$\leq \alpha^{n}q(x_{0}, x_{1}) + \alpha^{n+1}q(x_{0}, x_{1}) + \dots + \alpha^{n+p-1}q(x_{0}, x_{1})$$

$$\leq (1 + \alpha + \dots + \alpha^{p-1})\alpha^{n}q(x_{0}, x_{1})$$

$$\leq \frac{\alpha^{n}}{1 - \alpha}q(x_{0}, x_{1}).$$

which implies that $q(x_n, x_{n+p}) \le b_n$ where $b_n = \frac{\alpha^n}{1-\alpha}q(x_0, x_1)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since E is an Archimedean Riesz space, we obtain $b_n \downarrow 0$. Now, we want to show that $\{x_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence. For this, assume that *b* is any point in E_+ . Then, there exists $a_n \in E_+$ satisfying

$$q(x_n, x_{n+p}) \le a_n \text{ and } q(x_n, x_{n+r}) \le a_n \Rightarrow d(x_{n+p}, x_{n+r}) \le \frac{1}{n}b$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, there exist $c_n = a_n \vee b_n$ in E for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $q(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq a_n \leq c_n$ and $q(x_n, x_{n+r}) \leq a_n \leq c_n$ implies that $d(x_{n+p}, x_{n+r}) \leq \frac{1}{n}b$. Since E is Archimedean, $\frac{1}{n}b \downarrow 0$ and so, $\{x_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence. Since (X, d, E) is an E-complete vector metric space, there exists a point $x \in X$ such that $x_n \xrightarrow{d,E} x$. On the other hand, we know that $q(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq b_n \downarrow 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, from the property (Q_2) , we have

$$q(x_n, x) \le b_n \downarrow 0 \tag{2.2}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Now, from (2.1), we say that

$$(x_{n+1}, Tx) = q(Tx_n, Tx)$$

$$\leq \alpha q(x_n, x)$$

$$< \alpha b_n \downarrow 0$$
(2.3)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Using the inequalities (2.2) and (2.3), from the property (Q_3), we have d(x, Tx) = 0 and so, x = Tx. This complete the proof.

If we take q = d in Theorem 1, we obtain the following result which is main result of [8].

q

Corollary 1. Let (X, d, E) be an E-complete vector metric space where (E, \leq) is an Archimedean Riesz space and $T: X \to X$ be a mapping. If there exists $\alpha \in [0,1)$ such that

$$d(Tx,Ty) \le \alpha d(x,y)$$

for all $x, y \in X$, then the mapping T has a fixed point in X.

3. Conclusion

In the present paper, we aim to extend the some results in fixed point theory. For this, we first define a new concept so called Q_v -function considering Q-function. Thus, we obtain a new contractive mapping on vector metric spaces. Then, we present a fixed point theorem for such mappings.

4. References

1. S. Al-Homidan, Q. H. Ansari and J. C. Yao, Some generalizations of Ekeland-type variational principle with applications to equilibrium problems and fixed point theory, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications, 69(1) (2008), 126-139.

- 2. C. D. Aliprantis, K. C. Border, Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 1999.
- 3. I. Altun, S. Romaguera, Characterizations of partial metric completeness in terms of weakly contractive mappings having fixed point, Applicable Analysis and Discrete Mathematics, (2012), 247-256.
- 4. I. Altun, M. Aslantas, H. Sahin, Best proximity point results for p-proximal contractions, Acta Math. Hungar., (2020), https://doi.org/10.1007/s10474-020-01036-3.
- 5. M. Aslantas, H. Sahin, D. Turkoglu, Some Caristi type fixed point theorems, The Journal of Analysis, (2020), https://doi.org/10.1007/s41478-020-00248-8
- S. Banach, Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leur applications aux équations intégrales, Fund. Math, 3 (1922), 133-181.
- C. Çevik, On Continuity Functions Between Vector Metric Spaces, Journal of Function Spaces, (2014), Article ID 753969.
- C. Çevik, I. Altun, Vector metric spaces and some properties, Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal., 34 (2009), 375--382.
- 9. C. Çevik, I. Altun, H. Sahin and C. C. Ozeken, Some fixed point theorems for contractive mapping in ordered vector metric spaces, J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl., 10(4) (2017), 1424--1432.
- 10. I. Iram, N. Hussain, Ekeland-type variational principle with applications to nonconvex minimization and equilibrium problems, Nonlinear Analysis: Modelling and Control, 24(3) (2019), 407-432.
- 11. O. Kada, T. Suzuki and W. Takahashi, Nonconvex minimization theorems and fixed point theorems in complete metric spaces, Math. Japonica, 44(2) (1996) 381--391.
- 12. J. Marín, S. Romaguera and P. Tirado, Weakly contractive multivalued maps and w-distances on complete quasi-metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, 2011 (2011), 1-9
- 13. H. Rahimi, M. Abbas, and G. S. Rad, Common fixed point results for four mappings on ordered vector metric spaces, Filomat, 29 (4) (2015), 865-878.
- H. Sahin, M. Aslantas, I. Altun, Feng-Liu type approach to best proximity point results, for multivalued mappings, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl., 22 (2020), 11.
New results on the asymptotic stability, boundedness and square integrability of third order neutral differential equations

Djamila Beldjerd Oran's High School of Electrical Engineering and Energetics, Oran, Algeria. E-mail(s): dj.beldjerd@gmail.com

Abstract

Neutral differential equations have many applications. In the qualitative analysis of such systems, the stability and asymptotic behavior of solutions play an important role. In this work by construting a Lyapunov functional, we obtain some sufficient conditions which guarantee the stability, boundedness and square integrability of solutions for some nonlinear neutral delaydifferential equations of third order.

1. Introduction

In this paper we investigate the asymptotic behavior of solutions of third order neutral delay differential equations of the form

$$\left(x(t) + \beta(t)x(t-r)\right)^{\prime\prime\prime} + \Psi(x^{\prime}(t))x^{\prime\prime}(t) + g(x^{\prime}(t)) + f(x(t-r)) = p(t), \tag{1}$$

where throughout the paper we always assume that $\Psi(x'(t)), g(x'(t))), f(x), \beta(t)$ and

p(t, x(t), x(t-r), x'(t), x(t-r), x''(t)), are continuous in their respective arguments. It is

also supposed that the derivatives f'(x), g'(y), and $\beta'(t)$ are continuous for all x, y, t with

f(0) = g(0) = 0 and $0 \le \beta(t)$, for all $t \ge T \ge t_0 + r$, where r > 0.

In recent years, many books and papers dealt with the delay neutral differential equation and obtained many good results, for example[1-13]. Neutral differential equations have many applications. For example, these equations arise in the study of two or more simple oscillatory systems with some interconnections between them and in modelling physical problems such as vibration of masses attached to an elastic bar. In the qualitative analysis of such systems, the stability and asymptotic behavior of solutions play an important role. There is the permanent interest in obtaining new sufficient conditions for the stability and Boundedness of the solutions of third order neutral differential equations. Many efforts were done to deduce sufficient conditions for the stability, asymptotic behavior and Boundedness of solutions of differential equations of the type (1).

In many references the authors dealt with the problems by considering Lyapunov functions or functionals and obtained the criteria for the stability and boundedness. The asymptotic stability of (1) when $\beta(t) = 0$ has been discussed by many authors. Here, we refer to the papers Omeike [4,5], Remili, and Beldjerd [9], Tunç [22, 23].

For the sake of convenience we introduce the following notation $X(t) = x(t) + \beta(t)x(t - r)$. (2)

2. Main Results

In this section, we also make use of the following conditions. Suppose that there are positive constants $d_0, d_1, d, M, \delta, \alpha, \rho, \Psi_0$, and Ψ_1 such that the following conditions which will be used on the functions that appeared in equation (1) are satisfied:

i)
$$\Psi_0 < \Psi(y) < \Psi_1$$
.
ii) $\frac{f(x)}{x} \ge M > 0 \ (x \ne 0)$, and $|f'(x)| \le \delta$ for all x .
iii) $d^2 < d_0 \le \frac{g(y)}{y} \le d_1$.
iv) $\frac{\delta}{2} < d < \Psi_0$.
v) $\int_T^t |\beta'(s)| \, ds < \rho, \ -\alpha \le \beta'(t) \le 0$,

2.1 Stability

For the case $p(t) \equiv 0$, The following result is introduced

Theorem 2.1. If in addition to the hypotheses (i)-(v), suppose that there are positive constants ε_1 , ε_2 , such that following is also satisfied

$$\begin{array}{l} H_{1}) - \varepsilon_{1} + \frac{3\alpha}{2} < 0. \\ H_{2}) - dd_{0} + \delta + c(\frac{d_{1}}{2} + \delta) + \varepsilon_{1} + (1 + c)^{2} = -\eta_{1} < 0. \\ H_{3}) - \varepsilon_{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2}(d + 1) < -\eta_{2} < 0. \end{array}$$

$$H_4) -B_0 + \frac{c (B_1 + B_0)}{2} + (1 + c)^2 + \frac{cd_1}{2} + \varepsilon_2 + \frac{\alpha}{2} < -\eta_3 < 0,$$

where $B_0 = \Psi_0 - d$, $B_1 = \Psi_1 - d$ and $c = \beta(T)$.

Then every solution of (1) is uniformly asymptotically stable, provided that

$$r < \min\{\frac{2\eta_1}{\delta\left(1+c+2d\right)}, \frac{2\eta_2}{c\delta}, \frac{2\eta_3}{\delta}\}.$$

Proof. In the sequel we will assume the following notations

$$Y(t) = y(t) + \beta(t)y(t - r)$$
$$Z(t) = z(t) + \beta(t)z(t - r).$$

Consider the equivalent system to (1)

$$\begin{cases} x' = y, \\ y' = z, \\ Z' = -\Psi(y)z - g(y) - f(x) + \int_{t-r}^{t} f'(x(s))y(s)ds. \end{cases}$$
(3)

The proof of this theorem depends on properties of the continuously differentiable function $W = W(t, x_t, y_t, z_t)$ defined by

$$W = Ve^{-\frac{1}{\omega}\int_{T}^{t} |\beta'(s)d|}, \text{ for all } t \ge T \ge t_{0} + r,$$
(4)
where
$$V = dF(x) + f(x)Y + Y^{2} + G(y) + \frac{1}{2}Z^{2} + dyZ + d\int_{0}^{y} \Psi(u)udu + \lambda \int_{-r}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} y^{2}(\xi)d\xi ds + E(t),$$
(5)
$$F(x) = \int_{0}^{x} f(u)du, \quad G(y) = \int_{0}^{y} g(u)du,$$

and

$$E(t) = \mu_1 \int_{t-r}^t y^2(s) ds + \mu_2 \int_{t-r}^t z^2(s) ds.$$

 λ , μ_1 and μ_2 are positives constants which will be specified later in the proof. Since $E(t) \leq 0$, and

$$G(y) = \int_0^y \frac{g(u)}{u} u du \ge \frac{d_0}{2} y^2,$$

it follows from (iv) that

$$d \int_0^y \Psi(u) u du = d \int_0^y [(\Psi(u) - d) + d] u du$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{2} (d(1 - d)y^2 + \frac{1}{2} d^2 y^2)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} dy^2.$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2}Z^2 + dyZ + \frac{d_0}{2}y^2 = \frac{1}{2}(Z + dy)^2 + (\frac{d_0 - d^2}{2})y^2.$$

Hence, it can be easily seen that there exists k_0 such that

$$d \int_0^y \Psi(u) u du + \frac{1}{2}Z^2 + dyZ + \frac{d_0}{2}y^2 \ge k_0(y^2 + Z^2)$$

On the other hand, by (iv) we have

$$dF(x) + f(x)Y + Y^{2} = d \int^{x} f(u)du + (Y + \frac{1}{2}f(x))^{2} - \frac{1}{4}f^{2}(x)$$

endition (ii) implies that
$$\geq (d - \frac{\delta}{2})F(x).$$

Condition (ii) implies that

$$F(x) = \int_0^x f(u) du = \int_0^x \frac{f(u)}{u} u du \ge \frac{1}{2} M x^2.$$

Hence, there exists a positive constant K_0 , small enough such that

$$V \ge K_0(x^2 + y^2 + Z^2).$$
(6)

Because

 $\frac{d}{dt}E(t) = \mu_1(y^2(t) - y^2(t - r)) + \mu_2(z^2(t) - z^2(t - r)),$ the time derivative of functional V along the system (3) leads that

$$V'_{(3)} = U_1 + U_2 + U_3 + Z \int_{t-r}^t f'(x(s)y(s)ds + dy \int_{t-r}^t f'(x(s)y(s)ds - \lambda \int_{t+s}^t y^2(\xi)d\xi,$$

where

$$\begin{array}{rcl} U_1 &=& (d-\Psi(y)+\mu_2)\,z^2(t)-dy\,g(y)+(f'(x)+\mu_1+\lambda r)\,y^2(t) \\ && +(2\beta(t)\beta'(t)-\mu_1)\,y^2(t-r)+(\beta(t)\beta'(t)-\mu_2)\,z^2(t-r), \\ U_2 &=& \left[\beta(t)f'(x)+2\beta'(t)\right]y(t)y(t-r)+\left[\beta'(t)-\beta(t)\Psi(y)+d\beta\right]z(t)z(t-r) \\ && +2y(t)z(t)+(2\beta(t)+d\beta'(t))\,y(t)z(t-r)-\beta(t)z(t-r)g(y) \\ && +2\beta(t)y(t-r)z(t)+2\beta^2(t)y(t-r)z(t-r), \\ U_3 &=& \beta'(t)y(t-r)f(x). \end{array}$$

On the other hand, from the assumptions (ii) of theorem 2.1 we have $|f(x)| < \delta |x|$; and by using $2uv \leq u^2 + v^2$ we obtain,

$$\begin{array}{rl} U_1 &\leq & \left(d - \Psi(y) + \mu_2\right) z^2(t) + \left(-dd_0 + \delta + \mu_1 + \lambda r\right) y^2(t) \\ &\quad + \left(2\beta(t)\beta'(t) - \mu_1\right) y^2(t-r) + \left(\beta(t)\beta'(t) - \mu_2\right) z^2(t-r). \end{array}$$

We have also,

$$\begin{split} U_2 &\leq \left[\frac{\beta(t)\delta}{2} + \left| \beta'(t) \right| + 1 + \beta(t) \left(1 + \frac{d_1}{2} \right) + \frac{d \left| \beta'(t) \right|}{2} \right] y^2(t) \\ &+ \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\left| \beta'(t) \right| + \beta(t) \left[\Psi(y) - d \right] \right) + 1 + \beta(t) \right] z^2(t) \\ &+ \left[\frac{\beta(t)\delta}{2} + \left| \beta'(t) \right| + \beta(t) + \beta^2(t) \right] y^2(t - r) \\ &+ \left[\frac{\left| \beta'(t) \right|}{2} + \frac{\beta(t)}{2} \left[\Psi(y) - d \right] + \beta(t) \left(1 + \frac{d_1}{2} \right) + \frac{d \left| \beta'(t) \right|}{2} + \beta^2(t) \right] z^2(t - r), \end{split}$$

and

$$U_3 \le \frac{|\beta'(t)|}{2} (y^2(t-r) + \delta^2 x^2).$$

In the same way using (ii) we get

$$\begin{split} z \int_{t-r}^{t} f'(x(s)y(s)ds &\leq \frac{\delta r}{2}z^2 + \frac{\delta}{2}\int_{t-r}^{t}y^2(s)ds, \\ \beta(t)z(t-r)\int_{t-r}^{t} f'(x(s)y(s)ds &\leq \frac{\beta_1\delta r}{2}z^2(t-r) + \frac{\delta\beta_1}{2}\int_{t-r}^{t}y^2(s)ds, \\ dy \int_{t-r}^{t} f'(x(s)y(s)ds &\leq \frac{\delta r}{2}dy^2 + \frac{\delta d}{2}\int_{t-r}^{t}y^2(s)ds. \end{split}$$

So, after rearrangement and putting $\lambda = \frac{\delta}{2} (1 + c + d)$, by the fact that $\beta'(t) \leq 0$, $|\beta'(t)| \leq \alpha$ and $\beta(t) \leq c$ we obtain from conditions (*H*1)-(*H*4) that

$$V'_{(3)} \leq -K_1 \left(y^2(t) + z^2(t) \right) + \left| \beta'(t) \right| \left(1 + \frac{d}{2} \right) y^2(t) + \frac{\left| \beta'(t) \right|}{2} \delta^2 x^2(t),$$

where

$$K_1 = \min\{-\eta_3 + \frac{\delta r}{2}, -\eta_1 + \left(\frac{d\delta}{2} + \lambda\right)r\}.$$

Using (v) we obtain $e^{-\frac{\rho}{\omega}} < e^{-\frac{1}{\omega}\int_{T}^{t} |\beta'(s)|ds} < 1$, for all $t \ge T$: Choosing $\omega = \frac{K_0}{K_2}$ where $K_2 = \max\{\left(1 + \frac{d}{2}\right), \frac{\delta^2}{2}\}.$ We conclude that

$$W'_{(3)} \leq -L_1 \left[y^2(t) + z^2(t) \right],$$

so that

 $L_1 = K_1 e^{-\frac{\rho}{\omega}}$.

From (3), $W3(||X||) = L1(y^2(t) + z^2(t))$ is positive definite function. The above discussion guarantees that the null solution of equation (1) is asymptotically stable and completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.

2.2 Boundedness

Our main theorem in this section is stated with respect to $p(t) \neq 0$ as follows :

Theorem 3.1. Assume that all the conditions of Theorem 2.1 are satisfied and there exist positive constants p_1 and p_2 such that :

- I_1 $|p(t)| \le < p_1$,
- $I_2) \left| \int_0^t p(s) ds \right| < p_2,$

Then there exists a positive constant D such that any solution x(t) of (1) and their derivatives x'(t), and x''(t) satisfies

$$|x(t)| \le D, \ |x'(t)| \le D, \ |x''(t)| \le D.$$
(7)

Proof. For the case $p(t) \neq 0$; equation (1) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} x' = y, \\ y' = z, \\ Z' = p(t) - \Psi(y)z - g(y) - f(x) + \int_{t-r}^{t} f'(x(s))y(s)ds. \end{cases}$$
(8)

On differentiating (5) along the system (8), using condition (11) we obtain

$$V'_{(8)} \le -L_1 \left(y^2 + z^2 \right) + \frac{L_2}{K_0} q(t) V + L_3 p(t), \tag{9}$$

where

 $L_3 = 2L_2 \text{ with } L_2 = \max\{1, d\}.$ Integrating both sides (9) from t1 to t, we easily obtain $V(t) - V(t_1) \le L_3 \int_{t_1}^t p(s)ds + \frac{L_2}{K_0} \int_{t_1}^t V(s)p(s)ds.$

By using Gronwall inequality it follows

$$V(t) \le p_3 \exp\left(\frac{L^2}{K_0} \int_{t_1}^t p(s) ds\right) \le p_4,$$
 (10)

with

 $p_4 = p_3 \exp\left(\frac{L_2}{K_0} q_2\right)$

and

 $p_3 = V(t_1) + L_3 p_2.$

This result implies that there exist constant D such that

 $|x(t)| \le D, |y(t)| \le D, |Z(t)| \le D.$

From (8) we have

|x'(t)| = |y(t)| < D,|x''(t)| = |z(t)| < D.

This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.

2.3 Square integrability

Our next result concerns the square integrability of solutions of equation (1).

Theorem 4.1. In addition to the assumptions of Theorem 3.1, If we assume that

$$I_3) M \geq 1 + \frac{\alpha}{2}$$

Then all the solutions of (1) and their derivatives are elements of $L^2[0, +\infty)$. **Proof.** Define H(t) as

$$H(t) = W(t) + \varepsilon \int_{t_1}^t (y^2(s) + z^2(s)) ds.$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a constant to be specified later. By differentiating H(t) and using (9) we obtain

(11)

$$H'(t) \le (\varepsilon - L_1) (y^2(s) + z^2(s)) + (\frac{L_2}{K_0}V + L_3)p(t)$$

If we Choose $\varepsilon - L1 < 0$, then from (10) we get

$$H'(t) \le L_4 p(t), \tag{12}$$

where

 $L_4 = \frac{L_2}{K_0}p_4 + L_3.$

Integrating (11) from t1 to t, $t \ge t1$, $t1 \ge t0 + r$ and using condition (12) of Theorem 3.1 we get $H(t) - H(t_1) = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} H'(s) ds \le L_4 p_2.$

We can conclude by (11) that

$$\int_{t_1}^t (z^2(s) + y^2(s))ds < \frac{L_4p_2 + p_3 - L_3p_2}{\varepsilon},$$

which imply the existence of positive constants $\sigma 1$ and $\sigma 2$ such that

$$\int_{t_1}^t x'^2(s) ds \le \sigma_1,\tag{13}$$

and

$$\int_{t_1}^t x''^2(s) ds \leq \sigma_2;$$

Next multiplying (1) by x(t - r), and integrating from t_1 to t we have

$$\int_{t_1}^t f(x(s-r))x(s-r)ds = A_1(t) + A_2(t) + A_3(t) + A_4(t)$$

(14)

where

$$\begin{aligned} A_1(t) &= -\int_{t_1}^t (x'''(s) + \beta(s)x'''(t-r))x(s-r)ds \\ A_2(t) &= -\int_{t_1}^t \Psi(x'(s))x''(s)x(s-r)ds, \\ A_3(t) &= -\int_{t_1}^t g(x'(s))x(s-r)ds, \\ A_4(t) &= \int_{t_1}^t p(t, x, x(s-r), x'(t), x'(s-r), x'')x(s-r)ds. \end{aligned}$$

Integrating by parts and using (13) and (14), we obtain

$$A_1(t) = -\left(\int_{t_1}^t (x'''(s)x(s-r)ds + \int_{t_1}^t \beta(s)x'''(s-r)x(s-r)ds\right)$$

$$\leq R_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2}\int_{t_1}^t x^2(s-r)ds$$

where

 $R_1 = |c_1 + c_2| + D^2(1 + c) + \frac{1}{2}(1 + c + \alpha)\sigma_2 + \frac{1+c}{2}\sigma_1.$ In the same way, after using (i)-(iii), (13) and (14) one arrives at $A_{2}(t) \leq \int_{t}^{t} |\Psi(x'(s))x''(s)x(s-r)| \, ds \leq \frac{\Psi_{1}^{2}}{2} \int_{t}^{t} x''^{2}(s) \, ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{t} x^{2}(s-r) \, ds$ $\leq R_2 + \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{t} x^2(s-r)ds,$ $A_3(t) \leq \int_{t_1}^t |g'(x'(s))x(s-r)| ds \leq \int_{t_2}^t g'^2(x'(s))ds + \int_{t_2}^t x^2(s-r)ds$ $\leq R_3 + \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} x^2(s-r) ds,$

$$\begin{array}{ll} A_4(t) & \leq & \int_{t_1}^t \left| p(s,x,y,x(s-r),x'(s-r),x''(s))x(s-r) \right| ds \\ & \leq & D \int_{t_1}^t \left| q(s) \right| ds \leq R_4, \end{array}$$

where

$$R_2 = \frac{\Psi_1^2}{2} \sigma_2, \ R_3 = \frac{d_1^2}{2} \sigma_1, \ R_4 = Dq_2.$$

In the other hand from condition (ii) we have

$$\int_{t_1}^t x(s-r)f(x(s-r))ds \ge M \int_{t_1}^t x^2(s-r)ds.$$

Hence, by condition I3 of Theorem 4.1 we obtain

$$(M - \frac{\alpha}{2} - 1) \int_{t_1}^t x^2 (s - r) ds \le R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4,$$

from which it follows that

$$\int_{t_1}^t x^2(s-r)ds < \infty$$

hence

$$\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} x^2(s) ds < \infty.$$

which is our desired conclusion.

3. Conclusion

In this paper asymptotic property of solutions of a class of nonlinear neutral delay differential equations are studied. Sufficient conditions are obtained for asymptotic stability, boundedness and square integrability of solutions

4. References

[1] L.E. El'sgol'ts. *Introduction to the theory of differential equations with deviating arguments*. Translated from the Russian by Robert J. McLaughlin Holden-Day, Inc., San Francisco, Calif.-London-Amsterdam(1966).

[2] J.R. Graef, D.Beldjerd and M. Remili. On stability, ultimate boundedness, and existence of periodic solutions of certain third order differential equations with delay. PanAmerican Mathematical Journal25 (2015),82-94.

[3] Kulenovic, M. R. S., Ladas, G. Meimaridou, A.. Stability of solutions of linear delay differential equations. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 100(1987), 433–441.

[4] M.O. Omeike, New results on the stability of solution of some non-autonomous delay differential equations of the third order. Differential Equations and Control Processes 2010 1, (2010), 18-29. [5] M.O. Omeike, New results on the asymptotic behavior of a third–order nonlinear differential equation. Equations Applications, Volume Differential and 2. Number (2010).39-51. 1 [6] M. Remili, and D. Beldjerd, On the asymptotic behavior of the solutions of third order delay differential equations. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, Vol No 3 (2014),447-455. 63. [7] M. Remili, D. Beldjerd, Stability and ultimate boundedness of solutions of some third order differential equations with delay. Journal of the Association of Arab Universities for Basic and Applied Sciences(2017)23,90-95.

[8] M. Remili, D. Beldjerd, On ultimate boundedness and existence of periodic solutions of kind of third order delay differential equations. Acta Universitatis Matthiae Belii, series Mathematics Issue 2016, 1-15.
[9] M. Remili, D. Beldjerd, A boundedness and stability results for a kind of third order delay differential equations. Applications and Applied Mathematics, vol. 10, Issue 2 (Decembre 2015), 772-782.
[10] M. Remili, L. D. Oudjedi., Stability of the solutions of nonlinear third order differential equations with multiple deviating arguments. Acta Univ. Sapientiae, Mathematica, 8, 1 (2016) 150–165.
[11] M. Remili, L. D. Oudjedi., Boundedness and stability in third order nonlinear differential equations with bounded delay. Analele University Oradea Fasc. Matematica, Tom XXIII (2016), Issue No. 1, 135–143.

[12] C. Tunç, On the stability and boundedness of solutions to third order nonlinear differential equations with retarded argument. Nonlinear Dynam. 57 (2009), no. 1-2, 97-106. EJQTDE, 2010 No. 12,p.18.
[13] C. Tunç, Some stability and boundedness conditions for non-autonomous differential equations with deviating arguments, E. J. Qualitative Theory of Diff. Equ., No. 1. (2010), pp. 1–12.

On Fixed Point Theorems of Some Multivalued Mappings

Seher Sultan Yeşilkaya Department of Mathematics, Kahramanmaraş Sütçü Imam University, Turkey, E-mail: sultanseher@gmail.com

Abstract

We aim to present new fixed point theorems for multivalued mapping on complete metric spaces with δ -distance following by Jleli and Samet. We introduce the notion of generalized multivalued new contractive in the context of complete metric spaces. Finally, we give an illustrative example, which shows the importance of δ -distance on the contraction condition.

Keyword(s): fixed point, multivalued mapping, metric space.

1. Introduction

Banach [1] introduced a famous fundamental fixed point theorem, also known as the Banach contraction principle. The Banach contraction principle is the simplest and one of the most adaptable elementary results in fixed point theory. Throughout the years, several extensions and generalizations of this principle have appeared in the literature. Recently, Nadler [2], introduced the notion of multi-valued contraction mapping and proved well known Banach contraction principle. Many authors followed Nadler's idea and gave their contributions in that sense, see for example [3, 4]. Denote by P(Y) the family of all nonempty subsets of Y, CB(Y) the family of all nonempty, closed and bounded subsets of Y and K(Y) the family of all nonempty compact subsets of Y. It is well known that, $H: CB(Y) \times CB(Y) \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is defined by, for every $K, L \in CB(Y)$,

$$H(K,L) = \max\left\{\sup_{k \in K} d(k,L), \sup_{l \in L} d(l,K)\right\}$$

is a metric on CB(Y), which is called the Pompeiu–Hausdorff metric induced by d, where $D(k, L) = \inf\{d(k, l): l \in L\}$ and $D(K, L) = \sup\{D(k, L): k \in K\}$.

Lemma 1.1. [2] Let K and L be nonempty closed and bounded subsets of a metric space. Therefore, for any $k \in K$,

$$D(k,L) \leq H(K,L).$$

Lemma 1.2. [2] Let K and L be nonempty closed and bounded subsets of a metric space and h > 1. Subsequently, for all $k \in K$, there exists $l \in L$ such that

$$d(k,l) \le hH(K,L).$$

Later in [5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12] different fixed point were introduced for multi-valued contractive mappings using δ -distance. Let (Y, d) be a metric spaces and $K, L \in B(Y)$. The δ -distance is denoted by $\delta: B(Y) \times B(Y) \to [0, \infty)$ and defined by $\delta(K, L) = \sup\{d(k, l): k \in K, l \in L\}$. Moreover, $\delta(K, K) = \sup\{d(k, l): k, l \in K\} = diamK$ denotes the diameter of the set K. If $K = \{k\}$ we have $\delta(K, L) = \delta(k, L)$ and if $L = \{l\}$, thus $\delta(K, L) = d(k, l)$. It is easy to prove that, $\delta(K, L) = \delta(L, K) \ge 0$, $\delta(K, L) \le \delta(K, E) + \delta(E, L)$ and $\delta(K, L) = 0$ implies that $K = L = \{k\}$. If (K_n) is a sequence in B(Y), we say that (K_n) converges to $K \subseteq Y$ have $K_n \to K$ if and only if $k \in K$ implies that $k_n \to k$ for some sequence k_n with $k_n \in K_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for any $\epsilon > 0$, $\exists p \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $K_n \subseteq K_{\epsilon}$ for n > p, where $K_{\epsilon} = \{y \in Y: d(y, k) < \epsilon \text{ for some } k \in K\}$.

2. Preliminaries

Berinde [13] introduced the concept of a multi-valued weakly Picard operator.

Definition 2.1. [13] Let (Y, d) be a complete metric space and $T: Y \to P(Y)$ be a multi-valued operator. A mapping $T: Y \to P(Y)$ is said to be a multivalued weakly Picard (MWP) operator if for every $u \in Y$ and any $v \in Tu$, there exists a sequence (u_n) in Y such that

- i. $u_0 = u$, $u_1 = v$;
- ii. $u_{n+1} \in Tu_n;$
- iii. the sequence u_n is convergent and its limit is a fixed point of T.

Berinde [14, 15, 16] defined almost contraction (or (δ, L) -weak contraction) mappings in a metric space. In the same paper, Berinde [13] introduced the concepts of multi-valued almost contraction (the original name was multi-valued (δ, L) -weak contraction) and proved the following nice fixed point theorem:

Theorem 2.2. [13] Let (Y, d) be a complete metric spaces, $T: Y \to CB(Y)$ be a multi-valued almost contraction, which is, there exist two constants $\delta \in (0,1)$ and $L \ge 0$, such that

 $H(Tu, Tv) \le \delta d(u, v) + LD(v, Tu)$

for all $u, v \in Y$. Subsequently, T is a multi-valued almost contraction operator.

Thereafter, Dass and Gupta [17] introduced the concepts of rational contractive and submited the following nice fixed point theorem.

Theorem 2.3. Let (Y, d) be a complete metric space. A mapping $T: Y \to Y$ is said to be rational contractive, that is, a mapping for which there exists two constant $\alpha, \beta > 0$ and $\alpha + \beta < 1$ such that

$$d(Tu, Tv) \leq \alpha d(u, v) + \beta d(v, Tv) \frac{1+d(u, Tu)}{1+d(u, v)},$$

for all $(u, v) \in Y$. Then T has a unique fixed point in Y.

Lately, Jleli and Samet [18] introduced a new type of contraction mappings. Jleli and Samet called it as θ -contractivity. They introduced the family of all functions, $\theta: (0, \infty) \to (1, \infty)$ supplying the following particulars by Θ :

• $(\Theta_1) \theta$ is nondecreasing;

• (Θ_2) For each sequence $\{s_n\} \subset (0, \infty)$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} \theta(s_n) = 1$ if and only if $\lim_{n \to \infty} s_n = 0^+$;

• (Θ_3) There exists $m \in (0,1)$ and $z \in (0,\infty]$ such that $\lim_{s \to 0^+} \frac{\theta(s)-1}{s^m} = z$.

After all Ahmet et al. [19] used the following weaker condition in place of the condition (Θ_3): (Θ_3) Θ is continuous on ($0, \infty$).

Let Ω be the family of all functions θ satisfying $(\Theta_1) - (\Theta'_3)$.

Recently, Durmaz and Altun [20] introduced some fixed point theorems for multi-valued almost θ -contractive mappings in metric spaces.

The aim of this study, following by Mınak, Altun, [12], Dass, Gupta [17] Jleli and Samet [18], to prove some new multi-valued fixed point theorems with δ -distance.

3. Main Results

Definition 3.1. Let (Y, d) be a metric space and $T: Y \to B(Y)$ be a mapping and $\theta \in \Omega$. Therefore we say that *T* a rational type multi-valued θ_{δ} -contractive. Assume that there exists $\theta \in \Omega$ and $k \in (0,1)$ such that

$$\theta(\delta(Tu, Tv)) \le [\theta(A(u, v))]^k, \tag{1}$$

for all $(u, v) \in Y$, with min{ $\delta(Tu, Tv), d(u, v)$ } > 0 where

$$A(u,v) = \max\{d(u,v), D(u,Tu), D(v,Tv), \frac{D(v,Tv)[1+D(u,Tu)]}{1+d(u,v)}\}.$$
(2)

Theorem 3.2. Let (Y, d) be a complete metric space and $T: Y \to B(Y)$ be a rational type multi-valued θ_{δ} -contractive mapping. Assume that Tu is closed for all $u \in Y$, then T has a fixed point.

Corollary 3.3. Let's show that known contractive mapping of Theorem 3.2. That is, if $T: Y \to B(Y)$ is a contractive mapping, such as, there exists $k \in (0,1)$ such that

$$\delta(Tu, Tv) \le kA(u, v) \tag{3}$$

for all $(u, v) \in Y$, with min{ $\delta(Tu, Tv), d(u, v)$ } > 0 where

$$A(u,v) = \max\{d(u,v), D(u,Tu), D(v,Tv), \frac{D(v,Tv)[1+D(u,Tu)]}{1+d(u,v)}\}.$$
(4)

Thus we obtain

$$e^{\delta(Tu,Tv)}(\delta(Tu,Tv)) \le \left[e^{\max\{d(u,v),D(u,Tu),D(v,Tv),\frac{D(v,Tv)[1+D(u,Tu)]}{1+d(u,v)}\}}\right]^{k},$$
(5)

Obviously, $\theta \in \Omega$ be a function defined as $\theta(p) = e^p$. Corollary (3.3) is a generalization of the rational type multi-valued contractive mapping.

5. Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank the referees for their careful reading of the manuscript and valuable suggestions.

6. References

- [1] Banach, S. Sur les operations dans les ensembles abstracits et leur application aux equations integrales. *Fund. Math.*, **1922**, *3*, 133-181.
- [2] Nadler, S. B. Multivalued contraction mappings. Pasific J. Math. 1969, 30, 475-488.
- [3] Assad, N.; and Kirk, W. Fixed point theorems for set-valued mappings of contractive type. *Pacific J. Math.* 43, **1972**, 3, 553-562.
- [4] Aydi, H., Abbas, M., Vetro, C. Partial Hausdorff metric and Nadler's fixed point theorem on partial metric spaces. *Topol Appl.*, 2012, 159, 14, 3234-3242.
- [5] Fisher, B.: Set-valued mappings on metric spaces. Fund. Math. 112(2), 141–145, (1981).
- [6] Altun, I.: Fixed point theorems for generalized ϕ -weak contractive multivalued maps on metric and ordered metric spaces. *Arab. J. Sci. Eng.* 36(8), 1471-1483, (2011).
- [7] Fisher, B.: Common fixed points of mappings and set-valued mappings. *Rostock. Math. Kolloq.* 18, 69-77 (1981).
- [8] Fisher, B.: Fixed points for set-valued mappings on metric spaces. *Bull. Malaysian Math. Soc.* 2(4), 95-99 (1981).
- [9] Fisher, B.: Common fixed points of set-valued mappings. *Punjab Univ. J. Math. (Lahore)* 14(15), 155-163 (1981-82).
- [10] Acar, Ö and Altun, I., A Fixed Point Theorem for Multivalued Mappings with δ -Distance, *Abstract* and *Applied Analysis*, Article ID 497092, 5 pages 2014.
- [11] Acar, Ö. A Fixed Point Theorem for multivalued almost F_{δ} -contraction, *Results in Mathematics*, 72.3: 1545-1553, 2017.
- [12] Mınak, G.; Altun, I., A stationary point theorem for multivalued θ -contractions, *Journal of Nonlinear Functional Analysis*, Article ID 12, (2016).
- [13] Berinde, M.; Berinde, V. On a general class of multivalued weakly Picard mappings. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 2007, 326, 772-782.

- [14] Berinde, V. On the approximation of fixed points of weak contractive mappings. *Carpathian J. Math.* **2003**, *19* 1, 7-22.
- [15] Berinde, V. Approximating fixed points of weak contractions using the Picard iteration. *Nonlinear Anal. Forum*, **2004**, *9*, 1, 43-53
- [16] Berinde, V. Iterative Approximation of Fixed Points, Springer-Verlag. Berlin Heidelberg, 2007
- [17] Dass, B.K. and Gupta, S. An extension of Banach contraction principle through rational expression, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 6 (12) (1975) 1455-1458.
- [18] Jleli, M.; Samet, B. A new generalization of the Banach contraction principle, *J. Inequal. Appl.*, **2014**, *38*.
- [19] Ahmad, J.; Al-Mazrooei, A.E. Cho, Y.J. Yang, Y.O. Fixed point results for generalized θ -contractions. J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 2017, 10, 2350-2358.
- [20] Durmaz, G.; Altun, I., A new perspective for multivalued weakly Picard operators. Publ de L'Inst Math. 2017, 101, 115, 197-204.

On Fourth Fundamental Form of the Translation Hypersurface

Erhan Güler¹, Ömer Kişi²

^{1,2}Faculty of Sciences, Departmant of Mathematics, Bartin University, Turkey E-mail(s): eguler@bartin.edu.tr okisi@bartin.edu.tr

Abstract

We examine the fourth fundamental form of the translation hypersurface in the four dimensional Euclidean space. We also discuss I, II, III and IV fundamental forms of a translation hypersurface.

1. Introduction

A *translation surface* is a surface that is generated by translations: for two space curves α , β with a common point *P*, the curve α is shifted such that point *P* is moving on β . Then the curve α generates a translation surface $\mathbf{x}(u, v) = \alpha(u) + \beta(v)$.

Translation surface examples: The *elliptic paraboloid* $z = x^2 + y^2$ can be generated by parabolas α : $(x, 0, x^2)$ and β : $(0, y, y^2)$. *Right circular cylinder*: α is a circle (or another cross section) and β is a line. The *hyperbolic paraboloid* $z = x^2 - y^2$ can be generated by parabolas α : $(x, 0, x^2)$ and β : $(0, y, -y^2)$.

A *translation hypersurface* (TH) in \mathbb{E}^4 is a hypersurface that is generated by translations: for three space curves α , β , γ with a common point *P*, the curve α is shifted such that point *P* is moving on β and γ , respectively. So, the curve α generates a translation hypersurface in \mathbb{E}^4 .

Parametrization of the translation hypersurface is given by

 $\mathbf{x}(u, v, w) = (u, 0, 0, f(u)) + (0, v, 0, g(v)) + (0, 0, w, h(w)) = \alpha(u) + \beta(v) + \gamma(w),$ where f(u), g(v), h(w) are differentiable functions for all $u, v, w \in I \subset \mathbb{R}$. More clear form of it as follows

$$\mathbf{x}(u, v, w) = (u, v, w, f(u) + g(v) + h(w)).$$
(1.1)

Arslan et al [1] studied translation surfaces in 4-dimensional Euclidean space. Chen, Sun, and Tang [2] introduced translation hypersurfaces with constant mean curvature (CMC) in (n + 1)-dimensional spaces. Dillen, Verstraelen, and Zafindratafa [3] worked a generalization of the translation surfaces of Scherk. Inoguchi, Lopez, and Munteanu [4] studied minimal translation surfaces in the Heisenberg group Nil₃. Lima, Santos, and Sousa [5] gave translation hypersurfaces with constant scalar curvature into the Euclidean space. Lima, Santos, and Sousa [6] considered generalized translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. Lipez [8] studied minimal translation surfaces in Euclidean space. Lipez [8] studied minimal translation surfaces in hyperbolic space. Lopez and Moruz [9] obtained translation and homothetical surfaces in Sol₃. Moruz and Munteanu [11] considered hypersurfaces in the Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^4 defined as the sum of a curve and a surface whose mean curvature vanishes. Munteanu, Palmas, and Ruiz-Hernandez [12] studied minimal translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. Scherk [13] gave his classical minimal translation surface. Seo [14] worked translation hypersurfaces with constant curvature

in space forms. Verstraelen, Walrave, and Yaprak [15] studied on the minimal translation surfaces in \mathbb{E}^n for arbitrary dimension *n*. Yang and Fu [16] worked affine translation surfaces in affine space. Yoon [17] focused the Gauss map of translation surfaces in Minkowski 3-space.

In this paper, we study the fourth fundamental form of the translation hypersurface in the four dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^4 . We give fundamental notions of four dimensional Euclidean geometry. In addition, we obtain fundamental forms I, II, III, and IV of translation hypersurface.

2. Preliminaries

In \mathbb{E}^{n+1} , to find the *i*-th curvature formulas \mathfrak{C}_i , where i = 0, 1, ..., n, we use characteristic polynomial of shape operator **S**:

$$P_{\mathbf{S}}(\lambda) = 0 = \det(\mathbf{S} - \lambda I_n) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k s_k \lambda^{n-k},$$
(2.1)

where I_n denotes the identity matrix of order n. Then, we get curvature formulas $\binom{n}{i} \mathfrak{C}_i = s_i$. Here, $\binom{n}{0} \mathfrak{C}_0 = s_0 = 1$ by definition. *k*-th fundamental form of hypersurface M^n is defined by

$$I(\mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X),Y) = \langle \mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X),Y \rangle.$$

So, we get

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{i} {\binom{n}{i}} \mathfrak{C}_{i} \operatorname{I}(\mathbf{S}^{k-1}(X), Y) = 0.$$
(2.2)

In the rest of this paper, we shall identify a vector (a, b, c, d) with its transpose $(a, b, c, d)^t$.

Let $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M}(u, v, w)$ be an isometric immersion of a hypersurface M^3 in \mathbb{E}^4 . Inner product of vectors $\vec{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)$ and $\vec{y} = (y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4)$ in \mathbb{E}^4 is given by as follows:

 $\langle \vec{x}, \vec{y} \rangle = x_1 y_1 + x_2 y_2 + x_3 y_3 + x_4 y_4.$ Vector product $\vec{x} \times \vec{y} \times \vec{z}$ of $\vec{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4), \ \vec{y} = (y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4), \ \vec{z} = (z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4)$ in \mathbb{E}^4 is defined by as follows:

$$\vec{x} \times \vec{y} \times \vec{z} = \det \begin{pmatrix} e_1 e_2 e_3 e_4 \\ x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4 \\ y_1 y_2 y_3 y_4 \\ z_1 z_2 z_3 z_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

The Gauss map of a hypersurface **M** is given by

$$e = \frac{\mathbf{M}_u \times \mathbf{M}_v \times \mathbf{M}_w}{\|\mathbf{M}_u \times \mathbf{M}_v \times \mathbf{M}_w\|}$$

where $\mathbf{M}_u = d\mathbf{M}/du$. For a hypersurface **M** in \mathbb{E}^4 , we have

$$\det I = \det \begin{pmatrix} E & F & A \\ F & G & B \\ A & B & C \end{pmatrix} = (EG - F^2)C - EB^2 + 2FAB - GA^2,$$
$$\det I = \det \begin{pmatrix} L & M & P \\ M & N & T \\ P & T & V \end{pmatrix} = (LN - M^2)V - LT^2 + 2MPT - NP^2,$$

detIII = det
$$\begin{pmatrix} X & Y & O \\ Y & Z & R \\ O & R & S \end{pmatrix}$$
 = $(XZ - Y^2)S - XR^2 + 2YOR - ZO^2$.

Here, the coefficients are given by

 $E = \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{u} \rangle, \quad F = \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{v} \rangle, \quad G = \langle \mathbf{M}_{v}, \mathbf{M}_{v} \rangle, \quad A = \langle \mathbf{M}_{u}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \quad B = \langle \mathbf{M}_{v}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \quad C = \langle \mathbf{M}_{w}, \mathbf{M}_{w} \rangle, \\ L = \langle \mathbf{M}_{uu}, e \rangle, \quad M = \langle \mathbf{M}_{uv}, e \rangle, \quad N = \langle \mathbf{M}_{vv}, e \rangle, \quad P = \langle \mathbf{M}_{uw}, e \rangle, \quad T = \langle \mathbf{M}_{vw}, e \rangle, \quad V = \langle \mathbf{M}_{ww}, e \rangle, \\ X = \langle e_{u}, e_{u} \rangle, \quad Y = \langle e_{u}, e_{v} \rangle, \quad Z = \langle e_{v}, e_{v} \rangle, \quad O = \langle e_{u}, e_{w} \rangle, \quad R = \langle e_{v}, e_{w} \rangle, \quad S = \langle e_{w}, e_{w} \rangle, \\ \text{and } e \text{ is the Gauss map (i.e. the unit normal vector field).}$

3. The Fourth Fundamental Form

Next, we will obtain the fourth fundamental form matrix for a hypersurface $\mathbf{M}(u, v, w)$ in \mathbb{E}^4 . Using characteristic polynomial $P_{\mathbf{S}}(\lambda) = a\lambda^3 + b\lambda^2 + c\lambda + d = 0$, we obtain curvature formulas: $\mathfrak{C}_0 = 1$ (by definition),

$$\mathfrak{C}_1 = -\frac{b}{\binom{3}{1}a}, \ \mathfrak{C}_2 = \frac{c}{\binom{3}{2}a}, \ \mathfrak{C}_3 = -\frac{d}{\binom{3}{3}a}.$$

Theorem 3.1. For any hypersurface M^3 in \mathbb{E}^4 , the fourth fundamental form is related by $\mathfrak{C}_0 IV - 3\mathfrak{C}_1 III + 3\mathfrak{C}_2 II - \mathfrak{C}_3 I = 0.$

 $\mathfrak{C}_0 IV - 3\mathfrak{C}_1 III + 3\mathfrak{C}_2 II - \mathfrak{C}_3 I = 0.$ (3.1) Proof. Taking n = 3 in (2.2), then some computing, we get the fourth fundamental form matrix as follows

$$IV = \begin{pmatrix} \zeta & \eta & \delta \\ \eta & \phi & \sigma \\ \delta & \sigma & \xi \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.2)

where

$$\zeta = - \frac{ \begin{cases} CL^2N - CLM^2 - GLP^2 + B^2LX + A^2NX + GL^2V + F^2VX + NP^2E + M^2VE \\ -CNXE - GVXE - CGLX + 2(BTXE - BL^2T - MPTE + ABMX - ALNP \\ +BLMP + ALMT + CFMX + AGPX - BFPX - AFTX - FLMV + FLPT) \end{cases}}{detl},$$

$$\eta = \frac{ \begin{cases} CM^3 - FNP^2 - GMP^2 - FLT^2 - B^2LY - A^2NY + FM^2V - F^2VY + MT^2E \\ +CNYE - MNVE + GVYE - CLMN + CGLY + FLNV - GLMV + 2(AFPY \\ -BTYE + ABMY + ANMP - BLMT - CFMY - AGPY + BFPY - TM^2A - BM^2P) \end{cases}}{detl},$$

$$\delta = \frac{ \begin{cases} GP^3 - B^2LO - A^2NO + ANP^2 + CM^2P - ALT^2 - AVM^2 - F^2OV + PT^2E \\ +CNOE + GOVE - NPVE + CGLO - CLNP + ALNV - GLPV + 2(ABMO \\ -BOTE - CFMO - AGOP + BFOP + AFOT - BLPT + FMPV - BMP^2 - FP^2T) \end{cases}}{detl},$$

$$\phi = - \frac{ \begin{cases} CLN^2 - CM^2N - GLT^2 + B^2LZ + A^2NZ + GM^2V + F^2VZ - NT^2E + N^2VE \\ -CNZE - GVZE - CGLZ + 2(-AN^2P + BTZE - ABMZ + BMNP + ANMT \\ -BLNT + CFMZ + AGPZ - BFPZ - AFTZ + FMNV + FNPT - GMPT) \end{cases}}{detl},$$

$$\sigma = \frac{\begin{cases} ET^3 - BNP^2 - B^2LR - A^2NR + BLT^2 + CM^2T - BM^2V + GP^2T - F^2RV \\ +CNRE + GRVE - NTVE + CGLR - CLNT + BLNV - GLTV + 2(ABMR \\ -BRTE - CFMR - AGPR + BFPR + AFRT + ANPT + FMTV - AT^2M - FT^2P) \end{cases}}{\det I}, \\ \frac{detI}{-CNSE - GSVE - CGLS + 2(-FMV^2 - GP^2V + F^2SV + NV^2E - T^2VE}{-CNSE - GSVE - CGLS + 2(-FMV^2 + BSTE - ABMS + CFMS + AGPS}}{\det I}.$$

4. Fundamental Forms of TH

Using the first differentials of (1.1) with respect to u, v, w, we have the Gauss map of the translation hypersurface (1.1):

$$e = \frac{1}{(\det l)^{1/2}} (f', g', h', -1), \tag{4.1}$$

where

$$\det I = f'^2 + g'^2 + h'^2 + 1,$$

and f' = df/du, g' = dg/dv, h' = dh/dw. Using the first differentials of (4.1) with respect to u, v, w, we get the first quantities as follows:

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} 1+f'^2 & f'g' & f'h' \\ f'g' & 1+g'^2 & g'h' \\ f'h' & g'h' & 1+h'^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Computing the second differentials of (4.1) with respect to u, v, w, we have the second quantities as follows:

II =
$$\begin{pmatrix} -f''/(\det I)^{1/2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -g''/(\det I)^{1/2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -h''/(\det I)^{1/2} \end{pmatrix}$$
.

Taking the first differentials of (4.1) with respect to u, v, w, we have the third quantities as follows:

$$III = \begin{pmatrix} f'^{2}(g'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)/(\det I)^{2} & -f'g'f''g''/(\det I)^{2} & -f'h'f''h''/(\det I)^{2} \\ -f'g'f''g''/(\det I)^{2} & g'^{2}(f'^{2} + h'^{2} + 1)/(\det I)^{2} & -g'h'g''h''/(\det I)^{2} \\ -f'h'f''h''/(\det I)^{2} & -g'h'g''h''/(\det I)^{2} & h'^{2}(f'^{2} + g'^{2} + 1)/(\det I)^{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
Is using (2.2) we obtain the fourth quantities of (1.1) is a summatrix matrix as follows

Finally, using (3.2), we obtain the fourth quantities of (1.1), i.e. symmetric matrix, as follows

$$IV = \begin{pmatrix} -2f''^{2}\Gamma/(\det I)^{11/2} & f'g'f''g''\Theta/(\det I)^{11/2} & f'h'f''h''\Omega/(\det I)^{11/2} \\ f'g'f''g''\Theta/(\det I)^{11/2} & -2g''^{2}Y/(\det I)^{11/2} & g'h'g''h''\Lambda/(\det I)^{11/2} \\ f'h'f''h''\Omega/(\det I)^{11/2} & g'h'g''h''\Lambda/(\det I)^{11/2} & -2h''^{2}\Phi/(\det I)^{11/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here, the functions
$$\Gamma$$
, Θ , Ω , Υ , Λ , Φ are given by as follows, respectively,

$$\Gamma = (1/2)(\det I)^2 [f'^2 g'^2 g'' + (g'^2 + h'^2 + 1)^2 f''] - \{(\det I)^{1/2} (g'^2 + h'^2 + 1)(f'^2 f'' + g'^2 g'') + [(\det I)^{3/2} (f'^2 + g'^2)g'' + (1/2)(\det I)^2 f'^2]\}h'^2h'' - (1/2)[(f'^2 + 2g'^2 + 1)g'' - (g'^2 + 1)f'']f'^2h'^2h''^2,$$

$$\begin{split} \Theta &= -2(\det 1)^{1/2}(f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'^2h'' + (f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'^2h''^2 \\ &\quad -(\det 1)^2[h'^2h'' - (g'^2 + h'^2 + 1)f'' - (f'^2 + h'^2 + 1)g''], \\ \Omega &= -2(\det 1)^{1/2}(f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'^2h'' + g'^2g''^2h'' + [(f'^2h'^2f''h'' - (\det 1)^2g'^2)]g'' \\ &\quad +(\det 1)^2[(g'^2 + h'^2 + 1)f'' + (f'^2 + g'^2 + 1)h''], \\ Y &= -(\det 1)^{1/2}(f'^2 + h'^2 + 1)(f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'^2h'' \\ &\quad -\{[f'^2(1/2)(g'^2 + 1)f''] - (1/2)(f'^2 + 1)g''\}g'^2h'^2h''^2, \\ &\quad +[(\det 1)^{3/2}(f'^2 + g'^2)f'' + (1/2)(\det 1)^2g''^2]h'^2h'' \\ &\quad +(1/2)(\det 1)^2[f'^2g'^2f'' + (f'^2 + h'^2 + 1)^2g''], \\ \Lambda &= -2(\det 1)^{1/2}(f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'^2h'' - [(\det 1)^2f'^2 - g'^2h'^2f''h''] \\ &\quad +(\det 1)^2[(f'^2 + h'^2 + 1)g'' + (f'^2 + g'^2 + 1)h''], \\ \Phi &= -(\det 1)^{1/2}(f'^2 + g'^2 + 1)h'^2(f'^2f'' + g'^2g'')h'' + \{(1/2)(\det 1)^2f'^2 - (1/2)g'^2(h'^2 + 1)g''^2 \\ &\quad +(1/2)[(\det 1)^2g'^2h'^2g'' + (f'^2 + 1)g''^2h'^2f''' + (\det 1)^2(f'^2 + g'^2 + 1)h''] \\ &\quad +[(\det 1)^{3/2}(f'^2 + g'^2) - f'^2g'^2h'']g''\}h'^2f''' \\ &\quad -(1/2)[(h'^2 + 1)g'' - (g'^2 + 1)h'']f'^2h'^2f''^2 \\ \end{array}$$

Corollary 4.1. The curves $\alpha(u)$, $\beta(v)$ and $\gamma(w)$ on translation hypersurface (1.1) have unit speed if and only if the fourth fundamental form matrix of (1.1) is IV = $(0)_{3\times 3}$. That is, the hypersurface (1.1) is a IV-minimal translation hypersurface.

5. Conclusion

Translation hypersurfaces have been worked by a number of authors, recently. We have extended some well-known results of the translation hypersurfaces with the help of the fourth fundamental form.

6. References

- [1] Arslan K., Bayram B., Bulca B., Öztürk G. On translation surfaces in 4-dimensional Euclidean space. *Acta Et Commentationes Uni. Tartuensis de Matematica* 20(2), (2016) 123-133.
- [2] Chen C., Sun H., Tang L. On translation hypersurfaces with constant mean curvature in (n+1)dimensional spaces. J. Beijing Inst. Tech. 12, (2003) 322-325.
- [3] Dillen F., Verstraelen L., Zafindratafa G. A generalization of the translation surfaces of Scherk. *Differential Geometry in honor of Radu Rosca*, K.U.L. (1991) 107-109.
- [4] Inoguchi J.I., Lopez R., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation surfaces in the Heisenberg group Nil₃. *Geometriae Dedicata* 161(1), (2012) 221-231.
- [5] Lima B.P., Santos N.L., Sousa P.A. Translation hypersurfaces with constant scalar curvature into the Euclidean space. *Israel J. Math.* 201, (2014) 797-811.
- [6] Lima B.P., Santos N.L., Sousa P.A. Generalized translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. J. *Math. Anal. Appl.* 470(2), (2019) 1129-1135.

- [7] Liu H. Translation surfaces with constant mean curvature in 3-dimensional spaces. J. Geom. 64, (1999) 141-149.
- [8] Lopez R. Minimal translation surfaces in hyperbolic space. *Beitr. Algebra Geom.* 52, (2011) 105-112.
- [9] Lopez R. Moruz M. Translation and homothetical surfaces in Euclidean space with constant curvature. *J. Korean Math. Soc.* 52(3), (2015) 523-535.
- [10] Lopez R., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation surfaces in Sol₃. J. Math. Soc. Japan 64(3), (2012) 985-1003.
- [11] Moruz M., Munteanu M.I. Minimal translation hypersurfaces in E⁴. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 439(2), (2016) 798-812.
- [12] Munteanu M.I., Palmas O., Ruiz-Hernandez G. Minimal translation hypersurfaces in Euclidean space. *Mediterr. J. Math.* 13, (2016) 2659-2676.
- [13] Scherk H.F. Bemerkungen über die kleinste fäche innerhalb gegebener grenzen. J. Reine Angew Math. 13, (1835) 185-208.
- [14] Seo K. Translaton hypersurfaces with constant curvature in space forms. Osaka J. Math. 50 (2013) 631-641.
- [15] Verstraelen L., Walrave J., Yaprak Ş. The minimal translation surfaces in Euclidean space. Soochow J. Math. 20 (1994), 77-82.
- [16] Yang D., Fu Y. On affine translation surfaces in affine space. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 440 (2), (2016) 437-450.
- [17] Yoon D.W. On the Gauss map of translation surfaces in Minkowski 3-space. *Taiwanese J. Math.* 6(3), (2002) 389-398.

On Non-null Rational Bézier Curves on 2-dimensional de Sitter Space S_1^2

Ayşe YILMAZ CEYLAN¹, Tunahan TURHAN² and Gözde ÖZKAN TÜKEL³ ¹Mathematics, Akdeniz University, Turkey, ² Electronic Technology, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey ³Finance, Banking and Insurance, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey, E-mail(s): ayilmazceylan@akdeniz.edu.tr, tunahanturhan@isparta.edu.tr, gozdetukel@isparta.edu.tr

Abstract

We constitute an orthonormal frame field of an arbitrary speed non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve at the end points on 2-dimensional de Sitter space S_1^2 known as one of the hyperquadrics in Minkowski 3-space. We get the formulas of geodesic curvature for a non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve that allows a curve to be characterized on the surface.

Key words: Darboux frame field, non-null Rational Bézier curve, 2-dimensional de Sitter space.

1. Introduction

Bézier curves are significant geometrical representations of curves that is used in many areas such as computer graphics, computer aided design, etc. Although Bézier curves can represent a wide variety of curves, the conic sections cannot be represented in Bézier form. In order to be able to include conic sections in Bézier form, rational quadratic Bézier curves are defined. A rational Bézier curve is defined by n control points b_0 through b_n and corresponding scalar weights ω_i , $0 \le i \le n$, where n is called its order. Bézier curves are called linear, quadratic, cubic or higher-grade curves according to n. b_0 and b_n are called end points of the curve. Recently, orthonormal frame fields and curvatures of rational Bézier curves are investigated by different spaces or surfaces (see for example [6, 7, 8]). Especially, Darboux frame and geodesic curvature of a quadratic rational Bézier curve at end points on two-dimensional sphere is studied in [8]. The frame field for quadratic rational Bézier curves on 2- dimensional sphere can be generalized hyperquadrics in Minkowski 3- space. Therefore, we construct the Darboux frame of a non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve on 2-dimensional de Sitter space S_1^2 . Then we obtain the formula of geodesic curvature of a non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve.

2. Preliminaries

Let \mathbb{R}^3_1 be the Minkowski 3-space endowed with a symmetric, bilinear and non-degenerate metric

$$\langle x, y \rangle = -x_1y_1 + x_2y_2 + x_3y_3,$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, y_3)$ are tangent vectors in \mathbb{R}^3_1 . The Lorentzian vector product of x and y is defined by

$$x \times_L y = (x_3y_2 - x_2y_3, -x_1y_3 + x_3y_1, -x_1y_2 - x_2y_1).$$

A tangent vector x in \mathbb{R}_1^3 is called spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) if it satisfies $\langle x, x \rangle > 0$ or x = 0 (resp. $\langle x, x \rangle < 0$, $\langle x, x \rangle = 0$ and $x \neq 0$). A curve α in \mathbb{R}_1^3 is said spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike) if its velocity vector is spacelike (resp. timelike, lightlike). Any spacelike or timelike curve is called non-null curve in \mathbb{R}_1^3 . A surface in \mathbb{R}_1^3 is a non-degenerate (or degenerate) if induced metric on its tangent plane is non-degenerate (or degenerate). A non-degenerate surface is called spacelike, if the induced metric is positive definite, a non-degenerate surface is called spacelike, if the induced metric is indefinite, a non-degenerate surface is called spacelike, if a non-degenerate surface with non-null normal vector field in \mathbb{R}_1^3 . We can assign an orthonormal frame to any point of a smooth regular non-null curve since we investigate the geometry of the curve. Generally, we choose the Darboux frame field if the smooth curve lies on a surface. This frame field is a reasonable way to set up on orthonormal trihedron to measure the change of a non-null curve on a non-degenerate surface.

Now, we assign a Darboux frame field at $\alpha(t)$ by using the unit normal vector field U(t) of the surface S. Then $T = \frac{\alpha'(t)}{\|\alpha'(t)\|}$ is tangent vector and $\varepsilon_1 W(t) = U(t) \times_L T(t)$ is known the binormal vector field of α , where $\varepsilon_1 = \mp 1 = \langle W, W \rangle$. Thus $\{T, W, U\}$ is the Darboux frame field on S along α with the following derivative equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} T'\\ W'\\ U' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon_1 \nu \kappa_g & \varepsilon_2 \nu \kappa_n \\ -\varepsilon_0 \nu \kappa_g & 0 & \varepsilon_2 \nu \tau_g \\ -\varepsilon_0 \nu \kappa_n & -\varepsilon_1 \nu \tau_g & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T\\ W\\ U \end{pmatrix},$$
(1)

where $v = ||\alpha'||$, κ_g , κ_n and τ_g are the speed, geodesic curvature, the normal curvature and the geodesic torsion of α , respectively, and $\varepsilon_0 = \mp 1 = \langle T, T \rangle$ and $\varepsilon_2 = \mp 1 = \langle U, U \rangle$. We can obviously see from (1) that the geodesic curvature of α at a point α (t) can be computed by the following equation by

$$\kappa_g = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \frac{\det(\alpha', \alpha'', U)}{\|\alpha'\|^3}.$$
(2)

If a non-null curve on S has zero geodesic curvature, then it is called a geodesic on the surface.

Definition 1: A rational Bézier curve of degree n with control points b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_n and corresponding scalar weights ω_i , $0 \le i \le n$, is defined to be

$$P(t) = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{n} \omega_i b_i B_{i,n}(t)}{\sum_{i=0}^{n} \omega_i B_{i,n}(t)}, \qquad t \in [0,1]$$

where

$$B_{i,n}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{n!}{(n-i)! \, i!}, & \text{if } 0 \le i \le n \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

are called the Bernstein polynomials, with the understanding that if $\omega_i = 0$, then $\omega_i b_i$ is to be replaced by b_i . It is assumed that all the weights are non-zero. Rational Bézier curves are called quadratic for n = 2 [1,3]. If $\omega_0 = \omega_1 = \cdots = \omega_n$, then the curve becomes an integral Bézier curve.

3. Darboux Frame of a Non-null Quadratic Rational Bézier Curves on 2-dimensional de Sitter Space S_1^2

A quadratic rational Bézier curve is defined by

$$P(t) = \frac{\sum_{i=0}^{2} \omega_i b_i B_{i,2}(t)}{\sum_{i=0}^{2} \omega_i B_{i,2}(t)},$$
(3)

where ω_i and b_i , $0 \le i \le 2$, are called weights and control points, respectively.

The first order derivative of the quadratic rational Bézier curve is given by the following equation:

$$P'(t) = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=0}^{2} \omega_i b_i B_{i,2}(t)\right)' - \left(\sum_{i=0}^{2} \omega_i B_{i,2}(t)\right)' B(t)}{\sum_{i=0}^{2} \omega_i B_{i,2}(t)}$$
(4)

By the help of the derivative of Bernstein polynomials and the derivative of Bézier curves [3], we get the following equation:

$$P'(t) = 2 \frac{\omega_0 \omega_1 (b_1 - b_0) (1 - t)^2 + \omega_1 \omega_2 (b_2 - b_1) t^2 + \omega_0 \omega_2 (b_2 - b_0) t (1 - t)}{\sum_{i=0}^2 \omega_i B_{i,2}(t)^2} .$$
 (5)

Let $S_1^2(r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3_1 | \langle x, x \rangle = r^2\}$ be a 2-dimensional pseudo-sphere which is also known as 2dimensional de Sitter space $S_1^2(r)$. Let $P: I \subset R \longrightarrow S_1^2(r)$ be a non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve. The position vector of *P* is expressed by

$$(t) = r \operatorname{U}(P(t)), \tag{6}$$

then we have P' = rU'. In this situation, (1) and (2) implies that

$$\kappa_n = -\varepsilon_0 \frac{1}{r}, \quad \tau_g = 0 \tag{7}$$

for every $t \in R$ (see, [5]). So, the derivative formulas of the Darboux frame along P is given by

$$T(t) = \frac{P'(t)}{\|P'(t)\|}, \quad \varepsilon_1 W(t) = \frac{P(t) \times_L P'(t)}{\|P(t) \times_L P'(t)\|}, \quad U(t) = \frac{1}{r} P(t)$$
(8)

with formulas

$$\begin{pmatrix} T'\\W'\\U' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon_1 \nu \kappa_g & -\frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_2 \nu}{r} \\ -\varepsilon_0 \nu \kappa_g & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\nu}{r} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} T\\W\\U \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9)

The following theorem give some results for the Darboux frame and the geodesic curvature for a quadratic rational Bézier curve at the point $P(0) = b_0$.

Theorem 3. The Darboux frame {T,W,U} and geodesic curvature κ_g of the non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve P(t) defined by (3) at t=0 on the 2-dimensional de Sitter space. $S_1^2(r)$ are given by

$$T|_{t=0} = \frac{\Delta^{1} b_{0}}{\|\Delta^{1} b_{0}\|'}$$
(10)

$$W|_{t=0} = \varepsilon_1 \frac{b_0 \times_L b_1}{\|b_0 \times_L b_1\|'},$$
(11)

$$U|_{t=0} = \frac{b_0}{r}$$
(12)

and

$$\kappa_g\Big|_{t=0} = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \frac{4\omega_1 \omega_2 \langle b_1 \times_L b_2, b_0 \rangle}{r \omega_0^3 \| \left(\frac{2\omega_1}{\omega_0} (b_1 - b_0)\right) \|^3},\tag{13}$$

where $\Delta^1 b_0 = b_1 - b_0 \neq 0$.

Proof. Taking into consideration (8) for t=0, we get

$$T|_{t=0} = \frac{\omega_0 \omega_1 (b_1 - b_0)}{\|\omega_0 \omega_1 (b_1 - b_0)\|} = \frac{(b_1 - b_0)}{\|(b_1 - b_0)\|} = \frac{\Delta^1 b_0}{\|\Delta^1 b_0\|},$$
$$W|_{t=0} = \varepsilon_1 \frac{\omega_0 b_0 \times_L \Delta^1 \omega_0 b_0}{\|\omega_0 b_0 \times_L \Delta^1 \omega_0 b_0\|} = \varepsilon_1 \frac{\omega_0 b_0 \times_L (\omega_1 b_1 - \omega_0 b_0)}{\|\omega_0 b_0 \times_L (\omega_1 b_1 - \omega_0 b_0)\|} = \varepsilon_1 \frac{\omega_0 b_0 \times_L \omega_1 b_1}{\|\omega_0 b_0 \times_L \omega_1 b_1\|}$$

and

$$U|_{t=0} = \frac{\omega_0 b_0}{r \omega_0}.$$

From (2) and (6), we have

$$\kappa_g \big|_{t=0} = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \frac{\langle P'(0) \times_L P''(0), P(0) \rangle}{\|P'(0)\|^3}.$$
(14)

We get from (3) and (5)

$$P(0) = b_0, \tag{15}$$

$$P'(0) = 2\frac{\omega_0 \omega_1 (b_1 - b_0)}{\omega_0^2} = \frac{\omega_1 \Delta^1 b_0}{\omega_0}, \qquad (16)$$

Taking derivative of (5), we obtain

$$P''(0) = \frac{\left(2\omega_0\omega_2(b_2 - b_0) - 4\omega_0\omega_1(b_1 - b_0)\right)\omega_0 - 2\omega_0\omega_1(b_1 - b_0)(2\omega_0(-2\omega_0 + 2\omega_1))}{\omega_0^4}$$

$$=\frac{(-4\omega_1 + 8\omega_0\omega_1 - 8\omega_1^2)\Delta^1 b_0 + 2\omega_2(b_2 - b_0)}{{\omega_0}^4}.$$
(17)

Cross product of (16) and (17) can be calculated as follows

$$P'(0) \times_{L} P''(0) = \frac{4\omega_{1}\omega_{2}((b_{1} - b_{0}) \times (b_{2} - b_{1}))}{\omega_{0}^{3}}.$$
(18)

Substituting (17), (18) and (4) into (14), we obtain (13).

Corollary 4. Any non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve P(t) defined by (3) at t=0 on the 2-dimensional de Sitter space $S_1^2(r)$ lies on a geodesic arc of $S_1^2(r)$ when

$$< b_1 \times_L b_2, b_0 >= 0$$
.

The following theorem give some results for the Darboux frame and the geodesic curvature for a non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve P(t) at the point P(1)= b_2 . The proof of the next theorem closely mirrors proof of Theorem 3 and is omitted.

Theorem 5. The Darboux frame {T,W,U} and geodesic curvature κ_g of the quadratic non-null rational Bézier curve P(t) defined by (3) at t=1 on the 2-dimensional de Sitter space $S_1^2(r)$ are given by

$$T|_{t=1} = \frac{\Delta^{1} b_{1}}{\|\Delta^{1} b_{1}\|'}$$
$$W|_{t=1} = \varepsilon_{1} \frac{b_{1} \times_{L} b_{2}}{\|b_{1} \times_{L} b_{2}\|'}$$
$$U|_{t=1} = \frac{b_{2}}{r}$$

and

$$\kappa_{g}\big|_{t=1} = \varepsilon_{1}\varepsilon_{2} \frac{4\omega_{1}\omega_{0} < b_{1} \times_{L} b_{0}, b_{2} >}{r\omega_{2}^{2} \parallel \left(\frac{2\omega_{1}}{\omega_{2}}(b_{2} - b_{1})\right) \parallel^{3}},$$

where $\Delta^1 b_1 = b_2 - b_1 \neq 0$.

Corollary 6. Any non-null quadratic rational Bézier curve P(t) defined by (3) at t=1 on the 2-dimensional de Sitter space $S_1^2(r)$ lies on a geodesic arc of $S_1^2(r)$ when

$$< b_1 \times_L b_0, b_2 >= 0.$$

4. References

[1] Farin, G. E., & Farin, G. (2002). Curves and surfaces for CAGD: a practical guide. Morgan Kaufmann Pub., USA.

[2] Lopez, R. (2014). Differential geometry of curves and surfaces in Lorentz-Minkowski space. International Electronic Journal of Geometry, 7(1), 44-107.

[3] Marsh D., (2006). Applied Geometry for Computer Graphics and CAD, Springer Science and Business Media.

[4] O'Neill, B., (1983). Semi-Riemann Geometry with Applications to Relativity. Academic Pres, 469 p. New York.

[5] Oral, M. (2010). Minkowsk 3-uzayda Hiperkuadrikler Üzerinde Elastik Eğriler, M.Sc. Thesis, Süleyman Demirel University Graduate School of Applied and Natural Sciences.

[6] Samancı, H. K. (2018) Minkowski-3 Uzayında Timelike Rasyonel Bezier Eğrilerinin Eğrilikleri Üzerine. Bitlis Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 7(2), 243-255.

[7] Samancı, H. K. (2018). Some geometric properties of the spacelike Bézier curve with a timelike principal normal in Minkowski 3-space. Cumhuriyet Science Journal, 39(1), 71-79.

[8] Yılmaz Ceylan A., Turhan T., Özkan Tükel. G. (2020). Darboux Frame Fields of Rational Bezier Curves on the Two Dimensional Sphere. 3rd International BILTEK Conference on Science, Technology & Current Developments, Haziran 19-20, Adana.

On Oscillation of Nonlinear Impulsive Differential Equations System with Piecewise Constant Mixed Arguments

Mehtap Lafci Büyükkahraman

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Usak University, Turkey E-mail: mehtap.lafci@usak.edu.tr

Abstract

A nonlinear impulsive differential equations system with piecewise constant mixed arguments is considered. Also, the existence and uniqueness of the solutions are proved. Moreover, sufficient conditions for the oscillation of the solutions are obtained. Finally, two examples are given.

1. Introduction

The applications of various neural networks in many areas, such as signal processing, image processing, pattern recognition, fault diagnosis, associative memory, and combinatorial optimization have developed rapidly ([5], [6], [8], [10], [13]). In addition, piecewise constant systems proposed by Busenberg and Cooke [2] exist in widely expanded areas such as biomedicine, chemistry, mechanical engineering, physics, etc. Such systems are described as a combination of continuous and discrete (hybrid dynamical systems) and so combine properties of both differential and difference equations. Moreover, cellular neural networks with piecewise constant argument have been investigated by some authors ([4], [7], [11], [12]).

On the other hand, in the real world, many evolutionary processes are characterized by sudden changes at certain times. These changes are said to be impulsive phenomena that take place in many areas, such as physics, chemistry, population dynamics, optimal control, etc.

Most neural networks can be classified into two categories, either continuous or discrete. However, they exhibit characteristics both continuous and discrete styles in many real world systems and natural processes. So, the impulsive differential equations with piecewise constant argument which are named by Wiener [12] have been important. Recently, impulsive cellular neural networks models with piecewise constant argument have been studied in the papers ([1], [3], [9]).

Abbas and Xia [1] discussed the existence and uniqueness of almost automorphic solutions of the following impulsive model of neural network with piecewise constant argument. These kinds of solutions are more general than periodic and almost periodic solutions. They gave several sufficient conditions for the exponential and global attractivity of the solution.

$$\frac{dx_{i}(t)}{dt} = -a_{i}(t)x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} b_{ij}(t)f_{j}\left(x_{j}(t)\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} c_{ij}(t)g_{j}\left(x_{j}\left(2\left[\frac{t+1}{2}\right]\right)\right) + I_{i}(t),$$

$$\Delta x_{i}|_{t=\tau_{k}} = J_{k}\left(x_{i}(\tau_{k}^{-})\right), i = 1, 2, \cdots, n, k \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$\Delta \left(x_{i}(\tau_{k})\right) = x_{i}(\tau_{k}) - x_{i}(\tau_{k}^{-}), \qquad x_{i}(\tau_{k}^{-}) = \lim_{h \to 0^{-}} x_{i}(\tau_{k} + h),$$

where $\tau_{k} = 2k - 1, \tau_{k}^{-} = 2k - 1^{-}.$

wher

Chiu [3] introduced the following impulsive cellular neural network models with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded arguments. Some sufficient conditions were established for the existence and global exponential stability of a unique periodic solution.

$$\frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} = -a_i(t)x_i(t) + \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^m b_{ij}(t)f_j\left(x_j(t)\right) + c_{ij}(t)g_j\left(x_j\left(2\left[\frac{t+1}{2}\right]\right)\right) \right\} + d_i(t), t \neq 2k-1,$$

$$\Delta x_i|_{t=2k-1} = J_k\left(x_i(2k-1^-)\right), i = 1, 2, \cdots, n, k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Karakoc et al. [9] proved the existence and uniqueness of a solution of the following nonlinear impulsive differential equation system with piecewise constant argument and obtained sufficient conditions for the oscillation of the solution.

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= -a(t)x(t) - x([t-1])f(y([t])) + h_1(x([t])), \\ y'(t) &= -b(t)y(t) - y([t-1])g(x([t])) + h_2(y([t])), \\ \Delta x(n) &= x(n^+) - x(n^-) = c_n x(n), \\ \Delta y(n) &= y(n^+) - y(n^-) = d_n y(n), \\ t &= n \in \mathbb{Z}^+. \end{aligned}$$

In this paper, we consider the following nonlinear impulsive differential equations system with piecewise constant mixed arguments: - . . 1-

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= -a(t)x(t) - f_1(x([t-1]))g_1(y([t])) + h_1(x([t+1])), \\ y'(t) &= -b(t)y(t) - f_2(y([t-1]))g_2(x([t])) + h_2(y([t+1])), \\ \text{with the impulse conditions} \\ \Delta x(n) &= c_n x(n), \end{aligned}$$
(1)

$$\Delta y(n) = d_n y(n), \qquad t = n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$$
nditions
(2)

and the initial conditions

$$x(-1) = x_{-1}, x(0) = x_0, y(-1) = y_{-1}, y(0) = y_0, \qquad (3)$$

where $a, b: (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous functions, $f_i, g_i, h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}), i = 1, 2, c_n$ and d_n are sequences of real numbers such that $c_n \neq 1$ and $d_n \neq 1$ for all $n \ge 1$. $\Delta u(n) = u(n^+) - u(n^-), u(n^+) = \lim_{t \to n^+} u(t), u(n^-) = \lim_{t \to n^-} u(t), [.]$ denotes the greatest integer functions, and x_{-1}, x_0, y_{-1}, y_0 are given real numbers.

2. Main Results

Definition 1 A pair of functions (x(t), y(t)) is said to be a solution of (1)–(2) if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i) $x: \mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{-1\} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $y: \mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{-1\} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous with a possible exception at the points $[t] \in [0, \infty),$

(ii) x(t) and y(t) are right continuous and have left-hand limits at the points $[t] \in [0, \infty)$,

(iii) x(t) and y(t) are differentiable and satisfy (1) for any $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with a possible exception at the points $[t] \in [0, \infty)$, where one-sided derivatives exist,

(iv) (x(n), y(n)) satisfies (2) for $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

Theorem 1 If $c_n \neq 1$ and $d_n \neq 1$ for all $n \ge 1$, then the initial value problem (1)–(3) has a unique solution (x(t), y(t)) on $[0, \infty) \cup \{-1\}$, which can be formulated on the interval $n \le t < n + 1$, $n \in$ $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ as

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= e^{-\int_{n}^{t} a(s)ds} \left\{ x(n) + \left[-f_{1}(x(n-1)g_{1}(y(n)) + h_{1}(x(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{t} e^{\int_{n}^{u} a(s)ds} du \right\}, \\ y(t) &= e^{-\int_{n}^{t} b(s)ds} \left\{ y(n) + \left[-f_{2}(y(n-1)g_{2}(x(n)) + h_{2}(y(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{t} e^{\int_{n}^{u} b(s)ds} du \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(4)

where (x(n), y(n)) is the unique solution of the difference equations system

$$x(n+1) = \frac{1}{1-c_{n+1}} e^{-\int_{n}^{n+1} a(s)ds} \left\{ x(n) + \left[-f_1(x(n-1))g_1(y(n)) + h_1(x(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{n+1} e^{\int_{n}^{u} a(s)ds} du \right\},$$

$$y(n+1) = \frac{1}{1-d_{n+1}} e^{-\int_{n}^{n+1} b(s)ds} \left\{ y(n) + \left[-f_2(y(n-1))g_2(x(n)) + h_2(y(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{n+1} e^{\int_{n}^{u} b(s)ds} du \right\},$$

for $n \ge 0$ with initial conditions (3).
(5)

Proof Let $(x_n(t), y_n(t)) \equiv (x(t), y(t))$ be a solution of (1)-(2) on the interval $n \le t < n + 1$. So, system (1) can be rewritten in the following form

$$x'(t) + a(t)x(t) = -f_1(x(n-1))g_1(y(n)) + h_1(x(n+1)),$$

$$y'(t) + b(t)y(t) = -f_2(y(n-1))g_2(x(n)) + h_2(y(n+1)).$$
(6)

From (6), for $n \le t < n + 1$, we get

$$x_{n}(t) = e^{-\int_{n}^{t} a(s)ds} \left\{ x(n) + \left[-f_{1}(x(n-1))g_{1}(y(n)) + h_{1}(x(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{t} e^{\int_{n}^{u} a(s)ds} du \right\},$$

$$y_{n}(t) = e^{-\int_{n}^{t} b(s)ds} \left\{ y(n) + \left[-f_{2}(y(n-1))g_{2}(x(n)) + h_{2}(y(n+1)) \right] \int_{n}^{t} e^{\int_{n}^{u} b(s)ds} du \right\}.$$
(7)
On the other hand, for $n-1 \le t \le n$, we have

I the other hand, for $n-1 \leq t < n$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n-1}(t) &= e^{-\int_{n-1}^{t} a(s)ds} \left\{ x(n-1) + \left[-f_1(x(n-2))g_1(y(n-1)) + h_1(x(n)) \right] \int_{n-1}^{t} e^{\int_{n-1}^{u} a(s)ds} du \right\}, \\ y_{n-1}(t) &= e^{-\int_{n-1}^{t} b(s)ds} \left\{ y(n-1) + \left[-f_2(y(n-2))g_2(x(n-1)) + h_2(y(n)) \right] \int_{n-1}^{t} e^{\int_{n-1}^{u} b(s)ds} du \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(8)

Using impulse conditions (2), from (7) and (8), we obtain difference equations system (5). Considering initial conditions (3), the solution of system (5) is obtained uniquely. Thus, the solution of (1)-(3) is obtained as (4).

Definition 2 A function x(t) (or y(t)) defined on $[0, \infty)$ is called oscillatory if there exist two realvalued sequences $\{t_n\}_{n\geq 0}, \{t_n'\}_{n\geq 0} \subset [0,\infty)$ such that $t_n \to +\infty, t_n' \to +\infty$ as $n \to +\infty$ and $x(t_n) \leq 0 \leq x(t_n')$ (or $y(t_n) \leq 0 \leq y(t_n')$) for $n \geq N$, where N is sufficiently large. Otherwise, x(t) (or y(t)) is called nonoscillatory.

Definition 3 A solution x(t) and y(t) of the first and second equations of system (1), respectively are said to be oscillatory if x(t) and y(t) have arbitrarily large zeros. Otherwise, it is said to be nonoscillatory.

Definition 4 The solution of system (1)-(2) is called oscillatory if x(t) and y(t) are oscillatory.

Definition 5 A solution x(n) (or y(n)) is said to oscillatory if it is neither eventually positive nor eventually negative. Otherwise, it is said to be nonoscillatory.

Theorem 2 Let (x(n), y(n)), $n \ge -1$ be a nonoscillatory solution of system (5) with the initial conditions (3), $uf_i(u) > 0$, i = 1, 2 for $u \ne 0$ and $f_i(u) \ne 0$, i = 1, 2 for all $u \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the solution (x(t), y(t)) of the problem (1)-(3) is nonoscillatory if and only if there exist a $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\frac{x(n)}{f_1(x(n-1))} > \left[g_1(y(n)) + \frac{h_1(x(n+1))}{f_1(x(n-1))}\right] \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u a(s)ds} du, \qquad n \le t < n+1, n > N.$$
(9)
$$\frac{y(n)}{f_2(y(n-1))} > \left[g_2(x(n)) + \frac{h_2(y(n+1))}{f_2(y(n-1))}\right] \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u b(s)ds} du.$$

Proof Without loss of generality, we may suppose that x(n), y(n) > 0, x(n-1), y(n-1) > 0 for n > N. If x(t) and y(t) are nonoscillatory, then x(t), y(t) > 0, $t > T \ge N$. So, from (4), the condition (9) is obtained easily.

Now let us assume that the condition (9) is true. It is enough to show that x(t) is nonoscillatory. This can show for y(t), similarly. For contradiction, let x(t) be oscillatory. Therefore, there exist sequences $\{t_k\}_{k\geq 0}, \{t_k'\}_{k\geq 0}$ such that $t_k \to +\infty, t_k' \to +\infty$ as $k \to +\infty$ and $x(t_k) \leq 0 \leq x(t_k')$. Let $n_k = [t_k]$. It is clear that $n_k \to +\infty$ as $k \to +\infty$. So, from (4), we get

$$x(t_k) = e^{-\int_{n_k}^{t_k} a(s)ds} \left\{ x(n_k) + \left[-f_1(x(n_k-1)g_1(y(n_k)) + h_1(x(n_k+1))) \right] \int_{n_k}^{t_k} e^{\int_{n_k}^{u} a(s)ds} du \right\}.$$

Since $x(n_k) > 0$, $x(n_k - 1) > 0$, $f_1(x(n_k - 1)) > 0$ and $x(t_k) \le 0$, we obtain

$$x(n_k) \le \left[f_1(x(n_k - 1))g_1(y(n_k)) + h_1(x(n_k + 1)) \right] \int_{n_k}^{t_k} e^{\int_{n_k}^{u} a(s)ds} du, \ n_k \le t_k < n_k + 1.$$

Hence

$$\frac{x(n_k)}{f_1(x(n_k-1))} \le \left[g_1(y(n_k)) + \frac{h_1(x(n_k+1))}{f_1(x(n_k-1))}\right] \int_{n_k}^{t_k} e^{\int_{n_k}^{u} a(s)ds} du, \ n_k \le t_k < n_k + 1$$

which is a contradiction to (9).

If x(n), y(n) < 0, x(n - 1), y(n - 1) < 0 for n > N, then the proof is done by similar method.

Theorem 3 Suppose that $c_n < 1$, $d_n < 1$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, and there exist $K_i > 0$, i = 1, 2 such that $g_i(u) \ge K_i$ for all $u \in \mathbb{R}$, $\frac{f_i(u)}{u} \ge 1$, $uh_i(u) < 0$, i = 1, 2 for $u \ne 0$ and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup(1 - c_n) \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_{n-1}^u a(s)ds} du > \frac{1}{K_1},$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup(1 - d_n) \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_{n-1}^u b(s)ds} du > \frac{1}{K_2},$$
(10)

then all solutions of system (5) are oscillatory.

Proof We prove that the existence of eventually positive (or negative) solutions leads to a contradiction. Let (x(n), y(n)) be a solution of system (5). Assume that x(n) > 0, x(n-1) > 0, x(n-2) > 0 for n > N, where N is sufficiently large. From the first equation of system (5), we find

$$(1 - c_n)x(n)e^{\int_{n-1}^n a(s)ds} = x(n-1) + \left[-f_1(x(n-2))g_1(y(n-1)) + h_1(x(n))\right] \int_{n-1}^n e^{\int_{n-1}^u a(s)ds} du.$$

Since $x(n-2) > 0$, $f_1(x(n-2) > 0, g_1(y(n-1)) > 0, h_1(x(n)) < 0$, we have

 $(1 - c_n)x(n)e^{\int_{n-1}^{n}a(s)ds} \le f_1(x(n-1)).$ (11) Multiplying both sides of this inequality (11) by $-g_1(y(n))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du$ and adding $x(n) + h_1(x(n+1))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du$, from (5), we obtain $x(n) - (1 - c_n)x(n)e^{\int_{n-1}^{n}a(s)ds}g_1(y(n))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du + h_1(x(n+1))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du$ $\ge x(n) - f_1(x(n-1))g_1(y(n))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du + h_1(x(n+1))\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du$ $= (1 - c_{n+1})x(n+1)e^{\int_{n}^{n+1}a(s)ds} > 0.$ (12)

Since x(n) > 0, x(n+1) > 0, $1 - c_{n+1} > 0$ and $h_1(x(n+1)) < 0$, from (12), we get $1 > (1 - c_n)e^{\int_{n-1}^n a(s)ds}g_1(y(n))\int_n^{n+1}e^{\int_n^u a(s)ds}du.$

So, from $g_1(y(n)) \ge K_1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{K_1} \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup(1 - c_n) \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_{n-1}^u a(s) ds} du,$$

which contradicts (10). x(n) < 0, x(n-1) < 0, x(n-2) < 0 for n > N, then we obtain the same contradiction. So, the component x(n) of the solution (x(n), y(n)) is oscillatory. Similarly, we can show that the component y(n) is oscillatory under condition (10).

Corollary 1 Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3, all solutions of (1)-(2) are oscillatory.

Theorem 4 Assume that there exist constants $K_i, M_i, N_i > 0, i = 1, 2$ such that $\frac{f_i(u)}{u} \ge M_i, uh_i(u) < 0, i = 1, 2$ for $u \ne 0$ and $g_i(u) \ge K_i, i = 1, 2$ for all $u \in \mathbb{R}, 1 - c_n \ge N_1, 1 - d_n \ge N_2, n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$. Suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

$$\frac{1}{4K_1M_1N_1} < \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf e^{\int_n^{n+1} a(s)ds} \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u a(s)ds} du < \infty,$$

$$\frac{1}{4K_2M_2N_2} < \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf e^{\int_n^{n+1} b(s)ds} \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u b(s)ds} du < \infty.$$
(13)

Then all solutions of (5) are oscillatory.

Proof Let (x(n), y(n)) be a solution of system (5). We need to show that under first inequality of condition (13), x(n) is oscillatory. Assume that x(n), x(n-1) > 0 for n > N, where N is sufficiently large. From system (5), we have

$$(1 - c_{n+1})x(n+1)e^{\int_{n}^{n+1} a(s)ds} = x(n) + \left[-f_{1}(x(n-1))g_{1}(y(n)) + h_{1}(x(n+1))\right] \int_{n}^{n+1} e^{\int_{n}^{u} a(s)ds}du.$$
(14)

Let $w_n = \frac{x(n)}{x(n-1)}$. Since $w_n > 0$, we consider two cases: Case 1: Let $\lim \inf w_n = \infty$. Then dividing the equation (14) by x(n), we have

$$(1 - c_{n+1})w_{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{n+1}a(s)ds} + M_1K_1\frac{1}{w_n}\int_{n}^{n+1}e^{\int_{n}^{u}a(s)ds}du \le 1.$$
 (15)

Taking the inferior limit on both sides of inequality (15), we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf(1 - c_{n+1}) \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf w_{n+1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf e^{\int_n^{n+1} a(s)ds} + M_1 K_1 \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \frac{1}{w_n} \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u a(s)ds} du \le 1$$

which is a contradiction to $\lim \inf w_n = \infty$. So, we consider the second case.

which is a contradiction to $\liminf_{n\to\infty} inf w_n = \infty$. So, we consider the second case. Case 2: Let $0 \le \liminf_{n\to\infty} w_n < \infty$. Dividing the equation (14) by x(n-1), we have

$$\frac{x(n)}{x(n-1)} = (1 - c_{n+1}) \frac{x(n+1)}{x(n-1)} e^{\int_{n}^{n+1} a(s)ds} + \left[\frac{f_1(x(n-1))}{x(n-1)} g_1(y(n)) - \frac{h_1(x(n+1))}{x(n-1)} \right] \int_{n}^{n+1} e^{\int_{n}^{u} a(s)ds} du$$

which yields

$$w_n \ge (1 - c_{n+1}) w_n w_{n+1} e^{\int_n^{n+1} a(s) ds} + K_1 M_1 \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u a(s) ds} du.$$
(16)

Let $\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf w_n = w$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf e^{\int_n^{n+1} a(s)ds} = A$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf \int_n^{n+1} e^{\int_n^u a(s)ds} du = B$. Taking the inferior limit on both sides of inequality (16), we have

 $w \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf(1 - c_{n+1}) w^2 A + K_1 M_1 B.$ (17)

Now, there are two subcases.

(i) $\liminf_{n \to \infty} \inf(1 - c_{n+1}) = \infty$, then we obtain a contradiction from (17). (ii) If $0 < N_1 \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \inf(1 - c_{n+1}) < \infty$, then from (17) we have

$$AN_1w^2 - w + K_1M_1B \le 0$$

or

$$AN_{1}\left[\left(w - \frac{1}{2AN_{1}}\right)^{2} + \frac{4K_{1}M_{1}N_{1}AB - 1}{4A^{2}N_{1}^{2}}\right] \le 0.$$

Since A > 0 and $N_1 > 0$, we have

$$\frac{4K_1M_1N_1AB - 1}{4A^2N_1^2} \le 0,$$

which contradicts condition (13).

In the case of x(n) < 0, x(n-1) < 0 for sufficiently large n > N, the proof is similar, and we obtain the same contradiction.

On the other hand, if we assume that y(n) is a nonoscillatory sequence, then we have a contradiction to second condition in (13). Hence, (x(n), y(n)) is an oscillatory solution of system (5).

Corollary 2 Under the hypotheses of Theorem 4, all solutions of (1)-(2) are oscillatory.

3. Examples

Example 1 We consider the following system $x'(t) = -\frac{1}{t+1}x(t) - 2x([t-1])e^{x([t-1])}(e^{y([t])} + 3) - x([t+1]),$ $y'(t) = -\frac{1}{t+1}y(t) - 3y([t-1])e^{y([t-1])}(e^{x([t])} + 2) - y([t+1]), \ t \neq n, t > 0$ and the impulse conditions $x(t) = -\frac{1}{t+1}x(t) - \frac{1}{t+1}x(t) ta x(n) = \frac{1}{3^n} x(n),$$

$$\Delta y(n) = \frac{1}{4^n} y(n), \ t = n.$$
(19)

It is clear that it is satisfied all hypotheses of Theorem 3. Then all solutions (18)-(19) are oscillatory. The solution $(x_n(t), y_n(t))$ of system (18)-(19) with initial conditions x(-1) = 0, x(0) = 0.5, y(-1) = 0, y(0) = -0.5 is as shown in Figure 1 obtained by using Mathematica.





Figure 1: Oscillatory solutions of system (18)-(19) with the initial conditions x(-1) = 0, x(0) = 0.5, y(-1) = 0, y(0) = -0.5.

Example 2 As a special case of system (1)-(2), let us take the following system $x'(t) = -(ln2)x(t) - x([t-1])(x^{2}([t-1]) + 2)(y^{2}([t-1]) + 1) - x^{3}([t+1]),$ $y'(t) = -(ln3)y(t) - y([t-1])(y^{2}([t-1]) + 3)(x^{4}([t-1]) + 1) - y([t+1]), \quad t \neq n, t > 0$ (20) and the impulse conditions

$$\Delta x(n) = \frac{(-1)^n}{2} x(n),$$

$$\Delta y(n) = \frac{(-1)^n}{3} y(n), \ t = n.$$
(21)

All hypotheses of Theorem 4 are satisfied for (20)-(21). Then all solutions (20)-(21) are oscillatory. The solution $(x_n(t), y_n(t))$ of system (18)-(19) with initial conditions x(-1) = 0.2, x(0) = 0.1, y(-1) = 0.2, y(0) = -0.1 is as shown in Figure 2 obtained by using Mathematica.





Figure 2: Oscillatory solutions of system (20)-(21) with the initial conditions x(-1) = 0.2, x(0) = 0.1, y(-1) = 0.2, y(0) = -0.1.

4. Conclusion

We have studied the existence and uniqueness of the solutions of a nonlinear impulsive differential equations system with piecewise constant mixed arguments and obtained sufficient conditions for oscillation of the solutions. Additionally, we give two examples to support our main results. Also, Mathematica has been used to draw two figures. Figure 1 in first example exemplifies oscillatory solutions of system (18)-(19) with the initial conditions x(-1) = 0, x(0) = 0.5, y(-1) = 0, y(0) = -0.5 since the conditions of Theorem 3 are satisfied. Figure 2 shows oscillatory solutions of system (20)-(21) with the initial conditions x(-1) = 0.2, x(0) = 0.1, y(-1) = 0.2, y(0) = -0.1 from Theorem 4. Moreover, system (1)-(3) is a generalization of system in [9].

5. References

[1] S. Abbas and Y. Xia, "Almost automorphic solutions of impulsive cellular neural networks with piecewise constant argument," Neural Processing Letters, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 691–702, 2015.

[2] S. Busenberg and K. L. Cooke, "Models of vertically transmitted diseases with sequential conti-nuous dynamics," Nonlinear phenomena in mathematical sciences, Proc. int. Conf., Arlington/Tex. 1980, 179-187 (1982), 1982.
[3] K.-S. Chiu, "Exponential stability and periodic solutions of impulsive neural network models with piecewise constant argument," Acta Appl. Math., vol. 151, no. 1, pp. 199–226, 2017, doi:10.1007/s10440-017-0108-3.

[4] K.-S. Chiu, M. Pinto, and J.-C. Jeng, "Existence and global convergence of periodic solutions in recurrent neural network models with a general piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument," Acta Appl. Math., vol. 133, no. 1, pp. 133–152, 2014, doi: 10.1007/s10440-013-9863y.

[5] L. O. Chua and L. Yang, "Cellular neural networks: Theory," IEEE Transactions on circuits and systems, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1257–1272, 1988.

[6] A. Cochocki and R. Unbehauen, Neural networks for optimization and signal processing. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1993.

[7] Z. Huang, X. Wang, and F. Gao, "The existence and global attractivity of almost periodic sequence solution of discrete-time neural networks," Physics Letters A, vol. 350, no. 3-4, pp. 182–191, 2006.

[8] G. Joya, M. A. Atencia, and F. Sandoval, "Hopfield neural networks for optimization: Study of the different dynamics," Neurocomputing, vol. 43, no. 1-4, pp. 219–237, 2002, doi: 10.1016/S09252312(01)00337-X.

[9] F. Karakoc, A. Unal, and H. Bereketoglu, "Oscillation of a nonlinear impulsive differential equation system with piecewise constant argument," Adv. Difference Equ., vol. 2018, p. 11, 2018, id/No 99, doi: 10.1186/s13662-018-1556-4.

[10] W.-J. Li and T. Lee, "Hopfield neural networks for affine invariant matching," IEEE transactions on neural networks, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 1400–1410, 2001.

[11] M. Pinto and G. Robledo, "Existence and stability of almost periodic solutions in impulsive neural network models," Applied Mathematics and Computation, vol. 217, no. 8, pp. 4167–4177, 2010.

[12] J. Wiener, Generalized solutions of functional differential equations. World Scientific, 1993.

[13] S. S. Young, P. D. Scott, and N. M. Nasrabadi, "Object recognition using multilayer hopfield neural network," IEEE Transactions on Image Processing, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 357–372, 1997.

Optimal Control of Higher Order Differential Inequality

Sevilay Demir Sağlam¹, Elimhan N. Mahmudov²

¹Mathematics, Istanbul University, Turkey,
 ² Mathematics, Istanbul Technical University, Turkey,
 ² Institute of Control Systems, Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences, Azerbaijan E-mail(s): sevilay.demir@istanbul.edu.tr, elimhan22@yahoo.com

Abstract

This paper discusses optimal control problems for differential inclusions described by the nonlinear differential inequality with higher order. To this end, sufficient optimality conditions for such problems are based on the method of discretization of the continuous problem and equivalence theorems. Optimality conditions for the Mayer problem are proved in the form of Euler - Lagrange inclusions and transversality conditions. Besides, a numerical illustration is provided to demonstrate the theoretical result.

Key words: Differential inequality, Euler-Lagrange inclusion, higher-order, transversality.

1. Introduction

One of the intensively developable fields of optimal processes in mathematical theory covers the theory of extremal problems involving inequality constraints and related results. In literature, several mathematical problems can be formulated as variational inequality problems that are an important unifying methodology for the analysis of equilibrium problems [1], [2].

In the recent literature, the existence of solutions and other qualitative properties has been extensively analyzed for second-order differential inequalities and/or inclusions. The existence result of solutions to a nonlinear second-order ordinary differential equation is presented in the paper [13], using the suggested method based on differential inequalities. Some stability results for generalized vector quasi-variational inequality problems are obtained from the paper [4]. The solution set is shown to be closed. The upper semi-continuity property of the solution set is also defined for perturbed generalized vector quasi-variational inequality problems. Based on the properties of differential inclusion solutions with unbounded measurable-pseudo-Lipschitz right-hand side, the necessary conditions of optimality for the Mayer extremal problem are obtained in the paper [12]. Their effective resolution requires the inclusion in the mathematical model of the particular peculiarities of each problem.

We analyze a particular form of an optimization problem with higher-order differential inequalities in the present paper. Since by the existence of higher-order derivatives, the problem is much more complicated and the difficulty with higher-order differential inequalities is rather than determining higher-order adjoint inclusions of the Euler-Lagrange form and the conditions of transversality. The paper [3] presents the necessary and sufficient conditions of optimality for the Bolza problem with higher-order polyhedral discrete and differential inclusions. The paper [10] discusses the Mayer problem with differential inclusions of higher-order evolution and functional constraints of optimal control theory. Furthermore, in the Mahmudov survey papers for differential inclusions, many of the necessary and sufficient conditions for optimization inevitably require the formation of new forms of equivalence [5]-[9]. By passing formally to the limit, the derivation of sufficient conditions is completed, as the discrete steps tend to be zero. Using the proposed methods for ordinary differential Mordukhovich [11] inclusions, of course, it can be seen that sufficient conditions are also necessary to achieve optimum results.

We recall some notions and main results of the convex analysis from the books [5] and [11]. As usual, \mathbb{R}^n is an *n*-dimensional Euclidean space, $\langle x, v \rangle$ is the inner product of elements $x, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and (x, v) is a pair of x, v. A convex cone $K_A(z_0)$ is called the cone of tangent directions at a point $z_0 = (x^0, v_1^0, ..., v_s^0) \in A$ if from $\overline{z} = (\overline{x}, \overline{v_1}, ..., \overline{v_s}) \in K_A(z_0)$ it follows that \overline{z} is a tangent vector to the set A, i.e., there exists a function $\varphi(\lambda) \in \mathbb{R}^{(s+1)n}$ satisfying $z_0 + \lambda \overline{z} + \varphi(\lambda) \in A$ for sufficiently small $\lambda > 0$, where $\lambda^{-1}\varphi(\lambda) \to 0$, as $\lambda \downarrow 0$. Evidently, for a convex set A at a point $(x^0, v_1^0, ..., v_s^0) \in A$ setting $\varphi(\lambda) \equiv 0$ we have $K_A(z_0) = \{(\overline{x}, \overline{v_1}, ..., \overline{v_s}) : \overline{x} = \lambda(x - x^0), \overline{v_i} = \lambda(v_i - v_i^0), i = 1, 2, ..., s, \lambda > 0\}, \forall (x_1, v_1, ..., v_s) \in A$.

As usually, $K_A^*(x^0, v_1^0, ..., v_s^0)$ is the dual cone to a cone of tangent vectors $K_A(x^0, v_1^0, ..., v_s^0)$. A function *W* is called a proper function if it does not assume the value $-\infty$ and is not identically equal to $+\infty$.

Subdifferentiation theory is a basic method in the study of extremum problems. It is known that convex functions are not differentiable in general. However, these functions have several useful differential properties, one of which is the universal existence of directional derivatives. Also, the definition of subgradient can be defined for convex function, and the subdifferential conception is the set of subgradients. It should be noted that the subdifferential notion can be defined for different functional classes in different ways. Clarke (see, for example, [2] and references therein), who did pioneering work in the field of non-smooth analysis, spread well beyond the domain of convexity, introduced the first definition of subdifferential for general non-convex functions. For his generalized gradients of local Lipschitzian functions described in Banach spaces, Clarke created a comprehensive subdifferential calculus.

The Mordukhovich subdifferential is the main class of generalized differentials and, in pure and applied analysis, plays a vital role. Mordukhovich recently published two volumes of the book [11] which, from theoretical and applied points of view, provide important questions in modern variational analysis of these subdifferentials.

In this paper the problem (PC) given by s-th order differential inequality constraint is studied:

minimize
$$\psi(x(1), x'(1), ..., x^{(s-1)}(1))$$
 (1)

(PC)
$$W(x(t), x'(t), ..., x^{(s)}(t)) \le 0$$
, a.e. $t \in [0, 1]$, (2)

$$x^{(k)}(0) = \alpha_k, k = 0, 1, ..., s - 1.$$
 (3)

Here $\psi: (\mathbb{R}^n)^s \to \mathbb{R}$ and $W: (\mathbb{R}^n)^{s+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous convex functions, $\alpha_k, k = 0, 1, ..., s-1$ are fixed vectors.

It is necessary to find the solution $\tilde{x}(t)$ of Cauchy problem (PC) satisfying (2) almost everywhere (a.e.) on [0,1] and the initial conditions (3) which minimize the Mayer functional $\psi(x(1), x'(1), ..., x^{(s-1)}(1))$.

A feasible trajectory $x(t), t \in [0,1]$ is an absolutely continuous function together with the higher-order derivatives until s-1 and $x^{(s)}(t) \in L_1^n([0,1])$. Clearly such a class of functions is Banach space, endowed with different equivalent norms.

2. Construction of Discrete-Approximation Problem

We use difference derivatives in this section to approximate the problem (PC) and formulate the necessary and sufficient conditions for it. Let us choose step δ on the *t* axis and the grid function x(t) on [0,1]. We introduce the following s-th order difference operators

$$\Delta^{s} x(t) = \frac{1}{\delta^{s}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{s} (-1)^{j} C_{s}^{j} x(t+(s-j)\delta) \right), t = 0, \delta, ..., 1-\delta$$

where $C_s^j = {s \choose j} = \frac{s!}{j!(s-j)!}$ is a binomial coefficient.

Now, concerning the problem (PC), we associate the following s-th order discrete approximation problem (PDA):

(PDA) minimize
$$\psi \left(x(1 - (s - 1)\delta), \Delta x(1 - (s - 1)\delta), ..., \Delta^{s-1} x(1 - (s - 1)\delta) \right),$$

 $W \left(x(t), \Delta x(t), ..., \Delta^{s} x(t) \right) \leq 0, t = 0, \delta, ..., 1 - s\delta,$
 $\Delta^{k} x(0) = \alpha_{k}, k = 0, 1, ..., s - 1.$
(4)

It is noted that the transition to a discrete-approximation problem requires a following special equivalence Theorem 2.1 linking the main results of discrete and discrete-approximation problems. The Chain rule of subdifferentiation of the composition of convex functions is used for the construction of the transversality condition for the Mayer problem in its general form, taking into account a Pascal triangle with binomial coefficients. As a result, the secret to our progress is the approximation and formulation of the following equivalence Theorem 2.1.

Theorem 2.1. Suppose $\psi_0: (\mathbb{R}^n)^s \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function defined by the relationship $\psi_0(x, w_1, ..., w_{s-1}) \equiv \psi(x, \xi_1, ..., \xi_{s-1})$ where $\xi_r = \frac{1}{\delta^r} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{r-1} (-1)^j {r \choose j} w_{r-j} + (-1)^r x \right), \quad r = 0, 1, ..., s - 1,$ $(x^0, w_1^0, ..., w_{s-1}^0) \in \operatorname{dom} \psi_0, \quad (x^0, \xi_1^0, ..., \xi_{s-1}^0) \in \operatorname{dom} \psi$. The following subdifferential inclusions are equivalent:

(i)
$$(\overline{x}^*, \overline{w}_1^*, ..., \overline{w}_{s-1}^*) \in \partial \psi_0(x^0, w_1^0, ..., w_{s-1}^0),$$

(ii) $(\overline{x}^* + \sum_{j=1}^{s-1} \overline{w}_j^*, w_1^*, w_2^*, ..., w_{s-1}^*) \in \partial \psi(x^0, \xi_1^0, ..., \xi_{s-1}^0).$

where $w_r^* = \delta^r \left(\sum_{j=0}^{s-(r+1)} {j+r \choose j} \overline{w}_{j+r}^* \right), r = 1, \dots, s-1.$

Theorem 2.2. For optimality of the trajectory $\{\tilde{x}(t)\}_{t=0}^{1}$ in the problem (PDA), it is necessary and sufficient that there is an adjoint trajectory of vectors $\{x^{*}(t)\}_{t=0}^{1}$ simultaneously not all equal to zero satisfying the approximate Euler-Lagrange inclusions

$$\left((-1)^{s+1}\Delta^{s}x^{*}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{s-1}(-1)^{j}\Delta^{j}u^{s-j*}(t), -u^{s-1*}(t+\delta), -u^{s-2*}(t+2\delta), \dots, -u^{1*}(t+(s-1)\delta), x^{*}(t+s\delta)\right)$$

$$\in \mu(t)\partial W\Big(\tilde{x}(t), \Delta\tilde{x}(t), \dots, \Delta^{s}\tilde{x}(t)\Big)$$

 $\mu(t)W\big(\tilde{x}(t),\Delta\tilde{x}(t),\ldots,\Delta^s\tilde{x}(t)\big)=0,\ \mu(t)\geq 0,\ t=s,\ldots,1-s\delta,$

and transversality conditions

$$(\theta_1, \theta_2, ..., \theta_s) \in \partial \psi \Big(\tilde{x} (1 - (s - 1)\delta), \Delta \tilde{x} (1 - (s - 1)\delta), ..., \Delta^{s - 1} \tilde{x} (1 - (s - 1)\delta) \Big)$$

where

$$\theta_{k} = (-1)^{k+s+1} \Delta^{s-k} x^{*} (1 - (s-k)\delta) - \sum_{j=1}^{s-k} (-1)^{j} \Delta^{j-1} u^{s-k-j+1*} (1 - (s-k)\delta),$$

$$\eta^{s-k*}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} (-1)^{j} {\binom{s-k+j}{s-k}} \delta^{k-j} u^{k-j*} (t+j\delta) - (-1)^{k} {\binom{s}{s-k}} x^{*} (t+k\delta),$$

$$k = 1, \dots, s-1, \text{ and } \theta_{s} = -x^{*} (1)$$

3.Main Results

The results obtained in the previous section are useful for determining the conditions of optimality for the continuous problem (PC). At least, we would like to emphasize that the transformation to the limit under the conditions of Theorem 2.2. as $\delta \rightarrow 0$ is the secret to our success. Sufficient conditions of optimality for the continuous problem (PC) can be justified by the fact that these conditions are also necessary conditions of optimality by using the functional analysis method in convex problems. Then the so-called higher-order adjoint Euler-Lagrange differential inclusion and transversality conditions at the point t = 0 consist of the following, respectively:

(a)
$$\left((-1)^{s+1}\frac{d^{s}x^{*}(t)}{dt^{s}} + \sum_{j=1}^{s-1}(-1)^{j}\frac{d^{j}u^{s-j^{*}}(t)}{dt^{j}}, -u^{s-1^{*}}(t), -u^{s-2^{*}}(t), \dots, -u^{1^{*}}(t), x^{*}(t)\right)$$
$$\in \mu(t)\partial W\Big(\tilde{x}(t), \tilde{x}'(t), \dots, \tilde{x}^{(s)}(t)\Big)$$

(b)
$$\mu(t)W(\tilde{x}(t), \tilde{x}'(t), ..., \tilde{x}^{(s)}(t)) = 0, \ \mu(t) \ge 0, t \in [0,1],$$

and transversality conditions

(c)
$$(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, ..., \gamma_s) \in \partial \psi (\tilde{x}(1), \tilde{x}'(1), ..., \tilde{x}^{(s-1)}(1))$$

where

$$\gamma_{k} = (-1)^{k+s+1} \frac{d^{s-k} x^{*}(1)}{dt^{s-k}} - \sum_{j=1}^{s-k} (-1)^{j} \frac{d^{j-1} u^{s-k-j+1^{*}}(1)}{dt^{j-1}}, k = 1, \dots, s-1,$$
$$\gamma_{s} = -x^{*}(1).$$

Theorem 3.1. Let ψ and W be convex continuous functions. Then for optimality of the trajectory $\tilde{x}(t)$ in the problem (PC) with higher order differential constraint, it is sufficient that there are absolutely continuous functions $\{x^*(t), u^*(t)\}$ and functions $\mu(t) \ge 0, t \in [0,1]$, which satisfy a.e. the higher-order adjoint Euler-Lagrange differential inclusions (a) and the conditions (b) and transversality conditions (c).

Example 3.1. This numerical example is to show the feasibility and efficiency of the theoretic results obtained:

minimize
$$x(1) - x'(1) + x''(1)$$
,
 $x(t) - x'(t) - x''(t) + x'''(t) \le 0, t \in [0,1]$
 $x(0) = 0, x'(0) = 1, x''(0) = -2.$
(5)

According to problem (PC) W(x(t), x'(t), x''(t), x'''(t)) = x(t) - x'(t) - x''(t) + x'''(t), and $\psi(x(1), x'(1), x''(1)) = x(1) - x'(1) + x''(1)$, where $W : \mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{R}^1$ is a linear function, i.e., $W(x, v_1, v_2, v_3) = x - v_1 - v_2 + v_3$. By conditions (a)-(c) we show that the optimal trajectory is $\tilde{x}(t) = (1-t)e^t - e^{-t}$ and the minimal value of the problem (5) is $\tilde{x}(1) - \tilde{x}'(1) + \tilde{x}''(1) = -e - 3e^{-1}$. First, it can be easily seen that the subdifferential of W is the gradient vector, $\{1, -1, -1, 1\}$, that is, $\partial_{(x,u_1,u_2,u_3)}W(x,u_1,u_2,u_3) = \{1, -1, -1, 1\}$. By analogy $\partial \psi(x,u_1,u_2) = \{1, -1, 1\}$. Then by the sufficient condition (a) of Theorem 3.1., we obtain

$$\left(\frac{d^3x^*(t)}{dt^3} + \frac{d^2u^{1*}(t)}{dt^2} - \frac{du^{2*}(t)}{dt}, -u^{2*}(t), -u^{1*}(t), x^*(t)\right) \in \mu(t)\partial W\left(\tilde{x}(t), \tilde{x}'(t), \tilde{x}''(t), \tilde{x}'''(t)\right).$$

Therefore, we have

$$\frac{d^3x^*(t)}{dt^3} + \frac{d^2u^{1*}(t)}{dt^2} - \frac{du^{2*}(t)}{dt} = \mu(t); \ u^{2*}(t) = u^{1*}(t) = x^*(t) = \mu(t),$$
$$-\frac{d^2x^*(1)}{dt^2} - \frac{du^{1*}(1)}{dt} + u^{2*}(1) = 1, \quad \frac{dx^*(1)}{dt} + u^{1*}(1) = -1 \quad , \qquad -x^*(1) = 1,$$

$$\mu(t) \Big[\tilde{x}(t) - \tilde{x}'(t) - \tilde{x}''(t) + \tilde{x}'''(t) \Big] = 0, \ \mu(t) \ge 0.$$
(6)

In view of first relations of (6) we have an initial value problem given by third-order linear equation with constant coefficients

$$\frac{d^{3}x^{*}(t)}{dt^{3}} + \frac{d^{2}x^{*}(t)}{dt^{2}} - \frac{dx^{*}(t)}{dt} - x^{*}(t) = 0,$$

$$-\frac{d^{2}x^{*}(1)}{dt^{2}} - \frac{dx^{*}(1)}{dt} + x^{*}(1) = 1, \ \frac{dx^{*}(1)}{dt} + x^{*}(1) = -1, \ -x^{*}(1) = 1.$$
(7)

Then, we find that the characteristic equation of differential equation (7) is $r^3 + r^2 - r - 1 = 0$ therefore, the roots are $r_1 = 1, r_2 = r_3 = -1$ and the general solution of third-order linear homogeneous differential equation with constant coefficients is $x^*(t) = C_1 e^t + (C_2 + tC_3)e^{-t}$. If we impose the initial conditions, we obtain $C_1 = -\frac{3}{4e}, C_2 = \frac{-3e}{4}, C_3 = \frac{e}{2}$. Then the solution of the given initial value problem $x^*(t) = \frac{(2t-3)e^{1-t} - 3e^{t-1}}{4}$. Then since $x^*(t) = \mu(t)$ we have

$$\mu(t) = \frac{(2t-3)e^{1-t} - 3e^{t-1}}{4} \tag{8}$$

The function $\mu(t)$ in (8) is nonzero over the entire time interval [0,1]. Hence, by the second condition of (6) we have $\tilde{x}(t) - \tilde{x}'(t) - \tilde{x}''(t) + \tilde{x}'''(t) = 0$ and the solution to the initial value problem

$$\tilde{x}(t) - \tilde{x}'(t) - \tilde{x}''(t) + \tilde{x}'''(t) = 0$$

 $x(0) = 0, \ x'(0) = 1, \ x''(0) = -2$

is $\tilde{x}(t) = (1-t)e^t - e^{-t}$ and the minimal value of the problem (5) is $\tilde{x}(1) - \tilde{x}'(1) + \tilde{x}''(1) = -e - 3e^{-1}$.

4. References

[1] J.-P. Aubin, A. Cellina, Differential Inclusions, Springer-Verlag, Grundlehren der Math., Wiss, 1984.
[2] F.H. Clarke, Functional Analysis, Calculus of Variations and Optimal Control, Graduate Texts in Mathematics Vol. 264, Springer; 2013.

[3] S. Demir Sağlam, E.N. Mahmudov, Optimality Conditions for Higher-Order Polyhedral Discrete and Differential Inclusions, Filomat, 2020.

[4] R.C. Loxton, K.L. Teo, V. Rehbock, K.F.C. Yiu, Optimal control problems with a continuous inequality constraint on the state and the control, Automatica 45:10 (2009), 2250-2257.

[5] E.N. Mahmudov, Approximation and Optimization of Discrete and Differential Inclusions, Elsevier, Boston, 2011.

[6] E.N. Mahmudov, Approximation and Optimization of Higher Order Discrete and Differential Inclusions, Nonlinear Differential Equations and Appl., 21 (2014), 1-26.

[7] E.N. Mahmudov, Optimization of Second Order Discrete Approximation Inclusions, Numerical Functional Analysis and Optimization, 36:5 (2015), 624-643.

[8] E.N. Mahmudov, S. Demir, Ö. Değer, Optimization of third-order discrete and differential inclusions described by polyhedral set-valued mappings, Applicable Analysis, 95 (2016), 1831-1844.

[9] E.N. Mahmudov, Convex optimization of second order discrete and differential inclusions with inequality constraints, J. of Convex Analysis, 25:1 (2018), 293-318.

[10] E.N. Mahmudov, Optimization of Mayer Problem with Sturm-Liouville-Type Differential Inclusions, J. of Optimization Theory and Appl., 177:2 (2018), 345-375.

[11] E.N. Mahmudov, Optimal control of higher order differential inclusions with functional constraints, ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 26:37 (2020), 1-23.

[12] B.S. Mordukhovich, Variational Analysis and Generalized Differentiation, I: Basic Theory; II: Applications, Grundlehren Series (Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences), Vol. 330 and 331, Springer, Berlin, 2006.

[13] E.S. Polovinkin, Necessary Optimality Conditions for the Mayer Problem with Unbounded Differential Inclusion, IFAC-PapersOnLine, 51:32 (2018), 521-524.

P-adic Apostol-Bernoulli Measures

Altan Erdoğan¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Gebze Technical University, Turkey Email: alerdogan@gtu.edu.tr

Abstract

The family p-adic Apostol-Bernoulli measures parametrized by the complement of an open ball in the algebraic closure of p-adic fields is introduced. It is proved that these measures are the higher order versions of the p-adic measure which interpolates the p-adic polylogarithms. The decomposition of Bernoulli measures as a linear combination of Apostol-Bernoulli measures is also given.

1. Introduction

Bernoulli polynomials have important applications in number theory and related fields. Among them a significant apperance of Bernoulli polynomials occurs in padic analysis via Bernoulli measures relating them to (p-adic) L-functions defined in [7]. Let $\mu_{B,k,\alpha}$ denote the k-th Bernoulli measure for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^*$. Then the p-adic zeta function is defined by

$$\zeta_p(1-k) := \frac{1}{k(\alpha^{-k}-1)} \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} 1 d\mu_{B,k,\alpha} = (1-p^{k-1})(-B_k/k)$$

and extended to \mathbb{Z}_p by *p*-adic interpolation. The reader is referred to [2], [3] and [6] for construction and various aspects of *p*-adic zeta function or more generally of

p-adic *L*-functions.

The *p*-adic polylogarithms can be defined in a similar way as we outline below. The details can be found in [4] and [5]. Let μ_z be the *p*-adic measure defined as $\mu_z(a + (p^N)) = z^a/(1-z^{p^N})$ for some z with $|z-1|_p \ge 1$. Then the *p*-adic polylogarithms are defined as

$$\operatorname{Li}_{1-k}^{(p)}(z) = \int\limits_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} x^{k-1} d\mu_z.$$

for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and z with $|z - 1|_p \ge 1$. In terms of the Apostol-Bernoulli numbers denoted by $\beta_k(z)$, we can rewrite it as

$$\operatorname{Li}_{1-k}^{(p)}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} x^{k-1} d\mu_z = -\frac{\beta_k(z) - p^{k-1}\beta_k(z^p)}{k}$$

where again $|z - 1|_p \ge 1$.

In this paper we construct a family of *p*-adic measures $\mu_{k,z}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ using Apostol-Bernoulli polynomials where the measure μ_z appears as $\mu_z = -\mu_{1,z}$ in this family and

$$\int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} x^{k-1} d\mu_{1,z} = (1/k) \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} 1 d\mu_{k,z}.$$

We will also see the relation between this faimly of measures and the Bernoulli measures.

We set the following notation. Throughout the paper \mathbb{C}_p will denote the completion of a fixed algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q}_p . For $z \in \mathbb{C}$, |z| denotes the Euclidean norm and for $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}_p$, $|\alpha|_p$ denotes the normalized norm on \mathbb{C}_p as $|p|_p = 1/p$. For the basic facts about *p*-adic distributions/measures and integration the reader is referred to [1]

and [3].

2. Distribution Property of Apostol - Bernoulli Polynomials

We can define the Apostol-Bernoulli polynomials $\beta_k(x, z)$ by the generating function

$$\frac{te^{xt}}{ze^t - 1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\beta_k(x, z)t^k}{k!}.$$
 (1)

where $z \neq 1$. The k-th Apostol-Bernoulli number is defined as $\beta_k(z) := \beta_k(0, z)$ for $z \neq 1$.

Lemma 1. Apostol-Bernoulli numbers/polynomials satisfy the following identities.

- $\beta_k(x,z)$ is a polynomial in x over $\mathbb{Z}[z, 1/(z-1)]$.
- $\beta_k(z)$ is defined everywhere except z = 1 where it has a pole.
- $\beta_0 = 0$ and $\beta_1(x, z) = 1/(z 1)$.

•
$$\beta_k(x,z) = \sum_{i=0}^k {k \choose i} \beta_i(z) x^{k-i}.$$

• For
$$k \ge 2$$
, $\beta_k(z) = z \sum_{i=0}^k {\binom{k}{i}} \beta_i(z)$.

•
$$\beta_k(a+b,z) = \sum_{i=0}^k {k \choose i} \beta_i(a,z) b^{k-i}.$$

•
$$z\beta_k(x+1,z) - \beta_k(x,z) = kx^{k-1}$$

• For any $k \ge 0$ and $z \ne 0, 1, (-1)^k \beta_k(x, 1/z) = z \beta_k(1-x, z).$

Proof. These follow by manipulating (1) or we may refer to [8].

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

Theorem 1. Let $\beta_k(x, z)$ be the k-th Apostol-Bernoulli polynomial. Then the map

defined as

$$\mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = p^{N(k-1)} z^a \beta_k(a/p^N, z^{p^N})$$

extends to a p-adic distribution on \mathbb{Z}_p .

Proof. First we see that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{b=0}^{M-1} \beta_k ((a+b)/M, z^M) z^b \frac{t^k}{k!} = \sum_{b=0}^{M-1} \frac{t z^b e^{t(a+b)/M}}{z^M e^t - 1} = \frac{t e^{ta/M}}{z^M e^t - 1} \sum_{b=0}^{M-1} (z e^{t/M})^b.$$

Summing the last geometric progression and then equating the coefficients of t^k we find

$$\beta_k(a, z) = M^{k-1} \sum_{b=0}^{M-1} z^b \beta_k((a+b)/M, z^M).$$

Now we choose $M = p^N$ to obtain that

$$\mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = \sum_{b=0}^{p-1} \mu_{k,z}(a + bp^N + (p^{N+1}))$$

Definition. Let $z \in \mathbb{C}_p$ with $z \neq 1$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$. We define the k-th Apostol-Bernoulli distribution on \mathbb{Z}_p as

$$\mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = p^{N(k-1)} z^a \beta_k(a/p^N, z^{p^N})$$

on the subsets of the form $a + (p^N)$ and extend it linearly.

Example 1. Since $\beta_1(a, z) = 1/(z - 1)$ we have

$$\mu_{1,z}(a + (p^N)) = z^a / (z^{p^N} - 1)$$

which is the distribution μ_z of Koblitz given in the Introduction up to a minus sign.

Also
$$\beta_2(a, z) = 2\beta_1(z)a + \beta_2(z) = 2a/(z-1) - 2z/(z-1)^2$$
, and so

$$\mu_{2,z}(a+(p^N)) = z^a \left(\frac{a}{z^{p^N}-1} + \frac{-p^N z^{p^N}}{(z^{p^N}-1)^2}\right)$$

3. Construction and Some Properties of Apostol-Bernoulli Measures

First we show that $\mu_{k,z}$ is bounded if $|z - 1|_p \ge 1$ and so is indeed a *p*-adic measure. Note that the boundedness of $\mu_{1,z}$ is already known [4].

Proposition 1. If $|z - 1|_p \ge 1$ then the k-th Apsotol-Bernoulli distribution

$$\mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = p^{N(k-1)} z^a \beta_k(a/p^N, z^{p^N})$$

is bounded and so extends to a p-adic measure on \mathbb{Z}_p .

Proof. Note that for $k \geq 2$, we have

$$z\frac{d\beta(z)}{dz} = \frac{k}{k+1}\beta_{k+1}(z)$$

Write

$$\beta_k(z) = \frac{\gamma_k(z)}{(z-1)^{s_k}}$$

where $\gamma_k(z) \in \mathbb{Z}$ is a polynomial of degree at most s_k (This follows by induction on

k noting that $\beta_2(z) = -2z/(z-1)^2$). Also $\beta_k(z)/k$ has integer coefficients. So since $|z-1|_p \ge 1$, then we have that $|\beta_k(z)|_p \le 1$. Then the result follows by considering

$$\beta_n(x,z) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \beta_k(z) x^{n-k}$$

term by term.

Corollary 1. Let X be any compact open subset of \mathbb{Z}_p . Let $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$. Then

$$\int_{X} 1d\mu_{k,z} = k \int_{X} x^{k-1} d\mu_{1,z}$$

In particular

$$\int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} 1d\mu_{k,z} = \beta_k(z) - p^{k-1}\beta_k(z^p).$$

Proof. The proof follows by definition of p-adic integration and Lemma 1. \Box

Finally we give the decomposition of Bernoulli measures as a sum of Apostol-Bernoulli measures.

Theorem 2. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^*$, and $\mu_{B,k,\alpha}$ be the k-th Bernoulli measure defined as $\mu_{B,k,\alpha}(a + (p^N)) = \mu_{B,k}(a + (p^N)) - \alpha^{-k}\mu_{B,k}(\{a\alpha\}_N + (p^N)))$. Let $c \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ with (p,c) = 1 and let μ_c denote the c-th roots of unity. Then

$$c^{-k} \sum_{z \in \mu_c - \{1\}} \mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = -\mu_{B,k,c^{-1}}(a + (p^N)).$$

where $\{a\alpha\}_N$ denotes the residue class of $a\alpha \mod (p^N)$.

Proof. We set $\beta_k(x, 1) = B_k(x)$ in the sequel. Now

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \zeta^a \beta_k (a/p^N, \zeta^{p^N}) \frac{t^k}{k!} &= \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \frac{t e^{at/p^N} \zeta^a}{\zeta^{p^N} e^t - 1} = -t e^{at/p^N} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \frac{\zeta^a}{1 - \zeta^{p^N} e^t} \\ &= -t e^{at/p^N} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \zeta^a \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left(\zeta^{p^N} e^t \right)^l = -t \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} e^{t(a+lp^N)/p^N} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \zeta^{a+lp^N} \\ &= -ct \sum_{l=0, c \mid (a+lp^N)}^{\infty} e^{t(a+lp^N)/p^N} \end{split}$$

Now we manipulate the sum $\sum_{l=0,c|(a+lp^N)}^{\infty} e^{t(a+lp^N)/p^N}$. We have

$$c \mid (a + lp^N), \ l = 0, 1, 2... \iff l = a_N + sc, \ s = 0, 1, 2, ...$$

where a_N is the unique integer with $0 \le a_N \le c - 1$ and $p^N a_N \equiv -a \pmod{c}$. Then we have

$$\sum_{l=0,c|(a+lp^N)}^{\infty} e^{t(a+lp^N)/p^N} = e^{t(a+p^N a_N)/p^N} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} e^{(ct)s}$$

which implies that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_c} \zeta^a \beta_k (a/p^N, \zeta^{p^N}) \frac{t^k}{k!} = -ct e^{t(a+p^N a_N)/p^N} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} e^{(ct)s}$$
$$= \frac{ct}{e^{ct} - 1} e^{ct(a+p^N a_N)/(cp^N)}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} B_k \left(\frac{a+p^N a_N}{cp^N}\right) \frac{c^k t^k}{k!}.$$

Taking out the coefficient of $t^k/k!$ and multiplying it by $p^{N(k-1)}$ we obtain

$$\sum_{z \in \mu_c - \{1\}} \mu_{k,z}(a + (p^N)) = c^k \mu_{B,k} \left(\frac{a + p^N a_N}{c} + (p^N) \right) - \mu_{B,k}(a + (p^N))$$
$$= c^k \mu_{B,k} \left(\frac{a}{c} + (p^N) \right) - \mu_{B,k}(a + (p^N)).$$

The last equality follows from the fact that $p^N a_N/c \in (p^N)$. Multiplying both sides by c^{-k} we obtain the desired equality.

5. References

 L. C. Washington, Introduction to Cyclotomic Fields, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982.

[2] N. Katz, p-Adic Properties of Modular Schemes and Modular Forms, In: Kuijk W., Serre JP. (eds) Modular Functions of One Variable III, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol 350. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1973.

[3] N. Koblitz, p-adic Numbers, p-adic Analysis and Zeta-Functions, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984.

[4] N. Koblitz, p-adic Analysis: a Short Course on Recent Work, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note 46, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, 1980.

[5] R.F. Coleman, Dilogarithms, Regulators and p-adic L-functions, Invent. Math.,69, 171- 208, 1982.

[6] S. Lang, Introduction to Modular Forms, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1976

[7] T. Kubota, H. W. Leopold, Eine p-adische Theorie der Zetawerte, I. Journ. Reine Angew. Math., 214/215, 328-339, 1964.

[8] T. M. Apostol, On the Lerch Zeta Function, Pacific J. Math., 1 (1951), pp. 161 -167

Periodic Solutions and Stability of a Fifth Order Difference Equation

Erkan Taşdemir¹, Yüksel Soykan²

¹Pınarhisar Vocational School, Kırklareli University, Turkey, ²Department of Mathematics, Art and Science Faculty, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Turkey, E-mails: erkantasdemir@hotmail.com, yuksel_soykan@hotmail.com

Abstract

In this paper, we study the periodic solutions of difference equation $x_{n+1} = x_{n-2}x_{n-4} - 1$, n = 0,1,... where the initial conditions are real numbers. We also investigate the stability of related difference equation.

1. Introduction and Preliminaries

Difference equations or their systems have a huge interest among the researchers. This interest related to applications of these equations or systems. There are many applications of difference equations in many fields of science.

In this paper, we study the dynamics of solutions of the following difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = x_{n-2}x_{n-4} - 1, n = 0, 1, \dots$$
(1)
the initial conditions are real numbers. We also investigate the

where the initial conditions are real numbers. We also investigate the stability of related difference equation.

Eq.(1) be a member of the class of equations of the form

 $x_{n+1} = x_{n-l}x_{n-k} - 1, n = 0, 1, ...$ (2) with special choices of *l* and *k*, where $k, l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and l < k. Many authors studied different forms of Eq.(2). See following table.

Equations	Papers
$x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-1} - 1$	[7, 10, 20]
$x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-2} - 1$	[9]
$x_{n+1} = x_{n-1}x_{n-2} - 1$	[8]
$x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-3} - 1$	[6]
$x_{n+1} = x_{n-1}x_{n-3} - 1$	[15, 16]
$x_{n+1} = x_{n-2}x_{n-3} - 1$	[17]
$x_{n+1} = x_{n-1}x_{n-4} - 1$	[18]
$x_{n+1} = x_{n-3}x_{n-4} - 1$	[19]

Additionally, in literature, there are many papers and books related to difference equations (see [1]-[20]). Now we present some important definitions and theorems.

Definition 1. Let I be some interval of real numbers and let $f: I^{k+1} \rightarrow I$ be a continuously differentiable function. A difference equation of order (k+1) is an equation of the form

$$x_{n+1} = f(x_n, x_{n-1}, \cdots, x_{n-k}), \qquad n = 0, 1, \cdots.$$
 (3)

A solution of Eq.(3) is a sequence $\{x_n\}_{n=-k}^{\infty}$ that satisfies Eq.(3) for all $n \ge -k$.

As a special case of Eq.(3), for every set of initial conditions $x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x_0 \in I$, the third order difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = f(x_n, x_{n-1}, x_{n-2}), \qquad n = 0, 1, \cdots.$$
 (4)

has a unique solution $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$.

Definition 2. A solution of Eq.(3) that is constant for all $n \ge -ki$ s called an equilibrium solution of Eq.(3). If

$$x_n = \bar{x}$$
, for all $n \ge -k$

is an equilibrium solution of Eq.(3), then \bar{x} is called an equilibrium point, or simply an equilibrium of Eq.(3).

So a point $\bar{x} \in I$ is called an equilibrium point of Eq.(3) if

$$\bar{x} = f(\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \cdots, \bar{x}),$$

that is,

$$x_n = \bar{x}$$
, for $n \ge -k$

is a solution of Eq.(3).

Definition 3. Suppose that the function f is continuously differentiable in some open neighborhood of an equilibrium point \bar{x} . Let

$$q_{i} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_{i}}(\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \cdots, \bar{x}), for \ i = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, k$$

denote the partial derivative of $f(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_k)$ with respect to u_i evaluated at the equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3).

The equation

$$z_{n+1} = q_0 z_n + q_1 z_{n-1} + \cdots, q_k z_{n-k}, k = 0, 1, \cdots.$$
 (5)

is called the linearized equation of Eq.(3) about the equilibrium point \bar{x} .

Definition 4. The equation

$$\lambda^{k+1} - q_0 \lambda^k + q_1 \lambda^{k-1} + \cdots, q_k = 0$$
(6)

is called the characteristic equation of Eq.(5) about \bar{x} .

Definition 5. Let \bar{x} an equilibrium point of Eq.(3).

(a) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called locally stable if, for every $\varepsilon > 0$; there exists $\delta > 0$ such that if $\{x_n\}_{n=-k}^{\infty}$ is a solution of Eq.(3) with

 $|x_{-k} - \bar{x}| + |x_{1-k} - \bar{x}| + \dots + |x_0 - \bar{x}| < \delta$

then

$$|x_n - \bar{x}| < \varepsilon$$
, for all $n \ge -k$

(b) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called locally asymptotically stable if, it is locally stable, and if in addition there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that if $\{x_n\}_{n=-k}^{\infty}$ is a solution of Eq.(3) with

$$|x_{-k} - \bar{x}| + |x_{1-k} - \bar{x}| + \dots + |x_0 - \bar{x}| < \delta$$

then we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = \bar{x}$$

(c) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called a global attractor if, for every solution $\{x_n\}_{n=-k}^{\infty}$ of Eq.(3), we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}x_n=\bar{x}.$$

(d) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called globally asymptotically stable if it is locally stable, and a global attractor.

(e) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called unstable if it is not locally stable.

Theorem 1 (The Linearized Stability Theorem). Assume that the function F is a continuously differentiable function defined on some open neighborhood of an equilibrium point \bar{x} . Then the following statements are true:

(a) When all the roots of Eq.(6) have absolute value less than one, then the equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is locally asymptotically stable. Moreover, in this here the equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called sink.

(b) If at least one root of Eq.(6) has absolute value greater than one, then the equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is unstable.

(i) The equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called hyperbolic if no root of Eq.(6) has absolute value equal to one.

(ii) If there exists a root of Eq.(6) with absolute value equal to one, then the equilibrium \bar{x} is called nonhyperbolic.

(iii) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called a saddle point if it is hyperbolic and if there exists a root of Eq.(6) with absolute value less than one and another root of Eq.(6) with absolute value greater than one.

(iv) An equilibrium point \bar{x} of Eq.(3) is called a repeller if all roots of Eq.(6) have absolute value greater than one.

2. Stability Analysis of Eq.(1)

In this here, we firstly find out the equilibrium points of Eq.(1). Then we examine the characteristic equation of Eq.(1). Moreover we investigate the stability of Eq.(1). Lemma 1 There are two equilibrium points of Eq.(1) such that

$$\bar{x}_{1,2} = \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{5}}{2}.$$
 (7)

Proof. Let $x_n = \bar{x}$ for all $n \ge -4$. Therefore, we get from Eq.(1)

$$\bar{x} = \bar{x}\bar{x} - 1.$$

Hence, we obtain that,

$$\bar{x}_1 = \frac{1 + \sqrt{5}}{2},$$

and

$$\bar{x}_2 = \frac{1 - \sqrt{5}}{2}.\Box$$

Lemma 2 Assume that \bar{x} is an equilibrium point of Eq.(1). Hence the linearized equation of Eq.(1) is

$$z_{n+1} - \bar{x} z_{n-2} - \bar{x} z_{n-4}.$$
 (8)

Proof. Let *I* be some interval of real numbers and let $f: I^5 \to I$ be a continuously differentiable function such that *f* is defined by

$$f(x_n, x_{n-1}, x_{n-2}, x_{n-3}, x_{n-4}) = x_{n-2}x_{n-4} - 1.$$

Thus, we obtain the followings,

$$q_{0} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n}} (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}) = 0,$$

$$q_{1} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n-1}} (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}) = 0,$$

$$q_{2} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n-2}} (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}) = \bar{x},$$

$$q_{3} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n-3}} (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}) = 0,$$

$$q_{4} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n-4}} (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}, \bar{x}) = \bar{x}.$$

Therefore, the linearized equation associated with Eq.(1) about the equilibrium point \bar{x} is

$$z_{n+1} = q_0 z_n + q_1 z_{n-1} + q_2 z_{n-2} + q_3 z_{n-3} + q_4 z_{n-4}$$

then

 $z_{n+1} - \bar{x} z_{n-2} - \bar{x} z_{n-4}$

Lemma 3 The characteristic equation of Eq.(1) about its equilibrium point \bar{x} is

 $\lambda^5 - \bar{x}\lambda^2 - \bar{x} = 0. \tag{9}$

Now, we examine the stability of equilibrium points of Eq.(1).

Theorem 4 The positive equilibrium $\bar{x}_1 = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$ of Eq.(1) is unstable. **Proof.** We take (9) with $\bar{x}_1 = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$. Hence, we obtain five roots of (9): $\lambda_1 \approx 1.35669,$ $\lambda_{2,3} \approx -0.817695 \pm 0.913305i,$

$$\lambda_{4,5} \approx 0.139352 \pm 0.879896i.$$

Hence we have,

 $|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_{2,3}| > 1 > |\lambda_{4,5}|.$

Consequently, the equilibrium $\bar{x}_1 = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$ of Eq.(1) is unstable.

Theorem 5 The negative equilibrium $\bar{x}_2 = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$ of Eq.(1) is unstable. **Proof.** We take (9) with $\bar{x}_2 = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$. Hence, we obtain five roots of (9):

$$\lambda_1 \approx -1.054797,$$

 $\lambda_{2,3} \approx -0.163078 \pm 0.772937i,$
 $\lambda_{4,5} \approx 0.690472 \pm 0.679856i.$

Hence we have,

$$|\lambda_1| > 1 > |\lambda_{2,3}| > |\lambda_{4,5}|.$$

Consequently, the equilibrium $\bar{x}_2 = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$ of Eq.(1) is unstable. **3. Periodic Solutions of Eq.(1)**

Now, we study the periodic solutions of Eq.(1) with period two and three.

Theorem 6 There are two periodic solutions of Eq.(1).

Proof. Let *a*, *b* be real numbers, $a \neq b$. Suppose that $\{x_{2n}\}_{n=-2}^{\infty} = a$ and $\{x_{2n-1}\}_{n=-1}^{\infty} = b$. Hence we obtain from Eq.(1)

$$b = a^2 - 1,$$
 (10)
 $a = b^2 - 1.$ (11)

From (10) and (11), we have four cases such that

- i. $a = b = \bar{x}_1$, ii. $a = b = \bar{x}_2$,
- iii. a = 0, b = -1,

iv. a = -1, b = 0.

Since cases i and ii are trivial solutions, they are not periodic solutions. Other cases iii and iv are periodic solutions with period two.

Theorem 7 There are no three periodic solutions of Eq.(1).

Proof. Let *a*, *b*, *c* be real numbers such that at least two are different from each other. Assume that $\{x_{3n}\}_{n=-1}^{\infty} = a, \{x_{3n-1}\}_{n=-1}^{\infty} = b$ and $\{x_{3n-2}\}_{n=0}^{\infty} = c$. Therefore we get from Eq.(1) that

a=ac-1,	(12)
b=ba-1,	(13)
c=cb-1.	(14)

From (12) - (14), we have two cases that

$$a = b = c = \bar{x}_1,$$
 (15)
 $a = b = c = \bar{x}_2.$ (16)

So, (15) and (16) are not three periodic solutions, because these are trivial solutions of Eq.(1). The proof complete.

4. References

[1] Agarwal, R. P., Popenda, J., Periodic solutions of first order linear dif- ference equations, Mathl. Comput. Modelling, 22(1), 11-19, 1995.

[2] Agarwal, R. P., Wong, P. J., Advanced topics in difference equations (Vol. 404), Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.

[3] Elaydi, S., An Introduction to Difference Equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.

[4] Göcen, M., Güneysu, M., The global attractivity of some rational difference equations, J. Comput. Anal. Appl., 25(7), 1233-1243, 2018.

[5] Göcen, M., Cebeci, A., On the Periodic Solutions of Some Systems of Higher Order Difference Equations, Rocky Mountain J. Math., 48(3), 845-858, 2018.

[6] Kent, C. M., Kosmala, W., On the Nature of Solutions of the Difference Equation $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-3} - 1$, International Journal of Nonlinear Analysis and Applications, 2(2), 24-43, 2011.

[7] Kent, C. M., Kosmala, W., Radin, M. A., Stevic, S., Solutions of the difference equation $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-1} - 1$, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2010, 1-13, 2010.

[8] Kent, C. M., Kosmala, W., Stevic, S., Long-term behavior of solutions of the difference equation $x_{n+1} = x_{n-1} x_{n-2} - 1$, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2010, 1-17, 2010.

[9] Kent, C. M., Kosmala, W., Stevic, S., On the difference equation $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-2} - 1$, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2011, 1-15, 2011.

[10] Liu, K., Li, P., Han, F., Zhong, W., Behavior of the Difference Equations $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-1} - 1$, J. Comput. Anal. Appl., 22(1), 1361-1370, 2017.

[11] Okumuş, İ., Soykan, Y., Dynamical Behavior of a System of Three Dimensional nonlinear Difference Equations, Adv. Difference Equ., 2018(223), 1-15, 2018.

[12] Stevic, S., Asymptotics of some classes of higher-order difference equations, Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc., 2007, 1-20, 2007.

[13] Stevic, S., Diblik, J. B., Iricanin, Z., Smarda, Z., Solvability of nonlinear difference equations of fourth order, Electron. J. Differential Equations, 264, 1-14, 2014.

[14] Taşdemir, E., Soykan, Y., On the Periodicies of the Difference Equation $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-1} + a_n$ Karaelmas Science and Engineering Journal, 6(2), 329-333, 2016.

[15] Taşdemir, E., Soykan, Y., Long-Term Behavior of Solutions of the Non- Linear Difference Equation $x_{n+1} = x_{n-1} x_{n-3} - 1$, Gen. Math. Notes, 38(1), 13-31, 2017. [16] Taşdemir, E., Soykan, Y., Stability of Negative Equilibrium of a Non-Linear Difference Equation,

J. Math. Sci. Adv. Appl., 49(1), 51-57, 201S.

[17] Taşdemir, E., Soykan, Y., Dynamical Analysis of a Non-Linear Differ- ence Equation, J. Comput. Anal. Appl., 26(2), 2SS-301, 2019.

[18] Taşdemir, E., On The Asymptotically Periodic Solutions Of A Fifth Order Difference Equation, Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 10(3), 100-111, 2019.

[19] Taşdemir, E., On The Dynamics of a Nonlinear Difference Equation, Adıyaman University Journal of Science, 9(1), 190-201, 2019.

[20] Wang, Y., Luo, Y., Lu, Z., Convergence of solutions of $x_{n+1} = x_n x_{n-1} - 1$, Appl. Math. E-Notes, 12, 153-157, 2012.

Quantum Batteries Driven via Feedback Algorithms

Sergey Borisenok^{1,2}

¹Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Abdullah Gül University, Kayseri, Turkey, ²Feza Gürsey Center for Physics and Mathematics, Boğaziçi University, Turkey, E-mails: sergey.borisenok@agu.edu.tr, borisenok@gmail.com

Abstract

Feedback algorithms can be efficiently applied to control the basic characteristics of quantum batteries (QBs): their ergotropy, their charging power, their storage capacity and others. We discuss pros and cons of the proposed algorithms for bosonic types of quantum batteries. We compare alternative algorithms, including the standard speed gradient and target attractor feedback and our original speed anti-gradient feedback. With their application we study the control efficiency for the ergotropy based on the example of bosonic QB.

1. Introduction

Quantum Battery (QB) is a quantum device for the efficient storage of energy and its transfer to consumption centers. QB can have different physical realizations (Dicke QB, spin QB, harmonic oscillator QB) and vary with their basic characteristics, such as the ergotropy, the charging power, the storage capacity and others [1].

The optimization of different working properties for QBs demands the application of control methods driving the basic characteristics of the quantum battery itself and its charger. Feedback algorithms can be efficiently applied to control the QB dynamics. They are based on different approaches: Kolesnikov's target attractor and Fradkov's speed gradient, and they could be efficiently applied to different configurations of the QB-charger system.

Here we compare few alternative algorithms for the control over the egrotropy of bosonic quantum battery. We make a short review of gradient target attractor methods, their pros and cons, and describe in details our original approach in the form of target repeller feedback.

2. Mathematical model for bosonic quantum battery

Let's consider a model quantum system consisting of two parts: the charger A and the battery B with the corresponding Hamiltonians H_A and H_B . Both Hamiltonian terms have a zero ground-state energy. Apart from that there is the Hamiltonian component H_1 coupling the charger A and the battery B together [2]:

$$H(t) = H_A + H_B + u(t)H_1 , (1)$$

where u(t) is a time-dependent coupling parameter playing a role of control.

In the case of **bosonic harmonic oscillator** QB the battery B is composed by N non-mutually interacting elements marked with the index k. In the terms of creation-annihilation operators the Hamiltonians (1) is given by:

$$H_{A} = \omega_{0}a^{+}a;$$

$$H_{B} = \omega_{0}\sum_{k}b_{k}^{+}b_{k};$$

$$H_{1} = g\sum_{k}\left(ab_{k}^{+} + a^{+}b_{k}\right),$$
(2)

with the positive constants ω_0 and g.

For simplicity we discuss here a single-qubit based quantum battery in the form of quantum oscillator in a Markovian bath, such that its density operator ρ is described with the Lindblad-type operator [3]:

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = -i[H_0 + u(t)\hat{Q}, \rho] + \hat{L}[\rho] , \qquad (3)$$

with

$$H_{0} = \left(\omega_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\right)b^{+}b; \quad \hat{Q} = \frac{b^{+} + b}{\sqrt{2\omega_{0}}}; \quad \hat{P} = i\sqrt{\frac{\omega_{0}}{2}}(b^{+} - b), \quad (4)$$

and

$$\hat{L}[\rho] = \gamma \cdot (n(t) + 1) (2b\rho b^{+} - \rho b^{+} b - b^{+} b \rho) + \gamma \cdot n(t) (2b^{+} \rho b - bb^{+} \rho - \rho bb^{+})$$
(5)

•

The model (3)-(5) covers also a decay due to the interaction of QB with the environment, and for that reason it possesses one extra control parameter n(t). The positive constant γ defines the rate of this decay.

The system (3)-(5) can be re-written in the form of quasi-classical representation [4]:

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = 2\gamma \cdot (\omega_0 n(t) - E) - u(t)P ;$$

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = P - \gamma \cdot Q ;$$

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = -\omega_0^2 Q - \gamma \cdot P - u(t) ,$$
(6)

where we used the notation:

$$E(t) = Tr(H_0\rho); \ Q(t) = Tr(\hat{Q}\rho); \ P(t) = Tr(\hat{P}\rho).$$
⁽⁷⁾

Thus, our finalized form for the mathematical model involves three ODEs for the real functions E(t), P(t) and Q(t), and two control parameters: u(t) and n(t).

The energy storage of quantum battery depends on the time-independent reference Hamiltonian *H* with the finite Hilbert space of the battery system. The difference between the useful energy exacted from QB in the state ρ and its energetically lowest accessible state σ_{ρ} defines its *ergotropy* [5]:

$$W_{\rho} = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho H) - \operatorname{Tr}(\sigma_{\rho} H).$$
(8)

In our model (6) the ergotropy could be defined by (8) as:

$$W(t) = E(t) - E_0, \qquad (9)$$

where E_0 is the energy of the lowest accessible passive battery state.

3. Feedback control algorithms

There are few alternative approaches to perform an efficient feedback control over the ergotropy (9). Let's study the two most popular of them.

One is based on the family of gradient algorithms, for example, on Fradkov's speed gradient [6]. In this algorithm we need to define a positive goal function to drive the dynamical system toward its minimization. Fradkov's approach creates in the system a sort of 'target friction' which provides the maximum decay of the dynamical trajectories in the neighborhood of the control goal. As soon as the goal is achieved, Fradkov's control becomes off.

Alternative form is represented with the Kolesnikov's 'synergetic' control [7]. Here the goal function is served to design a dynamical target attractor in the system locking the trajectories in the phase space in its neighborhood. Kolesnikov's algorithm forms in the phase space trajectories which are converging exponentially fast to the target attractor. The existence of the attactor demands the permanent pumping of the energy to the dynamical system.

Very recently we proposed a modification of Kolesnikov's control based on designing a target repeller in the system [8]. Here we develop the similar idea via the speed anti-gradient approach based on Fradkov's feedback. To do that, let's define the non-negative function of the control goal as:

$$G = \frac{W^2}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left(E - E_0 \right)^2.$$
(10)

This goal (10) should drive our system far away from the lowest accessible energy E_0 of QB to increase its ergotropy W.

Then, following Fradkov's approach [6], we define the control signals:

$$n_{\rm SG} = \Gamma_n \frac{\partial}{\partial n} \frac{dG}{dt} = 2\gamma \omega_0 \Gamma_n (E - E_0) ;$$

$$u_{\rm SG} = \Gamma_u \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \frac{dG}{dt} = -\Gamma_u (E - E_0) P ;$$

$$\Gamma_n, \Gamma_u = \text{const} > 0.$$
(11)

By (11) Eqs (6) becomes:

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \left[\Gamma_{u}P^{2} - 2\gamma + 4\gamma^{2}\omega_{0}^{2}\Gamma_{n}\right] \cdot W - 2\gamma E_{0};$$

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = P - \gamma \cdot Q;$$

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = -\omega_{0}^{2}Q - \gamma \cdot P + \Gamma_{u}(E - E_{0})P.$$
(12)

The control system (12) provides the most possible maximization of the ergotropy. Particularly, we can study the achievability of the control goal (10) as $\gamma \to 0$. For $\Gamma_u >> \omega_0$ we get:

$$P(t) \cong \sqrt{\frac{c_1 e^{c_1 t}}{\Gamma_u (c_2 - e^{c_1 t})}} ; \ W(t) \cong \frac{c_1 c_2}{2\Gamma_u (c_2 - e^{c_1 t})} , \tag{13}$$

with the constants based on the initial conditions:

$$c_1 = \Gamma_u [2W(0) - P^2(0)]; \ c_2 = \frac{2W(0)}{P^2(0)}.$$
 (14)

If the upper limit for the control signal magnitude, then:

$$|u| = |\Gamma_u WP| \le u_{\max} . \tag{15}$$

Thus, the ergotropy W(t) cannot become infinite for any physically reasonable initial conditions W(0) and P(0).

4. Conclusion

All algorithms mentioned here (Kolesnikov's and Fradkov's versions of feedback and our new proposed speed anti-gradient) are robust, they are stable under the perturbation of the initial conditions and the relatively small external noise. They also can be easily extended for a multi-qubit model.

The choice of the particular form of the feedback depends on the control conditions. In general, the gradient-based algorithms are less energy-consuming, and they could be easily computed in the real time regime. From another side, they are less accurate in the achievement of the goal to compare with target attractor / repeller feedback. Thus, the basic criteria for the choice could be: the computational time cost and the cost of the energy that we need to pump into the system to support the control dynamics.

Additionally we point out that the repeller approach which seems to be more natural in the frame of Kolesnikov's control paradigm, could be also realized for Fradkov's algorithmic approach. Two alternative repeller-based algorithms posses the same pros and cons as their attractor-based analogs.

5. References

[1] Kamin, F. H., Tabesh, F. T., Salimi, S., Kheirandish, F., Santos, A. C. 2020. "Non-Markovian effects on charging and self-discharging processes of quantum batteries", New Journal of Physics, 22, 083007.

[2] Ferraro, D., Campisi, M., Andolina, G. M., Pellegrini, V., Polini, M. 2018. "High-power collective charging of a solid-state quantum battery", Physical Review Letters, 120(11), 117702.

[3] Pechen, A. 2011. "Engineering arbitrary pure and mixed quantum states", Physical Review A, 84, 042106.

[4] Borisenok, S. 2020. "Ergotropy of quantum battery controlled via target attractor feedback", IOSR Journal of Applied Physics, 12(3), 43-47.

[5] Francica, G., Goold, J., Plastina, F., Paternostro, M. 2017. "Daemonic ergotropy: enhanced work extraction from quantum correlations", npj Quantum Inf. 3, 12.

[6] Fradkov, A. L. 2007. Cybernetical Physics: From Control of Chaos to Quantum Control. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.

[7] Kolesnikov, A. 2012. Synergetic control methods of complex systems. URSS Publ.

[8] Borisenok, S. 2020. "Suppressing epileptiform dynamics in small Hodgkin-Huxley neuron clusters via target repeller-attractor feedback", IOSR Journal of Mathematics, 16(4), 41-47.

Ranking the dimensions and attributes of SERVQUAL model for hotel satisfactory customers in Albania : A fuzzy AHP method.

Phd. Daniela Halidini Qendraj¹, Phd. Evgjeni Xhafaj²

¹ Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Information Technology, Aleksander Moisiu University Durres, Albania, ¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania. E-mails: daniela_qendraj@hotmail.com, genaxhafa@yahoo.com

Abstract

The quality of service SERVQUAL model is mainly used as a multi-dimensional research instrument for customer satisfaction, and has a direct impact on hotels and their business development in Albania. Keeping tourist satisfied is more important for hotel industry to survive in the competitive market. Customer Satisfaction includes five dimensions named criteria as are: Tangibles, Reliability, Responsiveness, Empathy and Assurance. Each of them has their attributes in total 22 items, named as sub-criteria. The aim of this paper is to find the most important criteria, and their sub-criteria. The survey was developed for 200 tourists from 10 hotels of Tirana in Albania during the year 2018. The Fuzzy AHP (FAHP) method was applied by using a fuzzy conversion of the Saaty scale into Triangular Fuzzy Numbers (TFN) numbers. FAHP is an extension of AHP and shows how the decision maker thinks about using the information to estimate uncertainty in producing decisions under some subjective criteria and their sub-criteria. Due to the data, study results showed that the most important criteria was Responsiveness, the second Empathy, then Reliability, Assurance and the last one was Tangibles. Also the sub-criteria have been ranked related to criteria with FAHP method. These study results help Albania to be more sensitized to tourism in the future.

Keywords: Customer Satisfaction, Fuzzy AHP, Fuzzy Weights, TFN numbers.

1. Introduction

The quality of service has been used to measure customer satisfaction. It consists of five dimensions or attributes: tangibles, reliability, responsiveness, empathy and assurance. These attributes for customer satisfaction are important challenges for managers and even for researchers to optimize better the success of hotel business and tourism. In this way the reason for evaluating customer satisfaction is to understand what customers require to have and in the other side what managers are able to perform, even something differently. For managers is important to attrack new customer, but also to retain the previous customer. The model of the service quality was developed firstly by A. Parasuraman, Valerie A. Zeithaml, and Len Berry (1),(2). They proposed a scale for measuring SERVQUAL, with ten dimensions which reduced to five. The definitions for these five dimensions were proposed by them (2). Tangibles are defined as the appearance of physical facilities, equipment, personel and communication materials, Reliability represents the ability to perform the promised service dependably and accurately, Responsiveness are the

willingness to help customers and to provide prompt service, Assurance shows the knowledge and courtesy of employees and their ability to convey trust and confidence, Empathy establishes the provision of caring, individualized attention to customer. For all these dimensions they developed a questionnaire with 22 attributes in total. Respectively were 4 to capture tangible, 5 items to capture reliability, 4 items for Responsiveness, 4 items for Assurance and 5 items for Empathy. Also R. Ramsaran-Fowdar (3) developed a service quality questionnaire for the hotel industry in Mauritius.

The model applied by Dell (4) for customer service in the computer industry was "beginning with the customer and ending with the customer" helped him to provide personalized service to its customers. Dell's strategies: "build-to-order"; "direct relationship" and "single point of accountability" helped to orient the entire firm to serve the customer better, Kandampully (5). Efficient and personalized service offered by Southwest employes have been useful to win the heart of its customers Bunz and Maes (6) Rhoades (7). According to the literature review measuring customer satisfaction has many different ways. Yu-Cheng Lee (8) studyed customer satisfaction in different levels of performance by some methods including the decision making problem. Laika Satish (9) treats the types of analyses which can be done for customer satisfaction, with behavioral and preferences of customers variable, that are predictive and descriptive analyse. Dimitris Mourtzis (10) attend the customer feedback in product service system, by using OEM website for creating different groups of customers and different weights for each target group. According to Ali Ahani (11) used a multi-criteria decision making and machine learning to identify the important factors for hotel selections based on previous travelers reviews on Trip Advisor. Robert Kosova et al (24) measured the customer satisfaction with the qualitative analyses for hotel's industry in Durres, Albania. Godolja M. (12) measured hotel guest satisfaction in Tirana, using means and factor analysis. There are many algorithms related to criteria rankings like AHP method. The AHP is used to determine relative priorities on absolute scales from both discrete and continuous cases of the paired comparisons in hierarchic structures developed by Saaty et al (13), (14). The importance measurement has been developed to represent the relative importance of the criteria, known as Saaty Scale (15). Saaty introduced AHP to solve real life problems in decision making, but to deal with uncertainty in complex problems and multi criteria decision making (MCDM), AHP is combined with fuzzy logic set (16) as Fuzzy AHP (FAHP). Mehdi Fasanghari (17) studied the fuzzy evaluation of e-commerce customer satisfaction, with triangular fuzzy numbers. Chih-Hsuan Wang (18) incorporate the customer satisfaction into the decision making process of product konfiguration, by a fuzzy Kano perspective. Medjoudj Rabah (19) evaluate the customer satisfaction and profitability analysis using multi criteria decision making problems. There are a few studies about costumer satisfaction for hotel's industry using the fuzzy AHP model. In this paper the Fuzzy AHP method will convert the Saaty scale of AHP from 1-9, into triangular fuzzy numbers, thus constructing the fuzzy decision matrix and applying the Fuzzy AHP. In our study we have prepared the full survey based on Godolja (12), (25), and Ramsaran-Fowdar (3). In fact FAHP offers better performance than the AHP method. FAHP also uses hierarchical structures, decomposition and comparison matrices, decreases inconsistency and produces more important eigen vector, according to the

Saaty scale implemented in membership functions used as Fuzzy function. Fuzzy AHP is performed by calculating the value of the Triangular Fuzzy Number (TFN) scale, calculating the value of Fuzzy Priority Synthesis, calculating the minimum value, normalizing and calculating priority weights. In the figure 1 are shown the FAHP steps.

Proposed framework



Figure 1. Steps for FAHP

2. Materials and Methods

Data collections

The data in this paper are collected from 200 customers in 10 different hotels in Tirana, by the online survey developed based in Ramsaran-Fowdar (3), Godolja (25). The survey used the 1-7 likert scale to measure expectation and perception of customers, where 1 represent the unsatisfied customer and 7 for very satisfied customer. The hotels were located in different geographical, and central zones of Tirana. Customer satisfaction consists of five main criteria that are: Tangibles, Reliability, Responsiveness, Empathy and Assurance.

Each of them have respectively 4, 5, 4, 4, 5 sub-criteria from A_1 to A_{22} . The full questionnaire is in appendix A1. For all these data firstly we construct the pair-wise comparison matrices with Saaty scale. The methods that are based on the use of pair-wise comparisons represent an important group in Multi Criteria Decision Making Models (MCDM). One of them is the Fuzzy AHP method, mostly applied in decision making problems. The aim of this study is to rank the criteria and their sub-criteria using the Fuzzy AHP. In figure 2 is shown the hierarchy structure of the survey used to evaluate the customer satisfaction for our data.

Hierarchy structure



Figure 2. Hierarchy structure of the questionnaire with 22 items

Fuzzy AHP method

Fuzzy AHP is an improvement of AHP method for solving complicated decision problems with criteria and subcriteria. Zadeh (16) introduced the fuzzy sets, and fuzzy membership functions with elements [0,1]. There are different fuzzy membership functions such as: triangular, trapezoidal, s-shape, sigmoid, and Gaussian. In this study we use triangular fuzzy membership function and show how it is adapted to the data (20). A fuzzy number $\check{\alpha} = (l, m, u)$ is called a triangular fuzzy number (TFN) with lower, medium and upper bounds respectively, if its membership function $\mu_{\check{\alpha}}(x): R \to [0,1]$ is as follows:

$$\mu_{\check{\alpha}}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{x-l}{m-l} & l \le x \le m \\ \frac{u-x}{u-m} & m \le x \le u \\ 0 & x \ne [l,u] \end{cases}$$
(1)

The operational laws with Fuzzy numbers based on Gao (21), Nagoor (22):

- a) $\check{\alpha}_1 \oplus \check{\alpha}_2 = (l_1, m_1, u_1) \oplus (l_2, m_2, u_2) = (l_1 + l_2, m_1 + m_2, u_1 + u_2)$
- b) $\check{\alpha}_1 \otimes \check{\alpha}_2 = (l_1, m_1, u_1) \otimes (l_2, m_2, u_2) = (l_1 l_2, m_1 m_2, u_1 u_2)$
- c) $\check{\alpha}_1 \oslash \check{\alpha}_2 = (l_1, m_1, u_1) \oslash (l_2, m_2, u_2) = (l_1/l_2, m_1/m_2, u_1/u_2)$

d)
$$\check{\alpha}^{-1} = (l, m, u)^{-1} = (\frac{1}{u}, \frac{1}{m}, \frac{1}{l})$$

Firstly we construct the decision matrix with Saaty scale, decided from the decision makers experts. The most important thing is that this matrix has to be consistent with index CI less or equal to 0.1

 $(CI = \frac{\lambda_{max} - n}{n-1} \le 0.1)$. Also is necessary that the consistence ratio $CR = CI/RI \le 0.1$, where RI is random index of the matrix n-order showed in table 1.

Table 1. Random Index for matrix of n-order, simple AHP (Saaty 1980)

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
RI	0.00	0.00	0.58	0.9	1.12	1.24	1.32	1.41	1.45	1.49

In this study all crisp numbers of the Saaty decision matrix are converted into triangular fuzzy numbers as in matrix \check{A} by applying the values of table 2, that indicates the Saaty scale for relative importance.

Table 2.	The	relative	importance	values	with	triangular	fuzzy	numbers.
						0		

Relative (Saaty) importance value	Importance	Fuzzy triangular scale
1	Equal	(1,1,1)
3	Moderate	(2,3,4)
5	Strong	(4,5,6)
7	Very strong	(6,7,8)
9	Extremely strong	(9,9,9)
2	Intermediate values	(1,2,3)
4	Intermediate values	(3,4,5)
6	Intermediate values	(5,6,7)
8	Intermediate values	(7,8,9)

The decision matrix $\check{A} = (\check{a}_{ij}), \ \check{a}_{ij} = (l_{ij}, m_{ij}, u_{ij}), \ \text{where} \ \check{a}_{ij}^{-1} = (\frac{1}{u_{ij}}, \frac{1}{m_{ij}}, \frac{1}{l_{ij}})$ (2)

For each of the criteria is calculated the fuzzy geometric mean value:

$$\check{r}_i = \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \widetilde{a_{ij}}\right)^{1/n} \tag{3}$$

After step (3) becames the defuzzification of fuzzy numbers $\check{\omega}_i$ with the method "Center of Area" named as COA for the fuzzy weights. According to Voskoglou (23) the coordinates of the Center of Area for the triangular formed with fuzzy numbers are G($\frac{l+m+n}{3}, \frac{1}{3}$). Point G is the intersection of the medians of the triangle formed by fuzzy numbers.

$$\check{\omega}_i = \check{r}_i \otimes (\check{r}_1 \oplus \check{r}_2 \oplus ... \oplus \check{r}_n)^{-1}$$
(4)

The last is the average M_i and the normalized weights N_i for all the criteria:

$$M_i = \frac{\breve{\omega}_1 \oplus \breve{\omega}_2 \oplus \dots \oplus \breve{\omega}_n}{n} \quad (5) \qquad \qquad N_i = \frac{M_i}{M_1 \oplus M_2 \oplus \dots \oplus M_n} \quad (6)$$

3. Results

The decision matrix constructed for the criteria level with AHP method by Saaty scale crisp numbers is in table 3.

Criteria	Tangibles	Reliability	Responsiveness	Empathy	Assurance
Tangibles	1	1/2	1/9	1/5	1/2
Reliability	2	1	1/7	1/4	4
Responsiveness	9	7	1	3	5
Empathy	5	4	1/3	1	2
Assurance	2	1/4	1/5	1/2	1

Table 3. The decision matrix for Criteria level with Saaty crisp numbers.

The consistency index CI = 0.1, RI = 0.089 so the matrix is consistent. The fuzzy matrix related with the TFN numbers according to equation (2) is in table 4.

Table 4.	The decision	n matrix for	Criteria	level	with	Saaty	triangular	[·] fuzzy	numbers.
----------	--------------	--------------	----------	-------	------	-------	------------	--------------------	----------

Criteria	Tangibles	Reliability	Responsiveness	Empathy	Assurance
Tangibles	(1,1,1)	(0.33, 0.5,1)	(0.11,0.11,0.11)	(0.16,0.2,0.25)	(0.33, 0.5,1)
Reliability	(1,2,3)	(1,1,1)	(0.125,0.14,0.16)	(0.2,0.25,0.33)	(3,4,5)
Responsiveness	(9,9,9)	(6,7,8)	(1,1,1)	(2,3,4)	(4,5,6)
Empathy	(4,5,6)	(3,4,5)	(0.25,0.33,0.5)	(1,1,1)	(1,2,3)
Assurance	(1,2,3)	(0.2,0.25,0.33)	(0.16,0.2,0.25)	(0.33, 0.5,1)	(1,1,1)

In table 5 are shown the values of equations (2) till to (6) for FAHP method.

Table 5. The ranked criteria

Criteria	ř _i	ω _i	COA	N _i	Rank
Tangibles	(0.28,0.35, 0.48)	(0.03, 0.05, 0.08)	0.053	0.052	5
Reliability	(0.59,0.77, 0.95)	(0.065, 0.1, 0.16)	0.1	0.098	3
Responsiveness	(3.36,3.93 ,4.44)	(0.36, 0.55, 0.75)	0.55	0.54	1
Empathy	(1.24,1.67, 2.14)	(0.13,0.23, 0.36)	0.24	0.23	2
Assurance	(0.4, 0.55, 0.75)	(0.044,0.077,0.12)	0.08	0.078	4

The results show that for Albanian's customer satisfaction the most important criteria is Responsiveness, the second is Empathy, then Reliability, Assurance and the last Tangibles.
For the next level sub-criteria, in the same way are calculated the FAHP equations from (2) to (6) in order to evaluate their importance in accordance of the criteria they apart. The following tables 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 indicate the sub-criteria level evaluations and their rankings.

Table 6. The sub-criteria A₁, A₂, A₃, A₄ ranked with the relative importance for Tangibles criteria.

Sub-Criteria	ř _i	ω _i	COA	N _i	Rank
A1	(0.47, 0.63, 0.83)	(0.07, 0.11, 0.19)	0.123	0.12	3
A2	(2.45, 3.02, 3.55)	(0.36, 0.54, 0.81)	0.57	0.55	1
A ₃	(0.3, 0.36, 0.48)	(0.045,0.064, 0.11)	0.073	0.07	4
A4	(1.15, 1.41, 1.69)	(0.17, 0.25, 0.38)	0.266	0.26	2

The most preferred sub-criteria for Tangibles criteria is A_2 "The hotel has communication facilities", the second is A_4 , then A_1 and the last is A_3 .

Table 7. The sub-criteria A₅, A₆, A₇, A₈ ranked with the relative importance for Reliability criteria.

Sub-Criteria	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	СОА	N _i	Rank
A ₅	(0.32, 0.41, 0.6)	(0.041, 0.065, 0.144)	0.083	0.075	5
A ₆	(1.37, 2.17, 2.29)	(0.17, 0.34, 0.55)	0.353	0.32	1
A ₇	(1.21, 1.72, 2.35)	(0.157, 0.27, 0.56)	0.329	0.3	2
A ₈	(0.8, 1.14, 1.72)	(0.1, 0.18, 0.41)	0.23	0.2	3
A9	(0.4, 0.55, 0.78)	(0.052, 0.088, 0.187)	0.109	0.099	4

The most preferred sub-criteria for Reliability criteria is A_6 "When you have a problem, the hotel has dependability to solve it", the second is A_7 , then A_8 , A_9 and the last is A_5 .

Table 8. The sub-criteria A_{10} , A_{11} , A_{12} , A_{13} ranked with the relative importance for Responsiveness criteria.

Sub-Criteria	ř _i	$\widecheck{\omega}_i$	COA	N _i	Rank
A ₁₀	(0.33, 0.42, 0.59)	(0.049,0.075, 0.13)	0.084	0.08	4
A ₁₁	(0.61, 0.89, 1.16)	(0.091, 0.16, 0.25)	0.167	0.16	2
A ₁₂	(0.57, 0.74, 1)	(0.085, 0.13, 0.22)	0.145	0.14	3
A ₁₃	(2.99, 3.49, 3.98)	(0.45, 0.62, 0.87)	0.65	0.62	1

The most preferred sub-criteria for Responsiveness criteria is A_{13} "The hotel employees usually respond to your requests", the second is A_{11} , then A_{12} and the last is A_{10} .

Referring the results in table 9 the most preferred sub-criteria for Assurance criteria is A_{16} "The hotel employees are consistently courteous towards you", the second is A_{14} , then A_{15} and the last is A_{17} .

Table 9. The sub-criteria A₁₄, A₁₅, A₁₆, A₁₇ ranked with the relative importance for Assurance criteria.

Sub-Criteria	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	СОА	Ni	Rank
A ₁₄	(1.27, 1.65, 2.21)	(0.19, 0.297, 0.53)	0.339	0.32	2
A ₁₅	(0.74, 0.89, 1.15)	(0.11, 0.16, 0.27)	0.18	0.17	3
A ₁₆	(1.86, 2.54, 3.13)	(0.28, 0.45, 0.75)	0.49	0.46	1
A ₁₇	(0.23, 0.26, 0.29)	(0.034,0.046,0.069)	0.049	0.046	4

Table 10. The sub-criteria A_{18} , A_{19} , A_{20} , A_{21} , A_{22} ranked with the relative importance for Empathy criteria.

Sub-Criteria	ř _i	ω _i	СОА	N _i	Rank
A ₁₈	(0.32, 0.41, 0.6)	(0.038, 0.069, 0.144)	0.083	0.073	5
A19	(1.38, 2.04, 2.85)	(0.16, 0.34, 0.68)	0.39	0.34	1
A ₂₀	(1.21, 1.72, 2.35)	(0.145, 0.29, 0.56)	0.33	0.29	2
A ₂₁	(0.79, 1.15, 1.72)	(0.094, 0.19, 0.41)	0.23	0.2	3
A ₂₂	(0.4, 0.55, 0.78)	(0.048, 0.093, 0.187)	0.1	0.088	4

The most preferred sub-criteria for Empathy criteria is A_{19} "The hotel has operating hours convenient to all its customers", the second is A_{20} , then A_{21} , A_{22} and the last is A_{18} .

4. Conclusions

This paper considers five dimensions of SERVQUAL model: Tangibles, Reliability, Responsiveness, Assurance and Empathy, that have their impact on customer satisfaction for hotel industries in Albania. We developed a survey for SERVQUAL model and named the five dimensions as criteria and their attributes as sub-criteria from A1 to A22. As study purpose was the evaluation of the most important criteria, and their most important sub-criteria using Fuzzy AHP method. FAHP is an extension of AHP when the fuzziness of the decision maker is considered. The FAHP method for the uncertain or the deviation of the decision maker proved to be a convenient method. The study results showed that the most important criteria was Responsiveness, the second Empathy, then Reliability, Assurance and the last one was Tangibles. As for the sub-criteria the most preferred of Tangible criteria was attribute A2 "The hotel has communication facilities", for Reliability the most preferred sub-criteria was A₆ "When you have a problem, the hotel has dependability to solve it", according to Responsiveness the most preferred sub-criteria was A13"The hotel employees usually respond to your requests", for Assurance the most preferred sub-criteria was A₁₆ "The hotel employees are consistently courteous towards you", and for Empathy the most preferred sub-criteria was A₁₉ "The hotel has operating hours convenient to all its customers". According to customer satisfaction related with the hotels of Albania is very important the Responsiveness criteria first of all, and the last remain Tangibles. The explanation for this fact is subjective but we think that Albania needs to be more sensitized to tourism in future. Additionally in

further studies we will include more hotels from all over Albania, not only tourists but guests etc, and another Fuzzy AHP method may be applied via α -cuts with a bigger data set from all of the customers.

5. References

- 1. Parasuraman A, Zeithaml VA, Berry LL. A Conceptual Model of Service Quality and Its Implications for Future Research. J Mark. 1985;
- 2. Parasuraman a, Zeithaml V a, Berry LL. SERQUAL: A Multiple-Item scale for Measuring Consumer Perceptions of Service Quality. Journal of Retailing. 1988.
- 3. Ramsaran-Fowdar RR. Developing a service quality questionnaire for the hotel industry in Mauritius. J Vacat Mark. 2007;
- 4. Direct from dell: Strategies that revolutionized an industry. Organ Dyn. 1999;
- 5. Kandampully J, hu HH. Do hoteliers need to manage image to retain loyal customers? Int J Contemp Hosp Manag. 2007;
- 6. Bunz UK, Maes JD. Learning excellence: Southwest Airlines' approach. Manag Serv Qual An Int J. 1998;
- 7. Shanock LR, Eisenberger R. When supervisors feel supported: Relationships with subordinates' perceived supervisor aupport, perceived organizational support, and performance. J Appl Psychol. 2006;
- 8. Lee YC, Wang YC, Lu SC, Hsieh YF, Chien CH, Tsai SB, et al. An empirical research on customer satisfaction study: a consideration of different levels of performance. Springerplus. 2016;
- 9. Satish L, Yusof N. A Review: Big Data Analytics for enhanced Customer Experiences with Crowd Sourcing. In: Procedia Computer Science. 2017.
- Mourtzis D, Vlachou E, Zogopoulos V, Gupta RK, Belkadi F, Debbache A, et al. Customer feedback gathering and management tools for product-service system design. In: Procedia CIRP. 2018.
- 11. Ahani A, Nilashi M, Yadegaridehkordi E, Sanzogni L, Tarik AR, Knox K, et al. Revealing customers' satisfaction and preferences through online review analysis: The case of Canary Islands hotels. J Retail Consum Serv. 2019;
- 12. Godolja M, Spaho A. Customer satisfaction measurement practices in hotels: Some evidence from Albania. In: 10th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE OF ASECU CUSTOMER. 2016.
- 13. Saaty TL. The analytical hierarchy process, planning, priority. Priority Setting. Resource Allocation, MacGraw-Hill, New York International Book Company. 1980.
- 14. Saaty TL, Peniwati K, Shang JS. The analytic hierarchy process and human resource allocation: Half the story. Math Comput Model. 2007;
- 15. Saaty TL. Group Decision Making and the AHP. In: The Analytic Hierarchy Process. 1989.
- 16. Zadeh LA. Fuzzy sets. Inf Control. 1965;
- 17. Fasanghari M, Gholamy N, Chaharsooghi SK, Qadami S, Delgosha MS. The fuzzy evaluation of ecommerce customer satisfaction utilizing fuzzy topsis. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Electronic Commerce and Security, ISECS 2008. 2008.
- 18. Wang CH. Incorporating customer satisfaction into the decision-making process of product configuration: A fuzzy kano perspective. Int J Prod Res. 2013;
- 19. Medjoudj R, Aissani D, Haim KD. Power customer satisfaction and profitability analysis using multi-criteria decision making methods. Int J Electr Power Energy Syst. 2013;

- 20. Saaty TL. There is no mathematical validity for using fuzzy number crunching in the analytic hierarchy process. J Syst Sci Syst Eng. 2006;
- 21. Gao S, Zhang Z, Cao C. Multiplication operation on fuzzy numbers. J Softw. 2009;
- 22. Nagoor Gani A, Mohamed Assarudeen SN. A new operation on triangular fuzzy number for solving fuzzy linear programming problem. Appl Math Sci. 2012;
- 23. Voskoglou MG. Application of fuzzy numbers to assessment of human skills. Int J Fuzzy Syst Appl. 2017;
- 24. Kosova R. et. al. Measurement and evaluation of customer satisfaction in the hotel industry Forecasting the future of business. A case study from Durres, Albania. CAIM 2016. The 24-th conference on applied and industrial mathematics. Craiova. September 15- 18 2016. Book of abstract. ISSN 2537- 2688.
- 25. Godolja G,Spaho A, Measuring hotel guest satisfaction using SERVQUAL methods: A study in Tirana hotels. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/314321889

Tangibles	A ₁ : The hotel has a good location.
(Look sharp)	A ₂ : The hotel has communication facilities.
	A ₃ : The hotel's employees are well dressed.
	A ₄ : Materials associated with the service are visually appealing at the
	hotel.
Reliability	A ₅ : When the hotel promises to do something by a certain time, it does
(Just do it)	so
	A_6 : When you have a problem, the hotel has dependability to solve it.
	A ₇ : The hotel has a correct performance of the service at the first time.
	A_8 : The hotel provides its services at the time it promises to do so.
	A ₉ : The hotel insists on maintenance for error-free records.
Responsiveness	A ₁₀ .The hotel employees keep you informed about service perform.
(Do it now)	A ₁₁ . The hotel employees provide you prompt service.
	A ₁₂ . The hotel employees are always willing to help you.
	A ₁₃ . The hotel employees usually respond to your requests.
Assurance	A ₁₄ : The ability of hotel's staff instills confidence in customers.
(Know what you're	A ₁₅ : You feel safe in your transaction with the hotel.
doing)	A ₁₆ : The hotel employees are consistently courteous towards you.
	A ₁₇ : The hotel has knowledgeable staff to answer your questions.
Empathy	A ₁₈ : The hotel gives you special attention.
(Care about customers	A ₁₉ : The hotel has operating hours convenient to all its customers.
as much as the service)	A ₂₀ : The hotel has employees who give you individual attention.
	A ₂₁ : The hotel has your best interests at heart.
	A ₂₂ : Employees of the hotel understand your special needs.

Appendix (Table of the SERVQUAL attributes)

Relaxed Elastic Lie Quadratics

Gözde ÖZKAN TÜKEL¹, Ahmet YÜCESAN²

¹Finance, Banking and Insurance, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Süleyman Demirel University, Turkey, E-mail(s): gozdetukel@isparta.edu.tr ahmetyucesan@sdu.edu.tr

Abstract

We introduce the problem of the relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in the Lie algebra of a Lie group endowed with bi-invariant Riemannian metric. Then we characterize relaxed elastic Lie quadratics by the Euler-Lagrange equations with two boundary conditions in Lie algebra \mathbf{g} .

Key words: Relaxed elastic Lie quadratics, Lie groups, Lie algebra.

1. Introduction

A relaxed elastic line as defined by Manning in [4] and characterized in [6] is a variational problem which minimizes the total squared curvature $\int_{\gamma} \kappa^2 ds$ among curves with fixed initial point, direction, and length ℓ , where $s, 0 \le s \le \ell$, is arc length. So far this variational problem and its generalizations have been analyzed from various perspectives. Especially in [10], authors consider this problem in a Riemannian manifold by using a different method from the previous works, which is known Langer and Singer's approach (see, [3]). The authors derive a differential equation with two boundary conditions for the relaxed elastic line in a Riemannian manifold with constant sectional curvature. Inspired by the characterization of relaxed elastic line in a Riemannian manifold in [10] and studying elastic curve in Lie group in [9], we consider the problem in a Lie group equipped with bi-invariant Riemannian metric. The Lie algebra **g** of a Lie group G is defined in the identity element e of G. A curve γ in G corresponds a Lie reduction V in the Lie algebra **g** of G. We call a Lie reduction of the critical point of the relaxed elastic energy functional as relaxed elastic Lie quadratic. We consider that this characterization a more geometric and algebraic approach to questions concerning a relaxed elastic problem.

2. Preliminaries

We consider that M is a Riemannian manifold with Riemannian metric <,>, Levi-Civita connection ∇ and Riemannian curvature tensor R. The relaxed elastic line problem aims to minimize the energy

$$F(\gamma) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\ell \kappa^2 ds \tag{2.1}$$

among smooth curves in M with fixed initial point, direction, and length ℓ . Critical points of the functional (2.1) are characterized by the Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}^{3}\dot{\gamma}(s) + R\left(\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)\right)\dot{\gamma}(s) - \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}(\Lambda(s)\dot{\gamma}(s)) = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$\Lambda(s) = -\frac{3}{2} \langle \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s), \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \rangle$$
(2.3)

with two boundary conditions

$$\kappa(\ell) = 0, \ \kappa_s(\ell) = 0 \tag{2.4}$$

where κ is the geodesic curvature (see, [10]). In the following proposition, we reconsider Eq. (2.2) as solutions of an unconstrained differential equation with initial conditions of a particular form.

Proposition 1 (see, [9]). Any C^{∞} curve $\gamma: [0, \ell] \to M$ is a relaxed elastic line if and only if the Euler Lagrange equation

$$\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}^{3}\dot{\gamma}(s) + R\left(\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(s), \dot{\gamma}(s)\right)\dot{\gamma}(s) + \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\left(\frac{3}{2}\left\|\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(s)\right\|\dot{\gamma}(s)\right) = 0$$

with boundary conditions

$$\left\|\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(\ell)\right\| = 0, \qquad \frac{d}{ds}\left\|\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(s)\right\|\right\|_{s=\ell} = 0$$

for all $s \in [0, \ell]$ and following equalities are satisfied

$$1 = \|\dot{\gamma}(s_0)\|$$
$$0 = <\nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \Big|_{s=s_0}, \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s_0) >$$

and

$$0 = \langle \nabla_{\underline{d}}^{2} \dot{\gamma}(s) \Big|_{s=s_{0}}, \dot{\gamma}(s_{0}) \rangle + \left\| \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \Big|_{s=s_{0}} \right\|^{2}$$

for some $s_0 \in [0, \ell]$.

Let G be a Lie group endowed with bi-invariant Riemannian metric $\langle \rangle$. If e denotes the identity element of G, then $\mathbf{g} = T_e G$ is the Lie algebra of G. Bi-invariance of the Riemannian metric $\langle \rangle$ for all $X, Y, Z \in \mathbf{g}$ is equivalent to the following condition

$$< [X, Y], Z > = < [Z, X], Y >$$

where [,] is the Lie bracket operator. Let $\|.\|$ be the norm corresponding to the restriction of the Riemannian metric <,> to **g**. For the Lie group G, we have

$$\nabla_X Y = \frac{1}{2} [X, Y]$$

and

$$R(X,Y)Z = \frac{1}{4}[Z,[X,Y]],$$

where ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection of G and R is the Riemannian curvature tensor (see, [2, 5]). Given any C^{∞} lifting $u: I \to TG$ of a curve $\gamma: I \to G$, $U: I \to \mathbf{g}$ defined by

$$U(t) = \left(dL_{\gamma(t)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(t)} u(t)$$

is known the Lie reduction of u, where L_x is the left multiplication by $x \in G$ and $(dL_x)_y$ is the derivative of L_x at $y \in \mathbf{g}$ [7]. Especially the Lie reduction of $\gamma'(t): I \to TG$ (or the curve $\gamma: I \to G$) corresponds to a differentiable curve $V: I \to \mathbf{g}$ defined by

$$V(t) = \left(dL_{\gamma(t)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(t)} \gamma'(t).$$
(2.5)

(2.5) is also equivalent to the first order differential equation

$$\gamma'(t) = \left(dL_{\gamma(t)}\right)_e V(t),$$

where $\gamma'(t) = \frac{d\gamma(t)}{dt}$. For C^{∞} liftings u_0, u_1 and u_2 of γ , we have the following equalities:

$$\left(dL_{\gamma(t)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(t)}\nabla_{\underline{d}} u_0 = \nabla_{\underline{d}} U_0 + \frac{1}{2}\left[V, U_0\right]$$

and

$$(dL_{\gamma(t)^{-1}})_{\gamma(t)}R(u_0,u_1)u_2 = \frac{1}{4}[U_2,[U_0,U_1]],$$

where U_0 , U_1 and U_2 are Lie reductions of u_0 , u_1 and u_2 , respectively (see, [7]).

Lemma 1(see, [8, 9]). Let $\gamma: I \to G$ be a differentiable curve. Suppose that the Lie reduction of γ is given by $V: I \to \mathbf{g}$. Then we have for all $s \in I$ in the following equations:

i)
$$\left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(s)} \nabla \frac{d}{ds} \dot{\gamma}(s) = \dot{V}(s)$$

$$\begin{aligned} &\text{ii)} \quad \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(s)} \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}^{2} \dot{\gamma}(s) = \ddot{V}(s) + \frac{1}{2} [V(s), \dot{V}(s)] \\ &\text{iii)} \quad \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(s)} \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}^{3} \dot{\gamma}(s) = \frac{d^{3}V(s)}{ds^{3}} + [V(s), \ddot{V}(s)] + \frac{1}{4} \Big[V(s), [V(s), \dot{V}(s)] \Big] \\ &\text{iv)} \quad \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(s)} \mathbb{R} \left(\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}} \dot{\gamma}(s), \dot{\gamma}(s) \right) \dot{\gamma}(s) = -\frac{1}{4} \Big[V(s), [V(s), \dot{V}(s)] \Big]. \end{aligned}$$

3. Relaxed Elastic Lie Quadraics

Theorem 1. Any differentiable curve $\gamma: I \to G$ in the Lie group G is called a relaxed elastic line if and only if the curve $V: I \to g$., which is the Lie reduction of γ , in the Lie algebra g satisfies

$$\ddot{V}(s) = \left[\dot{V}(s), V(s)\right] - \left(\langle V(s), C \rangle + \left\|\dot{V}(s)\right\|^2\right) V(s) + C, \quad (3.1)$$
$$\|V(s)\|^2 = 1 \quad (3.2)$$

and

$$\|\dot{V}(\ell)\| = 0, \ \frac{d}{ds} \|\dot{V}(s)\||_{s=\ell} = 0$$
 (3.3)

for some constant $C \in \mathbf{g}$ and all $s \in I$.

Proof. Assume that $\gamma: I \to G$ is a relaxed elastic line in G. Then γ satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equation (2.2). Applying $(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}})_{\gamma(s)}$ to (2.2) and using Lemma 1, we obtain

$$\frac{d^{3}V(s)}{ds^{3}} + \left[V(s), \ddot{V}(s)\right] - \frac{d}{ds} \left(\Lambda(s)\dot{V}(s)\right) = 0.$$

Integrating once, we have

$$\frac{d^2 V(s)}{ds^2} = \left[\dot{V}(s), V(s) \right] + \Lambda(s) \dot{V}(s) + C \tag{3.4}$$

where $C \in \mathbf{g}$ is a integration constant. On the other hand, we have

$$1 = \|\dot{\gamma}(s)\|^2 = \left\| \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}} \right)_{\gamma(s)} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\|^2 = \|V(s)\|^2.$$
(3.5)

The first and second derivative of (3.5) are found as follows

$$\langle \dot{V}(s), V(s) \rangle = 0 \tag{3.6}$$

and

$$\langle \ddot{V}(s), V(s) \rangle + \|\dot{V}(s)\|^2 = 0.$$
 (3.7)

Taking inner product of (3.4) with V(s) and using (3.7), we have

$$\Lambda(s) = -\|\dot{V}(s)\|^2 - \langle V(s), C \rangle.$$
(3.8)

From (3.4) and (3.8), we obtain (3.1). Finally, taking into consider the equations

$$\kappa(s) = \left\| \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\| = \left\| \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}} \right)_{\gamma(s)} \nabla_{\underline{d}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\| = \left\| \dot{V}(s) \right\|$$

and (2.4), we obtain the conditions (3.3).

Δ

Conversely, let $V: I \to \mathbf{g}$ corresponds the Lie reduction of a curve $\gamma: I \to G$. Suppose that $||V(s)||^2 = 1$ and Eq. (3.1) with conditions (3.3) is satisfied. From Lemma 1, we have

$$\|V(s)\|^{2} = \left\| \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}} \right)_{\gamma(s)} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\|^{2} = \|\dot{\gamma}(s)\|^{2} = 1.$$

Choosing $-(\langle V(s), C \rangle + \|\dot{V}(s)\|^2) = \Lambda(s)$ and taking derivative of (3.1), we obtain $\frac{d^3V(s)}{d^3V(s)} = [\ddot{V}(s) | V(s)] + \frac{d}{d} (\Lambda(s)\dot{V}(s))$

$$\frac{ds}{ds^3} = \left[\ddot{V}(s), V(s)\right] + \frac{d}{ds} \left(\Lambda(s)\dot{V}(s)\right)$$

If we add $\pm \frac{1}{4} \left[V(s), \left[V(s), \dot{V}(s) \right] \right]$ and using Lemma 1, we have for all $s \in I$

$$\frac{d}{ds}\dot{\gamma}(s) + R\left(\nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}\dot{\gamma}(s),\dot{\gamma}(s)\right)\dot{\gamma}(s) - \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}}(\Lambda(s)\dot{\gamma}(s)) = 0$$

since $\left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}}\right)_{\gamma(s)}$ is an isomorphism. On the other hand, by using the equations

$$\|\dot{V}(s)\| = \left\| \left(dL_{\gamma(s)^{-1}} \right)_{\gamma(s)} \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\| = \left\| \nabla_{\frac{d}{ds}} \dot{\gamma}(s) \right\| = \kappa(s)$$

and (3.3), we have (2.4). Therefore, γ is a relaxed elastic line in G.

By similarly with the Lie quadratics of [7-9], we can give the following the definition:

Definition 1. Any curve $V: I \rightarrow \mathbf{g}$ satisfying differential equation (3.1) with conditions (3.2) and (3.3) for some $C \in \mathbf{g}$ and all $s \in I$ is called a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic with constant *C*. Also, *V* defined by (2.5) is called a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic associated with γ , if γ is a relaxed elastic line.

Corollary 1. Let $V: I \rightarrow \mathbf{g}$ be a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic. If we define $Q: I \rightarrow \mathbf{g}$ by

$$Q(s) = \ddot{V}(s) + \left(< V(s), C > + \|\dot{V}(s)\|^2 \right) V(s)$$
(3.9)

then we have for all $s \in I$

$$\dot{Q}(s) = [Q(s), V(s)]$$
 (3.10)
and $||Q(s)||$ is a constant as follows

$$\sqrt{\|\ddot{V}(\ell)\|^2 + (2 < V(\ell), \ddot{V}(\ell) > + < V(\ell), C >)} < V(\ell), C >.$$

Proof. Writing (3.9) in (3.1), we obtain

$$Q(s) = [\dot{V}(s), V(s)] + C.$$
 (3.11)

Taking derivative of (3.11), we calculate

$$\dot{Q}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \ddot{V}(s), V(s) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.12)

Combining (3.9) and (3.12), we find

$$\dot{Q}(s) = \left[Q(s) - \left(\langle V(s), C \rangle + \|\dot{V}(s)\|^2\right)V(s), V(s)\right] = [Q(s), V(s)].$$

Finally, we calculate in the following result

$$\frac{d}{ds} \|Q(s)\|^2 = 2 < \dot{Q}(s), Q(s) >= 2 < [Q(s), V(s)], Q(s) >= 0.$$

This implies that ||Q(s)|| is a constant. Taking into consideration (3. 9) with boundary conditions (3.3), we especially have for $s = \ell$

$$\|Q(\ell)\|^{2} = \|\ddot{V}(\ell)\|^{2} + (2 < V(\ell), \ddot{V}(\ell) > + < V(\ell), C >) < V(\ell), C >.$$

Differential equations of the form (3.10) are called Lax equations. The Lax equation (3.10) is crucial to solution of (2.5) for a relaxed elastic line γ in term of its relaxed elastic Lie quadratic V. In [9], authors prove that the differential equation that gives the elastic curve can expand the whole real axis by Picard's theorem and Lax equations. Then by the Theorem 3.1 in [9] and the Proposition 1, all relaxed elastic lines in G extend uniquely to R when G is compact.

4. Relaxed elastic lines in SO(3)

We suppose G=SO(3) which is the group of rotations of Euclidean 3-space. Then the Lie algebra of G is g=so(3) which is the set off all skew symmetric real 3×3 matrices. so(3) is a Lie algebra with the Lie bracket [A, B] = AB - BA, $A, B \in so(3)$ and E^3 is a Lie algebra with the Lie bracket the cross product ×. The map $B: E^3 \rightarrow so(3)$ defined by

$$B(v)w = v \times w$$

is a Lie algebra isomorphism.

Let $\gamma: I \to SO(3)$ be a relaxed elastic line and $\tilde{V}: I \to so(3)$ the associated relaxed elastic Lie quadratic with the constant \tilde{C} . Define the inverse function as follows:

$$V = B^{-1}(\tilde{V}): R \to E^3$$

and $C = B^{-1}(\tilde{C})$ for convenience. Since B is a Lie algebra isomorphism and isometry, V satisfies for all $s \in I$

$$\|V(s)\|^{2} = \|B^{-1}(\tilde{V}(s))\|^{2} = \|\tilde{V}(s)\|^{2} = 1,$$
(4.1)

$$\|\dot{V}(\ell)\| = 0, \ \frac{d}{ds} \|\dot{V}(s)\||_{s=\ell} = 0$$
 (4.2)

and from (3.1), we get

$$\ddot{V}(s) = \dot{V}(s) \times V(s) - \left(< V(s), C > + \|\dot{V}(s)\|^2 \right) V(s) + C.$$
(4.3)

This implies V is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic with constant C in the Lie algebra (E^3, \times) . We study with V rather than \tilde{V} , solving (4.3) with (4.2) and (4.1). So, we can say that for any $A \in SO(3)$ and $s_0 \in R$, $s \to A(V(s))$ is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant A(C) and $s \to V(s - s_0)$ is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant A(C) and $s \to V(s - s_0)$ is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant A(C) and $s \to V(s - s_0)$ is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant A(C) and $s \to V(s - s_0)$ is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant C by local uniqueness in Picard theorem.

If *V* is a relaxed elastic Lie quadratic in E^3 with constant C = 0, then we call that *V* is null relaxed elastic Lie quadratic. Then Eq. (4.3) reduces to

$$\ddot{V}(s) = \dot{V}(s) \times V(s) - \left\| \dot{V}(s) \right\|^2 V(s).$$

5. References

[1] Crouch, P., Silva Leite, F., The dynamic interpolation problem: on Riemannian manifolds, Lie groups, and symmetric spaces, J. Dynam. Control Systems, 1 (2) (1995), pp. 177-202.

[2] Gilmore R., Lie groups, physics and geometry, Cambridge University Press., New York, 2008, 319p.

[3] Langer, J. and Singer, D.A., The total squared curvature of closed curves, Journal of Differential Geometry 20(1984), 1-22.

[4] Manning, G.S., Relaxed elastic line on a curved surface, Quarterly Applied Mathematics 45(1987), 515-527.

[5] Milnor, J., Morse Theory, Annals of Mathematics Studies No. 51 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1963.

[6] Nickerson, H.K. and Manning, G.S., Intrinsic equations for a relaxed elastic line on an oriented surface, Geometriae Dedicata 27(1988), 127-136.

[7] Noakes L., Null cubics and Lie quadratures, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 44(2003), 1436-1448.

[8] Noakes, L., Heinzinger G., Paden, B., Cubic splines on curved spaces, IMA Journal of Mathematical Control and Information 6(4)(1989), 465-473.

[9] Popiel T., Noakes L., Elastica in SO(3), J. Aust. Math. Soc., 83 (2007), 1-20.

[10] Özkan, G. and Yücesan, A., Relaxed Elastic Line in a Riemannian Manifold, Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 38(2014), no.4, 746-752.

Rough Statistical Convergence of Double Sequences of Fuzzy Numbers

Ömer Kişi¹, Erhan Güler²

^{1,2}Faculty of Science, Departmant of Mathematics, Bartin University, Turkey E-mail(s): okisi@bartin.edu.tr, eguler@bartin.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, we examine the concept of rough statistical convergence of double sequences in the fuzzy setting, which generalizes rough convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers. We define the set of rough statistical limit points of a double sequence of fuzzy numbers and prove some results associated with these notions.

Keywords: Rough convergence, fuzzy number, statistical convergence.

1. Introduction

The notion of fuzzy set was examined by L.A. Zadeh in 1965. The potential of the notion of fuzzy set was realized by different scientific groups and many researchers were interested in further investigation and its applications.

It has been studied in different branches of science, where mathematics has applications. Authors interested in sequence spaces have also applied this concept and defined different classes of sequences of fuzzy real numbers and studied their different properties. The concept of the convergence of a sequence of fuzzy numbers was introduced by Matloka [14], who proved some basic theorems. Later on, several mathematicians, such as Nanda [15], Savaş [20], Tripathy and Debnath [22] and many others have generalized the concept.

The classical analysis is often based on fine behavior, valid for all points of some subsets, even if some distance tends to zero. Since many objects of the material universe and many objects represented by the digital computers cannot satisfy such requirements, the so-called rough analysis was developed as an approach to a rough world. The idea of rough convergence was first introduced by Phu [17], in finite dimensional normed linear spaces. In [17], Phu proved that the set $LIM^r x$ is bounded, closed and convex. Also he investigated the relationship between rough convergence and other types of convergence and the dependence of $LIM^r x$ with respect to the roughness degree r. Later on, Aytar [3] extended this concept and introduced the rough statistical convergence. Recently, in [8], the authors examined the rough convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers based on α -level sets. Also, in [26] rough statistical convergence in fuzzy setting and the r-statistical limit set of a double sequence of fuzzy numbers. We note that our results are analogue to those of Phu's [17] and Aytar's [3]. The actual origin of most of our results and

proof techniques is in those papers. We actually present those results in generalized form. This increases the interest in finding applications of these concepts.

Throughout the paper *r* denotes a non-negative real number. The sequence (x_n) in a metric space (X, d) is said to be *r*-convergent to a point $x_* \in X$, denoted as $x_n \xrightarrow{r} x_*$ if, given $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a natural number n_0 such that $d(x_n, x_*) < r + \varepsilon$, $\forall n \ge n_0$, and the *r* - *limit set* of (x_n) is defined as $LIM^r x_n := \{x_* \in X : x_n \xrightarrow{r} x_*\}$. This is the rough convergence with *r* as roughness degree. For r = 0, we get the usual

convergence in a metric space. A sequence (x_n) is said to be *r*-convergent if $LIM^r x_n \neq \emptyset$. We first recall some basic notions in the theory of fuzzy numbers. We denote by *D*, the set of all closed and bounded intervals on the real line \mathbb{R} , i.e. $D = \{A \subset \mathbb{R} : A = [A_l, A_u]\}$. For $A, B \in D$, we have $A \leq B$, iff $A_l \leq B_l$, $A_u \leq B_u$ and $d = max\{|A_l - B_l|, |A_u - B_u|\}$. Then (D, d) forms a complete metric space.

Definition 1.1. A fuzzy number is a function X from \mathbb{R} to [0; 1], which

satisfies the following conditions:

(i) X is normal.

(ii) X is fuzzy convex.

(iii) X is upper semi-continuous.

(iv) The closure of the set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}: X(x) > 0\}$ is compact.

Properties (i)-(iv) imply that, for each $\alpha \in [0,1]$, the α -level set $X^{\alpha} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}: X(x) > \alpha\} = [X_l^{\alpha}, X_u^{\alpha}]$ is a non-empty compact convex subset of \mathbb{R} . The 0-level set is the class of the strong 0-cut, i.e. $cl\{x \in \mathbb{R}: X(x) > \alpha\}$. Let $L(\mathbb{R})$ denote the set of all fuzzy numbers. Define a map on $L(\mathbb{R})$, by $\overline{d}(X, Y) = sup_{\alpha \in [0,1]} d(X^{\alpha}, Y^{\alpha})$. Then $(L(\mathbb{R}), \overline{d})$ forms a complete metric space (see [19]).

Definition 1.2. A subset A of N is said to have density $\delta(A)$ if $\delta(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} |A|$ where |A| denotes the number of elements in A.

Definition 1.3. ([16]). A fuzzy number sequence $X = (X_n)$ is said to be statistically convergent to the fuzzy number X_0 , if, for every $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\delta\bigl(\bigl\{n\in\mathbb{N}:\bar{d}(X_n,X_0)\bigr\}\bigr)=0,$$

and X_0 is called the statistical limit of X, written as $st - lim X_n = X_0$.

Definition 1.4 ([2]). If $(X_{k(j)})$ is a subsequence of $X = (X_n)$ and $K = \{k(j) \in \mathbb{N} : j \in \mathbb{N}\}$, then we abbreviate $(X_{k(j)})$ by $(X)_K$, which, in the case $\delta(K) = 0$, is called a subsequence of density zero or a thin subsequence. On the other hand, $(X)_K$ is a nonthin subsequence of X, if $\delta(K) \neq 0$.

Definition 1.5 ([2]). The fuzzy number *v* is called statistical limit point of sequence of fuzzy number $X = (X_n)$, provided that there is a nonthin subsequence of X that converges to *v*. Let Λ_X denote the set of statistical limit points of the sequence X.

Definition 1.6 ([2]). The fuzzy number μ is called statistical cluster point of sequence of fuzzy number $X = (X_n)$, if $\delta(\{n \in \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_n, \mu) < \varepsilon\}) > 0$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Let Γ_X denote the set of statistical cluster points of X.

2. Main Results

Definition 2.1. Let (X_{kl}) be a double sequence of fuzzy numbers in the metric space $(L(\mathbb{R}), \overline{d})$ and r be a non negative real number. (X_{kl}) is said to be *r*-statistically convergent to X_* if, for all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\delta(\{(k,l)\in\mathbb{N}\times\mathbb{N}:\overline{d}(X_{kl},X_*)\geq r+\varepsilon\})=0.$$

This is the *r*-statistical convergence with *r* as roughness degree. For r = 0 we get the statistical convergence of double sequences. In this case we denote it by $X_{kl} \xrightarrow{r-S_2} X_*$.

Theorem 2.1. If (X_{kl}) and (Y_{kl}) are two double sequences in $(L(\mathbb{R}), \bar{d})$ such that $Y_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_1 - S_2} X_*$ and $\delta(\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{kl}) \le r_2\}) = 1$, then (X_{kl}) is $(r_1 + r_2)$ -statistically convergent to X_* , for $r_1 \ge 0, r_2 \ge 0$.

Proof. Since $Y_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_1 - S_2} X_*$, we have, for all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$T(\{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(Y_{kl}, X_*) \ge r_1 + \varepsilon\}) = 0,$$

i.e. $\delta(A) = 1$, where $A = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(Y_{kl}, X_*) < r_1 + \varepsilon\}$. Let $B = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{kl}) \le r_2\}$. It is given that $\delta(B) = 1$. Then $\delta(A \cap B) = 1$. So, for all $(k, l) \in A \cap B$, we get

$$\bar{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) \le \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{kl}) + \bar{d}(Y_{kl}, X_*) < r_1 + r_2 + \varepsilon,$$

for $k \ge k_0$, $l \ge l_0$. Hence, the proof is complete.

In particular, for $r_1 = 0$ and $r_2 = r > 0$, we get an approximate sequence (X_{kl}) of a statistically convergent sequence $Y_{kl} \rightarrow X_*$ with

$$\delta(\{(k,l)\in\mathbb{N}\times\mathbb{N}:\bar{d}(X_{kl},Y_{kl})\leq r\})=1,$$

which is r-statistically convergent to X_* .

Theorem 2.2. If (X_{kl}) and (Y_{kl}) are two double sequences in $(L(\mathbb{R}), \overline{d})$ such that $X_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_1 - S_2} X_*$ and $Y_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_2 - S_2} Y_*$, then $X_{kl} + Y_{kl} \xrightarrow{(r_1 + r_2) - S_2} X_* + Y_*$, for $r_1 \ge 0$, $r_2 \ge 0$. Proof. Let $X_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_1 - S_2} X_*$ and $Y_{kl} \xrightarrow{r_2 - S_2} Y_*$. Then, we have $\delta(A_1) = 1$ and $\delta(A_2) = 1$, where $A_1 = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) < r_1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$ and $A_2 = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(Y_{kl}, Y_*) < r_2 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$. Therefore $\delta(A_1 \cap A_2) = 1$. So, for all such $(k, l) \in A_1 \cap A_2$, we get $\overline{d}(X_{kl} + Y_{kl}, X_* + Y_*) \le \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) + \overline{d}(Y_{kl}, Y_*) < r_2 + \varepsilon$.

$$(r_1 + r_2) + \varepsilon$$
 for $k \ge k_0, l \ge l_0$. Hence the proof follows.

In view of the existing techniques, we state the following results without proof.

Theorem 2.3. For any $c \in \mathbb{R}$, if $X_{kl} \xrightarrow{r-S_2} X_*$, then $cX_{kl} \xrightarrow{|c|r-S_2} cX_*$.

It is known that the limit of a statistically convergent sequence of fuzzy numbers has an unique limit point. But this property is not maintained in the case of rough statistical convergence with roughness

degree r > 0. So, in the case of rough statistical convergence we get an *r*-statistical limit set. We discuss some basic properties of the *r*-statistical limit set of a sequence of fuzzy numbers.

Definition 2.2. Let X_* be an *r*-statistical limit point of (X_{mn}) , which is not necessarily unique. Consider the *r*-statistical limit set of (X_{mn}) , defined by $st_2 - LIM^r X_{mn} = \{X_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) : X_{mn} \xrightarrow{r-S_2} X_*\}$, i.e. $st_2 - LIM^r X_{mn} = \{X_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) : X_{mn} \xrightarrow{r-S_2} X_*\}$, i.e. $st_2 - LIM^r X_{mn} = \{X_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) : X_{mn} \xrightarrow{r-S_2} X_*\}$

 $LIM^{r}X_{mn} = \{X_{*} \in L(\mathbb{R}): [X_{*}^{\alpha}] \subseteq [st_{2}limsupX_{lmn}^{\alpha} - r, st_{2}liminfX_{umn}^{\alpha} + r]\}$ where $[X_{*}^{\alpha}] = [X_{lmn}^{\alpha}, X_{umn}^{\alpha}].$

If $st_2 - LIM^r X_{mn} = \emptyset$, for any sequence (X_{mn}) of fuzzy numbers, then (X_{mn}) is not *r*-statistically convergent, for any $r \ge 0$.

Proposition 2.1. The set $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$ of an arbitrary sequence of fuzzy numbers (X_{kl}) of $(L(\mathbb{R}), \overline{d})$ is a closed set.

Proof. If $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} = \emptyset$, then the hypothesis is true. Assume that $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} \neq \emptyset$. Let (Y_{kl}) be a sequence in $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$ which converges to Y. We show that $Y \in LIM^r X_{kl}$. Since (Y_{kl}) converges to Y, we have $\bar{d}(Y_{kl}, Y) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$, for all $k \ge k_0, l \ge l_0$. In particular, $\bar{d}(Y_{k_0l_0}, Y) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ and, by the definition of $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$, we have $\delta\left(\left\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{k_0l_0}) \ge r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right\}\right) = 0$. Now, for all $(k, l) \in \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{k_0l_0}) < r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$, we have $\bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{k_0l_0}) + \bar{d}(Y_{k_0l_0}, Y) < r + \varepsilon$. So $\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y) < r + \varepsilon\} \supseteq \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y_{k_0l_0}) < r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$, i.e. $\delta(\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \bar{d}(X_{kl}, Y) \ge r + \varepsilon\}) = 0$, which completes the proof.

Proposition 2.2. For any fuzzy number sequence (X_{kl}) in $(L(\mathbb{R}), \overline{d})$, we have $diam(st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}) \le 2r$.

Proof. If possible, let $diam(st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}) > 2r$. Then, there exist $Y, Z \in st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$ such that $\overline{d}(Y,Z) = d_1 > 2r$. Let $\varepsilon = \frac{d_1 - 2r}{2}$. Since $Y, Z \in st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$, we have $\delta(K_1) = 1$ and $\delta(K_2) = 1$, where $K_1 = \{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, Y) \ge r + \varepsilon\}$ and $K_2 = \{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, Z) \ge r + \varepsilon\}$. Hence, for all $(k,l) \in (K_1^c \cap K_2^c)$, we have $\overline{d}(Y,Z) \le \overline{d}(X_{kl},Y) + \overline{d}(X_{kl},Z) < 2(r + \varepsilon) = d_1$, for all $k \ge k_0, l \ge l_0$, which is contradiction. Hence $diam(st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}) \le 2r$.

Proposition 2.3. Let (X_{kl}) be statistically convergent to X_* . Then $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} = \overline{B_r}(X_*)$.

Proof. Since $X_{kl} \xrightarrow{st_2} X_*$, we have $\delta(\{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) \ge \varepsilon\}) = 0$. Let $Y \in \overline{B_r}(X_*) = \{Y \in L(\mathbb{R}) : \overline{d}(Y, X_*) \le r\}$. Now, for all $(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ with $\overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) < \varepsilon$, we have $\overline{d}(X_{kl}, Y) \le \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) + \overline{d}(Y, X_*) < r + \varepsilon$.

Since $\delta(\{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) < \varepsilon\}) = 1$ and $\{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, Y) < r + \varepsilon\} \supseteq \{(k,l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) < \varepsilon\}$, we get $Y \in st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$. Consequently, we can write $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} = \overline{B_r}(X_*)$.

Proposition 2.4. For all $r \ge 0$, a statistically bounded sequence (X_{kl}) of fuzzy numbers always contains a subsequence $(X_{k_n l_m})$ with $st_2 - LIM^{(X_{k_n l_m}), r}X_{k_n l_m} \ne \emptyset$.

Proof. It is known that every statistically bounded sequence has a statistically convergent subsequence, so (X_{kl}) contains a statistically convergent subsequence $(X_{kn}l_m)$. Let X_* be the limit point of $(X_{kn}l_m)$. Then, $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kn}l_m = \overline{B_r}(X_*)$ and, for r>0, $st_2 - LIM^{(X_{kn}l_m),r} X_{kn}l_m = \{X_{kn}l_m: \overline{d}(X_{kn}l_m, X_*) \le r\} \ne \emptyset$. **Proposition 2.5.** If (X_{kl}) is a non-thin subsequence of (X_{kl}) , then $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} \subseteq st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}'$. Proof. The proof is obvious.

Proposition 2.6. For an arbitrary $C \in \Gamma_X$ of a sequence (X_{kl}) , we have $\overline{d}(X_*, \mathbb{C}) \leq r$, for all $X_* \in st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$.

Proof. Since $C \in \Gamma_X$, $\delta(A) \neq 0$, where $A = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, C) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$. Let $X_* \in st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$. Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, $\delta(B) = 1$, where $B = \{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) < r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\}$. Therefore, for all $(k, l) \in A \cap B$, we get $\overline{d}(X_*, C) \leq \overline{d}(X_{kl}, X_*) + \overline{d}(X_{kl}, C) < r + \varepsilon$. Hence the proof follows.

Proposition 2.7. (a) If $C \in \Gamma_X$, then $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} \subseteq B_r(C)$.

(b) $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} = \bigcap_{C \in \Gamma_X} \overline{B_r}(C) = \{Y_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) : \Gamma_X \subseteq B_r(Y_*)\}.$

Proof. (a) Let $X_* \in LIM^r X_{kl}$ and $C \in \Gamma_X$. Then $\overline{d}(X_*, C) \leq r$, i.e. $st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} \subseteq B_r(C)$.

(b) From the above theorem, we get

$$st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl} \subseteq \cap B_r(\mathcal{C}). \tag{1}$$

Let $Y \in \bigcap_{C \in \Gamma_X} B_r(C)$. Then $\overline{d}(Y, C) \leq r$, for all $C \in \Gamma_X$, which is equivalent to $\Gamma_X \subseteq \overline{B_r}(Y)$, i.e.

$$\cap_{C \in \Gamma_X} B_r(C) \subseteq \{Y_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) \colon \Gamma_X \subseteq \overline{B_r}(Y_*)\}.$$
(2)

Now, let $Y \notin st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$. Then there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\delta(\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, Y) \ge r + \varepsilon\}) \neq 0$, which implies the existence of a statistical cluster point *C* of the double sequence *X* that satisfies $\overline{d}(Y, C) > r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$, i.e. Γ_X is not a subset of $\overline{B_r}(Y)$ and $Y \notin \{Y_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) : \Gamma_X \subseteq \overline{B_r}(Y_*)\}$.

Therefore,

$$\{Y_* \in L(\mathbb{R}) \colon \Gamma_X \subseteq \overline{B_r}(Y_*)\} \subseteq st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}.$$
(3)

The proof follows, by following (1), (2), (3).

Proposition 2.8. Let (X_{kl}) be a statistically bounded sequence of fuzzy numbers. If $r = diam(\Gamma_X)$, then $\Gamma_X \subseteq st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$.

Proof. Take $C \notin st_2 - LIM^r X_{kl}$. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\delta(\{(k, l) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} : \overline{d}(X_{kl}, C) \ge r + \varepsilon\}) \neq 0$. Since the sequence is statistically bounded and in view of the above inequality, there exists another statistical cluster point C' such that $\overline{d}(C', C) > r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Hence, we get $diam(\Gamma_X) > r + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$, which is a contradiction. Hence the result follows.

4. Conclusion

The rough convergence have been recently studied by several authors. In view of the recent applications of statistical convergence in the theory of convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers, it seems very natural to extend the interesting concept of rough statistical convergence of double sequences of fuzzy numbers which we mainly do here and investigate some properties of this new type convergence. So, we have extended some well-known results.

5. References

[1] F. Akcay and S. Aytar, Rough convergence of a sequence of fuzzy numbers, Bull. Math. Anal. Appl., 7 (2015), 17-23.

[2] S. Aytar, Statistical limit points of sequences of fuzzy numbers, Information Sciences, 165 (2004), 129-138.

[3] S. Aytar, The rough limit set and the core of a real sequence, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 29 (2008), 283-290.

[4] S. Aytar, Rough statistical convergence, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 29 (2008), 291-303.

[5] S. Aytar, Rough statistical cluster points, Filomat, 31 (2017), 5295-5304.

[6] S. Debnath and J. Debnath, Some generalized statistical convergent sequence spaces of fuzzy numbers via ideals, Math. Sci. Lett., 2 (2013), 151-154.

[7] S. Debnath and J.Debnath, Some ideal convergent sequence spaces of fuzzy real numbers, Palest. J. Math., 3 (2014), 27-32.

[8] S. Debnath and D. Rakshit, On rough convergence of fuzzy numbers based on α -level sets, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.), 85 (2018), 42-52.

[9] S. Debnath and D. Rakshit, On *I*-statistical convergence, Iranian J. Math. Sci. Inform., 13 (2018), 101-109.

[10] H. Fast, Sur la convergence statistique, Colloq. Math., 2 (1951), 241-244.

[11] J.A. Fridy, On statistical convergence, Analysis (Berlin), 5 (1985), 301-313.

[12] J.A. Fridy, Statistical limit points, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 4 (1993), 1187-1192.

[13] J.A. Fridy and C. Orhan, Statistical limit superior and limit inferior, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 125 (1997), 3625-3631.

[14] M. Matloka, Sequence of fuzzy numbers, Busefal, 28 (1986), 28-37.

[15] S. Nanda, On sequences of fuzzy numbers, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 33 (1989), 123-126.

[16] F. Nuray and E. Savaş, Statistical convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers, Math. Slovaca, 45 (1995), 269-273.

[17] H.X. Phu, Rough convergence in normed linear spaces, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 22 (2001), 199-222.

[18] H.X. Phu, Rough convergence in infinite dimensional normed spaces, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 24 (2003), 285-301.

[19] M.L. Puri and D.A. Ralescu, Differential of fuzzy numbers, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 91 (1983), 552-558.

[20] E. Savaş, A note on sequence of fuzzy numbers, Inform. Sci., 124 (2000), 297-300.

[21] B.C. Tripathy, On statistically convergent and statistically bounded sequences, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 20 (1997), 31-33.

[22] B.C. Tripathy and S. Debnath, On generalized difference sequence spaces of fuzzy numbers, Acta Scientiarum: Technology, 35 (2013), 117-121.

[23] B.C. Tripathy and R. Goswami, Fuzzy real valued p-absolutely summable multiple sequences in probabilistic normed spaces, Afr. Mat., 27 (2015), 1281-1289.

[24] B.C. Tripathy and M. Sen, On lacunary strongly almost convergent double sequences of fuzzy numbers, An. Univ. Craiova Ser. Mat. Inform., 42 (2015), 254-259.

[25] L.A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Information and Control, 8 (1965), 338-353.

[26] S. Debnath and D. Rakshit, Rough statistical convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers, Mathematica, 61(84)(1) (2019), 33-39.

Γ-semigroups are concrete

Fabiana Muharremi¹, Anjeza Krakulli²

"Aleksander Moisiu" University of Durres, Albania Faculty of Information Technology Mathematics Department E-mail(s): fabianacullhaj@gmail.com & anjeza.krakulli@gmail.com

Abstract

Me dhwnien e njw monoidi M me grupin e njwsh Γ , mund të përcaktojmë një Γ -gjysmëgrup të qartw (M, Γ) ku pwr çdo $\gamma \in \Gamma$ dhe s, $t \in M$, γ -shumwzimi i s me t wshtw thjwshtw produkti s $\gamma t \in M$. E quajmw (M, Γ) Γ -gjysmwgrupi njwsi i M. Qëllimi i këtij punimi është të provojë se çdo Γ -gjysmëgrup pwrfshihet në Γ -gjysmëgrupin njësi të një monoidi të caktuar M grupi njësi i të cilit ka bashkwsi themelor Γ . Ky fakt tregon natyrwn konkrete tw Γ -gjysmëgrupeve dhe marrëdhënia e tyre tw afwrt me monoidet.

Keywords: monoid, Γ –semigroup, semigroup, group of units.

1. Introduction

If *S* and Γ are two non empty sets, then every map $\cdot : S \times \Gamma \times S \to S$ will be called a Γ - multiplication in *S*. The result of this multiplication for $a, b \in S$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is denoted by $a\gamma b$. According to Sen and Saha [6], a Γ -semigroup *S* is an ordered pair (*S*, Γ) equipped with a Γ -multiplication \cdot on *S* which satisfies the following property

$$\forall (a, b, c, \alpha, \beta) \in S^3 \times \Gamma^2, (a\alpha b)\beta c = a\alpha (b\beta c).$$

We give below only one example of Γ -semigroups. Most of the known examples are as artificial as this one and it would be appreciated to find other examples that would become useful in other branches of mathematics and motivate the study of Γ -semigroups. Such a possible brunch of mathematics is the algebraic theory of semigroups.

2. Examples

Let *S* be the set of $m \times n$ matrices with entries in any field, and Γ the set of $m \times n$ matrices with entries in the same field. For every triple $A \in S$, $G \in \Gamma$ and $B \in S$, we have a $m \times n$ matrix associated with it which is the usual product $A \cdot G \cdot B$. This assignment gives in fact a Γ -semigroup

(*S*, Γ).

For a Γ -semigroup (S, Γ) and some particular $\gamma \in \Gamma$, one considers the semigroup (S, o_{γ}) where o_{γ} is defined by setting $xo_{\gamma}y = x\gamma y$. It turns out that (S, o_{γ}) is a semigroup which is sometimes called the laminator of γ . It is well known that if one laminator is a group then so is every laminator.

3. Main Results

The enveloping monoid of a Γ -semigroup

Given a Γ -semigroup *S* we will define a monoid $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ where γ_0 is a fixed element of Γ . The construction is very similar to that of [1] except that here we have a unit element. The definition of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ uses the fact that we can always define a multiplication \bullet on any non empty set Γ in such a way that (Γ, \bullet) becomes a group. This in fact is equivalent to the axiom of choice (see [2]). We write the unit element of (Γ, \bullet) by γ_0 . To define $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$, we first let (F, \cdot) be the free semigroup on *S*. Its elements are finite strings (x_1, \ldots, x_n) where each $x_i \in S$ and the product \cdot is the concatenation of words. Now we define $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ as the quotient semigroup of the free product $F * \Gamma$ of two semigroups (F, \cdot) with (Γ, \bullet) by the congruence generated from the set of relations

$$((x, y), x\gamma_0 y), ((x, \gamma, y), x\gamma y), (\gamma_0 x, x), (x\gamma_0, x),$$

for all $x, y \in S, \gamma \in \Gamma$ and with $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma$ being the unit element of (Γ, \bullet) . We can also regard the group (Γ, \bullet) as given by a presentation with generators the elements of Γ , and relations arising from the multiplication table of the group. So a presentation of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ has now as a generating set $S \cup \Gamma$, and relations those mentioned above together with those arising from the multiplication table of (Γ, \bullet) . It is obvious that $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ becomes thus a monoid with unit element the class of γ_0 modulo the defining relations.

Lemma 2.1 Every element of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ can be represented by an irreducible word which has the form $(\alpha, x, \beta), (\alpha, x), (x, \beta), \gamma$ or x where $x \in S$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma \setminus {\gamma_0}$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$.

Proof. First we have to prove that the reduction system arising from the given presen- tation is Noetherian and confluent, and therefore any element of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ is given by a unique irreducible word with letters from $S \cup \Gamma$. Secondly, we have to prove that the irreducible words have one of these five forms. So if ω is a word of the form $\omega = (u, x, \gamma, y, v)$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma, x, y \in S$ and u, v possibly empty words, then ω reduces to $\omega' = (u, x\gamma y, v)$. And if $\omega = (u, x, y, v)$, then it reduces to $\omega' = (u, x\gamma_0 y, v)$. In this way we obtain a reduction system which is length reducing and therefore it is Noetherian. To prove that this system is confluent, from Newman's lemma, it is sufficient to prove that it is locally confluent. For this we need to see only the overlapping pairs.

1.
$$(x, y, z) \rightarrow (x\gamma_0 y, z)$$
 and $(x, y, z) \rightarrow (x, y\gamma_0 z)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma_0 y\gamma_0 z)$

- 2. $(x, \gamma, y, z) \rightarrow (x\gamma y, z)$ and $(x, \gamma, y, z) \rightarrow (x, \gamma, y\gamma_0 z)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma y\gamma_0 z)$
- 3. $(x, y, \gamma, z) \rightarrow (x\gamma_0 y, \gamma, z)$ and $(x, y, \gamma, z) \rightarrow (x, y\gamma z)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma_0 y\gamma z)$
- 4. $(x, \gamma, y, \gamma', z) \rightarrow (x\gamma y, \gamma', z)$ and $(x, \gamma, y, \gamma', z) \rightarrow (x, \gamma, y\gamma'z)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma y\gamma'z)$
- 5. $(x, \gamma, y, \gamma_0) \rightarrow (x\gamma y, \gamma_0)$ and $(x, \gamma, y, \gamma_0) \rightarrow (x\gamma y)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma y)$
- 6. $(\gamma_0, x, \gamma, y) \rightarrow (x, \gamma, y)$ and $(\gamma_0, x, \gamma, y) \rightarrow (\gamma_0, x\gamma, y)$ which both resolve to $(x\gamma y)$
- 7. $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3) \rightarrow (\gamma_1 \bullet \gamma_2, \gamma_3)$ and $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \bullet \gamma_3)$ which both resolve to $(\gamma_1 \bullet \gamma_2 \bullet \gamma_3)$

To complete the proof we need to show that the irreducible word representing the element of Ω_{γ_0} has one of the five forms stated. If the word which has neither a prefix nor a suffix made entirely of letters from Γ , then it reduces to an element of *S* by performing the appropriate reductions. If the word has the form $(\alpha, \omega, \alpha'), (\alpha, \omega)$, or (ω, α') , where ω is a word which has neither a prefix nor a suffix made entirely of letters from Γ , and α, α' have only letters from $\Gamma \setminus {\gamma_0}$, then it reduces to an element of one of the first three forms. When either α or α' is γ_0 , then it is omitted from the word.

We note that there is a map

$$\iota: S \to \Omega_{\gamma}(S, \Gamma) \ st \ x \to cls(x)$$

where cls(x) is the class of $x \in F$ modulo the defining relations of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$. This map is injective from lemma 2.1 and this allows us to regard *S* as a subset of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$. Furthermore the image $\iota(x\gamma y)$ of the product $x\gamma y$ of any two elements $x, y \in S$ by means of an arbitrary operation $\gamma \in \Gamma$, belongs to $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$. This motivates us to call $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ the *enveloping monoid of* (S, Γ) *relative to the group* (Γ, \bullet) . We finally note here that there is a monomorphism of monoids

$$j: \Gamma \rightarrow \Omega_{\gamma_0}(S,\Gamma)$$

defined by setting

$$\gamma \rightarrow cls(\gamma).$$

The mapping *j* is clearly a homomorphism, and lemma 2.1 insures that *j* is injective. So we may now regard the group (Γ ,•) as a submonoid of $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S,\Gamma)$ via *j*.

Γ-semigroups are concrete

Consider first the following general situation. Let (M, \cdot) be a monoid with unit 1 and group of units (Γ, \cdot) . We can form a Γ -semigroup by setting

$$\therefore M \times \Gamma \times M \to M \text{ st } x \cdot \gamma \cdot y = x \gamma y,$$

where the product on the right hand side is the product of x, γ and y in (M, \cdot) . It is straightforward

that we have a Γ -semigroup (M, Γ) . We call (M, Γ) the Γ -semigroup of units of M. The result of the "product" of two elements $x, y \in M$ by some $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is $x\gamma y$ which is an element of M having as a factor an invertible element. To put it in another way, the laminator S_{γ} gives all the possible ways the unit γ is enveloped in M.

We apply this general situation in the special case when (M, \cdot) is the enveloping monoid $\Omega_{\gamma_0}(S, \Gamma)$ of an arbitrary Γ -semigroup *S*. More specifically, if *S* is any Γ -semigroup, (Γ, \bullet) is a group on Γ with unit $1 \in \Gamma$, then we have already defined $\Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ the enveloping monoid of (S, Γ) relative to the group (Γ, \bullet) . The following holds true.

Lemma 3.1 The group of units of $\Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ is exactly the group (Γ, \bullet) regarded as a subgroup of $\Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ via j.

Proof. It is folklore that the group of units of some monoid is its \mathcal{H} -class of 1. So if $w \in \Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ is a unit, then the quasi-ideal $(w)_q = \Omega_1(S, \Gamma) \cdot w \cap w \cdot \Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ of $\Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ generated by w will contain 1, hence there are $R, L \in \Omega_1(S, \Gamma)$ such that 1 = wR = Lw. It is obvious why w cannot contain as a factor an element of S. It remains that w is just an element of Γ .

As we mentioned above, for the monoid Ω_1 (S, Γ) and its group of units Γ (ref. lemma 3.1), we may consider the Γ -semigroup of units (Ω_1 (S, Γ), Γ) of Ω_1 (S, Γ) relative to (Γ, \bullet). The following relates (S, Γ) with (Ω_1 (S, Γ), Γ).

Theorem 3.1 (S, Γ) embeds into (Ω_1 (S, Γ), Γ).

Proof. Define

 $\psi: (S, \Gamma) \to (\Omega_1(S, \Gamma), \Gamma)$ by $\psi(s) = \iota(s) = cls(s)$.

This mapping is injective since *i* is such. Let us prove that ψ is a homomorphism of Γ -semigroups. Indeed, if *s*, *t* \in *S* and $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then

$$\psi(s\gamma t) = cls(s\gamma t) = cls(s)cls(\gamma)cls(t) = \psi(s)j(\gamma)\psi(t) = \psi(s)\gamma\psi(t),$$

since $j(\gamma)$ is identified with γ .

Denote by Γ -**Sgrp** the category of Γ -semigroups and Γ -semigroup morphisms. Also we consider the category **Mon** of monoids and monoid morphisms. We give without proof the following.

Proposition 3.1 Assume we have given to Γ the structure of some group (Γ, \bullet) . There is a covariant functor $F : \Gamma - Sgrp \to Mon$ which maps each (S, Γ) to $(\Omega_1(S, \Gamma), \Gamma)$ and each Γ -semigroup morphism $f: S \to S'$ to the induced morphism $F(f) : (\Omega_1(S, \Gamma), \Gamma) \to (\Omega_1(S', \Gamma), \Gamma)$.

Problem 3.1 Is it possible to define an adjoint (right, or left) $F : Mon \to \Gamma - Sgrp$ of F?

This question is legitimate since as we saw earlier, we can always assign to each monoid M a Γ -

semigroup provided that M has group of units Γ .

4. Conclusion

We relate Γ -semigroups with semigroups by constructing for any Γ -semigroup a monoid with group of units a group with underlying set Γ and than define a Γ -semigroup structure on this monoid. We prove that the latter Γ -semigroup includes the former one. This shows that we can always realize Γ semigroups as those arising from some monoid and its group of units.

5. References

- [1] Çullhaj, F., Krakulli, A., Some characterizations of regularity and intra-regularity of Γ -semigroups by means of quasi-ideals, Accepted for publication in Novi Sad J. Math.
- [2] Hajnal, A., Kertsz, A., *Some new algebraic equivalents of the axiom of choice*, Publ. Math. Debrecen 19 (1972), pp. 339-340.
- [3] Howie, J. M., Fundamentals of Semigroup Theory. Clarendon Press Oxford, 1995
- [4] Pasku E., *The adjoint semigroup of a* Γ semigroup, Novi Sad J. Math. Vol. 47, No.2, (2017) 31-39
- [5] Saha N. K., On Γ-semigroup, Bull. Cal. Math. Soc. 79 (1987), 331-335.
- [6] Sen M. K., Saha N. K., On Γ-semigroup I, Bull. Cal. Math. Soc. 78 (1986), 180-186.

R³1 Semi-Riemannian Manifoldların Birasyonel Kobordizm İnvaryantları Üzerine

Muhsin İncesu¹, Sara Işık²

¹Mathematics Education Department, Muş Alparslan University, Muş, Turkey, ²Mathematics Teacher, Muş, Turkey, E-mail(s): m.incesu@alparslan.edu.tr, mat sara@outlook.com

Abstract

Duggal ve Bejancu 1996 da yayınladıkları kitapta bir semi-Riemannian manifoldda lightlike (null) alt uzayın varlığını gösterdiler ve alt manifoldların geometrisi için ihtiyaç duyulan önemli bir boşluğu doldurdular. Semi-Riemannian manifoldlar için unireglelik, kodaira boyutu gibi birasyonel invaryantların yanında maximum lineer bağımsız lightlike vektörlerin sayıları olan k(U) değerlerinin de bir birasyonel invaryant olduğu vurgıulanarak R^{3}_{1} Semi-Riemannian Uzayda 2-Cob Üreteç olan eğik boru kobordizm örneği verilmiş, bunun kodaira boyutu ve k(U) invaryantı ifade edilmiştir.

1. Giriş

Uzun zamandır simplektik geometride birasyonel denkliğin uygun bir kavramının ne olduğu gerçekten açık değildi. Simplektik geometride blow-up/blow-down gibi basit birasyonel operasyonlar biliniyordu[1,2]. Fakat esnek simplektik kategoride genel birasyonel fonksiyon kavramının açık bir genellemesi yoktu. Bu durum son zamanlarda zayıf faktörizasyon teoreminin geliştirilmesiyle büyük ölçüde değişmiştir [3] ki bu teoreme göre projektif manifoldlar arasındaki herhangi bir birasyonel fonksiyon blow-up ve blow-down ların (yukarı ve aşağı etkilerin) bir dizisi halinde ayrıştırılabilir.[4]

Birasyonel geometrinin en temel kavramı uniregleliktir. Cebiro-geometrik bir şekilde bunun anlamı bir manifoldun cebirsel eğrilerle kaplanabilmesi demektir. Dikkat etmek gerekir ki, cebirsel geometrideki tanımı basit bir şekilde taklit ederek bu kavramı tanımlamak anlamsızdır [5] ve her noktadan geçen sabit sınıflarda bir simplektik kürenin olması da gerekir. Aksi takdirde her basit bağlantılı manifold uniregle olmalıdır. [4]

Diğer yandan Kollar- Ruan'ın teoremiyle [6,7] bir uniregle projektif manifold, bir nokta arakesitiyle, sıfırdan farklı bir cins sıfır GW-invaryanta sahiptir. Bu nedenle, eğer bir nokta kısıtlaması dahil ederek sıfırdan farklı bir tür sıfır GW-invaryant varsa (M,w) simplektik manifolda uniregledir denir.[4]

Duggal ve Bejancu 1996 da yayınladıkları kitapta (Duggal, Krishan L., Bejancu, A., 1996) bir semi-Riemannian manifoldda lightlike (null) alt uzayın varlığını gösterdiler [8] ve alt manifoldların geometrisi için ihtiyaç, duyulan önemli bir boşluğu doldurdular. Bu kitabin yayınlanmasından sonra hedef, lightlike geometrideki yeni geometrik sonuçların ispatı ve lightlike geometrinin fizikteki uygulamaları oldu. Böylece geometrinin önemli bir boşluğu dolduruldu ve yeni bir çalışma alanı ortaya çıktı..

1942 yılında Moskova Üniversitesinde Lev Pontjagin, Charles Ehresmann sayesinde bir hücre alt bölümünü kullanarak Grassmann manifoldlarının homolojisini çalışmaya başlamıştır. Bu onun yeni önemli bir karakteristik sınıf oluşturmasına olanak sağlamıştır.[11]

1946 yılında Shiing-Shen Chern kompleks vektör demetleri için bir sınıf tanımlamıştır. [12] Chern göstermiştir ki kohomoloji yapısına sahip olan kompleks Grassmann manifoldlarını anlamak, reel Grassmann manifoldlarını anlamaktan daha kolaydır[11]. Chern temel makalesinde Hermitian manifoldları için karakteristik sınıflarının bazı inşaalarını vermiştir. Makale Obstriction teori, Schubert değişkenleri diferansiyel formlar, transgresyonlar vb. arasındaki ilişki için temel oluşturur [11].

2. Temel Tanımlar

Tanım 1: M bir C^{∞} manifold olsun. $p \in M$ noktasındaki tanjant uzay T_pM olmak üzere $g_p: T_pM \times T_pM \longrightarrow R$

 $(X_p, Y_p) \rightarrow g_p(X_p, Y_p)$

biçiminde tanımlı sabit indeksli, simetrik, bilineer, non-degenere (0,2) tensörüne *M* üzerinde bir metrik tensör denir [15].

Tanım 2: M bir C^{∞} manifold olsun. M bir g metrik tensörü ile donatılmışsa, M ye bir semi-Riemannian manifold denir. [15]

Tanım 3: Bir M Semi-Riemannian manifoldu üzerinde tanımlı g metrik tensörünün indeksine semi-Riemannian manifoldun indeksi denir ve *indM* ile gösterilir.

Eğer indeks v ise $0 \le v \le boyM$ dir. Özel olarak, v = 0 ise $\forall p \in M$ için g_p , T_pM üzerinde pozitif tanımlı bir iç çarpım olduğundan, M bir Riemannian manifold olur. v = 1 ve $n \ge 2$ olması durumunda ise, M ye bir Lorentz manifoldu denir [15].

Tanım 4: V sonlu boyutlu reel vektör uzayı, V üzerindeki simetrik bilineer form

$$\gamma: V \times V \to F$$

R-bilineer fonksiyonu olsun. V üzerinde tanımlı γ simetrik bilineer formu

- (i) $\nu \neq 0$ iken $\gamma(\nu, \nu) > 0$ ise γ pozitif tanımlıdır.
- (ii) $\nu \neq 0$ iken $\gamma(\nu, \nu) < 0$ ise γ negatif tanımlıdır.
- (iii) $\forall \omega \in V$ iken $\gamma(\nu, \omega) = 0$ şartı sadece $\nu = 0$ için sağlanıyorsa γ ye non-degeneredir denir [15].

Tanım 5: *M* bir Semi-Riemannian manifold olsun. $X_p \in T_p M$ olmak üzere,

i) $g_p(X_p, X_p) > 0$ veya $X_p = 0$ ise X_p vektörüne spacelike,

ii) $g_p(X_p, X_p) < 0$ ise X_p vektörüne timelike,

iii) $g_p(X_p, X_p) = 0$, $X_p \neq 0$ ise X_p vektörüne lightlike (null) denir. [15]

Tanım 6: M ve N, n boyutlu iki kompakt manifoldlar olmak üzere, eğer n+1 boyutlu bir W kompakt manifoldu, sınırı M ve N nin ayrık birleşimi olarak yazılabilecek şekilde bulunabilirse M ile N ye kobordant, W ye de M ile N arasında bir kobordizm denir. [20] (bkz. Şekil 1)



Şekil 1: Kobordizm (W; M, N).

Generators for 2Cob



Relations in 2Cob



Şekil 2: 2 boyutlu kobordizmler için üreteçler

Tanım 7: Bir Semi-Rieamannian manifoldda maximum lineer bağımsız lightlike (null) vektörlerinin sayısına k(U) indexi denir. [21] Önerme 1:

 $k(U) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} U - spacelike, \ boyU = 1\\ U - spacelike, \ boyU > 1\\ U - timelike, \ boyU = 1 \end{cases}$

[21].

3. Main Results

Cebirsel geometride, Kodaira boyutu κ (X), projektif bir X yapısının kanonik modelinin boyutunu ölçer. Bir cisim üzerinde tanımlı n boyutlu bir X düzgün cebirsel yapısının kanonik demeti, X in kotanjant demetinin n. nci dış kuvveti olan Bir d tamsayısı için K_X in d. nci tensor kuvveti yine bir doğru demetidir.

$$K_X = \bigwedge^n \Omega^1_X$$

n-formlarının doğru demetidir. $d \ge 0$ için $H^0(X, K_X^d)$ global bölümlerin vector uzayı, X düzgün projektif yapısının birasyonel invaryantı olmasından dolayı olağanüstü özelliğe sahiptir. Yani, bu vektör uzayı, daha düşük boyutlu alt kümelerin dışında X'e izomorfik olan herhangi bir düzgün projektif yapı için karşılık gelen uzay ile kanonik olarak tanımlanır. $d \ge 0$ için X in d.nci P_d çoğul genusu (plurigenus), K_X^d nin global bölümlerinin vector uzayının boyutu olarak tanımlanır:

 $P_d = \dim H^0(X, K_X^d)$ Buna gore X in kodaira boyutu κ (X),

$$\kappa(X) = \begin{cases} -\infty, & \text{eğer her } d > 0 \text{ için } P_d = 0 \text{ ise} \\ P_d/_{d^k} \text{ yı sınırlı yapan } k \text{ ların minimumu, diğer durumlarda} \end{cases}$$

biçiminde tanımlanır.

Böylece n boyutlu bir X projektif yapısının kodaira boyutu ya $-\infty$ dur ya da 0 ile n arasında bir tamsayı değeridir. [25]

Cebirsel geometride *K* -cismi üzerinde tanımlı bir cebirsel yapıya "ruled" denir, eğer o, bir projektif doğru ile *K* üzerindeki bazı yapıların çarpımına birasyonel ise. Bir cebirsel yapı "uniruled" dir eğer, o bir rasyonel eğriler ailesi ile kaplanırsa. (Daha kesin bir ifadeyle, *X* uniruleddir eğer, vardır bir γ ve $\gamma \times P_1 \rightarrow X$ dominant rasyonel map öyle ki, Y ye projeksiyon boyunca etki etmez.)[25].

Karakteristiği 0 (sıfır) olan bir cisim üzerindeki her uniruled yapı, $-\infty$ kodaira boyutuna sahiptir. Tersi, en fazla 3 boyutta bilinen bir varsayımdır: karakteristiği sıfır olan bir cisim üzerindeki cebirsel yapının kodaira boyutu $-\infty$ ise uniruled olmalıdır. Bununla ilgili şu ifade tüm boyutlarda bilinir: Boucksom, Dewailly, Pâun, ve Peternell gösterdi ki, karakteristiği sıfır olan bir cisim üzerindeki bir düzgün projektif X yapısı, uniruleddir. $\Leftrightarrow X$ in kanonik demeti pseudo-effektive değildir (Yani, reel sayılarda tensörlendirilmiş Neron-Severi grubundaki, efektif bölenlerle elde edilmiş kapalı konveks koni içinde değil) [22,25]. Çok özel bir durumda karakteristiği sıfır olan bir cisim üzerindeki P^n de derecesi d olan bir düzgün hiperyüzey, uniruleddir $\Leftrightarrow d \le n$ ise, (Aslında P^n deki derecesi $d \le n$ olan bir düzgün hiperyüzey Fano yapısındadır ve bundan dolayı, (unireglelikten daha güçlü olan) rasyonel bağlantılıdır) [25].

Sayılamayan cebirsei kapalı K- cismi üzerindeki X cebirsel yapısı uniruleddir. \Leftrightarrow En az bir rasyonel eğri vardır öyle ki X in her k noktasından geçer. Tersine, bir K- sonlu cisminin cebirsel kapanışı üzerinde, cebirsel yapılar vardır ve bunlar uniruled değildir. Fakat bunların her k noktasından geçen bir rasyonel eğri vardır (p-tek alınmak üzere herhangi bir F_p non-super singüler abelyen yüzeyinin Kummer yapısı bu özelliğe sahiptir.)[23,25]

Uniruledlik bir geometrik özelliktir. Cisim genişlemeleri altında değişmezdir. Oysa ki ruled yapı böyle değildir. Pozitif karakteristikte uniruledlik çok farklı davranır. Özellikle genel tipte uniruled

yüzeyler (hatta unirational) vardır. $p \ge 5$ olan p asal sayıları için \overline{F}_p üzerindeki P^3 de $x^{p+1} + y^{p+1} + z^{p+1} + w^{p+1} = 0$ yüzeyi bunun bir örneğidir [24]. Böylece uniruledlik, pozitif karakteristikte kodira boyutununun $-\infty$ olmasını ima etmez. [25]

Kısaca özetlersek;

1 boyutlu eğriler için

Düzgün projektif eğriler, g=0,1,... gibi herhangi bir doğal sayı olan genuslarına göre ayrık olarak sınıflandırılır. Buradaki ayrk olarak sınıflandırma şu anlamdadır: bir genus verildiğinde o genuslu eğrilerin indirgenemez bir moduli uzayı vardır.

Bir X eğrisinin Kodaira bayutu :

 $K=-\infty$: genus 0 (projective line P¹): K_X efektif değil, her d>0 için $P_d=0$

K=0 : genus 1(eliptik eğriler): K_X aşikar demet, her $d \ge 0$ için $P_d=1$

K=1 : genus $g \ge 2$ (genel tipten eğri): K_X geniştir (ample), her $d \ge 2$ için $P_d = (2d-1)(g-1)$

2,3 ya da daha büyük boyutların sınıflandırmaları için bakınız.[25]

Teorem : Bir Semi-Rieamannian manifoldda maximum lineer bağımsız lightlike (null) vektörlerinin sayısı olan k(U) indexi bir birasyonel invaryanttır.

3. Example

Şimdi bir örnek olarak yine R_1^3 uzayında eğik boru şeklindeki bir kobordizm göz önüne alalım. Bu yüzeyin parametrik denklemi $u \in R$, $v \in [0, 2\pi]$ olmak üzere:

 $X(u,v) = \sin v, \quad Y(u,v) = \sqrt[3]{u} - \cos v, \quad Z(u,v) = u$

Olur. Şimdi bu yüzeyin üzerindeki lightlike yada ışıksal vektörleri elde edecek olursak bunlar bir hiperbol çifti oluşturacaklardır. Bu çift yukarıdaki kobordizm ile $X^2 + Y^2 - Z^2 = 0$ denklemiyle verilen uzayzaman konisinin arakesitiyle bulunur.



Şekil 3: Eğik boru şeklindeki kobordizm örneği

Bu eğrileri elde etmek için koninin parametrik denklemi yukarıdaki gibi, $u \in \mathbb{R}$, $v \in [0, 2\pi]$ olmak üzere parametrik denklem

X(u,v)=ucos(v);Y(u,v)=usin(v); Z(u,v)=u;

biçimindedir. O halde arakesit grafiği aşağıdaki gibi olur:





Bu hiperbol çifti bir boyutlu manifold olduğundan boyutu 1 dir. O halde kobordizm üzerindeki lightlike yada ışıksal vektörlerin boyutu k(U)=1 olur. Bu da yine (Ören,2007) e göre birasyonel kobordizm invaryantıdır. Benzer şekilde, bu yüzeyler her biri karakteristiği sıfır olan complex cisim C üzerinde olduğundan örnekteki semi-Rieamannian manifoldun bir diğer birasyonel kobordizm invaryantı, kodaira boyutu $-\infty$ dur. Eğer yukarıdaki eğik boru şeklindeki kobordizm yüzeyi tamamen space-like ya da tamamen timelike olsaydı bu durumlarda da yine k(u) invaryantı k(u)=0, kodaira boyutu yine $-\infty$ olurdu

5. References

1. Guillemin, V., Sternberg, S.: Birational equivalence in the symplectic category. Invent. Math. 97, 485-522 (1989)

2. McDuff, D., Salamon, D.: Introduction to Symplectic Topology, 2nd edn. Oxford Math. Monogr. Oxford University Press, New York (1998)

3. Matsuki, K.: Lectures on factorization of birationalmaps. arXiv:math.AG/0002084

4. Jianxun Hu, Tian-Jun Li, Yongbin Ruan, Birational cobordism invariance of uniruled symplectic manifolds, Invent. math. 172, 231-275 (2008), DOI: 10.1007/s00222-007-0097-3

5. Li, T.-J.: Existence of embedded symplectic surfaces. In: Geometry and Topology of Manifolds. Fields Inst. Commun., vol. 47, pp. 203–217. Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2005).

6. Koll'ar, J.: Low degree polynomial equations: arithmetic, geometry, topology. European Congress of Mathematics, vol. I (Budapest, 1996). Prog. Math., vol. 168, pp. 255–288. Birkhäuser, Basel (1998).

7. Ruan, Y.: Virtual neighborhoods and pseudoholomorphic curves. Turk. J. Math. 23, 161–231 (1999).

8. Duggal, K. L. and Bejancu, A., Lightlike submanifold of semi-Riemannian manifolds and its applications, Kluwer Academic, The Netherlands, (1996).

9. Duggal, K. L. and Şahin, B., Differential geometry of lightlike submanifolds, Birkhäuser Verlag, (2010).

10. Kupeli, D. N., Singular Semi-Riemannian Geometry, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, (1996).

11. Hicran Kocaayan, Y.Lisans Tezi, Ege Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, İzmir 2012.

12. Chern,S.S., 1946, Charecteristic classes of Hermitian manifolds, Annals of Mathematics, 47(1),85-121..

13. Çallıalp, F., 2009, Soyut Cebir, Birsen Yayınevi İstanbul

14..Pierce,D.,2018.GaloisTeorisi,MatematikBölümü,MSGSÜ.http://mat.msgsu.edu.tr/~dpierce/Dersler/Galois-Teorisi/galois-kurami-2018.pdf.Bölümü,MSGSÜ.

15...O'Neill, B., 1983, Semi-Riemann Geometry with Applications to relativity, Akademic Press. Inc.

16.İncesu, M., 2008, Doktora tezi "Benzerlik Geometrisinde Noktaların Tam İnvaryantları Sistemi", Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi Trabzon.

17. Sağıroğlu, Y., 2002 Doktora Tezi, Parametrik Eğrilerin Afin Diferensiyel İnvaryantları, Karadeniz Teknik Üniv. Fen Bilimleri Ens..

18. Hirsch M.W., Graduate Text in Mathematics: Differential Topology, Springer, 1976.

19. R. E. Stong, Notes on cobordism theory, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1968

20. Thom, R., 1954, Qoelques propi_et es globales des varieties differentiables, *Commentari Mathematici Helvetici*, vol.28, 17-86.

21.Ören, İ., 2007, Doktora tezi ''O(3,1)-Ortogonal Grubu için Noktaların İnvaryantları'', Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi Trabzon

22.Boucksom, Dewailly, Pâun, ve Peternell, J. Alg. Geometry 22 (2013), 201-248

23.F.Bogomolov and Y. Tsckinkel, Amer J. Math. 127(2005) 825-835

24. T. Shioda, Math. Ann. 211 (1974), 233-236.

25.https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ruled_variety,

29.09.2020.(date of Access)

Structures of Timelike Canal Surfaces using Quasi Frame

Gul Ugur Kaymanli¹

¹Mathematics, Çankırı Karatekin University, Turkey, E-mail: gulugurk@karatekin.edu.tr

Abstract

In geometry, a canal surface in three dimensional space is a surface formed as the envelope of a family of spheres whose centers lie on a space curve, its directrix. If the radius of the generating spheres are constant the canal surface is called pipe surface. In this study, we introduce three kinds of canal surfaces with respect to quasi frame {t,nq,bq} in Minkowski 3-space. Giving characterizations of timelike canal surfaces by using quasi frame in Minkowski 3 space, some properties of these surfaces are examined by computing first and second fundamental forms. We, also give the some geometric properties of pipe surfaces with the help of Gaussian and mean curvatures of canal surfaces in Minkowski 3-space.

1. Introduction

In geometry, a canal surface in three dimensional space is a surface formed as the envelope of a family of spheres whose centers lie on a space curve, its directrix shown in Fig 1. If the radius of the generating spheres are constant the canal surface is called tube surface shown in Fig 2.



Figure 1: Canal Surface



Figure 2: Tube Surface

Surfaces such as canal surfaces, pipe surfaces, ruled surfaces, Bonnet surfaces, evolution surfaces,... are one of the most charming subjects in differential geometry since the application of surfaces to physics and engineering is countless. Among these surfaces, the canal surfaces have been studied by many researchers in various spaces in [1],[3], [9]-[11], [16]-[18]. The tube (pipe) surfaces have been worked by [4], [6]-[8], [13], [14].

In this study, we introduce three kinds of canal surfaces with respect to quasi frame {t,nq,bq} in Minkowski 3-space. Giving characterizations of timelike canal surfaces by using quasi frame in Minkowski 3–space, some properties of these surfaces are examined by computing first and second fundamental forms. We, also give the some geometric properties of pipe surfaces with the help of Gaussian and mean curvatures of canal surfaces in Minkowski 3-space.

2 Preliminaries

In three dimensional Minkowski space \mathbb{R}^3_1 , the dot and cross products of two vectors $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ and $\beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3)$ are defined as

$$< \alpha, \beta >= \alpha_1 \beta_1 + \alpha_2 \beta_2 - \alpha_3 \beta_3$$

and

 $\alpha \wedge \beta = (\alpha_3 \beta_2 - \alpha_2 \beta_3) u_1 + (\alpha_1 \beta_3 - \alpha_3 \beta_1) u_2 + (\alpha_1 \beta_2 - \alpha_2 \beta_1) u_3$ where $u_1 \wedge u_2 = u_3$, $u_2 \wedge u_3 = -u_1$, $u_3 \wedge u_1 = -u_2$, respectively. The norm of the vector α is given by $\|\alpha\| = \sqrt{|\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle|}$

We say that a Lorentzian vector α is spacelike, lightlike or timelike if $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle > 0$ or $\alpha = 0$, $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle = 0$ and $\alpha \neq 0$, $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle < 0$, respectively [15].

As an alternative to the Frenet frame we use a new adapted frame along a space curve, the quasi frame defined in [5] as

$$\mathbf{t} = \frac{\alpha'}{\|\alpha'\|}, \quad \mathbf{n}_q = \frac{\mathbf{t} \wedge \mathbf{k}}{\|\mathbf{t} \wedge \mathbf{k}\|}, \quad \mathbf{b}_q = \mathbf{t} \wedge \mathbf{n}_q$$

where k is unit projection vector.

Case1: Let $\alpha(s)$ be a spacelike curve with timelike normal vector (n) and spacelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} = (0,1,0)$. It is easy to see that unit tangent vector \mathbf{t} (spacelike), the quasi-normal \mathbf{n}_q (timelike) and the quasibinormal vector \mathbf{b}_q (spacelike). The variation equations of the q-frame in the following form are given as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t}' \\ \mathbf{n}'_q \\ \mathbf{b}'_q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -k_1 & k_2 \\ -k_1 & 0 & k_3 \\ -k_2 & k_3 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{n}_q \\ \mathbf{b}_q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Case2: Let $\alpha(s)$ be a spacelike curve with spacelike normal vector (n) and timelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} = (0,0,1)$. It is easy to see that the unit tangent vector \mathbf{t} (spacelike), the quasi-normal \mathbf{n}_q (spacelike) and the quasi-binormal vector \mathbf{b}_q (timelike). The variation equations of the q-frame in the following form are given as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t}' \\ \mathbf{n}'_q \\ \mathbf{b}'_q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & k_1 & -k_2 \\ -k_1 & 0 & -k_3 \\ -k_2 & -k_3 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{n}_q \\ \mathbf{b}_q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Case3: Let $\alpha(s)$ be a timelike curve with spacelike normal vector (n) and spacelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} =$ (0,1,0). It is easy to see that the unit tangent vector t (timelike), the quasi-normal \mathbf{n}_a (spacelike) and the quasi-binormal vector \mathbf{b}_{a} (spacelike). The variation equations of the q-frame in the following form are given as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t}' \\ \mathbf{n}'_q \\ \mathbf{b}'_q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & k_1 & k_2 \\ k_1 & 0 & k_3 \\ k_2 & -k_3 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{n}_q \\ \mathbf{b}_q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Let M be a regular surface given with the parametrization $\varphi(s, v)$ in E^3 . The tangent space of M at an arbitrary point is spanned by the vectors φ_s and φ_v . The coefficients of the first fundamental form of M are defined in [2], [12] as

$$E = \langle \varphi_s, \varphi_s \rangle, F = \langle \varphi_s, \varphi_v \rangle, G = \langle \varphi_v, \varphi_v \rangle,$$

where \langle , \rangle is the Euclidean inner product. Then the unit normal vector field of M is defined as $M = \varphi_s \wedge \varphi_v$

$$\frac{W - \frac{W}{||\varphi_s \wedge \varphi_v||}}{|\varphi_s \wedge \varphi_v||}$$

The coefficients of the second fundamental form of M are defined as

 $e = \langle \varphi_{ss}, N \rangle, f = \langle \varphi_{sv}, N \rangle, g = \langle \varphi_{vv}, N \rangle.$

The Gaussian curvature and the mean curvature of *M* are given by

$$K = \frac{eg - f^2}{EG - F^2}$$

and

$$H = \frac{Eg + Ge - 2Ff}{2(EG - F^2)},$$

respectively.

3 On The Timelike Directional Canal Surfaces

3.1 Timelike Directional Canal Surfaces around a Spacelike Curve

Case1. Timelike directional canal surfaces, centered at a spacelike curve $\alpha(s)$ with timelike normal vector (n) and spacelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} = (0,1,0)$ and radius r(s) = r can be parametrized as follows

$$\phi(s, v) = \alpha(s) + r(\sinh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + \cosh(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}})$$

where $\{\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{n}_q, \mathbf{b}_q, \mathbf{k}\}$ is the q-frame of the spacelike curve $\alpha(s)$. The partial derivatives of $\phi(s, v)$, with respect to s, and v are determined by respectively

$$\phi_s(s,v) = \left(1 - r(k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v))\right)\mathbf{t} + (r' \sinh(v) + rk_3 \cosh(v))\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + (r' \cosh(v) + rk_3 \sinh(v))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$
(1)

$$\phi_v(s,v) = r \cosh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + r \sinh(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$
(2)

$$\phi_{v}(s,v) = r\cosh(v)\mathbf{n}_{q} + r\sinh(v)\mathbf{b}_{q}$$

From the equations (1) and (2), the coefficients of the first fundamental form are given as

$$E = (1 - r(k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)))^2 + r'^2 - r^2 k_3^2$$

$$F = -r^2 k_3$$

$$G = -r^2$$

The unit normal vector is written as follows

 $N = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + W^2}} (r', -\sinh(v)W, -\cosh(v)W)$

where $W = 1 - r(k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v))$.

The second partial derivatives of $\phi_s(s, v)$, with respect to s and v, are determined by

$$\phi_{ss}(s,v) = \left(-2r'(k_1\sinh(v) + k_2\cosh(v)) - rk_3(k_1\cosh(v) + k_2\sinh(v))\right)\mathbf{t} \\ + \left((r'' + rk_1^2 + rk_3^2)\sinh(v) + (2r'k_3 + rk_1k_2)\cosh(v) - k_1\right)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} \\ + \left((r'' - rk_2^2 + rk_3^2)\cosh(v) + (2r'k_3 - rk_1k_2)\sinh(v) + k_2\right)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$

 $\phi_{sv}(s,v) = -r(k_1\cosh(v) + k_2\sinh(v))\mathbf{t} + (r'\cosh(v) + rk_3\sinh(v))\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}}$ $+(r'\sinh(v)+rk_3\cosh(v))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{a}}$

 $\phi_{vv}(s,v) = r(\sinh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + \cosh(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}})$ The coefficients of second fundamental form are given as

$$e = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + W^2}} \left[-2r'^2 (k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)) - r' r k_3 (k_1 \cosh(v) + k_2 \sinh(v)) - (r'' + r k_3^2 + W(k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)))W \right]$$
$$f = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + W^2}} \left[-rr' (k_1 \cosh(v) + k_2 \sinh(v) - r k_3 W) \right]$$

$$g = \pm \frac{-rW}{\sqrt{r'^2 + W^2}}$$

Gauss and mean curvatures are calculated by

$$K = \frac{rW[(AW + rk_3^2 + r'')W + rr'A'k_3 + 2r'^2A] - r^2(r'A' - k_3W)^2}{-r^2(r'^2 + W^2)^2}$$

and

$$H = \pm \frac{-rW^3 + W^2 r^2 A + W(r'^2 - rr'') - 2rr'^2 A + r^2 r' k_3 A'}{-2r(r'^2 + W^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$

where $A = k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)$, $A' = \frac{dA}{dv}$ respectively.

When the radius of the generating spheres of this surface are constant, we get following theorems found in [7].

Theorem1. The Gauss and mean curvatures of the tube surface around a spacelike curve with timelike normal vector are given as

$$K = -\frac{k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)}{r(1 - (k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)))}$$

and
$$H = \pm \frac{2r(k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)) - 1}{r(1 - (k_1 \sinh(v) + k_2 \cosh(v)))^2}$$

respectively.

res

Corollary1. The tube surfaces are flat if and only if

$$r = \frac{k_1}{k_2} = -\operatorname{coth}(v).$$

Case 2. Timelike directional canal surfaces, centered at a spacelike curve $\alpha(s)$ with spacelike normal vector (*n*) and timelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} = (0,0,1)$ and radius r(s) = r can be parametrized as follows

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{b}}(s,v) = \alpha(s) + r(\cosh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} - \sinh(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}).$$

where $\{\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{n}_q, \mathbf{b}_q, \mathbf{k}\}$ is the q-frame of the spacelike curve $\alpha(s)$. The partial derivatives of $\overline{\phi}(s, v)$, with respect to *s*, and *v* are determined by respectively

 $\bar{\phi}_s(s,v) = \left(1 - r(k_1\cosh(v) - k_2\sinh(v))\right)\mathbf{t} + (r'\cosh(v) + rk_3\sinh(v))\mathbf{n}_q - (r'\sinh(v) + rk_3\cosh(v))\mathbf{b}_q.$ (3)

$$\bar{\phi}_v(s,v) = r(\sinh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} - \cosh(v))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}$$

From the equations (3) and (4), the coefficients of the first fundamental form are given as $E = (1 - r(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v)))^2 + {r'}^2 - r^2 k_3^2$

$$F = -r^2 k_3$$

$$G = -r^2$$

The unit normal vector is written as follows

$$N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + \overline{W}^2}} (r', -\cosh(v)\overline{W}, \sinh(v)\overline{W})$$

where $\overline{W} = 1 - r(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v))$. The second partial derivatives of $\overline{\phi}(s, v)$, with respect to s and v, are determined by

$$\bar{\phi}_{ss}(s,v) = \left(-2r'(k_1\cosh(v) - k_2\sinh(v)) + rk_3(k_1\sinh(v) - k_2\cosh(v))\right)\mathbf{t} \\ + \left((r'' - rk_1^2 + rk_3^2)\cosh(v) + (2r'k_3 + rk_1k_2)\sinh(v) + k_1\right)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} \\ - \left((r'' + rk_2^2 + rk_3^2)\sinh(v) + (2r'k_3 - rk_1k_2)\cosh(v) + k_2\right)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{sv}(s,v) = -r(k_1\sinh(v) - k_2\cosh(v))\mathbf{t} + (r'\sinh(v) + rk_3\cosh(v))\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} -(r'\cosh(v) + rk_3\sinh(v))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}$$

 $\bar{\phi}_{vv}(s, v) = r(\cosh(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} - \sinh(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}})$ The coefficients of second fundamental form are given as

$$e = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + \overline{W}^2}} \left((-2r'^2 - W^2)(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v)) - r'rk_3(k_1 \sinh(v)) - k_2 \cosh(v)) - (r'' + rk_3^2) \overline{W} \right)$$

$$f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{r'^2 + \overline{W}^2}} \left(-rr'(k_1 \sinh(v) - k_2 \cosh(v)) - rk_3 \overline{W} \right)$$
$$-r\overline{W}$$

$$g = \frac{-rW}{\sqrt{r'^2 + \bar{W}^2}}$$

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY (4)

Gauss and mean curvatures are calculated by

$$K = \frac{\overline{W}(B(2rr'^2 + r\overline{W}^2) - r^2B'r'k_3) + rr''\overline{W}) - rr'^2B'^2}{-r^2(r'^2 + \overline{W}^2)^2}$$

and

$$H = \frac{\bar{w}(rr'' - rr'^2 - r\bar{w}^2 + r^2 B\bar{w}) + 2r'^2 r^2 B - r^3 r' k_3 B'}{-2r^2 (r'^2 + \bar{w}^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$

where $B = k_1 \sinh(v) - k_2 \cosh(v)$, $B' = \frac{a_B}{dv}$ respectively.

When the radius of the generating spheres of this surface are constant, we have following theorems found in [7].

Theorem2. The Gauss and mean curvatures of the tube surface around a spacelike curve with spacelike normal vector are given as

$$K = -\frac{k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v)}{r(1 - r(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v)))}$$

and

$$H = \pm \frac{1 - 2r(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v))}{2r(1 - r(k_1 \cosh(v) - k_2 \sinh(v)))}$$

respectively.

Corollary2. The tube surfaces are flat if the following equation satisfies

$$\frac{k_1}{k_2} = \tanh(v).$$

3.2 Timelike Directional Canal Surfaces around a Timelike Curve

Case 3. Timelike directional canal surfaces, centered at a timelike curve $\alpha(s)$ with spacelike normal vector (*n*) and spacelike projection vector $\mathbf{k} = (0,1,0)$ and radius r(s) = r can be parametrized as follows

$$\bar{\phi}(s,v) = \alpha(s) + r(\cos(v)\mathbf{n_q} + \sin(v)\mathbf{b_q}).$$

where $\{\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{n}_q, \mathbf{b}_q, \mathbf{k}\}$ is the q-frame of the timelike curve $\alpha(s)$. The partial derivatives of $\overline{\phi}(s, v)$, with respect to *s*, and *v* are determined by respectively

$$\bar{\phi}_s(s,v) = \left(1 + r(k_1\cos(v) + k_2\sin(v))\right)\mathbf{t} + (r'\cos(v) - rk_3\sin(v))\mathbf{n}_q + (r'\sin(v) + rk_3\cos(v))\mathbf{b}_q.$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{v}(s,v) = -r\sin(v)\mathbf{n}_{q} + r\cos(v)\mathbf{b}_{q}$$

The coefficients of the first fundamental form are given as

$$E = r'^{2} + r^{2}k_{3}^{2} - (1 + r(k_{1}\cos(v) + k_{2}\sin(v)))^{2}$$

$$F = r^2 k_3$$

$$G = r^2$$

The unit normal vector is written as follows

$$N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{w}^2 - r'^2}} (r', \cos(v)\overline{\bar{W}}, \sin(v)\overline{\bar{W}})$$
where $\overline{W} = 1 + r(k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v))$. The second partial derivatives of $\overline{\phi}(s, v)$, with respect to s and v, are determined by

$$\bar{\phi}_{ss}(s,v) = \left(2r'(k_1\cos(v) + k_2\sin(v)) + rk_3(k_2\cos(v) - k_1\sin(v))\right)\mathbf{t} \\ + \left((r'' - rk_3^2)\cos(v) - 2r'k_3\sin(v) + k_1\bar{W}\right)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} \\ + \left((r'' - rk_3^2)\sin(v) + 2r'k_3\cos(v) + k_2\bar{W}\right)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{sv}(s,v) = -r(k_1\sin(v) - k_2\cos(v))\mathbf{t} - (r'\sin(v) + rk_3\cos(v))\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + (r'\cos(v) - rk_3\sin(v))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}$$

 $\bar{\bar{\phi}}_{vv}(s,v) = -r(\cos(v)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + \sin(v)\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}).$ The coefficients of second fundamental form are given as

$$e = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\bar{w}^2 - r'^2}} (-2r'^2 (k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)) - r' r k_3 (k_2 \cos(v) - k_1 \sin(v)) \overline{\bar{W}}(r'' - r k_3^2 + (k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)) \overline{\bar{W}}))$$
$$f = \frac{-r}{\sqrt{\bar{w}^2 - r'^2}} [r' (k_2 \cos(v) - k_1 \sin(v)) + k_3 \overline{\bar{W}}]$$

$$g = \frac{-r\bar{\bar{w}}}{\sqrt{\bar{\bar{w}}^2 - {r'}^2}}$$

Gauss and mean curvatures are calculated by

$$K = \frac{\bar{\bar{w}}(C(2r'^2 - \bar{\bar{w}}^2) - rr'k_3C' - r''\bar{\bar{w}}) - rr'^2C'^2}{r(\bar{\bar{w}}^2 - r'^2)^2}$$

and

$$H = \frac{\overline{\bar{w}}(rr'' - r'^2 + \overline{\bar{w}}^2 + rC\overline{\bar{w}}) - 2r'^2 rC + r^2 r' k_3 C'}{2r(\overline{\bar{w}}^2 - r'^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$

where $C = k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)$, $C' = \frac{dC}{dv}$, respectively.

When the radius of the generating spheres of this surface are constant, we have proved the theorems found in [7].

Theorem3. The Gauss and mean curvatures of the tube surface around a timelike curve are given as

$$K = -\frac{k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)}{r(1 + r(k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)))}$$

and

$$H = \frac{1 + 2r(k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v))}{2r(1 + r(k_1 \cos(v) + k_2 \sin(v)))}$$

respectively.

Corollary3. The tube surfaces are flat if the following equation satisfies

$$\frac{k_1}{k_2} = -\tan(v).$$

4. References

[1] B. Bulca, K. Arslan, B. Bayram and G. Ozturk, Canal surfaces in 4-dimensional Euclidean space, An International Journal of Optimization and Control: Theories and Applications. 7(1): 83-89, 2017.

[2] M. P. Do Carmo, Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces, Prentice Hall USA, 503p., 1976.

[3] M. Cimdiker and G.A. Sekerci, Bonnet Canal Surfaces. Dokuz Eylul Universitesi Muhendislik Fakultesi Fen ve Muhendislik, 21: 195-200, 2019.

[4] M. Dede, Tubular Surfaces in Galilean Space, Math. Commun., 18: 209-217,2013.

[5] M. Dede, C. Ekici and A. Gorgulu, Directional q-frame along a Space Curve, IJARCSSE, 5: 775-780, 2015.

[6] F. Dogan and Y. Yayli, Tubes with Darboux Frame, Int. J. Contemp. Math. Sciences, 7: 751-758, 2012.

[7] C. Ekici, M. Dede, H. Tozak, Timelike Directional Tubular Surfaces, Int. J. Mathematical Anal., 8(5): 1-11, 2017.

[8] M.K. Karacan and B. Bukcu, An Alternative Moving Frame for Tubular Surface around the Spacelike Curve with a Spacelike Binormal in Minkowski 3-Space, Mathematica, Moravica, 57:193-201, 2007.

[9] G. U. Kaymanli, C. Ekici and M. Dede, Directional Canal Surfaces in E3, Current Academic Studies in Natural Sciences and Mathematics Sciences, 63-80, 2018.

[10] Y. H. Kim, H. Liu and J. Qian, Some Characterizations of Canal Surfaces, Bulletin of the Korean Mathematical Society, 53(2): 461-477, 2016.

[11] T. Korpinar and T. Essin, On Characterization of B Canal Surfaces in Terms of Biharmonic B Slant Helices According to Bishop Frame in Heisenberg Group Heis3, Journal of Mathe-matical Analysis and Applications, 382(1): 57-65, 2011.

[12] W. Kuhnel, Differential Geometry Curves-Surfaces-Manifolds. second ed. Friedr. Vieweg and Sohn Verlag, Wiesbaden, 2003

[13] W. Lu and H. Pottmann, Pipe Surfaces with Rational Spine Curve are Rational, Computer Aided Geometric Design, 13: 621-628, 1996.

[14] T. Maekawa, N.M. Patrikalakis, T. Sakkalis, G. Yu, Analysis and Applications of Pipe Surfaces, Comput. Aided Geom. Design, 15: 437-458, 1988.

[15] B. O'Neill, (1983). Semi-Riemannian Geometry with Applications to Relativity. Academic Press, New York.

[16] G. Ozturk, B. Bulca, B. Kilic, K. Arslan, On Canal Surfaces in E3. Selçuk Journal of Applied Mathematics. 11(2): 103-108, 2010.

[17] A. Ucum and K. Ilarslan, New Types of Canal Surfaces in Minkowski 3-Space, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebras, 26: 449, 2016.

[18] Z. Xu, R. Fend and J. Sun, Analytic and Algebraic Properties of Canal Surfaces, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 195: 220-228, 2006.

Sum Formulas for Gaussian Generalized Tribonacci Numbers: Closed Form Formulas of the Sums $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k}$

Yüksel Soykan¹, Erkan Taşdemir²

¹Department of Mathematics, Art and Science Faculty, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Turkey, ²Pınarhisar Vocational School, Kırklareli University, Turkey, E-mails: yuksel_soykan@hotmail.com, erkantasdemir@hotmail.com

Abstract

In this paper, closed forms of the sum formulas $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k}$ of Gaussian generalized Tribonacci numbers are presented. Consequently, some previous results are recovered as particular cases of the present results. As special cases, we give summation formulas of Gaussian Tribonacci, Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas, Gaussian Padovan, Gaussian Perrin, Gaussian Narayana and some other third order linear recurrance sequences. All the summing formulas of well known recurrence sequences are linear except the cases Gaussian Pell-Padovan and Gaussian Padovan-Perrin.

1. Introduction

In this work, we investigate linear summation formulas of Gaussian generalized Tribonacci numbers. Sequences have been fascinating topic for mathematicians for centuries. The Fibonacci sequence is very well-known example of second order recurrence sequences.

The sequence of Fibonacci numbers $\{F_n\}$ is defined by

$$F_n = F_{n-1} + F_{n-2}, n \ge 2, F_0 = 0, F_1 = 1.$$

The Fibonacci numbers and their generalizations have many interesting properties and applications to almost every field. The generalized Tribonacci sequence $\{W_n(W_0, W_1, W_2; r, s, t)\}_{n\geq 0}$ (or shortly $\{W_n\}_{n\geq 0}$) is defined as follows:

$$W_n = rW_{n-1} + sW_{n-2} + tW_{n-3}, W_0 = a, W_1 = b, W_2 = c, n \ge 3$$
(1.1)

where W_0, W_1, W_2 are arbitrary complex numbers and r, s, t are real numbers.

The sequence $\{W_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ can be extended to negative subscripts by defining

$$W_{-n} = -\frac{s}{t}W_{-(n-1)} - \frac{r}{t}W_{-(n-2)} + \frac{1}{t}W_{(-(n-3))}$$

for n = 1,2,3, ... when $t \neq 0$. Therefore, recurrence (1.1) holds for all integer n.

If we set r = s = t = 1 and $W_0 = 0$, $W_1 = 1$, $W_2 = 1$ then $\{W_n\}_{n \ge 0}$ is the well-known Tribonacci sequence and if we set r = s = t = 1 and $W_0 = 3$, $W_1 = 1$, $W_2 = 3$ then $\{W_n\}_{n \ge 0}$ is the well-known Tribonacci-Lucas sequence.

In fact, the generalized Tribonacci sequence is the generalization of the well-known sequences like Tribonacci, Tribonacci-Lucas, Padovan (Cordonnier), Perrin, Padovan-Perrin, Narayana, third order Jacobsthal and third order Jacobsthal-Lucas.

We now present some background about Gaussian and Gaussian generalized Tribonacci numbers. In literature, there have been so many studies of the sequences of Gaussian numbers. A Gaussian integer

z is a complex number whose real and imaginary parts are both integers, i.e., = a + ib, $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. These numbers is denoted by $\mathbb{Z}[i]$. The norm of a Gaussian integer a + ib, $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$ is its Euclidean norm, that is, $N(a + ib) = \sqrt{a^2 + b^2} = \sqrt{(a + ib)(a - ib)}$. For more information about this kind of integers, see the work of Fraleigh [3].

If we use together sequences of integers defined recursively and Gaussian type integers, we obtain a new sequences of complex numbers such as Gaussian Fibonacci, Gaussian Lucas, Gaussian Pell, Gaussian Pell-Lucas and Gaussian Jacobsthal numbers; Gaussian Padovan and Gaussian Pell-Padovan numbers; Gaussian Tribonacci numbers. The Gaussian generalized Tribonacci sequence $\{GW_n(GW_0, GW_1, GW_2; r, s, t)\}_{n\geq 0}$ (or shortly $\{GW_n\}_{n\geq 0}$) is defined as follows:

 $GW_n = rGW_{n-1} + sGW_{n-2} + tGW_{n-3}, GW_0 = W_0 + W_{-1}i, GW_1 = W_1 + W_0i, GW_2 = W_2 + W_1i,$ $n \ge 3$ (1.2)

where *r*, *s*, *t* are real numbers.

The sequence $\{GW_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ can be extended to negative subscripts by defining

$$GW_{-n} = -\frac{s}{t}GW_{-(n-1)} - \frac{r}{t}GW_{-(n-2)} + \frac{1}{t}GW_{-(n-3)}$$

for n = 1, 2, 3, ... when $t \neq 0$. Therefore, recurrence (1.2) holds for all integer n. Note that for n > 0

Note that for $n \ge 0$

$$GW_n = W_n + iW_{n-1}.$$
 (1.3)

and

$$GW_{-n} = W_{-n} + iW_{-n-1}$$

In fact, the Gaussian generalized Tribonacci sequence is the generalization of the well-known sequences like Gaussian Tribonacci, Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas, Gaussian Padovan (Cordonnier), Gaussian Perrin, Gaussian Padovan-Perrin, Gaussian Narayana, Gaussian third order Jacobsthal and Gaussian third order Jacobsthal-Lucas. In literature, for example, the following names and notations (see Table 1) are used for the special case of r, s, t and initial values.

Table 1 A few special case of Gaussian generalized Tribonacci sequences.

Sequences (Numbers)	Notation
Gaussian Tribonacci	$\{GT_n\} = \{W_n(0,1,1+i;1,1,1)\}$
Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas	$\{GK_n\} = \{W_n(3-i, 1+3i, 3+i; 1, 1, 1)\}$
Gaussian third order Pell	$\{GP_n^{(3)}\} = \{W_n(0,1,2+i;2,1,1)\}$
Gaussian third order Pell-Lucas	$\{GQ_n^{(3)}\} = \{W_n(3-i,2+3i,6+2i;2,1,1)\}$
Gaussian third order modified Pell	$\{GE_n^{(3)}\} = \{W_n(-i, 1, 1+i; 2, 1, 1)\}$
Gaussian Padovan (Cordonnier)	$\{GP_n\} = \{W_n(1, 1 + i, 1 + i; 0, 1, 1)\}$
Gaussian Perrin	$\{GE_n\} = \{W_n(3-i,3i,2;0,1,1)\}$
Gaussian Padovan-Perrin	$\{GS_n\} = \{W_n(i, 0, 1; 0, 1, 1)\}$
Gaussian Pell-Padovan	$\{GR_n\} = \{W_n(1-i, 1+i, 1+i; 0, 2, 1)\}$
Gaussian Pell-Perrin	$\{GC_n\} = \{W_n(3 - 4i, 3i, 2; 0, 2, 1)\}$
Gaussian Jacobsthal-Padovan	$\{GQ_n\} = \{W_n(1, 1+i, 1+i; 0, 1, 2)\}$
Gaussian Jacobsthal-Perrin	$\{GD_n\} = \{W_n(3 - \frac{1}{2}i, 3i, 2; 0, 1, 2)\}$
Gaussian Narayana	$\{GN_n\} = \{W_n(0,1,\tilde{1}+i;1,0,1)\}$

Gaussian third order Jacobsthal	$\{GJ_n^{(3)}\} = \{W_n(0,1,1+i;1,1,2)\}$
Gaussian third order Jacobsthal-Lucas	$\{G_{j_n}^{(3)}\} = \{W_n(2+i, 1+2i, 5+i; 1, 1, 2)\}$

In 1963, Horadam [9] introduced the concept of complex Fibonacci number called as the Gaussian Fibonacci number. Pethe [13] defined the complex Tribonacci numbers at Gaussian integers, see also [5].

There are other several studies dedicated to these sequences of Gaussian numbers. We present some works on Gaussian Generalized Fibonacci Numbers in the following Table 2.

Table 2. A few special stu	idy of Gaussian Generalized Fibonacci Numbers.
Name of sequence	Papers which deal with Gaussian Numbers
Gaussian Generalized Fibonacci	[1,2,3,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,14]
Gaussian Generalized Tribonacci	[15,18,19,20]

2. Linear Sum formulas of Gaussian Generalized Tribonacci Numbers with Positive Subscripts

[16]

The following Theorem presents some linear summing formulas of Gaussian generalized Tribonacci numbers with positive subscripts.

Theorem 2.1 For $n \ge 0$, we have the following formulas:

Gaussian Generalized Pentanacci [17]

Gaussian Generalized Tetranacci

(a) (Sum of the generalized Tribonacci numbers) If $r + s + t - 1 \neq 0$, then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k = \frac{G\Delta_1}{r+s+t-1}$$

where

 $G\Delta_1 = GW_{n+3} + (1-r)GW_{n+2} + (1-r-s)GW_{n+1} - GW_2 + (r-1)GW_1 + (r+s-1)GW_0.$

(b) If
$$2s + 2rt + r^2 - s^2 + t^2 - 1 = (r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1) \neq 0$$
 then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{G\Delta_2}{(r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1)}$$

where

 $G\Delta_2 = (-s+1)GW_{2n+2} + (t+rs)GW_{2n+1} + (t^2+rt)GW_{2n} + (-1+s)GW_2 + (-t-rs)GW_1 + (-1+r^2-s^2+rt+2s)GW_0.$

(c) If
$$2s + 2rt + r^2 - s^2 + t^2 - 1 = (r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1) \neq 0$$
 then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{G\Delta_3}{(r - s + t + 1)(r + s + t - 1)}$$

where

 $G\Delta_3 = (r+t)GW_{2n+2} + (s-s^2+t^2+rt)GW_{2n+1} + (t-st)GW_{2n} + (-r-t)GW_2 + (-1+s+r^2+rt)GW_1 + (-t+st)GW_0.$ *Proof.* Using the recurrence relation

$$GW_n = rGW_{n-1} + sGW_{n-2} + tGW_{n-3}$$

i.e.

 $tGW_{n-3} = GW_n - rGW_{n-1} - sGW_{n-2}$ we obtain $tGW_0 = GW_3 - rGW_2 - sGW_1$ $tGW_1 = GW_4 - rGW_3 - sGW_2$ $tGW_2 = GW_5 - rGW_4 - sGW_3$ $tGW_{n-1} = GW_{n+2} - rGW_{n+1} - sGW_n$ $tGW_n = GW_{n+3} - rGW_{n+2} - sGW_{n+1}.$ If we add the equations by side by, we get (a). (b) and (c): Using the recurrence relation $GW_n = rGW_{n-1} + sGW_{n-2} + tGW_{n-3}$ i.e. $rGW_{n-1} = GW_n - sGW_{n-2} - tGW_{n-3}$ we obtain $rGW_3 = GW_4 - sGW_2 - tGW_1$ $rGW_5 = GW_6 - sGW_4 - tGW_3$ $rGW_{2n+1} = GW_{2n+2} - sGW_{2n} - tGW_{2n-1}.$ $rGW_{2n+3} = GW_{2n+4} - sGW_{2n+2} - tGW_{2n+1}$ Now, if we add the above equations by side by, we get $r(-GW_1 + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k+1}) = (GW_{2n+2} - GW_2 - GW_0 + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k})$ $-s(-GW_0 + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k}) - t(-GW_{2n+1} + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k+1}).$ (2.1)Similarly, using the recurrence relation $GW_n = rGW_{n-1} + sGW_{n-2} + tGW_{n-3}$ i.e. $rGW_{n-1} = GW_n - sGW_{n-2} - tGW_{n-3}$ we write the following obvious equations; $rGW_2 = GW_3 - sGW_1 - tGW_0$ $rGW_4 = GW_5 - sGW_3 - tGW_2$ $rGW_6 = GW_7 - sGW_5 - tGW_4$ $rGW_{2n} = GW_{2n+1} - sGW_{2n-1} - tGW_{2n-2}$ $rGW_{2n+2} = GW_{2n+3} - sGW_{2n+1} - tGW_{2n}.$ Now, if we add the above equations by side by, we obtain $r(-GW_0 + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k}) = (-GW_1 + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k+1}) - s(-GW_{2n+1} + \sum_{k=0}^n GW_{2k+1})$ $-t(-GW_{2n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k}).$ (2.2)Then, solving the system (2.1)-(2.2), the required results of (b) and (c) follow.

Taking r = s = t = 1 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (b) (or (c)), we obtain the following Proposition. **Proposition 2.2** If r = s = t = 1 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas: (a) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k = \frac{1}{2}(GW_{n+3} - GW_{n+1} - GW_2 + GW_0).$

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{2n+1} + GW_{2n} GW_1 + GW_0).$ (b)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{2n+2} + GW_{2n+1} GW_2 + GW_1).$ (c)

From the above Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Tribonacci numbers (take $GW_n = GT_n$ with $GT_0 = 0$, $GT_1 = 1$, $GT_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 2.3 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Tribonacci numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GT_k = \frac{1}{2}(GT_{n+3} - GT_{n+1} - (1+i)).$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GT_{2k} = \frac{1}{2}(GT_{2n+1} + GT_{2n} - 1).$$

 $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GT_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GT_{2n+2} + GT_{2n+1} - i).$ (c)

Taking $GW_n = GK_n$ with $GK_0 = 3 - i$, $GK_1 = 1 + 3i$, $GK_2 = 1$ in the above Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas numbers.

Corollary 2.4 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas numbers have the following properties.

 $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GK_{k} = \frac{1}{2} (GK_{n+3} - GK_{n+1} - 2i).$ (a)

(b)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GK_{2k} = \frac{1}{2} (GK_{2n+1} + GK_{2n} + (2-4i)).$$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GK_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GK_{2n+2} + GK_{2n+1} + (-2+2i)).$

Taking r = 2, s = 1, t = 1 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (b) (or (c)), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.5 If r = 2, s = 1, t = 1 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas:

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{k} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{n+3} GW_{n+2} 2GW_{n+1} GW_{2} + GW_{1} + 2GW_{0}).$ (a)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{1}{3} (GW_{2n+1} + GW_{2n} GW_1 + 2GW_0).$ (b)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{3} (GW_{2n+2} + GW_{2n+1} GW_2 + 2GW_1).$ (c)

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian third-order Pell numbers (take $GW_n = GP_n^{(3)}$ with $GP_0^{(3)} = 0$, $GP_1^{(3)} = 1$, $GP_2^{(3)} = 2 + i$).

Corollary 2.6 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian third-order Pell numbers have the following properties:

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_{k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GP_{n+3}^{(3)} GP_{n+2}^{(3)} 2GP_{n+1}^{(3)} (1+i)).$ $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_{2k}^{(3)} = GP_{2n+1}^{(3)} + GP_{2n}^{(3)} 1.$ $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GP_{2n+2}^{(3)} + GP_{2n+1}^{(3)} i).$
- (b)
- (c)

Taking $GQ_0^{(3)} = 3 - i$, $GQ_1^{(3)} = 2 + 3i$, $GQ_2^{(3)} = 6 + 2i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian third-order Pell-Lucas numbers.

Corollary 2.7 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian third-order Pell-Lucas numbers have the following properties:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_{k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} \Big(GQ_{n+3}^{(3)} - GQ_{n+2}^{(3)} - 2GQ_{n+1}^{(3)} + (2-i) \Big).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_{2k}^{(3)} = GQ_{2n+1}^{(3)} + G^{(3)}Q_{2n} + (4-5i).$

 $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} \left(GQ_{2n+2}^{(3)} + GQ_{2n+1}^{(3)} \right) + (-2 + 4i).$ (c)

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian third-order modified Pell numbers (take $GW_n = GE_n^{(3)}$ with $E_0^{(3)} = -i$, $GE_1^{(3)} = 1$, $GE_2^{(3)} = 1 + i$).

Corollary 2.8 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian third-order modified Pell numbers have the following properties:

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_{k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GE_{n+3}^{(3)} GE_{n+2}^{(3)} 2GE_{n+1}^{(3)} 3i)$ (a)
- (b)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_{2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GE_{2n+1}^{(3)} + GE_{2n}^{(3)} + (-1-2i))$ $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GE_{2n+2}^{(3)} + GE_{2n+1}^{(3)} + (1-i)).$ (c)

Taking r = 0, s = 1, t = 1 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (b) (or (c)), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.9 If r = 0, s = 1, t = 1 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas:

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{k} = GW_{n+3} + GW_{n+2} GW_{2} GW_{1}.$ (a)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = GW_{2n+1} + GW_{2n} GW_{1}.$ (b)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = GW_{2n+2} + GW_{2n+1} GW_2.$ (c)

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Padovan numbers (take $GW_n = GP_n$ with $GP_0 = 1$, $GP_1 = 1 + i$, $GP_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 2.10 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Padovan numbers have the following properties.

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_k = GP_{n+3} + GP_{n+2} 2(1+i).$ (a)
- (b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_{2k} = GP_{2n+1} + GP_{2n} - (1+i).$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GP_{2k+1} = GP_{2n+2} + GP_{2n+1} - (1+i)$. Taking $GW_n = GE_n$ with $GE_0 = 3 - i$, $GE_1 = 3i$, $GE_2 = 2$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Perrin numbers.

Corollary 2.11 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Perrin numbers have the following properties.

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_k = GE_{n+3} + GE_{n+2} (2+3i).$ (a)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_{2k} = GE_{2n+1} + GE_{2n} 3i.$ (b)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GE_{2k+1} = GE_{2n+2} + GE_{2n+1} 2.$ (c)

Taking $GW_n = GS_n$ with $GS_0 = i, GS_1 = 0, GS_2 = 1$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Padovan-Perrin numbers.

Corollary 2.12 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Padovan-Perrin numbers have the following properties.

- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GS_k = GS_{n+3} + GS_{n+2} 1.$ (a)
- $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GS_{2k} = GS_{2n+1} + GS_{2n}$ (b)
- (c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GS_{2k+1} = GS_{2n+2} + GS_{2n+1} 1.$

If r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 then (r - s + t + 1) = 0 so we can't use Theorem 2.1 (b) and (c). In other words, the method of the proof Theorem 2.1 (b) and (c) can't be used to find $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k}$ and $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1}$. Therefore we need another method to find them which is given in the following Theorem. **Theorem 2.13** If r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{k} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{n+3} + GW_{n+2} - GW_{n+1} - GW_{2} - GW_{1} + GW_{0}).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = GW_{2n+1} + (GW_{2} - GW_{1} - GW_{0})n + GW_{0} - GW_{1}.$
(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} GW_{2n+3} + GW_{2n+2} - GW_{2n+1} + 2n(-GW_{2} + GW_{1} + GW_{0}) - GW_{2} \\ + GW_{1} - GW_{0} \end{pmatrix}$

Proof. Taking r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 in Theorem 2.1 (a) we obtain (a). Using the recurrence relation

 $GW_n = 2GW_{n-2} + GW_{n-3}$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{k=0}^{0} GW_{2k} = GW_{0} \\ & \sum_{k=0}^{1} GW_{2k} = GW_{0} + GW_{2} = GW_{3} + GW_{2} - 2GW_{1} \\ & \sum_{k=0}^{2} GW_{2k} = GW_{0} + GW_{2} + GW_{4} = GW_{5} + 2GW_{2} - 3GW_{1} - GW_{0} \\ & \vdots \\ & \sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = GW_{2n+1} + (GW_{2} - GW_{1} - GW_{0})n + GW_{0} - GW_{1}. \end{split}$$

This result can be also proved by mathematical induction. Note that from (a) we get

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(GW_{2n+3} + GW_{2n+2} + GW_{2n+1} - GW_2 - GW_1 + GW_0) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k}$$

Now, (c) follows from the last equation.

From the above Theorem we have the following Corollary which gives sum formulas of Gaussian Pell-Padovan numbers (take $GW_n = GR_n$ with $GR_0 = 1 - i$, $GR_1 = 1 + i$, $GR_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 2.14 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Pell-Padovan numbers have the following property:

(a) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} R_k = \frac{1}{2}(R_{n+3} + R_{n+2} - R_{n+1} - (1+3i)).$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} R_{2k} = R_{2n+1} + (-1+i)n - 2i.$

(c)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} R_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (R_{2n+3} + R_{2n+2} - R_{2n+1} + (2-2i)n + (-1+i)).$$

Taking $GW_n = GC_n$ with $GC_0 = 3 - 4i$, $GC_1 = 3i$, $GC_2 = 2$ in the last Theorem, we have the following Corollary which presents sum formulas of Gaussian Pell-Perrin numbers.

Corollary 2.15 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Pell-Perrin numbers have the following property:

- (a) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GC_k = \frac{1}{2} (GC_{n+3} + GC_{n+2} GC_{n+1} + (1 7i)).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GC_{2k} = GC_{2n+1} + (-1+i)n + (3-7i).$
- (c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GC_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GC_{2n+3} + GC_{2n+2} GC_{2n+1} + (2-2i)n + (-5+7i)).$

Taking r = 0, s = 1, t = 2 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (b) (or (c)), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.16 If r = 0, s = 1, t = 2 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{n+3} + GW_{n+2} - GW_2 - GW_1).$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{2n+1} + 2GW_{2n} - GW_1).$$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{2n+2} + 2GW_{2n+1} - GW_2).$

Taking $GW_n = GQ_n$ with $GQ_0 = 1$, $GQ_1 = 1 + i$, $GQ_2 = 1 + i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal-Padovan numbers.

Corollary 2.17 For $n \ge 0$, Jacobsthal-Padovan numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_k = \frac{1}{2} (GQ_{n+3} + GQ_{n+2} - 2(1+i)).$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_{2k} = \frac{1}{2} (GQ_{2n+1} + 2GQ_{2n} - (1+i)).$$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GQ_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GQ_{2n+2} + 2GQ_{2n+1} - (1+i)).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Jacobsthal-Perrin numbers (take $GW_n = GD_n$ with $GD_0 = 3 - \frac{1}{2}i$, $GD_1 = 3i$, $GD_2 = 2$).

Corollary 2.18 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Jacobsthal-Perrin numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GD_{k} = \frac{1}{2}(GD_{n+3} + GD_{n+2} - (2+3i)).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GD_{2k} = \frac{1}{2}(GD_{2n+1} + 2GD_{2n} - 3i).$
(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GD_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(GD_{2n+2} + 2GD_{2n+1} - 2).$

Taking r = 1, s = 0, t = 1 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (c), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.19 If r = 1, s = 0, t = 1 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas:

- (a) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k = GW_{n+3} GW_2$.
- (b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{1}{3} (GW_{2n+2} + GW_{2n+1} + 2GW_{2n} GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0).$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{3} (2GW_{2n+2} + 2GW_{2n+1} + GW_{2n} - 2GW_2 + GW_1 - GW_0).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Narayana numbers (take $GW_n = GN_n$ with $GN_0 = 0$, $GN_1 = 1$, $GN_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 2.20 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Narayana numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} N_k = N_{n+3} - (1+i).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} N_{2k} = \frac{1}{3} (N_{2n+2} + N_{2n+1} + 2N_{2n} - (2+i))$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} N_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{3} (2N_{2n+2} + 2N_{2n+1} + N_{2n} - (1+2i)).$

Taking r = 1, s = 1, t = 2 in Theorem 2.1 (a) and (c), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.21 If r = 1, s = 1, t = 2 then for $n \ge 0$ we have the following formulas.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_k = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{n+3} - GW_{n+1} - GW_2 + GW_0).$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{2n+1} + 2GW_{2n} - GW_1 + GW_0).$$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GW_{2k+1} = \frac{1}{3} (GW_{2n+2} + 2GW_{2n+1} - GW_2 + GW_1).$

Taking $GW_n = GJ_n^{(3)}$ with $GJ_0^{(3)} = 0$, $GJ_1^{(3)} = 1$, $GJ_2^{(3)} = 1 + i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal numbers.

Corollary 2.22 For $n \ge 0$, Jacobsthal numbers have the following properties.

(a) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GJ_{k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GJ_{n+3}^{(3)} - GJ_{n+1}^{(3)} - (1+i)).$ (b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GJ_{2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GJ_{2n+1}^{(3)} + 2GJ_{2n}^{(3)} - 1).$ (c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GJ_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (GJ_{2n+2}^{(3)} + 2GJ_{2n+1}^{(3)} - i).$

(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} GJ_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(GJ_{2n+2}^{(3)} + 2GJ_{2n+1}^{(3)} - i).$ From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal-Lucas numbers (take $GW_n = Gj_n^{(3)}$ with $Gj_0^{(3)} = 2 + i, Gj_1^{(3)} = 1 + 2i, Gj_2^{(3)} = 5 + i).$

Corollary 2.23 For $n \ge 0$, Gaussian Jacobsthal-Lucas numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} Gj_{k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(Gj_{n+3}^{(3)} - Gj_{n+1}^{(3)} - 3).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} Gj_{2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(Gj_{2n+1}^{(3)} + 2Gj_{2n}^{(3)} + (1-i)).$
(c) $\sum_{k=0}^{n} Gj_{2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(Gj_{2n+2}^{(3)} + 2Gj_{2n+1}^{(3)} + (-4+i)).$

3. Linear Sum formulas of Gaussian Generalized Tribonacci Numbers with Negative Subscripts

The following Theorem presents some linear summing formulas (identities) of Gaussian generalized Tribonacci numbers with negative subscripts.

Theorem 3.1 For $n \ge 1$, we have the following formulas:

(a) If $r + s + t - 1 \neq 0$, then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{G\Delta_4}{r+s+t-1}$$

where

$$G\Delta_4 = -(rGW_{-n-1} + s(GW_{-n-1} + GW_{-n-2}) + t(GW_{-n-1} + GW_{-n-2} + GW_{-n-3}) - GW_2 + (r-1)GW_1 + (r+s-1)GW_0).$$

(b) If
$$2s + 2rt + r^2 - s^2 + t^2 - 1 = (r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1) \neq 0 \land r + t \neq 0$$
 then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{G\Delta_5}{(r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1)}$$

where

$$G\Delta_5 = -(r+t)GW_{-2n+1} + (r^2 + rt + s - 1)GW_{-2n} + (st - t)GW_{-2n-1} + (1 - s)GW_2 + (t + rs)GW_1 + (1 - rt - 2s - r^2 + s^2)GW_0.$$

(c) If
$$2s + 2rt + r^2 - s^2 + t^2 - 1 = (r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1) \neq 0 \land r + t \neq 0$$
 then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{G\Delta_6}{(r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1)}$$

where

$$\begin{split} G\Delta_6 &= (s-1)GW_{-2n+1} - (t+rs)GW_{-2n} - (t^2+rt)GW_{-2n-1} + (r+t)GW_2 \\ &+ (1-r^2-rt-s)GW_1 + (t-st)GW_0. \end{split}$$

Proof. Using the recurrence relation

 $GW_{-n+3} = rGW_{-n+2} + sGW_{-n+1} + tGW_{-n} \Rightarrow GW_{-n} = -\frac{s}{t}GW_{-(n-1)} - \frac{r}{t}GW_{-(n-2)}$ $+\frac{1}{t}GW_{-(n-3)}$

i.e.

$$tGW_{-n} = GW_{-n+3} - rGW_{-n+2} - sGW_{-n+1}$$

or

$$GW_{-n} = \frac{1}{t}GW_{-n+3} - \frac{r}{t}GW_{-n+2} - \frac{s}{t}GW_{-n+1}$$

we obtain $tGW_{-n} = GW_{-n+3} - rGW_{-n+2} - sGW_{-n+1}$ $tGW_{-n+1} = GW_{-n+4} - rGW_{-n+3} - sGW_{-n+2}$ $tGW_{-n+2} = GW_{-n+5} - rGW_{-n+4} - sGW_{-n+3}$ $tGW_{-2} = GW_1 - r \times GW_0 - s \times GW_{-1}$ $tGW_{-1} = GW_2 - r \times GW_1 - s \times GW_0.$ If we add the above equations by side by, we get (a). (b) and (c): Using the recurrence relation $GW_{-n+3} = rGW_{-n+2} + sGW_{-n+1} + tGW_{-n}$ i.e. $sGW_{-n+1} = GW_{-n+3} - rGW_{-n+2} - tGW_{-n}$ we obtain $sGW_{-2n+1} = GW_{-2n+3} - rGW_{-2n+2} - tGW_{-2n}$ $sGW_{-2n+3} = GW_{-2n+5} - rGW_{-2n+4} - tGW_{-2n+2}$ $sGW_{-3} = GW_{-1} - rGW_{-2} - tGW_{-4}$ $sGW_{-1} = GW_1 - rGW_0 - tGW_{-2}$ If we add the equations by side by, we get $s\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = (-GW_{-2n+1} + GW_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1})$ $-r(-GW_{-2n} + GW_0 + \sum_{k=1}^n GW_{-2k}) - t(\sum_{k=1}^n GW_{-2k}).$ (3.1)Similarly, using the recurrence relation $GW_{-n+3} = rGW_{-n+2} + sGW_{-n+1} + tGW_{-n}$ i.e. $sGW_{-n+1} = GW_{-n+3} - rGW_{-n+2} - tGW_{-n}$ we obtain $sGW_{-2n} = GW_{-2n+2} - rGW_{-2n+1} - tGW_{-2n-1}$ $sGW_{-2n+2} = GW_{-2n+4} - rGW_{-2n+3} - tGW_{-2n+1}$ $sGW_{-6} = GW_{-4} - rGW_{-5} - tGW_{-7}$

 $sGW_{-4} = GW_{-2} - rGW_{-3} - tGW_{-5}$

 $sGW_{-2} = GW_0 - rGW_{-1} - tGW_{-3}.$

If we add the above equations by side by, we get

4th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MATHEMATICS "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians" 27-30 October 2020, Istanbul, Turkey

This conference is dedicated to 67th birthday of Prof. M. Mursaleen

$$s\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \left(-GW_{-2n} + GW_{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k}\right) - r\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1}\right)$$
$$-t\left(GW_{-2n-1} - GW_{-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1}\right).$$

Since

 $GW_{-1} = \left(-\frac{s}{t}GW_0 - \frac{r}{t}GW_1 + \frac{1}{t}GW_2\right).$

It follows that

 $s \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = (-GW_{-2n} + GW_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k}) - r(\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1}) - t(GW_{-2n-1} - (-\frac{s}{t}GW_0 - \frac{r}{t}GW_1 + \frac{1}{t}GW_2) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1}).$ (3.2)

Then, solving system (3.1)-(3.2) the required results of (b) and (c) follow.

Next, we present several sum formulas (identities). Taking r = s = t = 1 in Theorem 3.1 (a) and (b), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.2 If r = s = t = 1 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3GW_{-n-1} 2GW_{-n-2} GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 GW_0).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2} (-GW_{-2n+1} + GW_{-2n} + GW_1 GW_0).$
- (c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (-GW_{-2n} GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2 GW_1).$

From the above Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Tribonacci numbers (take $GW_n = GT_n$ with $GT_0 = 0$, $GT_1 = 1$, $GT_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 3.3 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Tribonacci numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GT_{-k} = \frac{1}{2}(-3GT_{-n-1} - 2GT_{-n-2} - GT_{-n-3} + (1+i)).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GT_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2}(-GT_{-2n+1} + GT_{-2n} + 1).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GT_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(-GT_{-2n} - GT_{-2n-1} + i).$

Taking $GW_n = K_n$ with $K_0 = 3, K_1 = 1, K_2 = 3$ in the above Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas numbers.

Corollary 3.4 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Tribonacci-Lucas numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GK_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3GK_{-n-1} - 2GK_{-n-2} - GK_{-n-3} + 2i).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GK_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-GK_{-n-1} + GK_{-n-2} - GK_{-n-3} + 2i).$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} G K_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2} (-G K_{-2n+1} + G K_{-2n} + (-2 + 4t)).$$

(c)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GK_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (-GK_{-2n} - GK_{-2n-1} + (2-2i))$$

Taking r = 2, s = 1, t = 1 in Theorem 3.1 (a) and (b), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.5 If r = 2, s = 1, t = 1 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

(a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GW_{-n-1} - 2GW_{-n-2} - GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 - GW_1 - 2GW_0).$ (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{1}{3} (-GW_{-2n+1} + 2GW_{-2n} + GW_{1} - 2GW_{0}).$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{3}(-GW_{-2n} - GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2 - 2GW_1).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian third-order Pell numbers (take $GW_n = GP_n^{(3)}$ with $GP_0^{(3)} = 0$, $GP_1^{(3)} = 1$, $GP_2^{(3)} = 2 + i$).

Corollary 3.6 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian third-order Pell numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GP_{-n-1}^{(3)} - 2GP_{-n-2}^{(3)} - GP_{-n-3}^{(3)} + (1+i)).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GP_{-2n+1}^{(3)} + 2GP_{-2n}^{(3)} + 1).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GP_{-2n}^{(3)} - GP_{-2n-1}^{(3)} + i).$

Taking $GW_n = GQ_n^{(3)}$ with $GQ_0^{(3)} = 3 - i$, $GQ_1^{(3)} = 2 + 3i$, $GQ_2^{(3)} = 6 + 2i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian third-order Pell-Lucas numbers.

Corollary 3.7 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian third-order Pell-Lucas numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GQ_{-n-1}^{(3)} - 2GQ_{-n-2}^{(3)} - GQ_{-n-3}^{(3)} + (-2+i))$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GQ_{-2n+1}^{(3)} + 2GQ_{-2n}^{(3)} + (-4+5i)).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GQ_{-2n}^{(3)} - GQ_{-2n-1}^{(3)} + (2-4i)).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of thirdorder modified Pell numbers (take $GW_n = GE_n^{(3)}$ with $GE_0^{(3)} = -i, GE_1^{(3)} = 1, GE_2^{(3)} = 1 + i$).

Corollary 3.8 For $n \ge 1$, third-order modified Pell numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GE_{-n-1}^{(3)} - 2GE_{-n-2}^{(3)} - GE_{-n-3}^{(3)} + 3i).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GE_{-2n+1}^{(3)} + 2GE_{-2n}^{(3)} + (1+2i)).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GE_{-2n}^{(3)} - GE_{-2n-1}^{(3)} + (-1+i)).$

Taking r = 0, s = 1, t = 1 in Theorem 3.1 (a) and (b), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.9 If r = 0, s = 1, t = 1 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = -2GW_{-n-1} - 2GW_{-n-2} - GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 + GW_1$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = -GW_{-2n+1} + GW_1$. (c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = -GW_{-2n} - GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2$. Taking $GW_n = GP_n$ with $GP_0 = 1, GP_1 = 1 + i, GP_2 = 1 + i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Padovan numbers.

Corollary 3.10 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Padovan numbers have the following properties. (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-k} = -2GP_{-n-1} - 2GP_{-n-2} - GP_{-n-3} + 2(1+i).$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-2k} = -GP_{-2n+1} + (1+i).$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GP_{-2k+1} = -GP_{-2n} - GP_{-2n-1} + (1+i)$. From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which presents linear sum formulas of Gaussian Perrin numbers (take $GW_n = GE_n$ with $GE_0 = 3 - i$, $GE_1 = 3i$, $GE_2 = 2$).

Corollary 3.11 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Perrin numbers have the following properties.

(a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-k} = -2GE_{-n-1} - 2GE_{-n-2} - GE_{-n-3} + (2+3i).$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-2k} = -GE_{-2n+1} + 3i$.

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GE_{-2k+1} = -GE_{-2n} - GE_{-2n-1} + 2.$

Taking $GW_n = GS_n$ with $GS_0 = i, GS_1 = 0, GS_2 = 1$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Padovan-Perrin numbers.

Corollary 3.12 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Padovan-Perrin numbers have the following properties.

(a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GS_{-k} = -2GS_{-n-1} - 2GS_{-n-2} - GS_{-n-3} + 1.$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GS_{-2k} = -GS_{-2n+1}$.

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GS_{-2k+1} = -GS_{-2n} - GS_{-2n-1} + 1.$

If r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 then (r + s + t - 1)(r - s + t + 1) = 0 so we can't use Theorem 3.1 (b) and (c). In other words, the method of the proof Theorem 3.1 (b) and (c) can't be used to find $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k}$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1}$. Therefore we need another method to find them which is given in the following Theorem.

Theorem 3.13 If r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3GW_{-n-1} 3GW_{-n-2} GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 + GW_1 GW_0).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = -GW_{-2n+1} + GW_{-2n} + (GW_1 GW_0) + (GW_2 GW_1 GW_0)n.$
- (c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GW_{-2n+1} 3GW_{-2n} GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1} + (GW_2 GW_1 + GW_0) + GW_{-2n-1}$ $2(-GW_2 + GW_1 + GW_0)n).$

Proof. (a) Taking r = 0, s = 2, t = 1 in Theorem 3.1 (a) we obtain (a).

(b) and (c): Proof can be done as in the proof of Theorem 2.13. Induction also can be used for the proof.

From the last Theorem, we have the following Corollary which gives sum formula of Gaussian Pell-Padovan numbers (take $GW_n = GR_n$ with $GR_0 = 1 - i$, $GR_1 = 1 + i$, $GR_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 3.14 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Pell-Padovan numbers have the following property:

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3R_{-n-1} 3R_{-n-2} R_{-n-3} + (1+3i)).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{-2k} = -R_{-2n+1} + R_{-2n} + 2i + (-1+i)n.$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (R_{-2n+1} - 3R_{-2n} - R_{-2n-1} + (1-i) + (2-2i)n).$

Taking $GW_n = GC_n$ with $GC_0 = 3 - 4i$, $GC_1 = 3i$, $GC_2 = 2$ in the last Theorem, we have the following Corollary which gives sum formulas of Gaussian Pell-Perrin numbers.

Corollary 3.15 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Pell-Perrin numbers have the following property:

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GC_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3GC_{-n-1} 3GC_{-n-2} GC_{-n-3} + (-1+7i)).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GC_{-2k} = -GC_{-2n+1} + GC_{-2n} + (-3+7i) + (-1+i)n.$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GC_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (GC_{-2n+1} - 3GC_{-2n} - GC_{-2n-1} + (5-7i) + (2-2i)n).$

Taking r = 0, s = 1, t = 2 in Theorem 3.1 (a) and (b), we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.16 If r = 0, s = 1, t = 2 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{1}{2} (-3GW_{-n-1} - 3GW_{-n-2} - 2GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 + GW_1)$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2}(-GW_{-2n+1} + GW_{1}).$$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (-GW_{-2n} - 2GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal-Padovan numbers (take $GW_n = GQ_n$ with $GQ_0 = 1$, $GQ_1 = 1 + i$, $GQ_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 3.17 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Jacobsthal-Padovan numbers have the following properties.

(a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-k} = \frac{1}{2}(-3GQ_{-n-1} - 3GQ_{-n-2} - 2GQ_{-n-3} + 2(1+i)).$ (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2}(-GQ_{-2n+1} + (1+i)).$ (c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GQ_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(-GQ_{-2n} - 2GQ_{-2n-1} + (1+i)).$

Taking $GW_n = GD_n$ with $GD_0 = 3 - \frac{1}{2}i$, $GD_1 = 3i$, $GD_2 = 2$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal-Perrin numbers.

Corollary 3.18 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Jacobsthal-Perrin numbers have the following properties.

(a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GD_{-k} = \frac{1}{2}(-3GD_{-n-1} - 3GD_{-n-2} - 2GD_{-n-3} + (2+3i)).$ (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GD_{-2k} = \frac{1}{2}(-GD_{-2n+1} + 3i).$ (c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GD_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2}(-GD_{-2n} - 2GD_{-2n-1} + 2).$

Taking r = 1, s = 0, t = 1 in Theorem 3.1, we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.19 If r = 1, s = 0, t = 1 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = -2GW_{-n-1} GW_{-n-2} GW_{-n-3} + GW_2$.
 - (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{1}{3}(-2GW_{-2n+1} + GW_{-2n} GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2 + GW_1 GW_0).$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{3}(-GW_{-2n+1} - GW_{-2n} - 2GW_{-2n-1} + 2GW_2 - GW_1 + GW_0).$

From the above Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Narayana numbers (take $GW_n = GN_n$ with $GN_0 = 0$, $GN_1 = 1$, $GN_2 = 1 + i$).

Corollary 3.20 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Narayana numbers have the following properties.

- (a) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} N_{-k} = -2N_{-n-1} N_{-n-2} N_{-n-3} + (1+i).$
- (b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} N_{-2k} = \frac{1}{3} (-2N_{-2n+1} + N_{-2n} N_{-2n-1} + (2+i)).$

(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} N_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{3}(-N_{-2n+1} - N_{-2n} - 2N_{-2n-1} + (1+2i)).$ Taking r = 1, s = 1, t = 2 in Theorem 3.1, we obtain the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.21 If r = 1, s = 1, t = 2 then for $n \ge 1$ we have the following formulas:

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-k} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GW_{-n-1} - 3GW_{-n-2} - 2GW_{-n-3} + GW_2 - GW_0)$$

(b)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k} = \frac{1}{3} (-GW_{-2n+1} + GW_{-2n} + GW_{1} - GW_{0}).$$

(c)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GW_{-2k+1} = \frac{1}{2} (-GW_{-2n} - 2GW_{-2n-1} + GW_2 - GW_1).$$

Taking $GW_n = GJ_n$ with $GJ_0 = 0$, $GJ_1 = 1$, $GJ_2 = 1 + i$ in the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal numbers.

Corollary 3.22 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Jacobsthal numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} GJ_{-k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-4GJ_{-n-1}^{(3)} - 3GJ_{-n-2}^{(3)} - 2GJ_{-n-3}^{(3)} + (1+i))$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GJ_{-2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GJ_{-2n+1}^{(3)} + GJ_{-2n}^{(3)} + 1).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} GJ_{-2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3} (-GJ_{-2n}^{(3)} - 2GJ_{-2n-1}^{(3)} + i).$

From the last Proposition, we have the following Corollary which gives linear sum formulas of Gaussian Jacobsthal-Lucas numbers (take $GW_n = Gj_n^{(3)}$ with $Gj_0^{(3)} = 2 + i$, $Gj_1^{(3)} = 1 + 2i$, $Gj_2^{(3)} = 5 + i$).

Corollary 3.23 For $n \ge 1$, Gaussian Jacobsthal-Lucas numbers have the following properties.

(a)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} Gj_{-k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(-4Gj_{-n-1}^{(3)} - 3Gj_{-n-2}^{(3)} - 2Gj_{-n-3}^{(3)} + 3).$$

(b) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} Gj_{-2k}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(-Gj_{-2n+1}^{(3)} + Gj_{-2n}^{(3)} + (-1+i)).$
(c) $\sum_{k=1}^{n} Gj_{-2k+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3}(-Gj_{-2n}^{(3)} - 2Gj_{-2n-1}^{(3)} + (4-i)).$

4. References

[1] Asci M., Gurel E., Gaussian Jacobsthal and Gaussian Jacobsthal Polynomials, Notes on Number Theory and Discrete Mathematics, Vol.19, pp.25-36, 2013.

[2] Berzsenyi, G., Gaussian Fibonacci Numbers, Fibonacci Quart., Vol.15(3), pp.233-236, 1977.

[3] Catarino, P., and Campos, H., A note on Gaussian Modified Pell numbers, Journal of Information & Optimization Sciences, Vol. 39, No. 6, pp. 1363–1371, 2018.

[4] Fraleigh, J.B., A First Course In Abstract Algebra, (2nd ed.), Addison-Wesley, Reading, ISBN 0-201-01984-1, 1976.

[5] E, Gurel., k-Order Gaussian Fibonacci and k-Order Gaussian Lucas Recurrence Relations, Ph.D Thesis, Pamukkale University Institute of Science Mathematics, Denizli, Turkey (2015).

[6] Halici, S., Öz, S., On some Gaussian Pell and Pell-Lucas numbers, Ordu University Science and Technology Journal, Vol.6(1), pp.8-18, 2016.

[7] Halici, S., Öz, S., On Gaussian Pell Polynomials and Their Some Properties, Palestine Journal of Mathematics, Vol 7(1), 251-256, 2018.

[8] Harman, C. J., Complex Fibonacci Numbers, Fibonacci Quart., Vol.19(1), pp. 82-86, 1981.

[9] Horadam, A. F., Complex Fibonacci Numbers and Fibonacci quaternions, Amer. Math. Monthly 70, 289–291, 1963.

[10] Jordan, J.H., Gaussian Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers, Fibonacci Quart., Vol.3, pp. 315-318, 1965.
[11] Pethe, S., Horadam A.F., Generalised Gaussian Fibonacci numbers, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., Vol.33, pp.37-48, 1986.

[12] Pethe, S., Horadam, A.F., Generalised Gaussian Lucas Primordial numbers, Fibonacci Quart., 20-30, 1988.

[13] Pethe, S., Some Identities for Tribonacci Sequences, The Fibonacci Quarterly, 26, 144-151, 1988.

[14] Soykan, Y., On Summing Formulas For Generalized Fibonacci and Gaussian Generalized Fibonacci Numbers, Advances in Research, 20(2), 1-15, 2019.

[15] Soykan, Y., Taşdemir, E., Okumuş, İ., Göcen, M., Gaussian Generalized Tribonacci Numbers, Journal of Progressive Research in Mathematics(JPRM), 14 (2), 2373-2387, 2018.

[16] Soykan, Y., Gaussian Generalized Tetranacci Numbers, Journal of Advances in Mathematics and Computer Science, 31(3): 1-21, Article no.JAMCS.48063, 2019.

[17] Soykan Y, On Generalized Pentanacci and Gaussian Generalized Pentanacci Numbers, Preprints 2019, 2019060110 (doi: 10.20944/preprints201906.0110.v1).

[18] Taşcı, D., Acar, H., Gaussian Tetranacci Numbers, Communications in Mathematics ans Applications, 8 (3), 379–386, 2017.

[19] Taşcı, D., Acar, H., Gaussian Padovan and Gaussian Pell-Padovan Numbers, Commun. Fac. Sci. Ank. Ser. A1 Math. Stat., Volume 67, Number 2, pp. 82-88, 2018.

[20] Yagmur, T., Karaaslan, N., Gaussian Modified Pell Sequence and Gaussian Modified Pell Polynomial, Aksaray University Journal of Science and Engineering, Volume 2, Issue 1, pp. 63-72, 2018.

Teaching Mathematics through coding and programming. Programming with students during math lessons.

Robert Kosova¹, Rinela Kapçiu², Fiona Teli², Oltiona Sula², Fatjona Bushi², Krisel Tola²

¹Mathematics. University "A. Moisiu". Durrës, Albania, ²Computer Science. University "A. Moisiu". Durrës, Albania, E-mail: robertko2000@gmail.com

Abstract

Mathematics has always been a traditional science. And, that will be always the case in the future. Algebra, Euclidean Geometry, Trigonometry, and all the classic definitions and theorems of mathematics will be always in our books and notebooks. Blackboard and chalk will be permanent elements of teaching, where math professors will write and prove math theorems, draw graphs, and solve problems. However, with the development of Information Technology, we are witnessing that many mathematical issues, problems, and calculations, are solved with the help of familiar programs like Java, C++, Python, etc. The first examples of computer programming to explore mathematics are found in the 1960s, (Feurzeig, 1969), although the most prominent pedagogical approach was proposed by Seymour Papert, [8]. He was the first to note that young people learn best when they are engaged in the construction of digital and/or physical artifacts that are personally meaningful to them and that can be shared with others (Papert, 1980). The use of software and applications will help students to understand and solve math problems, this applies especially to students who will become high school, math teachers. Starting from EXCEL, students can try to do simple tasks such as multiplication of matrices, solving algebraic equations, and others. Students can also write code and programs in Java, C++, Python, etc., to handle and solve problems of Discrete Mathematics, Number Theory courses, etc. They can generate Pythagorean triples, verify prime and perfect numbers, generate Ferma and Mersenne numbers, etc. The coding and programming, in addition to being a fascinating process in itself, will become even more fascinating when it comes to finding solutions and results, that will strengthen the knowledge of math concepts, aiding students and professors in working together for a better and more effective classroom.

Keywords. Mathematics, coding, teaching, programming, classroom.

1. Introduction

Information nowadays and, what interests us, scientific information as an important and very useful part of information also grows extremely fast. A big problem today is not with communication and acquaintance with the latest information, but with its evaluation, classification, evaluation of its usefulness, and its use. The school today, and as an important part of it, the mathematics and natural sciences programs, are under great pressure to recognize and evaluate the scientific information that is added every day. The use of information technology, computers, the internet, increasing the speed and amount of information has greatly increased the pressure on our school to find ways and to use this information effectively and to put it at the service of the process of teaching and education to students. How much part of this information and how

can it be used and included in our school curricula, to not only increase the knowledge acquired by students and teachers but also to help the acquisition of programs that are used in our schools, this is a challenge we face every day.

Our pre-university and university school programs will continue with materials and topics that have been known for centuries and that is right. Arithmetic, Algebra, Number Theory, Geometry, Trigonometry, etc., will continue to bring together the same topics, some of which have been around for centuries. Students need to learn basic knowledge of arithmetic, algebra; numbers, integers, properties of numbers, sets, numerical sets, operations with numbers, equations, inequalities, inequations, [6]. They need and will continue to learn fractions, properties, and operations with them, will continue to learn Euclidean geometry, straight lines, properties, angles, properties and relations of angles, triangles, they will continue with polygons, circles, they will learn many theorems and many wonderful proofs that have to do with their properties, [7].

School and university programs can not change so quickly and there is no need to change so quickly. The need and usefulness of classical mathematics will remain the same and necessary for the scientific and math education of pupils and students. The school will continue to successfully address and bring together classical knowledge and knowledge. What worries us most today is the daily practice of assessing pupils and students, by giving up theoretical knowledge, proofs, reasoning. Our school today values almost only information, and in this regard, the use of information technology seems to help. There is nothing wrong with using the well-known math solving applications, which helps solve equations, among other things, but the student should know the formula for calculating the roots of any algebraic equation, and especially the discussion of solutions, the number of roots according to the values of the discriminant. Information Technology tools provide information for everyone, and very easily, and this is very attractive to pupils and students, including especially the ease of obtaining information and solving problems. The lure of finding ready-made solutions and answers is immense, and in fact, this is happening rapidly today. High school students get a lot more information than 20 years ago, but, and this is disturbing, they know much less than 20 years ago, especially when it comes to theoretical knowledge, theorems, proofs and reasoning on formulas and operations, properties of functions, figures, etc. It seems that this "war" for students, for the education of students, a "war" that should not have been at all, is gained by formal memory, photography, plain information instead of true knowledge, theory, cognition, mathematical education, reasoning.

The problem is;

- How can we find out how we can use information technology, software, applications, the web, with the purpose to increase students' interest in science subjects, especially mathematics?
- How can we incorporate elements of information technology, software, applications, to engage more students in the teaching process?
- How can we make them feel better and more valued? How can we make them self-motivated to work and learn?
- How can we involve pupils and students to create in the learning process using software and applications?
- How can we make them improve themselves during the process of learning and creating?

2. Main results

There is a big difference in the reaction and attention of students' when they simply hear the new lessons from the teacher or the math professor and see the solution of problems or the proving theorems by him, in comparison to another way, when they participate by creating and becoming part of the new lessons. The use of software, applications, helps students solve math problems, this is more helpful for students who will become high school, math teachers. Software and applications that are associated with theoretical knowledge and explanations about what they do are also more useful to them. Such software and applications help students to read and understand better. There are plenty of such applications for number theory, statistics, discrete mathematics, etc. But, more than knowing and using applications and computer software, creating codes and programming during the process of learning is much more valuable and most useful than the execution of software and applications, [7].

This because;

- The process of coding and creating applications and programs is the same as solving mathematical problems,
- During coding and programming students repeat all the information they need to solve math problems,
- Instead of the "boring" formulas of mathematics and the "boring" process of teaching mathematics to prove, calculate, reason, they have an "interesting" challenge, that of creation,
- Young people respond very well to almost personal challenges, the desire to create is a personal challenge and success is personal.
- Pupils, students do not have the teacher to correct them and advise what to do next, it is the coding and programming process itself that does this and the application that suggests where they made a mistake and what the mistake is, this is a very objective assessment.
- Coding to help solve math problems is a unique learning experience for students. In this type of class, when possible, students engage in solving exercises and problems while learning math as well as programming.
- When a student writes code, the student is practically "learning" the computer how to complete a task and uses the entire normal process of solving the exercise and programming. This puts him in an active, engaged, and positive position.
- When students write in code to solve an exercise or problem, they immediately see if the program they have created is successful or not. Thus they become self-teachers and become self-correctors. This is better than being evaluated in the process by the teacher, whether they are wrong or not. This puts them in a new position and encourages them more to want to succeed because the process and the result are a purely personal challenge or a group challenge and they are interested in success. Instead of asking students what they have learned and read, we;
- We ask them to create a working group and start problem-solving projects through coding and programming; we know all the benefits of working groups and projects and creating together, as a very useful and effective process.
- Students will immediately begin to deal with the problems, to understand them as they need to start the codes. This is a much more effective process than reading the same math material for knowledge purposes, or because they may be asked in class.
- The process of writing code is a process towards perfection, better understanding, and finding the best solutions, and most optimally, the challenge is not only the solution but also the most effective solution

that uses less time to be realized. We will see a realization of the "Polya" method of solving the program problem.

- During the process, students will have to repeat the correction process many times to make their code work properly and will do so on their own, without the need for encouragement from teachers, professors.
- They will seek help from the professors when needed, they will also seek out math and computer forums online, and collaborate with other groups.
- Teaching students how to solve a math problem and how to spot errors in their code and improve it follows the same method as solving a math problem, which we know very well from Polya. This is a very educational process.
- While many students lack the desire to solve problems or prove mathematical theorems during a traditional way of teaching, on the blackboard, when asked during math lessons, they will be more likely to ask themselves and seek to solve their own mistakes. them.
- Instead of a "boring" class and math class they already have a challenging and interesting class called "code and math".

3. Examples- Case studies

We have monitored three Bachelor MI (Mathematics and Informatics) classes and one Master MI class, with the purpose to evaluate and promote the use of Information Technology, coding and programming and, to help students have a different approach to learning math. At the same time, we have encouraged students as future high school teachers to have a better evaluation and understanding attitude towards IT knowledge and practices. There are a total of 100 students of the bachelor program and 45 students of the master program to conduct this study.

The University of Durres was founded in 2006, it has about 14,000 students, 5 Faculties, and many bachelor and master programs. Among the faculties, the Faculty of IT has 5 bachelor programs and 3 master programs.

The main programs in the Bachelor are;

Computer Science, CS,

Information Technology, IS,

Information systems, IS,

Mathematics and Informatics, MI,

Informatics and English, IE.

The MI program, which is a program of the Math Department, graduates students who continue their master's degree in MI. The purpose of the MI master program is the education of students and their preparation as future teachers of high school teachers of Mathematics and IT. We believe that our graduate students will succeed as future math teachers, the bachelor study program best meets the needs of math teachers for high schools. Three years of a bachelor program and two years of master program are enough for future math teachers, the problem is that they lack the knowledge and proper training to become successful IT teachers. Their knowledge about MS Office, IT basics, coding, programming is very weak and this problem is becoming more serious with the years to come and go.

We are witnessing that most graduated high school students have a very poor Informatics education.

The problem consists mostly of the Informatics teachers, poor laboratory equipment, as we think that there are very good IT textbooks which contain more than basics of Microsoft Office, introduction to programming, programming languages, such as C ++, Java, and even Java Script.

The solution is the improvement of teaching in IT high school, better laboratories, and more qualified teachers. Most of the solutions start from University; with the education of students to become future teachers.

The MI bachelor program of our Math Department contains some important courses of IT such as; Introduction to programming, Web programming, Programming languages C++, Java, etc.

Among math courses, some important courses are; Algebra, Math Analyses, Discrete mathematics, Number Theory, Probability and Statistics, Combinatorics, etc.

The best math courses to "get into coding are"

- 1. Number theory, with topics;
- Find divisions of any integer,
- Verify primes, find prime numbers, the perfect number, abundant and deficient numbers,
- Convert positive integers in any numeric system,
- Application of Euclid Algorithm,
- Solve linear Diophantine equations, find several solutions,
- Generate triple Pythagorean numbers, Generate Fermat numbers,
- Generate Mersenne numbers, verify if they are prime,
- 2. Probability and Statistics, with topics;
- Calculate probability for any probability distributions,
- Evaluating intervals, testing hypothesis, etc.,
- Statistic data, numerical parameters, create classes, create histograms, etc.,
- Graphics, linear regressions, quadratic, exponential, etc.,
- 3. Combinatorics; with topics;
- Calculate factorials, formulas,
- Graphs, etc.,
- 4. Discrete Math, with topics;
- Logic, sets, integers,
- Congruences, etc.

Microsoft Office- Excel logical functions for Algebra.

Microsoft Office- Excel has good use of logical statements. There are some logical functions used in Microsoft- Excel, some of these are: if, count if, and, or, etc. The program verifies the fulfillment of a condition, if the condition is met then the cell receives a value that we give it to ourselves, otherwise, it receives another value.

Students were asked to build a multiple-choice test, for the use of any math topics that they are learning. It is not difficult to convert a normal test to a multiple-choice test, this can be done working together with students. The column of correct answers as well as the column of students' answers can be "hidden" on another worksheet, and they are to be discovered after students have finished the test. Both columns of answers and the result are made known to the students immediately, after the test, making an easy and very fast and transparent process, table 1.

Tuble 1. 11 multiple choice test, with the result.													
	Alt	erna	tives			Answers	Answers	Comparison					
Questions	Α	В	C D E		Right	Student	Values						
1	Α	В	С	D	Е	С	С	10					
2	Α	В	С	D	Е	В	В	10					
3	Α	В	С	D	Е	С	С	10					
4	Α	В	С	D	Е	С	С	10					
5	Α	В	С	D	Е	С	С	10					
6	Α	В	С	D	Е	E	А	0					
7	Α	В	С	D	Е	D	В	0					
8	Α	В	С	D	Е	В	В	10					
9	Α	В	С	D	Е	А	D	0					
10	А	В	С	D	E	Е	Е	10					
							Result	70%					

Table 1. A multiple-choice test, with the result.

There are many other topics and problems from Algebra that can be covered by the use of software and applications. Some problems that can be addressed in Excel to learn Algebra and Excel, such as; solving algebraic equations, doing matrix multiplication, verify if a matrix is singular or not, calculating the determinant of matrices, finding the inverse of a nonsingular square matrix, table 2.

Table 2, Matrix, the inverse, and multiplication.

	A =1 A (-1)						A*A	(-1)			A (-1) *A					
	1	2	3			1	2	2		1	2	3		1	2	3
1	3	5	0		1	2	-5	5	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
2	1	2	1		2	-1	3	-3	2	0	1	0	2	0	1	0
3	0	0	1		3	0	0	1	3	0	0	1	3	0	0	1

Microsoft Office- Excel and Number Theory. Perfect, abundant, and deficient numbers:

The concept of perfect number is connected with the concept of the divisors of an integer.

Definition: A positive integer a is a proper divisor of n if a is a divisor of n and a<n.

So the only "improper" divisor of a number is the number itself; all other divisors are proper. We'll write P(n) for the sum of all the proper divisors of the number n.

Example: P(12)=16, because the proper divisors of 12 are 1, 2,3,4,6, P(12)=1+2+3+4+6=16.

If P(n) > n, then n is called an abundant number.

If P(n) < n, then n is called a deficient number.

If P(n) = n, then n is called a perfect number.

It is not difficult to find all the divisors of a positive integer using Excel and counting them, but C++, Java is better to work. And, there are many software and applications to do that.

Generation of Pythagorean triples: $c^2 = a^2 + b^2$, $a, b, c \in N$.

The generation of Pythagorean triples is made by the Euclid formula. We choose a pair of integers m, n with m > n > 0. Then, the integers $a = m^2 - n^2, b = 2mn, c = m^2 + n^2$ form a pythagoren triple. Generation of Ferma, Mersenne numbers; $c = 2^{2^n} + 1$, $c = 2^n - 1$, and verifying if they are prime. All the programs were written in C++ or Java.

Generate Fibonacci, Lukas sequences:

The Fibonacci sequence starts with two first numbers 1 and 1. The recurrent formula for the Fibonacci sequence is;

 $F_1 = 1, F_2 = 1, F_n = F_{n-2} + F_{n-1}, n \ge 3$

The first 15 numbers in the Fibonacci sequence are;

1, 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 13, 21, 34, 55, 89, 144, 233, 377, 610,

Lukas sequence starts with two first numbers 1 and 3. The recurrent formula for the Lukas sequence is;

 $L_0 = 1, L_1 = 3, L_n = L_{n-2} + L_{n-1}, n \ge 3$

The first 15 numbers in the Lukas sequence are;

1, 3, 4, 7, 11, 18, 29, 47, 76, 123, 199, 322, 521, 843, 1364.

Table 3.	Fibonacci,	Lukas,	with	Excel

NR	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
F	1	1	2	3	5	8	13	21	34	55	89	144	233	377	610
L	1	3	4	7	11	18	29	47	76	123	199	322	521	843	1364

Statistics:

It is very simple and easy for Excel to build graphs, frequency histograms, etc. There are many statistical functions to do such as calculation of probabilities for different probabilistic distributions such as Binomial, Poisson, Normal, etc. Other useful tasks to do with excel are; a complete analysis of descriptive statistics, calculation of various statistical tests, etc.

One task performed by the students is to write a numerical sequence as statistical data and;

count the number of values,

count the number of values, on some condition,

find all the statistical parameters such as min, max, mode, median, mean,

find quartiles, interquartile range, variance,

divide the data into several classes or groups,

find the frequency of each class, the modal class, the average according to the classes, etc.

All these tasks have been very well completed by the students, learning statistics and Excel, together.

4. Conclusions

- We may say, everything can be programmed, coded, especially math problems.
- Theoretical mathematics, definitions in mathematics, theorems, proofs, etc., starting with Euclid, Pythagoras, Thales, are necessary to be learned by students, as part of their mathematical education.
- While proving theorems will remain a permanent task of mathematical education, much can be done by using IT, applications, software, such as those mentioned above.

- For simple things, we can use Office-Excel, especially for statistical studies.
- For more complex problems, such as number theory, discrete mathematics, etc., we can use programming languages, such as C ++, Java, etc.
- The attitude of the students changes completely when it comes to the realization of projects on the topics mentioned above. They are much more very interested, engaged, and cooperative.
- The process will help them not only to learn to program, it will help them to use math formulas, definitions, concepts. It will help them teach and promote IT for their future pupils.

5. References

[1] Agalianos, Angelos & Whitty, Geoff & Noss, Richard. (2006). The Social Shaping of Logo. Social Studies of Science - SOC STUD SCI. 36. 241-267. 10.1177/0306312706053809.

[2] Barak, M., & Assal, M. (2018). Robotics and STEM learning: Students' achievements in assignments according to the P3 Task Taxonomy—practice, problem-solving, and projects. International Journal of Technology and Design Education, 28(1), 121–144. DOI: 10.1007/s10798-016-9385-9.

[3] Chris Bartlo: "How Programming Supports Math Class, Not the Other Way Around". Going Back to School. The 2016 EdSurge Fifty States Project by Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. May 31, 2016.

[4] Holmes, Kathryn & Prieto-Rodriguez, Elena & Hickmott, Daniel & Berger, Nathan. (2018). Using coding to teach mathematics: Results of a pilot project.

[5] Humble, N., Mozelius, P. and Sällvin, L. (2020), "Remaking and reinforcing mathematics and technology with programming – teacher perceptions of challenges, opportunities and tools in K-12 settings", International Journal of Information and Learning Technology, Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJILT-02-2020-0021

[6] Jeanine Meyer, Marty Lewinter." Elementary Number Theory with Programming. ISBN-10: 1119062674.

[7] Kurland, D.M., Pea, R.D., Clement, C., & Mawby, R. (1989). The study of the development of programming ability and thinking skills in high school students. In E. Soloway & J.C. Spohrer (Eds.), Studying the novice programmer, pp. 83-112. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

[8] Papert, S. (1993). Mindstorms: Children, computers, and powerful ideas. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Publishing.

[9] Repenning, A., Webb, D., and Ioannidou, A. 2010. Scalable game design and the development of a checklist for getting computational thinking into public schools. SIGCSE '10. (March 2010), 265-269.

[10] Seymour Papert (1972) Teaching Children Thinking, Programmed Learning and Educational Technology, 9:5, 245-255, DOI: 10.1080/1355800720090503

[11] Wing, J. 2006. Computational thinking. CACM vol. 49, no, 3. March 2006, pp. 33-36.

The Bounds for the Length Between Dirichlet and the Semi-Periodic Eigenvalues of Hill's Equation with Symmetric Single Well Potential

Elif Başkaya¹

¹Mathematics, Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey, E-mail: elifbekar@ktu.edu.tr

Abstract

In this paper, the length between Dirichlet and the semi-periodic eigenvalues is estimated for Hill's equation with continuous and periodic potential. The potential is also symmetric to the midpoint and nonincreasing on the first half of the related interval. This function is known as symmetric single well potential in quantum mechanics.

1. Introduction

We are interested in the following equation:

$$\mathbf{y}''(\mathbf{t}) + \left[\lambda - \mathbf{q}(\mathbf{t})\right] \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{t}) = \mathbf{0}, \tag{1.1}$$

where $t \in [0,a]$, λ is a real parameter, q(t) is a real-valued, continuous and periodic function with period a. This equation is called as Hill's equation or one-dimensional Schrödinger equation. If we take Equation (1.1) with boundary conditions y(0) = y(a) and y'(0) = y'(a), this is periodic problem and we show the eigenvalues of this problem by $\{\lambda_n\}$. If we take Equation (1.1) with boundary conditions y(0) = -y(a) and y'(0) = -y'(a), this is semi-periodic problem or anti-periodic problem and we show the eigenvalues of this problem by $\{\mu_n\}$. Equation (1.1) with boundary conditions y(0) = y(a) = 0 is known by Dirichlet boundary value problem with eigenvalues $\{\Lambda_n\}$ and Equation (1.1) with boundary conditions y'(0) = y'(a) = 0 is known by Neumann boundary value problem with eigenvalues $\{\nu_n\}$.

We have the relationship between eigenvalues of Hill's equation proven by [4] as following:

$$-\infty < \lambda_0 < \mu_0 \le \mu_1 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 < \mu_2 \le \mu_3 < \cdots$$

and for n = 0, 1, 2, ...

$$\mu_{2n} \le \Lambda_{2n} \le \mu_{2n+1}, \qquad \lambda_{2n+1} \le \Lambda_{2n+2}, \tag{1.2}$$

 $\mu_{2n} \le \nu_{2n+l} \le \mu_{2n+l}, \qquad \lambda_{2n+l} \le \nu_{2n+2} \le \lambda_{2n+2}.$

Also, we emphasize that for $\lambda \in (\lambda_{2n}, \mu_{2n}) \cup (\mu_{2n+1}, \lambda_{2n+1})$, all solutions of Hill's equation are bounded in $(-\infty, +\infty)$; and for $\lambda \in (-\infty, \lambda_0) \cup (\mu_{2n}, \mu_{2n+1}) \cup (\lambda_{2n+1}, \lambda_{2n+2})$, all nontrivial solutions of Hill's equation are unbounded in $(-\infty, +\infty)$.

Hydrogen bonding is a fundamental aspect of chemical structure and reactivity. Is a hydrogen bond symmetric (single-well potential) or asymmetric (double-well potential)? It is a key to understanding the structure and properties of water, proteins, DNA, and it is currently of interest for designing systems that exhibit molecular recognition. Hydrogen bonds are usually thought to arise from electrostatic attraction between an O-H (or N-H or H-F) dipole and the electron density on a nearby O (or N or F). Hydrogen bonds may have extra stabilization, often viewed as arising from a covalent character, if the two contributing resonance forms, $O-H\cdots O^-$ and $O^-\cdots H-O$, are of equal or nearly equal energy. This is more likely if the two donor atoms have the same basicity (matched pK_a values) and if the hydrogen is centered between them. Indeed, symmetric hydrogen bonds seem to be stronger than asymmetric ones [9]. Besides, especially in recent years, since quantum mechanic has gained importance, there are a lot of studies on eigenvalues of these equations represent excitation energy and eigenfunctions are named as wavefunction in physics. Instability intervals for Hill's equation with symmetric single well potential have been investigated by many authors. Some important studies of them are [1,2,3,6,7,8]. Especially, we refer to [7] includes the bound for $\Lambda_0 - \lambda_0$.

In this study, the length between Dirichlet and the semi-periodic eigenvalues is estimated for Hill's equation with continuous and periodic potential. The potential is also symmetric to the midpoint and nonincreasing on the first half of the related interval. This function is known as symmetric single well potential in quantum mechanics. We remark that a symmetric single well potential on [0,a] means a continuous function q(t) on [0,a] which is symmetric about t=a/2 and non-increasing on [0,a/2], so we have q(t) = q(a-t), mathematically.

2. Main Results

Before giving main result, we note that q'(t) exists since a monotone function on an interval I is differentiable almost everywhere on I [5]. Our analysis is based on the following theorem of [3]:

The periodic and semi-periodic eigenvalues of Equation (1) satisfy, as

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_{2n+1}^{1/2} &= \frac{2(n+1)\pi}{a} \mp \frac{a}{8(n+1)^2 \pi^2} \left| \int_{0}^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a^2}{64(n+1)^3 \pi^3} \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_{0}^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_{0}^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-3}) \end{aligned}$$
(2.1)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mu_{2n}^{1/2}}{\mu_{2n+1}^{1/2}} &= \frac{(2n+1)\pi}{a} \mp \frac{a}{2(2n+1)^2 \pi^2} \left| \int_{0}^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a^2}{8(2n+1)^3 \pi^3} \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_{0}^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_{0}^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-3}). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.2)$$

The purpose of this study is to prove the following theorems:

Theorem: Let q(t) be a symmetric single well potential on [0,a]. Then, the bounds for the length between Dirichlet and the semi-periodic eigenvalues, as $n \rightarrow \infty$

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} &\geq \frac{(4n+3)\pi^2}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2(n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{(2n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a}{4\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \right] \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_0^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_0^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-2}) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} &\leq \frac{(4n+3)\pi^2}{a^2} + \frac{1}{2(n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{(2n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a}{4\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \right] \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_0^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_0^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-2}). \end{split}$$

Proof of Theorem: Firstly, if we take the squares of the eigenvalues in Equation (2.1) and Equation (2.2) asymptotically, we find that

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{2n+1} &= \frac{4(n+1)^2 \pi^2}{a^2} \mp \frac{1}{2(n+1)\pi} \bigg|_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin \bigg[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a} t \bigg] dt \bigg| \\ &- \frac{a}{16(n+1)^2 \pi^2} \bigg[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_0^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_0^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \bigg] \\ &+ o(n^{-2}) \end{split}$$
(2.3)

and

$$\begin{split} & \mu_{2n} = \frac{\left(2n+1\right)^2 \pi^2}{a^2} \mp \frac{1}{\left(2n+1\right)\pi} \left| \int_{0}^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ & -\frac{a}{4(2n+1)^2 \pi^2} \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_{0}^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_{0}^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ & + o(n^{-2}). \end{split}$$

$$(2.4)$$

By Equation (1.2), we obtain the bounds for $\Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1}$ that

$$\lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} \le \Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} \le \lambda_{2n+2} - \mu_{2n+1}.$$
(2.5)

By using Equation (2.3) and Equation (2.4), we calculate the upper bound for $\Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1}$ as following:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{2n+2} - \mu_{2n+1} &= \frac{(4n+3)\pi^2}{a^2} + \frac{1}{2(n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{(2n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a}{4\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \right] \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_0^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_0^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-2}). \end{split}$$
(2.6)

Similarly, by using Equation (2.3) and Equation (2.4), we calculate the lower bound for $\Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1}$ as following:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} &= \frac{(4n+3)\pi^2}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2(n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{4(n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{1}{(2n+1)\pi} \left| \int_0^{a/2} q'(t) \sin\left[\frac{2(2n+1)\pi}{a}t\right] dt \right| \\ &- \frac{a}{4\pi^2} \left[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \right] \left[aq^2(a) + 2a \int_0^{a/2} q(t)q'(t) dt - 4 \int_0^{a/2} tq(t)q'(t) dt \right] \\ &+ o(n^{-2}). \end{split}$$
(2.7)

Hence, Equation (2.5), Equation (2.6) and Equation (2.7) prove the theorem.

Example: The following eigenvalue problem is known as anharmonic oscillator

$$-\mathbf{y}''(\mathbf{x}) + \mathbf{q}(\mathbf{x})\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in [0, \pi)$$

where $q(x) = \frac{1}{4}\left(x - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)^4 + \frac{1}{2}\left(x - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)^2$ and extended by periodicity. Since q(x) has mean value zero in the reference theorem from [3], q(x) can taken as follows:

$$q(x) = \frac{1}{4} \left(x - \frac{\pi}{2} \right)^4 + \frac{1}{2} \left(x - \frac{\pi}{2} \right)^2 - \frac{\pi^4}{320} - \frac{\pi^2}{24}.$$

In this case, by calculating integral terms in our theorem, we get as $n \rightarrow \infty$

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} &\geq (4n+3) \\ &- \frac{1}{128(n+1)^4} \Big\{ 2 \Big[(\pi^2 + 4)n(n+2) + \pi^2 \Big] + 5 \Big\} \\ &- \frac{1}{16(2n+1)^4} \Big\{ 4 \big(\pi^2 + 4 \big)n(n+1) + \pi^2 - 2 \Big\} \\ &- \frac{1}{16(2n+1)^4} \Big[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \Big] \frac{\pi^5}{6451200} \Big(112\pi^4 + 1920\pi^2 + 8960 \Big) \\ &+ o \Big(n^{-2} \Big) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{2n+1} - \mu_{2n+1} &\leq (4n+3) \\ &+ \frac{1}{128(n+1)^4} \Big\{ 2 \Big[(\pi^2 + 4)n(n+2) + \pi^2 \Big] + 5 \Big\} \\ &- \frac{1}{16(2n+1)^4} \Big\{ 4 \big(\pi^2 + 4 \big)n(n+1) + \pi^2 - 2 \Big\} \\ &- \frac{1}{16(2n+1)^4} \Big[\frac{1}{4(n+1)^2} - \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} \Big] \frac{\pi^5}{6451200} \Big(112\pi^4 + 1920\pi^2 + 8960 \Big) \\ &+ o \Big(n^{-2} \Big) \end{split}$$

3. References

- M. Ashbaugh and R. Benguria, "Optimal lower bound for the gap between the first two eigenvalues of one-dimensional Schrödinger operators with symmetric single-well potentials and related results", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 105(2), 419-424, 1989.
- [2] D.- Y. Chen and M.- J. Huang, "Comparison theorems for the eigenvalue gap of Schrödinger operators on the real line", Ann. Henri Poincare, 13, 85-101, 2012.
- [3] H. Coşkun, E. Başkaya and A. Kabataş, "Instability intervals for Hill's equation with symmetric single well potential", Ukr. Mat. J., 71 (6), 977-983, 2019.
- [4] M. S. P. Eastham, The spectral theory of periodic differential equations. Scottish Academic Press, Edinburgh and London, 1973, ch 2 and 3.
- [5] N. B. Haaser and J. A. Sullivian, Real Analysis, Dover Publications, Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, 1991.
- [6] M. Horvath, "On the first two eigenvalues of Sturm-Liouville Operators", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 131 (4), 1215-1224, 2002.

- [7] M.- J. Huang, "The first instability interval for Hill equations with symmetric single-well potentials", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 125 (3), 775-778, 1997.
- [8] M.- J. Huang and T.- M. Tsai, "The eigenvalue gap for one-dimensional Schrödinger operators with symmetric potentials", Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburg, 139A, 359-366, 2009.
- [9] C. L. Perrin and J. B. Nielson, "Asymmetry of Hydrogen Bonds in Solutions of Monoanions of Dicarboxylic Acids", J. Am. Chem. Soc., 119, 12734-12741, 1997.

The evaluation of online teaching performance in high education using Google Classroom platform : A Fuzzy AHP method.

Phd. Daniela Halidini Qendraj¹, Phd. Evgjeni Xhafaj²

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Information Technology, University "Aleksander Moisiu" Durres, Albania. ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania. E-mails: daniela_qendraj@hotmail.com, genaxhafa@yahoo.com

Abstract

The emergence of the Pandemic Covid-19 caused to the education system the transition from classroom learning to online learning almost all over the globe. One of the main difficulties was the learning and using of a platform by lecturer and students. Google classroom was one of the platforms adapted very quickly. Through the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology 2 (UTAUT2) we have evaluated five criteria out of eight in total, relating to performance and use of this new technology for students of mathematics courses at the "Alexander Moisiu" University Durres Albania. The main criteria are considered Performance Expectancy (PE), Social influence (SI), Habit (HT), Behavioral Intention (BI), and Use Behavior (UB). Each of these criteria has their sub-criteria: PE1, PE2, PE3, PE4, SI1, SI2, SI3, HT1, HT2, HT3, HT4, BI1, BI2, BI3 UB1, UB2. The method used to evaluate the most important criteria and their sub-criteria is Fuzzy AHP with trapezoidal fuzzy numbers. The students answered the survey after completing the course study and passing the exam. According to the study results, the most important criterion was Performance Expectancy followed by Behavioral Intention, Social Influence, then Habit, and the last Use Behavior. Regarding the sub-criteria the most important were PE4, BI2, SI3, HT2 and UB1. These results help students and lecturers to orient themselves towards online learning and to improve this teaching method.

Keywords: Google Classroom, Fuzzy AHP, trapezoidal fuzzy numbers, online learning.

1. Introduction

Taking trigger from the situation caused by the Covid-19 virus all around the globe, the high education system had to pass from traditional auditorium learning to online learning. The biggest difficulty was in implementing a digital platform in such a way that lecturers and students could interact during the online learning. A digital platform adapted very quickly was Google Classroom. It's a free web service developed by Google for teachers/lecturer and students/pupil, and has the primary purpose to streamline the process of sharing files between them. This platform was easy to navigate because many people are familiar with Google layout, and according to students there are a lot of means to access Google Classroom. Android, Smartphone and Personal computer are some of the ways to access online learning. The use of Google Classroom in learning does not need to be complicated in installation. Besides that, Google Classroom can be used free of charge by anyone with an internet network (1). There is an ongoing debate about optimal ways to teach mathematics for students (2). On the one hand are the students who can't understand the new knowledge and even do some exercises themselves.

In addition there are some other online application platforms used in several studies about the unified theory for acceptance and use of technology 2 (UTAUT2). The theory UTAUT2 has eight constructs (also named by us as the criteria) related to the use and the acceptance of a new technology that are: Performance Expectancy, Effort Expectancy, Social Influence, Facilitating Conditions, Hedonic Motivations, Habit, Behavioral Intention, and Use Behavior referring Venkatesh et al (3), (4). We will specify only five criteria. Performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which using a technology will provide benefits to students to perform certain activities. Social Influence is defined as the student's perceive that important others so family or friends, believe they should use a particular technology. Habit is defined as the extent to which people tend to perform behaviors automatically because of learning (5),(6). Behavioral Intention is defined as the degree to which a person has formulated conscious plans to perform or not perform some specified future behavior (7), (8). Use behavior is defined from the subsequent effects of habit and others, but mostly from the effect of behavioral intention (4).

Some of the articles that have studied UTAUT2 theory for online education are: T.H Tseng studied the number of the massive open online courses (MOOCs) to investigate the drivers of teachers' acceptance and use of MOOCs from the perspective of the extended unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT2) (9). Ashwin Mehta et al in their study integrate values with technology adoption models and applied the novel conceptual model to the context of digital education (10). Marko Radovan examined the acceptance and use of learning management systems (LMS) among higher-education teachers and the relation between their use of such systems and their teaching approaches in the context of online learning, following the community of inquiry (CoI) framework (11). Silvana Dakduk evaluates the factors involved in the acceptance of Blended Learning through UTAUT2, and showed that hedonic motivation, performance expectancy, and effort expectancy predict the intention to adopt Blended Learning (12). Mateus Martins studied the acceptance of e-books by identifying the effects of the variables Performance Expectancy, Effort Expectancy, Social Influence, Facilitating Conditions, Habit, Price Value, and Hedonic Motivation, moderated by Age, Gender and Experience on the intention of use and actual use of this technology (13). Shuiqing Yang showed an adoption model that reflects the determinants of undergraduate students' mobile learning acceptance in a consumer context. The results indicated that hedonic motivation, performance expectancy, social influence, and price value positively affect students' mobile learning adoption (14).

But there are fewer studies in the field of decision making problems to estimate better the importance of each of these constructs and which of them according to students, is thought to be the most effective for the online learning. One of the most used method in decision making is Analytic Hierarchic Process known as the AHP developed by Thomas Saaty (15), (16). Saaty introduced AHP to solve real life problems in decision making, but to deal with uncertainty in complex problems and multi criteria decision making (MCDM), AHP is combined with fuzzy logic by applying fuzzy set of Zadeh (17), called as the Fuzzy AHP (FAHP). In some articles dealing with the learning management systems (LMS) with Fuzzy AHP are used the triangular fuzzy numbers. Ali Hakan Işık used the Fuzzy AHP (FAHP) to determine the suitable LMS for the e-learning environment (18). Yasemin A. Turker showed that the decision making and selection process is crucial, because LMS functions are different from each other, and they all have various features. Because of this, in her study, it was targeted to help and facilitate the decision-making process of LMS for institutions (19).

The main purpose of this study is to evaluate the performance and the use of Google Classroom into the higher education, during the online learning caused from COVID-19 for the students of "Alexander"
Moisiu" University Durres. We apply the UTAUT2 theory in forms of a survey for the students of bachelor studies in the mathematical courses. We have take into consider only five constructs from eight of the UTAUT2: Performance Expectancy (PE), Social influence (SI), Habit (HT), Behavioral Intention (BI), and Use Behavior (UB). In order to estimate which of them are more important, we use Fuzzy AHP to rank these criteria. Each of the criteria has their sub-criteria. The survey is developed for about 200 students, after doing online lectures and done the exams in the auditor of the university. The full survey with the criteria and their sub-criteria is as follows:

Criteria/Sub-criteria

Performance Expectancy (PE)

1. I find Google Classroom useful in this course of math. (PE1)

2. Using Google Classroom enables me to achieve course related tasks more quickly. (PE2)

3. Using Google Classroom increases my learning productivity. (PE₃)

4. If I use Google Classroom, I will increase my chances of passing the course. (PE4)

Social Influence (SI)

1.My friends who are important to me think that I should participate in Google Classroom.(SI1)

2. My peers who influence my behaviour think that I should use Google Classroom.(SI₂)

3. Other people whose opinions I value prefer that I use Google Classroom. (SI₃)

Habit (HT)

1. Using Google Classroom has become a habit for me. (HT₁)

2. Using Google Classroom has become natural to me. (HT₂)

3. Using Google Classroom is addictive. (HT₃)

4. I feel that I must use Google Classroom. (HT₄)

Behavioural Intention (BI)

1. I intend to continue using Google Classroom in the future. (BI₁)

2. It is worth to recommend the Google Classroom for other students. (BI₂)

3. I plan to continue to use Google Classroom frequently. (BI₃)

Use Behaviour (UB)

1. I use Google Classroom for writing quizzes and submitting assignments behaviour .(UB1)

2. I use Google Classroom to interact with online materials, peers and instructor. (UB₂)

Additionally another aim for this paper is to find the rank of the sub-criteria related to each of their criteria, therefore from the most important one to the last important applying Fuzzy AHP method. This method has its complex steps to be applied for every decision making problem with fuzzy numbers. The diagram below shows the steps for applying FAHP with trapezoidal fuzzy numbers (TPFN).

Proposed framework



Figure 1. Steps for FAHP with TPFN

2. Materials and Methods

Data collections

The data used for this study were collected from about 200 students of mathematics courses following bachelor degree from Alexander Moisiu University, age from 18-21 years old. For this purpose is developed an online survey based in the model UTAUT2 by Venkatesh et.al (5), (20). By practicing the model with the 5 criteria PE, SI, HT, BI, and UB of UTAUT2 theory, in our survey for these students we give them the options to answer on a 1-5 likert scale. In order to estimate if acceptance or use of Google Classroom had affected them or not, we choose the response options 1-5 likert scale that are as follows: 1-Strongly disagree, 2-Disagree, 3- Nor agree or disagree, 4-Agree, 5- Strongly Agree. Students were chosen from mathematic courses in various Bachelor degree studies, and completed the online survey after studying their subject and done the exam. In this way they used the Google Classroom platform, and were able to answer immediately.

According to their responses related with our criteria and sub-criteria, we have applied FAHP with its main purpose to rank them. The evaluations for the sub-criteria are considered with respect to their importance related to each of the criteria, so from the 4 sub-criteria PE1, PE2, PE3, PE4 we ranked them compared to their importance related with the criteria Performance Expectancy, and so on for all the others. The reason that we choose trapezoidal fuzzy numbers for AHP is because they are usually adopted to deal with the vagueness of decisions related to the performance of the sub-criteria in respect to each criterion. So a trapezoidal fuzzy number can deal with more general situations described by linguistic variables (21). In figure 2 is shown the hierarchy structure of the survey.



Figure 2. The hierarchy structure of the survey

Method : Fuzzy AHP with trapezoidal fuzzy numbers

The fuzzy numbers represent in the real line the fuzzy sets (22). Using the trapezoidal fuzzy numbers is so convenient to express the vagueness and uncertainty. In our study the linguistic variables are used to describe the decision makers judgments by expressing them as trapezoidal fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy set introduced by Zadeh (17) extended the AHP into the fuzzy environment as the Fuzzy AHP (FAHP). In order to construct a decision matrix the decision maker has to do $\frac{n(n-1)}{2}$ comparisons for a level with n-criteria. Firslty is the construction of the decision matrix based on the Saaty scale for the importance with the crisp numbers 1,...,9. So the first condition to start AHP (also the Fuzzy AHP) is the consistency index of the decision matrix IC to be less than 0.1 ($IC \le 0.1$). After that all the crisp numbers are converted into trapezoidal fuzzy numbers, and the last applying FAHP. Table 1 shows the order of the decision matrix A and its random index RI.The consistency index $CI = \frac{\lambda_{max}-n}{n-1} \le 0.1$, even the consistence ratio $CR = CI/RI \le 0.1$. Table 2 shows the relative importance values of Saaty scale equivalented into trapezoidal fuzzy numbers.

Table 1.Random Index for simple AHP (Saaty 1980).

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
RI	0.00	0.00	0.58	0.9	1.12	1.24	1.32	1.41	1.45	1.49

Table 2. The relative importance values for TPFN.

Relative importance value	Importance	Trapezoidal fuzzy numbers scale
1	Equal	(1,1,1,1)
3	Moderate	(2,5/2,7/2,4)
5	Strong	(4,9/2,11/2,6)
7	Very strong	(6,13/2,15/2,8)
9	Extremely strong	(8,17/2,9,9)
2	Intermediate values	(1,3/2,5/2,3)
4	Intermediate values	(3,7/2,9/2,5)
6	Intermediate values	(5,11/2,13/2,7)
8	Intermediate values	(7,15/2,17/2,9)

A trapezoidal fuzzy number is denoted as $\tilde{\alpha} = (l, m, n, u)$, and has a membership function $\mu_{\widetilde{\alpha}}(x): R \rightarrow [0,1].$

$$\mu_{\widetilde{\alpha}}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{x-l}{m-l} & l \le x \le m\\ 1 & m \le x \le n\\ \frac{u-x}{u-m} & m \le x \le u\\ 0 & x \ne [l,u] \end{cases}$$
[1]

Some law for operating with two Trapezoidal Fuzzy Numbers $\tilde{\alpha}_1, \tilde{\alpha}_2$ are:

- a) $\tilde{\alpha}_1 \oplus \tilde{\alpha}_2 = (l_1, m_1, n_1, u_1) \oplus (l_2, m_2, n_2, u_2) = (l_1 + l_2, m_1 + m_2, n_1 + n_2, u_1 + u_2)$ b) $\tilde{\alpha}_1 \otimes \tilde{\alpha}_2 = (l_1, m_1, n_1, u_1) \otimes (l_2, m_2, n_2, u_2) = (l_1 \cdot l_2, m_1 \cdot m_2, n_1 \cdot n_2, u_1 \cdot u_2)$ c) $\tilde{\alpha}^{-1} = (l, m, n, u)^{-1} = (\frac{1}{u}, \frac{1}{n}, \frac{1}{m}, \frac{1}{l})$ [2]
- d) For converting crisp numbers less than 1 into trapezoidal fuzzy numbers it is used the generalized trapezoidal fuzzy number $\tilde{\alpha} = (l, m, n, u; w), 0 < w \leq 1$, we have w=1 in our case (23).

$$R(\tilde{\alpha}) = \frac{w}{2}[(n+u) - (l+m)]$$

After constructing the decision matrix A it is converted into $\widetilde{A} = (\widetilde{\alpha_{ij}}), (\widetilde{\alpha_{ij}}) = (l_{ij}, m_{ij}, n_{ij}, u_{ij})$ [3] as the fuzzy TpFN matrix .For each of the criteria is calculated the fuzzy geometric mean value:

$$\tilde{r}_i = \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \widetilde{\alpha_{ij}}\right)^{1/n} \quad [4]$$

Next step is to calculate the fuzzy weights as follow: $\tilde{\omega}_i = \tilde{r}_i \otimes (\tilde{r}_1 \oplus \tilde{r}_2 \oplus ... \oplus \tilde{r}_n)^{-1}$, then becames the defuzzification with the method of nearest weighted symmetry (NWS) for trapezoidal fuzzy numbers according to Saneifard (23). $a_{ij} = \frac{l+2m+2n+u}{6}$ [5]

The last step is the normalization and the ranking attributes: $N_i = \frac{a_{ij}}{\sum a_{ij}}$ [6]

3. Results

The decision matrix constructed for the criteria level with AHP method by Saaty scale crisp numbers is in table 3.

Criteria	PE	SI	HT	BI	UB
PE	1	6	4	4	4
SI	1/6	1	3	1/2	2
HT	1/4	1/3	1	1/3	2
BI	1/4	2	3	1	2
UB	1/4	1/2	1/2	1/2	1

Table 3. The decision matrix for Criteria level by Saaty crisp numbers.

The consistency index CI = 0.083, RI = 0.074 so the matrix is consistent. The fuzzy matrix related with the TFN numbers according to equation [2] is in table 4.

Table 4.The decision matrix for Criteria level with Saaty TPFN

	PE	SI	НТ	BI	UB
PE	(1,1,1,1)	(5, 5.5, 6.5, 7)	(3,3.5,4.5,5)	(3,3.5,4.5,5)	(3,3.5,4.5,5)
SI	(0.01,0.155,0.175,0.32)	(1,1,1,1)	(2,2.5,3.5,4)	(0.2,0.3,0.7,0.8)	(1,1.5,2.5,3)
HT	(0.1,0.15,0.35,0.4)	(0.13,0.2,0.46,0.53)	(1,1,1,1)	(0.13,0.2,0.46,0.53)	(1,1.5,2.5,3)
BI	(0.1,0.15,0.35,0.4)	(1,1.5 ,2.5, 3)	(2,2.5,3.5,4)	(1,1,1,1)	(1,1.5,2.5,3)
UB	(0.1,0.15,0.35,0.4)	(0.2, 0.3, 0.7, 0.8)	(0.2,0.3,0.7,0.8)	(0.2,0.3,0.7,0.8)	(1,1,1,1)

After applying equations [3] - [6], table 5 shows the ranked criteria.

Table 5. The ranked criteria.

Criteria	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	NWS	Ni	Rank
PE	(2.66, 2.98, 3.58, 3.87)	(0.32, 0.38, 0.64, 0.89)	0.54	0.5	1
SI	(0.33, 0.7, 1.01, 1.25)	(0.04, 0.09, 0.18, 0.28)	0.14	0.13	3
HT	(0.27, 0.38, 0.71, 0.8)	(0.032, 0.05, 0.127, 0.18)	0.094	0.087	4
BI	(0.72, 0.96, 1.5, 1.7)	(0.086, 0.12, 0.27, 0.39)	0.209	0.195	2
UB	(0.24, 0.33, 0.65, 0.72)	(0.03, 0.04, 0.12, 0.16)	0.085	0.079	5

As is shown from the results, the Performance Expectancy (PE) is the most important criteria referring all the others. PE for our students indicates that the use of the technology with Google Classroom provided benefits for them in performing certain activities. The second ranked is (BI) Behavioral Intention that for our students indicates the performance for future behavior of the Google Classroom usage, then are ranked the SI Social Influence, HT Habit and UB Use behavior the last. The use behavior is the subsequent effect of behavioral intention, social influence and habit, so our students intend to use Google Classroom for sharing online materials, peers etc. In table 6 are shown the results for sub-criteria PE1, PE2, PE3, PE4 after applying the equations [2]-[6] in importance relation with Performance Expectancy criteria.

Alternative	ř _i	ω _i	NWS	N _i	Rank
PE1	(0.12, 0.27, 0.44, 0.54)	(0.0168, 0.04, 0.083, 0.12)	0.063	0.06	4
PE ₂	(0.29, 0.46, 0.75, 0.87)	(0.04, 0.07, 0.142, 0.19)	0.109	0.1	3
PE ₃	(0.67, 0.86, 1.32, 1.48)	(0.09, 0.13, 0.25, 0.32)	0.195	0.18	2
PE ₄	(3.46, 3.72, 4.17, 4.35)	(0.48, 0.56, 0.79,0.95)	0.688	0.65	1

 Table 6.
 The ranked sub-criteria for Performance Expectancy.

The most important sub-criteria evaluated from them is PE_4 "If I use Google Classroom, I will increase my chances of passing the course". So our student believe that using Google Classroom increases chanses of passing the course. The last important was PE_1 "I find Google Classroom useful in this course of math." This result depends on the subject of math they were studying for. In table 7 are shown the results for the sub-criteria SI₁, SI₂, SI₃, referring the relative importance with Social Influence.

 Table 7. The ranked sub-criteria for Social Influence.

Alternative	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	NWS	N _i	Rank
SI ₁	(0.1, 0.27, 0.38, 0.48)	(0.0185, 0.054, 0.087, 0.13)	0.071	0.07	3
SI ₂	(0.46, 0.72, 0.95, 1.12)	(0.085, 0.144, 0.218, 0.3)	0.184	0.18	2
SI ₃	(3.17, 3.36, 3.67, 3.78)	(0.58, 0.67, 0.844, 1.02)	0.771	0.75	1

The most important from them is SI_3 "Other people whose opinions I value prefer that I use Google Classroom", and the last is SI_1 "My friends who are important to me think that I should participate in Google Classroom". So for these students is more important the opinion of other people they prefer then the opinion of their friends to participate in Google Classroom.

In table 8 are shown the results for the sub-criteria HT_1 , HT_2 , HT_3 , HT_4 , related to HT Habit criteria. HT_2 is the most important sub-criteria evaluated from the students. HT_2 "Using Google Classroom has become natural to me", as a habit this usage has became natural. The last one is HT1 "Using Google Classroom has become a habit for me". These results show that it is difficult for students to perform Google Classroom as a habit.

 Table 8. The ranked sub-criteria for Habit.

Alternative	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	NWS	N _i	Rank
HT1	(0.25, 0.34, 0.64, 0.71)	(0.04, 0.06, 0.18, 0.25)	0.128	0.111	4
HT2	(1.19, 1.54, 2.16, 2.45)	(0.19, 0.27, 0.6, 0.88)	0.468	0.4	1
HT3	(0.4, 0.55, 0.95, 1.06)	(0.064, 0.1, 0.26, 0.38)	0.194	0.17	3
HT4	(0.88, 1.12, 1.67, 1.86)	(0.14, 0.2, 0.46, 0.67)	0.355	0.31	2

In table 9 are ranked the sub-criteria of Behavioral Intention, BI_1 , BI_2 , BI_3 . Ranked as the most important is BI_2 "It is worth to recommend the Google Classroom for other students", and the last one is BI_1 "I intend to continue using Google Classroom in the future."

Table 9. The ranked sub-criteria for Behavioral Intention.

Alternative	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	NDW	Ni	Rank
BI1	(0.27, 0.35, 0.62, 0.68)	(0.056, 0.08, 0.186, 0.238)	0.137	0.131	3
BI2	(2.08, 2.3, 2.72, 2.92)	(0.43, 0.529, 0.816, 1.022)	0.69	0.66	1
BI3	(0.46, 0.6, 0.95, 1.06)	(0.096, 0.138, 0.285, 0.371)	0.218	0.2	2

In table 10 are ranked the two sub-criteria of the Use Behavior criteria. The most important is UB_1 "I use Google Classroom for writing quizzes and submitting assignments behaviour", and the last UB2 "I use Google Classroom to interact with online materials, peers and instructor".

Table 10. The ranked sub-criteria for Use Behavior.

Alternative	ř _i	$\breve{\omega}_i$	NDW	N _i	Rank
UB1	(1.41, 1.58, 1.87, 2)	(0.5, 0.616, 0.916, 1.12)	0.78	0.75	1
UB2	(0.36, 0.44, 0.67, 0.73)	(0.129, 0.171, 0.328, 0.4)	0.254	0.245	2

4. Conclusions

This paper used the UTAUT2 theory for evaluations of online teaching performance via Google Classroom platform, for students of bachelor degree in math courses. We have include only five criteria from the UTAUT2 theory that are: Performance Expectancy, Social Influence, Habit, Behavioral Intention and Use Behavior. The online survey was developed for these students after they had studied and pass the exams of their subjects. The main aim is to rank these criteria with fuzzy AHP method via trapezoidal fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy AHP method is the extension of AHP, and is better than the other MCDM methods because is more capable of capturing a human judgment for complex decision problems. According to the respondent results show that the most important criteria was Performance Expectancy,

then Behavioral Intention, Social Influence, habit and the last Use Behavior. As for the sub-criteria the most preferred of Performance Expectancy criteria was PE1 "I find Google Classroom useful in this course of math." This result depends on the subject of math they were studying for. The next criteria was Socila influence and the most important subcriteria was SI₃ "Other people whose opinions I value prefer that I use Google Classroom". For Habit criteria the most important sub-criteria was HT₂ "Using Google Classroom has become natural to me", for Behavioral Intention the most important sub-criteria was BI2 "It is worth to recommend the Google Classroom for other students", and for Use Behavior criteria the most important sub-criteria was UB₁ "I use Google Classroom for writing quizzes and submitting assignments behaviour". The factor that has mainly influenced these results has been the online learning in the situation of COVID-19, and also the various courses of math in the bachelor degree. The students have tried to accept and use the Google Classroom platform in their way, and all these results show this. In order to improve the online learning is better for students to familiarize with the platform used by the lecturers. The study helps students and lecturers to interact together for online learning, and guides lecturers in focusing in the most important UTAUT2 criteria evaluated by their students. In further studies we will use the Fuzzy AHP with Z-number, including some other Albanian Universities, not only students but even lecturers.

5. References

- 1. Krasulia A V. Blended Learning Advantages And Disadvantages In Corporate Training. Elearning Industry. 2015.
- 2. Sullivan P, Bobis J, Downton A, Feng M, Hughes S, Livy S, et al. Threats and opportunities in remote learning of mathematics: implication for the return to the classroom. Math Educ Res J. 2020;
- 3. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. Theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. Manage Sci. 2000;
- 4. Venkatesh V, Bala H. Technology acceptance model 3 and a research agenda on interventions. Decis Sci. 2008;
- 5. Venkatesh V, Thong JYL, Xu X. Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: A synthesis and the road ahead. J Assoc Inf Syst. 2016;
- 6. Ali F, Nair PK, Hussain K. An assessment of students' acceptance and usage of computer supported collaborative classrooms in hospitality and tourism schools. J Hosp Leis Sport Tour Educ. 2016;
- 7. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. MIS Q Manag Inf Syst. 2003;
- 8. Zahra F, Alexandri MB, Purnomo M, Arifianti R, Muftiadi A, Herawati T, et al. User behaviour

intention using utaut2 model: a systematic literature review. Russ J Agric Socio-Economic Sci. 2019;

- 9. Tseng TH, Lin S, Wang YS, Liu HX. Investigating teachers' adoption of MOOCs: the perspective of UTAUT2. Interact Learn Environ. 2019;
- 10. Mehta A, Morris NP, Swinnerton B, Homer M. The Influence of Values on E-learning Adoption. Comput Educ. 2019;
- 11. Radovan M, Kristl N. Acceptance of technology and its impact on teacher's activities in virtual classroom: Integrating UTAUT and CoI into a combined model. Turkish Online J Educ Technol. 2017;
- 12. Dakduk S, Santalla-Banderali Z, van der Woude D. Acceptance of Blended Learning in Executive Education. SAGE Open. 2018;
- 13. Martins M, Farias JS, Albuquerque PHM, Pereira DS. Adoption of technology for reading purposes: A study articles of e-books acceptance. Brazilian Bus Rev. 2018;
- 14. SY. Understanding Undergraduate Students' Adoption of Mobile Learning Model: A Perspective of the Extended UTAUT2. J Converg Inf Technol. 2013;
- 15. Saaty TL. Group Decision Making and the AHP. In: The Analytic Hierarchy Process. 1989.
- 16. Saaty TL, Peniwati K, Shang JS. The analytic hierarchy process and human resource allocation: Half the story. Math Comput Model. 2007;
- 17. Zadeh LA. Fuzzy sets. Inf Control. 1965;
- 18. Işık AH, İnce M, Yiğit T. A Fuzzy AHP Approach to Select Learning Management System. Int J Comput Theory Eng. 2015;
- 19. Turker YA, Baynal K, Turker T. The evaluation of learning management systems by using Fuzzy AHP, fuzzy topsis and an integrated method: A case study. Turkish Online J Distance Educ. 2019;
- 20. Venkatesh V, Thong JYL, Xu X. Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: Extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. MIS Q Manag Inf Syst. 2012;
- 21. Do QH, Chen J, Hsieh H. Trapezoidal Fuzzy AHP and Fuzzy Comprehensive Evaluation Approaches for Evaluating Academic Library Service. WSEAS Trans Comput. 2015;
- 22. Nirmala G, Uthra G. Selecting best plastic recycling method using trapezoidal linguistic fuzzy preference relation. Int J Civ Eng Technol. 2017;
- 23. Saneifard R. Defuzzification Method for Solving Fuzzy Linear Systems. Int J Ind Math. 2009;

The Lattice of Fuzzy Topologies Generated by Fuzzy Relations

Soheyb Milles

Laboratory of Pure and Applied Mathematics, Department of Mathematics University of M'sila, Algeria, E-mail: soheyb.milles@univ-msila.dz

Abstract

In a recent paper, Mishra and Srivastava have introduced and studied the notion of fuzzy topology generated by fuzzy relation and some basic properties were proved. In this paper, we provide the lattice structure to a family of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations. More specifically, we analyze the most important properties and characteristics of this lattice.

1. Introduction

In [2], Chang introduced the notion of fuzzy topology on a set X as a family τ , satisfying the wellknow axioms, and he referred to each member of τ as a fuzzy open set. After that, several researches were conducted on the properties and characterizations of the notion of fuzzy topology.

In 2018, Mishra and Srivastava [6] introduced the notion of fuzzy topology generated by a fuzzy relation and studied several related results. The present study is motivated by the above approach. First, we construct the lattice structure to a family of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations. Moreover, we provide necessary structural characteristics such as distributivity, modularity and complementary of this lattice.

This paper is organized as follows. We briefly recall some basic concepts in Section 2. In Section 3, we provide a lattice structure to the family of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations, and we discuss some basic properties about distributivity, modularity and complementary of this lattice. Finally, we present some conclusions and we discuss future research in Section 4.

2. Preliminaries

Let X be a universe, then a fuzzy subset $A = \{\langle x, \mu_A(x) \rangle | x \in X\}$ of X defined by Zadeh [8] is characterized by a membership function $\mu_A: X \to [0,1]$, where $\mu_A(x)$ is interpreted as the degree of a membership of the element x in the fuzzy subset A for each $x \in X$.

The notion of fuzzy topology was first introduced by Chang.

Definition 2.1 A fuzzy topology (FT, for short) on a nonempty set X is a family τ of fuzzy sets on X which satisfies the following axioms:

1. $\emptyset, X \in \tau$;

2. $G_1 \cap G_2 \in \tau$ for any $G_1, G_2 \in \tau$;

3. U $G_i \in \tau$ for any $\{G_i : i \in J\} \subseteq \tau$.

In this case, the pair (X, τ) is called a fuzzy topological space (FTS, for short) and any FS in τ is known as a fuzzy open set (FOS, for short) in X. The complement of a fuzzy open set is called a fuzzy closed set (FCS, for short) in X.

Example 2.2 Let $X = \{x, y, z\}$ and $A, B, C \in FS(X)$ such that

$$A = \{ \langle x, 0.3 \rangle, \langle y, 0.4 \rangle, \langle z, 0.1 \rangle \};$$

$$B = \{ \langle x, 0.4 \rangle, \langle y, 0.5 \rangle, \langle z, 0.3 \rangle \};$$

$$C = \{ \langle x, 0.3 \rangle, \langle y, 0.4 \rangle, \langle z, 0.3 \rangle \}.$$

Then, $\tau = \{\emptyset, X, A, B, C\}$ is a fuzzy topology on X.

Mishra and Srivastava [6] introduced the notion of fuzzy topology generated by fuzzy relation.

Definition 2.3 (Fuzzy topology generated by fuzzy relation) Let X be a nonempty crisp set and $R = \{\langle (x, y), \mu_R(x, y) \rangle | x, y \in X\}$ be a fuzzy relation on X. Then for any $x \in X$, the fuzzy sets \mathcal{L}_x et \mathcal{R}_x are defined by

$$\mu_{\mathcal{L}_{X}}(y) = \mu_{R}(y, x), \text{ for any } y \in X,$$
$$\mu_{\mathcal{R}_{X}}(y) = \mu_{R}(x, y), \text{ for any } y \in X,$$

they are called the lower and the upper contour, respectively, of x.

We denote by τ_1 , the fuzzy topology generated by the set of all lower contours and τ_2 , the fuzzy topology generated by the set of all upper contours. Consequently, we denote by τ_R , the fuzzy topology generated by S the set of all lower and upper contours and it's called the fuzzy topology generated by R.

Example 2.4 Let $X = \{x, y\}$ and R be a fuzzy relation on X given by

μ _R (.,.)	Х	у
Х	0.6	0.8
У	0.3	0.7

Then, \mathcal{L}_x , \mathcal{L}_y , \mathcal{R}_x and \mathcal{R}_y are the fuzzy sets on X given by :

 $\mathcal{L}_{x} = \{ \langle x, 0.6 \rangle; \langle y, 0.3 \rangle \};$ $\mathcal{L}_{y} = \{ \langle x, 0.8 \rangle; \langle y, 0.7 \rangle \};$ $\mathcal{R}_{x} = \{ \langle x, 0.6 \rangle; \langle y, 0.8 \rangle \};$ $\mathcal{R}_{v} = \{ \langle x, 0.3 \rangle; \langle y, 0.7 \rangle \}.$

We note that, $\mathcal{L}_x \subset \mathcal{L}_y, \mathcal{L}_x \subset \mathcal{R}_y, \mathcal{R}_y \subset \mathcal{R}_x$ and $\mathcal{R}_y \subset \mathcal{L}_y$. Then the fuzzy topology $\tau_{\mathcal{R}}$ is generated by $S = {\mathcal{L}_x, \mathcal{L}_y} \cup {\mathcal{R}_x, \mathcal{R}_y}$. Thus, $\tau_{\mathcal{R}} = {\emptyset, X, \mathcal{L}_x, \mathcal{L}_y, \mathcal{R}_x, \mathcal{R}_y, \mathcal{L}_x \cap \mathcal{R}_y, \mathcal{L}_y \cap \mathcal{R}_x, \mathcal{L}_x \cup \mathcal{R}_y, \mathcal{L}_y \cup \mathcal{R}_x}$, where

$$\mathcal{L}_{x} \cap \mathcal{R}_{y} = \{ \langle x, 0.6 \rangle; \langle y, 0.7 \rangle \}, \mathcal{L}_{y} \cap \mathcal{R}_{x} = \{ \langle x, 0.8 \rangle; \langle y, 0.8 \rangle \},\$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{x} \cup \mathcal{R}_{x} = \{ \langle x, 0.7 \rangle; \langle y, 0.7 \rangle \} \text{ and } \mathcal{L}_{x} \cup \mathcal{R}_{x} = \{ \langle x, 0.6 \rangle; \langle y, 0.4 \rangle \}.$$

3. The lattice of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations

In this section, we mainly investigate the lattice of all fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations. First, we introduce the notion of fuzzy inclusion between topologies.

Definition 3.1 Let R_1 , R_2 are two fuzzy relations on the set X and τ_{R_1} , τ_{R_2} are the fuzzy topologies generated by R_1 and R_2 respectively. Then, τ_{R_1} is said to be contained in τ_{R_2} (in symbols, $\tau_{R_1} \sqsubseteq \tau_{R_2}$) if $G \in \tau_{R_2}$ for any $G \in \tau_{R_1}$.

In this case, we also say that τ_{R_1} is smaller than τ_{R_2} .

Proposition 3.2 Let τ_{R_1} and τ_{R_2} are the fuzzy topologies on the set X generated by R_1 and R_2 respectively. Then it holds that, $\tau_{R_1} \equiv \tau_{R_2}$ if and only if $R_1 \subseteq R_2$ (i.e., $\mu_{R_1}(x, y) \leq \mu_{R_2}(x, y)$, for any $(x, y) \in X \times X$).

Now, we introduce the intersection of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations.

Definition 3.3 Let τ_{R_1} and τ_{R_2} are the fuzzy topologies on the set X generated by R_1 and R_2 respectively. The intersection of τ_{R_1} and τ_{R_2} (in symbols, $\tau_{R_1} \sqcap \tau_{R_2}$) is a fuzzy topology τ_R such that $G \in \tau_R$ if and only if $G \in \tau_{R_1}$ and $G \in \tau_{R_2}$.

Next, we introduce the union of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations.

Definition 3.4 Let τ_{R_1} and τ_{R_2} are the fuzzy topologies on the set X generated by R_1 and R_2 respectively. The union of τ_{R_1} and τ_{R_2} (in symbols, $\tau_{R_1} \sqcup \tau_{R_2}$) is a fuzzy topology τ_R such that $G \in \tau_R$ if and only if $G \in \tau_{R_1}$ or $G \in \tau_{R_2}$.

The following theorem provides the lattice structure to a family of F-topologies generated by F-relations.

Theorem 3.5 Let X be a finite set and $\mathfrak{L} = \{\tau_{R_i} | R_i \in FR(X^2)\}$ is a family of all fuzzy topologies on X generated by the fuzzy relations R_i . Then \mathfrak{L} is a fuzzy lattice on X.

Proposition 3.6 Let X be a finite set and $\mathfrak{L} = {\tau_{R_i} | R_i \in FR(X^2)}$ is the lattice of all fuzzy topologies on X generated by the fuzzy relations R_i . Then \mathfrak{L} is complete.

Corollary 3.7 Let \mathfrak{L} be the complete lattice of all fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations, then \mathfrak{L} is bounded. Indeed, the least element of \mathfrak{L} is $\mathfrak{0}_{\mathfrak{L}} = \Box \tau_{R_i}$ and the greatest element of \mathfrak{L} is $\mathfrak{1}_{\mathfrak{L}} = \sqcup \tau_{R_i}$.

The following proposition discuss the distributivity property of the lattice of all F-topologies generated by F-relations.

Proposition 3.8 Let \mathfrak{L} be the lattice of fuzzy topologies generated by the fuzzy relations R_i , then \mathfrak{L} is distributive.

Corollary 3.9 Since \mathfrak{L} is a distributive lattice, then it holds that \mathfrak{L} is modular.

In 1958, Hartmanis [3] proved that the lattice of all topologies on a finite set is complemented. In the following proposition, we prove that the lattice of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations is also complemented.

Proposition 3.10 Let \mathfrak{L} be the lattice of all fuzzy topologies generated by the fuzzy relations R_i , then \mathfrak{L} is complemented.

Corollary 3.11 Since \mathfrak{L} is a distributive lattice and complemented with a least element $0_{\mathfrak{L}}$ and a greatest element $1_{\mathfrak{L}}$, then \mathfrak{L} is a boolean algebra denoted by $(\mathfrak{L}, \Box, \sqcup, \mathfrak{0}_{\mathfrak{L}}, \mathfrak{1}_{\mathfrak{L}})$.

In the following theorem, we will show that the lattice of fuzzy relations and the lattice of all fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations are isomorphic.

Theorem 3.12 Let φ : FR(X²) $\rightarrow \mathfrak{L}$ be a mapping defined as $\varphi(R) = \tau_R$, for any $R \in FR(X^2)$, then $(FR(X^2), \cap, \cup)$ and \mathfrak{L} are isomorphic.

4. Conclusion

In this work, we have studied the lattice structure of fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations and we have investigated its most important properties. In particular, we have focused on the characteristics of this lattice such as distributivity, modularity and complementary. In a future work, we plan to generalize this study to the intuitionistic fuzzy setting.

5. References

[1] M. J. Campión, J. C. Candeal, E. Induráin, Preorderable topologies and orderrepresentability of topological spaces, Topol. Appl. 156, 2971-2978, 2009.

[2] C.L. Chang, Fuzzy topological spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 24, 182-190, 1968.

[3] J. Hartmanis, On the lattice of topologies, Canad. J. Math. 10, 547-553, 1958.

[4] V. Knoblauch, Topologies defined by binary relations, Department of Economics Working Paper Series. University of Connecticut, 2009.

[5] E. Induráin, V. Knoblauch, On topological spaces whose topology is induced by a binary relation, Quaest Math. 36, 47-65, 2013.

[6] S. Mishra and R. Srivastava, Fuzzy topologies generated by fuzzy relations, Soft Comput. 22, 373–385, 2018.

[7] R.E. Smithson, Topologies generated by relations, Bull Austral. Math. Soc. 1, 297–306, 1969.

[8] L.A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Inform. Comput. 8, 338–353, 1965.

The notion of continuous additive units of product systems of Hilbert modules

Biljana Vujošević

Faculty of Mathematics, University of Belgrade, Serbia E-mail: bvujosevic@matf.bg.ac.rs

Abstract

We consider continuous additive units and roots of a central unital unit in a spatial product system of two-sided Hilbert modules. We prove that the set of all continuous additive units of a central unital unit has a two-sided Hilbert module structure. Also, we show that the set of all roots is a Hilbert two-sided submodule therein.

1. Introduction

We observe a spatial product system of two-sided Hilbert modules over a unital C*-algebra *B* (it presents a product system that contains a central unital unit). We consider the notion of continuous additive units and continuous roots of a central unital unit. The set of all continuous additive units of a central unital unit ω can be provided with a structure of two-sided Hilbert B - B module wherein the set of all continuous roots of ω is a Hilbert B - B submodule. As an example, we find all continuous additive units and roots in the spatial product system from [1, Example 4.2.4].

Throughout the whole paper, *B* denotes a unital C*-algebra and 1 denotes its unit. Also, we use \otimes for tensor product, although \odot is in common use.

Definition 1.1. a) A Hilbert *B*-module F is a right *B*-module with a map \langle , \rangle : $F \times F \rightarrow B$ that satisfies the following properties:

- $\langle x, \lambda y + \mu z \rangle = \lambda \langle x, y \rangle + \mu \langle x, z \rangle$ for $x, y, z \in F$ and $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$;
- $\langle x, y\beta \rangle = \langle x, y\rangle\beta$ for $x, y \in F$ and $\beta \in B$;
- $\langle x, y \rangle = \langle y, x \rangle^*$ for $x, y \in F$;
- $\langle x, x \rangle \ge 0$ and $\langle x, x \rangle = 0 \iff x = 0$ for $x \in F$

and F is complete with respect to the norm $||x|| = ||\langle x, x \rangle||^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

b) A Hilbert B - B module is a Hilbert *B*-module with a non-degenerate *-representation of *B* by elements in the C*-algebra $B^a(F)$ of all adjointable mappings on F. The homomorphism $j: B \to B^a(F)$ is contractive. In particular, since B is a unital C*-algebra, the unit of *B* acts as the unit of $B^a(F)$. Also, for $x, y \in F$ and $\beta \in B$ there holds $\langle x, \beta y \rangle = \langle \beta^* x, y \rangle$ where $\beta y = j(\beta)(y)$.

For basic facts about Hilbert C*-modules we refer the reader to [2].

Definition 1.2. a) A product system over a C*-algebra *B* is a family $(E_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of Hilbert B - B modules, with $E_0 \cong B$, and a family of isomorphisms

$$\rho_{t,s}: E_t \otimes E_s \to E_{t+s},$$

where \otimes is the so-called inner tensor product obtained by identifications $ub \otimes v \sim u \otimes bv$, $u \otimes vb \sim (u \otimes v)b$, $bu \otimes v \sim b(u \otimes v)$, $(u \in E_t, v \in E_s, b \in B)$ and then completing in the inner product $\langle u \otimes v, u' \otimes v' \rangle = \langle v, \langle u, u' \rangle v' \rangle$;

b) A unit on *E* is a family $u = (u_t), u_t \in E_t$, so that $u_0 = 1$ and $\varphi_{t,s}(u_t \otimes u_s) = u_{t+s}$, which we abbreviate to $u_t \otimes u_s = u_{t+s}$. A unit *u* is unital if $\langle u_t, u_t \rangle = 1$. It is central if for all $\beta \in B$ and all $t \ge 0$ there holds $\beta u_t = u_t \beta$.

Definition 1.3. The spatial product system is a product system that contains a central unital unit. We refer the reader to [1], [3], [4].

2. Additive units

Let $\omega = (\omega_t)$ be a central unital unit in a spatial product system $E = (E_t)$ over a unital C*-algebra B.

Definition 2.1. A family $a = (a_t)$, $a_t \in E_t$, is an additive unit of ω if $a_0 = 0$ and $a_{s+t} = a_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a_t$, $s, t \ge 0$. An additive unit *a* of ω is a root if $\langle a_t, \omega_t \rangle = 0$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Definition 2.2. For $\beta \in B$, let $F_{\beta}^{a,b}$: $[0, \infty) \to B$ be the map defined by $F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) = \langle a_s, \beta b_s \rangle$

where a, b are additive units of ω in E.

A set of additive units *S* of ω is continuous if the map $F_{\beta}^{a,b}$ is continuous for all $a, b \in S$ and all $\beta \in B$. We say that *a* is a continuous additive unit of ω if the set $\{a\}$ is continuous, i.e. if the map $F_{\beta}^{a,a}$ is continuous for all $\beta \in B$. Denote the set of all continuous additive units of ω by A_{ω} and the set of all continuous roots of ω by R_{ω} .

Lemma 2.3. (1) If $a \in A_{\omega}$, then $\langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle = s \langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle$, $s \ge 0$. (2) If $a, b \in R_{\omega}$, then $F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) = sF_{\beta}^{a,b}(1)$, $s \ge 0$, $\beta \in B$. (3) If $a \in A_{\omega}$, then a family (a'_s) , where $a'_s = a_s - \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle \omega_s$, belongs to R_{ω} .

Proof. (1) Let $H^a: [0, \infty) \to B$ be the map defined by $H^a(s) = \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle$, $s \ge 0$. For $s, t \ge 0$ we obtain $H^a(s+t) = \langle \omega_s \otimes \omega_t, a_s \otimes \omega_t \rangle + \langle \omega_s \otimes \omega_t, \omega_s \otimes a_t \rangle =$ $= \langle \omega_t, \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle \omega_t \rangle + \langle \omega_t, \langle \omega_s, \omega_s \rangle a_t \rangle = \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle + \langle \omega_t, a_t \rangle = H^a(s) + H^a(t)$

and

 $\|H^{a}(s) - H^{a}(0)\|^{2} = \|\langle \omega_{s}, a_{s} \rangle\|^{2} \le \|\omega_{s}\|^{2} \|a_{s}\|^{2} = \|F_{1}^{a,a}(s)\| \to \|F_{1}^{a,a}(0)\| = 0, \ s \to 0.$ Hence, the map H^{a} is continuous. Therefore, $H^{a}(s) = sH^{a}(1)$, i.e. $\langle \omega_{s}, a_{s} \rangle = s \langle \omega_{1}, a_{1} \rangle$.

(2) Let
$$s, t \ge 0$$
. Since $a, b \in R_{\omega}$, we see that

$$F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s+t) = \langle a_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a_t, \beta(b_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes b_t) \rangle =$$

$$= \langle \omega_t, \langle a_s, \beta b_s \rangle \omega_t \rangle + \langle a_t, \langle \omega_s, \beta \omega_s \rangle b_t \rangle = F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) + F_{\beta}^{a,b}(t)$$

and

 $\left\|F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) - F_{\beta}^{a,b}(0)\right\|^{2} = \|\langle a_{s}, \beta b_{s}\rangle\|^{2} \le \|\langle a_{s}, a_{s}\rangle\| \|\beta\|^{2} \|\langle b_{s}, b_{s}\rangle\| \to 0, \ s \to 0.$ Hence, the map $F_{\beta}^{a,b}$ is continuous and, therefore, $F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) = sF_{\beta}^{a,b}(1).$

(3) For $s, t \ge 0$, we obtain that

$$a'_{s+t} = a_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a_t - (\langle \omega_t, \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle \omega_t \rangle + \langle \omega_t, \langle \omega_s, \omega_s \rangle a_t \rangle) \omega_s \otimes \omega_t = = a_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a_t - \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle \omega_s \otimes \omega_t - \langle \omega_t, a_t \rangle \omega_s \otimes \omega_t = = (a_s - \langle \omega_s, a_s \rangle \omega_s) \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes (a_t - \langle \omega_t, a_t \rangle \omega_t) = a'_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a'_t$$

and

$$\langle a'_s, \omega_s \rangle = 0$$

Therefore, a' is a root of ω .

Let $\beta \in B$. By (1) it follows that

$$F_{\beta}^{a',a'}(s) = F_{\beta}^{a,a}(s) - s^2 \langle a_1, \omega_1 \rangle \beta \langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle, \qquad s \ge 0.$$

Therefore, the map $F_{\beta}^{a',a'}$ is continuous and we obtain that $a' \in R_{\omega}$.

Remark 2.4. By Lemma 2.3, every $a \in A_{\omega}$ can be decomposed as $a_s = s\langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle \omega_s + a'_s, a' \in R_{\omega}$.

Let $a, b \in A_{\omega}$. By Remark 2.4, $a_s = s\langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle \omega_s + a'_s$ and $b_s = s\langle \omega_1, b_1 \rangle \omega_s + b'_s$, $s \ge 0$, $a', b' \in R_{\omega}$. Let $s \ge 0$ and $\beta \in B$. By Lemma 2.3(2), there holds

$$F_{\beta}^{a',b'}(s) = sF_{\beta}^{a,b}(1) - s\langle a_1, \omega_1 \rangle \beta \langle \omega_1, b_1 \rangle.$$

Now, using decomposition of a, b, it follows that the map $F_{\beta}^{a,b}$ is continuous since

(4)
$$F_{\beta}^{a,b}(s) = sF_{\beta}^{a,b}(1) + (s^2 - s)\langle a_1, \omega_1 \rangle \beta \langle \omega_1, b_1 \rangle.$$

Remark 2.5. The set A_{ω} is continuous in the sense of Definition 2.2.

3. Main results

Throughout this section, $\omega = (\omega_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a central unital unit in a spatial product system $E = (E_t)_{t \ge 0}$ over a unital C*-algebra B.

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

Theorem 3.1. The set A_{ω} is a B - B module under the point-wise addition and point-wise scalar multiplication. The set R_{ω} is a B - B submodule therein.

Proof. Let $a, b \in A_{\omega}, \beta \in B$ and $s, t \ge 0$. Since $(a + b)_{s+t} = (a + b)_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes (a + b)_t$ and $F_{\beta}^{a+b,a+b} = F_{\beta}^{a,a} + F_{\beta}^{b,a} + F_{\beta}^{a,b} + F_{\beta}^{b,b}$, it follows that $a + b \in A_{\omega}$ by Remark 2.5.

Let $\theta \in B$. Since the unit ω is central, we obtain $(a\theta)_{s+t} = (a\theta)_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes (a\theta)_t$ and similarly $(\theta a)_{s+t} = (\theta a)_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes (\theta a)_t$. Also, $F_{\beta}^{a\theta,a\theta}(s) = \theta^* F_{\beta}^{a,a}(s)\theta$ and, using Remark 2.4, $F_{\beta}^{\theta a,\theta a}(s) = s^2 \langle a_1, \omega_1 \rangle \theta^* \beta \theta \langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle + F_{\theta^* \beta \theta}^{a',a'}(s)$. It follows $a\theta, \theta a \in A_{\omega}$. The other axioms of B - B module follow directly.

Let $a, b \in R_{\omega}$. Then $\langle a_s + b_s, \omega_s \rangle = 0$, $\langle a_s \beta, \omega_s \rangle = \beta^* \langle a_s, \omega_s \rangle = 0$ and $\langle \beta a_s, \omega_s \rangle = \langle a_s, \beta^* \omega_s \rangle = 0$. Hence, $a + b, a\beta, \beta a \in R_{\omega}$. Therefore, R_{ω} is a B - B submodule in A_{ω} .

Theorem 3.2. The set A_{ω} is a Hilbert B - B module under the inner product $\langle , \rangle : A_{\omega} \times A_{\omega} \longrightarrow B$ defined by (5) $\langle a, b \rangle = \langle a_1, b_1 \rangle, \ a, b \in A_{\omega}$.

The set R_{ω} is a Hilbert B - B submodule in A_{ω} .

Proof. At the beginning we notice that A_{ω} is a B - B module by Theorem 3.1. The map \langle , \rangle in (5) is a *B*-valued inner product in A_{ω} . Therefore, the map satisfies the following properties:

- 1) $\langle a, \lambda b + \mu c \rangle = \lambda \langle a, b \rangle + \mu \langle a, c \rangle$ for all $a, b, c \in A_{\omega}$ and $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$;
- 2) $\langle a, b\beta \rangle = \langle a, b \rangle\beta$ for all $a, b \in A_{\omega}$ and $\beta \in B$;
- 3) $\langle a, b \rangle = \langle b, a \rangle^*$ for all $a, b \in A_{\omega}$;
- 4) $\langle a, a \rangle \ge 0$ for all $a \in A_{\omega}$;
- 5) $\langle a, a \rangle = 0 \iff a = 0$ for all $a \in A_{\omega}$;

6) $\langle a, \beta b \rangle = \langle \beta^* a, b \rangle$ for all $a, b \in A_{\omega}$ and $\beta \in B$.

We consider only the property 5) since all the others properties are straightforward calculation. If $\langle a, a \rangle = 0$, then $a_1 = 0$. By Remark 2.4, $a_s = s \langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle \omega_s + a'_s$, $a' \in R_{\omega}$, $s \ge 0$, implying $a_s = a'_s$. By Lemma 2.3(2), $\langle a_s, a_s \rangle = s \langle a'_1, a'_1 \rangle$. It follows that $a_s = 0$ for all $s \ge 0$, i.e. a = 0.

Therefore, A_{ω} is a pre-Hilbert B - B module. Also, A_{ω} is complete with respect to the given inner product (5):

Let (a^n) be a Cauchy sequence in A_{ω} and $s \ge 0$. If $a = b = a^m - a^n$ in (4), it follows that $\|a_s^m - a_s^n\|^2 \le (s^2 + 2s)\|a_1^m - a_1^n\|^2 = (s^2 + 2s)\|a^m - a^n\|^2$.

Therefore, (a_s^n) is a Cauchy sequence in E_s and denote (6) $a_s = \lim_{n \to \infty} a_s^n$.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $s, t \ge 0$. There is $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ so that $||a_s^n - a_s|| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$, $||a_t^n - a_t|| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$, $||a_{s+t}^n - a_{s+t}|| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$ for $n > n_0$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \|a_{s+t} - a_s \otimes \omega_t - \omega_s \otimes a_t\| &\leq \|a_{s+t} - a_{s+t}^n\| + \|a_{s+t}^n - a_s \otimes \omega_t - \omega_s \otimes a_t\| &\leq \\ &\leq \|a_{s+t} - a_{s+t}^n\| + \|(a_s^n - a_s) \otimes \omega_t\| + \|\omega_s \otimes (a_t^n - a_t)\| &\leq \varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

implying that *a* is an additive unit of ω . Let $\beta \in B$. By (6) and (4),

$$F_{\beta}^{a,a}(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_{\beta}^{a^n,a^n}(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(sF_{\beta}^{a^n,a^n}(1) + (s^2 - s)\langle a_1^n, \omega_1 \rangle \beta \langle \omega_1, a_1^n \rangle \right) = sF_{\beta}^{a,a}(1) + (s^2 - s)\langle a_1, \omega_1 \rangle \beta \langle \omega_1, a_1 \rangle.$$

Hence, $a \in A_{\omega}$. By (5) and (6), $||a^n - a|| = ||a_1^n - a_1|| \to 0, n \to \infty$. Therefore, A_{ω} is complete with respect to the inner product (5).

Now, let (a^n) be a sequence in R_{ω} satisfying $\lim_{n \to \infty} a^n = a$. It only remains to see whether the continuous additive unit *a* belongs to R_{ω} . This follows from (6) since $\langle a_s, \omega_s \rangle = \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle a_s^n, \omega_s \rangle = 0$ for all $s \ge 0$. \Box

4. Example

As an example, we find the form of an arbitrary continuous additive unit of a central unital unit in the spatial product system from [1, Example 4.2.4].

Let $B = K(H) + \mathbb{C}1 \subset B(H)$ be the unitization of compact operators on an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space *H*. Let E_t be a Hilbert B - B module so that $E_t = B$ as right Hilbert module and with left multiplication $b \cdot x_t = e^{ith}be^{-ith}x_t$ where $h \in B(H)$ is a self-adjoint operator. These Hilbert B - Bmodules form a product system $E = (E_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with the identification (7) $x_s \otimes y_t = e^{ith}x_s e^{-ith}y_t$.

Notice that E has a unital unit $\omega = (\omega_t), \omega_t = 1 \in B$. Also, if $h = 0, \omega$ is a central unital unit.

Taking into account Definition 2.1. and Definition 2.2, we easily see that for every $\theta \in B$, $a = (a_t)$ with $a_t = t\omega_t \theta = t\theta$ is a continuous additive unit of ω .

Let $a = (a_t) \in A_{\omega}$. For $s, t \ge 0$, by (7), there holds

 $a_{s+t} = a_s \otimes \omega_t + \omega_s \otimes a_t = a_s \omega_t + \omega_s a_t = a_s + a_t.$ Also, $||a_t||^2 = ||\langle a_t, a_t \rangle|| = ||F_1^{a,a}(t)|| \to ||F_1^{a,a}(0)|| = 0, \ t \to 0$, so the map $[0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto a_t \in B$ is continuous. Therefore, there is $\theta_a \in B$ so that $a_t = t\theta_a$ for all $t \ge 0$.

Let $a \in R_{\omega}$. Therefore, there is $\theta_a \in B$ so that $a_t = t\theta_a$ for all $t \ge 0$ and $\langle \omega_t, a_t \rangle = t\theta_a = 0$ for all $t \ge 0$. We conclude that $\theta_a = 0$, i.e. $a_t = 0$. Hence, $R_{\omega} = \{0\}$.

5. References

[1] S. D. Barreto, B. V. R. Bhat, V. Liebscher and M. Skeide, Type I product systems of Hilbert modules, *J. Funct. Anal.* **212** (2004), 121-181

[2] E. C. Lance, Hilbert C*-modules: A toolkit for operator algebraists, *Cambridge University Press* (1995)

[3] M. Skeide, Hilbert modules and application in quantum probability, *Habilitationsschrift, Cottbus* (2001)

[4] M. Skeide, The index of (white) noises and their product systems, *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.* **9** (2006), 617-655

The Relationship Between Mathematical Problem-Solving and Planning Ability

Birgul Damla BABER ELBISTAN¹

¹Social Science, The University of Göttingen, Germany, E-mail: birgueldamla.baber@stud.uni-goettingen.de

Abstract

Mathematical problem-solving skills depend on many variables and cognitive skills are one of the most important of them. The purpose of this study is to determine the mathematical problem-solving skills in terms of cognitive aspects. This aims to reveal the relationship between the planning ability and mathematical problem-solving skills at the secondary school level. An empirical quantitative research was done for this purpose. For the measurement of problem-solving skills, curriculum-based mathematics achievement test and for assessing the planning ability, a computerized Tower of London test was used. It was applied to a total of 416 students from the fifth, sixth, and seventh grades. As a result of the statistical analysis, a positive significant relationship was found between planning skills and problem-solving skills but there are not any significant differences in terms of gender.

Keywords: Mathematics, Mathematics Achievement, Executive Function, Tower of London Test

1. Introduction

Understanding of math concepts requires the formation of abstract representations of quantitative and qualitative relations between variables (Primi et al., 2010). Therefore, to teach mathematical concepts, problem-solving can be one of the best methods that can be used to teach mathematical concepts to school-age children (Donaldson, 2011).

Problem solving in mathematics refers to invisible, non-routine problems that require high-level understanding and cognitive skills to solve the problem in a meaningful way. (Jagals and Van der Walt, 2016). It can be said that this way of solving problems related to the very hierarchical nature of mathematics; because the understanding of new material depends upon what has been learned before, and so the learning of the new topic becomes intimately tied to the knowledge of the previous topics (Siadat, 2011). Therefore parts of a task need to be solved first and kept in mind to be able to solve the overall task (Lipnevich et al, 2016). For instance, some students consciously pay attention to the given problem by solving it in a hierarchical way, but there are also students who just carelessly answer the problem when facing the test, in this frame it can be stated that each student has a different process of thinking or plan of thinking in solving the problem.

A problem schema can be defined as a cognitive construct that allows problem solvers to recognize a problem as belonging to a specific category that requires particular moves for a solution. This definition includes problem states, problem-solving operators, and their relations. Although there are different problem-solving models such as linear (hierarchical), ideal or recursive by different researchers (Montague et al. 2000; Polya 1962; Verschaffel et al.1999), most of these models were developed on Polya's linear problem-solving model. According to Polya (2004), there are four steps in problem-solving. These are understanding the problem, planning, implementing the plan and controlling the process. Therefore, solving a problem requires a good plan, in which a child takes decisions, selects strategies, and uses them, for a successful score (Kroesbergen et al., 2010).

All the steps in problem-solving need the cognitive process to solve a mathematics problem. Bull et al. (2008) have propounded as a consequence of their research that cognitive skills help children to gain more math proficiency, and children identified as having a limitation in some aspects of cognitive functioning can have mathematical problems presented in a format that reduces the reliance on weaker cognitive skills.

Domain-general cognitive abilities especially executive functions (EF) may provide good explanations for variability in early math learning (Kroesbergen et al., 2007). The EF comprise mental capacities necessary for formulating goals, planning how to achieve them, and carrying out the plans effectively (Lezak, 1982). EF contains different mathematical functions in its different structures such as planning, mental set-shifting, updating and monitoring, and inhibition (Miyake et al., 2000). For instance, inhibition is likely to be especially important at younger ages to suppress less sophisticated strategies, e.g. counting on the first addend, in order to use more sophisticated strategies, such as counting on the larger addend (Cragg and Gilmore, 2013). Shifting skills may help to switch between operations, solution strategies, quantity ranges, and notations (e.g. between verbal digits, written Arabic symbols, and non-symbolic quantity representations) and between the steps of a complex multi-step problem (Bull and Lee, 2014). Planning requires all these skills to think of alternatives, to weigh and make choices, and to evolve a conceptual framework or structure which can serve to direct activity (Lezak, 1982). There is a clear

theoretical rationale that executive control might play a central role in the acquisition of early counting and mathematical concepts (Clark et al., 2013).

Cragg et al. (2017) made a theoretical model predicting relationships between EF skills and components of mathematical knowledge (Fig1).



Fig. 1. Dashed lines represent relationships that change over the course of development. Taken from Cragg et al. (2017).

A complex phenomenon like executive function skills specifically planning ability (PA) cannot be measured with imprecise and over-simplified operationalizations. Researchers demonstrate the performance on cognitive tests such as Tower of Hanoi (TOH) or Tower of London (TOL) utilize working memory processes to generate, execute, manipulate, and concatenate these move sequences (Humes et al., 1997).

A number of different paradigms for measuring these skills have been developed, for instance, TOH or TOL illustrate the influence of individual structural problem parameters on planning performance (Borys et al. 1982; Klahr and Robinson 1981; Spitz et al. 1982). When the TOL test was used as a single-time

task to assess EF, the performance was shown to develop with age, in line with children's increasing ability to control thoughts and actions as they grow older (Flavell 1971; Siegler 1983).

In light of these studies, for demonstrating the cognitive side of the mathematical problem-solving skills in a structure of planning ability in executive functions; the relationship between PA and math problemsolving skills was investigated in this study.

Materials and Participants

Participants of this study were secondary school students from the fifth, sixth, and seventh grades in Istanbul. Participation rates at each grade level are close to each other (36.5% in 5th grades, 26.4% in 6th grades, and 37.00% in 7th grades). The proportions of girls and boys are also close to each other at each grade level (203 females and 213 males).

To assess the PA, TOL-Freiburg (TOL-F) version and for the mathematical problem-solving skills a curriculum based mathematics achievement test was used. TOL-F hold problems of increasing difficulty. TOL has been widely used as a single-time task to assess executive functioning abilities such as planning and problem-solving as well as implicit learning (Schiff and Vakil, 2015).

Implementation of the TOL-F version is computerized in the form of a realistic three-dimensional representation of a wooden model of the tower configuration shown in Fig.2



Fig2. Implementation of the "Tower of London" in the Freiburg Version

The aim of the test is to convert a starting state into a defined finishing state in as few moves as possible. For mathematical problem-solving skills, a curriculum mathematics achievement (MA) test was used, a

total of 20 questions were asked from the subjects of algebra, geometry, data analysis and number in the secondary school curriculum.

2. Main Results

Students' self-perceived performance in the two tests was measured in order to analyze the relationship between mathematical problem-solving skills and PA.

Depending on gender differences there are not any significant differences in terms of mathematical and cognitive problem-solving. It has been shown in figure 4 and 5 that the participants showed normal distribution in MA (M = 10.03, SD = 4.63) and TOL-F test (M = 3.00, SD = 1.47). Mean score differences are related to the number of questions and the differences between standard deviations released that students show a more homogeneous distribution in terms of planning skills than mathematical problem-solving skills.

Relationship Between Planning Ability and Math Performance

All correlational analyses were conducted by the use of the Pearson Product Moment correlation coefficients. statistical analyses revealed that there was a significant positive correlation between PA and mathematics problem-solving skills (p < .05).



HA Bis provided Bi

Fig.4: Distribution of the planning ability scores of the participants



Statistical analyses revealed that there was a significant positive correlation between the PA within the scope of executive functions and mathematical problem skills. This correlation is practically significant

p < .05, indicating that, when students plan the solution of a problem, they monitor their progress and reflect on their mathematical knowledge. Thus, planning of the problem will construct their correct solution. In both tests, it was determined that students who tried to do a problem without planning and thinking about the solution could not reach the result.

4. Conclusion

The most important thing in problem-solving is understanding, reasoning, and methodology up to producing the right solution (Nursyahidah et al., 2018). In this research, the total number of correct solutions in each test indicates the level of children's planning and problem-solving efforts. In a new problem, planning is the priority for the solution. Therefore, it has been seen in the analyses that competence in mathematical problem-solving is related to PA.

High scores show that children are capable of developing and maintaining mental planning patterns over time. The findings of this quantitive investigation suggest that students who solve mathematical problems reflect their planning skills on problem-solving processes and become aware of their strategy of knowledge.

The reason why operations based on arithmetic in mathematics learning are better understood or performed compared to word problems is that students try to find results by using only the numbers they see, without doing the problem-solving stages, understanding, and planning the problem (Soylu and Soylu, 2006). Therefore, the low rate of word math problems can be attributed to this. This may be due to the inability or deficiencies of students in using their cognitive skills.

The cognitive sides of Mathematics are important in terms of a better understanding of mathematics concepts and more effective use of problem-solving skills from the foundation of mathematics learning. By expanding the scope of this study, the effect of cognitive skills on mathematics education and problem-solving skills can be investigated in terms of other executive functions.

5. References

Borys, Suzanne V., Herman H. Spitz, and Barbara A. Dorans. "Tower of Hanoi performance of retarded young adults and nonretarded children as a function of solution length and goal state." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology* 33.1 (1982): 87-110.

Bull, Rebecca, Kimberly Andrews Espy, and Sandra A. Wiebe. "Short-term memory, working memory, and executive functioning in preschoolers: Longitudinal predictors of mathematical achievement at age 7 years." *Developmental neuropsychology* 33.3 (2008): 205-228.

Bull, Rebecca, and Kerry Lee. "Executive functioning and mathematics achievement." *Child Development Perspectives* 8.1 (2014): 36-41.

Clark, Caron AC, et al. "Longitudinal associations between executive control and developing mathematical competence in preschool boys and girls." *Child development* 84.2 (2013): 662-677.

Cragg, Lucy, et al. "Direct and indirect influences of executive functions on mathematics achievement." *Cognition* 162 (2017): 12-26.

Donaldson, Sarah Elizabeth. *Teaching through problem solving: Practices of four high school mathematics teachers*. Diss. University of Georgia, 2011.

Flavell, John H. "First discussant's comments: What is memory development the development of?." *Human development* 14.4 (1971): 272-278.

Humes, George E., et al. "Towers of Hanoi and London: Reliability and validity of two executive function tasks." *Assessment* 4.3 (1997): 249-257.

Imbo, Ineke, and André Vandierendonck. "The development of strategy use in elementary school children: Working memory and individual differences." *Journal of experimental child psychology* 96.4 (2007): 284-309.

Jagals, Divan, and Marthie Van der Walt. "Enabling metacognitive skills for mathematics problem solving: A collective case study of metacognitive reflection and awareness." *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education* 20.2 (2016): 154-164.

Kaller, Christoph P., et al. "The impact of problem structure on planning: Insights from the Tower of London task." *Cognitive Brain Research* 20.3 (2004): 462-472.

Kroesbergen, Evelyn H., Bernadette AM Van de Rijt, and Johannes EH Van Luit. "Working memory and early mathematics: Possibilities for early identification of mathematics learning disabilities." *Advances in learning and behavioral disabilities* 20 (2007): 1-19.

Kroesbergen, Evelyn H., et al. "PASS processes and early mathematics skills in Dutch and Italian kindergarteners." *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment* 28.6 (2010): 585-593.

Lezak, Muriel D. "The problem of assessing executive functions." *International journal of Psychology* 17.1-4 (1982): 281-297.

Lipnevich, Anastasiya A., Franzis Preckel, and Stefan Krumm. "Mathematics attitudes and their unique contribution to achievement: Going over and above cognitive ability and personality." *Learning and Individual Differences* 47 (2016): 70-79.

Miyake, Akira, et al. "The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis." *Cognitive psychology* 41.1 (2000): 49-100.

Montague, Marjorie, Cynthia Warger, and Thelma H. Morgan. "Solve it! Strategy instruction to improve mathematical problem solving." *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice* 15.2 (2000): 110-116.

Nursyahidah, Farida, Bagus Ardi Saputro, and Maya Rini Rubowo. "A Secondary Student's Problem Solving Ability in Learning Based on Realistic Mathematics with Ethnomathematics." *JRAMathEdu (Journal of Research and Advances in Mathematics Education)* 3.1 (2018): 13-24.

Polya, George. Mathematical Discovery, 1962. John Wiley & Sons, 1962.

Polya, George. *How to solve it: A new aspect of mathematical method*. Vol. 85. Princeton university press, 2004.

Primi, Ricardo, Maria Eugénia Ferrão, and Leandro S. Almeida. "Fluid intelligence as a predictor of learning: A longitudinal multilevel approach applied to math." *Learning and Individual Differences* 20.5 (2010): 446-451.

Schiff, Rachel, and Eli Vakil. "Age differences in cognitive skill learning, retention and transfer: The case of the Tower of Hanoi Puzzle." *Learning and Individual Differences* 39 (2015): 164-171.

Siadat, Vali. "Using mathematics to improve fluid intelligence." Notices of the AMS 58.3 (2011): 432-433.

Siegler, Robert S. "Five generalizations about cognitive development." American Psychologist 38.3 (1983): 263.

Soylu, Yasin, and Cevat Soylu. "Matematik derslerinde başariya giden yolda problem çözmenin rolü." İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi 7.11 (2006): 97-111.

Verschaffel, Lieven, et al. "Learning to solve mathematical application problems: A design experiment with fifth graders." *Mathematical thinking and learning* 1.3 (1999): 195-229.

The Solution of Linear First Order Stiff Differential Equations by Applying Haar Wavelet Collocation Method

Mehmet Tarık Atay^{1, a)}, Abdülkadir Yılmaz², Musa Kasım Ağca², Onur Metin Mertaslan¹

¹ Mechanical Engineering, Abdullah Gul University, Turkey,
 ² Mechanical Engineering, Middle East Technical University, Turkey,
 ^a) Corresponding author

E-mail(s): mehmettarik.atay@agu.edu.tr, abdulkadir.yilmaz@metu.edu.tr, agca.musa@metu.edu.tr, onurmetin.mertaslan@agu.edu.tr

Abstract

Generally, there are many sorts of problems experienced by various disciplines that can be expressed by differential equations. These issues can be interpreted analytically in more straightforward cases; notwithstanding, computational methods are needed for more complex cases. In such manner, the wavelet-based approaches have been utilizing to compute these sorts of equations more dramatically. The Haar Wavelet is one of the relevant procedures that have a place with the wavelet family which is used to solve stiff ordinary differential equations (ODEs). In this paper, The Haar Wavelet method is applied to stiff differential equations to show the accuracy and ability of this method by comparing it to the analytical solutions. In conclusion, the Haar wavelet method gives satisfactory outcomes to stiff differential problems compared to exact solutions.

1. Introduction

Diverse types of engineering and practical problems are explained and interpreted as stiff ordinary differential equations (ODEs) [1]. While some problems can be solved by analytical methods, some cases are not always suitable for having an analytical solution. However, this factor itself is not the only reason to use numerical approaches. In practical use, even finding an analytical solution is not always helpful since the required computation power is exceedingly high [2].

Knowing only the differential equation is not sufficient to find the solutions to the problem, meaning that the need for extra information is evident. Since the proposed solution to the given stiff linear ODE is an initial value problem (IVP), the explanation of extra information can be said as "Initial Conditions". When all the components of y are defined in terms of x, which is specified at a certain value, then the

problem can be classified as "Initial Value Problem". Therefore, an initial value problem is in the structure of;

$$y'(x) = f(y(x)), where y(x_0) = y_0$$
 (1)

Various types of other numerical methods have been used to solve these problems previously [3]. In this paper, the Haar Wavelet Method is used to solve such differential equations numerically. The proposed method was first used by Chen and Hsiao (1997) and was applied to the stiff systems of linear ODEs by Lepik (2009) [4,5,6]. The aim of this work is to discuss the quality, efficiency and accuracy of the Haar wavelet method for solving linear stiff ODEs with initial conditions. The resolution and accuracy of the method can be altered by changing only the value of J, which will be explained in the following sections. Typical computation time is taken for the solution of such problems, at J=7,8,9 which yields to very low errors, just takes a few seconds in an average commercial computer with 2 core processors. When the required computation power and low error deviation is taken into consideration, the proposed solution shows the effectiveness of Haar Wavelet Method.

2. Haar Wavelets Collocation Methods

In 1910, a Hungarian mathematician who is Alfred Haar introduced the general form of Haar wavelets which are based on the functions. Haar wavelets are the simplest method in the wavelet families as mathematically and Haar wavelets consist of piecewise constant functions [5].

The following parameters are used in using this method:

The function considered to be in the interval [A, B], where A and B are constant numbers. The quantity M was defined as;

 $M = 2^{J}$, where *J* defines the maximal level of resolution $\Delta x = \frac{B-A}{2M}$, where Δx is the length of each equal subinterval [5,6]

Other two parameters are;

$$j = 0, 1, \dots, J$$
 and $k = 0, 1, \dots, m - 1$

j is the dilatation parameter and k is the translation parameter. m, which is introduced in the parameter k, is

 $m = 2^{j}$

The wavelet numbers are denoted by the letter i, which is identified as [6,7]

$$i = m + k + 1$$

The following formula represents the *i*-th Haar wavelet [5].

$$h_{i}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ for } x \in [\xi_{1}(i), \xi_{2}(i)), \\ -1 \text{ for } x \in [\xi_{2}(i), \xi_{3}(i)), \\ 0 \text{ elsewhere,} \end{cases}$$
(2)

where

$$ξ_1(i) = A + 2kμ\Delta x,$$

 $ξ_2(i) = A + (2k + 1)μ\Delta x,$

 $ξ_3(i) = A + 2(k + 1)μ\Delta x,$

 $μ = \frac{M}{m}$

With the help of the parameters described above the Haar function can be determined. Haar functions are used to define the Haar matrix which consists of only 1, -1, and 0. To solve the differential equation another operational matrix, which is *P*, are needed.

$$\int_{A}^{B} h_{i}(x)h_{l}(x)dx = \begin{cases} (B-A)2^{-j} \text{ for } l = i, \\ 0 & \text{for } l \neq i, \end{cases}$$
(3)

In the following, analytically calculated integral obtained based on Eqn. 2 [5].

$$p_{\alpha,i}(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & for \ x < \xi_1(i), \\ \frac{1}{\alpha!} [x - \xi_1(i)]^{\alpha} & for \ x \in [\xi_1(i), \xi_2(i)], \\ \frac{1}{\alpha!} \{ [x - \xi_1(i)]^{\alpha} - 2[x - \xi_2(i)]^{\alpha} \} & for \ x \in [\xi_2(i), \xi_3(i)], \\ \frac{1}{\alpha!} \{ [x - \xi_1(i)]^{\alpha} - 2[x - \xi_2(i)]^{\alpha} + [x - \xi_3(i)]^{\alpha} \} & for \ x > \xi_3(i) \end{cases}$$
(4)

Both Haar and operational matrices are constructed in a same way that Lepik (2009) explained in his work [6]. Moreover, to find the Haar function and p function, we need to use collocation points. In other words, Haar matrices and P matrices can be calculated with the help of collocation points [5,6,7].

3. Stiff ODE's

As it is previously introduced, stiff ordinary differential equations in many different fields such as in fluid mechanics, elasticity, electrical networks, chemical reactions, etc. [4]

$$\mathbf{y}' = f(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \quad \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x}_0) = \mathbf{y}_0, \quad a \le x \le b$$
 (5)

Eqn. (2) is the general form of the first-order linear system of ODEs where f(x, y) can be defined in the interval [a, b]. Stiffness of Eqn. (2) can be checked as follows [8];

If the following expressions (a and b) are valid, then a linear system is stiff,

a) Re(
$$\lambda_s(x)$$
) < 0, s = 1, 2, 3, . . ., m

b) max
$$|Re(\lambda_s)| \gg \min |Re(\lambda_s)| \ s = 1, 2, 3, ..., m$$

The ratio of $\max |Re(\lambda_s)|$ and $\min |Re(\lambda_s)|$ is called the stiffness ratio and λ_s , which is expressed in the first and second cases are the eigenvalues of the Jacobian of the system [9].

4. Applications

In this section, several stiff differential problems are computed with the aid of the Haar Wavelet method, which is investigated elaborately in previous sections.

4.1 The first example of the first order stiff differential problem is formulated as follows [10]:

$$y' = 9y$$
 with initial condition $y(0) = e$, $t \in [0,1]$ (6)

The exact solution is given as;

$$y(t) = e^{(1-9t)}$$
 (7)

Fig.1 shows the exact solution and solution of Haar Wavelet. For this solution, the resolution number J is specified as 6. Fig.1 indicated that the solution computed by the Haar Wavelet method converges to the exact solution.



Fig. 1 Exact solution and the approximate solutions calculated for J=6 and I = 128 by Haar Wavelet for Eqn. 6

t	Haar Solution	Exact Solution	Absolute Error	Logarithmic Error
0,0039	2.625962823	2.624377565	0.001585258	-2.7999001774
0.1	1.129019714	1.128730726	2.88988E-04	-3.5391205533
0.2	0.452444753	0.452499442	5.46882E-05	-4.2621059785
0.3	0.181313269	0.181403536	9.02670E-05	-4.0444710228
0.4	0.072659703	0.072723278	6.35752E-05	-4.1967125528
0.5	0.029117739	0.029154201	3.64622E-05	-4.4381569194
0.6	0.012519028	0.012539065	2.00380E-05	-4.6981459530
0.7	0.005016891	0.005026815	9.92410E-06	-5.0033087088
0.8	0.002010475	0.002015211	4.73631E-06	-5.3245598520
0.9	8.05680E-04	8.07883E-04	2.20244E-06	-5.6570964184
1	3.46398E-04	3.47464E-04	1.06778E-06	-5.9715182840

Table 1. Numerical and Analytical Results of Example-1 for J=6

t	Haar Solution	Exact Solution	Absolute Error	Logarithmic Error
2.44E-04	2.712322136	2.712315598	6.53793E-06	-5.1845597
0.1	1.106629962	1.106628891	1.07091E-06	-5.9702487
0.2	0.449526249	0.449526466	2.16714E-07	-6.6641141
0.3	0.182602908	0.182603261	3.52772E-07	-6.4525062
0.4	0.074175472	0.074175723	2.50841E-07	-6.6006019
0.5	0.030130959	0.030131104	1.45579E-07	-6.8369017
0.6	0.012293459	0.012293536	7.71328E-08	-7.1127616
0.7	0.004993749	0.004993788	3.85723E-08	-7.4137250
0.8	0.002028520	0.002028540	1.86093E-08	-7.7302691
0.9	8.24009E-04	8.24018E-04	8.75413E-09	-8.0577869
1	3.36196E-04	3.36201E-04	4.05675E-09	-8.3918220

Table 2. Numerical and Analytical Results of Example-1 for J=10

4.2 Following is the second example of the first order stiff differential problem [11]:

$$y' + 100y = (99t + 1)e^{-t}$$
 with initial condition $y(0) = 1$, $t \in [0,1]$ (8)

The exact solution is given as;

$$y(t) = e^{-100t} + te^{-t} (9)$$

The solutions that belong to the exact solution and Haar Wavelet method respectively are given in Fig.3. With the assistance of Haar Wavelet method this particular solution computed for J=6. Results of both Haar wavelet and exact solution are matching for certain.



Fig. 2 Exact solution and the approximate solutions calculated for J=8 and I=512 by Haar Wavelet for Eqn. 8

t	Haar Solution	Exact Solution	Absolute Error	Logarithmic Error
0.009	0.912006769	0.907936227	0.004070542	-2.390347695
0.1	0.091002275	0.091003423	1.1475117506E-06	-5.940242858
0.2	0.163874058	0.163874051	7.2694935666E-09	-8.138495843
0.3	0.222144164	0.222144158	6.4484494959E-09	-8.1905446971
0.4	0.267892180	0.267892174	5.6225828435E-09	-8.2500641369
0.5	0.303561058	0.303561053	4.8819844834E-09	-8.3114036052
0.6	0.329415481	0.329415477	4.2437159892E-09	-8.3722536889
0.7	0.347638800	0.347638797	3.6825082428E-09	-8.4338562723
0.8	0.359445612	0.359445609	3.1896046396E-09	-8.4962631461
0.9	0.365888797	0.365888794	2.7570746904E-09	-8.5595515663
1	0.367879268	0.367879265	2.3779136998E-09	-8.6238039111

Table 3. Numerical and Analytical Results of Example-2 for J=8

t	Haar Solution	Exact Solution	Absolute Error	Logarithmic Error
0	0.993994539	0.993976104	1.843459257E-05	-4.734366456
0.1	0.090558792	0.090558797	4.743521422E-09	-8.323899133
0.2	0.163754148	0.163754147	2.834754653E-11	-10.54748452
0.3	0.222239135	0.222239135	2.510605612E-11	-10.60022150
0.4	0.268113289	0.268113288	2.186090197E-11	-10.66033192
0.5	0.303246818	0.303246818	1.923927683E-11	-10.71581125
0.6	0.329295020	0.329295020	1.706934593E-11	-10.76778311
0.7	0.347611531	0.347611531	1.532352023E-11	-10.81464145
0.8	0.359462074	0.359462074	1.286493134E-11	-10.89059252
0.9	0.365916166	0.365916166	1.099381696E-11	-10.95885149
1	0.367879440	0.367879440	8.837763854E-12	-11.05365760

Table 4. Numerical and Analytical Results of Example-2 for J=12

5. Conclusion

As denoted earlier in the research, the Haar wavelet has a broad variety of use areas such as linear and nonlinear ODE. The investigation shows that the Haar Wavelet, which belongs to the Wavelet family, is applicable to many types of linear stiff initial differential problems. Compared with their exact solution results, the results of examples 4.1 and 4.2 are determined by the Haar wavelet method. Besides, numerical values and comparison graphs demonstrate how the Haar wavelet method is efficient. As a consequence, the outcomes of the examples can be obtained swiftly with the assistance of the construction of the Haar matrices.
6. References

- 1) G. BJUREL, G. DAHLQUIST, B. LINDBERG, S. LINDE AND L. ODEN, Survey of stiff ordinary differential equations, Rep. NA 70.11, Dept. of Information Processing, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, 1970.
- Hairer, E., & Lubich, C. (2015). Numerical Analysis of Ordinary Differential Equations. Encyclopedia of Applied and Computational Mathematics, 1053–1059. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-70529-1_390
- 3) Binuyo, A.O., Odejide, S.A., & Aregbesola, Y.A. (2012). THE NUMERICAL SOLUTIONS OF SYSTEMS OF STIFF ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS.
- 4) Atay, Mehmet & Eryılmaz, Aytekin & Köme, Sure & Köme, Cahit & Piipponen, Samuli. (2014). Comparative Numerical Solutions of Stiff Ordinary Differential Equations Using Magnus Series Expansion Method. New Trends in Mathematical Sciences. 3. 35-45.Lepik and H. Hein, Haar wavelets. With applications (2014).
- 5) Chen, C. F., & Hsiao, C. H. (1997). Haar wavelet method for solving lumped and distributedparameter systems. IEE Proceedings - Control Theory and Applications, 144(1), 87–94. S. Shiralashetti, A. Deshi, and P. Desai, Ain Shams Engineering Journal 707 (2015), 10.1016/j.asej.2015.06.006.
- 6) C. Ciftci, H. S. S. Cayci, M. T. Atay, B. Toker, B. Guncan, and A. T. Yildirim, AIP Conference Proceedings 1978, p. 400004 (2018), https://aip.scitation.org/doi/pdf/10.1063/1.5043999.
- 7) M. Atay, H. Sas, C. Ciftci, S. Cos kun, B. Toker, and A. Yildirim, Journal of Basic and Applied Research International 24(1)03 (2018).
- N. Noor, Z. Ibrahim, and F. Ismail, Journal of Physics: Conference Series 1132, p. 01201711 (2018).
- 9) R. L. Burden and J. D. Faires, Numerical Analysis, 4th ed., The Prindle, Weber and Schmidt Series in Mathematics (PWS-Kent Publishing Company, Boston, 1989).
- 10) C.W. Gear, Numerical Initial Value Problems in Ordinary Differential Equations, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice Hall, Chapter 9 (1971).

Timelike Harmonic Evolute Surfaces of Quasi Binormal Surfaces

Talat Korpinar¹, Gul Ugur Kaymanli²

¹Mathematics, Mus Alparslan University, Turkey, ²Mathematics, Cankiri Karatekin University, Turkey, E-mail(s): talatkorpinar@gmail.com, gulugurl@karatekin.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, we work on timelike harmonic surfaces of quasi binormal surfaces with quasi frame in three dimensional Minkowski space. Using quasi frame, we first construct special type of ruled surface called quasi binormal ruled surface, we then study timelike harmonic evolute surfaces of them. The condition for timelike harmonic evolute surface to be Bonnet surface is given for each cases. Later, some geometric properties are examined and application of results is given.

1. Introduction

The theory of surfaces, in differential geometry, is one of the most important subjects to study since they have too many applications in engineering and physics. Both ruled surfaces and harmonic evolute surfaces, two of these impressive surfaces, have been studied by many geometers.

Harmonic evolutes of surfaces in Euclidean space were studied in [2]. In 2014, After Sipus and Viladimir worked on properties of harmonic evolutes of constant mean curvature surfaces and their relation to parallel surfaces in Minkowski space [11], Protrrka focused on harmonic evolute of both timelike ruled surfaces and helicoidal surfaces in Minkowski space [9], [10]. Also, harmonic evolutes of B-scrolls with constant mean curvature in Lorentz-Minkowski space can be found in [7]. Most recently, in [4], harmonic evolute of quasi normal surfaces have been studied.

In this study, we work on the surfaces associated to a given regular surface. That is, timelike harmonic surfaces of quasi binormal surfaces with quasi frame in three dimensional Minkowski space. Using quasi frame, we first construct special type of ruled surface called quasi binormal ruled surface, we then study timelike harmonic evolute surfaces of them. The condition for timelike harmonic evolute surface to be Bonnet surface is given for each cases. Lastly, an application of results is given.

2. Preliminaries

In three dimensional Minkowski space R_1^3 , the dot and cross products of two vectors $v = (v_1, v_2, v_3)$ and $w = (w_1, w_2, w_3)$ are defined as

 $\langle v, w \rangle = v_1 w_1 + v_2 w_2 - v_3 w_3$

and

$$v \times w = v_3 w_2 - v_2 w_3 u_1 + (v_1 w_3 - v_3 w_1) u_2 + (v_1 w_2 - v_2 w_1) u_3$$

where $u_1 \times u_2 = u_3$, $u_2 \times u_3 = -u_1$, $u_3 \times u_1 = -u_2$, respectively [5],[6]. The norm of the vector v is is given by $||v|| = \sqrt{|\langle v, v \rangle|}$.

We say that Lorentzian vector v is spacelike, lightlike or timelike if $\langle v, v \rangle > 0$ or v = 0, $\langle v, v \rangle = 0$ and $v \neq 0$, $\langle v, v \rangle < 0$, respectively [8].

As an alternative to the Frenet frame, we use a new adapted frame along both timelike and spacelike curves, the quasi frame defined in [12], [3]. General formula for derivation of quasi frame is given

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{n}_{q} \\ \mathbf{b}_{q} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon_{1}k_{1} & -\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{2} \\ -\varepsilon_{0}k_{1} & 0 & -\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} \\ -\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} & -\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{t} \\ \mathbf{n}_{q} \\ \mathbf{b}_{q} \end{bmatrix},$$
(1.1)

where $\langle \mathbf{t}, \mathbf{t} \rangle = \varepsilon_0$, $\langle \mathbf{n}_q, \mathbf{n}_q \rangle = \varepsilon_1$, $\langle \mathbf{b}_q, \mathbf{b}_q \rangle = -\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1$ and k_i be quasi curvatures when $1 \le i \le 3$. The vector products are defined as $\mathbf{t} \times \mathbf{n}_q = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 \mathbf{b}_q$, $\mathbf{n}_q \times \mathbf{b}_q = -\varepsilon_0 \mathbf{t}$, and $\mathbf{b}_q \times \mathbf{t} = -\varepsilon_1 \mathbf{n}_q$.

In equation (1.1) if $\varepsilon_0 = 1$ or $\varepsilon_0 = -1$, then a curve is spacelike or timelike, respectively. If $\varepsilon_1 = -1$ or $\varepsilon_1 = 1$, then a spacelike curve is called type I or type II, respectively.

Let *M* be a regular surface given with the parametrization $\varphi(s,t)$ in E^3 . Let *N* be the standard unit normal vector field on a surface φ defined by

$$N = \frac{\varphi_s \times \varphi_t}{\|\varphi_s \times \varphi_t\|},$$

The tangent space of M at an arbitrary point is spanned by the vectors φ_s and φ_t . The coefficients of the first and fundamental form of M are defined in [1], [5] as

$$E = \langle \varphi_s, \varphi_s \rangle, F = \langle \varphi_s, \varphi_t \rangle, G = \langle \varphi_t, \varphi_t \rangle,$$

$$e = \langle \varphi_{ss}, N \rangle, f = \langle \varphi_{st}, N \rangle, g = \langle \varphi_{tt}, N \rangle.$$

The Gaussian and the mean curvatures of M are given by

$$K = \frac{eg - f^2}{EG - F^2}$$

and

$$H = \frac{Eg - 2Ff + Ge}{2(EG - F^2)},$$

respectively.

Theorem 2.1. The surface is minimal if and only if it has vanishing mean curvature [1].

Theorem 2.2. If E = G, F = 0, $f = c \neq 0$ ($c = cons \tan t$) are satisfied then the surface is called A-net on a surface [1].

Theorem 2.3. A surface to be a Bonnet surface if and only if surface has an A-net [1].

3. Timelike Harmonic Evolute Surfaces of Binormal Surface

In this part, we work on the timelike harmonic evolute surfaces of binormal surfaces which are not minimal. The parametrization of quasi binormal ruled surfaces is given as

$$\varphi(s,t) = \alpha(s) + t\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}$$

Theorem 3.1. The ruled surface generated by quasi binormal vector is minimal if and only if

$$t^{2}k_{3}(\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}k_{3}-(k_{2})_{s})+\varepsilon_{0}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})(k_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})-t(k_{3})_{s}=0$$

Proof. Using definition of quasi binormal surface, we get first and second partial derivatives of φ as

$$\varphi_s = (1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2) \mathbf{t} - t\varepsilon_1 k_3 \mathbf{n}_q,$$

$$\varphi_t = \mathbf{b}_q$$

and

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{ss} &= t\varepsilon_0(\varepsilon_1k_1k_3 - (k_2)_s)\mathbf{t} + \varepsilon_1(k_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2) - t(k_3)_s)\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + \varepsilon_0(tk_3^2 - \varepsilon_1k_2(1 - tk_2))\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}, \\ \varphi_{ts} &= -\varepsilon_0k_2\mathbf{t} - \varepsilon_1k_3\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}}, \\ \varphi_{tt} &= 0, \end{split}$$

respectively. By the definition of the unit normal vector, we have

$$\varphi_s \times \varphi_t = t\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 k_3 \mathbf{t} + \varepsilon_1 (1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2) \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}}$$

and so

$$N = \frac{t\varepsilon_0\varepsilon_1k_3}{\sqrt{t^2\varepsilon_0k_3^2 + \varepsilon_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2)^2}} \mathbf{t} + \frac{\varepsilon_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2)}{\sqrt{t^2\varepsilon_0k_3^2 + \varepsilon_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2)^2}} \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}}.$$

Therefore, we have the coefficients of the first and second fundamental forms given

$$E = \varepsilon_0 (1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2)^2 + t^2 \varepsilon_1 k_3^2,$$

$$F = 0,$$

$$G = -\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1,$$

and

$$e = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t^{2}\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})^{2}}} (t^{2}\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}(\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}k_{3} - (k_{2})_{s}) + \varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})(k_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}) - t(k_{3})_{s}),$$

$$f = -\frac{\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{\sqrt{t^{2}\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})^{2}}},$$

$$g = 0,$$

respectively.

The mean curvature of timelike harmonic evolute surfaces of binormal surfaces is calculated

$$H = \frac{1}{2(t^2\varepsilon_0k_3^2 + \varepsilon_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}(t^2k_3(\varepsilon_1k_1k_3 - (k_2)_s) + \varepsilon_0(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2)(k_1(1 - t\varepsilon_0k_2) - t(k_3)_s).$$

Using Theorem 2.1. completes the proof.

Theorem 3.2. The Gauss curvature of timelike harmonic evolute surfaces of binormal surfaces is calculated

$$K = -\frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 k_3^2 (t^2 \varepsilon_1 k_3^2 + (1 - t \varepsilon_0 k_2)^2)}{t^2 \varepsilon_0 k_3^2 + \varepsilon_1 (1 - t \varepsilon_0 k_2)^2}.$$

Corollary 3.3. The ruled surfaces generated by spacelike type II curve ($\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_1 = 1$) is flat only when $k_3 = 0$.

Theorem 3.4. *The ruled surfaces generated by quasi binormal vector are not a Bonnet surface.*

Proof. Using Definition 2.2. and Theorem 2.3, it is easily shown.

Suppose φ is not minimal. Then, a harmonic evolute surface of the quasi binormal surface is given by

$$\varphi^h(s,t) = \varphi(s,t) + \frac{1}{H}N.$$

Theorem 3.5. A harmonic evolute surface of φ is given by

$$\varphi^{h}(s,t) = \alpha(s) + \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{t^{2}\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})^{2}}} \mathbf{t} + \frac{\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})}{H\sqrt{t^{2}\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2})^{2}}} \mathbf{n}_{q} + t\mathbf{b}_{q}.$$

Theorem 3.6. A harmonic evolute surface of φ is a Bonnet surface if and only if

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{0}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})^{2}+\varepsilon_{1}(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})^{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})^{2}\\ -\varepsilon_{0}((\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t})^{2}+\varepsilon_{1}((\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t})^{2}+\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}=(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H^{b_{q}}\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})(\frac{t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}\\ -(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}+\frac{\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}=0 \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} f^{h} &= \frac{1}{\omega} [(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) \\ &- \varepsilon_{1}\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) - \varepsilon_{1}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}(\varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}) \\ &- \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) + (\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t})) + (\frac{\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} \\ &- \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})(\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) + (\varepsilon_{0}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}))] = \rho \end{split}$$

where $W = t^2 \varepsilon_0 k_3^2 + \varepsilon_1 (1 - t \varepsilon_0 k_2)^2$ and $\omega = || \varphi_s \times \varphi_t || = (t \varepsilon_1 k_3)^2 + (1 - t \varepsilon_0 k_2)^2$. **Proof.** The first and second partial derivatives of φ_s^h are given

$$\begin{split} \phi_s^h(s,t) &= (1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2 - \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 k_1 (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 k_3}{H\sqrt{W}})_s) \mathbf{t} - (t\varepsilon_1 k_3 - \frac{t\varepsilon_0 k_1 k_3}{H\sqrt{W}} - (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2}{H\sqrt{W}})_s) \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} - (\frac{\varepsilon_0 k_3}{H\sqrt{W}}) \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}, \\ \phi_t^h(s,t) &= (\frac{t\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1 k_3}{H\sqrt{W}})_t \mathbf{t} + \varepsilon_1 (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_0 k_2}{H\sqrt{W}})_t \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{q}} + \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{q}}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \phi_{ss}^{h}(s,t) &= ((1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{s}-\varepsilon_{0}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}+(\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}))\mathbf{t} \\ &+(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{s}-\varepsilon_{1}((\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))\mathbf{n}_{q} \\ &+(\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{3}+(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}k_{2}))\mathbf{b}_{q}, \\ \phi_{ts}^{h}(s,t) &= (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{u}\mathbf{t}+\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{u}\mathbf{n}_{q}, \\ \phi_{ts}^{h}(s,t) &= (1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})+(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}\mathbf{t}-(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}-\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}\mathbf{n}_{q}-(\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}\mathbf{b}_{q}. \end{split}$$

Using first derivative equations of the harmonic evolute surface with respect to s and t, the normal vector of $\varphi^h(s,t)$ is calculated by

$$N^{h} = \frac{1}{\omega} \left[\varepsilon_{0} \left((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1} (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s} \right) - \varepsilon_{1} (\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}) (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) \mathbf{t} + (\varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}))_{s}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}) (\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) \mathbf{n}_{q} + (\varepsilon_{0}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) + (t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) (\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) \mathbf{b}_{q} \right].$$

where $\omega = \| \varphi_s^h \wedge \varphi_t^h \|$.

Then, we have the coefficients of the first and second fundamental forms of harmonic evolute surface as

$$\begin{split} E^{h} &= \varepsilon_{0}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})^{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})^{2}, \\ F^{h} &= (1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})(\frac{t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t} - (t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t} + (\frac{\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}, \\ G^{h} &= \varepsilon_{0}((\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t})^{2} + \varepsilon_{1}((\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t})^{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} e^{h} &= \frac{1}{\omega} [((1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{s} - \varepsilon_{0}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1} \\ &+ (\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}))((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) + \varepsilon_{1}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{s}) - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) + \varepsilon_{1}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}-\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{s})_{s} - \varepsilon_{1}((\frac{\varepsilon_{0}k_{3}^{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}-\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})k_{1}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}))(\varepsilon_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}))(\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}))))(\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1-t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})))))], \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} f^{h} &= \frac{1}{\omega} [(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{v}) \\ &- \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t} - \varepsilon_{1}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s})_{t}(\varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}))_{s})_{t}(\varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}))_{s}) \\ &- \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) + (\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}))_{t}((t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}))_{t}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} - \varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) + (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}))], \\ g^{h} &= \frac{1}{\omega}[(\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}(t\varepsilon_{1}k_{3} - \frac{t\varepsilon_{0}k_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}} - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}) - \varepsilon_{1}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}) \\ &+ (\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t}(\frac{k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})(\frac{tk_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{t} + (\varepsilon_{1}(1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2} + -\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{1}(\frac{1 - t\varepsilon_{0}k_{2}}{H\sqrt{W}}) - (\frac{t\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon_{1}k_{3}}{H\sqrt{W}})_{s}))], \end{split}$$

respectively. Using the definition of a Bonnet surface, we have proved the theorem.

4. Application

Application to timelike helix:



Figure 1. The quasi binormal surface of timelike helix





Figure 2. A harmonic evolute surface of $\varphi(s,t)$

5. References

[1] M. P. Do Carmo, Differential geometry of curves and surfaces, Prentice Hall USA, 503p., 1976.

[2] P. Cattaneo, Alcuni teoremi sull'evoluta armonica, Nota. Ven. Ist. Atti 64: 1039--1052, 1905.

[3] C. Ekici, M. Dede, H. Tozak, Timelike directional tubular surfaces, Int. J. Mathematical Anal., 8(5): 1-11, 2017.

[4] T. Korpinar, G.U. Kaymanli, On the harmonic evolute of quasi normal surfaces, Journal of Science and Arts, 1(50): 55-64, 2020.

[5] W. Kuhnel, Differential geometry curves-surfaces-manifolds. second ed. Friedr. Vieweg and Sohn Verlag, Wiesbaden, 2003

[6] R. Lopez, Differential geometry of curves and surfaces in LorentzMinkowski space, MiniCourse taught at IME-USP, Brasil, 2008.

[7] R. Lopez, Z.M. Sipus, L.P. Gajcic, I. Protrka, Harmonic evolutes of Bscrolls with constant mean curvature in Lorentz-Minkowski space, International Journal of Geometric Methods in Modern Physics, 16(5): 2019.

[8] B. O'Neill, Semi-Riemannian geometry with applications to relativity. Academic Press, New York, 1983.

[9] I. Protrka: Harmonic evolutes of timelike ruled surfaces in Minkowski Space, 18th Scientific-Professional Colloquium on Geometry Geometry and Graphics BELI MANASTIR September, 2015.

[10] I. Protrka, The harmonic evolute of a helicoidal surfaces in Minkowski 3- space, Proceedings of the Young Researcher Workshop on Differential Geometry in Minkowski Space, Granada, Spain, 133-147, 2017.

[11] Z.M. Sipus and V. Vladimir: The harmonic evolute of a surface in Minkowski 3-space, Math. Commun. 19:, 43--55, 2014.

[12] G. Tarim, Minkowski uzayinda yonlu egriler uzerine, ESOGU Yuksek Lisans Tezi, 2017.

M-Projective Curvature Tensor on a Para-Kenmotsu Manifold with a type of Semi-symmetric Metric Connection

İnan Ünal¹

¹Department of Computer Engineering, University of Munzur, Tunceli, Turkey inanunal@munzur.edu.tr

Abstract

In this paper we study on para-Kenmotsu manifolds with a type of semi-symmetric metric connection under certain conditions of M-projective curvature tensor. Firstly, we obtain the form of M-projective curvature tensor with a type of semi-symmetric metric connection. Later, we examine para-Kenmotsu manifolds under some semi-symmetry conditions on this tensor.

Keywords: para-contact manifold, para-Kenmotsu manifolds, curvature tensors, symmetry conditions, semi-symmetric metric connection

1 INTRODUCTION

An almost para-contact structure is a triple (ϕ, ξ, η, g) such that $\phi^2 = I + \eta \otimes \xi$ for a contact form η , (1, 1)-tensor field ϕ and chracteristic vector field ξ . Any almost para-contact structure admits a pseudo-Riemannian metric with signature (n + 1; n) [1]. There are many subclasses of para-contact manifolds similar to contact manifolds. A para-Kenmotsu manifold is an analogy of a Kenmotsu manifold [2] in para-contact geometry. These type of manifolds were defined by Sinha and Sai Prasad [3] as follow;

Definition 1. Let (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) be an almost para-contact metric manifold of dimension (2m+1). *M* is said to be an almost para-Kenmotsu manifold if 1-form η is closed and $d\Phi = 2\eta \wedge \Phi$. A normal almost para-Kenmotsu manifold *M* is called a para-Kenmotsu manifold.

Para-Kenmotsu manifolds were studied by several authors [4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10]. In 1930, Hayden [11] introduced a semi-symmetric metric connection on a Riemannian manifold. K. Yano [12] developed this definition. Later, manifolds with special structures have been studied by using geometric properties of this type of connection [13, 14]. Also there many different forms of semi-symmetric metric connections. Semi-symmetric metric connections on para-Kenmotsu manifolds were studied in [3, 6].

In this work, our aim is to study a p-Kenmotsu manifold admitting a type of semi-symmetric metric connection. After obtained some basic results we focus on the M-projective curvature tensor. We compare with flatness conditions of this tensor for the Levi-Civita connection and the semi-symmetric metric connection. Finally, we examine some semi-symmetry conditions.

2 PRELIMINARIES

Definition 2. Let M be a (2m + 1)-dimensional smooth manifold. (ϕ, ξ, η) is called an almost para-contact structure on M such that for ϕ is (1, 1) a tensor field ξ is a vector field and η is a 1-form M we have

$$\phi^2 X = X - \eta(X)\xi$$
, $\phi(\xi) = 0$, $\eta \circ \phi = 0$, $\eta(\xi) = 1$ (1)

where X is an arbitrary vector fields on M.

The tensor field ϕ induces an almost paracomplex structure on the distribution $D = ker\eta$. There two distributions $D\pm$ corresponding to the eigenvalues ± 1 and they are in same dimension m. The rank of ϕ is 2m. A manifold with an almost para-contact structure is called an almost para-contact manifold [1].

Let g be a pseudo-Riemann metric on M.

- g is called compatible metric, if $g(\phi X_1, \phi X_2) = -g(X_1, X_2) + \eta(X_1)\eta(X_2)$ for all $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma(TM)$
- g is called associated metric, if $d\eta(X_1, X_2) = g(\phi X_1, X_2)$ for all $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma(TM)$.

If g is an associated metric then (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) is called almost para-contact metric manifold. Also by taking $X_2 = \xi$ we get $\eta(X_1) = g(X_1, \xi)$. The 2-form $\Phi(X_1, X_2) = d\eta(X_1, X_2)$ is called second fundamental form. For a C^{∞} function f on a para-contact metric manifold M, a complex structure J is defined as $M \times \mathbb{R}$ by $J(X_1, f\frac{d}{dt}) = (\phi X_1 + f\xi, \eta(X_1)\xi)$. If J is integrable i.e Nijenhuis tensor vanishes almost para-contact structure (ϕ, ξ, η) is called normal. Like contact manifolds this condition is restricted to $N_{\phi} + 2d\eta \otimes \xi = 0$.

Theorem 1. Let (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) be an almost para-contact metric manifold. *M* is a para-Kenmotsu manifold if and only if

$$(\nabla_{X_1}\phi) X_2 = g(\phi X_1, X_2)\xi - \eta(X_2)\phi X_1$$
(2)

for all $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma(TM)$ [15].

For brevity we use "p-Kenmotsu" for para-Kenmotsu. By using (2) on a p-Kenmotsu manifold we have

$$\nabla_{X_1} \xi = \phi^2 X_1 \tag{3}$$

for all $X_1 \in \Gamma(TM)$.

Let X_1, X_2, X_3 be arbitrary vector fields on M. For the expression of Riemannian curvature

$$R(X_1, X_2)X_3 = [\nabla_{X_1}, \nabla_{X_2}] - \nabla_{[X_1, X_2]}X_3$$

we have following properties [19];

$$R(X_1, X_2)\xi = \eta(X_1)X_2 - \eta(X_2)X_1 \tag{4}$$

$$R(X_1,\xi)\xi = -X_1 + \eta(X_1)\xi$$
(5)

$$\eta(R(X_1, X_2)X_3) = g(X_1, X_3)\eta(X_2) - g(X_2, X_3)\eta(X_1)$$
(6)

Also for Ricci curvature of M we have

$$Ric(X_1,\xi) = -2n\eta(X_1) \tag{7}$$

3 A Type of Semi-symmetric metric connection on p-Kenmotsu manifold

A semi-symmetric metric connection is a type of connections in Riemannian geometry which has non-zero torsion. There are many different kinds of semi-symmetric metric connections. In this section we use one of them, then we obtain many results. Let M be a (2m + 1)-dimensional p-Kenmotsu manifold and define $\nabla^* : \Gamma(TM) \times \Gamma(TM) \to \Gamma(TM)$ as follow

$$\nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star} X_2 = \nabla_{X_1} X_2 + \eta(X_2) X_1 - g(X_1, X_2) \xi \tag{8}$$

 ∇^* is a semi-symmetric connection i.e. the torsion of ∇^* is not zero. Also $\nabla^{\star\star}$ is a metric connection that is $(\nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star}g)(X_2, X_3) = g(\nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star}X_2, X_3) + g(X_2, \nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star}X_2)$. A p-Kenmotsu manifold admitting $\nabla^*\star$ were studied by Sinha and Prasad [3].

By using (3), (4), (7) we have

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star}\phi)X_2 = -2(\nabla_{X_1}\phi)X,\tag{9}$$

$$\nabla_X^{\star\star}\xi = 2[X - \eta(X)\xi],\tag{10}$$

$$\nabla_{\xi}^{\star\star}\xi = 0,\tag{11}$$

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\star\star}\eta)X_2 = 2g(\phi X_1, \phi X_2).$$
 (12)

Thus, from (11) we state:

Corollary 1. The characteristic vector field of a p-Kenmotsu manifold M with semi-symmetric metric connection $\nabla^{\star\star}$ is a geodesic vector field on M.

The Riemannian curvature of $\nabla^{\star\star}$ is obtained as

$$R^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3 = R(X_1, X_2)X_3 + [2\eta(X_1)\eta(X_2) + g(X_2, X_3)]X_1$$

$$-[2\eta(X_1)\eta(X_3) + g(X_1, X_3)]X_2$$

$$+2[\eta(X_1)g(X_2, X_3) - \eta(X_2)g(X_1, X_3)]\xi$$
(13)

By using the expression of $R^{\star\star}$ we get followings;

$$R^{\star\star}(X_1,\xi)\xi = -2[\eta(X_1)X_2 - \eta(X_2)X_1],$$

$$R^{\star\star}(X_1,X_2)\xi = -2[\eta(X_3)X_1 - g(X_1,X_3)\xi],$$

$$\eta(R^{\star\star}(X_1,X_2)X_3) = 2[\eta(X_1)g(X_3,X_2) - \eta(X_2)g(X_3,X_1)]$$

Also we have symmetry properties of $R^{\star\star}$ as:

$$\begin{aligned} R^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3 + R^{\star\star}(X_2, X_3)X_1 + R^{\star\star}(X_3, X_1)X_2 &= 0, \\ R^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3 + R^{\star\star}(X_2, X_1)X_3 &= 0, \\ g(R^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3, X_4) - g(R^{\star\star}(X_3, X_4)X_1, X_2) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

for all $X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4 \in \Gamma(TM)$. The Ricci curvature of a p-Kenmotsu manifold with $\nabla^{\star\star}$ is given by

$$Ric^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2) = Ric(X_1, X_2) + (2m+3)g(X_1, X_2) + (4m-3)\eta(X_1)\eta(X_2)$$

and the scalar curvature is obtained as

$$scal^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2) = scal + 6m.$$

Also we have

$$Ric^{\star\star}(\xi,\xi) = 4m. \tag{14}$$

A well known results is that ; a p-Kenmotsu manifold can not be flat [3], because of the fact that $Ric(\xi,\xi) = -2m$. Similarly, from (14) we state;

Theorem 2. A *p*-Kenmotsu manifold M with a semi-symmetric metric connection $\nabla^{\star\star}$ can not be *flat*.

4 M-projective curvature tensor on p-Kenmotsu manifolds with a type of semi-symmetric metric connection

Curvature tensors play a major role in the Riemannian geometry of manifolds with structure. There are many different kinds of curvature tensors. On of them is \mathcal{M} -projective curvature tensor which is defined in [20]. For a p-Kenmotsu manifold M the \mathcal{M} -projective curvature tensor is defined as

$$\mathcal{W}(X_1, X_2)X_3 = R(X_1, X_2)X_3 - \frac{1}{4m}[Ric(X_2, X_3)X_1 - Ric(X_1, X_3)X_2 + g(X_2, X_3)QX_1 - g(X_1, X_3)QX_2]$$
(15)

for $X_1, X_2, X_3 \in \Gamma(TM)$.

This type of tensor on a p-Kenmotsu manifold was studied by Singh and Kishor in [21]. With using curvature form and Ricci curvature of a p-Kenmotsu manifold with $\nabla^{\star\star}$ we get the \mathcal{M} -projective curvature tensor of $\nabla^{\star\star}$ as follow;

$$\mathcal{W}^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3 = \mathcal{W}(X_1, X_2)X_3 + \frac{4m+3}{4m}\mathcal{K}(X_1, X_2)X_3$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}(X_1, X_2)X_3 = [g(\phi X_1, \phi X_2)X_1 - g(\phi X_1, \phi X_3)X_2]$$

for all $X_1, X_2, X_3 \in \Gamma(TM)$. Thus, we get

Corollary 2. Let M be a W-flat p-Kenmotsu manifold. Then, M is W^{**} -flat if and only if K vanishes identically.

The operation of "." acts like as a derivation on curvature tensor and it is defined as follow ;

$$(R(X_1, X_2).\mathcal{T})(X_3, X_4)X_5 = R(X_1, X_2)\mathcal{T}(X_3, X_4)X_5 - \mathcal{T}(R(X_1, X_2)X_3, X_4)X_5 - \mathcal{T}(X_3, R(X_1, X_2)X_4)X_5 - \mathcal{T}(X_3, X_4)R(X_1, X_2)X_5.$$

for all X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4, X_5 vector fields on M, where \mathcal{T} is a (1,3)-tensor field. A p-Kenmotsu manifold is called locally symmetric or semi-symmetric if $R \cdot R = 0$. Also we recall a Riemann manifold as T-semi-symmetric if $R \cdot T = 0$.

Let S be a (0, 2)-type tensor field on a p-Kenmotsu manifold M. Then, we have

$$(\mathcal{W}^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2) \cdot \mathcal{S})(X_3, X_4) = -\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{W}^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_3, X_4) - \mathcal{S}(X_3, \mathcal{W}^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2)X_4).$$
(16)

With using the expression $\mathcal{W}^{\star\star}$ we obtain

$$(\mathcal{W}^{\star\star}(X_1, X_2) \cdot \mathcal{S})(X_3, X_4) = (\mathcal{W}(X_1, X_2) \cdot \mathcal{S})(X_3, X_4) + \mathcal{P}(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4) = \frac{4m+3}{4m} [g(\phi X_2, \phi x_3)S(X_1, X_3) - g(\phi X_1, \phi X_3)S(X_2, X_4) \quad (17) \\ + g(\phi X_2, \phi X_4)S(X_1, X_3) - g(\phi X_1, \phi X_3)S(X_2, X_3)]$$

We can state following theorem from the expression of $\mathcal{W}^{\star\star} \cdot \mathcal{S}$:

Theorem 3. Let M be p-Kenmotsu manifold satisfying the condition $W \cdot S = 0$. Then, $W^{\star \star} \cdot S = 0$ if and only if $\mathcal{P} = 0$.

A p-Kenmotsu manifold is called as Ricci-semi symmetric if $R \cdot Ric = 0$. Similar to locally symmetry we recall a p-Kenmotsu manifold by \mathcal{T} -Ricci semi-symmetric if $\mathcal{T} \cdot Ric = 0$.

Theorem 4. Let M be an \mathcal{M} -projectively Ricci-semi-symmetric p-Kenmotsu manifold. Then, M is an \mathcal{M} -projectively Ricci-semi-symmetric p-Kenmotsu manifold with a semi-symmetric metric connection $\nabla^{\star\star}$ if and only if $Ric(X_1, X_2) = \frac{scal}{2m}g(\phi X_1, \phi X_2)$.

Proof. Let take S = Ric in (16) and suppose that $\mathcal{P} = 0$. For an orthonormal basis $\{E_i, \phi E_i, \xi\}, 1 \le i \le 2m + 1$ of $\Gamma(TM)$ and by getting sum over i in (17), we obtain

$$Ric(X_1, X_2) = \frac{scal}{2m}g(\phi X_1, \phi X_2).$$

This completes the proof.

References

- [1] S. Zamkovoy, "Canonical connections on paracontact manifolds," *Annals of Global Analysis and Geometry*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 37–60, 2009.
- [2] K. Kenmotsu, "A class of almost contact riemannian manifolds," *Tohoku Math. J.* (2), vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 93–103, 1972.
- [3] B. Sinha and K. S. Prasad, "A class of almost para contact metric manifold," *Bulletin of the Calcutta Mathematical Society*, vol. 87, pp. 307–312, 1995.
- [4] T. Satyanarayana and K. S. Prasad, "On a type of para kenmotsu manifold," *Pure Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 165–170, 2013.
- [5] S. S. Devi, K. S. Prasad, and G. Deekshitulu, "Ricci and projective curvature tensors on a type of para-kenmotsu manifold," *International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 111, no. 2, pp. 273–280, 2016.
- [6] K. S. Prasad and T. Satyanarayana, "Some curvature properties on a special paracontact kenmotsu manifold with respect to semi-symmetric connection," *Turkish Journal of Analysis and Number Theory*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 94–96, 2015.
- [7] K. Dube, "Study of curvatures on para-kenmotsu manifold," *The Nepali Math. Sci. Report*, vol. 15, no. 1-2, 1996.
- [8] T. Satyanarayana and K. S. Prasad, "On semi-symmetric para kenmotsu manifolds," *Turkish J. Analysis and Number Theory*, vol. 3, pp. 145–148, 2015.
- [9] A. Blaga, "Invariant, anti-invariant and slant submanifolds of a para-kenmotsu manifold," in Proceedings-The International Conference of Differential Geometry and Dynamical Systems (DGDS-2016), vol. 24, pp. 19–28, 2017.
- [10] R. Sarı, İ. Ünal, and E. A. Sarı, "Para kenmotsu manifoldun skew semi invaryant altmanifoldları," *Gümüşhane Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi*, pp. 112–118, 2018.
- [11] H. Hayden, "Sub-spaces of a space with torsion," *Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 27–50, 1932.
- [12] K. Yano, "On semi-symmetric connection," *Revue Roumaine de Math. Pure et Appliques*, vol. 15, pp. 1570–1586, 1970.
- [13] S. Sharfuddin, "Semi-symmetric metric connection in almost contact manifolds," *Tensor, NS*, vol. 30, pp. 133–139, 1976.
- [14] U. De and J. Sengupta, "On a type of semi-symmetric metric connection on an almost contact metric manifold," *Filomat*, pp. 33–42, 2000.

- [15] B. B. Sinha and K. L. Sai Prasad, "A class of almost para contact metric manifold," *Bulletin of the Calcutta Mathematical Society*, vol. 87, pp. 307–312, 2006.
- [16] K. S. Prasad and T. Satyanarayana, "On para kenmotsu manifold," *International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 35–41, 2014.
- [17] A. T. Vanlı and R. Sarı, "The smallest dimension submanifolds of para β-kenmotsu manifold," *Gazi University Journal of Science*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 695–701, 2016.
- [18] K. Srivastava and S. Srivastava, "On a class of α -para kenmotsu manifolds," *Mediterranean Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 391–399, 2016.
- [19] G. Pitis, Geometry of Kenmotsu manifolds. Publ. House Transilvania Univ., Brasov., 2007.
- [20] G. Pokhariyal and R. Mishra, "Curvature tensors' and their relativistic significance," 1970.
- [21] A. Singh, S. Kishor, *et al.*, "Certain results on para-kenmotsu manifolds equipped with *m*-projective curvature tensor," *Tbilisi Mathematical Journal*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 125–132, 2018.

Using Factor Analysis and Cluster Analysis as tools for studying the service quality. An evidence from the field of hospitality in Albania.

Phd. Evgjeni Xhafaj¹, Phd. Daniela Halidini Qendraj²

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania, ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Information Technology, Aleksander Moisiu University Durres, Albania. E-mails: genaxhafa@yahoo.com, daniela_gendraj@hotmail.com

Abstract

In an environment of strong competition and continuous development, the hotel sector must improve the quality of service in order to increase customer satisfaction to cope the competition and long-term position in the market. The main purpose of this study is to evaluate the dimensions of service quality and the relationship between the latter, and customer satisfaction in the field of hospitality. The data belong to the year 2018 and the questionnaire was developed by 200 tourists from 10 hotels in Tirana. Is used the service quality model (SERVQUAL) that includes the dimensions reliability, empathy, responsiveness, assurance, and tangibility. The Factor Analysis (FA) technique has been applied to determine the factors that are most important in defining customer satisfaction and has been integrated the Cluster Analysis method to realize a division of the data in groups based on the customer satisfaction level. According to the FA results it was found out that from all of the dimensions included in our study, tangibility has the strongest conection with customer satisfaction. The results of this study serve in improving service quality enhancement programs in hotel's sector.

Keywords: Factor Analysis, Cluster analysis, dimension, SERVQUAL.

1. Introduction

Service quality has a great importance in the success of the hotel industry because it promotes customer satisfaction and consequently hotels remain competitive, sustainable and profitable. Service quality is a complex multidimensional concept and difficult to be measured (1) so in this way some indicators are used that summarize its multidimensional nature. Acording Parasuraman (1) SERVQUAL consists of 5 dimensions that are: reliability, empathy, responsiveness, assurance, and tangibility.

Reliability: The ability to perform the service dependably, consistently and accurately. Responsiveness: The willingness to help customers and provide prompt service. Assurance: The knowledge and courtesy of employees and their ability to convey trust and confidence. Tangibles: The physical evidence of service including physical facilities, appearance of personnel, tools, and equipment used to provide the service. Empathy: Caring individualized attention to its customer. A large number of empirical research have studied through the help of the SERVQUAL model the relationship between quality of service and customer satisfaction in the hotel industry (Debasish, Dey (2), Priyo (3), Godolja (4), Rahman (11), Markovic (5)). In the study of Rahman et al (11) is showed that the general structure loading of factorial analysis affirm that all the five factors serve as dimensions of service quality in the hospitality industry in Melaka. On the other hand, it is shown from the analysis of linear multiple regression that the dimensions of empathy,

responsiveness, tangibles are important in explaining the service quality. Marcovic et al (5) explores customers' perceptions of service quality in the Croatian hotel industry and determines through FA technique that structure of service quality perception includes reliability, empathy and competence of staff, accessibility and "tangibles" because these variables are the best that explained customers' expectations of Croatian hotel service quality. In the study of Masrurul (12) has highlighted the issue of the impact of "service quality on customer satisfaction" and notes that four dimensions influenced service quality, except the assurance that has no impact. The findings in the study of Fah et al (6) are consistent with previous studies because based on reliability and validity test, show that tangibility, reliability and assurance, responsiveness and empathy are dimensions of service quality. Multiple Linear Regression was performed in order to see the relationship between the dimensions tangibility, reliability, assurance, responsiveness, empathy, hotel technology, ecological design and customer satisfaction towards hotels in Langkawi, and it turns out that all dimensions have a significant effect on customer satisfaction.

2. Methods

A total of 200 surveys were distributed among 3-star hotels in Tirana, 10 in total in 2018. The survey was developed based on the SERVQUAL model Parasuraman (1) in the spring period. All variables were measured on a 1–7 likert scale, from "Strongly Disagree" to "Strongly Agree". Factor Analysis and Cluster Analysis was applied through SPSS program. Factor analysis shows that with whether the correlations between a set of observed variables can be explained in terms of a smaller number of unobservable constructs known common factors (B. G Tabachnick, L. Fidell) (7). So the FA technique reduces the number of variables by using a smaller number that we will refer as dimensions. Since it is based on the correlation between variables, the correlation matrix is calculated. There are several methods used to obtain factor solutions, but in our study has been applied Principal Components Analysis (PCA). Since the PCA method has been applied we will use the term principal component for the construct customer satisfaction. The variables: reliability, responsiveness, assurance, tangibility, empathy are called dimensions of the main factor or of the principal component customer satisfaction. As part of the FA procedure is the determination of the number of factors to be extracted. Only eigenvalues of 1 or greater will be considered (8). We need to test if the data matrix has sufficient correlations in order to apply FA. In order to test collinearity we need before two measures that are The Kaiser – Meyer – Olkin (KMO) statistic and Bartlett's test of sphericity. Kaiser - Meyer - Olkin (KMO) statistics are called model suitability measure and values that are less than 0.5 are called unacceptable. The Bartlett criterion controls the hypothesis that the correlation matrix is an identity matrix. In our study, we find also the factor scores that describe the relations between factors and data. Factors scores are used as inputs in cluster analysis and specifically the K-means algorithm has been developed. In this way we obtain the separation of data into 3 groups that represent the level of hotel's customer satisfaction.

3. Results

Table 1 indicates factor loadings concerning the components. Referring to Henry et al. (9) we should take into consider all those dimensions that have a load greater than 0.3. It is seen from table 1 that all loading complete the criterion therefore they are important in explaining the principal component. The principal component is interpreted as "the component of the customer satisfaction level". The principal component has a strong correlation with all variables so we will consider only that.

Dimension	Component
	1
Tangibles	0.859
Reliability	0.793
Responsiveness	0.833
Empathy	0.505
Assurance	0.787

 Table 1. Matrix Component

Table 2 below, shows all the components derived from eigenvalue factor analysis, the percentage of variance attributed to each factor and cumulative variance. The eigenvalue shows us the total amount of variance, explained by each component in the PCA.

First factor has an eigenvalue of 2.934. The third column shows the percentage of variance explained by each component. We see that the first component explains 58.6% of the overall variance while the other components have eigenvalue less than 1 therefore we don't take them into consideration.

Component	Initial			Extraction		
	Eigenvalues			Sums of		
				Squared		
				Loadings		
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative
	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%
1	2.934	58.671	58.671	2.934	58.671	58.671
2	0.82	16.408	75.078			
3	0.507	10.131	85.209			
4	0.409	8.179	93.388			
5	0.331	6.612	100			

 Table 2. Component's variance

In Table 3 is shown The Kaiser – Meyer – Olkin (KMO) statistic and Bartlett's test of sphericity. It is shown from table 3 that the value of the statistic KMO turned out to be equal to 0.838, then we say that we are within an acceptable interval; the data are suitable for the FA. The Bartlett criterion controls whether the correlation matrix is an identity matrix.

The level of significance or this criterion is 0.000 so it is less than 0.05 therefore in this case we reject the above hypothesis. So the main purpose in this case of PCA, is to extract the principal component "customer satisfaction" and to be able to use it to create the factor scores of dimensions.

While loading describes the relation between dimensions and the principal component, whereas factor scores represent the relation of the factors to the data.

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy.		0.837674
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	327.2341
	df	10
	Sig.	2.68E-64

Table 3. KMO and and Bartlett's Test

For the obtained factor scores we develop the K-means algorithm to realize the separation into groups. Table 4 shows the groups.

Table 4.	Final	Cluster	Centers
----------	-------	---------	---------

	Cluster		
	1	2	3
REGR factor score 1 for analysis 1	-1.04824	0.64212	2.57718
Percentage	41%	56%	3%

The results of table 4 show that value greater than zero for a factor score, exhibits that the characteristic described by the factor (in our case the level of customer satisfaction) is above the average and if a factor score is below zero, then show that the characteristic is below average (Moi et al) (10).

The groups based on the above explanations are named as follows: The first group is the group where the level of customer satisfaction is low, the second group is the group where the level of customer satisfaction is average, the third group is the group where the level of customer satisfaction is high. This separation is made based on the values of factor scores. It is shown that the majority of tourists (56%) taken into consideration in our study, have an average level of satisfaction, regarding the quality of service.

4. Conclusions

Factor analysis shows that with whether the correlations between a set of observed variables can be explained in the context of a smaller number of latent constructs known common factors. The EA method used in this study confirmed the 5-dimensional structure of the SERVOUAL model

The FA method used in this study confirmed the 5-dimensional structure of the SERVQUAL model. The findings of this study show that from the application of group analysis with the method of K-means, is developed the separation into 3 groups which showed that they are distinct from each other. There is a high percentage of tourists in group 2 (average level) which corresponds to 56% of the total number of tourists surveyed. The findings of this study serve to improve programs in order to increase the quality of service in the hotel sector.

5. References

- 1. Parasuraman a, Zeithaml V a, Berry LL. SERQUAL: A Multiple-Item scale for Measuring Consumer Perceptions of Service Quality. Journal of Retailing. 1988.
- 2. Swaroop Debasish S, Dey S. Customer Perceptions of Service Quality Towards Luxury Hotels in Odisha Using Servqual Model. Int J Res Bus Stud Manag. 2015;
- 3. Priyo JS, Mohamad B, Adetunji RR. An examination of the effects of service quality and customer satisfaction on customer loyalty in the hotel industry. Int J Supply Chain Manag. 2019;
- 4. Godolja M, Spaho A. Critical Incident Analysis in Measurement of Hotel Guest Satisfaction. A Case Study from Tirana, Albania. J Educ Soc Res. 2014;
- 5. Markovic S, Raspor S. Measuring Perceived Service Quality Using SERVQUAL: A Case Study of the Croatian Hotel Industry. Management. 2010;
- 6. Fah LK, Kandasamy S. An Investigation of Service Quality and Customer Satisfaction among Hotels in Langkawi. Int Conf Manag (ICM 2011). 2011;
- 7. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics, 3rd ednHarper Collins. New York. 1996;
- 8. Hair JF, Black WC, Babin BJ, Anderson RE. Multivariate Data Analysis. Vectors. 2010.
- 9. Henry C, Lapenu C, Zeller M, Sharma M. Microfinance Poverty Assessment Tool. Microfinance Poverty Assessment Tool. 2003.
- 10. Mooi, E.; Sarstedt M. A Conclusion Guide to Market Research. The Process, Data, and Methods Using IBM SPSS Statistics. Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling. 2011.
- Rahman et al, Effectiveness of SERVQUAL Dimensions in Increasing Customer Satisfaction, between Hotel and Resort in Melaka, Journal of Human Capital Development, 3(2), 133-150 (2010).
- 12. Mowla Mohammad Masrurul, Impact of Service Quality on Customer Satisfaction in Bangladesh Tourism Industry: An Empirical Study, Advances In Management, (2019) Vol 12

A Note on the Commutativity of Riemann Differential Equation

Mehmet Emir Koksal

Department of Mathematics, Ondokuz Mayis University, 55139 Atakum, Samsun, Turkey E-mail(s): mekoksal@omu.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, commutativity conditions of Riemann differential equation are considered. Using commutativity conditions of second-order continuous time-varying linear systems [1], it is proved that the system described by a Riemann differential equation has commutative pairs, which depends on the parameters of the equation. An example is considered to find the commutative pair of Riemann differential equation.

1. Introduction

Time-varying linear systems are used for modeling, solving and analyzing many physical and engineering problems. There have been many publications on this subject in the literature (see [2-4] and the references therein). The commutativity of linear time-varying analog systems has gained attraction in the last few decades. This concept was studied by Marshal [5] for the first time for first-order systems in 1977. Then, commutativity of second-order linear time-varying systems was studied by Koksal [1] in 1982.

Although most of the famous second-order time-varying differential equations are subjected from the commutativity point of view in [6, 7], Riemann differential equation [8] is not among them. So, the purpose of this study is to find commutativity conditions of Riemann differential equation

$$y''(x) + \left(\frac{1-\alpha-\alpha'}{x-a} + \frac{1-\beta-\beta'}{x-b} + \frac{1-\gamma-\gamma'}{x-c}\right)y'(x) + \left[\frac{\alpha\alpha'(a-b)(a-c)}{x-a} + \frac{\beta\beta'(b-c)(b-a)}{x-b} + \frac{\gamma\gamma'(c-a)(c-b)}{x-c}\right]\frac{y(x)}{(x-a)(x-b)(x-c)} = 0, (1)$$

such that $\alpha + \alpha' + \beta + \beta' + \gamma + \gamma' = 1$. Here, $\alpha, \alpha', \beta, \beta', \gamma, \gamma', a, b, c$ are constants.

2. Commutativity Conditions of Second-order Systems

We assume that A be linear time-varying second-order differential system described by the following second-order differential equations:

 $a_2(t)\ddot{y}_A(t) + a_1(t)\dot{y}_A(t) + a_0(t)y_A(t) = x_A(t), y_A(t_0) = y_{A0}; t \ge t_0.$ (2) Here, $x_A(t)$ and $y_A(t)$ are input and output functions, respectively. The initial time is t_0 and the initial value is y_{A0} . For the unique solution of Eq. (2) for $t \ge t_0$, it is sufficient that the excitation and the time-varying coefficients $a_2(t), a_1(t), a_0(t)$ be piece-wise continuous functions of time with $a_2(t) \ne 0$ for all $t \ge t_0$.

The system modeled by Eq. (2) has commutative pairs if and only if the coefficients of the system satisfy the following equation:

$$-a_2^{0.5} \frac{d}{dt} \left[a_0 - \frac{1}{16a_2} \left(4a_1^2 + 3\dot{a}_2^2 - 8a_1\dot{a}_2 + 8\dot{a}_1a_2 - 4a_2\ddot{a}_2 \right) \right] k = 0,$$
(3)

where k is a constant. In [1], Koksal proved that commutative pairs of (2) are obtained by

$$\begin{bmatrix} b_2 \\ b_1 \\ b_0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_2 & 0 & 0 \\ a_1 & a_2^{0.5} & 0 \\ a_0 & a_2^{-0.5}(2a_1 - \dot{a}_2)/4 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} k_2 \\ k_1 \\ k_0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(4)

where k_2 , $k_1 = \text{same k in Eq. (3)}$, k_0 are some constants. Then, any commutative pair B of A is described by

$$b_2(t)\ddot{y}_B(t) + b_1(t)\dot{y}_B(t) + b_0(t)y_B(t) = x_B(t).$$
(5)

3. Commutativity of Riemann Differential Equation

For Eq. (1),
$$a_0 = \frac{1}{(x-a)(x-b)(x-c)} \left[\frac{\alpha \alpha'(a-b)(a-c)}{x-a} + \frac{\beta \beta'(b-c)(b-a)}{x-b} + \frac{\gamma \gamma'(c-a)(c-b)}{x-c} \right]$$
 and $a_1 = \frac{1-\alpha-\alpha'}{x-a} + \frac{1-\beta-\beta'}{x-b} + \frac{1-\gamma-\gamma'}{x-c}$. Because of the fact that $a_2 = 1, \dot{a}_2 = \ddot{a}_2 = 0$. So, Eq. (3) becomes
 $-a_2^{0.5} \frac{d}{dt} \left[a_0 - \frac{a_1^2 + 2\dot{a}_1}{4} \right] k = 0.$ (6)

Excluding the special case $k = k_1 \neq 0$ which corresponds to constant feedforward and constant feedback connections of the system A [9], inside of the parenthesis of Eq. (6) must be equal to a constant. Putting the values of $a_0, a_1, \dot{a}_1 = -\frac{1-\alpha-\alpha'}{(x-\alpha)^2} - \frac{1-\beta-\beta'}{(x-b)^2} - \frac{1-\gamma-\gamma'}{(x-c)^2}$ in, we obtain following expression:

$$-\frac{A^{2}}{4(x-a)^{2}} - \frac{B^{2}}{4(x-b)^{2}} - \frac{C^{2}}{4(x-c)^{2}} - \frac{2AB}{4(x-a)(x-b)} - \frac{2AC}{4(x-a)(x-c)} - \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-c)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{4(x-b)(x-b)} + \frac{2BC}{$$

$$+\frac{F}{(x-a)(x-b)(x-c)^2} = constant$$

, B = 1 - \beta - \beta', C = 1 - \beta - \beta', D = \alpha\alpha'(a-b)(a-c), E =

where $A = 1 - \alpha - \alpha', B = 1 - \beta - \beta', C = 1 - \gamma - \gamma', D = \alpha \alpha'(a - b)(a - c), E = \beta \beta'(b - c)(b - a)$ and $F = \gamma \gamma'(c - a)(c - b)$.

If we equate the denominators, multiply the whole equation by $4(x-a)^2(x-b)^2(x-c)^2$, equate the coefficients of like powers of x on both sides of the equation we obtain *constant* = 0 for the 6th and 5th powers. Further powers lead to:

For x^4 ,

$$A^{2} + B^{2} + C^{2} + 2(AB + AC + BC) = 2(A + B + C).$$
 (7)

For x^3 ,

$$A^{2}(b+c) + B^{2}(a+c) + C^{2}(a+b) = 2A(b+c) + 2B(a+c) + 2C(b+a)$$

-AB(a+b+2c) - AC(a+2b+c) - BC(2a+b+c).

For
$$x^2$$
,

$$4(D + E + F) + (-A^{2} + 2A)[c^{2} + 2(b + c) + b^{2}] + (-B^{2} + 2B)[a^{2} + 2(a + c) + c^{2}]$$

$$(-C^{2} + 2C)[a^{2} + 2(a + b) + b^{2}] = 2AB[c^{2} + 2c(a + b) + ab] + 2AC[b^{2} + 2b(a + c) + ac]$$

$$+ 2BC[a^{2} + 2a(b + c) + bc].$$

For *x*,

$$\begin{aligned} -4D(b+c) - 4E(a+c) - 4F(a+b) - (-A^2 + 2A)(2bc^2 + 2b^2c) - (-B^2 + 2B)(2ac^2 + 2a^2c) \\ -(-C^2 + 2C)(2ab^2 + 2a^2b) &= 2AB[-(a+b)c^2 - 2abc] + 2AC[-(a+c)b^2 - 2abc] \\ &+ 2BC[-(b+c)a^2 - 2abc]. \end{aligned}$$

For x^0 ,

$$4(Dbc + Eac + Fab) + 2(Ab^{2}c^{2} + Ba^{2}c^{2} + Ca^{2}b^{2})$$

$$A^{2}b^{2}c^{2} + B^{2}a^{2}c^{2} + C^{2}a^{2}b^{2} + 2(ABabc^{2} + ACab^{2}c + BCa^{2}bc).$$

So, we have five different algebraic equations. For a = b = c, all equations are equivalent to each other. By solving Eq. (7), we obtain A + B = -C and A + B = 2 - C which mean $\alpha + \alpha' + \beta + \beta' + \gamma + \gamma' = 3$ and $\alpha + \alpha' + \beta + \beta' + \gamma + \gamma' = 1$ respectively. From the definition of Riemann differential equation, $\alpha + \alpha' + \beta + \beta' + \gamma + \gamma'$ must be equal to 1. So, A + B can not be equal to -C. Hence choosing A + B = 2 - C, Riemann differential equation has an unconditional commutative pair when a = b = c.

4. Example

Let us consider the following Riemann differential equation:

$$y''(x) + \left(\frac{1-\alpha-\alpha'}{x-a} + \frac{1-\beta-\beta'}{x-a} + \frac{1-\gamma-\gamma'}{x-a}\right)y'(x) = 0$$

$$k_2 \ddot{y}_B(t) + \left[\frac{2}{x-a}k_2 + k_1\right] \dot{y}_B(t) + \left[\frac{2}{x-a}k_1 + k_0\right] y_B(t) = x_B(t).$$

5. Conclusions

In this contribution, the existence of the commutative pairs of Riemann differential equation other than the constant feedback conjugates is studied. The nonlinear algebraic simultaneous equations that must be satisfied by the parameters of Riemann differential equation for the existence are derived. It is shown that Their always exist commutative pairs for the special case a = b = c. The study for the existence of the

commutative pairs needs a deeper study for the difficulty of dealing derived nonlinear equations that must be satisfied by the parameters and this is left as a future work.

Acknowledgments: This study was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under the project no. 115E952.

6. References

- [1] M. Koksal, Commutativity of second-order time-varying systems, International Journal of Control, 36 (3) 541-544, 1982
- [2] Z. Suna, Z. Zhanga, T.C. Tsao, Trajectory tracking and disturbance rejection for linear time-varying systems: Input/output representation, Systems & Control Letters, 58, 452-460, 2009.
- [3] L. Liu, J. Huang, Global robust stabilization of cascade-connected systems with dynamic uncertainties without knowing the control direction, IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, 51 (10) 1693-1699, 2006
- [4] S. Li, Y.P. Tian, Finite-time stability of cascaded time-varying systems, International Journal of Control, 80 (4) 646-657, 2007
- [5] J. E. Marshal, Commutativity of time varying systems, Electronics Letters, 13, 539-540, 1977
- [6] M.E. Koksal, Commutativity conditions of some time-varying systems, International Conference on Mathematics: "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians", 3-6 Jul 2018, Istanbul, Turkey, pp. 109-117, 2018
- [7] M. E. Koksal, Commutativity and commutative pairs of some well-known differential equations, Communications in Mathematics and Applications, 9 (4) 689-703, 2018
- [8] D. Zwillinger, Handbook of Differential Equations, Academic Press, 1997
- [9] M. Koksal, Exhaustive study on commutativity of time-varying systems, International Journal of Control, 47 (5) 1521-1537, 1988

An Evaluation Of The Albanian Electricity Market Through Optimization Models

Aurora Ferrja¹, Eralda Gjika (Dhamo)², Besiana Hamzallari³, Arbesa Kamberi⁴

^{1,2}Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Science, University of Tirana, Albania ³Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Science, University of Tirana, Albania ⁴Albanian Power Coorporation, Tirana, Albania

E-mail(s): ¹aurora.simoni@fshn.edu.al; ²eralda.dhamo@fshn.edu.al; ³besiana.hamzallari@fshn.edu.al; ⁴akamberi@kesh..al;

Abstract

The electrical energy system in Albania is toward the development and approval of the Albanian Market Model (AMM). As a Mediterranean country this is the moment where Albania should take advantage of its geographical position as an asset of the hydropower system and take lead position in the development of the regional market. Hydropower system plays an important role in the domestic produced energy and the country's production capacities are still unused. In this work we will discuss on the benefits of a larger common market which will improve the investment climate and will be more attractive to potential investors. Optimization and time series models are presented to give an overview of the potential production in hydropower's of the largest cascade in Albania (drin cascade). This analysis will help to evaluate the importance and capacity of hydropower as an excellent natural resource with the ability to adapt to demand with appropriate quantitative optimization and enhance competition.

Keywords: electrical energy, market, hydropower, optimization, forecast .

1. Introduction

The electric power system is one of the most important which affects directly the economic development of a country. In Albania, the electricity market works on fixed prices due to the contract between the government and the corporate. Being a country that is new to free market, it is a necessary that the electricity price should be assigned by the economic trade, not by fixed price. Our goal is to model a stable structure of free market that give us the opportunity to integrate with the region countries. For the model to be valuable it is needed a detailed analysis of the most important factors, which are rainfalls, air temperature, water inflow. These items affect directly in electric power production. The relation between unit operators could not be neglected, because they are in series geographical position.

The electrical power system is divided into three main sectors: manufacturing sector, transmission and distribution. The relation between these three sec-tors is presented in the report of the Electrical Power corporation (2016). In Albania the manufacturing sector (KESH) produces energy based on the distribution operator demand (OSHE).

The modelling of the electrical situation in the country is given in various studies using optimization techniques and approximation (2015. a) (Ferrja) Simoni and Dhamo (Gjika) has done the Forecasting of the maximum power in hydropower plant using PSO technique and time series . (2015.b) they have combined evolutionary algorithm PSO and Holt-Winters method to optimize the energy protected in hydro Power Plants and is shown the Efficiency of Time Series Models on Predicting Water Inflow.

Gjika and Ferrja (2019) have studied an Hybrid Models in Forecasting Precipitations and Water Inflow Albania Case Study. They have shown that the most accurate models were Time series models combined with PSO technique. Regarding International Hydropower Association energy demand is expected to increase by 60 per cent in 2020, and there is a clear need for Albania to strengthen its energy security and propose strategies on the electric market.

Many models are given for the energetic situation in different countries. A good review is presented by Weron (2014) related to electricity price forecasting Andrade et al. widely used statistical techniques such as regression model, Markov models, SARIMA models, neural networks and hybrid models. Andrade at al (2017) have presented probabilistic methods for price forecasting for day-ahead. Monteiro et al. (2016) conducted a short-term price forecasting model using neural network.

Janke and Steinke (2019) conducted a study for the German intraday market to forecast the price distribution in the time from three hours to 30 minutes. (2019) Hubicka et al. have done a study based on averaging day-ahead electricity price forecasts.

Albania electric power imports are high because the power generation is based only on hydropower plants. Our country is dependent on import due to the hydrology, this has nothing to do the establishment of the market. We seek to exchange energetic production with region countries to ensure the economical development of the country. A competitive market will help to present the real value for Albanian power sector and reduce the import expenses. Albania can take advantage of its location and unique hydro power assets and should use opportunity to take lead position in development of the regional power market.

It is necessary to fulfill the Public Service Ob-ligation (PSeO) which allows the company to trade excessive electricity in the unregulated market. The geo-graphical position of our country favors us to develop the Albanian electricity exchange in the Balkan region. which can be considered as the last step towards market liberalization. Gradual market liberalization will in-crease the amount of energy that can be sold in the unregulated market. Detailed expertise is needed to operate the energy exchange.

2. Case study

To maximize the amount of energy produced in hydro plant, numerous efforts have been made to improve the supply systems.(2012) Fontana at.al has Losses reduction and Energy Production in Water-Cascade. (2012) Möderl at. al, (2014) Van Vuurenat.al have been implemented different generating schemes in order to analyze the hydro power generation potential.

The Mediterranean geographical position and climatic conditions of Albania makes the power sector heavily dependent on electrical energy produced mainly by hydropower plants (HPP). The electrical power system is divided into three main sectors, manufacturing sector, transmission and distribution.



Figure1. Scheme of main sector of electrical power system.

The power distribution operator (OSHEE) makes the demand for energy to manufacturing sector (KESH) which is obligated to full fill the request. KESH is the main public producer of electrical energy in the country. It has into administration the main HPP positioned in Drin Cascade (Fierza HPP, Koman HPP, Vau-Dejes HPP) with an installed capacity of 1,350 MW. The cascade built on the Drin River is the largest in Balkan region both for its installed capacity and the size of hydro-tech works. Having in operation 79% of production capacity in the country, KESH supplies about 70-75% of the demand for electricity.

The produced capacity of thre main hydropower plant of Drin Cascade is given by the table below.

Table 1. Production capacity in drin Cascade divided in thre main HPP.

		PRODUCTION CAPACITI		
Gener	ration Plants	No. of Units	Installed Capacity	Mean Annual Production
DRIN RIVER Cascade	Fierza HPP	4	500 MW	1,290 GWh
	Komani HPP	4	600 MW	1,690 GWh
	Vau i Dejes HPP	5	250 MW	870 GWh
	Vlora TPP	1	98 MW	0 GWh
	TOTAL	14	1,448 MW	3,850 GWh

Fierza is the upper HPP of the Drin river cascade. For the installed power, the position and volume of the reservoir, Fierza plays a key role in the utilization, regulation and security of the entire cascade.

KESH is not only one of the producers of electricity from important hydropower sources in the region, but is also considered a regionally influential factor in the safety of hydro cycles. Position of HPP in Drin Cascade is shown in figure below.



Figure 2. Geographic position of three bazed HPP in Drin Cascade.



Figure 3. A picture of Fierza HPP.

3. Analysing and predicting the production in upcoming months

The time series of power generation in the Drin River cascade display monthly seasonality in their history. It is observed that the output in this cascade reaches the minimum values in months of July and August and the maximum values in wet months where the precipitations and waterinflow are higher.



Figure 4. Monthly and quarterly time series of the production in Drin cascade (source: authors)

The seasonality is also shown in monthly production (Fig.a) in quarterly production (Fig.b) and a stability in production is observed in the last years (Fig.c).



Figure 5. Seasonal Plot of monthly time series production in Drin cascade (Source:author)

During the period from March-April the production is high and also during the period December-January. The level of energy produced in January-February-March-April and also November –December have a considerable range compared to other months where the production remains in low levels due to low precipitation and water inflow.



Figure 6. Box-Plot of monthly energy production in Drin cascade (soruce:author)

Several modeling strategies among: hierarchical forecasting, neural network, multistage forecasting, econometric forecasting models may be used to obtain the predictions of electric energy demand in the country. These models can help the Albanian Power Corporation (KESH) to build various scenarious on optimizing the country demand and production capacities on HPP cascade.

Figure 7 show the forecast for energy production in Drin cascade using a Error-Trend-Seasonality model.



Figure 7. ETS forecast and confidence intervals for monthy energy production during 2020 in Drin cascade (source:authors)

We have used the forecasting packages in R (forecast library). Using an ARIMA, ETS and Neural network models we have simulated the forecast for each month in 2020. The forecast obtained from each

model show that the situation of energy produced in the cascade is expected to remain within the average levels. We want to emphases again that the production in based on the demand from the distribution operator OSHEE, and not on the capacity production of the cascade. Which means that the production power of the HPP is higher than the demand.

4. Optimization formulation

In this section we will present profit modeling as an optimization problem. After doing a detailed analysis of the main factors that affect the cascade energy production we can maximize the profit. (2020) Janczura and Michalak propose an optimization scheme for a selling strategy of an electricity producer who in advance decides on the share of electricity sold on the day-ahead market. They modeled maximization of the overall profit, minimization of the sellers risk, or maximization of the median of portfolio values. The energy corporationin ouer country is obligate to fulfill the required demand from (PSeO) then we can trade the amount of excess energy from the maximum output. We have two views of the situation, the generation capacity of the generating system according to the operating rules should be set at the maximum capacity, at the same time the economic portfolio should be optimized. In Drin Cascade where located the most important HPP, Fierza, Koman, Vau i Dejes. These three HPP taken in consideration, cannot work independently but as a compound system. We should make the right coordination of work in order to generate the maximum electric power in each of the HPP units. For this purpose, we set some conditions which are necessary to finish the process.

Our goal is to generate maximum power from the whole system so we can optimize the distance between optimal capacity and PSeO. The objective function is optimizing the economic portfolio which impacts directly on maximizing profit.

$$\max F = f(p_t * E_{free})$$

Where *F* is economic profit, p_t price stock exchange and E_{free} (free portfolio optimization capacity) this variable represents the energy purchased and sold at a different price. At the end of the operations in market the amount of energy interchanged is required to be zero.

$$\sum_{t} E^{t}_{_{free}} = 0$$

where $E_{free} = E_{max} - E_{PSeO}$

 E_{max} is the maximal capacity and E_{PSeO} is the amount of electricity that we are obliged to afford at a regulated price.

$$E_{free} + E_{PSeO} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{t=1}^{T} g \eta_i \rho Q_{i,t} H_{i,t}$$

where $P_{i,t} = g\eta_{i,t}\rho Q_{i,t}H_{i,t}$

T is the total number of the computation time interval index; *I* is the total number of reservoirs in system; *i* is the index for the number of reservoirs; *t* is the index for the current period; $P_{i,t}$ is the output of power; η_i is the hydropower generation efficiency of *i*-th reservoir; $Q_{i,t}$ ' is the release through the reservoir turbines of the *i*th reservoir in the *t*-th period; $H_{i,t}$, is the difference between reservoir water level and tail-racewater level of *i*th reservoir in *t* th period.

The head is defined as the difference between the water levels in the upstream and downstream reservoirs of the hydro power plant, depending on the water storages in the respective reservoirs

$$H_{i,t} = X_{i,t} - X_{i+1,t}, i = 1, 2, 3$$

 $H_{4,t} = \omega$, where $\omega = 23$

The optimal value of the given objective function is computed subjected to constraints of two kinds ; equality constraints and inequality constraints or simple variable bounds as given below.

Water balance equation. Generation associated discharge varies with time and there are environmental and weather factors which also contribute directly to change in water level. The water balance equation for each reservoir is given:

$$M_{i,t} = M_{i,t-1} + I_{i,t} + \left(\sum_{m \in M_j} q_{t,m} + s_{t,m}\right) - q_{i,t} - s_{ki,t}$$

where $M_{i,t}$ is the water storage of reservoir j at end of period k; $I_{i,t}$ is the natural inflow to reservoir j during the period k; $q_{k,j}$ is the water discharge of plants j; $s_{k,j}$ is the water spillage by reservoir j; M_j is the set of reservoir upstream to reservoir j; $s_{k,m}$ is the water quantity discharged from the upper reservoir gates; $q_{k,m}$ is the water quantity discharged from the upper reservoir gates

Inequality constraints. Reservoir storage, turbine discharges rates, spillages and power generation limit should be in minimum and maximum bound due to the physical limitation of the dam and turbine.

Reservoir storage bounds: Generally in the hydro power plants the volume of water available is between the minimum draw down level and full reservoir level.

$$M_{i,\min} \le M_{i,t} \le M_{i,\max}$$
 (hm^3) or $X_{i,\min} \le X_{i,t} \le X_{i,\max}$ (m)

 $M_{i,t}$ water content of reservoir i at the end of position t; $M_{i,max}$ installed storage capacity of a hydro power unit; $M_{i,min}$ min storage contento of a hydro power unit; $X_{i,t}$ water level of reservoir i at the end of position t; $X_{i,max}$ max water level of reservoir i during position t; $X_{i,min}$ min water level of reservoir i during position t.

Water Discharge Bounds: This is a minimum and maximum bound on the release of the hydro power plant through turbine.

$$Q_{i,\min} \leq Q_{i,t} \leq Q_{i,\max} \quad (m/s^2)$$

 $Q_{i,t}$ water discharge of reservoir i during position t; $Q_{i,max}$ max discharge of a hydro power plant; $Q_{i,min}$ min discharge of a hydro power plant.

Power Generation Bounds: Power generated through hydro power plants should be minimum and maximum bounds.

$$P_{i,\min} \leq P_{i,t} \leq P_{i,\max}$$
 (MW)

 $P_{i,t}$ generated power of hydro unit i during position t (MW); $P_{i,max}$ max generated power of a hydro plant (MW); $P_{i,min}$ min generated power of a hydro plant (MW).

Spillage: Spillage from the reservoir is allowed only when to be released from reservoir exceeds the maximum discharge limits. Water spilled from reservoir i during time t can be calculated as follows

$$S_{i,t} \ge 0$$
 $S_{i,t} = Q_{i,t}^{,} - Q_{i,t}$ if $Q_{i,t}^{,} > Q_{i,t}$

Initial & end reservoir storage volume: This constraint implies the total quantity of utilized water for short term scheduling should be within limit.

$$X_j^0 = X_j^{begin}$$
 and $X_j^T = X_j^{end}$

The level of water in the reservoir after we operate must be the same as in the beginning. If we want to take an optimal choice than we should preserve the amount of water available in the reservoir.

5. Conclusions

The power situation in the country is in the development of an open market in order to maximize production capacity. Albania is a country with high potential for generating electricity power through HPP cascades. Being a country with a geographical position, Mediterranean climate and hydropower system across rivers all over the country it has all the potential to generate electricity not only for domestic purposes but also to sell internationally to neighbour countries or beyond.

In this paper we have presented the the current situation and production capability over the years in the largest cascade in Albania that provides the bulk of inner product. It was shown through time series forecasts that the production potential in Drin cascade would not decrease and could be maximized according to the needs of the internal and external market. Optimization models were mentioned for the purpose of constructing in next steps a concrete problem for estimating the electricity price in the country.

5. References

- Simoni A., Dhamo (Gjika) E., (2015) Forecasting the maximum power in hydropower plant using PSO, 6th INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE Information Systems and Technology Innovations: inducting modern business solutions, Tirana, June 5-6, 2015. ISBN: 978-9928-05-199-8 . http://conference.ijsint.org/sites/default/files/Agenda_ISTI2015.pdf
- Ferrja (Simoni) A, Kamberi A. (2014) "Planifikimi Optimal i Prodhimit të Energjise Elektrike të Gjeneruar nga Kaskada e Drinit", Proceedings Buletini i Shkencave te Natyres, Nr.18. ISSN 2305-882X https://sites.google.com/a/fshn.edu.al/fshn/home/
- Simoni A, Dhamo (Gjika) E., (2015) Evolutionary Algorithm PSO and Holt-Winters method applied in hydro Power Plants Optimization. Statistics, Probability & Numerical Analysis 2015 Methods And Applications Conference, Tirana, 5-6 December 2015. Proceedings Buletini i Shkencave te Natyres, Botim Special, ISSN 2305-882X https://sites.google.com/a/fshn.edu.al/fshn/home/botim-special
- Dhamo (Gjika) E., Simoni A, (2015) Efficiency of Time Series Models on Predicting Water Inflow, Conference: QUAESTI 2015, Slovakia, Volume: 3, Issue 1. (Conference Proceedings) ISSN: 2453-7144, CD ROM ISSN: 1339-5572. ISBN: 978-80-554-1170-5. DOI: 10.18638/quaesti.2015.3.1.225
- E. Gjika, A. Ferrja, A. Kamberi "A Study on the Efficiency of Hybrid Models in Forecasting Precipitations and Water Inflow Albania Case Study", Advances in Science, Technology and Engineering Systems Journal, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 302-310 (2019). DOI: 10.25046/aj040129
- Nowotarski, J.; Weron, R. Recent advances in electricity price forecasting: A review of probabilistic forecasting. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 2017, 81, 1548–1568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.234
- Nowotarski, J.;Weron, R. Computing electricity spot price prediction intervals using quantile regression and forecast averaging. Comput. Stat. 2015, 30, 791–803. Energies 2020, 13, 687 31 of 31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00180-014-0523-0
- Garcia-Martos, C.; Rodriguez, J.; Sanchez, M. Forecasting electricity prices by extracting dynamic common factors: Application to the Iberian market. IET Gener. Transm. Distrib. 2012, 6, 11–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2011.0009
- Karakatsani, N.V.; Bunn, D.W. Fundamental and behavioural drivers of electricity price volatility.Stud. Nonlinear Dyn. Econom. 2010, 14, 4. https://econpapers.repec.org/article/bpjsndecm/v_3a14_3ay_3a2010_3ai_3a4_3an_3a4.htm
- Wang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Chen, J. Short-term electricity price forecasting with stacked denoising autoencoders.IEEE Trans. Power Syst. 2016, 32, 2673–2681. http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2016.2628873
- Jónsson, T.; Pinson, P.; Madsen, H.; Nielsen, H.A. Predictive Densities for Day-Ahead Electricity Prices Using Time-Adaptive Quantile Regression. *Energies* 2014, 7, 5523-5547. https://doi.org/10.3390/en7095523
- Weron, R. Electricity price forecasting: A review of the state-of-the-art with a look into the future. Int. J. Forecast. 2014, 30, 1030–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijforecast.2014.08.008
- Andrade, J.; Filipe, J.; Reis, M.; Bessa, R. Probabilistic price forecasting for day-ahead and intraday markets: Beyond the statistical model. Sustainability 2017, 9, 1990. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9111990
- Monteiro, C.; Ramirez-Rosado, I.; Fernandez-Jimenez, L.; Conde, P. Short-term price forecasting models based on artificial neural networks for intraday sessions in the iberian electricity market. Energies 2016, 9, 721. https://doi.org/10.3390/en9090721
- Janke, T.; Steinke, F. Forecasting the Price Distribution of Continuous Intraday Electricity Trading. Energy Information Networks & Systems, TU Darmstadt, 64283 Darmstadt, Germany; Received: 30 August 2019; Accepted: 5 November 2019; Published: 8 November 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12224262
- Fontana, N.; Giugni, M.; Portolano, D. Losses Reduction and Energy Production in Water-Distribution Networks. J. Water Resour. Plan. Manag. 2012, 138, 237–244.
- Möderl, M.; Sitzenfrei, R.; Mair, M.; Jarosch, H.; Rauch, W. Identifying Hydropower Potential in Water Distribution Systems of Alpine Regions. In Proceedings of the World Environmental and Water Resources Congress 2012, Albuquerque, New Mexico, 20–24 May 2012.
- Van Vuuren, S.J.; Van Dijk, M.; Loots, I. Conduit Hydropower Pilot Plants; WRC Report No TT596/14; WaterResearch Commission: Pretoria, South Africa, 2014. http://www.wrc.org.za/wp-content/uploads/mdocs/TT596-14.pdf
- Ekaterina Abramova, Derek Bunn . Forecasting the Intra-Day Spread Densitie of Electricity. Prices Energies 2020, 13, 687 Received: 30 October 2019; Accepted: 23 January 2020; Published: 5 February 2020, https://doi.org/10.3390/en13030687
- Hubicka, K.; Marcjasz, G.; Weron, R. A note on averaging day-ahead electricity price forecasts across calibration windows. IEEE T. Sustain. Energ. 2019, 10, 321–323.
- Joanna Janczura and Aleksandra Michalak. Optimization of Electric Energy Sales Strategy Based On Probabilistic Forecasts. Energies 2020, 13, 1045; doi:10.3390/en13051045 www.mdpi.com/journal/energies
- $http://www.bogalaw.com/library/alban_energy2019_al.html?utm_source=Mondaq&utm_medium=syndication&utm_campaign=LinkedIn-integration$

SOME PROPERTIES OF THE PRE-ORDERS OBTAINED BY SOME TOPOLOGICAL CLOSURE OPERATORS

FUNDA KARAÇAL, ÜMIT ERTUĞRUL, AND M. NESIBE KESICIOĞLU

ABSTRACT. In this paper, the pre-order is defined by means of the topological operator $c^*_{U,A}$. Some properties of the pre-orders are investigated under some restrictions on the set A. The relationship between the selection of the set A and the obtained pre-orders is revealed. Moreover, an equivalence relation is defined and some properties of the relation are researched. Also, we define a uninorm on the quetient set of L by the relation \sim .

1. INTRODUCTION

Closure operators are important maps for many areas of mathematics such as lattices, topological spaces, fuzzy sets, graphs, categories, etc. Also, they are not only theoretically important operators but also have many applications ([3, 14]).

Uninorms are aggregation functions satisfying monotonicity, associativity, commutativity properties and with the neutral element e. They were first defined on unit real interval ([15]). Later, it was proven that there always exists a uninorm on any bounded lattice with a given neutral element ([10]). Following this study, uninorms on bounded lattices have been a hot topic for researchers and uninorms have been studied from many different aspects such as construction methods, ordering obtained by uninorms, etc ([5, 12, 13]).

When we look at the literature in terms of closure operator and uninorm, it is seen that closure operators were used in constructing uninorms ([13]) and obtaining a partial order from t-closure operator obtaining through triangular norms which is a special uninorm ([8]).

Inspiring by the idea of partially order in [8], we focus on the pre-orders obtained from closure operators in this study. The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. After recalling some necessary notions on lattices and uninorms on a bounded lattice in Section 2, we give the definitions of the pre-orders in Section 3. Also, some properties of the pre-orders are investigated under some restrictions on the set A or the uninorm U. The relationship between the selection of the set Aand the obtained pre-orders is proved. Moreover, we define the equivalence relation via $c^*_{U,A}$, and we investigate on some properties of the equivalence relation. Also, we define a uninorm on the quetient set of L by the relation \sim .

2. NOTATIONS, DEFINITIONS AND A REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESULTS

In this section, we recall some basic notions and results.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 03E72, 03B52, 08A72, 54A10, 06B30, 06F30. Key words and phrases. Bounded lattice, preorder, closure operator.

A bounded lattice (L, \leq) has a top and a bottom element, denoted by 1 and 0, respectively, i.e., there exist two elements $1, 0 \in L$ such that $0 \leq x \leq 1$, for all $x \in L$.

Definition 2.1. [10] Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice. An operation $U : L^2 \to L$ is called a uninorm on L, if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to the both variables and has a neutral element $e \in L$.

Recall that a uninorm U possessing a neutral element e = 1 is called a triangular norm. Similarly, a uninorm U with a neutral element e = 0 is called a triangular conorm.

Definition 2.2. [7, 12] A uninorm U is called conjunctive (disjunctive) if U(0,1) = 0 (U(0,1) = 1) respectively.

Definition 2.3. [11] A map $c : \wp(X) \to \wp(X)$ is called a topological closure operator on non-empty set X if it satisfies following conditions

C1.: $c(\emptyset) = \emptyset$, C2.: $A \subseteq c(A)$ for all $A \subseteq X$, C3.: c(c(A)) = c(A) for all $A \subseteq X$, C4.: $c(A \cup B) = c(A) \cup c(B)$ for all $A, B \subseteq X$.

The topology defined below is the topology associated with a closure operator.

Theorem 2.4. [11] Let c be a topological closure operator on X, Let \mathfrak{F} be the family of all subsets A of X for which c(A) = A, and let \mathfrak{T} be the family of complements of members of \mathfrak{F} . That is, $\mathfrak{T} = \{L \setminus A : A \in \mathfrak{F}\}$. Then \mathfrak{T} is a topology for X, and c(A) is the τ_c -closure of A for each subset A of X.

Proposition 2.5. [9] $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. The operation $c^*_{U,A} : \wp(L) \to \wp(L)$ defined by

 $c^*_{U,A}(X) = \{y \in L : \text{ there exists } a \in A \text{ and } x \in X \text{ such that } U(a,x) \leq y\}$ is a topological closure operator.

The topology defined by $\mathfrak{T}_{c_{U,A}^*} = \{L \setminus X \mid X \in \mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}}\}$ is the topology with the closure operator $c_{U,A}^*$, where $\mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}^*} = \{X \subseteq L \mid c_{U,A}^*(X) = X\}.$

Proposition 2.6. [9] $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. The operation $c_{U,A}^{**}: \wp(L) \to \wp(L)$ defined by $c_{U,A}^{**}(X) = \{y \in L : \text{ there exists } a \in A \text{ and } x \in X \text{ such that } U(a, x) \geq y\}$ is a topological closure operator.

The topology defined by $\mathfrak{T}_{c_{U,A}^{**}} = \{X' \mid X \in \mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}^{**}}\}$ is the topology with the closure operator $c_{U,A}^{**}$, where $\mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}^{**}} = \{X \subseteq L \mid c_{U,A}^{**}(X) = X\}.$

3. The Pre-orders Obtained by Some Topological Closure Operators

In this section, the pre-orders obtained from closure operators are defined. We investigate some properties of the pre-orders. Moreover, the equivalence relation via $c_{U,A}^*$ defined and some properties of the equivalence relation researched. Also, a uninorm is defined on the quetient set of L by the relation \sim .

SOME PROPERTIES OF THE PRE-ORDERS OBTAINED BY SOME TOPOLOGICAL CLOSURE OPERATORS

Definition 3.1. $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A,A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c^*_{U,A}$. The pre-order $x \preceq_{c^*_{U,A}} y \Leftrightarrow x \in c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$ is called a U-preorder for U.

Lemma 3.2. $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq C$ A where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c_{U,A}^*$. Then,

(i) $1 \leq_{c_{U,A}^*} x$ for all $x \in L$.

(ii) If U is a conjunctive uninorm and $0 \in A$, $x \preceq_{c_{UA}^*} y$ and $y \preceq_{c_{UA}^*} x$ for all $x, y \in L$.

(iii) $y \preceq_{c_{U_A}} x$ if $x \le y$ for $x, y \in L$.

(iv) If $0 \in A$, 0 is greater than all elements of L w.r.t the pre-order $\leq_{c_{U,A}^*}$.

(v) If $0 \in A$ and U is a conjunctive uninorm, 0 is smaller than all elements of L w.r.t. the pre-order $\leq_{c_{II}^*}$.

Proof. (i) Since $U(x,e) = x \leq 1$ for all $x \in L, 1 \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$. Therefore, $1 \leq_{c^*_{U,A}} x$ for all $x \in L$.

(ii) Let U is a conjunctive uninorm and $0 \in A$. Therefore, $U(x,0) = 0 \leq y$ and $\begin{array}{l} U(y,0) = 0 \leq x. \ \text{Then}, \ x \preceq_{c_{U,A}^*} y \ \text{and} \ y \preceq_{c_{U,A}^*} x \ \text{for all} \ x, y \in L. \\ (\text{iii)} \ \text{Let} \ x \leq y \ \text{for} \ x, y \in L \ \text{and} \ e \in A. \ \text{Since} \ U(x,e) = x \leq y, \ \text{i.e.}, \ y \in c_{U,A}^*(\{x\}), \end{array}$

 $y \preceq_{c^*_{U,A}} x.$

(iv) Let $0 \in A$. Since $U(0,0) = 0 \le x$ for all $x \in L, x \in c^*_{U,A}(\{0\})$, i.e $x \preceq_{c^*_{TL}} 0$ for all $x \in L$.

(v) Let $0 \in A$ and U be a conjunctive uninorm. Since $U(x,0) = 0 \le 0$ for $0 \in A$ and for all $x \in L$, $0 \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$, i.e., $0 \leq_{c^*_{U,A}} x$ for all $x \in L$.

Proposition 3.3. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $e \in L$, $A = \{e, 1\}$ and U be a uninorm on L with the neutral element $e \in L$ and consider the topological closure operator $c_{U,A}^*$ and $x \in L$. Then, $y \preceq_{c_{U,A}^*} x$ for $y \in [x, 1]$.

Proof. (i) Let $x \in L$. Then,

$$c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}) = \{y \in L : \text{there exists } a \in A = \{e, 1\} \text{ such that } U(a, x) \le y\} \\ = \{y \in L : U(e, x) \le y\} \cup \{y \in L : U(1, x) \le y\}.$$

Since $U(e, x) \leq U(1, x)$, it is obtained that

$$\begin{aligned} c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}) &= \{y \in L \; : \; U(e,x) \leq y\} \\ &= \{y \in L \; : \; x \leq y\} = [x,1]. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $y \preceq_{c_{U,A}} x$ for $y \in [x, 1]$.

Proposition 3.4. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. Consider the sets $A_1, A_2 \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A_1, A_2$, $U(A_1, A_1) \subseteq A_1, U(A_2, A_2) \subseteq A_2 \text{ and } A_1 \subseteq A_2.$ Then, $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_2}}$.

Proof. Let $(x,y) \in \preceq_{c_{U,A_1}}$. Then, $x \preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} y$. It means that $x \in c_{U,A_1}^*(\{y\})$. It follows from that there exists $a_1 \in A_1$ such that $U(a_1, y) \leq x$. Since $A_1 \subseteq A_2$, $a_1 \in A_2$. Therefore, $x \in c^*_{U,A_2}(\{y\})$. Then, it is clearly obtained that $x \preceq_{c^*_{U,A_2}} y$, i.e., $(x, y) \in \preceq_{c_{U,A_{\alpha}}}$.

Remark 3.5. The converse of Proposition 3.4 may not be satisfied. For example: Consider the lattice $((L = \{0, a, b, e, d, 1\}, \leq, 0, 1)$ whose lattice diagram is displayed in Fig. 1.



Figure 1. $(L, \le, 0, 1)$

Define the function $U: L^2 \to L$ as follows (Table 1):

U	0	a	b	e	d	1
0	0	0	0	0	d	1
a	0	0	0	a	d	1
b	0	0	0	b	d	1
e	0	a	b	e	d	1
d	d	d	d	d	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 1. The uninorm U on L

It is clear that the function U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e ([5]). Consider the topological closure operators c^*_{U,A_1} and c^*_{U,A_2} , where $A_1 = \{0, a, b, e\}$ and $A_2 = \{0, a, e\}$, respectively. Then, it is obtained that

$$\begin{split} c^*_{U,A_1}(\{0\}) &= L \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{0\}) = L), \\ c^*_{U,A_1}(\{a\}) &= L \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{a\}) = L), \\ c^*_{U,A_1}(\{b\}) &= L \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{b\}) = L), \\ c^*_{U,A_1}(\{e\}) &= L \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{e\}) = L), \\ c^*_{U,A_1}(\{d\}) &= \{d,1\} \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{d\}) = \{d,1\}), \\ c^*_{U,A_1}(\{1\}) &= \{1\} \quad (c^*_{U,A_2}(\{1\}) = \{1\}). \end{split}$$

Therefore, it is seen that $x \preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} y$ when $x \preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} y$ for $x, y \in L$, i.e., $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_2}}$. Thus, it is clear that $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_2}}$ does not require that $A_1 \subseteq A_2$. **Theorem 3.6.** Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c^*_{U,A}$. Then, the set $\mathcal{A} = \{ \leq_{c^*_{U,A}} | A \subseteq L \}$ is a pre-ordered set according to inclusion relation.

Proof. Considering Proposition 3.4, it is obtained that $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}^*} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_2}^*}$ when $A_1 \subseteq A_2$. Moreover, it is clear that $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}^*} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_3}^*}$ when $\preceq_{c_{U,A_1}^*} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_2}^*}$ and $\preceq_{c_{U,A_2}^*} \subseteq \preceq_{c_{U,A_3}^*}$.

Proposition 3.7. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c_{U,A}^*$. Then, the function $\alpha : L \to \mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}^*}$ given by

$$\alpha(x)=c^*_{U\!,A}(\{x\})$$

is an order-reversing map.

Proof. Let $x \leq y$ and $k \in c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$ for $x, y, k \in L$. Then, there exists an element $a \in L$ such that $U(a, y) \leq k$. Since $U(a, x) \leq U(a, y) \leq k$, $k \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$. Therefore, it is obtained that $c^*_{U,A}(\{y\}) \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$.

Proposition 3.8. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c_{U,A}^{**}$. Then, the function $\alpha : L \to \mathfrak{F}_{c_{U,A}^{**}}$ given by

$$\beta(x) = c_{U,A}^{**}(\{x\})$$

is an order-preserving map.

Proof. Let $x \leq y$ and $l \in c_{U,A}^{**}(\{x\})$ for $x, y, l \in L$. Then, there exists an element $a \in L$ such that $U(a, x) \geq l$. Since $U(a, y) \geq U(a, x) \geq l$, $l \in c_{U,A}^{**}(\{y\})$. Therefore, it is obtained that $c_{U,A}^{**}(\{x\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^{**}(\{y\})$.

Definition 3.9. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c^*_{U,A}$. Define a relation \sim on L by $x \sim y$ if and only if $c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$.

Proposition 3.10. The relation \sim given in Definition 3.9 is an equivalence relation.

Proof. The proof is obvious.

Definition 3.11. Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c^*_{U,A}$. We denote by \overline{x} the ~ equivalence class linked to x, i.e., $\overline{x} = \{y \in L : y \sim x\}$. The quotient set of L by the relation ~ is denoted as L/\sim , i.e.,

$$L/\sim = \{\overline{x} \mid x \in L\}.$$

Proposition 3.12. $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c_{U,A}^*$. Consider the equivalence class \overline{x} the \sim equivalence class linked to $x \in L$. Then, $\overline{U(a, x)} = \overline{U(a, y)}$ for all $a \in A$ if $\overline{x} = \overline{y}$. *Proof.* Let $\overline{x} = \overline{y}$ and $a \in L$. Then, $x \sim y$, i.e., $x \in c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$. Therefore, there exists an element $a_1 \in A$ such that $U(a_1, y) \leq x$. Since $U(U(a, y), a_1) = U(a, U(a_1, y)) \leq U(a, x)$, it is obtained that $U(a, x) \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a, y)\})$, i.e., $\{U(a, x)\} \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a, y)\})$. Thus,

(3.1)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a,x)\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a,y)\}).$$

On the other side, it follows from $x \sim y$ that $y \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$. Then, there exists an element $a_2 \in A$ such that $U(a_2, x) \leq y$. Since $U(U(a, x), a_2) = U(a, U(a_2, x)) \leq U(a, y)$, it is obtained that $U(a, y) \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a, x)\})$, i.e., $\{U(a, y)\} \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a, x)\})$. Thus,

(3.2)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a,y)\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a,x)\}).$$

Then, $c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a,x)\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{U(a,y)\})$ for all $a \in A$ from the (3.1) and (3.2). Therefore,

$$U(a, x) = \{t \in L : t \sim U(a, x)\}$$

= $\{t \in L : c_{U,A}^*(\{t\}) = c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a, x)\})\}$
= $\{t \in L : c_{U,A}^*(\{t\}) = c_{U,A}^*(\{U(a, y)\})\}$
= $\{t \in L : t \sim U(a, y)\}$
= $\overline{U(a, y)}.$

Corollary 3.13. $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice, $A \subseteq L$ such that $e \in A$ and $U(A, A) \subseteq A$ where U is a uninorm on L with the neutral element e and consider the topological closure operator $c^*_{U,A}$. Consider the equivalence class \overline{x} the \sim equivalence class linked to $x \in L$. Then, $\overline{x} = \{x\}$ for all $x \in L$ if $A = \{e\}$.

Proposition 3.14. The equivalence relation given by Definition 3.9 is an *U*-congruence relation.

Proof. Let $x, y, z, t \in L$, $x \sim y$ and $z \sim t$. Since $x \sim y$, there exists an element $a_1 \in A$ such that $U(x, a_1) \leq y$. Similarly, there exists an element $a_2 \in A$ such that $U(z, a_2) \leq t$ since $z \sim t$. Therefore, $U(U(x, z), U(a_1, a_2)) = U(U(x, a_1), U(z, a_2)) \leq U(y, t), U(y, t) \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x, z)\})$. Then,

(3.3)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{U(y,t)\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^*(\{U(x,z)\}).$$

On the contrary, there exists an element $a_1^* \in A$ such that $U(y, a_1^*) \leq x$ since $x \sim y$. Similarly, there exists an element $a_2^* \in A$ such that $U(t, a_2^*) \leq z$ since $z \sim t$. Therefore, $U(U(y,t), U(a_1^*, a_2^*)) = U(U(y, a_1^*), U(t, a_2^*)) \leq U(x, z)$, i.e., $U(x, z) \in c_{U,A}^*(\{U(y, t)\})$. Then,

(3.4)
$$c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x,z)\}) \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(\{U(y,t)\})$$

Thus, it is obtained that $c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x,z)\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{U(y,t)\})$ from the (3.3) and (3.4). Therefore, $U(x,z) \sim U(y,t)$.

Definition 3.15. Consider the quotient set L/\sim defined in Definition 3.11 and define the \leq relation on L/\sim by

$$\overline{x} \leq \overline{y} : \iff \overline{x} \leq \overline{y}.$$

Proposition 3.16. $(L/\sim, \leq)$ is a partially ordered set.

SOME PROPERTIES OF THE PRE-ORDERS OBTAINED BY SOME TOPOLOGICAL CLOSURE OPERATORS

Proof. The proof is obvious.

Proposition 3.17. Consider the partially ordered set $(L/\sim, \overline{\leq})$. Then, the followings are satisfied for $\overline{x}, \overline{y} \in L/\sim$ such that $\overline{x} = c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}), \overline{y} = c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$. (i) $\overline{x} \cup \overline{y} \subseteq \overline{x \land y}$, (ii) $\overline{x} \cup \overline{y} \subseteq \overline{x \land y}$,

(ii) $\overline{x \lor y} \subseteq \overline{x} \cap \overline{y}$

Proof. (i) It is obvious that $a \wedge b \leq a, b$ for all $a, b \in L$. Taking into account the definition of $c^*_{U,A}$, $x, y \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x \wedge y\}) = \overline{x \wedge y}$ since $U(x \wedge y, e) \leq x, y$ for $e \in A$. It follows from $\{x\}, \{y\} \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(x \wedge y) = \overline{x \wedge y}$ that $\overline{x} = c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}), \overline{y} = c^*_{U,A}(\{y\}) \subseteq c^*_{U,A}(\{x \wedge y\}) = \overline{x \wedge y}$. Therefore, $\overline{x} \cup \overline{y} \subseteq \overline{x \wedge y}$.

(ii) The proof can be done in a similar fashion as the proof of (i).

Proposition 3.18. Consider the partially ordered set $(L/\sim, \leq)$ and the uninorm U on L with the neutral element e. The function $\overline{U} : (L/\sim)^2 \to L/\sim$ defined by $\overline{U}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = \overline{U}(x, y)$ is a uninorm on L/\sim .

Proof. The function \overline{U} is a well-defined function since the equivalence relation is a U-congruence relation.

(i) The fact that \overline{e} is a neutral element of \overline{U} is obvious from the equation $\overline{U}(\overline{x},\overline{e}) = \overline{U}(x,e) = \overline{x}$ for all $\overline{x} \in L/\sim$.

(ii) The fact that the associativity and commutativity of \overline{U} are obvious from the associativity and commutativity of U.

(iii) Let $\overline{x} \leq \overline{y}$ and $m \in \overline{U}(\overline{x}, \overline{t}) = \overline{U(x, t)}$ arbitrarily to prove that $\overline{U}(\overline{x}, \overline{t}) \leq \overline{U}(\overline{y}, \overline{t})$ (i.e., $\overline{U(x, t)} \subseteq \overline{U(y, t)}$) for all $\overline{t} \in L/\sim$. Then, $m \sim U(x, t)$, i.e.,

(3.5)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{m\}) = c_{U,A}^*(\{U(x,t)\}).$$

 $c^*_{U,A}(\{m\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x,t)\})$. Since $m \in c^*_{U,A}(\{m\}), m \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x,t)\})$. Then, there exists an element $a_m \in A$ such that

$$(3.6) U(a_m, U(x, t)) \le m.$$

Since $\overline{x} \leq \overline{y}$, $\overline{x} \subseteq \overline{y}$. Then, it follows from $x \in \overline{y}$ that $x \sim y$, i.e., $c_{U,A}^*(\{x\}) = c_{U,A}^*(\{y\})$. Therefore, $x \in c_{U,A}^*(\{y\})$. Then, there exists an element $a_x \in A$ such that

$$(3.7) U(a_x, y) \le x.$$

It is obtained that

$$m \ge U(a_m, U(x, t))$$
$$\ge U(a_m, U(U(a_x, y), t))$$
$$= U(a_m, U(a_x, U(y, t)))$$
$$= U(U(a_m, a_x), U(y, t))$$

from (3.6) and (3.7). Then, $m \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(y,t)\})$. Therefore,

(3.8)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{m\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^*(\{U(y,t)\}).$$

On the contrary, let $k \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(y,t)\}).$ Then, there exists an element $a^* \in A$ such that

$$(3.9) U(a^*, U(y, t)) \le k.$$

We have $y \in c^*_{U,A}(\{x\})$ since $c^*_{U,A}(\{x\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{y\})$. Then, there exists an element $a^{**} \in A$ such that

(3.10) $U(a^{**}, x) \le y.$

It is obtained that

$$\begin{split} k &\geq U(a^*, U(y, t)) \\ &\geq U(a^*, U(U(a^{**}, x), t)) \\ &= U(a^*, U(a^{**}, U(x, t))) \\ &= U(U(a^*, a^{**}), U(x, t)) \end{split}$$

from (3.9) and (3.10). Then, it follows from $k \in c^*_{U,A}(\{U(x,t)\})$ that $k \in c^*_{U,A}(\{m\})$ from (3.5). Therefore,

(3.11)
$$c_{U,A}^*(\{U(y,t)\}) \subseteq c_{U,A}^*(\{m\}).$$

It is obtained that $c^*_{U,A}(\{m\}) = c^*_{U,A}(\{U(y,t)\})$ from (3.8) and (3.11). Therefore, we have

$$m \sim U(y,t)$$
$$m \in \overline{U(y,t)}$$

Then, $\overline{U(x,t)} \subseteq \overline{U(y,t)}$. Summarizing all the above facts, we have shown the monotonicity of \overline{U} .

Therefore, \overline{U} is a uninorm on L/\sim .

4. Concluding Remarks

After investigating the partial order obtained from the closure operator defined with the help of triangular norms, it is quite natural to investigate the closure operators obtained from uninorms that generalize triangular norms and to research on the orders obtained from these operators. Main idea of this paper to define the pre-orders and to investigate of their properties. Moreover, we also define an equivalence relation via the closure operator and obtain a uninorm on its quitent set. As a follow-up study, obtaining a partial order from the closure operators can be discussed and the properties of the order can be examined in detail.

References

- 1. P. Alexandroff, *Diskrete Räume*, Mat. Sb. (N.S.), **2**, (1937), 501–518.
- 2. G. Birkhoff, Lattice Theory, American Mathematical Society, New York, 1948.
- K. Denecke, J. Koppitz, Closure Operators and Lattices, Springer, In M-Solid Varieties of Algebras. Advances in Mathematics, Vol. 10. Boston, 2006.
- 4. O. Echi, *The category of flows of Set and Top*, Topology and its Applications, **159** (2012), 2357–2366.
- Ü. Ertuğrul, M.N. Kesicioğlu, F. Karaçal, Ordering based on uninorms, Information Sciences, 330, (2016), 315–327.
- J. Fodor, R. Yager, A. Rybalov, *Structure of uninorms*, Inter. J. Uncertain. Fuzziness Knowledge-Based Systems, 5 (1997), 411–427.
- M. Grabisch, J.-L. Marichal, R. Mesiar, E. Pap, Aggregation Functions, Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- M. A. Ince, F. Karaçal, t-closure Operators, International Journal of General Systems, 48:2 (2019), 139–156.

SOME PROPERTIES OF THE PRE-ORDERS OBTAINED BY SOME TOPOLOGICAL CLOSURE OPERATORS

- 9. F. Karaçal, Ü. Ertuğrul, M.N. Kesicioğlu, Generating methods for principal topologies on bounded lattices, Kybernetika, submitted.
- F. Karaçal, R. Mesiar, Uninorms on bounded lattices, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 261 (2015), 33–43.
- 11. J. L. Kelley, General Topology, Springer, New York, 1975.
- M.N. Kesicioğlu, Ü. Ertuğrul, F. Karaçal, Some notes on U-partial order, Kybernetika, 55 (3) (2019), 518–530.
- Y. Ouyang, H.-P. Zhang, Constructing uninorms via closure operators on a bounded lattice, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 395 (2020), 93–106.
- B. Pang, Y. Zhao, Z. Xiu, A New Definition of Order Relation for the Introduction of Algebraic Fuzzy Closure Operators, International Journal of Approximate Reasoning 92 (2018), 87–96.
- R. R. Yager, A. Rybalov, Uninorm aggregation operators, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 80 (1996), 111–120.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF SCIENCES, KARADENIZ TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY, 61080 TRABZON, TURKEY

Email address: fkaracal@yahoo.com

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Sciences, Karadeniz Technical University, $61080~{\rm Trabzon},~{\rm Turkey}$

Email address: uertugrul@ktu.edu.tr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, RECEP TAYYIP ERDOĞAN UNIVERSITY, 53100 RIZE, TURKEY *Email address:* nesibe.kesicioglu@erdogan.edu.tr

The Normalizer of $H_0^5(I)$ in H^5

Zeynep ŞANLI

Abstract. Let $\lambda = 2\cos\frac{\pi}{5}$ and H^5 be the Hecke group assosiated to λ . Let I be an ideal of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$ and $H_0^5(I)$ the principal congruence subgroup of H^5 associated to I. In this paper, the normalizer of the congruence subgroups $H_0^5(I)$ in H^5 are given in the case where $I = (2^{\alpha})I', (2, I') = 1$ and I' is a nonsquare ideal.

Keywords. Normalizer, Congruence subgroup, Hecke group.

1. Introduction

The normalizer has acquired its importance in several areas of mathematics. For instance, the genus zero subgroups of the normalizer $\Gamma_0(N)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ have a mysterious correspondence to the conjugacy classes of the monster simple group [2, 3]. Moreover, the normalizer $\Gamma_0(N)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ played an important role in the work on Weierstrass points on the modular curve $X_0(N)$ associated $\Gamma_0(N)$ [9] and on ternary quadratic forms [10]. In [1], Akbaş and Singerman calculated the above mentioned the normalizer of $\Gamma_0(n)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$. On the other hand many studies were done by some authors on the normalizer of the Hecke group H^q in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q])$ and $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ when q is 4 and 5 in [6, 7, 8]. Furthermore, in [5], it is conjectured that the normalizer of $H_0^5(I)$ in H^5 is $H_0^5((2)^{\alpha'}I')$ where $I = (2)^{\alpha}I'$ is an ideal of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda], (2, I') = 1$ and $\alpha' = \alpha - min(2, [\frac{\alpha}{2}])$ by Ivrissimtz in his Ph.D thesis. In [11], this conjecture is proved in the case where I' is a prime ideal. In this study, we give a proof to the conjecture in the case where I' is a nonsquare ideal. So, our result is more strong than the other result.

2. Hecke group H^q

The subgroups of $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ generated by the two transformations

 $X: z \to -\frac{1}{z}$ and $Z: z \to z + \lambda, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$

are of special interest when they are discrete. So, it is naturally arising question to find the values of λ for which these groups are discrete. It was shown by Hecke in [4] that the above groups are discrete for

$$\lambda=\lambda_q=2cos\frac{\pi}{q}, q=3,4,5,\ldots$$
 and $\lambda\geq 2$

We will call these discrete groups Hecke groups, and we will use the notation H^q for the Hecke group corresponding to

$$\lambda = \lambda_q = 2\cos\frac{\pi}{q}.$$

Using the matrix representation in $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ of the two transformations X, Z we find that

$$H^q = < X, Z > = < \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \lambda_q \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} > .$$

We notice that if q = 3 then

$$z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and in this case corresponding Hecke group is the modular group.

For any particular Hecke group H^q we define Y = XZ, that is in terms of matrix representations

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \lambda_q \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & \lambda_q \end{pmatrix}$$

We notice that X, Y are elliptic elements of order 2 and q respectively, while Z is parabolic. Because X, Z generate H^q and because XY = Z we have that X, Y also generate H^q .

A very basic result concerning the Hecke groups H^q is that they are the free product of the cyclic groups generated by X and Y.

3. The congruence subgroups of H^q

For any ideal I of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q]$ we can define the corresponding principal congruence subgroup of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q))$ in a way similar to the definition of the principal congruence subgroups of modular group. Namely we define

$$H^{q}(I) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H^{q} | a - 1, b, c, d - 1 \equiv 0 \mod I \right\}$$

and similarly we define the special congruence subgroup corresponding to I by

$$H_1^q(I) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H^q | a - 1, c, d - 1 \equiv 0 \mod I \right\},$$
$$H_0^q(I) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H^q | c \equiv 0 \mod I \right\}.$$

Obviously the inclusions

$$H^q(I) \le H^q_1(I) \le H^q_0 \ge H^q$$

hold. It is a well known result that $H^q(I)$ is normal in H^q and we can also prove that $H_1^q(I)$ is normal in $H_0^q(I)$ in the same way we proved the corresponding result for the modular group. That is by defining

$$f: H_0^q(I) \to (\mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q]/I)/\{\pm 1\} \text{ with } \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \to \pm \theta(a)$$

where θ is the canonical map $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q] \to \mathbb{Z}[\lambda_q]/I$, and then finding that the kernel of f is $H_1^q(I)$.

4. The normalizer of $H_0^5(I)$ in H^5

Firstly, we will give the following lemma necessary for our result.

Lemma 4.1. [11] Let the ideal $I = (2) = 2\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$ and $A \in H^5$. Then

$$A \in H_0^5$$
 if and only if $A \equiv \pm \begin{pmatrix} 1 & r\lambda \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} modI$

where r = 0, 1.

Theorem 4.2. Let $I = (2)^{\alpha}I'$ be an ideal of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$, where I' is a nonsquare ideal of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$ and (2, I') = 1. Then the normalizer of $H_0^5(I)$ in H^5 is $H_0^5((2)^{\alpha'}I')$ where $\alpha' = \alpha - \min\{2, [\frac{\alpha}{2}]\}.$

Proof. Let $X = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & t \end{pmatrix} \in N_{H^5}(H^5_0(I))$. Because of the definition of the normalizer

$$A = XKX^{-1} \in H^5_0(I),$$

such that $K = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H_0^5(I)$. From the above multiplication, we have

$$ayt - by^2 - dty \equiv 0 \ modI.$$

If we take $K = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \lambda \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, and consider $(-1 + \lambda)\lambda = 1$, we have that $(a - d)ty \equiv 0 \mod I$.

Multiplying the above congruence by $x \in \mathbb{Z}$, and using |X| = xt - yz = 1and |K| = ad - bc = 1, it can be seen that

$$(a^2 - 1)y \equiv 0 \ modI.$$

On the other hand, because $I = (2)^{\alpha} I' \subseteq (2)^{\alpha} \cap I' \subset (2) \cap I'$, $\alpha \ge 1$ and $y^2 \equiv 0 \mod I$, then

$$y^2 \equiv 0 \mod 2$$

and

 $y^2 \equiv 0 \ modI'$

As (2) is the prime ideal,

$$y \equiv 0 \mod 2.$$

Indeed, because I' is a nonsquare ideal, it can be written as a multiplying of the prime ideals. So,

 $I' = P_1 P_2 \dots P_n,$

where P_i is prime ideal and $1 \le i \le n$. Thus $y^2 \equiv 0 \mod I' \Rightarrow y^2 \in I'.$

From the above congruence

$$y^2 = p_1 p_2 \dots p_n (k + l\lambda),$$

with $(k + l\lambda) \in \mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$. Using p_i is prime, we can write

$$p_i|y^2 \Rightarrow p_i|y$$

and

$$p_1p_2...p_n|y \Rightarrow y \in I'.$$

Now, let us consider the following chain. In here, there is $n \in \mathbb{N}^+$ such that

$$\dots 2^{n+1}\mathbb{Z}[\lambda] \subset 2^n\mathbb{Z}[\lambda] \subset \dots \subset 2^2\mathbb{Z}[\lambda] \subset 2\mathbb{Z}[\lambda] \subset \mathbb{Z}[\lambda].$$

Now let us consider $\alpha' \in \mathbb{N}$ where

$$y \in (2)^{\alpha'}$$
 and $y \notin (2)^{\alpha'+1}$

If we take a square of the first expression

$$y^2 \in (2)^{2\alpha'}$$

Moreover, as $y^2 \in (2)^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \leq 2\alpha'$.

Now let us consider the conditions of α and α' relative to each other.

i. Let $\alpha < \alpha'$. In this case,

$$y^2 \equiv 0 \ mod2^{\alpha'}I'.$$

From $\alpha < \alpha', (2)^{\alpha'} \subset (2)^{\alpha}$ and so

$$u^2 \equiv 0 \mod I.$$

ii. Let us see $\alpha' \leq \alpha$. Then we have

$$\frac{\alpha}{2} \le \alpha' \le \alpha.$$

From Lemma 4.1 ,

$$a^2 - 1 \equiv 0 \ mod2^2.$$

Moreover

$$(a^2 - 1)y \in 2^{\alpha' + 2}\mathbb{Z}[\lambda],$$

for $y \in 2^{\alpha'}\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$ and considering $(a^2 - 1)y \equiv 0 \mod I$ we have

$$\alpha \le \alpha' + 2$$

In this case, it is enough to find the smallest number $\alpha' \in \mathbb{N}$ for values of α .

$$\alpha' = 1$$
, for $\alpha = 1$,

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha'=1, \, \text{for} \, \, \alpha=2, \\ &\alpha'=2, \, \text{for} \, \, \alpha=3, \end{aligned}$$

So,

$$\alpha' = \begin{cases} 1 = 1 - \left[\frac{1}{2}\right], \ \alpha = 1\\ 1 = 2 - \left[\frac{2}{2}\right], \ \alpha = 2\\ 2 = 3 - \left[\frac{3}{2}\right]. \ \alpha = 3 \end{cases}$$

for $\alpha \in \{1, 2, 3\}$.

Now, let $\alpha \geq 4$. From this, there is an element $\beta' \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $\alpha = \beta + 4$. So,

$$\alpha' = \alpha - 2$$
, for $\alpha \ge 4$.

Thus, for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^+$

$$y \equiv 0 \mod 2^{\alpha'} I$$

and so

$$N_{H^5}(H_0^5(I)) \le H_0^5((2)^{\alpha-2}I')$$

As a consequece, we have

$$N_{H^5}(H^5_0(I)) \le H^5_0((2)^{\alpha}I'),$$

 $\alpha' = \alpha - \min\{2, [\frac{\alpha}{2}]\}.$

Conversely, it is clear that

$$H_0^5((2)^{\alpha}I') \le N_{H^5}(H_0^5(I)).$$

Now, let we examine the following example for the special values of some cases in Theorem (4.2).

Example. If we take $I' = (3), \alpha = 3, (2, I') = 1$ and $I = ((2)^{\alpha}3)$ in Theorem (4.2), then we have

$$N_{H^5}(H_0^5(((2)^33))) = H_0^5(((2)^23)),$$

 $\alpha' = \alpha - \min\{2, [\frac{\alpha}{2}]\}.$ Let $X = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ 2^2 3z & t \end{pmatrix} \in N_{H^5}(H_0^5(((2)^3 3))).$ In this case, there is an element $K = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 2^3 3c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H_0^5(((2)^3 3))$ such that $MKK^{-1} = M^5(((2)^3 3))$

$$XKX^{-1} \in H_0^5(((2)^33)).$$

So, if we calculate the above multiplaying, we get

$$XKX^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} * & * \\ 2^2 3azt + 2^3 3t^2c - 2^4 3^2 z^2 - 12ztd & * \end{pmatrix}.$$

We wonder if

$$2^2 3zt(a-d) \equiv 0 \ mod2^3 3_2$$

so,

6

$$a - d \equiv 0 \ mod2.$$

Using the determinant of |K| = ad - 12bc = 1, we can say $a \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod 2$ and so $a - d \equiv 0 \mod 2$.

The other inclusion is clear.

Corollary 4.3. Let I be a nonsquare ideal of $\mathbb{Z}[\lambda]$. Then

 $N_{H^5}(H_0^5(I)) = H_0^5(I)$

Proof. From 4.2, it is easily seen that

 $N_{H^5}(H_0^5(I)) \le H_0^5(I).$

Conversely, let $X = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & t \end{pmatrix} \in H_0^5(I)$. We need to show

$$XKX^{-1} \in H^5_0(I)$$

with $K = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H_0^5(I)$. This is obvious. Thus,

$$N_{H^5}(H_0^5(I)) = H_0^5(I).$$

The proof is complete.

References

- [1] Akbaş M. and Singerman D. : The normalizer of $\Gamma_0(n)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$. Glasgow Math. J.32 , (1990), 317-327.
- Borcherds R.E.: Monstrous moonshine and monstrous Lie superalgebras, Invent. Math., 109 (1992), 405-444.
- [3] Conway J. H. and Norton S.P.: Montrous Moonshine. Bull. London Math. Soc. 11, (1979), 308-339.
- [4] Hecke E.: Über die Bestimmung Dirichletscher Reichen durch ihre Funktionalgleichungen, Math. Ann., 112 (1936), 39-55.
- [5] Ivrissimtzis I.P.: Congruence subgroup of Hecke groups and regular dessins, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Southampton, 1998.
- [6] Lang M.-L., Tan S.-P.: The normalizers of the congruence subgroups of the Hecke Group G_5II , Proc.Amer.Math.Soc. 127, (2000) 2271-2280.
- [7] Lang M.-L., Tan S.-P.: The normalizers of the congruence subgroups of the Hecke Group G₅, Proc.Amer.Math.Soc. 127, (1999) 3131-3140.
- [8] Lang M.-L.: Normalizer of the congruence subgroups of the Hecke groups G_4 and G_6 , Journal of Number Theory, 90, (2001) 31-43.
- [9] Lehner J. and Newman M. : Weirstrass points of $\Gamma_0(n)$. Annals of Mathematics Vol.79. No.2, March, (1964).
- [10] Maclachlan C.:Groups of units of zero ternary quadratic forms, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 88, (1981), 141-157.

[11] Uzun S.: On the normalizer of the congruence subgroup $H^5_0(I)$ of the Hecke group $H^5.$ Turk. J. Math. 31 (2007) 207-220.

Zeynep ŞANLI Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Science Department of Mathematics Trabzon/TURKEY e-mail: zeynep.sanli@ktu.edu.tr

EQUIVALENCE CLASSES OF IMPLICATIONS ON BOUNDED LATTICES

FUNDA KARAÇAL, M. NESIBE KESICIOĞLU, AND ÜMIT ERTUĞRUL

ABSTRACT. In this paper, an equivalence relation is defined by implications. An implication on the bounded lattice of the equivalence classes of implications is introduced. Some basic properties of the generated implication are studied. A set is introduced by the linear combination of implications on bounded lattices and the lattice theoretical structure of the mentioned set is investigated.

1. INTRODUCTION

Fuzzy implications generalize the classical implication to fuzzy logic. They have the great quantity of applications, viz., approximate reasoning, fuzzy control, fuzzy image processing [1, 5, 6, 17, 18, 27].

In the literature, the convex combination of logical operators, which is one of the remarkable generating method, provides new logical operators from two given ones [7, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26]. The convex combination of fuzzy implications Iand J on the unit interval [0, 1] is given as follows (see [1, 20, 22]): for $\lambda \in [0, 1]$,

$$K(x,y) = \lambda I(x,y) + (1-\lambda)J(x,y).$$

As extensions of the convex combination of triangular norms and fuzzy implications, the notions of convex combination for two implications and two triangular norms on a bounded lattice are introduced in [11, 12]. In this paper, we study an equivalence relation defined by implications on bounded lattices and generate a new implication defined on the equivalence classes. The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we shortly recall some basic notions. In Section 3, we define an equivalence relation by implications on bounded lattices and introduce an implication on the bounded lattice of the equivalence classes based on the mentioned equivalence relation. Some basic properties of the new implication are studied. In Section 4, we introduce a set by the linear combination of implications on bounded lattices and investigate the properties of the set in the term of the lattice theoretical structure.

2. NOTATIONS, DEFINITIONS AND A REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESULTS

In this section, we give some basic definitions, notions and results.

Definition 2.1. [2] A bounded lattice (L, \leq) is a lattice which has the top and bottom elements, which are written as 1 and 0, respectively, that is, there exist two elements $1, 0 \in L$ such that $0 \leq x \leq 1$, for all $x \in L$.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 03E72, 03B52, 08A72, 54A10, 06B30, 06F30.

Key words and phrases. Implication; Bounded lattice; Equivalence class; Convex combination; G-convex combination; Linear combination.

Definition 2.2. [13, 14] A binary operation T(S) on a bounded lattice L is called a triangular norm (triangular conorm) if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to the both variables and has a neutral element 1 (0).

The followings are the four basic t-norms T_M, T_P, T_{LK} and T_D on the unit interval [0, 1] given by respectively:

$$T_M(x,y) = \min(x,y), \qquad T_P(x,y) = xy, T_{LK}(x,y) = \max(x+y-1,0), \qquad T_D(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & (x,y) \in [0,1)^2, \\ \min(x,y) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The t-norms T_M and T_D are generalized to a bounded lattice L, respectively, as follows.

$$T_{\wedge}(x,y) = x \wedge y \text{ and } T_D(x,y) = \begin{cases} y & x = 1, \\ x & y = 1, \\ x \wedge y & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The followings are the four basic t-conorms S_M, S_P, S_{LK} and S_D on the unit interval [0, 1] given by respectively:

$$S_M(x,y) = \max(x,y), \qquad S_P(x,y) = x + y - xy, \\ S_{LK}(x,y) = \min(x+y,1), \qquad S_D(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & (x,y) \in (0,1]^2, \\ \max(x,y) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The t-conorms S_M and S_D are generalized to a bounded lattice L, respectively, as follows.

$$S_{\vee}(x,y) = x \lor y \text{ and } S_D(x,y) = \begin{cases} y & x = 0, \\ x & y = 0, \\ x \lor y & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.3. [1, 9, 10] A function $I : L^2 \to L$ on a bounded lattice $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ is called an implication if it satisfies the following conditions:

(I1) I is a decreasing operation on the first variable, that is, for every $a, b \in L$ with $a \leq b$, $I(b, y) \leq I(a, y)$ for all $y \in L$.

(12) I is an increasing operation on the second variable, that is, for every $a, b \in L$ with $a \leq b$, $I(x, a) \leq I(x, b)$ for all $x \in L$.

(I3) I(0,0) = 1. (I4) I(1,1) = 1. (I5) I(1,0) = 0.

Denote by \mathcal{F} the set of all implications on a bounded lattice L.

Example 2.4. [1] The followings are well-known implications on the unit interval [0, 1].

$$I_{LK}(x,y) = \min(1, 1 - x + y), \qquad I_{RC}(x,y) = 1 - x + xy, I_{KD}(x,y) = \max(1 - x, y), \qquad I_{GD}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \le y, \\ y & x > y, \end{cases} I_{GG}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \le y, \\ \frac{y}{x} & x > y, \end{cases} \qquad I_{RS}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \le y, \\ 0 & x > y, \end{cases} I_{YG}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x = 0 \text{ and } y = 0, \\ y^x & x > 0 \text{ or } y > 0, \end{cases} \qquad I_{WB}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x < 1, \\ y & x = 1, \end{cases} I_{FD}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x \le y, \\ \max(1 - x, y) & x > y. \end{cases}$$

The least and the greatest implications are respectively given by:

$$I_0(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x = 0 \text{ or } y = 1, \\ 0 & x > 0 \text{ and } y < 1, \end{cases} \quad I_1(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & x < 1 \text{ or } y > 0, \\ 0 & x = 1 \text{ and } y = 0. \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.5. [1, 9, 14] Let $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ be a bounded lattice. A decreasing function $N: L \to L$ is called a negation if N(0) = 1 and N(1) = 0. A negation N on L is called strong if it is an involution, i.e., N(N(x)) = x, for all $x \in L$.

The weakest and strongest negations on L are given by respectively

$N_{D_1}(x) = \langle$	f 0	$x \neq 0,$	$N_{\rm D}(x) = \int$	1	$x \neq 1,$
	1	x = 0,	$P_D^{(x)} = $	0	x = 1.

The natural negation of an implication I on a bounded lattice is the function $N_I: L \to L$ defined by $N_I(x) = I(x, 0)$, for all $x \in L$.

Let N be a fuzzy negation and I be an implication on a bounded lattice L. The implication $I_N: L^2 \to L$ defined by

$$I_N(x,y) = I(N(y), N(x)), \qquad x, y \in L$$

is called the N-reciprocal of I.

Definition 2.6. [1, 28] An implication I on a bounded lattice L is said to satisfy (i) the left neutrality property if for all $y \in L$

$$(NP) I(1,y) = y$$

holds.

(ii) the ordering property if for all $x, y \in L$

$$(OP) x \le y \Leftrightarrow I(x,y) = 1$$

holds.

(iii) the identity principle if for all $x \in L$

$$(IP) I(x,x) = 1$$

holds.

(iv) the exchange principle if for all $x, y, z \in L$

(EP)
$$I(x, I(y, z)) = I(y, I(x, z))$$

Definition 2.7. [1] Let S be a t-conorm and N a negation on a bounded lattice L. We say that the pair (S, N) satisfies the law of excluded middle if for all $x \in L$

(LEM)
$$S(N(x), x) = 1.$$

Definition 2.8. [1, 20, 22] Let I and J be two fuzzy implications on [0, 1]. The operation K defined as follows is called a convex combination of I and J for any $x, y \in [0, 1]$ and $\lambda \in [0, 1]$,

$$K(x, y) = \lambda I(x, y) + (1 - \lambda)J(x, y).$$

Definition 2.9. [8] (i) An operation M on a lattice is called \lor -distributive in the second place if for any $a, b_1, b_2 \in L$

$$M(a, b_1 \lor b_2) = M(a, b_1) \lor M(a, b_2).$$

(ii) Let A be an infinite indexing set. An operation M on a complete lattice is called infinitely \vee -distributive in the second place if for any $a \in L$ and $\{b_{\tau} \mid \tau \in A\} \subseteq L$,

$$M(a, \vee_{\tau \in A} b_{\tau}) = \vee_{\tau \in A} M(a, b_{\tau}).$$

The (infinitely) \wedge -distributivity in the first place of any operation can be defined as similar to Definition 2.9.

(iii) An operation M on a lattice is called (infinitely) \lor -distributive if it is (infinitely) \lor -distributive in both the first and second places.

(iv) The (infinitely) \wedge -distributivity of any operation can be defined similarly.

Definition 2.10. [11] Let L be a bounded lattice, I and J be two implications on L. For $a \in L$, define the operation $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ as follows

$$(2.1)K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) = S(T(a, I(x,y)), T(N(a), J(x,y))) \quad \text{for all} \quad x, y \in L$$

where T, S and N are respectively a t-norm, a t-conorm and a negation on L.

The operation $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ defined by formula (2.1) is called the linear combination of the implications I and J by means of T, S and N for $a \in L$.

Definition 2.11. [11] The implication $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is called the generalized convex combination of the implications I and J by means of T, S and N for any $a \in L$ with S(a, N(a)) = 1.

For reader convenience, the operation $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ given in Definition 2.11 will be called as the g-convex combination of I and J.

3. The implication defined on an equivalence class

In this section, we define an equivalence relation by implications on bounded lattices and introduce an implication on the bounded lattice of the equivalence classes based on the mentioned equivalence relation. Some basic properties of the new implication are studied.

Definition 3.1. Let *L* be a bounded lattice, *I* an implication on *L*. Define a relation \sim as follows: For any $x, y \in L$

$$(3.1) x \sim y \Leftrightarrow I(1,x) = I(1,y).$$

Proposition 3.2. The relation defined in (3.1) is an equivalence relation. Denote the set of all equivalence classes w.r.t. the relation \sim by $L_{/\sim}$.

Definition 3.3. Let L be a bounded lattice and I an implication on L. Define a relation \leq on $L_{/\sim}$ as follows: For any $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in L_{/\sim}$

(3.2)
$$\bar{x} \le \bar{y} \Leftrightarrow I(1,x) \le I(1,y).$$

Proposition 3.4. $(L_{/\sim}, \leq)$ is a bounded partially ordered set.

Proof. It is clear that $(L_{/\sim}, \leq)$ is a partially ordered set. For any $\bar{y} \in L_{/\sim}$, since

$$I(1,0) \le I(1,y)$$
 and $I(1,y) \le 1 = I(1,1)$

we obtain that $\overline{0} \leq \overline{y}$ and $\overline{y} \leq \overline{1}$. Thus, $(L_{/\sim}, \leq)$ is a bounded partially ordered set.

Theorem 3.5. The operation $\overline{I}: L_{/\sim} \times L_{/\sim} \to L_{/\sim}$ defined by

$$\bar{I}(\bar{x},\bar{y}) = \overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,y))}, \text{ for all } \bar{x},\bar{y} \in L_{/\sim}$$

is an implication on $L_{/\sim}$.

Proof. (I1) Let $\bar{x}_1 \leq \bar{x}_2$. Then, $I(1, x_1) \leq I(1, x_2)$. Since I is decreasing in the first place, we have that for all $y \in L$

$$I(I(1, x_1), I(1, y)) \ge I(I(1, x_2), I(1, y))$$

Since I is an increasing operation in the second place, we obtain that

$$I(1, I(I(1, x_2), I(1, y))) \le I(1, I(I(1, x_1), I(1, y))).$$

Then, $\overline{I}(\overline{x}_2, \overline{y}) = \overline{I(1, I(I(1, x_2), I(1, y)))} \leq \overline{I(1, I(I(1, x_1), I(1, y)))} = \overline{I}(\overline{x}_1, \overline{y}).$ (I2) Let $\overline{y}_1 \leq \overline{y}_2$. Then, $I(1, y_1) \leq I(1, y_2)$. Since I is increasing in the second place, we have that

$$I(I(1,x), I(1,y_1)) \le I(I(1,x), I(1,y_2)),$$

whence

$$I(1, I(I(1, x), I(1, y_1))) \le I(1, I(I(1, x), I(1, y_2))).$$

Then, $\overline{I(I(1,x), I(1,y_1))} \leq \overline{I(I(1,x), I(1,y_2))}$. Thus, $\overline{I}(\bar{x}, \bar{y}_1) \leq \overline{I}(\bar{x}, \bar{y}_2)$. (I3) $\overline{I}(\overline{0}, \overline{0}) = \overline{I(I(1,0), I(1,0))} = \overline{I(0,0)} = \overline{1}$. (I4) $\overline{I}(\overline{1}, \overline{1}) = \overline{I(I(1,1), I(1,1))} = \overline{I(1,1)} = \overline{1}$. (I5) $\overline{I}(\overline{1}, \overline{0}) = \overline{I(I(1,1), I(1,0))} = \overline{I(1,0)} = \overline{0}$. Thus, \overline{I} is an implication on $L_{/\sim}$.

Remark 3.6. If I satisfies (NP), the relation ~ coincides with the equivalent relation. Thus, \bar{I} satisfies (NP).

Proposition 3.7. Let L be a bounded lattice, I an implication on L.

(i) If I satisfies (OP), then \bar{I} satisfies (OP).

(ii) If I satisfies (IP), then \overline{I} satisfies (IP).

(iii) If I satisfies (EP), then \overline{I} satisfies (EP).

(iv) If I satisfies (NP), then $N_{\bar{I}}(\bar{x}) = \overline{N_I}(x)$.

Proof. (i) Let $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in L_{/\sim}$ with $\bar{x} \leq \bar{y}$. Then,

$$I(1,x) \le I(1,y).$$

Since I satisfies (OP), we have that

$$I(I(1, x), I(1, y)) = 1.$$

Then, we obtain that

$$\bar{I}(\bar{x},\bar{y}) = \overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,y))} = \overline{1}.$$

Conversely, let $\overline{I}(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = \overline{1}$, for $\overline{x}, \overline{y} \in L_{/\sim}$. Then,

$$\overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,y))} = \overline{1},$$
 whence $I(1,I(I(1,x),I(1,y))) = I(1,1) = 1$. Since I satisfies (OP), we have that $1 \leq I(I(1,x),I(1,y)),$

whence I(I(1, x), I(1, y)) = 1. Then, $I(1, x) \le I(1, y)$. Thus, $\bar{x} \le \bar{y}$.

(ii) Let $\bar{x} \in L_{/\sim}$. since I satisfies (IP), we have that

$$\bar{I}(\bar{x},\bar{x}) = \overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,x))} = \overline{1}.$$

(iii) Let $\bar{x}, \bar{y}, \bar{z} \in L_{/\sim}$. Since I satisfies (EP), we have that

$$\begin{split} \bar{I}(\bar{x},\bar{I}(\bar{y},\bar{z})) &= \bar{I}(\bar{x},\overline{I(I(1,y),I(1,z))}) \\ &= \overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,I(I(1,y),I(1,z))))} \\ &= \overline{I(I,I(I(1,x),I(I(1,y),I(1,z))))} \\ &= \overline{I(1,I(I(1,y),I(I(1,x),I(1,z))))} \\ &= \overline{I(I(I(1,y),I(1,I(I(1,x),I(1,z))))} \\ &= \bar{I}(\bar{y},\overline{I(I(1,x),I(1,z))}) \\ &= \bar{I}(\bar{y},\bar{I}(\bar{x},\bar{z})). \end{split}$$

(iv)

$$N_{\overline{I}}(\overline{x}) = \overline{I}(\overline{x}, \overline{0}) = \overline{I}(\overline{I}(1, x), \overline{I}(1, 0))$$
$$= \overline{I}(\overline{I}(1, x), 0) = \overline{I}(x, 0) = \overline{N_I(x)}.$$

The converse of the statements in Proposition 3.7 may not be true. Let us investigate the following example. $\hfill \Box$

Example 3.8. (i) Take the Reichenbach implication I_{RC} on [0, 1]. It is clear that I_{RC} doesn't satisfy (OP) (see [1]). For any $x \in [0, 1]$, since

$$\bar{x} = \{ y \in [0,1] \mid I_{RC}(1,x) = I_{RC}(1,y) \}$$
$$= \{ y \in [0,1] \mid 1-x+x = 1-y+y \}$$
$$= [0,1]$$

we have that $[0,1]_{/\sim} = \{[0,1]\}$. Thus, \overline{I}_{RC} satisfies (OP).

(ii) Take again the Reichenbach implication I_{RC} . It is clear that I_{RC} doesn't satisfy (IP). Although, \bar{I}_{RC} satisfies (IP), since $[0, 1]_{/\sim} = \{[0, 1]\}$.

(iii) Take the Rescher implication I_{RS} . It is clear that I_{RS} doesn't satisfy (NP). Also, for all x < 1, we have that

$$\bar{x} = \{y \in [0, 1] \mid I_{RS}(1, x) = I_{RS}(1, y)\}\$$
$$= \{y \in [0, 1] \mid 0 = I_{RS}(1, y)\}\$$
$$= \{y \in [0, 1] \mid 1 > y\} = [0, 1)$$

and

$$\overline{1} = \{ y \in [0,1] \mid I_{RS}(1,1) = I_{RS}(1,y) \}$$
$$= \{ y \in [0,1] \mid 1 = I_{RS}(1,y) \}$$
$$= \{ y \in [0,1] \mid 1 \le y \} = \{ 1 \}$$

Thus, $[0,1]_{/\sim} = \{\{1\}, [0,1)\}$. Since \overline{I}_{RS} is an implication on $[0,1]_{/\sim}$, $\overline{I}_{RS}(\overline{1},\overline{1}) = \overline{1}$. For all x < 1,

$$\bar{I}_{RS}(\bar{1},\bar{x}) = \overline{I_{RS}(I_{RS}(1,1),I_{RS}(1,x))}$$
$$= \overline{I_{RS}(1,0)} = \overline{0} = [0,1) = \bar{x}.$$

Then, \bar{I}_{RS} satisfies (NP).

4. The set defined by the linear combination of implications

In this section, we introduce a set by the linear combination of implications on bounded lattices and investigate the properties of the set in the term of the lattice theoretical structure.

Proposition 4.1. Let *L* be a bounded lattice, I and J be two implications on L. Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be the linear combination of I and J. Define the set

$$\mathcal{I} = \Big\{ x \in L \mid K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,x) = 1 \Big\}.$$

(i) Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be \wedge -distributive. Then, \mathcal{I} be a meet sublattice iff $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,x) = 1$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{I}$.

(ii) If $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is V-distributive, then \mathcal{I} is a join sublattice.

(iii) If L is a complete lattice and $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is infinitely \vee -distributive, then \mathcal{I} is a complete lattice.

Proof. (i) Let \mathcal{I} be a meet sublattice. Then, for every $x, y \in \mathcal{I}, x \land y \in \mathcal{I}$. Thus,

$$K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x \wedge y, x \wedge y) = 1.$$

Since

$$1 = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x \land y, x \land y) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,x) \land K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) \land K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,x) \land K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,y) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) \land K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,x) \land K_{a,T$$

we have that $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,x) = 1$. The converse of the claim is clear.

(ii) Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be \vee -distributive and $x, y \in \mathcal{I}$. Since

$$\begin{split} K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x \lor y, x \lor y) &= K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x,x) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x,y) \\ & \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,x) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,y) \\ &= 1 \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x,y) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,x) \lor 1 = 1 \end{split}$$

we obtain that $x \lor y \in \mathcal{I}$. Thus, \mathcal{I} is a join sublattice.

(iii) Let L be a complete lattice and $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be infinitely \vee -distributive. since $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(0,0) = 1, 0 \in \mathcal{I}$ Also, since

$$K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}\left(\vee_{i}x_{i},\vee_{i}x_{i}\right)=\vee_{i}\vee_{j}K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}\left(x_{i},x_{j}\right)=1$$

we see that $V_i x_i \in \mathcal{I}$. Thus, \mathcal{I} is a complete lattice.

Remark 4.2. In Proposition 4.1 (i), if $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is the g-convex combination of I and J, then \mathcal{I} can not be an \wedge -semi lattice. Suppose that \mathcal{I} is an \wedge -semi lattice. Since $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(0,0) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(1,1) = 1$, it is clear that $0, 1 \in \mathcal{I}$. By Proposition 4.1 (i), it must be $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,y) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(y,x) = 1$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{I}$. That is, $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(1,0) = K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(0,1) = 1$, which is a contradiction.

Proposition 4.3. Let *L* be a bounded lattice, I and J two implications on *L*. Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be a \vee -distributive linear combination of *I* and *J*. If $x \in \mathcal{I}$ and $y \in L$ with $x \leq y$, then $y \in \mathcal{I}$.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathcal{I}$ and $y \in L$ with $x \leq y$. Since $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is \vee -distributive and $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(x,x) = 1$, we have that

$$\begin{split} K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,y) &= K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x \lor y, x \lor y) \\ &= K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x,x) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(x,y) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,x) \lor K^{I,J}_{a,T,S,N}(y,y) \\ &= 1, \end{split}$$

whence $y \in \mathcal{I}$.

Corollary 4.4. Let *L* be a bounded lattice, I and *J* two implications on *L*. Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be a \lor -distributive *g* -convex combination of *I* and *J*. Then, $\mathcal{I} = L$.

Proof. It is clear that $\mathcal{I} \subseteq L$. since $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is the g-convex combination of I and J, $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}(0,0) = 1$, whence $0 \in \mathcal{I}$. By Proposition 4.3, for any element $x \in L$ with $0 \leq x$, it must be $x \in \mathcal{I}$. Then, $L \subseteq \mathcal{I}$. Thus, $\mathcal{I} = L$. If $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is a linear combination of two implications on a bounded lattice,

If $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is a linear combination of two implications on a bounded lattice, the set \mathcal{I} given in Proposition 4.1 may be an empty set. The following proposition verifies this fact.

Proposition 4.5. Let *L* be a chain, *I* and *J* be two implications on a bounded lattice *L*. If $S = \lor, T = \land, N$ is a strong negation on *L* and $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$, then the set \mathcal{I} is empty.

Proof. Suppose that there exists an element x of \mathcal{I} . Then,

$$1 = K_{a, \wedge, \vee, N}^{I, J}(x, x) = (a \wedge I(x, x)) \vee (N(a) \wedge J(x, x))$$

Since L is a chain, it is clear that $a \wedge I(x, x) = 1$ or $N(a) \wedge J(x, x) = 1$. If $a \wedge I(x, x) = 1$, we would have a = 1, contradiction. If $N(a \wedge J(x, x)) = 1$, we would obtain that N(a) = 1, which is a contradiction again. Thus, it must be $\mathcal{I} = \emptyset$.

Proposition 4.6. Let *L* be a lattice of finite length, *I* and *J* be two implications on *L*. Let $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ be the \vee -distributive linear combination of *I* and *J*. If $\mathcal{I} \neq \emptyset$, then \mathcal{I} is in shape of an interval. Moreover, there exists an element $x_0 \in \mathcal{I}$ such that $\mathcal{I} = [x_0, 1]$.

Proof. Let $x, y \in \mathcal{I}$ and z be any arbitrary element with $x \leq z \leq y$. By Proposition 4.3, since $x \in \mathcal{I}$, we have that $z \in \mathcal{I}$. Thus, \mathcal{I} is in shape of an interval. Since $\mathcal{I} \subseteq L$ and L is a lattice of finite length, \mathcal{I} has a finite length. Thus, there must exist the least element of this interval, that is, there exists $x_0 \in \mathcal{I}$ such that $x_0 \leq y$ for all element $y \in \mathcal{I}$. Since $x_0 \leq 1$ and $x_0 \in \mathcal{I}$, by Proposition 4.3, it must be $1 \in \mathcal{I}$. Thus, we have that $x_0 \leq y \leq 1$ for all element $y \in \mathcal{I}$, that is, $\mathcal{I} = [x_0, 1]$. \Box

Remark 4.7. Because $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ coincides with I when a = 1, the obtained results in Proposition 4.1 and Proposition 4.3 are also true for implication on a bounded lattice. That is,

(i) If an implication I is \vee -distributive, then the set \mathcal{I} given in Proposition 4.1 is a join sublattice.

(ii) If I is infinitely \lor -distributive, then the set \mathcal{I} given in Proposition 4.1 forms of a complete lattice.

(iii) If the set \mathcal{I} given in Proposition 4.1 is non-empty, then it is in shape of the closed interval.

(iv) Also, if $K_{a,T,S,N}^{I,J}$ is a g-convex combination of two implications, then it is clear that the set \mathcal{I} is not empty.

References

- M. Baczyński, B. Jayaram, Fuzzy implications, Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 231, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008.
- G. Birkhoff, Lattice Theory, 3 rd edition, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publishers, Providence, 1967.
- H. Bustince, M. Pagola, E. Barrenecha, Construction of fuzzy indices from fuzzy DIsubsethood measure: application to the global comparison of images, Information Sciences. 177 (2007) 906-929.
- H. Bustince, V. Mohedano, E. Barrenecha, M. Pagola, Definition and construction of fuzzy DI-subsethood measures, Information Sciences. 176 (2006) 3190-3231.
- D. Dubois, H. Pradera, Fuzzy sets in approximate reasoning. Part 1: inference with possibility distributions, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 40 (1991) 143-202.
- 6. B. Jayaram, On the law of importation $(x \land y) \rightarrow z \equiv (x \rightarrow (y \rightarrow z))$ in fuzzy logic, IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems. 16 (2008) 130-144.
- 7. S. Jenei, On the convex combination of left-continuous t-norms, Aequ. Math. 72 (2006) 47-59.
- F. Karaçal, D. Khadjiev, ∨-distributive and infinitely ∨-distributive t-norms on complete lattices, Fuzzy Sets and Systems. 151 (2005) 341-352.
- 9. M. N. Kesicioğlu, R. Mesiar, Ordering based on implications, Information Sciences. 276 (2014) 377-386.
- M. N. Kesicioğlu, About the orders induced by implications satisfying the law of importation, Int. Journ. of Uncertainty Fuzziness and Knowledge-Based Systems. 26 (2018) 655-677.
- M. N. Kesicioğlu, U. Ertuğrul, F. Karaçal, Generalized convex combination of implications on bounded lattices, Iranian Journal of Fuzzy Systems. 17 (2020) 75-91.
- F. Karaçal, M. N. Kesicioğlu, Ü. Ertuğrul, Generalized convex combination of triangular norms on bounded lattices, International Journal of General Systems. 49 (2020) 277-301.
- E.P. Klement, R. Mesiar, E. Pap, Triangular Norms, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2000.
- Z. Ma, W.M. Wu, Logical operators on complete lattices, Information Sciences. 55 (1991) 77-97.
- S. Massanet, J. Torrens, An overview of construction methods of fuzzy implications, in Advances in Fuzzy implication functions, Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing. 300 (2013) 1-30.
- S. Massanet, J. Torrens, Threshold generation method of construction of a new implication from two given ones, Fuzzy Sets and Systems. 205 (2012) 50-75.
- M. Mas, M. Monserrat, J. Torrens, The law of importation for discrete implications, Information Sciences, 179 (2009) 4208-4218.
- M. Mas, M. Monserrat, J. Torrens, E. Trillas, A survey on fuzzy implication functions, IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst., 15 (2007) 1107-1121.
- R. Mesiar, A. Mesiarová-Zemanková, Convex combinations of continuous t-norms with the same diagonal function, Non-linear Anal. 69 (9) (2008) 2851-2856.
- M. Navara, Convex combinations of fuzzy logical operations, Fuzzy Sets and Systems. 264 (2015) 51-63.
- 21. M. Navara, M. Petrík, P. Sarkoci, Convex combinations of triangular norms, in: U. Bodenhofer, B. De Baets, E.P.Klement, S. Saminger-Platz (Eds.), 30th Linz Seminar on Fuzzy Set Theory: The Legacy of 30 Seminars Where Do We Stand and Where Do We Go?, Johannes Kepler University, Linz, Austria, 2009, pp. 85-87.
- 22. M. Navara, Fuzzy implications satsifying convexity relations, in: G. Pasi, J. Montero, D. Ciucci (Eds.), Proceedings of the 8th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, Atlantis Press, 2013, 187-192.
- 23. Y. Ouyang, J. Fang, G. Li, On the convex combination of T_D and continuous triangular norms, Information Sciences. 177 (2007) 2945-2953.
- Y. Ouyang, J. Fang, Some observations about the convex combinations of continuous triangular norms, Nonlinear Anal. 69 (11) (2008) 3382-3387.
- 25. M. Petrík, Convex combinations of strict t-norms, Soft Comput. 14 (2010) 1053-1057.

FUNDA KARAÇAL, M. NESIBE KESICIOĞLU, AND ÜMIT ERTUĞRUL

- M. Petrík, P. Sarkoci, Convex combinations of nilpotent triangular norms, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 350 (2009) 271-275.
- J.V. Riera, J. Torrens, Residual implications on the set of discrete fuzzy numbers, Information Sciences. 247 (2013) 131-143.
- Y. Su, H.-W. Liu, W. Pedrycz, A method to construct fuzzy implications-rotation construction, Int. Journ. of Approximate Reasoning. 92 (2018) 20-31.
- 29. Y. Su, A. Xie, H. Liu, On ordinal sum implications, Informations Sciences. 293 (2015) 251-262.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF SCIENCES, KARADENIZ TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY, 61080 TRABZON, TURKEY

 $Email \ address: \verb"fkaracal@yahoo.com" \\$

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, RECEP TAYYIP ERDOĞAN UNIVERSITY, 53100 RIZE, TURKEY *Email address*: nesibe.kesicioglu@erdogan.edu.tr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF SCIENCES, KARADENIZ TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY, 61080 TRABZON, TURKEY

Email address: uertugrul@ktu.edu.tr

Commutativity Associated with Confluent Hypergeometric Differential Equation

Mehmet Emir Koksal

Department of Mathematics, Ondokuz Mayis University, 55139 Atakum, Samsun, Turkey E-mail(s): mekoksal@omu.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, commutativity conditions of general Confluent hypergeometric differential equation are considered. In the sense of theoretical results for the commutativity of second-order analogue time-varying linear systems, it is proved that the system described by a general Confluent hypergeometric differential equation has commutative pairs which depend on the parameters of the equation.

1. Introduction

The commutativity of linear time-varying analog systems has gained attraction in the last few decades. This concept has been studied by Marshal [1] for the first time for first-order systems. In addition to the exhaustive study [2] which sets the basic theory of commutativity, there is a large cycle of works in the literature on higher-order systems [3], studying commutativity of most of the second-order linear time-varying systems [4, 5].

Although most of the famous second-order linear time-varying differential systems were subjected from the commutativity point of view in [4, 5], general Confluent hypergeometric differential equation [6] is not among them. So, the purpose of this study is to study the commutativity conditions of the following general Confluent hypergeometric differential equation

$$y''(t) + \left(\frac{2A}{t} + 2f' + \frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right)y'(t) + \left[\left(\frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right)\left(\frac{A}{t} + f'\right) + \frac{A(A-1)}{t^2} + \frac{2Af'}{t} + f'' + f'^2 - \frac{a{h'}^2}{h}\right]y(t) = 0.$$
(1)
and h are constants, f and h depend on time variable.

Here, A and b are constants, f and h depend on time variable..

2. Commutativity Conditions of Second-order Systems

We assume that A be linear time-varying second-order differential system described by the following second-order differential equations:

 $a_2(t)\ddot{y}_A(t) + a_1(t)\dot{y}_A(t) + a_0(t)y_A(t) = x_A(t); t \ge 0.$ (2) Here, $x_A(t)$ is the independent excitation and $y_A(t)$ is the resulting response. For the unique solution of Eq. (2) for $t \ge t_0$, it is sufficient that the excitation and the time-varying coefficients $a_2(t)$, $a_1(t)$, $a_0(t)$ be piece-wise continuous functions of time with $a_2(t) \ne 0$.

The system modeled by Eq. (2) has a commutative pair if and only if the coefficients of the system satisfy the following equation [7]:

$$-a_2^{0.5} \frac{d}{dt} \left[a_0 - \frac{1}{16a_2} \left(4a_1^2 + 3\dot{a}_2^2 - 8a_1\dot{a}_2 + 8\dot{a}_1a_2 - 4a_2\ddot{a}_2 \right) \right] k = 0,$$
(3)

where k is a constant.

3. Commutativity of General Confluent Hypergeometric Differential Equation

For Eq. (1), $a_0 = \left(\frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right) \left(\frac{A}{t} + f'\right) + \frac{A(A-1)}{t^2} + \frac{2Af'}{t} + f'' + f'^2 - \frac{a{h'}^2}{h} \text{ and } a_1 = \left(\frac{2A}{t} + 2f' + \frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right)$. Because of the fact that $a_2 = 1, \dot{a}_2 = \ddot{a}_2 = 0$. So, Eq. (3) becomes $a_0 5 \frac{d}{t} \left[a_1 - a_1^2 + 2\dot{a}_1\right] = 0$

$$-a_2^{0.5} \frac{d}{dt} \left[a_0 - \frac{a_1^2 + 2\dot{a}_1}{4} \right] k = 0.$$
(4)

Excluding the special case k = 0, the term in the square bracket of Eq. (4) must be equal to a constant. Thus, using the values of $a_0, a_1, \dot{a}_1 = \frac{-2A}{t^2}$, we obtain following expression:

$$\frac{A(A-1) - A^{2} + A}{t^{2}} + \frac{A\left(\frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'} + 2f' - 2f' - \frac{bh'}{h} + h' - \frac{h''}{h'}\right)}{t} + \left(\frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right)f' + f'' + f'^{2} - \frac{a{h'}^{2}}{h} - \frac{1}{4}\left(2f' + \frac{bh'}{h} - h' + \frac{h''}{h'}\right)^{2} = constant.$$

The expressions in the numerator of rational expressions with t^2 and t in the denominator are already equal to zero. The remaining part can be written in the following form:

$$(h')^{2}\left(\frac{b-2a}{h}-\frac{b^{2}}{4h^{2}}-\frac{1}{4}\right)+h''\left[-\frac{2b}{4h}-\frac{h''}{4(h')^{2}}+\frac{2}{4}\right]+f''=constant.$$

For the special case, the above expression can be satisfied for a = b = 0, $h = e^x$ and $f = \frac{1}{16}(e^{2x} - 8e^x + 2x^2)$. For these values, the constant is equal to zero and the main Eq. (1) can be written in the following form:

$$y'' + \left(\frac{e^{2x}}{4} - 2e^x + \frac{x}{2} + 1 + \frac{2A}{x}\right)y' + \left[(1 - e^x)\left(\frac{e^{2x}}{8} - \frac{e^x}{2} + \frac{x}{4} + \frac{A}{x}\right) + \frac{A(A-1)}{x^2} + \frac{e^{2x}}{4} - \frac{e^x}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \left(\frac{e^{2x}}{8} - \frac{e^x}{2} + \frac{x}{4}\right)\left(\frac{e^{2x}}{8} - \frac{e^x}{2} + \frac{x}{4} + \frac{2A}{x}\right)\right]y = 0$$

Acknowledgments: This study was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under the project no. 115E952.

4. References

- [1] J. E. Marshal, Commutativity of time varying systems, Electronics Letters, 13, 539-540, 1977
- [2] M. Koksal, Exhaustive study on the commutativity of time-varying systems, International Journal of Control, 5, 1521-1537, 1988

- [3] M. Koksal, M.E. Koksal, Commutativity of linear time-varying differential systems with non-zero initial conditions: A Review and some new extensions, Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2011, 1-25, 2011
- [4] M.E. Koksal, Commutativity conditions of some time-varying systems, International Conference on Mathematics: "An Istanbul Meeting for World Mathematicians", 3-6 Jul 2018, Istanbul, Turkey, pp. 109-117, 2018
- [5] M. E. Koksal, Commutativity and commutative pairs of some well-known differential equations, Communications in Mathematics and Applications, 9 (4) 689-703, 2018
- [6] M. Abramowitz, I. A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables, 10th Printing, Applied Mathematics Series 55, 1972
- [7] M. Koksal, Commutativity of second-order time-varying systems, International Journal of Control, 36 (3) 541-544, 1982

Rate of Convergence of Some Positive Linear Operators

Faruk Özger

Department of Engineering Sciences, İzmir Katip Çelebi University, Turkey, E-mail: farukozger@mail.com

Abstract

In this work, we combine some recent studies about rates of convergence and some other approximation properties of certain recent defined linear positive operators for functions of one and two variables. We extensively give a related survey.

1. Introduction

Acu et al. [8] introduced the following integral modification of Bernstein operators:

$$K_{n,\lambda}(h;z) = (n+1)\sum_{i=0}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;z) \int_{\frac{i}{n+1}}^{\frac{i+1}{n+1}} h(t)dt.$$
(1)

They generalized both Bernstein and λ -Bernstein operators and obtain some asymptotic type results. Also Cai proposed λ -Kantorovich operators (1) and the following Bézier variant of Kantorovich type λ -Bernstein operators [6]:

$$L_{n,\lambda,\beta}(h;z) = (n+1)\sum_{i=0}^{n} Q_{n,i}^{(\beta)}(\lambda;z) \int_{\frac{i}{n+1}}^{\frac{i+1}{n+1}} h(t)dt$$

where

$$Q_{n,i}^{(\beta)}(\lambda;z) = \left[J_{n,i}^{(\beta)}(\lambda;z)\right]^{\beta} - \left[J_{n,i+1}^{(\beta)}(\lambda;z)\right]^{\beta} \text{ and} J_{n,i}^{(\beta)}(\lambda;z) = \sum_{j=i}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,j}(\lambda;z).$$

Approximation properties of λ Kantorovich operators with shifted knots were introduced by Rahman et al. [7] as

$$K_{n,\lambda}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(h;z) = \left(\frac{n+\beta}{n}\right)^n (n+\beta+1) \sum_{i=0}^n \hat{b}_{n,i}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\lambda;z) \int_{\frac{i+\alpha}{n+\beta+1}}^{\frac{i+\alpha+1}{n+\beta+1}} h(t) dt.$$

A family of GBS operators of bivariate tensor product of λ -Kantorovich type was constructed in [18]. Many researchers established some Kantorovich type operators by modifying Bernstein type operators to have better error estimation [7, 9, 14].

Acu et al. extented λ -Bernstein operators to introduce a new type genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators in [2]:

$$\begin{split} U_{n,\lambda}^{\rho}(h;z) &= \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \int_0^1 \left[\frac{t^{i\rho-1}(1-t)^{(n-i)\rho-1}}{B(i\rho,(n-i)\rho)} h(t) dt \right] \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;z) \\ &+ h(0) \tilde{b}_{n,0}(\lambda;z) + h(1) \tilde{b}_{n,n}(\lambda;z). \end{split}$$

In [3], Qi et al. constructed λ -Szász-Mirakian operators

$$M_{n,\lambda}(h;z) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \widetilde{m}_{n,i}(\lambda;z) h\left(\frac{i}{n}\right), \ z \in [0,\infty),$$

The Schurer polynomials $s_{n,i}(z)$ were introduced by Frans Schurer in [4] as

$$s_{n,i}(z) = {\binom{n+\alpha}{i}} z^i (1-z)^{n+\alpha-i}$$
 (*i* = 0,1,..., *n* + α).

where α is a non-negative integer. The operators generated by these polynomials, which are called Schurer operators, were introduced to extend the domain of function from C[0,1] to $C[0,1 + \alpha]$. Some relevant work about Schurer polynomials and Schurer operators may be found in [11, 4]. λ -bases modified by adding parameter α to introduce the following new bases in [12]:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{s}_{n,0}(\lambda;z) &= s_{n,0}(z) - \frac{\lambda}{n+\alpha+1} s_{n+1,1}(z), \\ \tilde{s}_{n,i}(\lambda;z) &= s_{n,i}(z) + \frac{\lambda}{(n+\alpha)^2 - 1} \Big[(n+\alpha-2i+1) s_{n+1,i}(z) \\ &- (n+\alpha-2i-1) s_{n+1,i+1}(z) \Big] \ (i = 1, 2 \dots, n+\alpha-1), \\ \tilde{s}_{n,n+\alpha}(\lambda;z) &= s_{n,n+\alpha}(z) - \frac{\lambda}{n+\alpha+1} s_{n+1,n+\alpha}(z), \end{split}$$

where shape parameter $\lambda \in [-1,1]$. In the same work, the λ -Schurer operators were introduced and some approximation and statistical approximation properties were studied.

2. Main Approximation Results

The results that are fiven given in this part are from the papers [12,16]. We remember the following Lemma [12].

$$S_{n,\alpha}^{\lambda}(1;z) = 1;$$

$$S_{n,\alpha}^{\lambda}(t;z) = \frac{n+\alpha}{n} z + \frac{1-2z+z^{n+\alpha+1}-(1-z)^{n+\alpha+1}}{n(n+\alpha-1)} \lambda;$$

$$S_{n,\alpha}^{\lambda}(t^{2};z) = \frac{(n+\alpha)^{2}}{n^{2}} z^{2} + \frac{n+\alpha}{n^{2}} (z-z^{2})$$

$$+ \frac{2(n+\alpha)z-1-4(n+\alpha)z^{2}+(2(n+\alpha)+1)z^{n+\alpha+1}+(1-z)^{n+\alpha+1}}{n^{2}(n+\alpha-1)} \lambda$$

Let $z \in [0,1]$, α be a non-negative integer, $\lambda \in [-1,1]$ and $\psi_z = t - z$, then we have the following central moments:

$$\begin{split} K_{n,\alpha}^{\lambda}(\psi_{z};z) &= \frac{1-2z}{2(n+\alpha+1)} + \frac{1-2z+z^{n+\alpha+1}-(1-z)^{n+\alpha+1}}{(n+\alpha)^{2}-1}\lambda;\\ K_{n,\alpha}^{\lambda}(\psi_{z}^{2};z) &= \frac{z-z^{2}}{n+\alpha+1} + \frac{1+6z\lambda}{3(n+\alpha+1)^{2}}\\ &- \frac{z(1-2z)+z^{n+\alpha+1}(z-1)-z(1-z)^{n+\alpha+1}}{(n+\alpha)^{2}-1}2\lambda - \frac{4(n+\alpha)z^{2}}{(n+\alpha+1)((n+\alpha)^{2}-1)}\lambda. \end{split}$$

Let $\mathcal{J} = [0,1] \times [0,1]$ and $(x, y) \in \mathcal{J}$, then we consider bivariate λ -Kantorovich operators

$$\overline{K}_{n,m}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(f;x,y) =$$

$$(n+1)(m+1)\sum_{k_1=0}^n \sum_{k_2=0}^m \widetilde{b}_{n,k_1}(\lambda_1;x)\widetilde{b}_{m,k_2}(\lambda_2;y) \int_{\frac{k_1}{n+1}}^{\frac{k_1+1}{n+1}} \int_{\frac{k_2}{m+1}}^{\frac{k_2+1}{m+1}} f(u,v)dudv$$

for $f(x, y) \in C(\mathcal{J})$, where Bézier bases $\tilde{b}_{n,k_1}(\lambda_1; x)$ and $\tilde{b}_{m,k_2}(\lambda_2; x)$ $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in [-1, -1])$.

Theorem 1. Let $f(x, y) \in C(I)$, then the following inequality holds

$$\left| \overline{K}_{n,m}^{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}(f;x,y) - f(x,y) \right| \leq 2 \left[\omega_{1}(f;C^{1/2}(n,\lambda_{1})) + \omega_{2}(f;C^{1/2}(m,\lambda_{2})) \right],$$

where $C(n, \lambda_1)$ and $C(m, \lambda_2)$.

Let $\mathbb{K}_{n,n}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(f;x,y)$ be a sequence of positive linear operators acting from $C_B(\mathcal{J})$ into $C(\mathcal{J})$ defined by $\mathbb{K}_{n,n}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(f;x,y) = (1+x_n)\overline{K}_{n,n}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(f;x,y).$

Theorem 2. Let $f \in Lip_M(\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2)$. Then, for all $(x, y) \in \mathcal{J}_{ab}$, we have

$$|\overline{K}_{n,m}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}(f;x,y) - f(x,y)| \le MC^{\widehat{\beta}_1/2}(n,\lambda_1)C^{\widehat{\beta}_2/2}(m,\lambda_2),$$

where $C(n, \lambda_1)$ and $C(m, \lambda_2)$ are defined in [12].

Let $f(x, y) \in C^1(\mathcal{J}_{ab})$, then we have

 $\left|\overline{K}_{n,m}^{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}(f;x,y) - f(x,y)\right| \leq C^{\frac{1}{2}}(n,\lambda_{1}) \parallel f_{x}(x,y) \parallel_{C(\mathcal{J}_{ab})} + C^{\frac{1}{2}}(m,\lambda_{2}) \parallel f_{y}(x,y) \parallel_{C(\mathcal{J}_{ab})}.$

Theorem 3. Let $A = (a_{nk})$ be a weighted non-negative regular summability matrix. Assume that following condition yields:

 $w(f, \varphi_n) = [stat_A, q_n] - o(u_n) \text{ on } [0,1], \text{ where } \varphi_n = \sqrt{\parallel K_{n,\lambda}((s-x)^2; x) \parallel_{C[0,1]}}.$

Then for every bounded $f \in C[0,1]$ we have $||K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) - f(x)||_{C[0,1]} = [stat_A, q_n] - o(u_n)$.

3. References

[1] F. Özger, K. Demirci, S. Yıldız, Approximation by Kantorovich variant of λ -Schurer operators and related numerical results, Taylor Francis, Topics in Contemporary Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Chapter 3, 2020, ISBN 9780367532666.

[2] Acu A M, Acar T, Radu V A. Approximation by modified $U_{n,\lambda}^{\rho}$ operators. RACSAM 2019; 113:2715-2729.

[3] Qi Q, Guo D, Yang G. Approximation Properties of λ -Szász-Mirakian Operators. International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology. 2019; 12(5):662-669.

[4] Schurer F. Linear positive operators in approximation theory. Math Inst Techn Univ Delft Report 1962.

[5] Cai, Q.-B.; Lian, B.-Y.; Zhou, G. Approximation properties of λ -Bernstein operators, *J. Inequal. Appl.* 2018, 2018, 61.

[6] Cai, Q.-B. The Bézier variant of Kantorovich type λ -Bernstein operators. J. Inequal. Appl. 2018, 2018, 90.

[7] Rahman S, Mursaleen M, Acu AM. Approximation properties of λ -Bernsteinâ \in Kantorovich operators with shifted knots. Math Meth Appl Sci. 2019; 42(11):042-4053.

[8] Acu, A.M.; Manav, N.; Sofonea, D.F. Approximation properties of λ -Kantorovich operators. *J. Inequal. Appl.* 2018, 2018, 202.

[9] Mohiuddine SA, Acar T, Alotaibi A. Construction of a new family of Bernstein-Kantorovich operators. Math Meth Appl Sci. 2017; 40:7749-7759.

[10] Özarslan MA, Duman O. Smoothness properties of modified Bernstein-Kantorovich operators. Numer Func Anal Opt. 2016; 37(1):92-105.

[11] Bărbosu D, Bărbosu M. Some properties of the fundamental polynomials of Bernstein-Schurer. Bul Științ Univ Baia Mare Ser B, Mat-Inf. 2002; 18(2):133-136.

[12] Özger F. On new Bézier bases with Schurer polynomials and corresponding results in approximation theory. Commun Fac Sci Univ Ank Ser A1 Math Stat. 2019; 69(1):376-393.

[13] Cai QB, Zhou G. Blending type approximation by GBS operators of bivariate tensor product of λ -Bernstein-Kantorovich type. J Inequal Appl. 2018; 2018:268.

[14] Rahman S, Mursaleen M, Acu AM. Approximation properties of λ -Bernstein-Kantorovich operators with shifted knots. Math Meth Appl Sci. 2019; 42(11):042-4053.

[15] Qi Q, Guo D, Yang G. Approximation Properties of λ -Szász-Mirakian Operators. International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology. 2019; 12(5):662-669.

[16] Özger, F., Weighted statistical approximation properties of univariate and bivariate λ –Kantorovich operators, Filomat, (2019) 33, 1-15.

[17] Acar, T.; Aral, A.; Mohiuddine, S.A. On Kantorovich modification of (p, q)-Baskakov operators. *J. Inequal. Appl.* **2018**, 2016:98.

[18] Acu, A.M.; Muraru, C. Approximation properties of bivariate extension of *q*-Bernstein-Schurer-Kantorovich operators. *Results Math.* **2015**, 67(3), 265-279.

[17] Q.B. Cai, G. Zhou, Blending type approximation by GBS operators of bivariate tensor product of λ -Bernstein-Kantorovich type, J. Inequal. Appl. 2018:268 (2018).

Some λ Bernstein type Operators

Faruk Özger

Department of Engineering Sciences, İzmir Katip Çelebi University, Turkey, E-mail: farukozger@mail.com

Abstract

Parametric representations of surfaces and curves have extensively been used in computer aided geometric design and computer graphics for modeling surfaces. It is important which basis functions are used if we want to preserve the shape of the curve or surface when we demonstrate a parametric surface or curve. This is why Bezier curve and surface representation have an important role in computer graphics. Bernstein basis functions are used to construct classical Bezier curves since they have a simple structure to use. A new type Bezier bases with λ shape parameters have recently been defined [4, Cai et al., 2018]. In this work we summarize some recent studies about λ Bernstein type operators.

1. Introduction

For any continuous function f(x) defined on C[0,1], Bernstein polynomials of order n are given by

$$B_n(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^n f\left(\frac{i}{n}\right) b_{n,i}(x) \qquad (x \in [0,1]),$$
(1)

where the Bernstein basis functions $b_{n,i}(x)$ are defined by

$$b_{n,i}(x) = {n \choose i} x^i (1-x)^{n-i} \qquad (i = 0, ..., n) \ [6].$$

Many generalizations of these operators have been introduced in literature. Stancu [2] constructed a generalization of Bernstein polynomials with the help of two parameters α and β such that $0 \le \alpha \le \beta$, as follows:

$$S_{n,\alpha,\beta}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} f\left(\frac{i+\alpha}{n+\beta}\right) {n \choose i} x^i (1-x)^{n-i} \qquad (x \in [0,1]).$$

When $\alpha = \beta = 0$, then we get the classical Bernstein polynomials. The operators defined in (2) are called Bernstein–Stancu operators. For some recent work, we refer to [1-7].

In the recent past, Cai et al. [2] presented a new construction of Bernstein operators with the help of Bézier bases with shape parameter λ and called it λ -Bernstein operators, which are defined by
$$B_n^{\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^n f\left(\frac{i}{n}\right) \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x) \qquad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$
(3)

where $\tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda; x)$ are Bézier bases with shape parameter λ (see [3]), defined by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{b}_{n,0}(\lambda; x) &= b_{n,0}(x) - \frac{\lambda}{n+1} b_{n+1,1}(x), \\ \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda; x) &= b_{n,i}(x) + \frac{n-2i+1}{n^2-1} \lambda b_{n+1,i}(x) - \frac{n-2i-1}{n^2-1} \lambda b_{n+1,i+1}(x), \quad i = 1, 2 \dots, n-1, \\ \tilde{b}_{n,n}(\lambda; x) &= b_{n,n}(x) - \frac{\lambda}{n+1} b_{n+1,n}(x), \end{split}$$
(4)

in this case $\lambda \in [-1,1]$ and $b_{n,i}(x)$ are the Bernstein basis functions. By taking the above operators into account, they established various approximation results, namely, Korovkin- and Voronovskajatype Theorems, rate of convergence via Lipschitz continuous functions, local approximation and other related results. In the same year, Cai [4] generalized λ -Bernstein operators by constructing the Kantorovich-type λ -Bernstein operators, as well as its Bézier variant, and studied several approximation results. Later, various approximation properties and asymptotic type results of the Kantorovich-type λ -Bernstein operators have been studied by Acu et al. [5]. Very recently, Özger [14] obtained statistical approximation for λ -Bernstein Kantorovich operators including a Voronovskaja-type Theorem in statistical sense.

The Bernstein operators are some of the most studied positive linear operators which were modified by many authors, and we are mentioning some of them [10-17].

Suppose that α and β are two non-negative parameters such that $0 \le \alpha \le \beta$. Then, the Stancu-type modification of λ -Bernstein operators $B_{n,\alpha,\beta}^{\lambda}(f;x): C[0,1] \to C[0,1]$ is defined by

$$B_{n,\alpha,\beta}^{\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} f\left(\frac{i+\alpha}{n+\beta}\right) \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x)$$
(5)

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and we call it Stancu-type λ -Bernstein operators or λ -Bernstein–Stancu operators.

We calculate the moments, prove global approximation formula for some λ -Bernstein type operators in [1,10]. The local direct estimate of the rate of convergence by Lipschitz-type function involving two parameters for λ -Bernstein–Stancu operators is investigated. We establish quantitative Voronovskaja-type Theorem for our operators.

Kantorovich type operators have been widely studied by many researchers. λ -Bernstein operators were also modified to define λ -Kantorovich operators by Acu et al. [5] as

$$K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) = (n+1)\sum_{i=0}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x) \int_{i/(n+1)}^{(i+1)/(n+1)} f(t)dt$$
(6)

2. Main Results

The following results were obtain in [1,4,5,14].

We have following equalities for λ -Kantorovich operators:

$$\begin{split} K_{n,\lambda}(1;x) &= 1; \\ K_{n,\lambda}(t;x) &= x + \frac{1-2x}{2(n+1)} + \frac{1-2x+x^{n+1}-(1-x)^{n+1}}{n^2-1}\lambda; \\ K_{n,\lambda}(t^2;x) &= x^2 + \frac{3nx(2-3x)-3x^2+1}{3(n+1)^2} + \frac{x^{n+1}-x+n(x^{n+1}+x-2x^2)}{(n-1)(n+1)^2}2\lambda. \end{split}$$

Consider λ -Kantorovich operators in (6), λ -Bernstein operators defined in [4]. Consider λ -Bernstein, λ -Kantorovich and λ -Durrmeyer operators as

$$B_{n,\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x) B_{i,n}(f); \quad B_{i,n}(f) = f\left(\frac{i}{n}\right);$$

$$K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x) K_{i,n}(f); \quad K_{i,n}(f) = (n+1) \int_{i/(n+1)}^{(i+1)/(n+1)} f(t) dt;$$

$$D_{n,\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \tilde{b}_{n,i}(\lambda;x) D_{i,n}(f); \quad D_{i,n}(f) = (n+1) \int_{0}^{1} b_{n,i}(t) f(t) dt.$$

Let $F: C(I) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a positive linear functional such that F(1) = 1. If we denote $b^F = F(x)$ and

$$\mu_i^F = \frac{1}{i}F(e_1 - b^F e_0)^i,$$

then we have $\mu_0^F = 1$, $\mu_1^F = 0$ and $\mu_2^F = \frac{1}{2} [F(e_2) - (b^F)^2]$.

Let $f, f'' \in C[0,1]$. We have the following estimates for difference of λ -Bernstein and λ -Kantorovich operators:

$$\left| B_{n,\lambda}(f;x) - K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) \right| \leq \|f''\|\alpha_n(x,\lambda) + \omega_1(f,1/(2n+2)); \left| B_{n,\lambda}(f;x) - K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) \right| \leq 3\omega_2 (f,1/(2\sqrt{6}n+2\sqrt{6})) + 5\sqrt{6}\omega_1 (f,1/(2\sqrt{6}n+2\sqrt{6})).$$

Let $f, f'' \in C[0,1]$. We have the following estimates for difference of λ -Bernstein and λ -Durrmeyer operators:

•
$$|B_{n,\lambda}(f;x) - D_{n,\lambda}(f;x)| \le ||f''||\beta_n(x,\lambda) + \omega_1(f,1/(n+2));$$

• $|B_{n,\lambda}(f;x) - D_{n,\lambda}(f;x)| \le 3\omega_2(f,\beta_n^{1/2}(x,\lambda)) + 5(n+2)\beta_n^{-1/2}(x,\lambda)\omega_1(f,\beta_n^{1/2}(x,\lambda)).$

For $x \in [0,1]$, the moments of Stancu type λ -Bernstein operators are given as:

$$B_{n,\alpha,\beta}^{\lambda}(1;x) = 1;$$

$$B_{n,\alpha,\beta}^{\lambda}(t;x) = \frac{\alpha + nx}{n + \beta} + \lambda \left[\frac{1 - 2x + x^{n+1} + (\alpha - 1)(1 - x)^{n+1}}{(n + \beta)(n - 1)} + \frac{\alpha x(1 - x)^n}{n + \beta} \right];$$

$$B_{n,\alpha,\beta}^{\lambda}(t^2;x) = \frac{1}{(n + \beta)^2} \{n(n - 1)x^2 + (1 + 2\alpha)nx + \alpha^2\}$$

Theorem. Let C[0,1] denote the space of all real-valued continuous functions on [0,1] endowed with the supremum norm. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} B^{\lambda}_{n,\alpha,\beta}(f;x) = f(x) \qquad (f \in C[0,1])$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} K_{n,\lambda}(f;x) = f(x) \qquad (f \in C[0,1])$$

uniformly in [0,1].

3. References

[1] Srivastava, H.M., Özger, F., Mohiuddine, S.A., Construction of Stancu-type Bernstein operators based on Bézier bases with shape parameter λ , Symmetry, (2019) 11(3), Article 316.

[2] Cai, Q.-B.; Lian, B.-Y.; Zhou, G. Approximation properties of λ -Bernstein operators, *J. Inequal. Appl.* **2018**, 2018, 61.

[3] Ye, Z.; Long, X.; Zeng, X.-M. Adjustment algorithms for Bézier curve and surface. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Computer Science and Education, Hefei, China, 24–27 August 2010; pp. 1712–1716.

[4] Cai, Q.-B. The Bézier variant of Kantorovich type λ -Bernstein operators. J. Inequal. Appl. 2018, 2018, 90.

[5] Acu, A.M.; Manav, N.; Sofonea, D.F. Approximation properties of λ -Kantorovich operators. J. Inequal. Appl. **2018**, 2018, 202.

[6] Bernstein SN. Démonstration du théorème de Weierstrass fondée sur le calcul des probabilités. Communications of the Kharkov Mathematical Society 1912; 13(2):1-2.

[7] Lorentz GG. Bernstein polynomials. Chelsea Pub. Comp: New York, 1986.

[8] Schurer F. Linear positive operators in approximation theory. Math Inst Techn Univ Delft Report 1962.

[9] Bărbosu D, Bărbosu M. Some properties of the fundamental polynomials of Bernstein-Schurer. Bul Științ Univ Baia Mare Ser B, Mat-Inf. 2002; 18(2):133-136.

[10] Özger F. On new Bézier bases with Schurer polynomials and corresponding results in approximation theory. Commun Fac Sci Univ Ank Ser A1 Math Stat. 2019; 69(1):376-393.

[11] Cai QB, Zhou G. Blending type approximation by GBS operators of bivariate tensor product of λ -Bernstein-Kantorovich type. J Inequal Appl. 2018; 2018:268.

[12] Rahman S, Mursaleen M, Acu AM. Approximation properties of λ -Bernstein-Kantorovich operators with shifted knots. Math Meth Appl Sci. 2019; 42(11):042-4053.

[13] Qi Q, Guo D, Yang G. Approximation Properties of λ -Szász-Mirakian Operators. International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology. 2019; 12(5):662-669.

[14] Özger, F., Weighted statistical approximation properties of univariate and bivariate λ –Kantorovich operators, Filomat, (2019) 33, 1-15.

[15] Acar, T.; Aral, A.; Mohiuddine, S.A. On Kantorovich modification of (p,q)-Baskakov operators. *J. Inequal. Appl.* **2018**, 2016:98.

[16] Acu, A.M.; Muraru, C. Approximation properties of bivariate extension of *q*-Bernstein-Schurer-Kantorovich operators. *Results Math.* **2015**, 67(3), 265-279.

[17] Stancu, D.D. Asupra unei generalizari a polinoamelor lui Bernstein. *Studia Univ. Babes-Bolyai, Ser. Math.-Phys.* **1969**, 14, 31-45.

Fractional-Order PID speed controller based on the conformable derivative for the DC motor

Sertan Alkan¹, Kerim Melih Cimrin²

¹Department of Computer Engineering, Iskenderun Technical University, Hatay, Turkey ²Institute of Engineering and Sciences, Iskenderun Technical University, Hatay, Turkey E-mail sertan.alkan@iste.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, fractional-order PID speed controller based on the conformable derivative for the DC motor is proposed and studied in this paper. A fractional-order PID is a PID whose derivative order is fractional number rather than integer. The simulation comparisons presented in this study is shown that the fractional order PID controller has proven to perform better than a traditional integer order PID controller if properly designed.

Keywords: DC motor, fractional-order PID (FOPID), PID, controller, conformable derivative

1. Introduction

DC motors have various applications such as printers, fuel pumps, and electric vehicles in our daily life and solar airplane, electric aircraft, and propulsion systems in spacecraft applications [1]. Also, DC motors are commonly used in the industry. Therefore, position and speed control of these systems are required to high accuracy [2].

In the literature, speed control of DC Motor has been commonly applied in a various applications. To control the speed of a DC motor, there are many methods that are available. These controllers can be: proportional integral (PI), proportional integral derivative (PID) Fuzzy Logic Controller (FLC) or sliding mode controller (SMC) [4]. Through current control method, the proportional – integral – derivative (PID) controller is one of the most preferred methods because of easy handling and simple dynamics. PID controller has taken a significant part in solution of control theory problems.

Fractional calculus is a subject of calculus that involves noninteger order differential and integral operators. Many mathematicians contributed to the development of fractional calculus, therefore many definitions for the fractional derivative are available. The most popular definitions are Riemann-Liouville and Caputo definition of fractional derivatives.

In this study, we use a new definition of fractional derivative called the conformable fractional derivative given by paper in [11].

2. Mathematical Modeling of DC Motor:

The electrical and mechanical equations of the DC motor that is used in this study can be given below:

$$T_m = K_T i, \tag{1.1}$$

$$v_{emf} = K_B \, \frac{d\theta}{dt},\tag{1.2}$$

$$u - v_{emf} = L \frac{di}{dt} + Ri, \tag{1.3}$$

$$J\frac{d^2\theta}{dt^2} = \sum T_{m_i} = -B\frac{d\theta}{dt} + K_T i.$$
^(1.4)

If we substitute (1.2) in (1.3), we get

$$u = L\frac{di}{dt} + Ri + K_B \frac{d\theta}{dt}$$
(1.5)

Equations 1.4 and 1.5 generate the two fundamental differential equations. State space form is

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2\theta}{dt^2} = -\frac{B}{J}\frac{d\theta}{dt} + \frac{K_T}{J}i\\ \frac{di}{dt} = -\frac{R}{L}i - \frac{K_B}{L}\frac{d\theta}{dt} + \frac{1}{L}u \end{cases}$$
(1.6)



Figure 1 The control Equivalent Circuit of DC Motor

where *i* is motor current T_m is the torque, K_T is the torque constant, v_{emf} is the induced electromotive force, $d\theta / dt$ is the angular shaft velocity, K_B is a motor property dependent constant related to physical

properties of the motor, B is the viscous friction, u is the control signal, R is the resistance, L is the inductance, and J is the moment of inertia. [3]

Table 1	. System	Parameters
---------	----------	-------------------

Parameter	Value	
I	$5.0872e-07kg.m^2$	
K_T	0.00535Nm/A	
K _B	0.00535 VS/rad	
B	1.4782e – 06Nms/rad	
R	2.5760 Ω	
L	0.014499 <i>mH</i>	

2. Conformable Derivative

Definition 1. Let $a \in (n, n + 1]$ and f be an n – differentiable function at t, where t > 0 Then the conformable fractional derivative of f of order α is defined as

$$T_a(f)(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{f^{([a]-1)}(t+\varepsilon t^{([a]-a)}) - f^{([a]-1)}(t)}{\varepsilon}$$

where $[\alpha]$ is the smallest integer greater than or equal to α .

Remark 1. As a consequence of Definition1, one can easily show that

 $T_a(f)(t) = t^{([a]-a)} f^{[a]}(t)$

where $a \in (n, n + 1]$ and f is (n + 1) differentiable at t > 0.

Theorem 2. Let $a \in (n, n + 1]$ and f; g be α – differentiable at a t > 0. Then

- 1. $T_a(af + bg) = aT_a(f) + bT_a(g)$, for all $a, b \in R$.
- 2. $T_a(t^p) = pt^{p-a}$, for all $p \in R$.
- 3. $T_a(\lambda) = 0$, for all constant functions $f(t) = \lambda$.
- 4. $T_a(fg) = fT_a(g) + gT_a(f).$
- 5. $T_a\left(\frac{f}{g}\right) = \frac{gT_a(f) + fT_a(g)}{g^2}$.

3. Fractional-Order PID Controller Design

The common form of a fractional order PID controller is the PID^{μ} controller. Involving a differentiator of order μ where μ can be any real number. The transfer function of such a controller has the form

$$G(s) = K_p + \frac{K_i}{s} + K_t s^{\mu} \qquad \mu > 0$$

The control input can be formulated in the following,

$$u(t) = K_{p}e(t) + K_{i}\int_{0}^{t} e(t) + K_{t}D^{\mu}e(t)$$

where e(t) is tracking error and;

$$e(t) = y_r(t) - y(t)$$

where e(t) is tracking error, $y_r(t)$ is command signal and y(t) is output signal.



Fig. 2. FOPID DC motor speed control system block diagram

4. Results and Discussion



Figure 3. Step response for classical and fractional PID controller and set point 1000rpm, alpha=0,3

In Figure (3), the response of the speed response is shown for the case where the alpha is 0.3. The classical and fractional PID controller have reached the desired reference value as seen in the figure. Although, the fractional PID controller reached the desired reference value at the time of t = 0, 13, the classical PID controller reached the desired reference value at the time of t = 0.35. These results show that the designed fractional PID controller performs better and faster than the classical PID controller.



Figure 4. Step response for classical and fractional PID controller and set point 1000rpm, alpha=0,5

In Figure (4), the response of the speed response is shown for the case where the alpha is 0.5. The classical and fractional PID controller, as in the case where the load value is 0.3, have reached the desired reference value. As shown in the same way, performance of second order ADFTSMC is better than first order ADFTSMC.





Figure 5. Step response for classical and fractional PID controller and set point 1000rpm, alpha=0,7

In Figure (5), the response of the speed response is shown for the case where the alpha is 0.7. The classical and fractional PID controller, designed as in the case where the alpha is 0,3 and 0,5, have reached the desired reference value. As shown in the same way, performance of second order ADFTSMC is better than first order ADFTSMC.

6. Conclusion

In recent years, DC motors are commonly used in industry. Therefore, position and speed control of DC motors are required to high accuracy. For controlling a DC motor speed, FOPID controller is designed. The experimental results confirm that the designed controller provides suitable tracking performance.

5. References

[1] Xue, D. Y., & Zhao, C. N. (2007). Fractional order PID controller design for fractional order system. *Control Theory & Applications*, *5*, 771-776.

[2] Zhao, C., Xue, D., & Chen, Y. (2005, July). A fractional order PID tuning algorithm for a class of fractional order plants. In *IEEE International Conference Mechatronics and Automation*, 2005 (Vol. 1, pp. 216-221). IEEE.

[3] Zamani, M., Karimi-Ghartemani, M., Sadati, N., & Parniani, M. (2009). Design of a fractional order PID controller for an AVR using particle swarm optimization. *Control Engineering Practice*, *17*(12), 1380-1387.

[4] Taher, S. A., Fini, M. H., & Aliabadi, S. F. (2014). Fractional order PID controller design for LFC in electric power systems using imperialist competitive algorithm. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, *5*(1), 121-135.

[5] Maiti, D., Biswas, S., & Konar, A. (2008). Design of a fractional order PID controller using particle swarm optimization technique. *arXiv preprint arXiv:0810.3776*.

[6] Sundaravadivu, K., Arun, B., & Saravanan, K. (2011, November). Design of fractional order PID controller for liquid level control of spherical tank. In *2011 IEEE International Conference on Control System, Computing and Engineering* (pp. 291-295). IEEE.

[7] Luo, Y., Chen, Y. Q., Wang, C. Y., & Pi, Y. G. (2010). Tuning fractional order proportional integral controllers for fractional order systems. *Journal of Process Control*, *20*(7), 823-831.

[8] Ho, M. T., & Lin, C. Y. (2003). PID controller design for robust performance. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 48(8), 1404-1409.

[9] Thomas, N., & Poongodi, D. P. (2009, July). Position control of DC motor using genetic algorithm based PID controller. In *Proceedings of the world congress on engineering* (Vol. 2, pp. 1-3).

[10] Elsrogy, W. M., Fkirin, M. A., & Hassan, M. M. (2013, May). Speed control of DC motor using PID controller based on artificial intelligence techniques. In *2013 International Conference on Control, Decision and Information Technologies (CoDIT)* (pp. 196-201). IEEE.

[11] Khalil, R., Al Horani, M., Yousef, A. and Sababeh, M. A new definition of fractional derivative, J.Comput. Appl. Math., (2014), 264:65-70.

A Study On The Trigonometric Approximation in Morrey Spaces Using Matrix Methods

Ahmet Hamdi Avsar¹ and Yunus Emre Yildirir²

^{1,2}Mathematics, Balikesir University, Turkey, E-mail(s): ahmet.avsar@balikesir.edu.tr, yildirir@balikesir.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, we investigate the error of trigonometric approximation using different two matrix methods and prove some trigonometric approximation theorems with degree of $n^{-\beta}$ in Morrey spaces. Furthermore, we present an examples explaining the error of approximation in these spaces.

Key Words: Trigonometric approximation, matrix method, error of approximation, Morrey space.

1. Introduction

Morrey space, introduced by C. B. Morrey in [1], is one of the important generalizations of the wellknown Lebesgue space. In Lebesgue spaces, several researchers obtained results related to approximation of trigonometric polynomials using matrix methods in [2]–[5]. In Morrey spaces, some results about approximation theory were obtained using different methods in [6]–[10]. The direct and inverse theorems and their improved versions were obtained by Israfilov and Tozman in [7], [8]. In [9], the problem of the deviation of a function f from de la Vallée-Poussin sums of its Fourier series were investigated in Morrey spaces. In [10], some results on the structure, regularity, and density properties of the generalized Morrey space were given. Morrey norm given in [10] have an important role in approximation theory. This approximation was sketched in [10].

In these studies, error of approximation to functions in Morrey spaces using Matrix methods were not examined.

In the present study, we focus on some approximation problems by means of special summability methods and obtain the trigonometric approximation results using different two matrix methods in Morrey spaces. Also, we discuss the error of approximation for given methods with an application.

We will give some basic definitions and notations before moving on to the main results. Let $T = [0,2\pi], 0 \le \alpha \le 2$ and $1 . Then the Morrey space <math>L^{p,\alpha}(T)$ is defined as the set of

functions
$$f \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbf{T})$$
 such that $||f||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} < \infty$, where
$$||f||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} := \left\{ \sup_{I} \left(\frac{1}{|I|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}}} \right) \int_{I} |f(t)|^p |dt| \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Here the supremum is taken with respect to all the intervals $I \subset T$ and |I| denotes the length of I.

This space turns into Lebesgue space $L^p(T)$ if we choice $\alpha = 2$. Detailed information about the Morrey spaces, basic properties of these spaces and including some generalizations can be found in [11]–[16].

Let $f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T), 0 \le \alpha \le 2$ and $1 . Then the modulus of continuity <math>\omega_{p,\alpha}(f, \delta): [0, \infty) \to \infty$ $[0, \infty)$ of the function $f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$ is defined as

$$\omega_{p,\alpha}(f,\delta) = \sup \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})}, \qquad \delta \ge 0,$$

where

$$\Delta_h(f;x) = \frac{1}{h} \int_{0}^{h} |f(x+t) - f(x)| dt.$$

The Hardy Littlewood maximal function of f is defined as

$$M(f;x) := \sup_{I} \frac{1}{I} \int_{I} |f(t)| dt, \qquad x \in T$$

where $I \subset T$ is any open interval.

Let $0 < \beta \le 1, 0 \le \alpha \le 2$ and $1 . Then, in Morrey spaces, Lipschitz class <math>Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$ is defined as

$$Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta) := \{ f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\mathbf{T}) : \omega_{p,\alpha}(f,\delta) = O(\delta^{\beta}), \delta > 0 \}.$$

Let $0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1 and <math>f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$. The Fourier series and the conjugate Fourier series of $f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$ can be given as

$$f(x) \sim \left(\frac{a_0(f)}{2}\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_k(f)coskx + b_k(f)sinkx)$$
(1)

and

$$\tilde{f}(x) \sim \left(\frac{a_0(f)}{2}\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_k(f)coskx - b_k(f)sinkx)$$

respectively. Here, \tilde{f} is defined as

$$\tilde{f}(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{f(t)}{2\tan\left(\frac{t-x}{2}\right)} dt,$$
(2)

where $a_0(f)$, $a_k(f)$, $b_k(f)$, k = 1, 2, ..., are Fourier coefficients of f. The *n*th partial sum of the series (1) will be denoted by $S_n(f; x)$, (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) at the point x, that is,

$$S_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n U_k(f;x), \ n = 0,1,2,...,$$

where

$$U_0(f;x) \coloneqq \frac{a_0}{2}$$
 and $U_k(f;x) \coloneqq a_k(f)coskx + b_k(f)sinkx$, $k = 1,2,...$

We denote by $A \equiv (a_{n,k})$ a lower triangular regular matrix with nonnegative entries and let $S_n^{(A)}$ (n = $0,1,\ldots$) be the row sums of this matrix, that is

$$S_n^{(A)} = \sum_{k=0}^n a_{n,k}$$

The matrix methods τ_n and T_n used in this study, are defined

$$\tau_n(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n a_{n,k} S_k(f;x), n = 0,1,2,\dots$$
(3)

and

$$T_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n a_{n,n-k} S_k(f;x), n = 0,1,2,\dots$$
(4)

respectively.

A nonnegative sequence $u := (u_n)$ is called almost monotone decreasing (increasing), if there exists a constant K := K(u), depending on the sequence u only, such that $u_n \le Ku_m$ ($Ku_n \ge u_m$) for all $n \ge m$. Such sequences will be denoted by $u \in AMDS$ ($u \in AMIS$).

Let

$$A_{n,k} := \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} a_{n,i}.$$

If $\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMDS$ ($\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMIS$), then we will say that $\{a_{n,k}\}$ is an almost monotone decreasing (increasing) mean sequence with respect to k = 1, 2, ..., n for all n. Briefly, we will write $\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMDMS$ ($\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMIMS$).

Let

$$A_{n,k}^* := \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{i=n-k}^n a_{n,i}.$$

If $\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMDS$ ($\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMIS$), then we will say that $\{a_{n,k}\}$ is an almost monotone decreasing (increasing) upper mean sequence with respect to k = 1, 2, ..., n for all n. Briefly, we will write $\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMDUMS$ ($\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMIUMS$).

The operator Δ_k is defined by $\Delta_k a_{n,k} = a_{n,k} - a_{n,k+1}$. The relation \leq is defined as " $A \leq B \Leftrightarrow$ there exists a positive constant *C*, independent of essential parameters, such that $A \leq CB$ ". The notation O(big O) is defined as " $f = O(g) \Leftrightarrow f \leq cg$, here c is a positive constant".

2. Auxiliary Results

Lemma 1. Let $0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1 and <math>f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$. Then the estimate $\|\tilde{f}\|_{L^{p,\alpha}(T)} \le \|f\|_{L^{p,\alpha}(T)}$

is valid.

Lemma 2. Let $0 \le \alpha \le 2$ and $1 . If <math>f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$ then f is absolutely continuous and $f' \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$.

Lemma 3. [7] Let $0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1 and <math>f \in L^{p,\alpha}(T)$. Then the estimate $\|S_n(f)\|_{L^{p,\alpha}} \le \|f\|_{L^{p,\alpha}}$

is valid.

Lemma 4. Let $0 \le \alpha \le 2$ and $1 and <math>f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$. Then the estimate $\|S_n(f) - \sigma_n(f)\|_{L^{p,\alpha}} = O(n^{-1})$

holds for $n = 1, 2, \ldots$

Lemma 5. Let $0 < \beta \le 1$ and $1 and <math>f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$. Then, the estimate $\|f - S_n(f)\|_{L^{p,\alpha}} = O(n^{-\beta})$ is valid n = 1, 2, ...

Lemma 6. [5] Let $0 < \beta < 1$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $|S_n^{(A)} - 1| = O(n^{-\beta})$. $(a_{n,k}) \in AMIMS$ or $(a_{n,k}) \in AMDMS$ and $(n + 1)a_{n,0} = O(1)$, then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (k+1)^{-\beta} a_{n,k} = O((n+1)^{-\beta}).$$

Lemma 7. [3] Let $0 < \beta < 1$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $|S_n^{(A)} - 1| = O(n^{-\beta})$. $(a_{n,k}) \in AMDUMS$ or $(a_{n,k}) \in AMIUMS$ and $(n + 1)a_{n,n} = O(1)$, then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (k+1)^{-\beta} a_{n,n-k} = O((n+1)^{-\beta}).$$

3. Main Results

Theorem 8. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$, $0 < \beta < 1$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $|S_n^{(A)} - 1| = O(n^{-\beta})$. If one of the following conditions

(i) $(a_{n,k}) \in AMDUMS$,

(*ii*) $(a_{n,k}) \in AMIUMS and (n + 1)(a_{n,n}) = O(1)$, holds, then

$$||f - T_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-\beta})$$

Remark. When $a_{n,n-k} = \frac{p_{n,n-k}}{P_k}$, the method T_n turns to Nörlund method given as

$$N_n(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_n} \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,n-k} S_k(f;x).$$

Here

$$P_n = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \ldots + p_n \neq 0 \quad (n \ge 0) \text{ and } p_{-1} = P_{-1} = 0.$$

Corollary 9. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$, $0 < \beta < 1$ and (p_n) be a positive sequence. If one of the following conditions

 $(i)(p_n) \in AMDUMS$,

(*i*) $(p_n) \in AMIUMS$ and $(n + 1)p_n = O(P_n)$, holds, then

$$\|f - N_n(f)\|_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-\beta}).$$

Theorem 10. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $|S_n^{(A)} - 1| = O(n^{-\beta})$. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-2} \left| \Delta_k A_{n,k} \right| = O(n^{-1})$$

holds, then

$$||f - T_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(T)} = O(n^{-1}).$$

Corollary 11. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$ and (p_n) be a positive sequence. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-2} \left| \Delta_k P_{n,k} \right| = O\left(\frac{P_n}{n}\right)$$

holds, then

$$||f - N_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-1}).$$

Theorem 12. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$, $0 < \beta < 1$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with nonnegative entries and row sums 1. If one of the conditions

(i) $(a_{n,k}) \in AMIMS$, (ii) $(a_{n,k}) \in AMDMS$ and $(n + 1)a_{n,0} = O(1)$, is valid, then

$$||f - \tau_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-\beta}).$$

Remark. When $a_{n,k} = \frac{p_{n,k}}{P_k}$, the method τ_n turns to Riesz method given as

$$R_n(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_n} \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k} S_k(f;x).$$

Here

$$P_n = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \ldots + p_n \neq 0$$
 ($n \ge 0$) and $p_{-1} = P_{-1} = 0$.

Corollary 13. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(\beta)$, $0 < \beta < 1$ and (p_n) be a positive sequence. If one of the conditions $(i)(p_n) \in AMIMS$,

(*ii*) $(p_n) \in AMDMS$ and $(n + 1)p_n = O(P_n)$, is valid, then

$$||f - R_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-\beta}).$$

Theorem 14. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with nonnegative entries and row sums 1. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left| \Delta_k A_{n,k} \right| = O(n^{-1})$$

holds, then

$$||f - \tau_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-1}).$$

Corollary 15. Let $f \in Lip_{\alpha,p}(1)$ and (p_n) be a positive sequence. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left| \Delta_k \frac{P_k}{k+1} \right| = O\left(\frac{P_n}{n}\right)$$

holds, then

$$||f - R_n(f)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} = O(n^{-1}).$$

4. Applications

In this section, we will give an application about the error of approximation between a function and some summability methods obtained through its Fourier series. Also, we sketch the figures of these methods under assumptions of given norm.

If a periodic function f has a jump discontinuity, then this function is represented using a Fourier series. In (5), function f is a square wave function. It is a simple example that has been used in books of applied mathematics to illustrate Gibbs phenomenon analytically [17], [18].

Example. The function *f* defined by

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & -\pi \le t \le 0, \\ -1, & 0 < t < -\pi. \end{cases}$$
(5)

For all real values of t, we have $f(t + 2\pi) = f(t)$. Since it is an odd function, its Fourier series is given as

$$f(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b_n \sin nt,$$

where

$$b_n = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \int_0^{\pi} f(t) \sin nt dt = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \left(\frac{-1 + (-1)^n}{n}\right)$$

Therefore, the Fourier series of f(t) is given by

$$f(t) = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-1 + (-1)^n}{n}\right) \sin nt.$$
 (6)

The partial sum $S_n(t)$ of the series (6) is given as

$$S_n(t) = \frac{4}{\pi} \left(\sin t + \left(\frac{1}{3}\right) \sin 3t + \ldots + \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \sin(nt) \right).$$

Cesàro mean for (6) is

$$C_n(f) = \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\frac{n-k}{n}\right) \left(\frac{-2}{\pi}\right) \left(\frac{-1+(-1)^k}{k}\right) sin(kt).$$

In (3), taking $(a_{n,k})$ as below, we will calculate the matrix mean for the series (6).

$$\left(a_{n,k}\right) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1/3 & 1/3 & 1/3 & 0 \\ 1/4 & 1/4 & 1/4 & 1/4 \\ 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 \\ 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \cdots & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ \end{bmatrix}_{m = 1}^{n}$$

In $(a_{n,k})$, $\left(\frac{1}{n+1}\right)$ repeats (n+1) times in the n^{th} row. For (6) and lower triangular matrix given above, the matrix mean is

$$\tau_n(f;t) := \sum_{k=0}^n \left(\frac{1}{n+1}\right) S_k(f;t) , n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

For n = 10,20 and 40, using the definitions of f(t), $S_n(t)$, $C_n(f;t)$ and $\tau_n(f;t)$ we plot the following figures.



Figure 1: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for n=10.

If we take n = 20, 40 instead of n = 10, then we have the following figures: note that the errors of approximation decrease.



Figure 2: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for n=20. Figure 3: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for n=40.

These figures inform to us about oscillation and overshoots occurred when we approximate a periodic function having a jump discontinuity by a finite sum of Fourier series.

Note that, according to Gibbs phenomenon, $S_n(f; t)$ have peaks in the neighborhood of discontinuity and its oscillation moves towards discontinuity points $(-\pi, 0, -\pi)$.

The Cesàro mean $C_n(f;t)$ and matrix mean $\tau_n(f;t)$ have a straightening effect on the oscillation of partial sum.

The oscillation amplitude on graphics tends to decrease when n is increases.

When using the Cesàro mean $C_n(f;t)$ and matrix mean $\tau_n(f;t)$ instead of partial sum or increasing the value n, we will have better results in the sense of straightening effect. So, the peaks become flatter.

Example. Then, we write that

$$v = \|f - \tau_n(f,\cdot)\|_{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})} := \left\{ \sup\left(\frac{1}{|I|^{\left\{1 - \left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right\}}}\right) \int |f - \tau_n(f,\cdot)|^p |dt| \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty$$

Therefore, we get that

	$0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1 ,$	$0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1$	$0 \le \alpha \le 2, 1$
	<i>n</i> =10	n=20	n=40
$ f - \tau_n(f,\cdot) _{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})}$	v = 0.12075	v = 0.07433	v = 0.04460
$\ f - C_n(f, \cdot)\ _{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})}$	v = 0.18818	v = 0.10890	v = 0.06217
$ f - s_n(f,\cdot) _{L^{p,\alpha}(\mathbf{T})}$	v = 0.01136	v = 0.06655	v = 0.03846

Table 1: Note that: the deviations tends to decrease to zero when n is increases. Deviation can be considered as error of approximation.

We say that the deviation of $||f - \tau_n(f, \cdot)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(T)}$ is better than the deviation of $||f - C_n(f, \cdot)||_{L^{p,\alpha}(T)}$ in the sense of approximation error in norm of Morrey spaces.

6. Acknowledgement

This study was supported by the grant of Science Research Project of Balikesir University, Project No.:2019-113.

7. References

- [1] C. B. Morrey, "On the solutions of quasi-linear elliptic partial differential equations," *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 126–126, 1938, doi: 10.1090/s0002-9947-1938-1501936-8.
- [2] M. L. Mittal, B. E. Rhoades, V. N. Mishra, and U. Singh, "Using infinite matrices to approximate functions of class Lip (α, p) using trigonometric polynomials," *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, vol. 326, no. 1, pp. 667–676, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.jmaa.2006.03.053.
- [3] B. Szal and B. Szal, "Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae Terms of use : Trigonometric approximation by Nörlund type means in L p -norm," vol. 50, no. 4, 2009.
- [4] M. L. Mittal, B. E. Rhoades, S. Sonker, and U. Singh, "Approximation of signals of class Lip (\$α\$, p) by linear operators," *Appl. Math. Comput.*, vol. 217, no. 9, pp. 4483–4489, 2011.
- [5] R. N. Mohapatra and B. Szal, "On trigonometric approximation of functions in the Lq norm," *Demonstr. Math.*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 17–26, 2018, doi: 10.1515/dema-2018-0004.
- [6] Z. Cakir, C. Aykol, D. Soylemez, and A. Serbetci, "Approximation by trigonometric polynomials in morrey spaces," *Trans. Issue Math. Azerbaijan Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 2019.
- [7] D. M. Israfilov and N. P. Tozman, "Approximation by polynomials in Morrey-Smirnov classes," *East J. Approx.*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 255–269, 2008.
- [8] D. M. Israfilov and N. P. Tozman, "Approximation in morrey-smirnov classes," *Azerbaijan J. Math.*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 99–113, 2011.
- [9] A. Kinj, M. Ali, and S. Mahmoud, "Approximation Properties of de la Vallée-Poussin sums in Morrey spaces," *Sultan Qaboos Univ. J. Sci. [SQUJS]*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 89–95, 2017.
- [10] C. T. Zorko, "Morrey space," Proc. Am. Math. Soc., vol. 98, no. 4, pp. 586–592, 1986.
- [11] D. R. Adams, "Introduction," in Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis, 2015.
- [12] M. Giaquinta, *Multiple integrals in the calculus of variations and nonlinear elliptic systems*, no. 105. Princeton University Press, 1983.
- [13] A. Kufner, O. John, and S. Fucik, *Function spaces*, vol. 3. Springer Science & Business Media, 1977.
- [14] M. E. Taylor, "Tools for PDE, volume 81 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs," *Am. Math. Soc. Provid. RI*, 2000.
- [15] H. Triebel, "Local Function Spaces, Heat and Navier-Stokes Equations, EMS Publ," *EMS Tracts Math. 20, European Math. Soc. Zurich*, 2013.
- [16] H. Triebel, Hybrid function spaces, heat and Navier-Stokes equations. 2015.
- [17] C. Lanczos, Discourse on Fourier series, vol. 76. SIAM, 2016.
- [18] F. Li, Z. Li, and L. Pi, "Variable exponent functionals in image restoration," *Appl. Math. Comput.*, vol. 216, no. 3, pp. 870–882, 2010.

A Study On The Trigonometric Approximation In Weighted Orlicz Spaces Using Sub-Matrix Methods

Ahmet Hamdi Avsar¹ and Yunus Emre Yildirir²

^{1,2}Mathematics, Balikesir University, Turkey, E-mail(s): ahmet.avsar@balikesir.edu.tr, yildirir@balikesir.edu.tr

Abstract

In this study, the error of approximation of trigonometric polynomials by means of some special summability methods based on Cesàro sub-method are investigated in Orlicz spaces with weights satisfying Muckenhoupt condition. Also, the error of approximation is investigated for derivatives of function f in these spaces with degree of $\lambda_n^{-\alpha}$. In addition to this, we present the examples explaining the error of approximation taking into account the norm of weighted Orlicz spaces.

Key Words: Trigonometric approximation, matrix method, error of approximation, weighted Orlicz Spaces.

1. Introduction

The theory of trigonometric approximation has been largely studied in the past 100 years. Several researchers investigated the problems about approximation by means of different trigonometric polynomials in Banach function spaces. Some trigonometric approximation results in Lebesgue spaces and Orlicz spaces in the case of weighted or non-weighted case were obtained in [1]–[8].

Note that, approximation results were not investigated using sub-matrix methods in weighted Orlicz spaces with Muckenhoupt weights.

In present paper, we proved the approximation theorems in weighted Orlicz spaces using different two sub-matrix methods based on sub-Nörlund and sub-Riesz methods.

To formulate the main results obtained in this work we need some definitions and notations.

If $\Phi: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ be a convex and continuous function for which $\Phi(0) = 0, \Phi(u) > 0$ for u > 0. If $\Phi(u)$ is an even function and it satisfies the conditions $\lim_{u\to 0} \frac{\Phi(u)}{u} = 0$ and $\lim_{u\to\infty} \frac{\Phi(u)}{u} = \infty$, then $\Phi(u)$ is called a Young function [11, p.9].

Let Φ be a Young function. The function Ψ defined as

$$\Psi(v) \coloneqq \max\{uv - \Phi(u) \colon u \ge 0\}$$

is called the complementary Young function for $v \ge 0$ [11, p.13].

Let $\mathbb{T} = [0, 2\pi]$. The class of measurable function $f: \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the condition

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \Phi(|f(x)|) dx < \infty$$

will be denoted by $\tilde{L}_{\Phi}(\mathbb{T})$.

The linear span of $\tilde{L}_{\Phi}(\mathbb{T})$ equipped with the norm

$$||f||_{\Phi} \coloneqq \sup\left\{\int_{0}^{2\pi} |f(x)g(x)|dx; g \in \tilde{L}_{\Psi}(\mathbb{T}), \int_{0}^{2\pi} \Psi(|f(x)|)dx \le 1\right\},$$

or with the Luxemburg norm

$$||f||_{\Phi}^{*} \coloneqq \inf\left\{k > 0: \int_{0}^{2\pi} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{k}\right) dx \le 1\right\}$$

becomes a Banach space. This Banach space is called the Orlicz space generated by Φ [9, pp. 60–69][9, pp. 60–69].

Note that, the Orlicz spaces $L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T})$ is known as one of the generalizations of the Lebesgue space $L^{p}(\mathbb{T})$, $1 . If we take <math>\Phi_{p}(u) \coloneqq \frac{u^{p}}{u}$, $1 , then the space <math>L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T})$ turns into the Lebesgue space $L^{p}(\mathbb{T})$.

The Orlicz and Luxemburg norms satisfy the inequalities

$$||f||_{\phi}^* \le ||f||_{\phi} \le 2||f||_{\phi}^*, \quad f \in L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}),$$

and hence they are equivalent. Furthermore, the Orlicz norm can be determined by means of the Luxemburg norm [9, p. 79-80] as

$$||f||_{\Phi} \coloneqq \sup \left\{ \int_{0}^{2\pi} |f(x)g(x)| dx : ||g||_{\Psi}^{*} \le 1 \right\}.$$

Let $\Phi^{-1}: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ be the inverse of the Young function Φ and

$$h(t) \coloneqq \limsup_{x \to \infty} \frac{\Phi^{-1}(x)}{\Phi^{-1}(tx)}, \ t > 0.$$

The numbers α_{ϕ} and β_{ϕ} defined by

$$\alpha_{\Phi} := \lim_{t \to \infty} \left(\frac{-\log h(t)}{\log t} \right) \text{ and } \beta_{\Phi} := \lim_{t \to \infty} \left(\frac{-\log h(t)}{\log t} \right)$$

are called the lower and upper Boyd indices [10]. It is known that these indices satisfy the conditions $0 \le \alpha_{\Phi} \le \beta_{\Phi} \le 1$

and

$$\alpha_{\phi} + \beta_{\psi} = 1$$
 and $\alpha_{\psi} + \beta_{\phi} = 1$.

These indices were firstly considered by Matuszewska and Orlicz [11].

A measurable 2π -periodic function $\omega: \mathbb{T} \to [0, \infty]$ is called a weight function if the set $\omega^{-1}(\{0, \infty\})$ has the Lebesgue measure zero.

The class of measurable functions f defined on \mathbb{T} and satisfying the condition $\omega f \in L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T})$ is called weighted Orlicz space $L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)$ with the norm $||f||_{\phi,\omega} := ||\omega f||_{\phi}$.

Let $1 , <math>\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$. A weight functions ω used in the paper belong to the Muckenhoupt class $A_p(\mathbb{T})$ which is defined by

$$\left(\frac{1}{|I|}\int_{I}\omega^{p}(x)dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\left(\frac{1}{|I|}\int_{I}\omega^{-q}(x)dx\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}\leq C$$

with a finite constant *C* independent of *I*, where *I* is any subinterval of \mathbb{T} and |I| denotes the length of *I*. Let $L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)$ be a weighted Orlicz space with Boyd indices $0 < \alpha_{\phi} \leq \beta_{\phi} < 1$ and $\omega \in A_{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap$

 $A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\Phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$. The *k*-modulus of smoothness of the function $L_{\Phi}(\mathbb{T},\omega)$ is defined as

$$\Omega^{k}_{\Phi,\omega}(f;\delta) = \sup_{\substack{|h_i| \le \delta \\ 1 \le i \le k}} \left\| \prod_{i=1}^{n} (I - \sigma_{h_i}) f \right\|_{\Phi,\omega}, \quad \delta > 0,$$

where I is the identity operator and

$$(\sigma_h)(f;x) := \frac{1}{2h} \int_{-h}^{h} f(x+t)dt, 0 < h < \pi, x \in \mathbb{T}.$$

If k = 0 we write $\Omega_{\Phi,\omega}^k(f; \delta) = ||f||_{\Phi,\omega}$ and if k=1 we write $\Omega_{\Phi,\omega}(f; \delta) = \Omega_{\Phi,\omega}^1(f; \delta)$. The modulus of smoothness $\Omega_{\Phi,\omega}^k(f; \cdot)$ is a nondecreasing, nonnegative, continuous function and

$$\Omega^{k}_{\Phi,\omega}(f+g,\delta) \le \Omega^{k}_{\Phi,\omega}(f;\delta) + \Omega^{k}_{\Phi,\omega}(g;\delta)$$

for $f, g \in L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)$.

For $0 < \alpha$, let $k = \left[\frac{\alpha}{2}\right] + 1$. The generalized Lipschitz class $Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega))$ is defined as $Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)) = \{f \in L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega): \Omega_{\phi,\omega}^{k}(f; \delta) = O(\delta^{\alpha}), \delta > 0\}.$

The Fourier series of $f \in L_{\Phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)$ can be given as

$$f(x) \sim \frac{a_0(f)}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_k(f)coskx + b_k(f)sinkx)$$

$$\tag{1}$$

and the conjugate Fourier series

$$\tilde{f}(x) \sim \frac{a_0(f)}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_k(f)sinkx - b_k(f)coskx).$$

Here $a_0(f)$, $a_k(f)$, $b_k(f)$, k = 1, ..., are Fourier coefficients of f. Let $S_n(f; x)$, (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) be the *n*th partial sum of the series (1) at the point x, that is,

$$S_n(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n U_k(f;x),$$

where

$$U_0(f;x) = \left(\frac{a_0}{2}\right), \ U_k(f;x) = a_k(f)coskx + b_k(f)sinkx, \ k = 1,2,...$$

1.1. Cesàro Submethod

Let $(\lambda_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a strictly increasing sequence of positive integers. For a sequence (x_k) of the real or complex numbers, the sub-Cesàro method (trigonometric polynomial) C_{λ} is defined by

$$(C_{\lambda}x)_n := \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k=1}^{\lambda_n} x_k.$$

Sub-Nörlund method $N_n^{\lambda}(f; x)$ is defined as

$$N_n^{\lambda}(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_{\lambda_n}} \sum_{m=0}^{\lambda_n} p_{\lambda_n - m} S_m(f;x)$$

and sub-Riesz method $R_n^{\lambda}(f; x)$ is defined as

$$R_n^{\lambda}(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_{\lambda_n}} \sum_{m=0}^{\lambda_n} p_m S_m(f;x)$$

where

$$P_{\lambda_n} = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \dots + p_{\lambda_n} \neq 0 \quad (n \ge 0) = 0$$

and by convention, $p_{-1} = P_{-1}$ 0.

We denote by $A \equiv (a_{n,k})$ a lower triangular regular matrix with nonnegative entries and let $S_n^{(A)}$ (n =0,1,...) be the row sums of this matrix, that is $S_n^{(A)} = \sum_{k=0}^n a_{n,k}$. The sub-matrix methods τ_n^{λ} and T_n^{λ} used in this study, are defined

$$\tau_n^{\lambda}(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} a_{\lambda_n,k} S_k(f;x), \ \lambda_n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(2)

and

$$T_n^{\lambda}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} a_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n-k} S_k(f;x), \lambda_n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(3)

respectively.

A nonnegative sequence $u = (u_n)$ is called almost monotone decreasing (increasing), if there exists a constant K := K(u), depending on the sequence u only, such that $u_n \le K u_m$ ($K u_n \ge u_m$) for all $n \ge m$. Such sequences will be denoted by $u \in AMDS$ ($u \in AMIS$).

Let

$$A_{n,k} := \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} a_{n,i}.$$

If $\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMDS$ ($\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMIS$), then we will say that $\{a_{n,k}\}$ is an almost monotone decreasing (increasing) mean sequence with respect to k = 1, 2, ..., n for all n. Briefly, we will write $\{a_{n,k}\} \in$ AMDMS ($\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMIMS$).

Let

$$A_{n,k}^* := \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{i=n-k}^n a_{n,i}.$$

If $\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMDS$ ($\{A_{n,k}\} \in AMIS$), then we will say that $\{a_{n,k}\}$ is an almost monotone decreasing (increasing) upper mean sequence with respect to k = 1, 2, ..., n for all *n*. Briefly, we will write $\{a_{n,k}\} \in$ AMDUMS ($\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMIUMS$).

The following inclusions are valid $AMDS \subset AMIUMS$ and $AMIS \subset AMDUMS$.

We will use sums up to λ_n in S_n and σ_n write these sums as S_n^{λ} and σ_n^{λ} , respectively

2. Auxiliary Results

Lemma 1. [8] Let $0 \le \alpha_{\phi} \le \beta_{\phi} \le 1$, $\omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $f \in Lip(1, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega))$. Then the estimate

$$||S_n(f) - \sigma_n(f)||_{\Phi,\omega} = O(n^{-1})$$

holds for n = 1, 2, ...

Lemma 2. [8] Let $0 < \alpha \le 1, 0 \le \alpha_{\phi} \le \beta_{\phi} \le 1$, $\omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $f \in Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega))$. Then the estimate

$$||f - S_n(f)||_{\Phi,\omega} = O(n^{-\alpha})$$

is valid n = 1, 2, ...

Lemma 3. [12] Let $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $A = (a_{n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $\left|S_n^{(A)} - 1\right| = O(n^{-\alpha})$. $\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMIMS$ or $\{a_{n,k}\} \in AMDMS$ and $(\lambda_n + 1)a_{\lambda_n,0} = O(1)$, then $\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} (k+1)^{-\alpha} a_{\lambda_n,k} = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$

Lemma 4. [7] Let $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $A = (a_{\lambda_n,k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $\left|S_n^{(A)} - 1\right| = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha})$. $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMDUMS$ or $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMIUMS$ and $(\lambda_n + 1)a_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n} = O(1)$, then $\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} (k+1)^{-\alpha} a_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n-k} = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$

Theorem 5. Let $f \in Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), 0 < \alpha < 1, \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $A = (a_{\lambda_{n},k})$ be a infinite lower triangular matrix with nonnegative entries and row sums 1. If one of the following conditions

(i) $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMDUMS$, (ii) $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMIUMS$ and $(\lambda_n + 1)(a_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n}) = O(1)$, holds, then

$$\left\|f-T_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\Phi,\omega}=O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$$

Remark. When $a_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n-k} = \frac{p_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n-k}}{P_k}$, the method T_n^{λ} turns to sub-Nörlund method given as

$$N_n^{\lambda}(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_{\lambda_n}} \sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} p_{\lambda_n,\lambda_n-k} S_k(f;x).$$

Here

$$P_{\lambda_n} = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \dots + p_{\lambda_n} \neq 0 \quad (\lambda_n \ge 0) \text{ and } p_{-1} = P_{-1} = 0.$$
(4)
Corollary 6. $f \in Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), 0 < \alpha < 1, \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \text{ and } (p_{\lambda_n}) \text{ be a positive}$

sequence. If one of the following conditions

 $(i)(p_{\lambda_n}) \in AMDUMS$,

(*ii*) $(\overset{\,\,}{p_{\lambda_n}}) \in AMIUMS and (\lambda_n + 1)p_{\lambda_n} = O(P_{\lambda_n}),$ holds, then

$$\left\|f - N_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\Phi,\omega} = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$$

Theorem 7. Let $f \in Lip(1, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega))$, $\omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $A = (a_{\lambda_{n},k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with $|S_{n}^{(A)} - 1| = O(n^{-1})$. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n-2} \left| \Delta_k A^*_{\lambda_n,k} \right| = O(\lambda_n^{-1})$$

holds, then

$$\left\|f - T_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\Phi,\omega} = O\left(\lambda_n^{-1}\right)$$

Corollary 8. Let $f \in Lip(1, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega))$, $\omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and (p_{λ_n}) be a positive sequence. If

following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n-2} \left| \Delta_k P_{\lambda_n,k} \right| = O\left(\frac{P_{\lambda_n}}{\lambda_n}\right),$$

holds, then

$$\left\|f - N_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\phi,\omega} = O(\lambda_n^{-1}).$$

Theorem 9. Let $f \in Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), 0 < \alpha < 1, \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $A = (a_{\lambda_{n,k}})$ be a lower triangular matrix with nonnegative entries and row sums 1. If one of the conditions

(i) $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMIMS$,

(ii) $\{a_{\lambda_n,k}\} \in AMDMS and (\lambda_n + 1)a_{\lambda_n,0} = O(1),$ is valid. then

$$\left\|f - \tau_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\Phi,\omega} = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$$
(5)

Remark. When $a_{\lambda_n,k} = \frac{p_{\lambda_n,k}}{p_k}$, the method τ_n^{λ} turns to Riesz method given as

$$R_n^{\lambda}(f;x) := \frac{1}{P_{\lambda_n}} \sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} p_{\lambda_n,k} S_k(f;x).$$

Here

$$P_{\lambda_n} = p_0 + p_1 + p_2 + \ldots + p_{\lambda_n} \neq 0 \quad (\lambda_n \ge 0) \text{ and } p_{-1} = P_{-1} = 0.$$

Remark. Also, in the case $p_n = 1, n \ge 0, \lambda_n = n$, both of $N_n^{\lambda}(f; x)$ and $R_n^{\lambda}(f; x)$ are equal to the classical Cesàro method

$$\sigma_n(f;x) = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{m=0}^n S_m(f;x).$$

The relation \leq is defined as "A \leq B \Leftrightarrow there exists a positive constant C, independent of essential parameters, such that A \leq CB". The operator Δ_k is defined by $\Delta_k \varsigma_{n,k} = \varsigma_{n,k} - \varsigma_{n,k+1}$.

Corollary 10. Let $f \in Lip(\alpha, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), 0 < \alpha < 1, \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and (p_{λ_n}) be a positive

sequence. If one of the conditions

 $(i)(p_{\lambda_n}) \in AMIMS,$ $(ii)(p_{\lambda_n}) \in AMDMS \text{ and } (\lambda_n + 1)p_{\lambda_n} = O(P_{\lambda_n}),$ is valid, then

$$\left\|f - R_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\Phi,\omega} = O(\lambda_n^{-\alpha}).$$

Theorem 11. Let $f \in Lip(1, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and $A = (a_{\lambda_{n},k})$ be a lower triangular matrix with nonnegative entries and row sums 1. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n-1} \left| \Delta_k A_{\lambda_n,k} \right| = O(\lambda_n^{-1})$$

holds, then

Corollary 12.

$$\|f - \tau_n^{\lambda}(f)\|_{\phi,\omega} = O(\lambda_n^{-1}).$$

Let $f \in Lip(1, L_{\phi}(\mathbb{T}, \omega)), \omega \in A_{\frac{1}{\alpha_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap A_{\frac{1}{\beta_{\phi}}}(\mathbb{T})$ and and (p_{λ_n})

sequence. If following condition

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n-1} \left| \Delta_k \frac{P_k}{k+1} \right| = O\left(\frac{P_{\lambda_n}}{\lambda_n}\right)$$
$$\left\| f - R_n^{\lambda}(f) \right\|_{\Phi,\omega} = O\left(\lambda_n^{-1}\right).$$

holds, then

4. Applications

In this section, we will give an application about the error of approximation among a function and some summability methods obtained through its Fourier series. Also, we sketch the figures of these methods under assumptions of given norm.

ICOM 2020 ISTANBUL / TURKEY

be a positive

If a periodic function f has a jump discontinuity, then this function is represented using a Fourier series. In (6), function f is a square wave function. We will use this function to obtain the error of approximation.

The function f defined by

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & -\pi \le t \le 0, \\ -1, & 0 < t < -\pi. \end{cases}$$
(6)

For all real values of t, we have $f(t + 2\pi) = f(t)$. Since it is an odd function, its Fourier series is given as

$$f(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b_n \sin nt,$$

where

$$b_n = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \int_{0}^{\pi} f(t) \sin nt dt = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \left(\frac{-1 + (-1)^n}{n}\right)$$

Therefore, the Fourier series of f(t) is given by

$$f(t) = \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-1 + (-1)^n}{n}\right) \sin nt.$$
(7)

The partial sum $S_{\lambda_n}(t)$ of the series (7) is given as

$$S_{\lambda_n}(t) = \frac{4}{\pi} \left(\sin t + \left(\frac{1}{3}\right) \sin 3t + \ldots + \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \sin(\lambda_n t) \right).$$

The sub-Cesàro mean for (7) is

$$C_{\lambda_n}(f) = \sum_{k=1}^{\lambda_n} \left(\frac{\lambda_n - k}{\lambda_n}\right) \left(\frac{-2}{\pi}\right) \left(\frac{-1 + (-1)^k}{k}\right) \sin(kt)$$

In (2), taking $(a_{n,k})$ as below, we will calculate the matrix mean for the series (7).

$$\left(a_{n,k}\right) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1/3 & 1/3 & 1/3 & 0 \\ 1/4 & 1/4 & 1/4 & 1/4 \\ 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 & 1/5 \\ 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 & 1/6 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \cdots & \frac{1}{n+1} & \frac{1}{n+1} & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}_{mxk}$$

In $(a_{n,k})$, $\left(\frac{1}{n+1}\right)$ repeats (n + 1) times in the n^{th} row. For lower triangular matrix given above, we can write the sub-matrix mean as

$$\tau_n^{\lambda}(f;t) := \sum_{k=0}^{\lambda_n} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_n + 1}\right) S_k(f;t), n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

For $\lambda_n = 10,20$ and 40, using the definitions of f(t), $S_{\lambda_n}(t)$, $C_{\lambda_n}(f;t)$ and $\tau_n^{\lambda}(f;t)$ we plot the following figures.



Figure 1: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for λ_n =10.

If we take $\lambda_n = 20,40$ instead of $\lambda_n = 10$, then we have the following figures: note that the errors of approximation decrease.



Figure 2: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for λ_n =20. λ_n =4

Figure 3: The figure above shows the oscillation and overshoots for λ_n =40.

These figures inform to us about oscillation and overshoots occurred when we approximate a periodic function having a jump discontinuity by a finite sum of Fourier series. Note that $S_{\lambda_n}(f;t)$ have peaks in the neighborhood of discontinuity and its oscillation moves towards discontinuity points $(-\pi, 0, -\pi)$. The oscillation amplitude on graphics tends to decrease when n is increases.

We summarized a conclusion related to the approximation errors by following example. Note that, we calculated the errors of approximation in Orlicz norm.

Example. We have that

$$||f||_{\Phi}^* \coloneqq \inf\left\{k > 0: \int_0^{2\pi} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{k}\right) dx \le 1\right\}.$$

If we take $\Phi(x) = e^x - x - 1$ as young function, then we get that

$$\left\|f-\tau_n^{\lambda}(f)\right\|_{\phi}^* \coloneqq \inf\left\{k > 0: \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(e^{\left(\frac{\left|f-\tau_n^{\lambda}(f)\right|}{k}\right)} - \left(\frac{\left|f-\tau_n^{\lambda}(f)\right|}{k}\right) - 1\right)dx \le 1\right\}.$$

The following table gives the norm values of Orlicz spaces for different summability methods.

	$\lambda_n = 10$	$\lambda_n = 20$	$\lambda_n = 40$
$\left\ f-S_{\lambda_n}(f,\cdot)\right\ _{\Phi}^*$	k = 0.0183	<i>k</i> =0.0308	k = 0.0610
$\left\ f - \mathcal{C}_{\lambda_n}(f,\cdot)\right\ _{\Phi}^*$	k = 0.0360	<i>k</i> =0.0515	k = 0.0764
$\left\ f-\tau_n^{\lambda}(f,\cdot)\right\ _{\Phi}^{*}$	k = 0.0624	k = 0.1424	k = 0.3039

Table 1: The norm values of Orlicz spaces for λ_n =10,20,40.

5. Acknowledgement

This study was supported by the grant of Science Research Project of Balikesir University, Project No.:2019-113.

6. References

- [1] P. Chandra, "Trigonometric approximation of functions in Lp-norm," *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, vol. 275, no. 1, pp. 13–26, 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0022-247X(02)00211-1.
- [2] A. Guven, "Trigonometric approximation of functions in weighted Lp spaces," *Sarajev. J. Math*, vol. 5, no. 17, pp. 99–108, 2009.
- [3] X. Z. Krasniqi, "On some results on approximation of functions in weighted Lp spaces," *Adv. Pure Appl. Math.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 389–397, 2013, doi: 10.1515/apam-2013-0021.
- [4] L. Leindler, "Trigonometric approximation in Lp-norm," *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, vol. 302, no. 1, pp. 129–136, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.jmaa.2004.07.049.
- [5] R. N. Mohapatra and B. Szal, "On trigonometric approximation of functions in the Lp norm," *arXiv Prepr. arXiv1205.5869*, 2012.
- [6] R. Ryan, "Conjugate functions in Orlicz spaces," 1962.
- B. Szal, "Trigonometric approximation by Nörlund type means in \$ L^ p \$-norm," *Comment. Math. Univ. Carolinae*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 575–589, 2009.
- [8] S. Z. Jafarov, "Approximation by matrix transforms in weighted orlicz spaces," *Turkish J. Math.*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 179–193, 2020, doi: 10.3906/mat-1909-44.
- [9] F. Smithies, M. A. Krasnosel'skii, and Y. B. Rutickii, "Convex Functions and Orlicz Spaces," *Math. Gaz.*, vol. 47, no. 361, p. 266, 1963, doi: 10.2307/3613435.
- [10] D. Boyd, "Indices for the Orlicz spaces," Pacific J. Math., vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 315–323, 1971.
- [11] W. Matuszewska, "On certain properties of \$ψ\$-functions," Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., vol. 8, pp. 439–443, 1960.
- [12] R. N. Mohapatra and B. Szal, "On trigonometric approximation of functions in the Lq norm," *Demonstr. Math.*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 17–26, 2018, doi: 10.1515/dema-2018-0004.

A Numerical Approach to Solution of Nonlinear Riccati Differential Equation

Burcu Gürbüz^{1,2}

¹Institute of Mathematics, Johannes Gutenberg-University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ²Department of Computer Engineering, Üsküdar University, İstanbul, Turkey, E-mail: burcu.gurbuz@uni-mainz.de

Abstract

In this study, a numerical approach for the solution of Riccati differential equation is investigated. Nonlinear Riccati differential equations have been used in many fields in science, engineering and especially in applied mathematics. A numerical solutions are obtained with regard to a matrix method and compared with other techniques in literature. Besides, error analysis is given in order to obtain more efficient results for its approximation.

Keywords: Riccati differential equation, matrix method, orthogonal polynomials.

1. Introduction

Riccati differential equations are of great importance in many areas in control theory, supply-demand relationship, social practise theory, biology, free vibration theory, forecasting and some other applications in science and engineering fields [1]-[3]. Both analytical and numerical solutions of different types of Riccati differential equation have been investigated by many techniques. These applications are important due to its support to other research areas. There has been many well-known techniques such as Padé approximation method [4], operation matrix method [5], Taylor matrix method [6], decomposition method [7], Bernstein polynomial approach [8], [9], Fourier polynomial approximation [10], classical fourth order Runge Kutta method [11], variational iteration algorithm [12] and so on.

In this study, the following type Riccati differential equation is defined in the form:

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(t) + B(t)u(t) + C(t)u^{2}(t), & t_{0} \le t \le T, \\ u(t_{0}) = c, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where c is an arbitrary constant, A(t), B(t) and C(t) are continuous given functions.

The organization of the paper is the following. Initially, preliminaries about polynomials are given. Then the numerical method for finding the approximate solution of the problem is proposed. Afterward, an error analysis is introduced. Accordingly, numerical results of the problem are given by tables and figures. The paper finalizes with the concluding remarks and brief discussion of results.

2. Preliminaries

Properties of Jacobi Polynomials

Jacobi polynomials are commonly known as hypergeometric polynomials since they play an important role in rotation groups and classification of molecular rotors in quantum mechanics. Jacobi polynomials are defined in the form:

$$P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \frac{\left(-2\right)^{n}}{n!} \left(1-t\right)^{-\alpha} \left(1+t\right)^{-\beta} \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} \left[\left(1+t\right)^{n+\beta} \left(1-t\right)^{n-\alpha} \right],$$
(2)

where α and β are parameters with the relation $\alpha, \beta > -1$ [13]-[20]. Then the first few Jacobi polynomials are given from Eq. (2) as

$$P_{0}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = 1,$$

$$P_{1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[2(\alpha+1) + (\alpha+\beta+2)(t-1) \Big],$$

$$P_{2}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \frac{1}{8} \Big[4(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) + 4(\alpha+\beta+3)(\alpha+2)(t-1) + (\alpha+\beta+3)(\alpha+\beta+4)(t-1)^{2} \Big],$$
:
(3)

Definition: Jacobi polynomials are have the cases within the special concept of α and β parameters as

<u>**Case 1.**</u> For $\alpha = \beta = 0$, we have the relation

$$P_n^{(0,0)}(t) = \frac{1}{2^n n!} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \left(t^2 - 1\right)^n,$$
(4)

which is called as the Legendre polynomials (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Legendre polynomials for n = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 [21].

<u>Case 2.</u> For $\alpha = \beta = -\frac{1}{2}$, we have the relation

$$T_n(t) = 2^{2n} {\binom{2n}{n}}^{-1} P_n^{\left(-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\right)}(t),$$
(5)

which is called as the Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 [22].

Case 3. For $\alpha = \beta$, we have the relation

$$C_n^{(\lambda)}(t) = \binom{2\alpha}{\alpha}^{-1} \binom{n+2\alpha}{\alpha} C_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(t), \quad \alpha = \lambda - \frac{1}{2} \neq \frac{1}{2}, \tag{6}$$



which is called as the Gegenbauer polynomials (Fig. 3).

Figure 3. Gegenbauer polynomials for $\lambda = 1$ and n = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 [23], [24].

3. Numerical Technique

In this section, an approximate solution in terms of orthogonal Jacobi polynomials is presented in the form:

$$u(t) \cong u_N^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^N a_n P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) , \qquad (7)$$

where a_n are unknown coefficients, $u_N^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$ is approximate solution for any integer *N* and $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$ are the orthogonal Jacobi polynomials defined in Eq.(2). For this purpose, Eq. (1) is considered in the form

$$\left[u_N^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)\right] = \mathbf{P}_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)\mathbf{A}, \qquad (8)$$

where

$$\mathbf{P}_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{P}_{0}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) & \mathbf{P}_{1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) & \dots & \mathbf{P}_{N}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{0} & a_{1} & \dots & a_{N} \end{bmatrix}^{T}.$$

Then the orthogonal Jacobi polynomials are transformed into the matrix form as

$$\mathbf{P}_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}, \qquad (9)$$

where

$$\mathbf{X}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (t-1) & \dots & (t-1)^N \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \begin{bmatrix} J_{i,k}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \end{bmatrix}, \ 1 \le i, \quad k \le N+1,$$
(10)

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{i,k}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{cases} 2^{1-i} \binom{\alpha+\beta+i-2+k}{i-1} \binom{\alpha+k-1}{k-i}, \ i \le k, \\ 0 & , \ i > k. \end{cases}$$
(11)

By using the relations from (8) and (9),

$$\left[u_{N}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)\right] = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{A},$$
(12)

Now, the relation between $\mathbf{X}(t)$ and its first derivative $\mathbf{X}'(t)$ is shown as

$$\mathbf{X}'(t) = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B},\tag{13}$$

where

$$\mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & N \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then the derivative part of the problem is defined in the matrix form as

$$\left[\left(u_{N}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)'(t)\right] = \mathbf{X}'(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{A}, \qquad (13)$$

Besides, the nonlinear term of the Riccati equation has a matrix form as

$$\left[\left(u_{N}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)^{2}(t)\right] = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{A}},\qquad(14)$$

where
$\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t) = diag \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X}(t) & \mathbf{X}(t) & \cdots & \mathbf{X}(t) \end{bmatrix},$ $\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = diag \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} & \mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} & \cdots & \mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \end{bmatrix},$ $\overline{\mathbf{A}} = diag \begin{bmatrix} a_0 \mathbf{A} & a_1 \mathbf{A} & \cdots & a_N \mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix}^T.$

The coefficients A(t), B(t) and C(t) of Eq. (1) are also defined in matrix form as

$$\mathbf{A}(t) = diag \begin{bmatrix} A(t) & A(t) & \cdots & A(t) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{B}(t) = diag \begin{bmatrix} B(t) & B(t) & \cdots & B(t) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{C}(t) = diag \begin{bmatrix} C(t) & C(t) & \cdots & C(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$

So that the matrix system of the nonlinear Riccati differential equation in Eq.(1) is described as

$$\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B}(t)\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{C}(t)\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}(t),$$

$$\left(\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} - \mathbf{B}(t)\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{C}(t)\mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}(t).$$
(15)

Definition: The collocation method is a numerical method which is applicable pointwise in order to get the numerical solution of the problem i.e. a finite-dimensional space of candidate solutions. This is accepted that "selected points" or collocation principle over the set of points are called as *collocation points* in order to implement the collocation based methods [25]-[27]. Here, the collocations points are defined as

$$t_s = t_0 + \frac{T - t_0}{N}s, \quad s = 0, 1, 2, ..., N.$$
 (16)

The approximation of the problem is found pointwise and we use the collocation points which is defined in Eq.(16). Substituting the collocation points into Eq.(15),

$$\left(\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} - \mathbf{B}(t_s)\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{C}(t_s)\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t_s)\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}(t_s).$$
(17)

where

$$\mathbf{A}(t_s) = diag \begin{bmatrix} A(t_0) & A(t_1) & \cdots & A(t_N) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{B}(t_s) = diag \begin{bmatrix} B(t_0) & B(t_1) & \cdots & B(t_N) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{C}(t_s) = diag \begin{bmatrix} C(t_0) & C(t_1) & \cdots & C(t_N) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Eq.(17) is obtained as the fundamental matrix relation which can be also written as

$$\left(\mathbf{XBJ}^{(\alpha,\beta)} - \mathbf{B}^*\mathbf{XJ}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{XJ}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}^*,$$
(18)

where "*" is the sign to separate the coefficient matrices. Let us consider Eq.(18) in a brief form

$$\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{X}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} - \mathbf{B}^*\mathbf{X}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \text{ and } \mathbf{V} = -\mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{X}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}\overline{\mathbf{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}.$$
(19)

and then

$$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{V}\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}^* \quad \text{or} \left[\mathbf{W}; \mathbf{V} : \mathbf{A}^*\right].$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Besides, matrix representation of the initial condition is obtained by using the similar procedure. Then it is found as

$$\mathbf{U}\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{C} \Longrightarrow [\mathbf{U}; \boldsymbol{\lambda}]. \tag{21}$$

By replacing the matrices (21) into the system (20) then new augumented matrix system is obtained in the form $\left[\tilde{\mathbf{W}}; \tilde{\mathbf{V}}; \tilde{\mathbf{A}}^*\right]$. Then with the solution of the system by using Gauss Elimination procedure, the unknown coefficients are found and replaced in Eq. (7). Consequently, numerical solution is obtained [28]-[31].

4. Accuracy of Solution

In this section, we check the accuracy of the present method. The approximate solutions $u_N(t)$ of Eq. (1), and their first derivatives are considered and substituted into Eq. (1). Then we obtain approximate results for $t = t_r \in [0, R]$, r = 0, 1, ...

$$E_{N}(t_{r}) = \left| u(t_{r}) - u_{N}'(t_{r}) + A(t_{r}) + B(t_{r})u_{N}(t_{r}) + C(t_{r})u_{N}^{2}(t_{r}) \right| \approx 0,$$
(22)

where $E_N(t_r) \le 10^{-k_{\alpha,\beta}} = 10^{-k}$ (*k* is a positive integer) is prescribed, then the truncation limit *N* is increased until difference $E_N(t_r)$ becomes smaller than the prescribed 10^{-k} at each points [32].

5. Numerical Experiments

In this section, to show the accuracy and efficiency of the presented method, for the problem given at (1), is solved with it. Numerical calculations and plottings were performed using Maple and Matlab softwares, respectively.

Example 1. Let us first consider the following Riccati differential equation [33]

$$u'(t) = 16t^{2} - 5 + 8tu(t) + u^{2}(t),$$

$$u(0) = 1, \quad t \in [0,1].$$
(23)

The numerical technique which is introduced at Section 3 applied on the problem (23) for N = 3. Then the collocation points are shown as

$$t_s = \frac{1}{3}s, \quad s = 0, 1, 2, 3; \quad t_0 = 0, t_s = \frac{1}{3}, t_s = \frac{2}{3}, t_s = 1, \ 0 \le t \le 1.$$
 (24)

So that we have the following matrices

$$\mathbf{X}(t_{s}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2/3 & 4/9 & 16/81 \\ 1 & 1/3 & 1/9 & 1/27 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} & \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+2 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} & \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+3 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & 2^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+3 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & 0 & 2^{-2} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} & 2^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+4 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & 0 & 2^{-2} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & 2^{-2} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2^{-3} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+\beta+6 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha+3 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix},$$

	[-5	0	0	0	$\mathbf{P}(4)$	0	0	0	0	$\mathbf{C}(t)$	1	0	0	0	
	0	-29/9	0	0		0	8/3	0	0		0	1	0	0	
$\mathbf{A}(l_s) =$	0	0	19/9	0	, $\mathbf{D}(l_s) =$	0	0	16/3	0	$, \mathbf{C}(l_s) =$	0	0	1	0	,
	0	0	0	11		0	0	0	8		0	0	0	1	

and the fundamental matrix relation as

 $\left(\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{B}\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)} - \mathbf{B}(t_s)\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{C}(t_s)\mathbf{X}(t_s)\mathbf{J}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{\overline{X}}(t_s)\mathbf{\overline{J}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\mathbf{\overline{A}} = \mathbf{A}(t_s), \text{ i.e.}$

$WA + V\overline{A} = A^*$

together with the matrix relation of the condition, $\mathbf{U} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ we have the new augumented matrix form as $\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{W}}; \tilde{\mathbf{V}} : \tilde{\mathbf{A}}^* \end{bmatrix}$. Finally, we obtain the approximate solution in the form:

$$u(t) \cong u_N^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^3 a_n P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = a_0 P_0^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) + a_1 P_1^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) + a_2 P_2^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) + a_3 P_3^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t).$$

Then we investigate the approximate solutions for different polynomials with regard to the pair $(\alpha, \beta) = (0.5, -0.5)$ Jacobi polynomials and $(\alpha, \beta) = (0.5, 0.5)$ Gegenbauer polynomials. Finally, the exact solution u(t) = 1-4t is obtained for $t \ge 0$.

Example 2. Here, Riccati differential equation is considered [33], [34]

$$u'(t) = e^{t} - e^{3t} + 2e^{2t}u(t) - e^{t}u^{2}(t),$$

$$u(0) = 1, \quad t \in [0,1].$$
(24)

The exact solution is $u(t) = e^t$, for $t \ge 0$.

By using the procedure, we obtain the approximate solutions. The approximate solutions for different N values can be seen in Table 1 and Fig. 1. The comparison of approximate solutions with different techniques and the exact solution is shown by Fig. 2.

t	E_3	E_4	E_8
0.1	0.1510E-03	0.9475E-04	0.1200E-05
0.2	0.1144E-04	0.2319E-05	0.9025E-06
0.5	0.1491E-04	0.2467E-05	0.9866E-06
0.6	0.1789E-04	0.2546E-05	0.9157E-06
1	0.1431E-04	0.2422E-05	0.9692E-06

Table 1. Absolute errors for N=3, 4 and 8 of Example 2.



Figure 1. Comparison of absolute errors for N= 3,4 and 8 of Jacobi polynomial solution.



Figure 2. Comparison of approximate solutions between Jacobi Collocation Method (JCM) for N=8, He's variational iteration method (HVIM) and new homotopy perturbation method (NHPM).

6. Conclusion

In this study, we introduce a matrix method depending on Jacobi polynomials in order to solve nonlinear Riccati type differential equation with initial condition numerically. Furthermore, the accuracy of the solution is obtained by an error analysis. The present method and its error analysis are applied on the example which have been shown by figures and table. The method has significant advantages such as: straightforward computation procedure together with some computer programme algorithm in Maple. We obtain satisfactory results whenever we have N is chosen large enough. The method is applicable for further problems and their applications at interdiciplinary area [35]-[37].

7. References

 Dragan, V., Aberkane, S., Morozan, T. 2020. On the bounded and stabilizing solution of a generalized Riccati differential equation arising in connection with a zero-sum linear quadratic stochastic differential game. Optimal Control Applications and Methods, 41(2), 640-667.

- Xiao, Q., Gao, M., Xiao, X., Goh, M. 2020. A novel grey Riccati–Bernoulli model and its application for the clean energy consumption prediction. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, 95, 103863.
- 3. Razzaghi, M. 1979. A computational solution for a matrix Riccati differential equation. Numerische Mathematik, 32(3), 271-279.
- Alzate, P.P.C., Orrego, Á.A.Q. 2020. A note on quadratic Riccati differential equation using Padé approximant, International Journal of Engineering Technologies and Management Research, 7(6), 117-124.
- Parand, K., Hossayni, S.A., Rad, J.A. 2016. Operation matrix method based on Bernstein polynomials for the Riccati differential equation and Volterra population model. Applied Mathematical Modelling, 40(2), 993-1011.
- 6. Gülsu, M., Sezer, M. 2006. On the solution of the Riccati equation by the Taylor matrix method. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 176(2), 414-421.
- Bulut, H., Evans, D.J. 2002. On the solution of the Riccati equation by the decomposition method. International Journal of Computer Mathematics, 79(1), 103-109.
- Gürler, H., Yalçınbaş, S. 2015. A new algorithm for the numerical solution of the first order nonlinear differential equations with the mixed non-linear conditions by using Bernstein polynomials, New Trends in Mathematical Sciences, 3(4), 114.
- Yüzbaşı, Ş. 2013. Numerical solutions of fractional Riccati type differential equations by means of the Bernstein polynomials. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 219(11), 6328-6343.
- 10. Bülbül Aslan, B. 2019. Solving Riccati differential equation using Fourier polynomial basis.
- 11. File, G., Aga, T. 2016. Numerical solution of quadratic Riccati differential equations. Egyptian journal of basic and applied sciences, 3(4), 392-397.
- 12. Ghorbani, A., Momani, S. 2010. An effective variational iteration algorithm for solving Riccati differential equations. Applied Mathematics Letters, 23(8), 922-927.
- 13. Abramowitz, M., Stegun, C.A. 1972. Orthogonal Polynomials, Ch. 22 in Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables, 9th Ed. New York: Dover, 771-802.
- Iyanaga, S., Kawada, Y., 1980. Jacobi Polynomials, Appendix A, Table 20.V in Encyclopedic Dictionary of Mathematics. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1480.

- Szegö, G. 1975. Jacobi Polynomials, Ch. 4 in Orthogonal Polynomials, 4th Ed. Providence, RI: Amer. Math. Soc.
- 16. Jacobi Polynomial, http://intranet-statique.mines-albi.fr/crcmath/math/jj023.htm, 2020.
- 17. Luke, Y. 1969. The Special Functions and Their Approximations, Academic Press, New York, NewYork, USA.
- 18. Doha, E.H. 2002. On the coefficients of differentiated expansions and derivatives of Jacobi polynomials. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 35(15), 3467.
- 19. Chihara, T.S. 1978. An Introduction to Orthogonal Polynomials (Dover Books on Mathematics), Gordon and Breach. Dover, Philadelphia.
- 20. Weisstein, E.W. 2020. Jacobi Polynomial, From MathWorld-A Wolfram Web Resource. https://mathworld.wolfram.com/JacobiPolynomial.html.
- 21. Legendre polynomials, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Legendre_polynomials, 2020.
- 22. Chebyshev polynomials, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chebyshev_polynomials, 2020.
- 23. Gegenbauer polynomials, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gegenbauer_polynomials, 2020.
- 24. Askey, R. 1975. Orthogonal polynomials and special functions. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics.
- 25. Itô, K. 1980 Methods Other than Difference Methods, §303I in Encyclopedic Dictionary of Mathematics, 2nd Ed., Vol:2. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1139.
- 26. Wright, K. 1970. Some relationships between implicit Runge-Kutta, collocation and Lanczos methods, and their stability properties, 10, 217-227.
- 27. Lanczos, C. 1957. Applied Analysis, Pitman & Sons Ltd.
- 28. Gürbüz, B., Sezer, M. 2020. Modified operational matrix method for second-order nonlinear ordinary differential equations with quadratic and cubic terms, An International Journal of Optimization and Control: Theories & Applications (IJOCTA), 10(2), 218-225.
- 29. Gürbüz, B., 2020. A computational approach for solving second-order nonlinear ordinary differential equations by means of Laguerre series, Bitlis Eren Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 9(1), 78-84.
- 30. Ganji, R.M., Jafari, H. 2019. A numerical approach for multi-variable orders differential equations using Jacobi polynomials. International Journal of Applied and Computational Mathematics, 5(2), 34.

- Opanuga, A.A., Edeki, S., Okagbue, H.I., Akinlabi, G. 2015. A novel approach for solving quadratic Riccati differential equations. International Journal of Applied Engineering Research, 10(11), 29121-29126.
- 32. Gürbüz, B., Sezer, M. 2016. Laguerre polynomial solutions of a class of initial and boundary value problems arising in science and engineering fields. Acta Physica Polonica A, 130(1), 194-197.
- 33. Aminikhah, H. 2013. Approximate analytical solution for quadratic Riccati differential equation.
- 34. Abbasbandy, S. 2007. A new application of He's variational iteration method for quadratic Riccati differential equation by using Adomian's polynomials. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 207(1), 59-63.
- 35. Christianto, V., Ershkov, S.V. 2018. Two Applications of Riccati ODE in Nonlinear Physics and Their Computer Algebra Solutions. Victor Christianto Florentin Smarandache, 132.
- 36. Nowakowski, M., Rosu, H.C. 2002. Newton's laws of motion in the form of a Riccati equation. Physical Review E, 65(4), 047602.
- 37. Doha, E.H., Baleanu, D., Bhrawi, A.H. ,Hafez, R.M. 2014. A Jacobi collocation method for Troesch's problem in plasma physics, Proceedings of the Romanian Academy, Series A, 15(2), 130-138.

A Numerical Investigation on a Neural Field Model

Burcu Gürbüz^{1,2}

¹Institute of Mathematics, Johannes Gutenberg-University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ²Department of Computer Engineering, Üsküdar University, İstanbul, Turkey, E-mail: burcu.gurbuz@uni-mainz.de

Abstract

In this study, a dynamical system based on neural field model is studied. Numerical investigation is reached and stability of the system including approximated results of the solution are introduced. Some numerical results are given.

Keywords: Neural field model, numerical method, stability analysis.

1. Introduction

Dynamical systems are of importance in many fields such as engineering, chemistry, biology, medicine and so on. In applied mathematics, analysis of such systems are investigated with different perspectives from numerical methods to stability. On the other hand, including time delay to dynamical systems gives us a chance to show a real-world approximation and more appropriate results in their applications. Besides, neural network models are one of the real-world applications of such systems. Recently, such models have been reached by many scientists [1]-[4]. A well-known neural network model is presented as

$$C_{i}u_{i}'(t) = -\frac{1}{R_{i}}u_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n}T_{ij}f_{j}(u_{j}(t-\tau_{j})), i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(1)

where $u_i(t)$ shows a voltage of unit *i*, C_i is the input capacitance, T_{ij} is the connection matrix and *f* is a continuous, differentiable, odd and strictly increasing function. This network model is called as *"Hopfield's circuit equation"* which is including time delay but not external input.

In this study, a neural network model is considered in the form:

$$u'_{i}(t) = -u_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{2} p_{ij} f_{j}(u_{j}(t-\tau_{j})), \quad i = 1, 2, \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$
(2)

with the initial condition

$$u_i(t_0) = \lambda_i, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
 (3)

where t_0 is the initial value, λ_i are suitable numbers, the units are identical $\tau_1 = \tau_2$ and the initial conditions are considered as continuous functions on the interval $[-\max(\tau_1, \tau_2), 0]$. Moreover, f_j are continuous functions and p_{ij} is the symmetric connection matrix with the property $p_{12} = p_{21}$. On the other hand, existence and uniqueness of the problem has been investigated by many authors [5]-[7]. Besides, Fig. 1 shows Hopfield's network together with three components: neuron drive circuitry, connection matrix circuitry and comparator circuitry [8].



Fig. 1. A simple circuit diagram of Hopfield's network

2. Numerical Technique

In this section, a numerical solution of the problem (2)-(3) is obtained by using a collocation technique. The numerical technique is based on matrix relations of the approximate solution which is defined in the form:

$$u_i(t) \cong u_{i,N}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^N a_{i,n} L_n(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \qquad 0 \le t \le 1$$
 (4)

where $a_{i,n}$ are unknown coefficients of the system approximation and $L_n(t)$ are the Laguerre polynomials in order to solve the system with regard to a series which is defined in the form:

$$L_{n}(t) = \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{r}}{r!} {n \choose r} t^{r}.$$
(5)

where n and r are the suitable numbers in order to represent Laguerre series in Eq. (5) [9]. Now, we are ready to apply the technique. Firstly, the matrix form of the approximation is defined in the form:

$$\left[u_{i}(t)\right] = \mathbf{L}(t)\mathbf{A}_{i} = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{H}\mathbf{A}_{i}, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
(6)

where

$$\mathbf{L}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} L_0(t) & L_1(t) & L_2(t) & \dots & L_N(t) \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{X}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t \dots & t^N \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{A}_i = \begin{bmatrix} a_{i,0} & a_{i,1} & \dots & a_{i,N} \end{bmatrix}^T, \ i = 1, 2,$$

$$\mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{0}}{0!} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & \frac{(-1)^{0}}{0!} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & \frac{(-1)^{0}}{0!} \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & \cdots & \frac{(-1)^{0}}{0!} \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & \frac{(-1)^{1}}{1!} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} & \frac{(-1)^{1}}{1!} \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} & \cdots & \frac{(-1)^{1}}{1!} \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{(-1)^{2}}{2!} \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} & \cdots & \frac{(-1)^{2}}{2!} \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \frac{(-1)^{N}}{N!} \begin{pmatrix} N \\ N \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}.$$

So that we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} u_i^{(1)}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{L}^{(1)}(t) \mathbf{A}_i = \mathbf{X}(t) \mathbf{B} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{A}_i,$$
(7)
$$\mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & N & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(7)

where

In order to obtain the matrices for the delay term, $t \to (t - \tau_j)$, j = 1, 2 is given [10]. By using (6) and (7) then

$$\left[u_i(t-\tau_j)\right] = \mathbf{L}(t-\tau_j)\mathbf{A}_i = \mathbf{X}(t-\tau_j)\mathbf{H}\mathbf{A}_i, \quad j = 1, 2.$$
(8)

where $\mathbf{X}(t-\tau_j) = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B}(-\tau_j)$ for j = 1, 2 and also

$$\mathbf{B}_{(-\tau_{j})} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{0} & \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{1} & \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{2} & \dots & \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{js})^{N} \\ 0 & \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{0} & \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{1} & \dots & \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{N-1} \\ 0 & 0 & \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{0} & \dots & \begin{pmatrix} N \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{N-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \begin{pmatrix} N \\ N \end{pmatrix} (-\tau_{j})^{0} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then Eq. (8) is written as

$$\left[u_i(t-\tau_j)\right] = \mathbf{X}(t)\mathbf{B}(-\tau_j)\mathbf{H}\mathbf{A}_i, \quad j = 1, 2.$$
(9)

Secondly, from (6), (7) and (9) the system matrices are presented as

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A}\,,\tag{10}$$

$$\mathbf{u}^{(1)}(t) = \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{B}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A}, \qquad (11)$$

$$\mathbf{u}(t-\tau_j) = \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{B}}(-\tau_j)\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A}, \quad j = 1, 2,$$
(12)

where

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{1}(t) \\ \mathbf{u}_{2}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{u}_{N}(t) \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{u}^{(1)}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{1}^{(1)}(t) \\ \mathbf{u}_{2}^{(1)}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{u}_{N}^{(1)}(t) \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{u}(t-\tau_{j}) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{u}_{1}(t-\tau_{j}) \\ \mathbf{u}_{2}(t-\tau_{j}) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{u}_{N}(t-\tau_{j}) \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{\bar{X}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X}(t) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{X}(t) & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \mathbf{X}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\mathbf{\bar{B}}_{(-\tau_{j})} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}_{(-\tau_{j})} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{B}_{(-\tau_{j})} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \mathbf{B}_{(-\tau_{j})} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{\bar{B}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}_{0} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{B}_{0} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \mathbf{B} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{\bar{H}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{H}_{0} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{H}_{0} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \mathbf{H} \end{bmatrix},$$

and $\mathbf{A} = [\mathbf{A}_1 \ \mathbf{A}_2 \dots \mathbf{A}_N]^T$.

Thirdly, the matrix representation of the system (2) is shown by using (10), (11) and (12) as

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{B}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} + \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t)\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \mathbf{p}_{ij}\mathbf{f}_{j}(\mathbf{u}(t-\tau_{j})), \ i = 1, 2,$$
(13)

where we describe \mathbf{f}_i according to the matrices including the delay term in (12). Here

$$\mathbf{p}_{ij} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{11} & \mathbf{p}_{12} \end{bmatrix} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{21} & \mathbf{p}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}, \ \mathbf{f}_j(\mathbf{u}(t-\tau_j)) = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{f}_1(\mathbf{u}(t-\tau_j)) \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{f}_2(\mathbf{u}(t-\tau_j)) \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

Then the collocation points are defined as

$$t_l = \frac{1}{N}l, \ l = 0, 1, ..., N.$$
 (14)

where *N* is the number for the truncation of the series and $t \in [0,1]$. So that the collocation points are replaced into the Eq.(13)

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t_l)\overline{\mathbf{B}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} + \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t_l)\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \mathbf{p}_{ij}\mathbf{f}_j (\mathbf{u}(t_l - \tau_j)), \ i = 1, 2,$$
(15)

then the fundamental matrix system is obtained as

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}}\overline{\mathbf{B}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} + \overline{\mathbf{X}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \mathbf{p}_{ij}\mathbf{f}_{j}, \ i = 1, 2,$$
(16)

Briefly, it is shown in the augumented matrix form as

$$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{F} \Longrightarrow \left[\mathbf{W}; \mathbf{F}\right] \tag{17}$$

At the fourth step of the technique, similarly, the matrix representations of the initial conditions are given as

$$\mathbf{u}_{i}(t_{0}) = \overline{\mathbf{X}}(t_{0})\overline{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{A} \text{ and } \boldsymbol{\lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} & \lambda_{2} & \dots & \lambda_{N} \end{bmatrix}^{T},$$
 (18)

With the help of (10) $\mathbf{UA} = \lambda \Rightarrow [\mathbf{U}; \lambda]$ is obtained. Finally, by replacing the rows in (17) we obtain

$$\tilde{\mathbf{W}}\tilde{\mathbf{A}} = \tilde{\mathbf{F}} \Longrightarrow \left[\tilde{\mathbf{W}}; \tilde{\mathbf{F}}\right].$$
(19)

As a last step, we solve the new augumented system by using the Gauss Elimination method and we obtain the approximate solution in the series form which is defined in (4) [9]-[15].

3. Stability Analysis

In this section, stability analysis of the model is considered. The stability analysis of the system shows the properties of the dynamics [16].

Theorem: Let us consider the system (2) and the coordinates x and y. Then the stationary solutions of the system exist which is $(u_1, u_2) = (0, 0)$. Moreover, we have the steady states (x, y) of the system as following

$$u_1 = p_{11} \tanh(u_1) + p_{12} \tanh(u_2)$$
 and $u_2 = p_{21} \tanh(u_1) + p_{22} \tanh(u_2)$. (20)

Proof: First we consider the system (2) in explicit form, then

$$u_{1}'(t) = -u_{1}(t) + p_{11}f_{1}(u_{1}(t-\tau_{1})) + p_{12}f_{2}(u_{2}(t-\tau_{2})),$$

$$u_{2}'(t) = -u_{2}(t) + p_{21}f_{1}(u_{1}(t-\tau_{1})) + p_{22}f_{2}(u_{2}(t-\tau_{2})),$$
(21)

where we consider f(u) = tanh(u). Then we can have it easily as

 $u_1(t) = p_{11} \tanh(u_1) + p_{12} \tanh(u_2),$

$$u_2(t) = p_{21} \tanh(u_1) + p_{22} \tanh(u_2),$$

[16]-[18]. Then the characteristic equation is found as

$$(\lambda+1)^{2} - (\lambda+1)(\alpha_{11}e^{-\lambda\tau_{1}} + \alpha_{22}e^{-\lambda\tau_{2}}) + (\alpha_{11}\alpha_{22} - \alpha_{12}\alpha_{21})e^{-\lambda(\tau_{1}+\tau_{2})} = 0.$$
(22)

4. Illustrative Example

Let us consider

$$\mathbf{u}^{(1)}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -4 & -2 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{u}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -0.1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{u}(t-1) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{f}(t), \ t \in [0,1],$$
(23)

with the initial conditions $u_1(0) = 1$ and $u_2(0) = 1$, the delay terms $\tau_1 = \tau_2 = 1$ and $\mathbf{f}(t) = \exp(-t)$. Then we apply the technique for N = 8 and N = 10. The numerical technique is applied on the problem and it is obtained. Laguerre polynomial solution of the problem for $u_1(t)$, N = 8 and N = 10 is given in Table 1. Similarly, the numerical solution of the problem with the same technique for $u_2(t)$, N = 8 and N = 10 is given in Table 2. Then absolute error comparisons are shown in Table 3 and Table 4 for $u_1(t)$ and $u_2(t)$ N = 8 and N = 10, respectively.

Table 1. Numerical solution of the problem for $u_1(t)$, N=8 and N=10.

t	N = 8	N = 10
0.0	1.00000	1.00000
0.1	1.05315	1.05315
0.2	1.08801	1.08801
0.3	1.10620	1.10620
0.4	1.10890	1.10890
1.0	0.00921	0.00089

t	N = 8	N = 10
0.0	1.00000	1.00000
0.1	0.06980	0.06980
0.2	0.41751	0.41751
0.3	0.16068	0.16068
0.4	-0.07165	-0.07165
1.0	-0.00112	-0.00112

Table 2. Numerical solution of the problem for $u_2(t)$, N=8 and N=10.

Table 3.	Absolute error	comparison	of $u_1(t)$,	N = 8	and $N = 10$.
----------	----------------	------------	---------------	-------	----------------

t	$E_N = E_8$	$E_N = E_{10}$	
0.0	0.00000	0.00000	
0.1	0.1695E-7	0.2103E-8	
0.2	0.1594E-7	0.2218E-8	
0.3	0.1382E-7	0.2195E-8	
0.4	0.1819E-7	0.1820E-8	
1.0	0.3702E-6	0.3605E-7	

Table 4. Absolute error comparison of $u_2(t)$, N = 8 and N = 10.

t	$E_N = E_8$	$E_N = E_{10}$
0.0	0.00000	0.00000
0.1	0.1969E-7	0.2562E-8
0.2	0.1978E-7	0.2579E-8
0.3	0.1688E-7	0.1991E-8
0.4	0.1675E-7	0.1923E-8
1.0	0.1992E-6	0.1300E-7



Figure 2. Comparison of the absolute errors for $u_1(t)$, N=8 and N=10.

In Fig. 2, absolute errors for the function $u_1(t)$ are given for the truncations N=8 and N=10. Similarly, the comparison for the function $u_2(t)$ with the same truncations is shown in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. Comparison of the absolute errors for $u_2(t)$, N=8 and N=10.

The comparison of the Laguerre polynomial solution of the problem for $u_1(t)$, N=8 with Haar wavelet and fourth order Runge Kutta method solutions is shown in Fig. 4.



Figure 4. Comparison of the approximate solutions as Laguerre polynomial solution (LPS) for N = 8, Haar wavelet solution (HWS) and Runge Kutta solution (RKS) of $u_1(t)$.

5. Conclusion

In this study, a numerical investigation on neural network model is considered. A numerical technique is presented and the stability analysis of the model is also given. Accuracy of the solution is reached and the results are given by tables and figures.

6. References

- 1. Hodgkin, A.L., Huxley, A.F. 1952. A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. The Journal of physiology, 117(4), 500.
- 2. Schutte, Anne R., and Gregory J. DeGirolamo. 2020. Test of a dynamic neural field model: spatial working memory is biased away from distractors. Psychological research 84(6), 1528-1544.

- 3. Wang, X., Kloeden, P., Yang, M. 2020. Asymptotic behaviour of a neural field lattice model with delays. Electronic Research Archive, 28(2), 1037.
- Senk, J., Korvasová, K., Schuecker, J., Hagen, E., Tetzlaff, T., Diesmann, M., Helias, M. 2020. Conditions for wave trains in spiking neural networks. Physical Review Research, 2(2), 023174.
- 5. Hale, J. K., Lunel, S. M. V., Verduyn, L. S., Lunel, S. M. V. 1993. Introduction to functional differential equations, Vol. 99, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Olien, L., Bélair, J. 1997. Bifurcations, stability, and monotonicity properties of a delayed neural network model. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 102(3-4), 349-363.
- 7. Bélair, J., Campbell, S. A., van den Driessche, P. 1996. Frustration, stability, and delay-induced oscillations in a neural network model. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 56(1), 245-255.
- Furth, P. M., Andreou, A. G. 1997. On fault probabilities and yield models for VLSI neural networks. IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, 32(8), 1284-1287.
- Gürbüz, B., 2019. Laguerre matrix-collocation technique to solve systems of functional differential equations with variable delays. In AIP Conference Proceedings 2183(1), 090007. AIP Publishing LLC.
- Gürbüz, B., Sezer, M. 2019. Laguerre Matrix-Collocation Method to Solve Systems of Pantograph Type Delay Differential Equations. In International Conference on Computational Mathematics and Engineering Sciences, Springer, Cham. 121-132.
- 11. Gökmen, E., Işık, O. R., Sezer, M. 2015. Taylor collocation approach for delayed Lotka-Volterra predator-prey system. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 268, 671-684.
- Akyüz, A., Sezer, M. 2003. Chebyshev polynomial solutions of systems of high-order linear differential equations with variable coefficients. Applied mathematics and computation, 144(2-3), 237-247.
- 13. Faye, G. and Faugeras, O., 2010. Some theoretical and numerical results for delayed neural field equations. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 239(9), 561-578.
- Veltz, R., 2013. Interplay between synaptic delays and propagation delays in neural field equations. SIAM Journal of Applied Dynamical Systems, 12(3), 1566-1612.
- 15. Veltz, R. and Faugeras, O., 2011. Stability of the stationary solutions of neural field equations with propagation delay. Journal of Mathematical Neuroscience, 1(1), 1-28.

- 16. Bélair, J. 1996. Stability in a three dimensional system of delay-differential equations. Canadian Applied Mathematics Quarterly, 4, 137-154.
- 17. Bélair, J. 1993. Stability in a model of a delayed neural network. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 5(4), 607-623.
- Gopalsamy, K., He, X.Z. 1994. Stability in asymmetric Hopfield nets with transmission delays. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 76(4), 344-358.